Volume 39 Issue 1 January 2022

Journal of Experimental & Clinical Medicine



JECM https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm



FACULTY OF MEDICINE

e-ISSBN 1309-5129

JOURNAL OF EXPERIMENTAL & CLINICAL MEDICINE

Volume 39 - Issue 1 - 2022

ISSN 1309-4483 e-ISSN 1309-5129

Owner On Behalf of Ondokuz Mayis University Yavuz ÜNAL

Director in Charge Cengiz ÇOKLUK

Publisher Administration Office Ondokuz Mayıs University Faculty of Medicine Atakum / Samsun, Turkey

Publish Type Periodical

Online Published Date 01/01/2022

Scientific and legal responsibility of the papers that are published in the journal belong to the authors.

Indexed: Scopus, EBSCO, Google Scholar, Crossref, DOAJ, EMBASE, TurkMedline

EDITOR IN CHIEF Cengiz ÇOKLUK

ASSOCIATED EDITORS Yasemin ULUS Serkan YÜKSEL Davut GÜVEN Mustafa ARAS Kıymet Kübra YURT Adem KOCAMAN

SECTION EDITORS Mahmut ŞAHİN Meftun ÜNSAL Ayhan BİLGİCİ Ali KELEŞ Latif DURAN Talat AYYILDIZ Mustafa AYYILDIZ Mahmut BAŞOĞLU Ferşat KOLBAKIR Şaban SARIKAYA Ahmet DEMİR Mustafa Kemal DEMİRAĞ Beytullah YILDIRIM Lütfi İNCESU

> **Cover Design** Sefa Ersan KAYA

LAYOUT EDITORS Adem KOCAMAN Ayşegül SAKALLI Büşra Nur ÖZCAN Burcu DELİBAŞ Erkan ERENER Gamze ALTUN Sebati Sinan ÜRKMEZ Sümeyye GÜMÜŞ UZUN Zeynep AKÇA

EDITORIAL ADVISORY BOARD

Ali KELES Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Turkey Avdın HİM Bolu Abant İzzet Baysal University, Bolu, Turkey **Bahattin AVCI** Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Turkey **Christopher S. VON BARTHELD** University of Nevada, Reno, USA **Devra DAVIS** Environmental Health Trust, United States Murat TERZİ Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Turkey Dursun AYGÜN Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Turkey Ferhat SAY Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Turkey Gürkan ÖZTÜRK İstanbul Medipol University, İstanbul, Turkey İnci GÜNGÖR Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Turkey Javad SADEGHINEZHAD University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran Jens R. NYENGAARD Aarhus University, Aarhus, Denmark Latif DURAN Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Turkey

Leonid GODLEVSKY Odessa National Medical University, Odessa, Ukraine Maulilio J. KIPANYULA Sokoine University of Agriculture, Morogoro, Tanzania Mehmet YILDIRIM Sağlık Bilimleri University, İstanbul, Turkey Murat Çetin RAĞBETLİ Van Yüzüncü Yıl University, Van, Turkey Murat MERİÇ Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Turkey Mustafa AYYILDIZ Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Turkey Paul F. Seke ETET University of Ngaoundere Garoua, Cameroon Sandip SHAH B.P. Koira Insttute of Health Science Dharan, Nepal Sabita MISHRA Maulana Azad Medical Collage New Delhi, India Stefano GEUNA University of Turin, Turin, Italy Süleyman KAPLAN Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Turkey Tara Sankar ROY All India Institute of Medical Sciences New Delhi, India **Trevor SHARP** Oxford University, Oxford, United Kingdom

EDITORIAL REVIEW BOARD

Nurten Kara, Samsun, Turkey Sezgin Güneş, Samsun, Turkey Şengül Tural, Samsun, Turkey Microbiology Asuman Birinci, Samsun, Turkey Yeliz Tanrıverdi Çaycı, Samsun, Turkey Medical Education Özlem Mıdık Samsun, Turkey Servet Aker Samsun, Turkey Rahman Yavuz, Samsun, Turkey **Emergency Medicine** Ahmet Baydın, Samsun, Turkey Türker Yardan, Samsun, Turkey Hızır Ufuk akdemir, Samsun, Turkey Latif Duran, Samsun, Turkey Celal Katı, Samsun, Turkey Fatih Calışkan, Samsun, Turkey Forensic Medicine Berna Aydın, Samsun, Turkey Ahmet Turla, Samsun, Turkey Family Medicine Mustafa Feyzi Dikici, Samsun, Turkey Bektaş Murat Yalçın, Samsun, Turkey Füsun Ayşin Artıran İğde, Samsun, Turkey Mustafa Kürşad Şahin, Samsun, Turkey

Anatomy

Mehmet Emirzeoğlu, Samsun, Turkey Sait Bilgic, Samsun, Turkey Cem Kopuz, Samsun, Turkey Ahmet Uzun, Samsun, Turkey Mennan Ece Pirzirenli, Samsun, Turkey **Biophysics** Ayşegül Akar, Samsun, Turkey **Biostatistics** Leman Tomak Samsun, Turkev Histology and Embryology Süleyman Kaplan, Samsun, Turkey Bülent Ayas, Samsun, Turkey Mehmet Emin Önger, Samsun, Turkey Physiology Erdal Ağar, Samsun, Turkey Mustafa Ayyıldız, Samsun, Turkey Ayhan Bozkurt, Samsun, Turkey Gökhan Arslan, Samsun, Turkey **Biochemistry** Nermin Kılıç, Samsun, Turkey Ramazan Amanvermez, Samsun, Turkey Birsen Bilgici, Samsun, Turkey Bahattin Avcı, Sansun Turkey Medical Biology

Child and Adolescent Mental Health

Koray M.Z. Karabekiroğlu, Samsun, Turkey Gökçe Nur Say, Samsun, Turkey Pediatrics Ayhan Dağdemir, Samsun, Turkey Murat Avdın, Samsun, Turkev Ayhan Gazi Kalaycı, Samsun, Turkey Fadıl Öztürk, Samsun, Turkey Recep Sancak, Samsun, Turkey Alişan Yıldıran, Samsun, Turkey Hasibe Canan Seren, Samsun, Turkey Canan Albayrak, Samsun, Turkey Özlem Aydoğ, Samsun, Turkey Gönül Çataltepe, Samsun, Turkey Ünsal Özgen, Samsun, Turkey Ayşe Aksoy, Samsun, Turkey Nazik Yener, Samsun, Turkey Işıl Özer, Samsun, Turkey Mustafa Ali Akın, Samsun, Turkey Levla Akın, Samsun, Turkev Esra Akyüz Özkan, Samsun, Turkey Sahin Takcı, Samsun, Turkey Hülya Nalçacıoğlu, Samsun, Turkey Dermatology Fatma Aydın, Samsun, Turkey Nilgün Şentürk, Samsun, Turkey Müge Güler Özden, Samsun, Turkey Esra Pancar Yüksel, Samsun, Turkey Infection Disease Esra Tanyel, Samsun, Turkey Şaban Esen, Samsun, Turkey Aydın Deveci, Samsun, Turkey Aynur Atilla, Samsun, Turkey Fatih Temoçin, Samsun, Turkey Pharmacology Süleyman Sırrı Bilge, Samsun, Turkey **Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation** Ayhan Bilgici, Samsun, Turkey Gamze Alaylı, Samsun, Turkey Dilek Durmuş, Samsun, Turkey Yeşim Akyol, Samsun, Turkey Yasemin Ulus, Samsun, Turkey İlker İlhanlı, Samsun, Turkey Kıvanç Cengiz, Samsun, Turkey **Chest Medicine** Atilla Güven Atıcı, Samsun, Turkey Meftun Ünsal, Samsun, Turkey Nurhan Köksal, Samsun, Turkey Oğuz Uzun, Samsun, Turkey Public Healthy Cihad Dündar, Samsun, Turkey Şennur Dabak, Samsun, Turkey Ahmet Teyfik Sünter, Samsun, Turkey Özlem Terzi, Samsun, Turkey Air and Space Medicine Fersad Kolbakır, Samsun, Turkey Mehmet Ender Arıtürk, Samsun, Turkev Internal Medicine Ramis Colak, Samsun, Turkey Nurol Arık, Samsun, Turkey Ahmet Bektaş, Samsun, Turkey Mehmet Turgut, Samsun, Turkey Düzgün Özatlı, Samsun, Turkey Güzin Demirağ, Samsun, Turkey Melda Dilek, Samsun, Turkey Hayriye Sayarlıoğlu, Samsun, Turkey

Ayşegül Atmaca, Samsun, Turkey Beytullah Yıldırım, Samsun, Turkey Metin Özgen, Samsun, Turkey Hasan Ulusoy Samsun, Turkey Bahiddin Yılmaz, Samsun, Turkey Engin Kelkitli, Samsun, Turkev Talat Ayyıldız, Samsun, Turkey Memiş Hilmi Atay, Samsun, Turkey Cardiology Mahmut Şahin, Samsun, Turkey Özcan Yılmaz, Samsun, Turkey Okan Gülel, Samsun, Turkey Murat Meriç, Samsun, Turkey Korhan Soylu, Samsun, Turkey Serkan Yüksel, Samsun, Turkey Neurology Murat Terzi, Samsun, Turkey Hüseyin Alparslan Şahin, Samsun, Turkey Dursun Aygün, Samsun, Turkey Hacer Erdem Tilki, Samsun, Turkey Nilgün Cengiz, Samsun, Turkey Hande Türker, Samsun, Turkey Ayşe Oytun Bayrak, Samsun, Turkey İbrahim Levent Güngör, Samsun, Turkey Sedat Şen, Samsun, Turkey Nuclear Medicine Tarık Başoğlu, Samsun, Turkey Feyziye Cambaz, Samsun, Turkey Oktay Yapıcı, Samsun, Turkey Sibel Uçak Semirgin, Samsun, Turkey Psychiatry Ahmet Rıfat Şahin, Samsun, Turkey Hatice Güz, Samsun, Turkey Ömer Böke, Samsun, Turkey Gökhan Sarısoy, Samsun, Turkey Aytül Karabekiroğlu, Samsun, Turkey **Radiation Oncology** Nilgün Özbek Okumuş, Samsun, Turkey Bilge Gürsel, Samsun, Turkey Ahmet Deniz Meydan, Samsun, Turkey Alparslan Serarslan, Samsun, Turkey Radiology Meltem Ceyhan Bilgici, Samsun, Turkey Hüseyin Akan, Samsun, Turkey Murat Danacı, Samsun, Turkey Lütfi İncesu, Samsun, Turkey Selim Nural, Samsun, Turkey Muzaffer Elmalı, Samsun, Turkey Aslı Tanrıvermiş Sayit, Samsun, Turkey Veysel Polat, Samsun, Turkey Kerim Arslan, Samsun, Turkey İlkay Çamlıdağ, Samsun, Turkey Ayşegül İdil Soylu, Samsun, Turkey **Medical Genetics** Ümmet Abur, Samsun, Turkey Engin Altundağ, Samsun, Turkey Ömer Salih Akar, Samsun, Turkey **History of Medicine and Ethics** Hasan Tahsin Keçeligil, Samsun, Turkey **Anesthesiology and Reanimation** Deniz Karakaya, Samsun, Turkey Binnur Sarıhasan, Samsun, Turkey Fuat Güldoğuş, Samsun, Turkey Sibel Barıs, Samsun, Turkey Elif Bengi Sener, Samsun, Turkey İsmail Serhat Kocamanoğlu, Samsun, Turkey

Ebru Kelsaka, Samsun, Turkey Fatih Özkan, Samsun, Turkey Fatma Ülger, Samsun, Turkey Yasemin Burcu Üstün, Samsun, Turkey Ersin Köksal, Samsun, Turkev Cengiz Kaya, Samsun, Turkey Neurosurgery Cengiz Çokluk, Samsun, Turkey Ömer Lütfi İyigün, Samsun, Turkey Alparslan Şenel, Samsun, Turkey Kerameddin Aydın, Samsun, Turkey Ersoy Kocabıçak, Samsun, Turkey Mustafa Aras, Samsun, Turkey Aykan Ulus, Samsun, Turkey Abdullah Hilmi Marangoz, Samsun, Turkey Şevki Serhat Baydın, Samsun, Turkey Pediatric Surgery Mehmet Ender Aritürk, Samsun, Turkey Ferit Bernay, Samsun, Turkey Ünal Bıçakçı, Samsun, Turkey **General Surgery** Mahmut Basoğlu, Samsun, Turkey Ayfer Kamalı Polat, Samsun, Turkey Cafer Polat, Samsun, Turkey Bekir Kuru, Samsun, Turkey Bahadır Bülent Güngör, Samsun, Turkey Gökhan Selçuk Özbalcı, Samsun, Turkey Saim Savaş Yörüker, Samsun, Turkey Oğuzhan Özşay, Samsun, Turkey İsmail Alper Tarım, Samsun, Turkey Murat Derebey, Samsun, Turkey Mehmet Can Aydın, Samsun, Turkey Chest Surgery Ahmet Başoğlu, Samsun, Turkey Burçin Çelik, Samsun, Turkey Ayşen Taslak Şengül, Samsun, Turkey Yasemin Bilgin Büyükkarabacak, Samsun, Turkey **Ophtalmology** İnci Güngör, Samsun, Turkey Nursen Arıtürk, Samsun, Turkey Yüksel Süllü, Samsun, Turkey Hakkı Birinci, Samsun, Turkey Ertuğrul Can, Samsun, Turkey Leyla Niyaz Sahin, Samsun, Turkey **Gynecology and Obstetrics** Mehmet Bilge Cetinkaya, Samsun, Turkey İdris Koçak, Samsun, Turkey Miğraci Tosun, Samsun, Turkey Handan Çelik, Samsun, Turkey Devran Bildircin, Samsun, Turkey Davut Güven, Samsun, Turkey Abdülkadir Bakay, Samsun, Turkey İbrahim Yalçın, Samsun, Turkey Ayşe Zehra Özdemir, Samsun, Turkey

Christopher S. VON BARTHELD University of Nevada, Reno, USA Devra DAVIS Environmental Health Trust, United States Javad SADEGHINEZHAD University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran Jens R. NYENGAARD Aarhus University, Aarhus, Denmark Leonid GODLEVSKY Odessa National Medical University, Odessa, Ukraine Maulilio J. KIPANYULA

Cardiovascular Surgery

Mustafa Kemal Demirağ, Samsun, Turkey Fersat Kolbakır, Samsun, Turkey Hasan Tahsin Keceligil, Samsun, Turkey Serkan Burç Deşer, Samsun, Turkey Semih Murat Yücel, Samsun, Turkev Head and Neck Surgery Sinan Atmaca, Samsun, Turkey Recep Ünal, Samsun, Turkey Atilla Tekat, Samsun, Turkey Özgür Kemal, Samsun, Turkey Senem çengel Kurnaz, Samsun, Turkey Abdülkadir Özgür, Samsun, Turkey **Orthopedic and Traumatology** Nevzat Dabak, Samsun, Turkey Davut keskin, Samsun, Turkey Yılmaz Tomak, Samsun, Turkey Ahmet Piskin, Samsun, Turkey Ferhat Say, Samsun, Turkey Hasan Göçer, Samsun, Turkey Medical Pathology Filiz Karagöz, Samsun, Turkey Yakup Sancar Barış, Samsun, Turkey Levent Yıldız, Samsun, Turkey Oğuz Aydın, Samsun, Turkey Mehmet Kefeli, Samsun, Turkey Bilge Can Meydan, Samsun, Turkey Yurdanur Süllü, Samsun, Turkey Urology Saban Sarıkaya, Samsun, Turkey Ali Faik Yılmaz, Samsun, Turkev Recep Büyükalperli, Samsun, Turkey Ramazan Aşçı, Samsun, Turkey Rüştü Cankon Germiyanoğlu, Samsun, Turkey Yarkın Kamil Yakupoğlu, Samsun, Turkey Ender Özden, Samsun, Turkey Yakup Bostancı, Samsun, Turkey Kadir Önem, Samsun, Turkey Plastic Surgery Ahmet Demir, Samsun, Turkey Lütfi Eroğlu, Samsun, Turkey Tekin Şimşek, Samsun, Turkey Murat Sinan Engin, Samsun, Turkey National Universities Hakan Karabağlı, Neurosurgery, Konya, Turkey Yurdal Serarslan, Neurosurgery, Hatay, Turkey Altay Sencer, Neurosurgery, İstanbul, Turkey Fatma Öz, Anatomy, Hatay, Turkey Murat Güntel, Neurology, Hatay, Turkey Adnan Altun, Neurosurgery Konya, Turkey Bircan Yücekaya Samsun Turkey

INTERNATIONAL ADVISORY BOARD

Sokoine University of Agriculture, Morogoro, Tanzania Sandip SHAH B.P. Koira Institute of Health Science Dharan, Nepal Sabita MISHRA Maulana Azad Medical Collage New Delhi, India Stefano GEUNA University of Turin, Turin, Italy Tara Sankar ROY All India Institute of Medical Sciences New Delhi, India Trevor SHARP Oxford University, Oxford, United Kingdom EDITORS EMERITI **Muhsin SARACLAR (1978-1981)** Gürler İLİÇİN (1981-1982) Emin U. ERKOÇAK (1982-1985) Arman BİLGİÇ (1985-1988) Ercihan GÜNEY (1988-1990) Naci GÜRSES (1990-1992) Mete KESİM (1992-1995) Cemil RAKUNT (1995-1998) İhsan ÖĞE (1998-1999) Kayhan ÖZKAN (1999-2002) Fulya TANYERİ (2002-2005) Şaban SARIKAYA (2005-2008) Haydar ŞAHİNOĞLU (2008-2012) Süleyman KAPLAN (2012-2020)

CONTENTS

PAGES

	RESEARCH ARTICLE	
1	Diagnostic and prognostic value of Nesfatin-1 in sepsis and septic shock	
	İlkim Deniz TOPRAK, Hasan ERUZUN, Yasin KUTLU, Yücel ARMAN, Pembegül YUMUŞTUTAN, Şengül AYDIN YOLDEMİR, Murat AKARSU, Okan DİKKER, Tufan TÜKEK	1-6
2	Evaluation of Covid-19 cases that applied to the hospital at the first peak of the pandemic	
	Özlem AKDOĞAN, Derya YAPAR, Kazım ÇEBİ, Sertaç ARSLAN, Hilal BOYACI, Yasemin ARI YILMAZ, Pınar TUNÇEL ÖZTÜRK, Ünsal SAVCI, Hüseyin KAYADİBİ, Ayşe YILMAZ, Meral GÜLHAN, Aysel KOCAGÜL ÇELİKBAŞ, Nurcan BAYKAM	7-11
3	The prevalence of occupational accidents and diseases among 112 emergency medical workers and factors affecting it	12-16
	Kevser TUNCER KARA, Irem BULUT, Ramazan GURGOZE, S. Erhan DEVECI, A. Ferdane OGUZONCUL	
4	The effects of foot reflexology upon pain, anxiety, and patient satisfaction among patients having undergone open-heart surgery	17-23
	Ceyda UZUN ŞAHIN, Dilek ÇILINGIR	
5	Prognostic nutritional index predicts perioperative adverse events in patients undergoing hemiarthroplasty after a hip fracture	24-27
	Cem Yalin Kiliç, Onur GURSAN, Ahmet Emrah AÇAN, Emre GULTAÇ	
0	Nalifold capillaroscopy findings for patients receiving hemodialysis treatment and patients with renal transplant	28-31
	Harun KÜÇÜK, Azar ABİYEV, Şeminur HAZNEDAROĞLU	
7	To determine safety profile of azithromycin in Covid-19 patients	32-35
	Khadija ASIF, Farhat ABBAS, Umar javaid SANDHU	
8	<i>Effects of curcumin on arginase enzyme activity, ornithine and nitric oxide levels in experimental breast cancer model</i>	36-40
	Ezgi KURKÇU KAHRAMAN, Nurettin AYDOGDU, Hakan ERBAŞ	
9	Effects of psychological predictors on hospital discharge duration after total knee arthroplasty	41-46
	Inci Meltem ATAY, Tolga ATAY, Recep DINÇER	
10	The relationship between disease severity and GDF-15 in individuals diagnosed with obstructive sleep apnea syndrome	47-50
	Yalcin BODUROGLU, Duygu ZORLU KARAYIGIT, Bilal ILANBEY, Arzu ERTURK	
11	Demirtas' early renal vascular control technique (DERVACT): A novel technique for open partial nephrectomy	51-55
	Gökhan SONMEZ, Şevket T. TOMBUL, Turev DEMIRTAŞ, Abdullah GOLBAŞI, Abdullah DEMIRTAŞ	
12	The importance of paracetamol blood levels on the cost and management of patients with paracetamol overdose	56-61
	Fatih ÇALIŞKAN, Hızır Ufuk AKDEMIR, Ramazan AMANVERMEZ	
13	A comparison of the safety of two different enoxaparin doses for thromboprophylaxis following cesarean section	62-65
1.4	Bugra ŞAHIN, Gizem CURA ŞAHIN	
14	Investigation of Epstein-Barr Virus antibodies by ELISA and IFA Methods Fahriye EKŞİ, Tekin KARSLIGİL, Mehmet ERİNMEZ, Mustafa PEHLİVAN	66-70
15	Determinants for poor perinatal outcome in term pregnancies with umbilical cord prolapse	71-74
	Burak ERSAK, Mahmut Kuntay KOKANALI, Duygu TUĞRUL, Yüksel OĞUZ, Yasemin TASCI	, , , , ,
16	MRI utilization in pediatric emergency department: An analysis over 5 years Ünal AKCA, Gülfer AKCA, Burcu CALISKAN. Fatih CALISKAN	75-79
17	Retrospective evaluation of 16 patients who underwent spinal cord stimulation	
	Bora UZUNER, Dursun TÜRKÖZ	80-83
18	Possible effects of some anaesthetic agents in rat hepatotoxicity: Histological and biochemical study Ebru ANNAÇ, Öznur ULUDAĞ, Zümrüt DOĞAN	84-90

19	The risk of tuberculosis bacilli seeding during mediastinoscopy in mediastinal tuberculosis: Is it clinically important?	91-96
	Yasemin B. BÜYÜKKARABACAK, Mehmet Gökhan PİRZİRENLİ, Selçuk GÜRZ, Ayşen TASLAK ŞENGÜL, Yeliz TANRIVERDİ ÇAYCI, Ahmet BAŞOĞLU	
20	Comparison of the gastric biopsy results of Afghan refugees and Turkish people	97-100
	Muhammed Ali AYVAZ, Mustafa YAKARIŞIK, Ahmet Cumhur DÜLGER, Nergis EKMEN	<i>J</i> 7-100
21	Patients' approach to medicines in COVID-19	101-109
	Duygu ZORLU, Ali BULUT, Lokman HIZMALI, Gülhan ÜNLÜ	101 109
22	Investigation of university students' attitudes toward web-based distance education in terms of theoretical and applied courses during the COVID-19 pandemic period	110-116
	Gülşah BARĞI, Mehmet Egemen AKKAYA, Yiğit Ege GÜNEY	
23	Is there a relation between serum vitamin D and ovarian reserve markers in infertile women?: A retrospective cohort study	117-120
	Neslihan BEZİRGANOĞLU ALTUNTAŞ, Sema BAKİ YILDIRIM, Huri GÜVEY, Ömür ERDEN	
24	The effects of vitamin deficiencies in the first trimester on pregnancy outcomes	101 104
	Zehra YILMAZ, Canan SOYER ÇALIŞKAN, Nur DOKUZEYLUL GUNGOR, Merve YILMAZ, Samettin ÇELİK, Sebahattin ÇELİK	121-124
25	The effects of first trimester cholesterol levels on pregnancy outcomes	
	Zehra YILMAZ, Nur DOKUZEYLÜL GÜNGÖR, Canan Soyer ÇALIŞKAN, Merve YILMAZ, Samettin ÇELİK	125-127
26	Consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic on fracture distribution: Epidemiological data from a tertiary trauma center in Turkey	128-133
	Batuhan GENCER, Özgür DOĞAN	
27	Depth-labeled lumbar disc forceps for safe lumbar disc surgery: Our experience with 405 patients	134-138
	Faruk TONGA	10.100
28	The effect of laparoscopy in chronic pelvic pain on quality of life	120 142
	Servet Şekeryapan ÇALIKOĞLU, Melike DOĞANAY, Duygu TUĞRUL, Burak ERSAK, Mahmut Kuntay KOKANALI	139-143
29	Relationship between anxiety, depression, symptom level, and quality of life in individuals with COPD	144-148
	Özlem ÇINAR ÖZDEMİR, Kübra ÖZONAY	
30	Effect of COVID-19 quarantine on patients admitted to neurosurgery outpatient Clinic individuals with COPD	149-155
	Eyüp ÇETİN, Mehmet Edip AKYOL	
31	Effects of favipiravir on hematologic parameters and bone marrow in the rats	156-159
	Tuğçe ATCALI, Seda YAKUT, Cüneyt ÇAĞLAYAN, Aykut ULUCAN, Adem KARA	
32	Changes in pelvic floor mobility in uncomplicated pregnant women over 28 gestational week and its relation with subjective urinary incontinence complaints	160-163
	Üzeyir KALKAN, Murat YASSA, Burçak SEVİM, Ayça Miray BURAN, Pınar BİROL, Arzu Bilge TEKİN, Niyazi TUG	
33	Effects of COVID-19 pandemic on management of acute cholecystitis: A single tertiary center's experience	
	Murat DEREBEY, Mahmut Arif YÜKSEK, Ufuk KARABACAK, Vahit MUTLU, Salih Raşit MİZAN, İsmail Alper TARIM, Aysu Başak ÖZBALCI, Senem KOÇ, Bülent GÜNGÖR, Ayfer Kamalı POLAT,	164-168
	Mahmut BAŞOĞLU	
34	The effects of quarantine on postpartum depression, sleep quality and breastfeeding: Comparison of two different intensity period Osman Samet GÜNKAYA, Özge YAĞCIOĞLU YASSA, Arzu Bilge TEKİN, Meltem TEKELİOĞLU, Göktuğ UMUR, Oğuz ARSLAN, Zeynep GEDİK ÖZKÖSE, Üzeyir KALKAN, Niyazi TUĞ	169-173
35	Comparison of quality of life, depression and fatigue in patients with psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis	
	Sertaç KETENCİ, Bora UZUNER, Ayhan BİLGİCİ	174-179
36	The effect of maternal food consumption habits to the neonatal outcomes, blood biochemical parameters and nutrient elements: A cross-sectional study	180-188
	Sebnem ALANYA TOSUN, Muhammet BULUT, Avsegül CEBİ, Sema BAKİ YILDIRIM	

37	Neck metastasis in transglottic laryngeal carcinomas Dursun Mehmet MEHEL, Gökhan AKGÜL, Doğukan ÖZDEMİR, Mehmet ÇELEBİ, Nesrettin Fatih TURGUT, Samet AYDEMİR, Abdulkadir ÖZGÜR	189-193
38	Iron deficiency in women with thyroid-specific autoantibodies: A case control study Sanver KOC, Kağan GÜNGÖR, Nur DOKUZEYLÜL GÜNGÖR, Mehmet UZUNLULU	194-198
39	Evaluation of poisoning cases admitted to the pediatric emergency clinic retrospectively Esra AKYÜZ ÖZKAN	199-203
40	Evaluation of the protective effects of folic acid on the lung exposed to 900-MHZ electromagnetic field: A stereological and histopathological study	204-209
	Kıymet Kübra TUFEKÇI, Elfide Gizem BAKIRHAN, Berrin Zuhal ALTUNKAYNAK	
41	Multidrug resistant microorganisms in the intensive care unit without COVID-19 during pandemic	210-215
42	Silymarin ameliorates cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity by downregulating $TNF-\alpha$ and $NF-kB$ and by upregulating $IL-10$	216-220
	Fikret Altındağ	
43	The role of platelet mass index in the prediction of preeclampsia full	221 225
	Cuma TAŞIN, Nezaket KADIOGLU, Revan Sabri CİFTCİ, Ayhan COSKUN, Hakan AYTAN	221-223
44	Do interventional pain procedures increase the risk of COVID-19?	
	Mustafa KURÇALOĞLU, İbrahim APAK, Özgür ŞENTÜRK, Heval Can BİLEK, Bora UZUNER, Fatih ÖZKAN, Fuat GÜLDOĞUŞ	226-231
45	The effectiveness of coagulation parameters in classifying patients and predicting mortality in Covid-19	232-236
	Gülsen Şener	
46	Adverse obstetric outcomes in early and late adolescent pregnancy	237_244
	Simten GENÇ, Mehmet Ali CIFTCI, Basak CINGILLIOGLU, Ernan AKTURK, Ornan SAHIN, Sadik KUKRER, Arzu YURCI, Veli MIHMANLI	237-244
47	The effect of paranasal anatomic variations on chronic rhinosinusitis	245 240
	Yücel TANYERİ, Mehmet ÇELEBİ, Dursun Mehmet MEHEL	243-249
	REVIEW ARTICLE	
48	Digital dental models in orthodontics: A review	250-255
	Berat Serdar AKDENÍZ, Volkan AYKAÇ, Merve TURGUT, Semanur ÇETÍN	
49	Compendium of polycystic ovarian syndrome and its relevance in glycation and diabetes	256-268
50	Payal POOJARI, Amruta PADGAONKAR, Additiya PARAMANYA, Ahmad ALI	
50	Digital three-dimensional planning of orthodontic miniscrew anchorage: A literature review	269-274
	CASE REPORT	
51	CASE REFORT	
	An unusual upper GI bleeding. Angiodysplasia at the hepaticojejunostomy anostomosis	
52	An unusual upper GI bleeding: Angiodysplasia at the hepaticojejunostomy anostomosis Merve EREN, Serkan ÖCAL, Adil DUMAN	275-276
	An unusual upper GI bleeding: Angiodysplasia at the hepaticojejunostomy anostomosis Merve EREN, Serkan ÖCAL, Adil DUMAN Acute motor axonal neuropathy associated with COVID-19	275-276
	An unusual upper GI bleeding: Angiodysplasia at the hepaticojejunostomy anostomosis Merve EREN, Serkan ÖCAL, Adil DUMAN Acute motor axonal neuropathy associated with COVID-19 Mehlika PANPALLI ATEŞ, Beyza Nur ÇETİN, Beria Nur ERTUĞRUL, Ahmet Enes YÜKSEKTEPE, Selim Selçuk ÇOMOĞLU	275-276 277-279
53	An unusual upper GI bleeding: Angiodysplasia at the hepaticojejunostomy anostomosis Merve EREN, Serkan ÖCAL, Adil DUMAN Acute motor axonal neuropathy associated with COVID-19 Mehlika PANPALLI ATEŞ, Beyza Nur ÇETİN, Beria Nur ERTUĞRUL, Ahmet Enes YÜKSEKTEPE, Selim Selçuk ÇOMOĞLU Perihepatic and abdominal wall abscess mimicking hydatid cyst: A late complication of residual gallbladder stones	275-276 277-279 280-282
53	An unusual upper GI bleeding: Angiodysplasia at the hepaticojejunostomy anostomosis Merve EREN, Serkan ÖCAL, Adil DUMAN Acute motor axonal neuropathy associated with COVID-19 Mehlika PANPALLI ATEŞ, Beyza Nur ÇETİN, Beria Nur ERTUĞRUL, Ahmet Enes YÜKSEKTEPE, Selim Selçuk ÇOMOĞLU Perihepatic and abdominal wall abscess mimicking hydatid cyst: A late complication of residual gallbladder stones Halil İbrahim TAŞCI, Emin TÜRK, Erdal KARAGÜLLE	275-276 277-279 280-282
53 54	An unusual upper GI bleeding: Angiodysplasia at the hepaticojejunostomy anostomosis Merve EREN, Serkan ÖCAL, Adil DUMAN Acute motor axonal neuropathy associated with COVID-19 Mehlika PANPALLI ATEŞ, Beyza Nur ÇETİN, Beria Nur ERTUĞRUL, Ahmet Enes YÜKSEKTEPE, Selim Selçuk ÇOMOĞLU Perihepatic and abdominal wall abscess mimicking hydatid cyst: A late complication of residual gallbladder stones Halil İbrahim TAŞCI, Emin TÜRK, Erdal KARAGÜLLE Multiorgan failure due to strongyloides infection in liver transplant recipient: A case report and literature review	275-276 277-279 280-282 283-286
53 54	An unusual upper GI bleeding: Angiodysplasia at the hepaticojejunostomy anostomosis Merve EREN, Serkan ÖCAL, Adil DUMAN Acute motor axonal neuropathy associated with COVID-19 Mehlika PANPALLI ATEŞ, Beyza Nur ÇETİN, Beria Nur ERTUĞRUL, Ahmet Enes YÜKSEKTEPE, Selim Selçuk ÇOMOĞLU Perihepatic and abdominal wall abscess mimicking hydatid cyst: A late complication of residual gallbladder stones Halil İbrahim TAŞCI, Emin TÜRK, Erdal KARAGÜLLE Multiorgan failure due to strongyloides infection in liver transplant recipient: A case report and literature review Nergiz EKMEN, Nirgül BİLGER, Derya KİRMAN, Hadi SASANİ	275-276 277-279 280-282 283-286
53 54 55	An unusual upper GI bleeding: Angiodysplasia at the hepaticojejunostomy anostomosis Merve EREN, Serkan ÖCAL, Adil DUMAN Acute motor axonal neuropathy associated with COVID-19 Mehlika PANPALLI ATEŞ, Beyza Nur ÇETİN, Beria Nur ERTUĞRUL, Ahmet Enes YÜKSEKTEPE, Selim Selçuk ÇOMOĞLU Perihepatic and abdominal wall abscess mimicking hydatid cyst: A late complication of residual gallbladder stones Halil İbrahim TAŞCI, Emin TÜRK, Erdal KARAGÜLLE Multiorgan failure due to strongyloides infection in liver transplant recipient: A case report and literature review Nergiz EKMEN, Nirgül BİLGER, Derya KİRMAN, Hadi SASANİ Atypically pulmonary arteriovenous malformations	275-276 277-279 280-282 283-286 287-288
53 54 55	An unusual upper GI bleeding: Angiodysplasia at the hepaticojejunostomy anostomosis Merve EREN, Serkan ÖCAL, Adil DUMAN Acute motor axonal neuropathy associated with COVID-19 Mehlika PANPALLI ATEŞ, Beyza Nur ÇETİN, Beria Nur ERTUĞRUL, Ahmet Enes YÜKSEKTEPE, Selim Selçuk ÇOMOĞLU Perihepatic and abdominal wall abscess mimicking hydatid cyst: A late complication of residual gallbladder stones Halil İbrahim TAŞCI, Emin TÜRK, Erdal KARAGÜLLE Multiorgan failure due to strongyloides infection in liver transplant recipient: A case report and literature review Nergiz EKMEN, Nirgül BİLGER, Derya KİRMAN, Hadi SASANİ Atypically pulmonary arteriovenous malformations Omer TOPALOGLU, Sami KARAPOLAT, Ali AKDOGAN, Celal TEKINBAS	275-276 277-279 280-282 283-286 287-288

	Hatice ÖLGER UZUNER, Cansu BENLİ IŞIK, Seda KOÇ ŞAHİN	
57	Abdominal wall endometriosis: Case-series study and a systematic review	202 207
	Yunus KATIRCI, Ayse Zehra OZDEMİR, Çağrı GÜLÜMSER, Seda GÜN	292-297
58	Uterovesical fistula after uterine compression suture	200 200
	Yunus KATIRCI, Ayşe Zehra ÖZDEMİR, Davut GÜVEN, İdris KOÇAK	298-299
59	Mesenter artery thrombosis despite effective oral anticoagulation treatment	200 201
	Muammer KARAKAYALI, Mahmut YESİN	300-301
60	Unexpected diagnosis 'Foot Tuberculosis'	202 204
	Metin UZUN	302-304
61	Bilateral neck hematoma a complication of central venous catheterization: A case report	205 207
	Abdullah ALGIN, Abuzer ÖZKAN, Mehmet Özgür ERDOĞAN	305-307
62	A rare case of synchronous genital carcinoma involving endometrium and unilateral fallopian tube in a 24	
	years old patient	308-309
	Gamze SAVCI, Kadir BAKAY	
	LETTER TO EDITOR	
63	Knotted nasogastric catheter	210 210
	Abuzer ÖZKAN, Serdar ÖZDEMİR	310-310
64	Geographical information systems and health	211 212
	Kadir ŞAHBAZ, Abuzer ÖZKAN	311-312
	CORRECTION	
65	Effects of ketogenic and western diets on proliferation, vasculogenesis and oxidative stress in the live	313-313



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm

Research Article



J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 1-6 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.1

Diagnostic and prognostic value of Nesfatin-1 in sepsis and septic shock

İlkim Deniz TOPRAK¹^(D), Hasan ERUZUN^{2,*}^(D), Yasin KUTLU³^(D), Yücel ARMAN⁴^(D) Pembegül YUMUŞTUTAN⁵^(D), Şengül AYDIN YOLDEMİR⁴^(D), Murat AKARSU⁴^(D), Okan DİKKER⁶^(D), Tufan TÜKEK⁷^(D)

¹Department of Internal Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Health Sciences Gaziosmanpasa Taksim Training and Research Hospital, Istanbul, Turkey

²Department of Gastroenterology, Faculty of Medicine, Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Turkey
 ³Department of Medical Oncology, Faculty of Medicine, Medipol University, Istanbul, Turkey
 ⁴Department of Internal Medicine, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşçıoğlu City Hospital, Istanbul, Turkey
 ⁵Department of Internal Medicine, Uskudar Public Hospital, Istanbul, Turkey
 ⁶Department of Medical Biochemistry, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşçıoğlu City Hospital, Istanbul, Turkey
 ⁷Department of Internal Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Istanbul University, Istanbul, Turkey

Received: 19.01.2021	•	Accepted/Published Online: 31.05.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022
100001.001.2021				

Abstract

Nesfatin-1 is an anorectic protein, and we expect it to decrease during sepsis and septic shock. We aimed to analyze it and determine the relationship between Nesfatin-1 levels and quick Sequential Organ Failure Assessment(qSOFA) score, renal Sequential Organ Failure Assessment (SOFA) score, and mortality in patients with sepsis and septic shock. Sixty-nine hospitalized adult patients diagnosed with sepsis and septic shock in the internal medicine department, were included in the study after approval of the Clinical Research Ethics Committee. Sepsis diagnosis was based on the detected focus of infection, positive blood cultures, and response to antibiotics. Twenty-one healthy controls matched for age and sex with these patients were also included in the study. Sixty-nine septic patients and twenty-one healthy volunteers were included in the study. Nesfatin-1 levels were compared with covariates. Nesfatin-1 levels in septic patients with quick Sequential Organ Failure Assessment (qSOFA) score of three had a statistically significantly lower Nesfatin-1 level than those of patients with the score of zero, one, and two. Nesfatin-1 was correlated negatively with C reactive protein. We found a statistically significant difference in 1-month mortality between Nesfatin-1 levels below and over 80pg/mL. In order to use Nesfatin-1 as a biomarker in differentiating sepsis from healthy population, more comprehensive and more studies are needed. If supported by new studies, Nesfatin-1 levels below 80 pg / mL at first admission in septic patients may direct the clinician to broad-spectrum antibiotic therapy and earlier intensive care follow-up.

Keywords: Nesfatin-1, sepsis, septic shock, biomarker

1. Introduction

Nesfatin-1, which was first detected in the hypothalamus of mice, is a recently discovered peptide with a half-life of 23.5 minutes derived from a precursor protein, nucleobindin 2 (NUCB2), (1, 2). In particular, its anorectic effect has been demonstrated in many studies. In this respect, intracerebroventricular injection has been shown to dosedependently reduce food intake in newborn chicks and to have an anorectic effect (3) and to reduce food intake after central injection (4) in animals. It is important to note that it is co-localized with ghrelin in gastric X / A-like cells in mice and in P / D1 cells of humans, which creates the hypothesis that peptide products are stimulated by insulin in X / A-like cells: so, food intake is either stimulated by ghrelin or via nesfatin-1. is inhibited (5). Administration of Nesfatin-1 in renal ischemic mice has been found to cause a significant decrease in creatinine levels, indicating the future therapeutic

effect of Nesfatin-1 (6). It has been shown to cross the bloodbrain barrier and it has an opposite effect on food intake with Ghrelin (7). Recently, a large number of studies were published investigating the effects of Nesfatin-1.

On the other hand, sepsis is an inflammatory process in which appetite decreases. Studies in the current literature analyzed the course of Nesfatin-1 in chronic events such as malignancy and diabetes mellitus (8, 9). Still, the literature data is insufficient in acute conditions like sepsis. In order to correct this deficiency and in line with the knowledge that Nesfatin-1 protein is anorectic, we expect its level to decrease in sepsis and septic shock.

In accordance with the knowledge that Nesfatin-1 is an anorectic protein, we expect it to decrease during sepsis and septic shock and we aimed to analyze this condition. Another aim of our study was to determine the relationship of Nesfatin-1 levels and quick Sequential Organ Failure Assessment (qSOFA) score, C reactive protein (CRP), procalcitonin, lactate and creatinine levels, hourly urine output, renal Sequential Organ Failure Assessment (SOFA) score, leukocyte count, and mortality in patients with sepsis and septic shock.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Patients and clinical data collection

Based on the results of the published generation, we aimed to determine the difference in 1 unit Nesfatin 1 with 80% power. A sample size of at least 17 diseases per group is required to predict the impact measurement of 1 (alfa: 0,05)

Sixty-nine hospitalized adult patients diagnosed with sepsis and septic shock in the internal medicine department, were included in the study after approval of the Clinical Research Ethics Committee (date: 21.01.2016 no: 48670771). Sepsis diagnosis was based on the detected focus of infection, positive blood cultures, and response to antibiotics. Twenty-one healthy controls matched for age and sex with these patients were also included in the study. Patients who were under 18 years of age, did not give consent to participate in the study, had malignancy, were obese (Body Mass Index >35), or were diagnosed with schizophrenia/anorexia nervosa were excluded from the study.

2.2. Measurement of serum Nesfatin-1 levels

The nesfatin-1 level was determined in all patients and control samples. Venous blood samples were centrifuged at 1000xg for 20 min. Blood was collected in Eppendorf tubes and plasma samples were saved at -80C. All stored blood samples were dissolved only once on the analysis day and serum Nesfatin-1 levels were measured by using Enzyme-Linked Immune Sorbent Assay (ELISA) kits. The linear measurement range was: 1.5ng/ml-300ng/ml. The reported intraassay and intraassay CV's were <10% and <12%. The minimum detectable dose of Nesfatin-1 is typically less than 234.2pg/mL.

2.3. Data analysis

Serum CRP, procalcitonin, lactate, leukocyte counts, creatinine levels, and hourly urine output were recorded. In terms of leukocyte counts, patients were divided into three groups as follows:<4000 leukopenia, 4000-12000 normal, and > 12000 leukocytosis.

Renal SOFA score of each patient was calculated and patients were divided into 5 groups according to their creatinine values and urine outputs: creatinine: <1.2 mg/dL (0 point), creatinine: 1.2-1.9 mg/dL (1 points), creatinine: 2-3.4 mg/dL (2 points), creatinine: 3.5-4.9 mg/dLorurine output 200-500 ml/day (3 points), creatinine: > 5 mg/dLorurine output <200 mL/day (4 points) (6-8). The outcomes of the patients hospitalized in the internal medicine service were evaluated (discharge, referral to the intensive care unit, death). The mortality rates of the patients were also analyzed.

2.4. Statistics

The Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) version 20 was used to analyze the data. It has been determined by the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test that gender, Nesfatin-1, lactate and creatinine levels and hourly urine output differ significantly from normal distribution. Therefore, non-parametric methods have been used in the analysis of these data. For nonnormally distributed data we reported interquartile range. Significant differences were calculated using the Mann-Whitney U test and Kruskal Wallis test for continuous variables. Spearman's rank correlation was used to examine the relationship between two continuous variables. Age, CRP, procalcitonin values were normally distributed and parametric tests were used to analyze the data on these values (one-way ANOVA, independent samples t-test). Descriptive statistics (frequency, mean, standard deviation, and minimum, maximum, median) of the variables were calculated. P values of less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

3. Results

Sixty-nine septic patients and twenty-one healthy controls were included in our study. The demographic and clinical characteristics of our patients are presented in Table 1. There was no statistically significant difference between patients and healthy individuals regarding age or gender (Table 1).

 Table 1. Characteristics of patients and healthy controls

	Septic patients (n:69)	Control group (n:21)	Р
Gender (male/female)	39/30	8/13	0.139*
Age (year)	62.3 ± 17.6	50.8 ± 10.9	0.114*
*analyzed by independe	ent Sample t test		

As shown in Table 2, Nesfatin-1 levels were significantly lower in patients with sepsis and septic shock (median: 674.70 pg/ml, IQR: 169.60 - 1010.90 pg/ml) compared to healthy controls (median: 902.10 pg/mL, IQR: 724.95 - 1370 pg/mL) (p=0.005). There was also statistically significant difference in CRP levels (p<0.001) (Table 2).

 Table 2. Median Nesfatin-1 levels and mean CRP levels of patients and control group

	Sepsis (n:69)	Control	Р
		(n:21)	
Nesfatin-1	674.70	902.10	0.005*
(pg/mL)	(169.60-1010.9)	(725-1370)	
CRP	220.52±140.77	2.99±1.9	<0.001**
(mg/L)			

*analyzed by Mann-Whitney-U test; ** analyzed by independent Sample t test

In our study, a negative correlation was found between Nesfatin-1 and CRP levels (p: 0.007, r: -0.250) (Fig. 1). When Nesfatin-1 levels were compared between the groups with and without diabetes mellitus, the difference was statistically nonsignificant. However, CRP values were statistically significantly different between diabetic sepsis (287.63 mg/L \pm 162.98) and nondiabetic sepsis (189.9 mg/L \pm 118.35) patients (p: 0.038) (Table 3).



Fig. 1. The scotter plot of nesfatin and C-reactive protein

 Table 3. Median Nesfatin-1 levels and mean CRP levels of patients

 with or without diabetes mellitus

	Sepsis with diabetes (n=22)	Sepsis without diabetes (n=47)	р
Nesfatin-1 (pg/mL)	764.80 (246.95 - 1045)	666.80 (90.90-998.80)	0.435*
CRP (mg/L)	287.63±162.98	189.1±118.35	0.038**

*analyzed by Mann-Whitney-U test; ** analyzed by independent Sample t test. CRP: C-Reactive Protein

There were no significant differences in procalcitonin, creatinine or lactate levels, hourly urine output, qSOFA score, renal SOFA score, or leukocyte count (for all of them p > 0.05).

In contrast to CRP, there was no correlation between Nesfatin-1 levels and qSOFA score, procalcitonin, lactate, and creatinine levels or hourly urine output (p > 0.05 for all) (Table 4).

Table 4. Correlation between Nesfatin-1 levels and other parameters

	Nesfatin-1 (r)*	Nesfatin-1 (p)*
CRP	-0.250	0.017
Procalcitonin	0.128	0.294
qSOFA	-0.230	0.058
Lactate	-0.093	0.446
Creatinine	-0.42	0.733
Hourly Urine Output	0.016	0.896

*analyzed with Spearman's Correlation, CRP: C-Reactive Protein, qSOFA: quick Sequential Organ Failure Assessment

Nesfatin-1 levels did not differ significantly in different renal SOFA scores (p: 0.853). When the outcomes of 69 septic patients were assessed; 33 patients were discharged from the internal medicine department (19 patients over 65 years of age, 13 of whom were diabetic), 4 patients died (2 patients over 65 years of age, no diabetic patients), and 32 patients were referred to ICU (21 patients over 65 years of age, 9 were diabetic). Of the 32 patients referred to the ICU, seven were discharged (six were older than 65 years of age, three were diabetic) and 25 died (15 were older than 65 years of age; six were diabetic). Of the 42 septic patients over the age of 65 years, 19 died in the outcome assessment of their internal medicine hospitalization. Mortality rates of patients with sepsis were found to be independent of diabetes and age (over 65 years of age and below 65 years of age) (p: 0.722).

There was no statistically significant difference in terms of Nesfatin-1 levels in septic patients who were discharged, and patients referred to ICU during the hospitalization or compared with patients who died during the 1-month follow-up (p: 0,694; p: 0,821, respectively).

Also, when we evaluated 1-month mortality, we found that 35 of 69 patients died (50.72% mortality) and 34 of them were alive. Of 12 septic patients with Nesfatin-1 levels below 80 pg / mL, 10 (83.33% mortality) died while among nine patients with Nesfatin-1 levels above 1300 pg / mL, only 2 (22.22% mortality) died.

In our study, we can say that the mortality increased below 80 pg / mL Nesfatin-1 (arbitrary cut off) and the mortality decreased above the 1300 pg / mL Nesfatin-1 (arbitrary cut off) level. In other words, 10 (28.57%) of 35 patients who died during 1-month follow-up had a Nesfatin-1 value below 80. On this result, we divided the patients into two subgroups as patients with Nesfatin-1 values below 80 and over 80, and we found statistically significant differences in the 1-month mortality of patients (p: 0.013). Table 5 shows the distribution of Nesfatin-1 levels in 1-month mortality assessment on the survivors and non-survivors.

 Table 5. Distribution of Nesfatin-1 in death and survivor patients in

 1-month mortality assessment

Nesfatin-1 Levels (pg/mL)	Patients (n=69)	Control (n=21)
0-80 n (%)	12 (17.4)	0(0)
[Death(n)/ survivor (n)]	(10/2)	(0/0)
80-500 n (%)	17 (24.6)	1 (4.7)
[Death(n)/ survivor (n)]	(8/9)	(0/1)
500-1300 n (%)	31 (44.9)	11 (52.4)
[Death(n)/ survivor (n)]	(15-17)	(0/11)
1300-4224 n (%)	9 (13.1)	9 (42.9)
[Death(n)/ survivor (n)]	(2-7)	(0/9)

There was not any significant association between 1month mortality and procalcitonin (p: 0.398), lactate (p: 0.606), and creatinine (p: 0.408) levels, hourly urine output (p: 0.104), renal SOFA score, qSOFA score, or leukocyte count (p: 0.714). However, there was a significant difference between the survivors and non-survivors in terms of CRP levels (p <0.05). The mean value of CRP was 186.5 mg / L in patients who died, and it was 255.4 mg / L in survivors.

4. Discussion

Sepsis is an inflammatory process in which appetite decreases. In sepsis, a clinical diagnosis, there is still no strong laboratory parameter to predict mortality today. A biomarker that predicts early mortality in septic patients will be invaluable to clinicians.

Nesfatin-1 is a multifunctional, anorectic-acting peptide hormone with a half-life of 23.5 minutes (2). Studies conducted until this time investigated the course of Nesfatin-1 in chronic conditions such as malignancy, Polycystic Ovary Syndrome or Diabetes Mellitus. Nesfatin-1 level was reported to be significantly decreased in lung cancer (11). However, the data about the alterations in Nesfatin-1 levels in acute conditions is limited.

In our study, we compared the Nesfatin-1 levels in septic patients and healthy volunteers, and we found that Nesfatin-1 levels were significantly lower in septic patients. Our study was the first in the literature evaluating the Nesfatin-1 levels in sepsis and septic shock.

We further grouped septic patients as diabetic and nondiabetic and Nesfatin-1 levels did not differ between these two subgroups. However, in previous studies, serum Nesfatin-1 levels were found to be higher in patients with prediabetes and Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (8,9). This information suggests that the Nesfatin-1 level is high in diabetic patients when there is no septic event, but it seems to be low in septic patients like non-diabetic patients. The fact that the Nesfatin-1 protein can be used as a marker in the diagnosis of sepsis; it is a promising result that Nesfatin-1 levels are not affected by the presence of diabetes. In addition, in this study, a negative correlation was found between Nesfatin-1 levels and CRP. These data suggest that Nesfatin-1 may be as reliable as CRP in the diagnosis of infection but may be superior to CRP due to the lack of affected results in diabetic patients because the CRP value was significantly different between diabetic and nondiabetic septic patients in our study. In rats with renal ischemia, the administration of Nesfatin-1 caused a significant decrease in creatinine levels and this was thought to indicate the future therapeutic effects of Nesfatin-1 (12). However, in a study in which Saldanha et al compared hemodialysis patients and healthy controls, Nesfatin-1 levels did not show a significant difference between the two groups (13). Similarly, in our study, there was no correlation between creatinine levels, hourly urine output or renal SOFA score, and Nesfatin-1 levels. Our study differs from the study performed with mice, since there was no relationship between kidney damage and Nesfatin-1 levels in our study performed with patients equally distributed according to renal SOFA score. In this respect, our study is the second human study showing that there is no relationship between Nesfatin-1 levels and kidney damage.

In addition, we did not find any correlation between Nesfatin-1 levels and procalcitonin, or lactate levels or leucocyte counts.

Nesfatin-1 values did not differ significantly in different qSOFA scores. However, when we combined the patients with qSOFA scores zero, one and two in a single group and three in a separate group, and compared these two groups, a statistically significant difference was observed in terms of Nesfatin-1 levels. Although more studies are warranted, this result suggests that Nesfatin-1 protein such as qSOFA, can be used for rapid evaluation of sepsis and may provide us an objective data in clinical practice.

There was not any significant difference between the patients who survived or died in the 1-month follow-up. However, the median Nesfatin-1 levels of the patients who died in the early period and who did not need to be followed up in the ICU at early periods (discharged from the service) were 54.03 pg / mL and 674.70 pg / mL, respectively. However, this difference did not reach a statistically significant level most probably due to the small number of septic patients who died at early periods (n: 4). If larger studies with more patients would be performed, it may be suggested that early ICU follow-up would be more appropriate in patients with lower Nesfatin-1 levels and a more aggressive treatment decision may be taken. Thus, this protein will be an important source of light for clinicians in the follow-up of patients, in the decision of treatment and in the unit to be followed.

When we evaluated 1-month mortality, 50.72% of the patients died. Previous studies have reported that in-hospital mortality rates due to sepsis are between 10 and 52% (14-17). In our study, the mortality rate in internal diseases wards was 5.7%, while in-hospital mortality rate was 42% that was in parallel with the current literature. Although most deaths are seen within the first six months, it is known that the risk continues for two years (18-22). In our study, 40 patients were discharged after hospitalization due to sepsis but six of them died within 1 month. This data supports the increase in mortality after hospitalization due to sepsis. One point we would like to draw attention to here is that the sensitivity and specificity of the cut off value for the Nesfatin-1 levels were too low for clinical use. However, 83.33% of patients with Nesfatin-1 levels below 80 pg / mL and 22.22% of patients with more than 1300 pg / mL died. Based on this information, we found that the mortality rate increased below the value of 80 pg / mL, which we determined as arbitrary cut off in our study, and we can still say that the mortality rate was lower in patients with Nesfatin-1levels higher than 1300 pg / mL, which was again determined as an arbitrary cut-off.

In the same way, the lowest Nesfatin-1 level in our control group was 296 pg / mL. Although larger studies with a higher number of patients and the control cases are required, we would like to note that we had Nesfatin-1 levels lower than 296 pg / mL only in the septic patient group. This value can serve as a valuable parameter in evaluating patients as sepsis and it may be associated with poor prognosis. However, it is obvious that more studies are warranted.

Furthermore, supporting our findings, as indicated in the kit procedure it was noted that the value of the Nesfatin-1

protein at a concentration close to zero was indicated to be at a sensitivity of 234.2 pg / mL. In parallel with this information, there was no value less than 234.2 pg / mL in the control group, but it was below the value specified in three of four patients who were expired during their hospitalization. This suggests that Nesfatin-1 protein is too low to be detected in early-onset sepsis.

We did not find any association between 1-month mortality and procalcitonin, lactate or creatinine levels, hourly urine output, renal SOFA score, qSOFA score, or leukocyte count. However, there was a significant difference in terms of CRP levels among survivors and expired patients within 1 month. The mean value of CRP was 186.5 mg / L in the expired group, and it was 255.4 mg / L in survivors. However, since both values were clinically high, we think that this result has no clinical significance.

In previous studies, it has been emphasized that low procalcitonin levels in septic patients would negatively affect prognosis since it may cause misdiagnosis (23-28). In our study, we did not find a correlation between procalcitonin levels and in-hospital or 1-month mortality. Therefore, we believe that procalcitonin should not be used in the clinical prognostic approach.

In our study, we did not find a relationship between qSOFA score and in-hospital or 1-month mortality. However, mortality is estimated to be more than 10% in patients who meet all of the qSOFA criteria in the literature (29). The fact that the qSOFA score, which has been in use since 2016, has not predicted mortality in our study shows that more studies are required in this regard.

In past publications, the anti-inflammatory and antiapoptotic properties of Nesfatin 1 have been emphasized (30). It is known to inhibit neutrophil infiltration. Due to this effect, it is an expected finding that the level of Nesfatin 1 decreases, as the anti-inflammatory effect may need to be suppressed in a situation where inflammation is intense such as sepsis and septic shock. In our study, a result in this direction was obtained.

Our study has some limited aspects. The first is the limited number of patients. The sensitivity and specificity of some markers may not have reached statistical significance. The area we want to mention in this regard is the comparison with the patients who were mortal in the early period. The second restricted aspect of our study was that all samples were not taken before the first antibiotic dose, which weakened the results and may showed higher Nesfatin-1 values in the septic group. Thirdly, since we did not report the infection focus and type of infection (microbial agent) of septic patients, we were unable to group accordingly and could not evaluate its effects on prognosis. Fourthly, we did not evaluate the level of NUCB2 protein or NUCB2 gene expression. Fifthly, Sepsis has many prognostic factors including early recognition and management of sepsis, appropriate antibiotic treatment initiation time, antibiotic resistance profile of infectious agent, APACHE scores, co-morbidities and age, etc. Therefore, evaluation of prognostic value of any test requires analysis of the test value together with confounder factors. We could not analyze the confounder factors. Finally, we did not state the causes of death.

Nesfatin-1 level was lower in septic patients compared to healthy controls and had a negative correlation with CRP. This does not differ in diabetic and nondiabetic septic patients in contrast to CRP. Nesfatin-1 can be used as a biomarker for differentiation of healthy population with sepsis. In patients with qSOFA score 3, the fact that Nesfatin-1 protein was lower than those with qSOFA score of 0, 1 and 2 indicates that this protein can be used in the rapid evaluation of sepsis and it may give us clinical benefit as an objective data.

Furthermore, Nesfatin-1 levels below 80 pg / mL in septic patients at the time of admission to the hospital may lead the clinician to early ICU follow-up with antibiotic therapy, with a broader spectrum and less resistance.

It is evident that prospective randomized controlled trials with a greater number of cases are warranted for the use of serum Nesfatin-1 levels in the diagnosis of sepsis and the prediction of mortality.

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

References

- Oh-I S, Shimizu H, Satoh T, Okada S, Adachi S, Inoue K, et al. Identification of nesfatin-1 as a satiety molecule in the hypothalamus. Nature. 2006 Oct 12;443(7112):709-12. doi: 10.1038/nature05162. Epub 2006 Oct 1. PMID: 17036007.
- Aydin S. Role of NUCB2/nesfatin-1 as a possible biomarker. Curr Pharm Des. 2013;19(39):6986-92. doi: 10.2174/138161281939131127143422. PMID: 23537082.
- **3.** Stengel A, Hofmann T, Goebel-Stengel M, Lembke V, Ahnis A, Elbelt U, et al. Ghrelin and NUCB2/nesfatin-1 are expressed in the same gastric cell and differentially correlated with body mass index in obese subjects. Histochem Cell Biol. 2013 Jun;139(6):909-18. doi: 10.1007/s00418-013-1087-8. Epub 2013 Mar 21. PMID: 23515787.
- Heidarzadeh H, Zendehdel M, Babapour V, Gilanpour H. The effect of Nesfatin-1 on food intake in neonatal chicks: role of CRF₁/CRF2 and H1/ H3 receptors. Vet Res Commun. 2018 Mar;42(1):39-47. doi: 10.1007/s11259-017-9706-9. Epub 2017 Dec 26. PMID: 29280084.
- Maejima Y, Horita S, Kobayashi D, Aoki M, O'hashi R, Imai R, et al. Nesfatin-1 inhibits voltage gated K⁺ channels in pancreatic beta cells. Peptides. 2017 Sep; 95:10-15. doi: 10.1016/j.peptides.2017.07.001. Epub 2017 Jul 8. PMID: 28697955.
- Zhang H, Qi C, Li L, Luo F, Xu Y. Clinical significance of NUCB2 mRNA expression in prostate cancer. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. 2013 Aug 16;32(1):56. doi: 10.1186/1756-9966-32-56.

PMID: 23958433; PMCID: PMC3751731.

- Ünal K, Yüksel RN, Turhan T, Sezer S, Yaylaci ET. The association of serum nesfatin-1 and ghrelin levels with metabolic syndrome in patients with schizophrenia. Psychiatry Res. 2018 Mar;261:45-49. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2017.12.041. Epub 2017 Dec 20. PMID: 29278806.
- Akour A, Kasabri V, Boulatova N, Bustanji Y, Naffa R, Hyasat D, et al. Levels of metabolic markers in drug-naive prediabetic and type 2 diabetic patients. Acta Diabetol. 2017 Feb;54(2):163-170. doi: 10.1007/s00592-016-0926-1. Epub 2016 Oct 18. PMID: 27752839.
- **9.** Algul S, Ozkan Y, Ozcelik O. Serum nesfatin-1 levels in patients with different glucose tolerance levels. Physiol Res. 2016 Dec 13;65(6):979-985. doi: 10.33549/physiolres.933186. Epub 2016 Aug 19. PMID: 27539099.
- 10. Singer M, Deutschman CS, Seymour CW, Shankar-Hari M, Annane D, Bauer M, et al. The Third International Consensus Definitions for Sepsis and Septic Shock (Sepsis-3). JAMA. 2016 Feb 23;315(8):801-10. doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.0287. PMID: 26903338; PMCID: PMC4968574.
- Cetinkaya H, Karagöz B, Bilgi O, Ozgün A, Tunçel T, Emirzeoğlu L, et al. Nesfatin-1 in advanced lung cancer patients with weight loss. Regul Pept. 2013 Feb 10;181:1-3. doi: 10.1016/j.regpep.2012.11.005. Epub 2012 Dec 23. PMID: 23269222.
- 12. Jiang G, Wang M, Wang L, Chen H, Chen Z, Guo J, et al. The protective effect of nesfatin-1 against renal ischemia-reperfusion injury in rats. Ren Fail. 2015 Jun;37(5):882-9. doi: 10.3109/0886022X.2015.1015426. Epub 2015 Feb 24. PMID: 25707521.
- 13. Saldanha JF, Carrero JJ, Lobo JC, Stockler-Pinto MB, Leal VO, Calixto A, et al. The newly identified anorexigenic adipokine nesfatin-1 in hemodialysis patients: Are there associations with food intake, body composition and inflammation? Regul Pept. 2012 Jan 10;173(1-3):82-5. doi: 10.1016/j.regpep.2011.09.010. Epub 2011 Oct 26. PMID: 22036920..
- Kaukonen KM, Bailey M, Suzuki S, Pilcher D, Bellomo R. Mortality related to severe sepsis and septic shock among critically ill patients in Australia and New Zealand, 2000-2012. JAMA. 2014 Apr 2;311(13):1308-16. doi: 10.1001/jama.2014.2637. PMID: 24638143.
- 15. Dombrovskiy VY, Martin AA, Sunderram J, Paz HL. Facing the challenge: decreasing case fatality rates in severe sepsis despite increasing hospitalizations. Crit Care Med. 2005 Nov;33(11):2555-62. doi: 10.1097/01.ccm.0000186748.64438.7b. PMID: 16276180.
- 16. Winters BD, Eberlein M, Leung J, Needham DM, Pronovost PJ, Sevransky JE. Long-term mortality and quality of life in sepsis: a systematic review. Crit Care Med. 2010 May;38(5):1276-83. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e3181d8cc1d. PMID: 20308885.
- Epstein L, Dantes R, Magill S, Fiore A. Varying Estimates of Sepsis Mortality Using Death Certificates and Administrative Codes--United States, 1999-2014. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2016 Apr 8;65(13):342-5. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6513a2. PMID: 27054476.
- 18. Ou SM, Chu H, Chao PW, Lee YJ, Kuo SC, Chen TJ, et al. Long-Term Mortality and Major Adverse Cardiovascular Events in Sepsis Survivors. A Nationwide Population-based Study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2016 Jul 15;194(2):209-17. doi:

10.1164/rccm.201510-2023OC. PMID: 26808711.

- Prescott HC, Osterholzer JJ, Langa KM, Angus DC, Iwashyna TJ. Late mortality after sepsis: propensity matched cohort study. BMJ. 2016 May 17;353:i2375. doi: 10.1136/bmj.i2375. PMID: 27189000; PMCID: PMC4869794.
- 20. Jones TK, Fuchs BD, Small DS, Halpern SD, Hanish A, Umscheid CA, et al. Post-Acute Care Use and Hospital Readmission after Sepsis. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2015 Jun;12(6):904-13. doi: 10.1513/AnnalsATS.201411-504OC. PMID: 25751120; PMCID: PMC4590016.
- Prescott HC, Langa KM, Iwashyna TJ. Readmission diagnoses after hospitalization for severe sepsis and other acute medical conditions. JAMA. 2015 Mar 10;313(10):1055-7. doi: 10.1001/jama.2015.1410. PMID: 25756444; PMCID: PMC4760618.
- 22. Prescott HC, Langa KM, Liu V, Escobar GJ, Iwashyna TJ. Increased 1-year healthcare use in survivors of severe sepsis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2014 Jul 1;190(1):62-9. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201403-0471OC. PMID: 24872085; PMCID: PMC4226030.
- 23. Knaus WA, Sun X, Nystrom O, Wagner DP. Evaluation of definitions for sepsis. Chest. 1992 Jun;101(6):1656-62. doi: 10.1378/chest.101.6.1656. PMID: 1600787.
- 24. Peres Bota D, Lopes Ferreira F, Mélot C, Vincent JL. Body temperature alterations in the critically ill. Intensive Care Med. 2004 May;30(5):811-6. doi: 10.1007/s00134-004-2166-z. Epub 2004 Feb 4. PMID: 15127194.
- 25. Kreger BE, Craven DE, McCabe WR. Gram-negative bacteremia. IV. Re-evaluation of clinical features and treatment in 612 patients. Am J Med. 1980 Mar;68(3):344-55. doi: 10.1016/0002-9343(80)90102-3. PMID: 6987871.
- **26.** Haase N, Ostrowski SR, Wetterslev J, Lange T, Møller MH, Tousi H, et al. Thromboelastography in patients with severe sepsis: a prospective cohort study. Intensive Care Med. 2015 Jan;41(1):77-85. doi: 10.1007/s00134-014-3552-9. Epub 2014 Nov 21. PMID: 25413378.
- 27. Neyra JA, Canepa-Escaro F, Li X, Manllo J, Adams-Huet B, Yee J, et al; Acute Kidney Injury in Critical Illness Study Group. Association of Hyperchloremia With Hospital Mortality in Critically Ill Septic Patients. Crit Care Med. 2015 Sep;43(9):1938-44. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000001161. PMID: 26154934; PMCID: PMC4537691.
- 28. Schuetz P, Birkhahn R, Sherwin R, Jones AE, Singer A, Kline JA, et al. Serial Procalcitonin Predicts Mortality in Severe Sepsis Patients: Results From the Multicenter Procalcitonin MOnitoring SEpsis (MOSES) Study. Crit Care Med. 2017 May;45(5):781-789. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0000000002321. PMID: 28257335; PMCID: PMC5389588.
- 29. Freund Y, Lemachatti N, Krastinova E, Van Laer M, Claessens YE, Avondo A, et al; French Society of Emergency Medicine Collaborators Group. Prognostic Accuracy of Sepsis-3 Criteria for In-Hospital Mortality Among Patients With Suspected Infection Presenting to the Emergency Department. JAMA. 2017 Jan 17;317(3):301-308. doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.20329. PMID: 28114554.
- **30.** Xu Y, Chen F. Antioxidant, Anti-Inflammatory and Anti-Apoptotic Activities of Nesfatin-1: A Review. J Inflamm Res. 2020 Sep 28;13:607-617. doi: 10.2147/JIR.S273446. PMID: 33061526; PMCID: PMC7532075.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm

Research Article



J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 7-11 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.2

Evaluation of Covid-19 cases that applied to the hospital at the first peak of the pandemic

Özlem AKDOĞAN^{1,}*[®], Derya YAPAR¹[®], Kazım ÇEBİ²[®], Sertaç ARSLAN³[®] Hilal BOYACI³[®], Yasemin ARI YILMAZ³[®], Pınar TUNÇEL ÖZTÜRK¹[®], Ünsal SAVCI⁴[®], Hüseyin KAYADİBİ^{5, 6}[®] Ayşe YILMAZ³[®], Meral GÜLHAN ³[®], Aysel KOCAGÜL ÇELİKBAŞ¹[®], Nurcan BAYKAM¹[®]

¹Department of Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, Faculty of Medicine, Hitit University, Çorum, Turkey

²Department of Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, Çorum Erol Olçok Training and Research Hospital, Çorum, Turkey

³Department of Chest Diseases, Faculty of Medicine, Hitit University, Corum, Turkey

⁴Department of Medical Microbiology, Faculty of Medicine, Hitit University, Çorum, Turkey

⁵Department of Medical Biochemistry, Faculty of Medicine, Hitit University, Corum, Turkey

⁶Department of Medical Biochemistry, Faculty of Medicine, Eskişehir Osmangazi University, Eskişehir, Turkey

Received: 19.04.2021	•	Accepted/Published Online: 31.05.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022	
					-

Abstract

Early diagnosis in COVID-19 is essential in terms of treatment and prevention of contagiousness. In this study, we aimed to find an alternative diagnosis method by using fewer laboratory parameters in the early diagnosis of COVID-19 disease by creating a fast, easily accessible, costeffective index and has a diagnostic accuracy rate of over 90%. All patients over the age of 18 who applied to Hitit University Erol Olçok Training and Research Hospital Emergency COVID Outpatient Clinic with a pre-diagnosis of COVID-19 between March and April 2020 were evaluated retrospectively. Patients were divided into two groups as COVID-19 positive and COVID-19 negative. It was aimed to create a HITIT-19 index by evaluating the cases according to the clinical and laboratory results. Between March and April 2020 (in the first peak of the pandemic), 1586 patients were applied to the Emergency COVID-19 outpatient clinic with a pre-diagnosis of COVID-19. According to COVID-19 RT-PCR, card test, and CT involvement, 285 (13%) patients were diagnosed with COVID-19. PCR was positive in 285 (18%) of 1586 patients, and PCR was negative in 1301 (82%). While 153 (53.7%) of the patients diagnosed with COVID-19 were male and the median age was 45 (28-62.75), 883 (55.7%) of the patients not diagnosed with COVID-19 were male, and the median age was 43 (31-65). Hypertension (HT) was the most common underlying disease in 10.5% of patients applied to the emergency room with a diagnosis of COVID-19, while 38.9% dyspnea and 35.1% fever were the most common symptoms. While 76% of Plaquenil and 58% azithromycin were the most frequently started treatments, 31.4% (28.4% of them were hospitalized in the service, 3% in the intensive care unit) of them hospitalized. It was to create a HITIT-19 index that is fast, easily accessible, cost-effective, and has a diagnostic accuracy rate of over 90% by using laboratory tests. However, we could not achieve this goal due to the low accuracy of the diagnostic tests and the lack of significant change in the laboratory levels of the patients at admission. Considering that the pandemic is continuing rapidly, there is still a need to develop practical diagnostic methods that are easier and cheaper in diagnosis. In this sense, we believe that our study will be a guiding study for other studies that will be designed for diagnostic index studies.

Keywords: Covid-19, early diagnosis, RT-PCR, HITIT-19 index

1. Introduction

SARS-CoV-2 is the cause of a serious pandemic that started in Wuhan City of China in early December 2019 and still has an ongoing impact, affecting the whole world. As of January 9, 2021, 87,589,206 patients and 1,906,606 deaths were reported with laboratory approval, affecting 218 countries worldwide (1, 2).

SARS-CoV-2 is a member of the β coronavirus family and is an enveloped positive strand RNA virus. SARS-CoV-2 acts by attaching to the angiotensin converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) receptor. Since this receptor is found in tissues such as the digestive system, the neurological system and the liver as well as the respiratory system, it also acts by attaching to these tissues (3). Tang et al. identified two main types, L and S, based on analysis of 103 genomes of SARS-CoV-2. While the L type is more aggressive and can spread more rapidly, the S type may cause a relatively mild clinical course. L-type is more common and has more mutations (3).

Although the duration of contagion is not known exactly, it can start 1-2 days before the symptomatic period and last up to 14 days following the onset of symptoms. The incubation period is approximately 2-14 days, on average 4-5 days (4). Common symptoms of COVID-19 infection are fever, cough, and dyspnea. In more severe cases, pneumonia, severe acute respiratory infection, kidney failure, and even death may develop. Pneumonia is the most common serious finding of the disease. According to the World Health Organization (WHO), COVID-19 clinic is divided into five categories; asymptomatic (test positive, no symptom), mildly symptomatic (difficulty breathing, shortness of breath, or any signs and symptoms without abnormal chest imaging), moderate cases (mild lung involvement detected by clinical evaluation or imaging and> 93% oxygen saturation) severe illness (> 30 respiratory rate / minute, 93% oxygen saturation, partial arterial oxygen pressure to inspired oxygen <300 or lung infiltration> 50%) and critical illness (respiratory failure, septic shock and / or multi-organ failure) (5).

In COVID-19 disease, early diagnosis is important in terms of treatment and prevention of contagiousness. With this study, we aimed to evaluate of COVID-19 cases that applied to the hospital at the first peak of the pandemic and to create an alternative diagnosis method by using some laboratory parameters in the early phase of COVID-19 disease. This index should be fast, easily accessible, cost-effective, and have a diagnostic accuracy of over 90%.

2. Material and Methods

All patients over the age of 18 who applied to Hitit University Erol Olçok Education and Research Hospital Emergency Department "COVID-19 Outpatient Clinic" with the symptoms of COVID-19 between March and April 2020 were evaluated retrospectively. Oropharyngeal and nasopharyngeal swab samples were taken into vNATTM Transfer Tube in our hospital. Manual RNA extraction was performed in the vNATTM Transfer Tube. Bio-Speedy SARS-CoV-2 Double Gene RT-qPCR Kit and Bio-Rad CFX96 Real-Time PCR automated system were used for detection of SARS-CoV-2. Patients were divided into two groups as COVID-19 positive and COVID-19 negative according to RT-PCR, antibodybased card test and CT results. All cases were evaluated with clinical findings and laboratory results. Laboratory tests results such as complete blood count, coagulation, fibrinogen, routine biochemistry, D-dimer, venous blood gas, troponin, CRP and procalcitonin; which were taken at the emergency admission of cases were used to create the COVID-19 index for use to evaluate patients. Complete blood count, coagulation, routine biochemistry, D-dimer, fibrinogen, venous blood gas, troponin, CRP and procalcitonin test results were obtained from the automation system of our hospital; Data of clinical findings such as cough, shortness of breath, fever, malaise, weakness, and muscle pain were obtained from the patient files. Clinical data of COVID negative cases could not be accessed.

Hitit University licensed SPSS 23.0 package program was used to create the COVID-19 Index. Demographic and biochemical data were classified as continuous or categorical variables. Kolmogorov Smirnov analysis was used for normality test, and data with Gaussian distribution were presented as mean \pm standard deviation, and data without Gaussian distribution were presented as median (25-75

quarters). Comparisons between groups were made using Student's t-test or Mann-Whitney U-test, as appropriate. Categorical variables were compared using the Chi-square test. Univariate and multivariate logistic regression analyzes were used to create a new COVID Index. With this new COVID Index, which was planned to be created, ROC analysis was performed to determine the diagnostic accuracies in the differentiation of COVID-19 patients. P <0.05 was considered statistically significant. The study was approved with the decision of the Ethics Committee of our hospital, dated 12.05.2020 and numbered 240.

3. Results

Between March and April 2020, 1586 patients applied to Hitit University Erol Olçok Education and Research Hospital Emergency Department "COVID-19 Outpatient Clinic with suspicion of COVID-19. According to COVID-19 RT-PCR, card test and CT involvement, 285 (13%) patients were diagnosed with COVID. PCR was positive in 285 (18%) of 1586 patients, and PCR was negative in 1301 (82%) patients. While the typical appearance compatible with COVID-19 in thorax CT was present in 189 (11.9%) cases, card test positivity was detected as 27 (1.7%). The median age of COVID-19 patients was 45 (28-62) and 153 (53.7%) were male, while the median age of patients that negative tests results were 43 (31-65) and 883 (55.7%) of them were male. Hypertension (HT) was the most common comorbidities in COVID-19 cases (10.5%). Other comorbidities are summarized in Table 1. Clinical findings of COVID-19 positive and negative cases are shown in the Table 2.

 Table 1. Underlying diseases of Covid-19 negative and positive cases

Underlying	Negative	Positive	
Disease	Patients	Patients	Р
	(n=1301)	(n=285)	
DM	211 (1.2%)	14 (4.91%)	< 0.001
HT	399 (30.7%)	30 (10.5%)	< 0.001
Cancer	55 (4.23%)	3 (1.05%)	0.010
COPD	61 (4.69%)	5 (1.75%)	0.025
Asthma	76 (5.84%)	6 (2.11%)	0.010
Heart Disease	116 (8.92%)	11 (3.85%)	0.004
DM: Diabetes Mellitu	s, HT: hypertension,	COPD: Chronic	Obstructive

Pulmonary Disease

 Table 2. Symptoms and findings of Covid-19 negative and positive cases

Cubeb			
Symptoms and Findings	Negative Patients (n=1301)	Positive Patients (n=285)	Р
Fever	417 (32.1%)	100 (35.1%)	0.322
Dyspnea	439 (33.7%)	111 (38.9%)	0.095
Cough	732 (56.3%)	49 (17.2%)	< 0.001
Sore Throat	215 (16.5%)	14 (4.91%)	< 0.001
Fatigue	219 (16.8%)	19 (6.67%)	< 0.001
Headache	87 (6.69%)	8 (2.81%)	0.012
Vomit	36 (2.77%)	2 (0.70%)	0.039
Myalgia	82 (6.30%)	8 (2.81%)	0.021
Stomach Ache	27 (2.08%)	0 (0%)	0.009

First laboratory tests result of COVID-19 cases which were evaluated in the emergency department, only the CRP result was found above normal. Other tests results were within normal limits. Laboratory findings are summarized in Table 3. The treatments that initiated for COVID-19 are summarized in Table 4. The most used agents in the treatment were plaquenil (76%), azithromycin (58%), low molecular weight heparin LMWH (42%) and oseltamivir (25%). 31.4% (n=689) of the patients were hospitalized. 91% (n=624) of them were hospitalized in COVID services and 3% (65) in intensive care units. We could not create a COVID-19 index due to the lack of significant changes in the laboratory parameters (ROC analysis, Fig. 1).

Table 3. Laboratory	information	of Covid-19 cases
---------------------	-------------	-------------------

	Negative Patients (n=1301)	Positive Patients (n=285)	Р
WBC (10^9/L)	8.45 (6.77-10.48)	5.82 (4.61-7.19)	< 0.001
Neutrophil (10^9/L	5.33 (3.93-7.48)	3.42 (2.67-4.53)	< 0.001
Lymphocyte (10^9/L)	1.97 (1.31-2.62)	1.45 (1.05-1.96)	< 0.001
Platelet (10^9/L)	239 (199-289)	209 (169-255)	< 0.001
AST (U/L)	22 (17-30)	23 (18-32)	0.063
ALT (U/L)	21 (14-33)	20 (15-30)	0.285
LDH (U/L)	195 (164-246)	212 (164-280)	0.009
CK (U/L)	90 (63-138)	78 (53-124)	0.004
D.Dimer (ug/mL)	0.26 (0.10-0.62)	0.29 (0.20-0.63)	0.003
PRO-BNP (pg/mL)	39 (12-176)	44 (15-107)	0.631
Fibrinogen (mg/dL)	341 (280-437)	343 (282-460)	0.626
CRP (mg/l)	5.41 (3.14-31.3)	7.91 (3.14-27.3)	0.744
Procalcitonin (ng/ml)	0.05 (0.03-0.1)	0.13 (0.04-4.3)	< 0.001
Ph	7.39 (7.36-7.42)	7.40 (7.38-7.4)	0.001
PCO ₂ (mmHg)	43 (39-48)	41 (37-46)	< 0.001
Lactate (0.5-2 mmol/L)	1.79 (1.41-2.25)	1.73 (1.45-2.2)	0.451
Hematocrit (%40 - 49.4)	41 (38-45)	40 (38-43)	0.021
RDW (%12– 13.6)	35 (13-41)	14 (13-32)	< 0.001

WBC:White blood cell, AST: Aspartate Aminotransferase, ALT: Alanine Aminotransferase, LDH: Lactate Dehydrogenase, CK: creatine kinase, PRO-BNP: pro b-type natriuretic peptide, CRP: C-Reactive Protein, PCO2: Partial Carbon Dioxide Pressure, RDW: Red cell distribution width

Table 4. Treatments	initiated fo	r COVID-19
---------------------	--------------	------------

Treaments Started	n (%)
Plaquenil	217 (76.1%)
Azithromycin	165 (57.9%)
LMWH	119 (41.8%)
Oseltamivir	72 (25.3%)
Vitamin C	68 (23.9%)
Favipiravir	61 (21.4%)
Ceftriaxone	40 (14.0%)
Steroid	11 (3.86%)
Tosilizumab	4 (1.4%)



Fig. 1. ROC analysis

4. Discussion

Turkey was also affected by COVID-19, which caused a global public health problem by affecting the whole world. The diagnosis of COVID-19 is based on epidemiological history, clinical symptoms, RT-PCR, thoracic CT and antibody-based card test (6). In our country, according to the Ministry of Health COVID-19 diagnosis and treatment guideline, definitive diagnosis of the COVID- 19 based on real-time reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (rRT-PCR) positivity (7). It is reported in the literature that the RT-PCR test used in the diagnosis of COVID-19 has high specificity (8) and a low sensitivity rate (9). Although the sensitivity rate of the test is not clear, it is estimated to be around 45-97% (10-12). Because the sample is taken in the early or late period, mutations, low viral load may cause the test to be negative (10). RT-PCR was obtained from all 1586 patients applied to our Emergency Department "COVID-19 Outpatient Clinic". The PCR results of 285 (18%) cases were positive. This was a very low value compared to the literature. It was thought that this result may be caused by the excessive number of applies due to COVID-19 anxiety and panic in both physicians and patients at the beginning of the pandemic.

Typical CT findings are diagnostic in patients until RT-PCR results are available (12). RT-PCR should be repeated to avoid the isolation and misdiagnosis of patients with typical CT findings and negative RT-PCR results. It has been reported that the missed diagnosis of COVID-19 by CT is low (3.9%) (13). CT positivity was reported as 64% in the study of Kostaoğlu et al. (12). In our study, on thoracic CT, typical appearance compatible with COVID-19 was present in 189 (11.9%) cases. This low rate can be explained by the fact that almost all patients were referred to the Emergency Department COVID-19 Outpatient Clinic for both retraction and diagnostic purposes due to the concern of COVID-19, the high rate of thoracic CT scans, and most of the patients presenting to the emergency COVID-19 outpatient clinic with panic.

After a while, antibodies (IgM, IgG, IgA) develop in those who recovering from the disease. Antibody response usually begins to occur after 4-7 days of illness. Since antibody positivity occurs approximately after the 10th day of the disease, serological tests should be performed after this day (14). The sensitivity and specificity of serological tests vary according to the test technique, the specificity of the antibody examined, the duration of symptoms at the time of collection, and the immune competence of the individual (10). Li et al. Reported the sensitivity of these tests as 88.7% and the specificity as 90.6% (15). Similarly, in another study conducted in Thailand, 98% sensitivity and 98-100% specificity rates were reported (16). In our study, card test positivity was detected as 27 (1.7%). The test positivity rate was low because our cases were in the early stages of the diseases.

While Baloch et al. (17) reported that the median age was 56 and 54.3% were male, the median age was reported to be 62 in the study of Jin et al. (18). 59% of the cases were male and the mean age was 52 in the study of Kostakoglu et al. (12). Wan et al. was reported the average age of patients as 47 years (19). In our study, 55.7% of our cases were male and the average age of our cases was 45 and it was like the literature.

In the study of Jin et al., 37% were reported to have at least one comorbidity (18). In the study of Kostaoğlu colleagues, the most common comorbidity was hypertension (12). In a study conducted in Iran, diabetes, chronic respiratory disease, and hypertension were the most common comorbidities (20). Wan et al. reported that 32% of their patients had a comorbidity and the most common of them were hypertension (10%), diabetes (9%), cardiovascular disease (5%) and malignancy (3%) (19). In our study, hypertension (11%), diabetes (5%) and heart disease (4%) were the most common comorbid diseases in patients diagnosed with COVID-19 and were like the literature.

Baloch et al. reported the most common symptoms as 98% fever, 76% cough and 44% myalgia (17). The most common symptoms in the study of Jin et al. were 95% fever and 65% cough (18). In our study, dyspnea (39%) and cough (17%) were the most common symptoms. Since our study consisted of patients applied to the emergency department, that is, it did not include only hospitalized patients, our rates were expected to be lower than in the literature.

Laboratory findings include leukopenia, lymphopenia, thrombocytopenia, transaminases, increased CK, LDH, ferritin, and fibrinogen (7,21). Wan et al. reported the mean leukocyte mean 5.4×10^9 / L, lymphocyte mean 1.1×10^9 / L, platelet mean 158×10^9 / L, coagulation parameters were normal in almost all patients, mean creatine kinase 82.2U / L, mean LDH 320 U / L reported the mean CRP of 10.5 mg / L and the mean procalcitonin as 0.11 ng / Ml (19). In our study, the mean laboratory parameters of the patients who were

evaluated in the emergency department were within normal levels, but statistically significant differences were found between two groups.

There are many different approaches and guidelines for effective drug therapy in the treatment of COVID-19 patients in the first peak of pandemic. There is no specific treatment with proven safety and efficacy. Remdesivir, which is one of the agents used in treatment, is licensed for the treatment of COVID-19, while chloroquine phosphate, favipravir, lopinavir / ritonavir, and remdesivir are among the recommended drugs (7,22). LMWH (enoxaparin) is also recommended for prophylaxis due to the predisposition to venous and arterial thromboembolic events by various mechanisms in the course of COVID-19 disease (7). Wan et al. initiated 100% antiviral therapy (catheter and interferon), 44% antibacterial therapy, and 26% corticosteroid therapy (19). Our treatment experience in the first two months was 76% plaquanil, 58% azithromycin, 42% LMWH and 25% oseltamivir.

While planning this study, our aim was to use laboratory tests such as complete blood count, coagulation, routine biochemistry, D-dimer, fibrinogen, venous blood gas, troponin, CRP, and procalcitonin to create a COVID 19 index which is fast, easily accessible, cost-effective, and diagnostic accuracy rate of over 90%. However, we could not achieve this goal due to the low accuracy of diagnostic tests and the lack of significant change in the laboratory values of the patients at admission.

Considering that the pandemic is continuing rapidly, there is still a need to develop practical diagnostic methods that are easier to diagnose. In this sense, we believe that our study will be a guiding study for other studies that will be designed for diagnostic index studies.

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

References

- 1. https://www.worldometers.info/coronavirus/.
- https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novelcoronavirus-2019.
- **3.** Acter T, Uddin N, Das J, Akhter A, Choudhury TR, Kim S. Evolution of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) as coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic: A global health emergency. Sci Total Environ. 2020; 15;730:138996.
- Li Q, Guan X, Wu P, Wang X, Zhou L, Tong Y, et al. Early Transmission Dynamics in Wuhan, China, of Novel Coronavirus-Infected Pneumonia. N Engl J Med, 2020; 382(13): 1199-1207.
- WHO. Clinical management of severe acute respiratory infection (SARI) when COVID-19 disease is suspected. Interim guidance. 2020 Mar 13.

- 6. Li X, Geng M, Peng Y, Meng L, Lu S. Molecular immune pathogenesis and diagnosis of COVID-19. J Pharm Anal. 2020;10(2):102-108. doi: 10.1016/j.jpha.2020.03.001
- 7. Müdürlüğü, T.C.S.B.H.S.G., COVID-19 (SARS-CoV-2 Enfeksiyonu) Rehberi. 2020.
- Pascarella G, Strumia A, Piliego C, Bruno F, Del Buono R, Costa F, et al. COVID-19 diagnosis and management: a comprehensive review. J Intern Med. 2020; 288(2): 192-206.
- Xie J, Ding C, Li J, Wang Y, Guo H, Lu Z, Wang J, et al. Characteristics of patients with coronavirus disease (COVID-19) confirmed using an IgM-IgG antibody test. J Med Virol, 2020; 92(10): 2004-2010.
- Goudouris, E.S., Laboratory diagnosis of COVID-19. J Pediatr (Rio J), 2021; 97(1): 7-12.
- Ai T, Yang Z, Hou H, Zhan C, Chen C, Lv W, et al. Correlation of Chest CT and RT-PCR Testing for Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) in China: A Report of 1014 Cases. Radiology, 2020; 296(2): E32-e40.
- **12.** Kostakoglu U, Kant A, Atalar S, Ertunc B, Erensoy S, Dalmanoglu E, et al. Diagnostic value of Chest CT and Initial Real-Time RT-PCR in COVID-19 Infection. Pak J Med Sci. 2021; 37(1): 234.
- Li, Y. and L.J.A.J.o.R. Xia. Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): role of chest CT in diagnosis and management. 2020; 214(6): 1280-1286.
- 14. Zainol Rashid Z, Othman SN, Abdul Samat MN, Ali UK, Wong KK. Diagnostic performance of COVID-19 serology assays. Malays J Pathol. 2020; 42(1): 13-21.

- 15. Li Z, Yi Y, Luo X, Xiong N, Liu Y, Li S, et al. Development and clinical application of a rapid IgM-IgG combined antibody test for SARS-CoV-2 infection diagnosis. J Med Virol, 2020; 92(9): 1518-1524.
- 16. Chaimayo C, Kaewnaphan B, Tanlieng N, Athipanyasilp N, Sirijatuphat R, Chayakulkeeree M, et al. Rapid SARS-CoV-2 antigen detection assay in comparison with real-time RT-PCR assay for laboratory diagnosis of COVID-19 in Thailand. Virol J, 2020; 17(1): 177.
- Baloch S, Baloch MA, Zheng T, Pei X. The Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Pandemic. Tohoku J Exp Med, 2020; 250(4): 271-278.
- 18. Jin JM, Bai P, He W, Wu F, Liu XF, Han DM, et al. Gender Differences in Patients With COVID-19: Focus on Severity and Mortality. Front Public Health, 2020; 8: 152.
- 19. Nikpouraghdam M, Jalali Farahani A, Alishiri G, Heydari S, Ebrahimnia M, Samadinia H, et al., Epidemiological characteristics of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) patients in IRAN: A single center study. J Clin Virol. 2020; 127: 104378.
- 20. Wan S, Xiang Y, Fang W, Zheng Y, Li B, Hu Y, et al., Clinical features and treatment of COVID-19 patients in northeast Chongqing. J Med Virol. 2020; 92(7): 797-806.
- **21.** WHO, Clinical management of severe acute respiratory infection (SARI) when COVID-19 disease is suspected. 2020; Mar 13.
- 22. Wang M, Cao R, Zhang L, Yang X, Liu J, Xu M, et al. Remdesivir and chloroquine effectively inhibit the recently emerged novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) in vitro. Cell Res. 2020; 30(3): 269-271.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm

Research Article

J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 12-16 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.3

The prevalence of occupational accidents and diseases among 112 emergency medical workers and factors affecting it

Kevser TUNCER KARA^{1,*®}, İrem BULUT¹[®], Ramazan GURGOZE²[®], S. Erhan DEVECI¹[®] A. Ferdane OGUZONCUL¹[®]

¹Department of Public Health, Faculty of Medicine, Fırat University, Elazığ, Turkey ²Department Emergency Medicine, Elazıg Provincial Health Directorate, Elazığ, Turkey

Received: 22.04.2021 •	Accepted/Published Online: 06.06.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022

Abstract

Occupational health has been defined by the World Health Organization (WHO) as employees in all professions have complete physical, mental, and social well-being and maintain and develop this well-being. This study aimed to determine the prevalence of work-related risks, work-related diseases, occupational accidents, and diseases faced by 112 emergency medical workers and factors affecting it. This descriptive, cross-sectional study included 415 health personnel working in 112 emergency medical services in Elazig Province. It was found that 74.7%, 21.2%, and 6.3% of participants, throughout their professional life, have experienced at least one of the work-related risks, occupational accidents, and diseases, respectively. Female employees experienced more work-related diseases (p<0.01), work-related risks (p<0.01), and occupational accidents (p<0.01) than males. Being female was identified as a risk factor, and training on occupational health and safety issues was a protective factor.

Keywords: occupational accident, occupational disease, work-related risk, 112 EMW, occupational health

1. Introduction

Occupational health has been defined by the World Health Organization (WHO) as employees in all professions have a complete physical, mental, and social well-being, and also maintenance and development of this well-being (1). When this state cannot be achieved, work accidents and occupational diseases can occur (2). Occupational diseases can be led to exposure to chemical, physical, and biological risk factors. The work environment and condition may also play a role, together with other risk factors in developing these diseases characterized by a multiple etiology which is named work-related disease. In occupational disease, there is a direct cause-effect relationship between hazard and disease. In contrast, in work-related disease, the work environment contributes to developing the disease multifactorial and complex etiology as one of several factors (3). These emergencies are all different from each other because of the unique working environment of each profession. Therefore, healthcare providers need to protect their health while providing health care, one of the main areas of work. "Activities in health institutions where outpatient and/or inpatient diagnosis and treatment are done" have been classified as hazardous works in the world and Turkey (3). This danger reaches its highest level among 112 emergency medical workers (EMWs), and so they have difficulty maintaining their health while providing emergency service (4).

Ambulance services, which are one of the first and

emergency services, aim to protect life, taking measures against unexpected dangers, speeding up the treatment, and timing the procedures correctly (5). 112 EMWs consist of a physician, nurse, ambulance and emergency care technician, emergency medical technician (EMT), and health officer in Turkey (6). The guide created by the Turkish Labor and Social Security Institution defined falls, bumps, percutaneous injury, exposure to body fluids, exposure to chemicals, stress, non-ergonomic applications that cause musculoskeletal disorders, traffic accident, violence, and oxygen tube burst as significant risks to 112 EMWs (6). The prevalence of these risks, and work-related diseases caused by them and the prevalence of occupational accidents and diseases and influencing factors should be clarified with further and comprehensive studies.

Therefore, this study was performed to determine the prevalence of work-related risks, work-related diseases, occupational accidents, and diseases encountered by 112 EMWs in Elazig city center and the factors affecting it.

2. Material and Methods

2.1. Study design and study setting

We included 415 health personnel working in 112 emergency medical service (EMS) in Elazig Province in this descriptive, cross-sectional study. Ethical permission was obtained from F1rat University Rectorate Non-Interventional Research Ethics Committee (06.02.2020/03-01) and administrative approval from Elazig Provincial Health Directorate.

2.2. Population and sample size

According to the data of Elazig Provincial Health Directorate dated 01.02.2020, 112 EMS employs 464 personnel, consisting of 18 physicians, 147 paramedics, 139 EMT, 23 paramedics, 5 nurses, and 132 ambulance drivers. Due to being on leave (30 persons) and not volunteering (19 persons), 415 (89.4%) health workers could be reached.

2.3. Data collection

The literature-based questionnaire consisted of four parts; the information, training socio-demographic status on occupational health and safety, the status of experiencing occupational accidents and diseases, and protection status from occupational accidents and diseases: socio-demographic part contained fill-in-the-blank and multiple-choice, and other sections optional questions (7-9). In socio-demographic information, age (also grouped as 20-30, 31-40, 41-50, > 50), gender, marital status, the working year, profession, academic education status was interrogated. Occupational accidents and diseases, prevention of those diseases, and the status of receiving training on personal protective equipment (PPE) were asked in the second section (about training on occupational health and safety). The risks leading to occupational accidents and diseases, the position of experiencing them, and work-related diseases were interrogated in the third part of the survey. The fourth part, which is protection status from occupational accidents and diseases, included questions about immunization status (hepatitis A, hepatitis B, influenza vaccine (annual regular), flu shot (not regular/at least once, tetanus), and use of PPE.

2.4. Outcome measures

The protection score (PS) was calculated by evaluating immunization status, and each of the subtitles of PPE usage as 1 point. The prepared survey was submitted online to 112 EMWs' phones in March 2020 via Google Docs. The reply form was then sent to the researcher by mail.

2.5. Data analysis

The data obtained from the study were evaluated with SPSS 22.0. According to the characteristics of the variables, percentage, mean, t-test, Mann Whitney U, Kruskal Wallis, chi-square, and logistic regression tests were used in statistical analysis. Means were given with standard deviation (mean \pm SD), and statistical significance was accepted as p<0.05.

3. Results

The average age of the 112 EMWs involved in the study was 33.28 ± 8.85 (min: 20, max: 62). Of the participants, 66.0% were male, and 69.2% were married. 33.8% were EMT, 30.5% were nurse/health officers, and 37.8% were high school graduates. 81.9% have received training on occupational accidents and diseases and preventing them and PPE (Table 1). The participants' average working time was 9.15 ± 6.95 (min: 1, max: 31) years. In terms of work-related risk types, 35.2 % experienced fall/bump, 23.4% stress,

22.4% contact with body fluids, 19.3% traffic accident, 21.2% violence (3.9% physical, 17.3% verbal), and 5.1% experienced exposure to chemicals. Whereas 92.7% of violence victims did not apply for white code, 7.0% of those who had a work accident did not notify. Besides, 82.1% of those with occupational diseases were diagnosed with a herniated disc.

	n	%
Sex		
Female	141	34.0
Male	274	66.0
Marital Status		
Married	287	69.2
Single	123	29.6
Other	5	1.2
Profession		
EMT	140	33.8
Paramedics	66	15.9
Physicians	12	2.9
Nurse/health officer	126	30.5
Driver	70	16.9
Education Status		
High school	157	37.8
Associate degree	142	34.2
Undergraduate	105	25.3
Postgraduate	11	2.6
Occupational Accident Training		
Yes	340	81.9
No	75	18.1
Work Accident Prevention Training		
Yes	340	81.9
No	75	18.1
PPE Training		
Yes	340	81.9
No	75	18.1
Work related hazard, risk		
Yes	310	74.7
No	105	25,3
Occupational Accident		
Yes	88	21.2
No	327	78.8
Occupational Disease		
Yes	26	6.3
No	389	93.7

Female workers experienced more work-related diseases (p<0.01) and risks that will cause occupational accidents and diseases (p<0,01) than males. Also, they had more occupational accidents (p<0.01), more applied for occupational diseases (p=0.032), and were more diagnosed with those diseases (p=0.027) than males. No difference was found between female and male workers regarding immunization status (p=0.533) and taking any protective measures (p=0.329). However, the total protection score of female participants was higher than males (p=0.008). Those with the highest work-related risks were singles, and those with the least were married (p=0.01). No difference was seen in terms of marital status and the status of experiencing an occupational accident (p=0.754). Singles had more workrelated diseases than married and divorced (p=0.003). When compared according to academic education groups, high school graduates experienced fewer hazards and risks (p<0.01), work-related diseases (p<0.01), and occupational accidents (p=0.01). The high school graduate group's PS was significantly lower than the other groups (p<0.01).

Those who received training on occupational accidents and diseases took more precautions than those who did not (p<0.01) and had higher PSs (p<0.01). Those who received training on the prevention of occupational accidents and diseases took more precautions than those who did not (p<0.01) and had higher PSs (p<0.01). It was also striking that those who received training on PPE took more precautions (p<0.01) and had higher PSs than those who did not (p=0.01). Participants were grouped as 20-30, 31-40, 41-50, > 50 by age. The 20-30 age group experienced more hazards and risks (p<0.01) and work-related diseases than other age groups (p<0.01). 41-50 age group was the group that took the most precautions (p=0.029). It was found that the PS decreased with increasing age (p=0.02, r=-0.114) but increased with an increasing number of keeping watch (p=0.031, r=0.106). All 112 EMWs with a rate of 21.2%, males 19.0 %, and females 25.5% were exposed to at least one type of violence. Although females were more often subjected to violence, this trend was not statistically significant (p=0.122). Singles have experienced more violence than any other marital status (p=0.02), besides the graduate education group was exposed to more violence compared to other education groups (p=0.01) and the 20-30 age group compared to other age groups (p=0.047). Age, marital status, profession, academic education status, and working year were evaluated by logistic regression analysis to determine risk factors for exposure to work-related risks. Being a female, young age, advanced academic education, and increasing working year were determined as a risk factor, and being a driver as a protective factor (Table 2).

Table 2. Risk factors for exposure to work-related hazards and risks

	В	р	OR	CI		
Sex	-0.649	0.009	2.261	1.278- 4.167		
Age	-0.074	0.006	0.929	0.882- 0.979		
Marital Status (Ret	f=Married)					
Single	-1.696	0.166	0.183	0.017 2.017		
Other	-1.229	0.332	0.293	0.024- 3.504		
Profession (Ref=EMT)						
Paramedics	-0.653	0.192	0.520	0.195- 1.389		
Physician	-0.879	0.163	0.415	0.121- 1.429		
Nurse	-1.036	0.253	0.355	0.060- 2.098		
Driver	-1.608	<0.001	0.200	0.094- 0.428		
Education status	0.703	<0.001	2.020	1.439- 2.836		
Working year	0.065	0.018	1.068	1.011- 1.127		

Risk factors for experiencing work-related diseases were identified as being a female and having higher academic education (Table 3).

Table 3. Risk factor	s for exp	eriencing	work-related	l diseases
	1	0		

	B	р	OR	CI
Sex	-0.560	0.003	2.024	1.379 3.374
Age	-0.023	0.394	0.977	0.926- 1.031
Marital Status (Reference =Married)				
Single	0.407	0.735	1.502	0.143- 15.800
Other	0.682	0.575	1.977	0.183- 21.357
Profession (Ref=EMT)				
Paramedics	0.575	0.181	1.777	0.766- 4.120
Physician	0.311	0.534	1.365	0.512- 3.637
Nurse	0.505	0.489	1.657	0.396- 6.929
Driver	-0.659	0.083	0.517	0.245- 1.090
Education status	0.584	<0.001	1.793	1.351- 2.379
Working year	0.047	0.101	1.048	0.991- 1.108

The logistic regression analysis of age, gender, marital status, profession, academic education status, and the working year was assessed to reveal risk factors for occupational accidents. Being a female, advanced academic education status, and increasing working year observed as a risk factor, and being a driver found to be a protective factor (Table 4).

Table 4. Risk factors for experiencing occupational accidents

	B	р	OR	CI
Sex	-1.046	<0.001	2.849	0.196- 0.629
Age	-0.053	0.134	0.949	0.886- 1.016
Marital Status (Ref= Married)				
Single	-0.388	0.747	0.679	0.064- 7.148
Other	-0.293	0.810	0.746	0.069- 8.120
Profession (Ref=EMT)				
Paramedics	-0.481	0.348	0.618	0.226- 1.689
Physician	-0.854	0.159	0.426	0.129- 1.399
Nurse	-0.289	0.727	0.749	0.147- 3.801
Driver	-0.935	0.045	0.393	0.157- 0.980
Education status	0.311	0.063	1.365	0.983- 1.896
Working year	0.085	0.019	1.088	1.014- 1.168

4. Discussion

The prevalence of work-related risks, work-related diseases, occupational accidents, and diseases encountered by 112 EMWs in Elazıg city center and the factors affecting it were evaluated in this study. Most of the EMWs were EMTs and nurses. Being a woman was determined as a risk factor and getting an education as a protective factor. Our participants' average age was 33.28, and in one research to determine the profile of emergency workers in Spain, this was the same decade, like our study results (9). Again, our study revealed in parallel with the same research that most of the workers were male and married (9). This finding has suggested that 112 EMSs are preferred by the younger age group and males due to the massive working conditions.

Most of the 112 EMWs in this study have received informational training about prevention and awareness of occupational accidents and diseases, and PPE's use still leads to occupational accidents and diseases. Some were not reported from occupational accidents. In Onal's recent study that we mentioned above, the rate of having a traffic accident in the ambulance was found like our results (10). Despite the high rate of training at least once in a lifetime, work-related risks and occupational accidents also occurred in this researcher's study group. Therefore, it has been thought that periodic evaluation of EMWs' training and practices, periodically giving the necessary training, identifying difficulties in implementation, encouraging EMWs to implement, and the diligent work of occupational health and safety inspectors in the field is required (11). We, moreover, believe that it would be beneficial to carry out further and comprehensive studies for more effective reporting of work accidents. In the current study, the frequency of verbal violence was higher than physical violence. Females were exposed to at least one type of violence more than males. Most of the violence victims did not apply for the white code. Singles and younger age group were remarkably more exposed to violence. These results revealed the requirement for a detailed investigation of risk factors for violence and taking necessary measures. In a study by Gulen et al., patientrelated violence was evaluated, and the frequency of physical violence and verbal violence by health workers was higher than in our study (12). In the literature data, this variation in rates may have resulted from the different regions where the studies were conducted.

The herniated disc was the most common of the workrelated diseases found in our study. In another recent study, low back pain was associated with the activity limitation in ambulance workers (8). It has even been reported that the work and physical conditions' seriousness are the most critical stressors (13). Concerns about working conditions have appeared to be a major risk factor for health complaints (14). In a study conducted in the USA, examining occupational health and safety for EMWs, it was found that all workers should be subjected to a special training program according to their position. It was also emphasized that a system operated with trained and experienced human resources positively affected practical work in cooperation in all institutions related to occupational health and safety (7). We think that effective models should be applied by adapting to our country and that this may have beneficial and positive results for our country.

In the current study, female workers experienced approximately two times more work-related diseases and risks causing occupational accidents and diseases than males. They, again, about two times more than males, both applied for occupational diseases and were diagnosed with those diseases. There was no difference between males and females in terms of having any immunization and taking protective measures. However, the total PS of female workers was higher than males. Although females did not act differently regarding implementing at least one of the measures, they had high PSs. This means that women experienced more risk, despite more protection. In the literature, in various studies, it has been mentioned that the increasing female population in health workers changes the psychosocial dynamics, and it increases the danger (2).

In this study, those who received training on occupational accidents and diseases, prevention of them, and PPE took more precautions than those who did not, and their PSs were also higher. Those trained in all subjects were acting more carefully, which showed the positive effect of vocational education. As academic education progressed, rates of exposing to risks and experiencing work-related diseases increased. We have predicted that the self-confidence created by academic education, causing carelessness, yielded these results.

This study found that ambulance drivers experienced fewer risks and occupational accidents than other professions. In another study, being a doctor or other medical worker was riskier for developing occupational or work-related diseases than being a paramedic, EMT, or a driver (10). This finding is like our study results. It may have resulted from the fact that ambulance drivers are at less risk and lack an active healthcare provision role. As the working years increased, the increase of experiencing risks and occupational accidents has been considered the natural effect of time passed away.

This study's limitation is that data included in the present study were obtained by the survey method, so they are based on the study participants' statement. If there were an occupational health and safety file for EMWs and saved in this file, all the situations, personal information, and training received would be completely objective. There was no such data. Therefore, all data were obtained from the participants through questionnaires. Our study's strength is that all the province health workers that can reflect 112 EMWs across Turkey are included regardless of the occupational groups. In this study to determine the prevalence of work-related risks, work-related diseases, occupational accidents, and diseases, and factors affecting it that 112 EMWs in Elazig Province encountered, it was established that 74.7% of the personnel experienced work-related hazards and risks, 21.2% work accidents, and 6.3% experienced occupational diseases. Being a female was determined as a risk factor and receiving training on occupational health and safety issues as a protective factor. It was observed that there were unreported work accidents and situations of violence. Therefore, efforts to eliminate the hazards and risks encountered should be made, and occupational health and safety training should also be repeated periodically. As the next step, occupational safety inspectors must serve on the field and even make notifications easy for employees.

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

References

- 1. WHO. Regional strategy on occupational health and safety in sear country. New Delhi: WHO Publications; 2005.
- **2.** Peckham TK, Baker MG, Camp JE, Kaufman JD, Seixas NS. Creating a future for occupational health. Annals of Work Exposures and Health. 2017;61(1):3-15.
- **3.** Franco G. Lavoro e salute: la work-related disease [Work and health: work-related disease]. G. Ital. Med. Lav. 1986 Jan;8(1):27-35.
- **4.** Occupational Health and Safety Law. 2012 [Available from: http://www.mevzuat.gov.tr/MevzuatMetin/1.5.6331.pdf.
- 5. Onal O. Sterilization Disinfection in Ambulance and First Responder. 4 National Sterilization Disinfection Congress.

2005:344-74.

- **6.** Bulut A. Determination of OHS Risks and OHS Guideline for 112 Emergency Ambulances Ministry of the Labour and Social Security, Directorate General of Occupational Health and Safety Thesis for Occupational Health and Safety Expertise. Ankara, 2016.
- 7. Toyoda H, Kubo T, Mori K. Occupational safety and health system for workers engaged in emergency response operations in the USA. J. Occupational Health. 2016;58(6):260-70.
- Aasa U, Barnekow-Bergkvist M, Angquist KA, Brulin C. Relationships between work-related factors and disorders in the neck-shoulder and low-back region among female and male ambulance personnel. J. Occupational Health. 2005;47(6):481-9.
- Martínez-Isasi S. R-LMJ, Vázquez-Santamariña D., Abella-Lorenzo J., Castro Dios D. J., Fernández García D. Emergency medical technician profile in Spain. Revista espanola de salud publica. 2017;91.
- **10.** Onal O. Occupational risk situation of health staff that is working at the emergency health stations. Journal of Contemporary Medicine. 2015;5 239-44.
- 11. Faller EM, Bin Miskam N, Pereira A. Exploratory study on occupational health hazards among health care workers in the Philippines. Ann. Glob. Health. 2018;84(3):338-41.
- 12. Gulen B, Serinken M, Hatipoğlu C, Ozasır D, Sonmez E, Kaya G, et al. Work-related injuries sustained by emergency medical technicians and paramedics in Turkey. Turkish Journal of Trauma and Emergency Surgery. 2016;22(2):145-9.
- 13. Sterud T, Hem E, Ekeberg O, Lau B. Occupational stressors and its organizational and individual correlates: a nationwide study of Norwegian ambulance personnel. BMC Emergency Medicine. 2008;8:16.
- 14. Aasa U, Brulin C, Angquist KA, Barnekow-Bergkvist M. Workrelated psychosocial factors, worry about work conditions and health complaints among female and male ambulance personnel. Scandinavian Journal Of Caring Sciences. 2005;19(3):251-8.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm

Research Article



J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 17-23 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.4

The effects of foot reflexology upon pain, anxiety, and patient satisfaction among patients having undergone open-heart surgery

Ceyda UZUN ŞAHİN^{1,*}, Dilek ÇİLİNGİR²

¹Department of Vocational School of Health Services, Faculty of Health Sciences, Recep Tayyip Erdogan University, Rize, Turkey ²Department of Nursing, Faculty of Health Sciences, Karadeniz Technical University, Trabzon, Turkey

Received: 22.04.2021	•	Accepted/Published Online: 06.06.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022
-----------------------------	---	---------------------------------------	---	---------------------------

Abstract

This interventional study was conducted to analyze the effects of foot reflexology intervention upon patients having undergone an open-heart surgery on their pain, anxiety, and satisfaction level. This research was conducted with 70 patients having undergone open-heart surgery in the cardiovascular surgery clinic of a Turkish hospital. Thirty-five patients were assigned to a test group, and 35 patients were assigned to a control group. In this research, patients in the test group were reported to have a statistically significant decrease in the mean scores of the visual analog scale when compared with the scores of patients in the control group (p<0.05). Although no statistically significant difference (p>0.05) was measured between the mean scores of the state-trait anxiety inventory and the visual analog scale of patient satisfaction completed by patients in the test and control groups, it was also noted that both groups were exceptionally satisfied. The findings of this research can be utilized to alleviate pain, lessen patients' anxiety levels during the post-operation phase, and elevate patient satisfaction levels.

Keywords: anxiety, cardiac surgery procedure, pain, patient satisfaction reflexology, pre-operative nursing

1. Introduction

By the year 2030, the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals aim to reduce premature mortality from non-communicable diseases by a third (1). Cardiovascular diseases are the most common diseases globally (2). Medical and surgical procedures are employed in the treatment of cardiac diseases. Open-heart surgery, as a popular method in the surgical treatment of cardiac disease, has been the fundamental treatment implemented in the case of coronary artery disease, cardiac valve disease, treatment of congenital lesions, and heart transplants (2, 3).

The operation (surgery) process induces an extreme level of anxiety in many patients. In the literature, it has been posited that, among adult patients, the incidence of preoperative anxiety ranges between 11%-80% and that any increase in pre-operative anxiety level would cause delayed recovery from post-operation scars, extended hospitalization length, a need for anesthesia and post-operation analgesic, and elevated rates of morbidity and mortality (3,4). It has been acknowledged that, in modern health care, there has been increased intervention with complementary therapy methods in coordination with conventional methods to ensure physical and emotional healing as well as relaxation. Nonpharmacological complementary therapy methods have been harnessed to magnify the effects of pharmacological methods, primarily on pain and anxiety. An increasing number of studies indicate that one of these methods, reflexology, has

proven to be effective, and its clinical intervention has been highly recommended (4, 5).

In the reflexology method, pressure is applied on reflex points via specific hand and finger techniques to release blocked energy in certain parts of the body, thereby stimulating the self-healing power of the body and leading to physical transformation by alleviating stress (2). Reflexology is a non-pharmacological, non-surgical, and cost-effective method that nurses can safely implement for the management of pain and anxiety after open-heart surgery. A number of studies concluded that, among a variety of patient groups, reflexology proved to be an effective and complementary non-pharmacological method for pain management (5). Hence, it is proposed that reflexology, which is a complementary therapy method that any nurse can apply individually, would contribute to alleviating post-operation pain and lead to a decreased level of anxiety and an increased level of satisfaction among patients who have undergone open-heart surgery (6).

Reflexology is a non-pharmacological, non-surgical, and cost-effective method that nurses can safely implement for the management of pain and anxiety after open-heart surgery. A number of studies concluded that, among a variety of patient groups, reflexology proved to be an effective and complementary non-pharmacological method for pain management. Hence, it is proposed that reflexology, which is a complementary therapy method that any nurse can apply individually, would contribute to alleviating post-operation pain and lead to a decreased level of anxiety and an increased level of satisfaction among patients who had undergone openheart surgery (2, 6).

Despite the existence of several relevant studies in the literature, there is a deficit of research on this subject in Turkey, and there has yet been no study that specifically investigated the effect of reflexology on patients having undergone open heart surgery. It is thus concluded that this study could act as a torchbearer for the future in this field of study.

Based on these data, this research was conducted to analyze the effect of foot reflexology on the pain, anxiety, and satisfaction levels of patients with an open-heart surgery history.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Study design

This is an interventional study conducted to analyze the effects of foot reflexology upon the pain, anxiety, and satisfaction levels of patients having undergone open-heart surgery.

2.2. Sample and setting

The research was conducted between the dates of March 1, 2016 and August 31, 2016 in the cardiovascular surgery clinic of a university hospital in Turkey. Seventy patients were detected to be included in the study based on reference studies and by using Open-Epi program in 95% confidence interval and 90% power. Random samples method was used in the study and the study was completed with 70 patients (35 in test group and 35 in control group) who agreed for participation and who met inclusion criteria (7). In order to avoid from the patients' affecting each other, the study was started with control group and continued with the test group). 73 patients in total were approached, but three patients were excluded from the research since one patient was transferred for a second operation and two patients had diabetes.

The inclusion criteria for the research were being age 18 and older; the ability to conduct verbal communication; the capability of recognizing people, place and time; and the willingness to be included in the research. Exclusion criteria for the research were having a previous history of open-heart surgery, having an open foot wound, being suspected of having a fracture or burn, having a pace maker, being visually impaired, being afflicted with a malignity, having a psychiatric-disorder or using a psychiatric drug, having a history of epilepsy, being afflicted with deep vein thrombosis, having insulin-dependent diabetes, having neuropathy, or having used a narcotic drug within four hours of the intervention.

2.3. Data collection method and instruments

In this research, data were collected using a questionnaire form developed by the researchers using the relevant literature, a State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI), a Visual Analog Scale (VAS), and a Visual Analog Scale of Patient Satisfaction (VASPS).

2.4. State-Trait anxiety inventory (STAI)

The State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI) is a self-assessment survey formed by short statements in order to identify state and trait anxiety levels individually. The inventory that was implemented for this study was developed by Spielberger et al. (8) and adapted for Turkey by the validity and reliability analysis of Öner and Le Compte (9). The STAI measures the anxiety level of teenagers over age 14 and adults. As a type of self-assessment, this inventory includes 40 items with short statements. The 20-item State Anxiety Inventory and the 20item Trait Anxiety Inventory are independent of each other. In the State Anxiety Inventory, each item is scored in four Likert type responses as follows: none: 1, a little: 2, a lot: 3, and completely: 4; in the Trait Anxiety Inventory, each item is scored in four Likert type responses: almost never: 1, sometimes: 2, most of the time: 3, and almost always: 4. Higher scores indicated a higher level of anxiety whereas low scores indicated that the anxiety level was low.

2.5. Visual analog scale (VAS)

This is a 10-cm scale with the response "no pain" at one end and the response "max. pain" at the other end. In this scale, individuals are asked to point at their experienced pain level on a 0 to 10 score line. It had been reported that for measuring pain severity VAS is more precise and reliable than other onedimensional scales (10).

2.6. Visual analog scale patient satisfaction (VASPS)

Developed by Kılınçer and Zileli (11), VASPS is formed by combining the features of two frequently used and widely recognized scales. One of them is the Visual Analog Pain Scale (a sliding scale version of the Visual Analog Scale of Patient Satisfaction) located on a horizontal axis and formed by a 100-mm straight line with no partitions while the other one is the Wong-Baker Percentage Scale. In this scale there is a vertical straight line, and the patient puts a cross (X) on the point on the vertical line corresponding to the level of satisfaction with the provided medical care provided. On this scale, the score range varies from 1 to 10. Score 1 means "not satisfied at all" and score 10 indicates "extremely satisfied" (11).

2.7. Procedure

Prior to this study, the researcher received a qualification for foot reflexology therapy, the Certificate for Clinical Reflexology. Next, to avoid any interaction among patients, the control group was formed before the test group. To ensure that hemodynamic changes, pain levels, and vein narcotic analgesics would not interfere with the study results, the reflexology intervention was performed on the second postoperative day.

2.8. Control group

On the second day, post-operative patients in the control group were administered the patient information form, the STAI, the VAS, and the VASPS. Next, on the third post-operative day, the VAS was used to measure the level of pain experienced by the patients. On the fourth post-operative day, the STAI, the VAS, and the VASPS were used. Patients in the control group were not administered foot reflexology intervention. Instead, these patients received the standard/routine healthcare provided in the clinic.

2.9. Test group

On the second post-operative day, patients in the test group were administered the patient information form, the STAI, the VAS, and the VASPS. Afterwards, a 20-minute session of foot reflexology therapy was administered, 10 minutes for each patient's foot. At the end of the procedure, the VAS was applied again. On the third post-operative day, prior to the reflexology procedure, the VAS for foot reflexology was applied, and, next, the VAS was administered. On the fourth post-operative day, the VAS was administered before the foot reflexology intervention. At the end of the procedure, the VAS, the STAI, and the VASPS were applied.

2.10. Data analysis

Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used for normality distribution besides descriptive statistical methods including percent, mean, standard deviation and median (25^{th} - 75^{th} percentile). For comparison of non-normally distributed variables, Mann-Whitney U test, Kruskal Wallis variance analysis, Friedman test, Wilcoxon paired samples test and chi-square test were used. A p level of <0.05 was accepted as statistically significant.

2.11. Ethical considerations

Approval for the study was granted by the X University Faculty of Medicine Ethics Committee (date: February 2, 2016, decision no:171). The study was conducted in compliance with the ethical standards specified in the Helsinki Declaration.

3. Results

In this study, it was identified that 91.6% of patients in the test group were male, 40.0% of patients were between 59 to 70 years old, 91.6% of the patients were married, 91.4% of patients were elementary school graduates, 45.8% of patients lived in the city center, 60.0% of the patients were retired, and 88.6% of the patients had coronary artery disease. In the control group, 68.6% of patients were male, 42.8% of patients were between 59 to 70 years old, 100% of the patients were married, 91.4% of the patients were elementary school graduates, 54.4% of patients lived in the city center, 65.8% were retired, and 80.0% of patients had coronary artery disease. A statistically significant difference was not detected between test and control groups with regard to descriptive statistics (p>0.05). Test and control groups were similar (Table 1).

In patients of both the test group (before and after foot reflexology intervention) and the control group, it was observed that a statistically significant difference was measured in the VAS mean scores of the second, third, and fourth post-operative days (p<0.001). Also, in patients in both the test and control groups, a statistically significant difference was measured in the VAS mean scores of the second (p=0.002), the third (p=0.001), and the fourth days (p=0.001) post-operative (Table 2).

 Table 1. Socio-demographic features of the patients in test and control groups

Soci-demographic	Test Group		Control Group		
features					Р
Age Group	11 (53	5) 70	11 (53	5) 70	
27-58	9	25.6	11	31.4	
59-70	14	40	15	42.8	0.540*
71 and older	12	34.4	9	25.8	
Gender					
Female	3	8.4	11	31.4	0.52(*
Male	32	91.6	24	68.6	0.536*
Marital status					
Married	32	91.6	35	100	0 300*
Single	3	3	0	100	0.309
Education level					
Elementary school	32	91.4	32	91.4	
High school	2	5.8	2	5.8	0.337*
University	1	2.8	1	2.8	
Residency					
City	16	45.8	19	54.4	
Town	8	22.2	11	31.4	0.159*
Village	11	31.4	5	14.2	
Job					
Self-employed	3	8.6	3	8.4	
Retired	21	60	23	65.8	0.169*
Employed	7	20	9	25.8	0.107
Unemployed	4	11.4	-	20.0	
Diagnosis		00.6	•	0.0	
CAD ^a	31	88.6	28	80	
MI ^b	1	2.8	5	14.2	0.271*
AD^{c}	3	8.6	2	5.8	

^aCAD: Coronary artery disease^{; b}MY: Mitral Insufficiency^{; c}AD: Aort Dissection; ^{*}Kruskal Wallis; ^{**}Mann-Whitney U test

Table 2. Second, third and fourth post-operative days for patients in the test and control groups comparison of daily mean scores of the visual analog scale (VAS) (n=70)

	VAS * Mean scores				
Groups	Days	Median (min-max)	Р		
		2 nd day			
	Pre-intervention	8.0 (3-10)	n<0.001 **		
	Post-intervention	5.0 (1-8)	<i>p</i> <0.001		
Tost		3 rd day			
aroun	Pre-intervention	6.0 (2-8)	n∕0 001 **		
group	Post-intervention	3.0 (1-6)	<i>p</i> <0.001		
		4 th day			
	Pre-intervention	3.0 (1-8)	n∕0 001 **		
	Post-intervention	1.0 (0-6)	<i>p</i> <0.001		
Control	2 nd day	6.0 (0-10)			
group	3 rd day	5.0 (0-8)	<i>p</i> <0.001 **		
	4 th day	3.0 (0-7)			
Test	2 nd day		<i>p</i> =0.002 **		
and control groups	3 rd day		<i>p</i> =0.001 **		
	4 th day		<i>p</i> =0.001 **		

*VAS: Visual analog scale; **Mann-Whitney U test

A statistically significant difference was detected between test and control groups with regard to Trait Anxiety Mean Score (TAMS) (p=0.028) and State Anxiety Score Means (SAMS) (p=0.001) scores on post-operative day 2, the scores of test group were found to be lower. While a statistically significant difference was not detected between groups with regard to TAMS scores (p=0.630), a significant difference was found in SAMS scores, they were lower in test group (p=0.003). A statistically significant difference was found between TAMS scores on days 2 and 4 following foot reflexology in test group (p=0.000). In control group, there was not a statistically significant difference between TAMS scores on post-operative days 2 and 4 (p=0.084) (Table 3).

Table 3. Comparison of test and control groups patients' mean scores on the state/trait anxiety scale on the second- and fourth-days post-operative (n=70)

		2 nd day post-	-operative	4 th day post-operative		
		Test	Control	Test	Control	
		group	group	group	group	
		Median	Median	Median	Median	
		(min-max	(min-max)	(min-max)	(min-max)	
SAMS*	38	.0 (32-52)	41.0 (33-48)	42.0 (36-52)	42.0 (34-52)	
P value		<i>p</i> =0.028 ***		<i>p</i> =0.630 ***		
TAMS**	43	.0 (33-49)	47.0 (39-58)	44.0 (34-49)	47.0 (40-58)	
P value		<i>p</i> =0.001 ***		<i>p</i> =0.003 ***		
*SAMS: State Anxiety Mean Score; **TAMS: Trait Anxiety Mean Score;						

***Mann-Whitney U test

A statistically significant difference was found between VASPS scores before and after foot reflexology on days 2 and 4 in test group (p=0.004). In control group, there was not a statistically significant difference between VASPS scores on post-operative days 2 and 4 (p=0.163). A statistically significant difference was not found between VASPS scores on post-operative days 2 (p=0.214) and 4 (p=0.479) in test and control groups (p=0.214) (Table 4).

Table 4. Comparison of the mean scores of the visual analog scale of patient satisfaction (vasps) for patients in the test and control groups on the second and fourth post-operative days (n=70)

VASPS* mean scores					
Patient groups	Days	Median (min-max)	Р		
Test group (<i>n</i> =35)	2. day 4. day	9.0 (5-10) 9.1 (5-10)	0.004**		
Control group (<i>n</i> =35)	2. day 4. day	9.0 (5-10) 10.0 (6-10)	0.163**		
Test and control groups (<i>n</i> =70)	2. day 4. day	*	0.214^{**} 0.479^{*}		

*VASPS: Visual Analog Scale Patient Satisfaction; **Mann-Whitney U test

Although not included in the table, a statistically significant difference was not found between VAS scores on post-operative days 2 and 4 before and after foot reflexology with regard to age groups, gender and education level in test and control groups (p>0.05). In test group, on post-operative days 2 and 4, a statistically significant difference was found between VAS scores with regard to marital status, VAS scores were higher among the married (p<0.05).

In test and control groups, on days 2 and 4 post-

operatively, a statistically significant difference was not detected between state-trait anxiety scores before and after foot reflexology with regard to age, gender and marital status (p>0.05). In test group, before foot reflexology application on post-operative days 2 and 4, a statistically significant difference was not found between state-trait anxiety scores with regard to education status (p>0.05). In control group, the difference in state-trait anxiety scores were found to be statistically significant with regard to education status on post-operative day 4, scores were higher in graduates of elementary school (p<0.05).

The difference between VASPS scores with regard to age, gender, marital status and education status was not statistically significant on days 2 and 4 post-operatively in test and control groups (p>0.05).

4. Discussion

Gender plays a critical role as one of the risk factors of coronary artery disease. It has been acknowledged, that compared to women of the same age, males aged forty and older are at greater risk of developing coronary artery disease. In our study, almost the entire list of patients was male. Echoing our findings, studies of patients with an open-heart surgery history conducted by Kadda et al. (12) (74.0%), Gligor et al. (13) (66.6%), Momeni et al. (14) (61.5%), and Hosseini et al. (6) (57.8%) indicated that the majority of patients were men. Hence, our study is in line with relevant literature.

Coronary artery disease is the most pervasive cardiovascular system disease. As humans live longer, pathologic changes in coronary arteries with the potential to develop coronary artery disease rise correspondingly (13). It was seen that nearly half of the patients in this study were aged from 59 to 70. In our research, the mean age was in line with other studies of patients who had undergone open-heart surgery, particularly those of Babajani et al., (15), Vardanjani et al., (16), Yüksel et al., (17) and Motomatsu et al. (18). In the literature, it has been reported that in males age 45 and above and females age 55 and above have increased risk factors for developing coronary artery disease. Our findings are also in line with these findings in the literature.

Almost all patients in our study were married. In line with our study, Vardanjani et al. (16) in their studies on patients who had undergone open-heart surgery indicated that nearly all of the patients were married. This finding leads to the assumption that since patients in our study were from a culture with a traditional family structure, the number of married patients was higher.

In this study, one fifth of all patients graduated only from elementary school. Unlike in our study, Vardanjani et al. (16), Babajani et al. (15) and Hosseni et al. (6) concluded that patients who had only graduated from elementary school were fewer in number. Since patients in our study were only elementary school graduates, it is safe to assume that during school age, they lived in villages and had to work at rural chores.

In our study, it was posited that four in five of all participants had coronary artery disease. Findings in the literature echo our findings (4, 14). The literature review indicates that coronary artery disease is the most pervasive cardiovascular system disease. Our findings are in line with relevant literature. It was detected that four in five patients had undergone coronary artery bypass graft surgery within the scope of open-heart surgery. Similarly, in studies of patients who experienced open-heart surgery reported that more than half of all patients had undergone coronary artery bypass graft surgery (17, 18). Unlike our research, in a study among patients who had open-heart surgery, Kadda et al. (12) indicated that more than half of all patients had undergone cardiac valve surgery. These results show that in the surgical treatment of cardiac diseases, both methods are selected for different patient groups.

Another finding of this research was that patients of test group who were administered foot reflexology got lower VAS mean scores on the second, third, and fourth days, and there was a statistically significant difference in the VAS mean scores before and after the intervention. Likewise, it was seen that the difference in the VAS mean scores among control group patients was statistically significant on the second, third-, and fourth-days post-operative. On the other hand, it was found that the VAS mean scores of test group patients were lower than the scores of control group patients. This finding indicates that after foot reflexology intervention on the fourth day, the pain levels of the test group patients were lower than in patients in the control group. In line with this research, in studies conducted by Candy et al. (19), and Babajani et al. (15) on patients having undergone open-heart surgery concluded that reflexology intervention significantly lowered experienced pain levels. Similarly, in studies conducted among different patient groups, it was indicated that foot reflexology intervention substantially lowered pain level (19, 20).

The high risk of complication and a long recovery period are potential anxiety triggers for patients who have undergone open-heart surgery. In patients in both the test and control groups, there was a rise in both state anxiety mean scores and trait anxiety mean scores on the fourth day compared to the second day while it was observed that trait anxiety mean scores for the test group were below the scores of the control group. It was also observed that the state anxiety mean scores of both test and control group patients were identical. In their studies of patients having undergone open-heart surgery, Navaee et al. (4) and Ahmadi et al. (21), concluded that reflexology intervention lowered anxiety levels. In relation to this subject, identical findings were obtained in studies conducted among various groups (20, 22, 23). The high anxiety levels of the patients in our study signaled that there was need for psychological assistance in tandem with provided medical care.

It was seen in our study that the VASPS mean scores for the test and control group patients were analogous, and their satisfaction levels were high. In parallel with our research, Brent et al. and Lesley et al. in their studies analyzing patients who had undergone open-heart surgery revealed that massage therapy elevated patient satisfaction (24, 25). In the literature, we have found no research on the connection between foot reflexology intervention and patient satisfaction. Thus, our study needs to be contrasted with the findings of studies investigating different types of massage.

Among the patients in the test group having received foot reflexology, it was reported that on the second, third, and fourth days the VAS mean scores lowered with respect to age, gender, marital status, and education level; and the difference between marital status and the VAS mean scores was statistically significant. However, it was also reported that the VAS mean scores of the test group was lower than the scores of the control group. Differing from our study, Özdemir et al. (26) indicated that female patients' pain levels were lower than those of male patients, and yet there was not any statistically significant difference between age groups and pain levels.

Prior to an operation, a patient's anxiety level can be affected by his/her personal traits, age, gender, education level, and the type of operation to be undergone. For the patients in our study, in both test and control groups, there was no statistically significant difference between the mean scores of state anxiety and trait anxiety on the second and fourth days with respect to gender and marital status while, in the patients in the control group, there was a statistically significant difference in the mean scores of trait anxiety. Among patients in the test and control groups, the mean scores of state anxiety increased on the second, third, and fourth days with respect to gender, marital status, and education level; but it was also observed that the mean scores of trait anxiety for patients in the test group were below the scores of the control group. Echoing our findings, Vardanjani's (16) study indicated that there was no statistically significant difference with respect to age, profession, education level, and degree of measured anxiety (16).

In their study investigating the connection between patients' age group and anxiety level, Fekrat et al. (27) observed that younger patients were even more anxious than older ones (27). In the literature, observed differences in mean scores between age groups and the mean scores for levels of anxiety can be attributed to the existence of family, friends, and other assistive people around the patients and the presence of post-operative complications.

In some studies, it was reported that an increase in education level would elevate the anxiety level while some studies showed that education level had no effect on anxiety level. As in our study, when the mean scores of state anxiety and trait anxiety were compared with respect to education level, it was revealed that, on the fourth post-operative day, the mean scores of trait anxiety for patients in the control group who had only graduated from elementary school were statistically higher than the mean scores of high school and higher educated patients. Kyohara et al. (28) indicated that patients' education level had no effect on their anxiety level. Particularly related to patients having undergone open-heart surgery, being in an older age group, having a deficit of information, not having access to information, having communication with the medical care team, and the presence of risk factors during surgery could be interconnected with the educational level. In light of these factors, it is suggested that previous studies manifested a variety of findings on this particular issue.

In our study, with respect to age, gender, and marital status, the VASPS mean scores of patients in both the test and control groups displayed no statistically significant difference on the second and fourth days. On the second and fourth days, the VASPS mean scores were analogous, and satisfaction levels were high with respect to gender, marital status, and education level. The findings in the literature indicate that an increase in age corresponds to elevated patient satisfaction. The finding of higher satisfaction levels among elderly patients could be attributed to the more tolerant and compassionate character of elderly individuals. Kyohara et al. (28) identified no statistically significant difference between the satisfaction levels of female and male patients. The findings of our study suggest that, irrespective of being in the control or the test group, any interaction between the healthcare team and patients for any reason could increase patient satisfaction level, and, in particular, the white coat of physicians could create a placebo effect in patients.

The findings of our research indicated that patients in the test group having received foot reflexology had, compared to the patients in the control group, had a lower level of experienced pain. Also, while anxiety levels increased in both groups, it was still lower in test group. As for satisfaction level, scores were identical and high in each group. Reflexology is one of the noninvasive and easily applicable complementary therapies in which nurses can become directly involved. Foot reflexology intervention particularly applied to patients who had undergone open-heart surgery would lower the experienced pain and anxiety of patients and speed their recovery process, thereby shortening the length of hospitalization. Taking into account the positive effects of reflexology intervention on patients, it is suggested that nurses be encouraged to perform this intervention on patients with a history of open-heart surgery during the post-operative period.

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

References

- 1. WHO CVD Risk Chart Working Group. World Health Organization cardiovascular risk charts:revised models to estimate risk in 21 global region. Lancet Glob Health. 2019;7(10):1332-1345.
- Abbaszadeh Y, Allahbakhshian A, Seyyedrasooli A, et al. Effects of foot reflexology on anxiety and physiological parameters in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass graft surgery: A clinical trial. Complementary Therapies in Clinical Practicei. 2018;31(1): 220-228.
- **3.** Cauma W, Schmidt AP, Schneider CN. Risk factors for preoperative anxiety in adults. Acta Anaesthesiol Scandinavia. 2001;45(3):298-307.
- Navaee M, Khayat S, Abed ZG. Effect of pre-cesarean foot reflexology massage on anxiety of primiparous women. Journal of Complementary and Integrative Medicine. 2020;17(2):1-9.
- **5.** Hosein Taheri H, Naseri-Salahshour V, Abedi A, et al. Comparation the effect of foot and hand reflexology on pain severity after appendectommy: A randomized Clinical Trial. Iran J Nurs Midwifery Res. 2019;24(1):451-456.
- **6.** Hossein SA, Alemeh H, MohammadAli V, Shahram M, SadeghAli T. Effect of lavender essence inhalation on the level of anxiety and blood cortisol in candidates for open-heart surgery. Iranian Journal of Nursing and Midwifery Research. 2016;21(4):397-401.
- 7. Open Source Epidemiologic Statistics for Public Health. https://www.openepi.com/Menu/OE_Menu.htm (Accessed: 18.06.2020).
- Spielberger CD, Gorsuch RL, Lushene RE Manuel for the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory 1970; Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologist Press.
- **9.** Öner N, Le CA. State-Trait Anxiety Inventory Handbook 1983; Istanbul: Bogazici University Press.
- **10.** McCaffery M. Teaching your patient to use apainrating scale. Nursing 2002;32(8):12-17.
- Kılınçer C, Zileli M. Visual analogue patient satisfaction scale. Medical Journal of Trakya University. 2006; 23(3):113-118.
- **12.** Kadda O, Kotanidou A, Manginas A, Stavridis G, Nanas S, Panagiotakos DB. Lifestyle intervention and one-year prognosis of patients following open heart surgery: a randomised clinical trial. Journal of Clinical Nursing 2016; 24(1): 1611–1621.
- **13.** Gligor Ş, Istrate S. Aspects Regarding the Beneficial Effect of Reflexology in Low Back Pain. Timisoara Physical Education and Rehabilitation Journal 2013;5(10):43-48.
- 14. Momeni M, Arab M, Dehghan M, Ahmadinejad M. The Effect of Foot Massage on Pain of the Intensive Care Patients: A Parallel Randomized Single-Blind Controlled Trial. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med. 2020 Jun 13; 2020:3450853.
- **15.** Babajani S, Darzi HB, Ebadi A, Mahmoudi H, Nasiri E. The effect of foot reflexology massage on the level of pain during chest tube removal after open heart surgery. Iran J Crit Care Nurs. 2014;7(1):15-22.
- **16.** Vardanji MM. A randomized controlled trial examining the effects of reflexology on anxiety of patients undergoing coronary angiography. Nursing and Midwifery Studies. 2013;2(1):3-9.

- **17.** Yüksel A, Tuydes O, Minbay H, Bicer M, Saba D. Liver function tests and hyperbilirubinemia in adult patients undergoing open heart surgery. J Turgut Ozal Med Cent. 2016;23(4):357-363.
- **18.** Motomatsu Y, Imasaka K, Tayama E, Tomita Y. Midterm results of sternal band closure in open heart surgery and risk analysis of sternal band removal. Artificial Organs 2016;40(2):153–158.
- **19.** Candy B, Armstrong M, Flemming K, et al. The effectiveness of aromatherapy, massage and reflexology in people with palliative care needs: A systematic review. Palliative Medicine. 2020; 34:179-194.
- **20.** Hudson FB, Davidson J, Whiteley MS. The impact of hand refleology on pain, anxiety and satisfaction during minimally invasive surgery under local anaesthetic: A randomised controlled trial. International Journal of Nursing Studies. 2015;52(1):1789-1797.
- **21.** Ahmadi J, Ahmadi N, Soltani F, Bayat F. Gender differences in depression scores of Iranian and german medical students. Iranian journal of psychiatry and behavioral sciences. 2014;8(1):70-73.
- **22.** Ghezeljeh TN, Ardebilis FM, Rafiib FC. The effects of massage and music on pain, anxiety and relaxation in burn patients: Randomized controlled clinical trial. Journal of Burns.

2017;43(5):1034-1043.

- **23.** Robinson JG, Smith CL. Therapeutic massage during chemotherapy and/or biotherapy infusions: Patient perceptions of pain, fatigue, nausea, anxiety, and satisfaction. Clinical Journal of Oncology Nursing. 2016;20(2):34-40.
- **24.** Brent BA, Cutshall SM, Wentworth LJ, Engen D, Messner PK, Wood CM. Effect of massage therapy on pain, anxiety, and tension after cardiac surgery: a randomized study. Complement Ther Clin Pract. 2010;16(1):70-75.
- **25.** Lesley BA, Stanguts C, Casanelia L, Spitzer O, Paul E, Vardaxis NJ. Massage therapy for cardiac surgery patients a randomized trial. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2012;44(6):1453-1459.
- **26.** Özdemir G, Ovayolu N, Ovayolu O. The effect of reflexology applied on haemodialysis patients with fatigue, pain and cramp. Int J Nurs Pract. 2013;19(3):265-273.
- **27.** Fekrat F, Sahin A, Yazici KM, Aypar U. Anaesthetists and surgeons' estimation of preoperative anxiety by patients submitted for elective surgery in a university hospital. European Journal of Anaesthesiology. 2006;23(3):227-233.
- **28.** Kyohara LY. Surgery information reduces anxiety in the preoperative period. Rev Hosp Clin Fac Med Sao Paulo. 2004;59(2):6-51.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm

Research Article



J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 24-27 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.5

Prognostic nutritional index predicts perioperative adverse events in patients undergoing hemiarthroplasty after a hip fracture

Cem Yalın KILIÇ^{1,*}, Onur GÜRSAN², Ahmet Emrah AÇAN³, Emre GÜLTAÇ¹

¹Department of Orthopedic Surgery, Faculty of Medicine, Muğla Sıtkı Koçman University, Muğla, Turkey ²Department of Orthopedic Surgery, Faculty of Medicine, Dokuz Eylül University, İzmir, Turkey ³Department of Orthopedic Surgery, Faculty of Medicine, Balıkesir University, Balıkesir, Turkey

	Received: 27.04.2021	•	Accepted/Published Online: 31.05.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022
--	----------------------	---	---------------------------------------	---	---------------------------

Abstract

The relation of the prognostic nutritional index (PNI) with perioperative adverse events (PE) has never been described in hip fracture surgery patients. Therefore, this study aimed to evaluate the impact of preoperative PNI on the outcome of patients undergoing hemiarthroplasty after a hip fracture. A total of 154 adult patients aged ≥ 65 years undergoing hemiarthroplasty after a hip fracture were included in this retrospective study. The outcomes of interest were the length of stay in hospital and PE during hospitalization, defined as death, surgical site infection, major bleeding, cardiopulmonary complications, acute renal failure, pneumonia, cerebrovascular accidents, and sepsis. PNI was calculated from the following formula: $10 \times$ serum albumin (g/dL) + 0.005 × total lymphocyte count (per mm3). Patients' information, including demographic data, routine preoperative laboratory tests, and PNI, was collected to assess the association between these factors and the PE. Perioperative adverse events occurred in 21 (13.6%) of the patients. Older patients and those with more comorbid conditions such as heart failure, coronary artery disease, diabetes mellitus, cerebrovascular diseases, and chronic obstructive pulmonary diseases were tended to have a higher rate of PE. Patients with PE had lower PNI (45.2±4.2 vs. 51.6±5.4; p < 0.001) on admission. Multivariate analysis showed that age (OR: 2.23, 95% CI 1.15-4.45, p=0.042), presence of diabetes (OR: 2.34; 95% CI: 1.74–6.89; p =0.005) and PNI < 47.2 (OR 2.54, 95% CI 1.32-5.72, p = 0.004) were significant and independent predictors of PE. This study is the first to demonstrate that the lower preoperative PNI is associated with PE in patients undergoing hip fracture surgery.

Keywords: prognostic nutritional index, hip fracture, surgery, prognosis, complication

1. Introduction

Hip fracture surgery is not only associated with a high rate of perioperative adverse events (PE), morbidity and mortality but also associated with increased costs (1). The combination of improvements in surgical techniques, extending surgical indications and an aging society with increasing medical assessment comorbidities makes preoperative risk increasingly important to guide patients in the preoperative decision for hip fracture surgery (2, 3). Previous studies have reported that prolonged operative time, older age, duration between injury and surgery, timing of rehabilitation, surgical technique, and presence of significant comorbidities are associated with a higher incidence of complications in hip fracture surgery, such as surgical site infection, delayed wound healing, and cardiovascular adverse events (4-9). These studies showed that the preoperative health condition is an extremely important consideration when deciding whether it is safe to proceed with hip fracture surgery especially in elderly patients.

Nutritional status is also an important preoperative risk factor for PE in patients undergoing surgery for hip fracture

(10, 11). While several tools for assessing nutritional status have been evaluated in patients undergoing various surgeries, most of these are difficult to use in daily clinical practice due to their complexity (12). In contrast, the prognostic nutritional index (PNI) can be easily calculated with parameters which are routinely evaluated in laboratory tests during preoperative diagnostic workup and are easy to repeat (13). The PNI, which is based on serum albumin concentration and total peripheral lymphocyte count, was originally proposed to assess the perioperative immunological status and surgical risk in patients undergoing gastrointestinal surgery (14). In recent years, the PNI has been shown to be a prognostic marker in patients with various solid tumors (15, 16), in patients with acute heart failure (17), pulmonary embolism (18) and in patients undergoing cancer surgery (19). However, there is only one study in the literature evaluating the significance of C-reactive protein/PNI ratio for predicting outcomes in hip fracture surgery which revealed that the PNI was not an independent prognostic factor for adverse events in these patients (20). Therefore, the aim of our study was to assess the value of preoperative PNI as a predictor of PE in patients undergoing hip fracture surgery.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Study design and selection of patients

This is a retrospective and observational study which was approved by the regional ethics committee. The medical records of all patients, aged ≥65 years undergoing hemiarthroplasty after a hip fracture from July 2017 to May 2019 in Muğla Sıtkı Koçman University Hospital were retrospectively analyzed. Patient demographic characteristics, comorbid conditions, and medical history were obtained for all patients from patient medical records. Complete blood count and routine biochemical analyses were measured at admission and before the surgery. Exclusion criteria were as follows: patients with incomplete records, patients with chronic, or infectious diseases or taking immunosuppressive drugs which may influence the status of albumin and lymphocyte counts, patients with high energy trauma, patients with previous same side hip surgery and patients with pathological fracture due to malignancy or metabolic disease.

PNI was calculated using the following formula: $10 \times$ serum albumin value (g/dl) + 0.005 × total lymphocyte count in the peripheral blood (per mm³).

2.2. Study endpoints

The outcomes of the study were length of stay and PE during hospitalization, which was included death, deep wound infection, major bleeding requiring transfusion, cardiopulmonary complications, thromboembolic events, pulmonary embolism, acute renal failure, pneumonia, cerebrovascular accidents, sepsis.

2.3. Statistical analysis

Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) for Windowsversion 20.0 (SPSS, Chicago, IL, USA) software was used for statistical analyses. The continuous variables are expressed as means (minimum-maximum values), and we compared these variables between patients with and without PE using a 2-Nonparametric tailed Student *t* test. tests (Mann-Whitney U test) were performed when appropriate. Fisher exact and γ^2 tests were used to compare categorical variables. Multivariate logistic regression analyses were applied to determine crude and adjusted odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) for the relationship between preoperative variables including PNI and PE. For all analyses, P <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

3. Results

A total of 180 patients aged ≥ 65 years underwent hemiarthroplasty in our institution during the study period. Twelve patients were excluded due to incomplete data, 6 patients were excluded due to have a chronic, or infectious disease or due to were taking immunosuppressive drugs, 3 patients were excluded due to pathological fracture, and 5 patients were excluded due to high energy trauma mechanism. After implementation of exclusion criteria, the

25

final study population consisted of 154 patients (mean age 71.2 \pm 9.5 years, and 48% male). Hypertension was the most frequent comorbidity (51.9 %), followed by coronary artery disease (26 %), and diabetes mellitus (20.8 %). Median length of stay was 9 days.

3.1. Perioperative adverse events

PE occurred in 21 (13.6%) patients. Comparison of baseline characteristics, laboratory parameters, length of hospital stay and PNI in patients with and without PE are shown in Table 1. Patients who had PE were older ($76.1 \pm 7.6 \text{ vs } 69.5\pm6.1$ years; p< 0.001) and were more likely to have underlying comorbid diseases such as coronary artery disease (52.4 vs 21.8%; p= 0.003), diabetes mellitus (47.6% vs 16.5%; p<0.001), heart failure (19% vs 5.3%; p=0.045), cerebrovascular disease (23.8% vs 8.3%; p=0.046) and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (38.1% vs 9.8%; p<0.001).

Table 1. Baseline characteristics and length of stay of patients with						
and without perioperative adverse events undergoing hip fracture						
surgery						

	No Adverse Event (n=133)	Adverse Event (n=21)	P Value
Male	63 (47.4)	11 (52.4)	0.526
Age (years)	69.6 ± 6.1	76.1 ± 7.6	< 0.001
Systolic blood	125 4 + 15 2	126 4 + 12 4	0 795
pressure (mmHg)	123.4 ± 13.3	120.4 ± 13.4	0.785
Diastolic blood			
pressure	78.1 ± 8.8	78.1 ± 8.3	0.423
(mmHg)			
Medical History			
Atrial fibrillation	6 (4.5)	3 (14.3)	0.107
Smoking	31 (23.3)	4 (19)	0.785
Diabetes mellitus	22 (16.5)	10 (47.6)	< 0.001
Hypertension	66 (49.6)	14 (66.7)	0.146
Coronary artery disease	29 (21.8)	11 (52.4)	0.003
Cerebrovascular disease	11 (8.3)	5 (23.8)	0.046
Heart failure	7 (5.3)	4 (19.0)	0.045
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	13 (9.8)	8 (38.1)	<0.001
Laboratory Results			
White blood count (×10 ³ cells/mL)	8.7 ± 3.5	8.40 ± 3.2	0.442
Hemoglobin (g/dL)	12.2 ± 1.9	12.03 ± 1.6	0.228
Albumin (g/dL)	3.91 ± 0.57	3.52 ± 0.33	0.075
Creatinine (mg/dL), median (IOR)	1.0 (0.7-1)	1.0 (0.9-1.2)	0.324
Glucose (mg/dL)	106.8 ± 39.5	111.1 ± 47.3	0.153
Length of stav	50(4000)	15.0	.0.001
(median, days)	5.0 (4.0-9.0)	(10.0-25.0)	< 0.001
Prognostic nutritional index	51.6±5.4	45.2±4.2	< 0.001

Values are given as mean \pm SD or number (%) unless otherwise indicateed

Although the difference did not reach statistical significance, patients who had PE had lower preoperative albumin levels compared to patients without PE (3.52 ± 0.33 vs 3.91 ± 0.57 g/dL respectively; p= 0.075). Patients with PE had lower preoperative PNI levels than those with uncomplicated in-hospital course (45.2 (41-49.4) vs 51.6 (46.2-57); p<0.001). Patients with perioperative complications had longer length of stay (15 vs 5 days, median, respectively; p < 0.001) compared with uncomplicated patients.

3.2. Predictors of perioperative adverse events

Univariate analysis showed that the following variables were associated with PE: heart failure, coronary artery disease, diabetes mellitus, cerebrovascular diseases, chronic obstructive pulmonary diseases, preoperative PNI levels. The parameters that proved to be significant on the univariate analysis were subsequently tested with the multivariate model (Table 2). Multivariate analysis showed that only age (OR: 2.23, 95% CI 1.15-4.45, p=0.042), presence of diabetes (OR: 2.34; 95% CI: 1.74–6.89; p =0.005) and PNI < 47.2 (OR 2.54, 95% CI 1.32-5.72, p = 0.004) were significant and independent predictors of PE.

 Table 2. Multivariate analysis for the prediction of perioperative adverse events

	OR	95% Cl	P
Age (per 1 y)	2.231	1.152-4.451	0.042
Diabetes mellitus (presence vs absent)	2.341	0.865-4.476	0.005
Coronary artery disease (presence vs absent)	0.788	0.410-0.936	0.236
Prognostic nutritional index < 47.2	2.542	1.321-5.721	0.004
COPD (presence vs absent)	1.125	0.955-3-214	0.065

4. Discussion

Our study investigated the incidence of PE after hip fracture surgery and identified risk factors for these complications. In this single-center, retrospective, and observational study of 154 patients, over the age of 65, the incidence of PE was 13.6%. The results of this study showed that older age, presence of diabetes and lower preoperative PNI were independent prognostic factors for PE. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to demonstrate an association between preoperative PNI and PE in hip fracture surgery patients.

Although several clinical and laboratory variables have been established as the predictors of perioperative complications in patients undergoing hip surgery, preoperative nutritional status have not been comprehensively evaluated in these studies (21). Aldebeyan and colleagues analyzed the data of 10,117 patients with hip fractures and showed that hypoalbuminaemia was an independent predictor of postoperative complications and patients with hypoalbuminaemia had a longer hospital length of stay. In a recently published retrospective and observational cohort study, Wilson et al. examined the relationship of nutrition parameters with the modified frailty index and postoperative complications in hip fracture patients (22). Of the 377 patients, 2.6% and 17.5% of patients were malnourished as defined by total lymphocyte count of <1500 cells/ mm³ and albumin of <3.5 g/dL, respectively. The authors showed that both total lymphocyte count and albumin weakly correlated with frailty but combining malnutrition and frailty revealed an increased predictive synergy for postoperative complications (22).

Malnutrition can be identified using a variety of anthropomorphic measurements, laboratory values, and screening tools. Although, malnutrition is most identified using serum albumin levels, PNI is not only a marker of nutritional status but also reflective immunologic status. To date, several studies showed that the prediction of surgical risk is possible by evaluating preoperative immunonutritional status with PNI in various types of surgeries such as gastrointestinal surgery (23), neurosurgery (24) and lung surgery (25).

However, the prognostic impact of PNI in patients undergoing hip surgery is remained unexplored. In a recent study, Ren and colleagues, prospectively evaluated the significance of C-reactive protein/PNI ratio for predicting the prognosis in eighty patients undergoing hip fracture surgery (20). The results of this study showed that PNI was not an independent prognostic factor but low C-reactive protein /PNI ratio was significantly associated with low one-year mortality rate after hip fracture surgery (20). Nevertheless, our findings showed that preoperative PNI may predict perioperative adverse events in patients undergoing surgery for hip fracture.

This study has several limitations. First, this study included only patients aged ≥ 65 years undergoing hemiarthroplasty after a hip fracture. Our hospital is a referral hospital, to which patients are referred from peripheral hospitals, which may affect our results. Therefore, caution should be taken in extrapolating these results to other surgical populations. Another important limitation of the current study is the fact that it was a retrospective analysis. Due to its retrospective nature, the study is prone to various forms of bias, such as selection bias and recall bias.

Preoperative PNI measurement can help identify patients at high risk for of PE after hip fracture surgery. The estimation of the PNI is inexpensive and easily available from laboratory data in daily clinical practice. Therefore, we suggest that the PNI should be calculated routinely before surgery, and it could be a useful indicator for pretreatment nutritional management in adult patients undergoing hip fracture surgery.
Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

References

- 1. Oliver D, Griffiths R, Roche J, Sahota O. Hip fracture. BMJ Clin Evid. 2007 Oct 10; 2007. pii: 1110.
- 2. Dharmarajan TS, BanikP, Hip fracture. Risk factors, preoperative assessment, and postoperative management. Postgrad Med. 2006 Jun-Jul;119(1):31-8.
- **3.** Marufu TC, Mannings A, Moppett IK. Risk scoring models for predicting peri-operative morbidity and mortality in people with fragility hip fractures: Qualitative systematic review. Injury. 2015 Dec;46(12):2325-34.
- **4.** Smith EB, Parvizi J, Purtill JJ. Delayed surgery for patients with femur and hip fractures-risk of deep venous thrombosis. J Trauma. 2011;70(6): E113-6.
- Siu AL, Penrod JD, Boockvar KS, Koval K, Strauss E, Morrison RS. Early ambulation after hip fracture: effects on function and mortality. Arch Intern Med. 2006;166(7):766-71.
- **6.** Cheng T, Zhang GY, Liu T, Zhang XL. A meta-analysis of percutaneous compression plate versus sliding hip screw for the management of intertrochanteric fractures of the hip. J Trauma Acute Care Surg. 2012;72(5):1435-43.
- 7. Jamal Sepah Y, Umer M, Khan A, Ullah Khan Niazi A. Functional outcome, mortality, and in-hospital complications of operative treatment in elderly patients with hip fractures in the developing world. Int Orthop. 2010;34(3):431-5.
- **8.** Franzo A, Francescutti C, Simon G. Risk factors correlated with post-operative mortality for hip fracture surgery in the elderly: a population-based approach. Eur J Epidemiol. 2005;20(12):985-91.
- Karres J, Heesakkers NA, Ultee JM, Vrouenraets BC. Predicting 30-day mortality following hip fracture surgery: evaluation of six risk prediction models. Injury 2014; 46:371–7.
- 10. Mazzola P, Ward L, Zazzetta S, et al. Association Between Preoperative Malnutrition and Postoperative Delirium After Hip Fracture Surgery in Older Adults. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2017 Jun;65(6):1222-1228.
- 11. van Wissen J, van Stijn MF, Doodeman HJ, Houdijk AP. Mini Nutritional Assessment and Mortality after Hip Fracture Surgery in the Elderly. J Nutr Health Aging. 2016;20(9):964-968.
- Jones JM. The methodology of nutritional screening and assessment tools. J Hum Nutr Diet. 2002 Feb;15(1):59-71; quiz 73-5.
- **13.** T. Nozoe, M. Kohno, T. Iguchi, et al. The prognostic nutritional index can be a prognostic indicator in colorectal carcinoma, Surg. Today 42 (2012) 532–535.
- 14. Tokunaga R, Sakamoto Y, Nakagawa S, Miyamoto Y, Yoshida N, Oki E, Watanabe M, Baba H. Prognostic Nutritional Index Predicts Severe Complications, Recurrence, and Poor Prognosis

in Patients with Colorectal Cancer Undergoing Primary Tumor Resection. Dis Colon Rectum. 2015 Nov;58(11):1048-5.7

- **15.** Yang Z, Zhang B, Hou L, Xie Y, Cao X. Pre-operative prognostic nutritional index predicts the outcomes for triple-negative breast cancer, Tumour Biol. 35(2014) 12165–12171.
- 16. Hong S, Zhou T, Fang W, Xue C, Hu Z, Qin T, Tang Y, Chen Y, Ma Y, Yang Y, Hou X, Huang Y, Zhao H, Zhao Y, Zhang L. The prognostic nutritional index (PNI) predicts overall survival of small-cell lung cancer patients. 2014 Dec;35(12):12165-71.
- **17.** Cheng YL, Sung SH, Cheng HM, Hsu PF, Guo CY, Yu WC, Chen CH. Prognostic Nutritional Index and the Risk of Mortality in Patients with Acute Heart Failure. J Am Heart Assoc. 2017 Jun 25;6(6).
- 18. Hayıroğlu Mİ, Keskin M, Keskin T, Uzun AO, Altay S, Kaya A, Öz A, Çinier G, Güvenç TS, Kozan Ö. A Novel Independent Survival Predictor in Pulmonary Embolism: Prognostic Nutritional Index. Clin Appl Thromb Hemost. 2018 May;24(4):633-639.
- 19. Okada S, Shimada J, Teramukai S, Kato D, Tsunezuka H, Miyata N, Ishihara S, Furuya T, Nakazono C, Ishikawa N, Inoue M. Risk Stratification According to the Prognostic Nutritional Index for Predicting Postoperative Complications After Lung Cancer Surgery. Ann Surg Oncol. 2018 May;25(5):1254-1261.
- 20. Ren H, Wu L, Hu W, Ye X, Yu B. Prognostic value of the creactive protein/prognostic nutritional index ratio after hip fracture surgery in the elderly population. Oncotarget. 2017 May 24;8(37):61365-61372.
- **21.** Christopher P. Miller, Rafael A. Buerba, Michael P. Leslie. Preoperative Factors and Early Complications Associated with Hemiarthroplasty and Total Hip Arthroplasty for Displaced Femoral Neck Fractures. Geriatr Orthop Surg Rehabil. 2014 Jun; 5(2): 73–81.
- **22.** Aldebeyan S, Nooh A, Aoude A, Weber MH, Harvey EJ. Hypoalbuminaemia-a marker of malnutrition and predictor of postoperative complications and mortality after hip fractures. Injury. 2017 Feb;48(2):436-440.
- 23. Lee JY, Kim HI, Kim YN, Hong JH, Alshomimi S, An JY, Cheong JH, Hyung WJ, Noh SH, Kim CB. Clinical Significance of the Prognostic Nutritional Index for Predicting Short- and Long-Term Surgical Outcomes After Gastrectomy: A Retrospective Analysis of 7781 Gastric Cancer Patients. Medicine (Baltimore). 2016 May;95(18): e3539.
- 24. Oe S, Togawa D, Yamato Y, Hasegawa T, Yoshida G, Kobayashi S, Yasuda T, Banno T, Arima H, Mihara Y, Ushirozako H, Yamada T, Matsuyama Y. Preoperative age and prognostic nutritional index are useful factors for evaluating postoperative delirium among patients with adult spinal deformity. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2019 Apr 1;44(7):472-478.
- 25. Mori S, Usami N, Fukumoto K, Mizuno T, Kuroda H, Sakakura N, Yokoi K, Sakao Y. The Significance of the Prognostic Nutritional Index in Patients with Completely Resected Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. PLoS One. 2015 Sep 10;10(9): e0136897.



Research Article



J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 28-31 doi: 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.6

Nailfold capillaroscopy findings for patients receiving hemodialysis treatment and patients with renal transplant

Harun KÜÇÜK^{1,*}, Azar ABİYEV¹, Şeminur HAZNEDAROĞLU²

¹Department of Gastroenterology, Faculty of Medicine, Gazi University Ankara, Turkey ²Department of Rheumatology, Faculty of Medicine, Gazi University, Anakara, Turkey

Received: 27.04.2021 Accepted/Published Online: 12.06.2021 **Final Version:** 01.01.2022

Abstract

Cardiovascular diseases are the most common cause of death in hemodialysis patients. Early diagnosis of cardiovascular diseases has vital importance. The aim of our study is to use the NFC method to determine the importance of microcirculatory structure changes for early detection of increased cardiovascular disease risk in hemodialysis patients. The research was performed from april/2017 to july/2017. The study included 15 patients receiving hemodialysis treatment and 15 renal transplant patients followed by the nephrology department and 15 healthy volunteers attending the internal diseases clinic. Every patient were examined by videocapillaroscopy according to procedure and data were recorded. Statistical analyses were evaluated with SPSS 22.0. There was a significant difference in laboratory values between hemodialysis patients and both groups except uric acid (p<0.05). There was not a significant difference between the groups in terms of capillary density, capillary hemorrhage rate, tortuous capillary incidence, and giant capillary incidence (p>0.05). In conclusion, investigation of nailfold capillaroscopy in hemodialysis and renal transplant patients did not identify a significant disruption in microcirculation compared to the healthy control group. There is a need for nailfold capillaroscopy studies of hemodialysis and renal transplant patients with higher numbers of patients.

Keywords: vasculitis, microvascular changes, nailfold capillaroscopy, renal transplantation

1. Introduction

Hemodialysis (HD) and renal transplantation are frequently applied renal replacement treatment methods for treatment of end-stage renal disease (ESRD). Cardiovascular diseases are the most common cause of death in hemodialysis patients (1). Early diagnosis of cardiovascular diseases has vital importance.

In situations like diabetes mellitus (DM), hypertension and renal failure, initiation of the pathologic cascade involves changes to the microvascular structure and functions of the end organ (2). Functional and structural abnormalities at the microcirculation level may display easy transition to events occurring in larger arteries and coronary arteries (3). These types of changes were identified to correlate with development of cardiovascular disease (4). Measurement of capillary rarefaction, defined as reductions in the numbers of capillary veins in a tissue, allows the possibility for early assessment of microvascular functions and tissue perfusion in a variety of disease situations including chronic kidney disease (CKD) (5). Techniques developed to measure capillary rarefaction in skin were shown to accurately reflect central organ pathology like coronary artery disease and vascular calcification in dialysis patients (6,7). Very little is known about capillary rarefaction in hemodialysis and renal

transplant patients and there is no study to date in adults.

Nailfold capillaroscopy (NFC) is an easily accessible, easily applied, inexpensive and non-invasive technique showing skin microcirculation (8). NFC is used to assist in diagnosis of rheumatic diseases like systemic sclerosis, systemic lupus erythematous and rheumatoid arthritis and provides an idea about microcirculation by investigating the vein bed (9).

The aim of our study is to use the NFC method to determine the importance of microcirculatory structure changes for early detection of increased cardiovascular disease risk in hemodialysis patients. At the same time, the aim was to investigate the effect of metabolic disorder, expected to ameliorate after transplant, on microvascular structure in renal transplant patients.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Patients

The research was performed from April/2017 to July/2017. The study included 15 patients (group A) receiving hemodialysis treatment and 15 renal transplant patients (group B) followed by the nephrology department. The control group (group C) included 15 individuals comprising healthy volunteers attending the internal diseases clinic for any reason. Patients were chosen from young age groups. The aim was to minimize venous abnormalities and structural diversity that may develop with age.

Inclusion in the research was based on volunteering. After patients who met the inclusion criteria were informed about the study, they were invited to participate and those who accepted were included in the study. All cases provided signed informed consent forms.

2.2. Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Inclusion criteria were for group A; patients from 18-65 years, patients receiving hemodialysis treatment, for group B; patients from 18-65 years, patients with renal transplant, for group C; individuals with similar age and sex features to Group A and Group B age from 18-65 years. Exclusion criteria (for groups A, B and C) were; damage to the fingers to be examined in recent times, chemicals which may affect the quality of investigation of the fingers, situations with probability of causing structural changes in microcirculation like DM, hypercholesterolemia, hypertension, rheumatic diseases, and smoking, cardiovascular disease.

2.3. Parameters examined

Individuals included in the study had physical examination and blood pressure measurements performed, with routine blood tests requested (hemogram, albumin, calcium, phosphorus, parathormone, ferritin, transferrin saturation, bicarbonate level, uric acid, blood urea nitrogen and creatinine). Nailfold capillaroscopy was performed by experienced clinician team. Investigations were performed with a VideoCap 3.0 videocapillaroscope.

Necessary permission for the study was obtained from Ankara Numune Education and Research Hospital Clinical Research Ethics Committee.

2.4. Statistical analysis

Normal distribution of continuous variables was examined with the Shapiro Wilk test. Comparisons of the means in three independent groups used the one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) test, with post hoc Tukey test applied to significant results. Analysis of categoric variables used the chi-square test. For all analyses, statistical significance value was taken as 0.05.

3. Results

3.1. Demographic characteristics

The ages of patients included in Group A were from 18 to 57 years $(39.07\pm11.14; \text{mean} \pm \text{SD})$ with 9 males and 6 females. The ages of patients included in Group B were from 20 to 58 years (36.87 ± 11.34) with 7 males and 8 females. The ages of patients included in Group C were from 26 to 61 years (33.27 ± 11.27) with 8 males and 7 females. There was no statistically significant difference between the mean ages in the patient group and control group (p>0.05). There was no statistically significant relationship between the groups for gender; the distribution was homogeneous (p=0.765) (Table 1).

3.2. Laboratory parameters

There was a significant difference between the groups in terms of mean hemoglobin, creatinine, bicarbonate, albumin, calcium, phosphorus, ferritin, transferrin saturation and parathyroid hormone levels (p<0.05). Accordingly, the differences were between the control-hemodialysis (p<0.05) and transplant-hemodialysis (p<0.05) groups. There was no significant difference between the groups in terms of mean uric acid (p>0.05) (Table 2).

3.3. Nailfold video capillaroscopy findings

There was not a significant difference between the groups in terms of capillary density, capillary hemorrhage rate, tortuous capillary incidence, and giant capillary incidence (p>0.05) (Table 3).

Table 1. Demographic data

	HD patients N=15	Patients with renal transplantation N=15	Control group N=15	P value
Age (years)	39.07±11.14	36.87±11.34	33.27±11.27	>0.05
Gender: N (%)	Female: 6 (40)	Female: 8 (53.3)	Female: 7 (46.7)	>0.05

Table 2. Laboratory and metabolic parameters

Laboratory and metabolic parameters						
HD patients N=15	Patients with renal transplantation N=15	Control group N=15	P value			
10.85 ± 0.96	13.79±1.48	14.01 ± 1.17	< 0.001			
2.78±0.79	0.83 ± 0.20	$0.91{\pm}0.16$	< 0.001			
5.25±0.71	4.89±1.02	5.12±1.51	>0.05			
20.34±3.47	23.67±2.08	23.73±1.54	< 0.001			
3.76±0.28	4.28±0.43	4.35±0.48	< 0.001			
8.76 ± 0.86	9.82±0.69	9.53±0.53	< 0.001			
5.00±1.32	3.26±0.63	$3.84{\pm}0.75$	< 0.001			
393.80±305.38	100.73 ± 58.52	96.07±71.74	< 0.001			
29.80±10.09	38.13±8.62	30.73±9.32	< 0.05			
686.53±457.67	38.53±15.99	49.40±16.07	< 0.001			
	HD patients N=15 10.85±0.96 2.78±0.79 5.25±0.71 20.34±3.47 3.76±0.28 8.76±0.86 5.00±1.32 393.80±305.38 29.80±10.09 686.53±457.67	HD patients N=15Patients with renal transplantation N=15 10.85 ± 0.96 13.79 ± 1.48 2.78 ± 0.79 0.83 ± 0.20 5.25 ± 0.71 4.89 ± 1.02 20.34 ± 3.47 23.67 ± 2.08 3.76 ± 0.28 4.28 ± 0.43 8.76 ± 0.86 9.82 ± 0.69 5.00 ± 1.32 3.26 ± 0.63 393.80 ± 305.38 100.73 ± 58.52 29.80 ± 10.09 38.13 ± 8.62 686.53 ± 457.67 38.53 ± 15.99	HD patients N=15Patients with renal transplantation N=15Control group N=15 10.85 ± 0.96 13.79 ± 1.48 14.01 ± 1.17 2.78 ± 0.79 0.83 ± 0.20 0.91 ± 0.16 5.25 ± 0.71 4.89 ± 1.02 5.12 ± 1.51 20.34 ± 3.47 23.67 ± 2.08 23.73 ± 1.54 3.76 ± 0.28 4.28 ± 0.43 4.35 ± 0.48 8.76 ± 0.86 9.82 ± 0.69 9.53 ± 0.53 5.00 ± 1.32 3.26 ± 0.63 3.84 ± 0.75 393.80 ± 305.38 100.73 ± 58.52 96.07 ± 71.74 29.80 ± 10.09 38.13 ± 8.62 30.73 ± 9.32 686.53 ± 457.67 38.53 ± 15.99 49.40 ± 16.07			

1 19 0				
	HD patients N=15	Patients with renal transplantation N=15	Control group N=15	P value
Giant capillary, n (%)	3 (20)	2 (13.3)	2 (13.3)	>0.05
Tortuous capillary, n (%)	3 (20)	4 (26.7)	2 (13.3)	>0.05
Reduced capillary density, n (%)	3 (20)	3 (20)	0 (0)	>0.05
Capillary hemorrhage, n (%)	3 (20)	3 (20)	4 (26.7)	>0.05

Table 3. Nailfold capillaroscopy findings

4. Discussion

Hemodialysis is the most frequently performed renal replacement treatment method. The most frequent cause of death among hemodialysis patients is cardiovascular diseases (10). This situation is accepted because of the association between renal and cardiovascular pathologies.

Early detection of cardiovascular diseases has vital importance. Many studies have found a positive correlation between skin microcirculation disorders and other vascular diseases and an increased risk of development of heart disease was identified with disrupted microcirculation (11). Many studies were performed to early assess for cardiovascular system diseases which are not yet clinically significant with identification of changes in microcirculatory structure using the nailfold videocapillaroscopy method (12, 13).

A study of the pediatric age group researched the capillary density, biochemical markers, cardiovascular risk factors and capillary function assessment tests in 19 end-stage hemodialysis patients and 20 healthy controls. Capillary density (capillary/mm²) of hemodialysis patients was identified to be significantly low compared to the control group. There was an inverse correlation between serum calcium and parathormone levels with capillary density with no correlation found for cardiac risk determinants and serum phosphorus levels (14).

Another study investigated the microcirculatory changes in the upper extremities of hemodialysis patients with arteriovenous fistula. The patient group comprising 43 patients was assessed without a control group and no difference was observed in terms of morphological microcirculation parameters between the shunt arm and contralateral side (13). Due to limitations of the research, the arteriovenous fistula route, most frequently used for the dialysis entry route in hemodialysis patients, was shown not to disrupt capillary morphologic structure and this is important in terms of supporting the measurements in our study from this aspect.

A study compared 17 predialysis patients, 35 ESRD patients (20 HD and 15 PD patients) with 19 healthy controls and found capillary density in predialysis patients and ESRD patients were lower compared to the control group. They identified that the high serum phosphorus and bicarbonate levels associated with advanced CKD caused structural and functional capillary density disruption (12).

In our study, there was no significant difference between

the groups in terms of capillary parameters. When both groups are compared with the hemodialysis group, apart from uric acid, all laboratory findings were significantly different. This situation complies with the literature. Our study has limited case numbers in terms of more advanced assessments.

There are a few studies performing videocapillaroscopy assessment of non-rheumatologic cases. A study of migraine patients included 50 participants as a healthy control group. Among these, 26% were identified to have tortuous capillary and 22% were identified to have giant capillary (15). In our study, in 15 healthy volunteers the incidence of tortuous capillary was 13.3% and the incidence of giant capillary was 13.3%.

Another study assessed 82 healthy individuals and mean value for capillary density was $11/\text{mm}^2$, with capillary hemorrhage incidence 0%, tortuous capillary incidence 4.9% and giant capillary incidence 0% (16). In our study, the mean capillary density value was $10.5/\text{mm}^2$, the reduction in capillary density was 0%, capillary hemorrhage rate 26.7%, tortuous capillary incidence 13.3% and giant capillary incidence 13.3%.

In all two studies, the capillary values in the control groups were identified to be different. For this reason, it is clear there is a need to perform studies with higher case numbers about this topic.

One of the secondary results of our study is that when both groups are compared with the hemodialysis patient group, apart from uric acid, all laboratory findings were significantly different. This is important in terms of recording the success of the effect on correctable laboratory values of renal transplantation, a renal replacement treatment with definite effect on mortality, in our case group.

In conclusion, investigation of nailfold capillaroscopy in hemodialysis and renal transplant patients did not identify a significant disruption in microcirculation compared to the healthy control group. There is a need for nailfold capillaroscopy studies of hemodialysis and renal transplant patients with higher numbers of patients.

There was not a significant difference between the groups in terms of capillary density, capillary hemorrhage rate, tortuous capillary incidence, and giant capillary incidence.

In our study, in 15 healthy volunteers the mean capillary density value was $10.5/\text{mm}^2$, the reduction in capillary density was 0%, capillary hemorrhage rate 26.7%, tortuous capillary incidence 13.3% and giant capillary incidence 13.3%.

There is a need for nailfold capillaroscopy studies of hemodialysis and renal transplant patients with higher numbers of patients.

Conflicts of interest

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- Charles A Herzog, J Michael Mangrum, Rod Passman. Sudden cardiac death and dialysis patients. Semin Dial. Jul-Aug 2008;21(4):300-7.
- **2.** Secomb TW, Pries AR. The microcirculation: physiology at the mesoscale. J Physiol. 2011; 589:1047–1052.
- **3.** Khan, Faisel; Dean Patterson; Belch, Jill J.F.; Hirata, Kumiko; Lang, Chim C., Relationship between peripheral and coronary function using laser Doppler imaging and transthoracic echocardiography. 2008.
- **4.** IJzerman RG, De Jongh RT, MA Beijk, et al., Individuals at increased coronary heart disease risk are characterized by an impaired microvascular function in skin. Eur J Clin Invest 2003; 33:536-542.
- 5. Chade AR. Renal vascular structure and rarefaction. Compr Physiol. 2013; 3:817–831
- 6. Antonios TF, Kaski JC, Hasan KM, et al. Rarefaction of skin capillaries in patients with anginal chest pain and normal coronary arteriograms. Eur Heart J. 2001; 22:1144–1148.
- Holowatz LA, Thompson-Torgerson CS, Kenney WL. The human cutaneous circulation as a model of generalized microvascular function. J Appl Physiol (1985) 2008; 105:370– 372.
- 8. Mahnaz Etehad Tavakol, Alimohammad Fatemi, and Björn-Erik Erlandsson, Nailfold Capillaroscopy in Rheumatic Diseases:

Which Parameters Should Be Evaluated?Hindawi Publishing CorporationBioMed Research InternationalVolume 2015, Article ID 974530.

- Yüksel S, Yüksel EP, Soylu K, Zengin H, Gülel O, Meriç M, Aydın F, Şentürk N, Şahin M. Abnormal nail fold capillarospoic findings in patients with coronary slow phenomenon. Int J Clin Exp Med. 2014;7(4):1052-1058.
- 10. Mario Cozzolino, Michela Mangano, Andrea Stucchi, Paola Ciceri, Ferruccio Conte, Andrea Galassi. Cardiovascular disease in dialysis patients Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2018 Oct; 33(Suppl 3): iii28–iii34. Published online 2018 Oct 3.
- Eduardo Tibiriçá, Andrea De Lorenzo, Gláucia Maria Moraes de Oliveira. Microcirculation and Cardiovascular Diseases Arq Bras Cardiol. 2018 Aug; 111(2): 120–121.
- 12. Thang OH, Serné EH, Grooteman MP, Smulders YM, ter Wee PM, Tangelder GJ, Nubé MJ. Capillary rarefaction in advanced chronic kidney disease is associated with high phosphorus and bicarbonate levels. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2011 Nov;26(11):3529-36.
- **13.** Hirschl M, Kundi M, Hirschl MM. Microcirculation of nailfold capillaries in chronic hemodialysis patients with and without diabetes mellitus. Clin Nephrol. 1993 Sep;40(3):179-84.
- 14. Edwards-Richards A, DeFreitas M, Katsoufis CP, et al. Capillary rarefaction: an early marker of microvascular disease in young hemodialysis patients. Clin Kidney J. 2014;7(6):569-574.
- **15.** Akkiraz, Zehra Ozde. Establishment of peripheral vascular alteration with videocapilleroscopy method in migraine patients. Master's thesis. İzmir Katip Çelebi University, 2016.
- 16. Erol MK, Balkarli A, Toslak D, Dogan B, Durmaz D, Süren E, et al. Evaluation of nailfold videocapillaroscopy in central serous chorioretinopathy. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol. 2016 Oct;254(10):1889-1896.







J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 32-35 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.7

To determine safety profile of azithromycin in Covid-19 patients

Khadija ASIF^{*}[®], Farhat ABBAS [®], Umar javaid SANDHU [®]

Department of Medicine, Allied Hospital, Faisalabad Medical University (PMC), Faisalabad, Pakistan

Received: 02.05.2021	•	Accepted/Published Online: 11.05.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022

Abstract

At the end of the year 2019, a novel virus named Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV or COVID-19) first appeared in the Chinese city of Wuhan and the WHO declared the novel coronavirus disease as a global pandemic on March, 11th 2020. Corona Virus is RNA virus, major virus that affects respiratory system and can result in acute respiratory distress syndrome, so there emerged several management strategies to combat the challenge of the disease. Azithromycin is one of those treatment options. Azithromycin have been used widely and generally considered as safe medication. The design of this study is Cross-Sectional Study. The 80 Covid-19 positive in ICU were given Azithromycin along with other standard treatment, Side effects were divided into mild serious and allergic reactions. These were noted down in pre designed proforma. Data analysis was done in SPSS version 25. 80 patients were studied 38 (46.2%) patients experienced side effects, majority of which were mild in nature, Out of 80 patients Abdominal Pain was 37.5%, diarrhea 22.7% nausea 25%, transaminitis 2.5%, anorexia 26.3%, taste perversion 36.3%, dyspepsia 15%, vomiting 17.5%, headache 6.3% and somnolence 1.3%. Only 1 (1.25%) patients had arrhythmia and 1 (1.25%) had urticaria that was successfully treated. After this study this can be concluded that Azithromycin is safe drug as majority of side effects experienced were mild in nature and it can be safely used to treat Covid-19 positive patients.

Keywords: 2019-nCoV, azithromycin, COVID-19, SARS-CoV-2

1. Introduction

The Wuhan City of China experienced Covid-19 virus upsurge for the first time late in December 2019, became a pandemic, it has been treated as pneumonia with unknown etiology (1, 2). One of the major target of corona virus is pulmonary system of the humans (3). It was named as 2019-nCoV by Chinese experts (4) and Later, it was named by the International Committee on Taxonomy of Virus as Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2) (5). Rapid and accurate detection of COVID-19 is crucial to control outbreaks in the community and in hospitals (6). Current diagnostic tests for coronavirus include reverse-transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR), real-time RT-PCR (RRT-PCR), and reverse transcription loop-mediated isothermal amplification (RT-LAMP) (7). The need of an hour is to find effective therapeutic agents for the treatment of COVID-19 whether inpatient or outpatient as the devastating effects of the coronavirus designated severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) demands an urgent attempt to combat situation. (8) It has been demonstrated by few studies that hydroxychloroquine sulfate (HCQ) inhibits SARS-CoV-2 in vitro (9) and one of study proves that the combination of HCQ and azithromycin (AZ) inhibits SARS-CoV-2 in vitro. (10)

Azithromycin is a macrolide antibiotic it has a structure

modified from erythromycin. Like other macrolides, azithromycin has activity against Moraxella catarrhalis and Streptococcus pneumoniae and also against atypical microbes (11). It has been showing activity against Zika and Ebola viruses in vitro and has immunomodulatory action as demonstrated by in vivo activity in the prevention of severe respiratory tract involvement in viral infections (12). Azithromycin works by inhibiting protein synthesis and experimentally reduces viral replication and inflammation possibly because viruses and cytokines are both made of proteins and use cellular ribosomes for protein translation. In addition, inhibiting virus production can reduce viral transmission to others, which is an important additional benefit (13).

The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in over 144 million confirmed cases and over 3.06 million deaths globally. Corona Virus is RNA virus, major virus that affects respiratory system and can result in acute respiratory distress syndrome, so there emerged several management strategies to combat the challenge of the disease. Azithromycin is one of those treatment options. Azithromycin have been used widely and generally considered as safe medication.

2. Materials and Methods

In Intensive Care Unit of Allied Hospital Faisalabad, from 1 December 2020 to 31 January 2021. Eighty (80) patients were taken through non probability purposive sampling. Patients were taken according to inclusion a criterion that is Covid-19 PCR patients admitted in ICU, Both genders included, Age range was 18 to 85 years, and all grades of severity of disease were included. The patents who has documented known allergy to macrolides. Females who were pregnant, those with prolonged QT interval documented on Baseline ECG. Patients cardiac issue, were excluded from study. After Ethical Committee approval of the proposal of the study, patient according to inclusion and exclusion criteria were recruited. After taking informed consent, all patients received a standardized clinical examination, all baseline and specific investigations according to their clinical condition and Baseline ECG at day 0 and they were regularly followed up daily during their stay in hospital. All of them given Tab Azithromycin 500mg oral daily, they were observed and asked questions regarding side effects of Azithromycin and side effects were noted down on tenth day.

The side effects has been divided in three major groups, Mild Side Effects, Serious Side effects and Allergic Reactions. All findings and self-reported side effects were noted down in pre designed proforma. Data Analysis was done with SPSS version 25.0 that was used to enter and analyzed the data. Quantitative data like age were presented as means and standard deviation and qualitative data like gender, diarrhea was presented as frequency and percentages.

2.1. Ethical approval

This cross-sectional study was conducted at the Allied hospital (Faisalabad Medical University) Pakistan. This study was approved by the Institutional ethics committee of Allied hospital (Faisalabad Medical University) with approved no. AHF-353-FMU-04/15.

3. Results

Eighty (n=80) patients presented to Covid ICU were studied, all of them were given Azithromycin 500mg daily orally. Their demographic profile is shown in Table 1, there were 56 (80%) male and 24(30%) female patients. Mean Age was 54.9 + 11.28 with Minimum 27 and Maximum 85 years, Out of which 11 (13.7%) were in 18-40 year age group, 46 (57.5%) in 41-60 year age group, 22 (27.5%) in 61-80 years age group and 1 (1.25%) in> 81 year group. All patients were Covid PCR positive 80(100%) and only 4(5%) were smokers. (Table1) Out of 80 patients 11(17.5%) were having mild to moderate Disease, 50(62.5%) patients had sever disease and 16 (20%) were critical. (Table 2) Out of 80 patients 38 (46.2%) suffered from Side effects, of which 36 (45%) out of 80 and 94.7% out of 38 had Mild Side effects, 1(1.25%) out of 80 and 2.6% out of 38 patient had Sever Adverse reaction and 1(1.25%) out of 80 and 2.6% out of 38 patient had Allergic reaction (Table 3a).

Table 1. Demographic profile of patients

Total No. I	80	
Male		56 (70%)
Female		24 (30%)
Age Group	18-40	11 (13.7%)
	41-60	46 (57.5%)
	61-80	22 (27.5%)
	> 81	1 (1.25%)
Covid-19 PCR		80 (100%)
Smokers		4 (5%)

Table 2. Clinical severity

Mild To Moderate Disease	14 (17.5%)
Sever Disease	50 (62.5%)
Critical IIIness	16 (20%)

 Table 3 (a). Side effects profile of azithromycin in 80 patinets

 Occurrence Of Adverse Events

 38 (46.2%) out of 80

	20 (10.270) 0 01 00
	patinets
Mild Side Effects	36 (45%) out of 80
	and 94.7% out of 38
Sever Adverse Events	1 (1.25%) out of 80
	and 2.6% out of 38
Allergic Reaction to Azithromycin	1 (1.25%) out of 80
	and 2.6% out of 38

Table 3 (b). Side effect profile of azithromycin

1	Abdominal Pain	30 (37.5%) out 80 and 78.9% out of 38
2	Diarrhea	22 (27.5%) out of 80; 57.8% out of 38
3	Nausea	20(25%) out of 80 and 52.6% out of 38
4	Elevated ALT AST	2 (25%) out of 80 and 5.2% out o0f 38
5	Anorexia	21 (26.3%) out of 80; 55.2% out of 38
6	Taste Perversion	29 (36.3%) out of 80; 76.3% out of 38
7	Dyspepsia	12 (15%) out of 80 and 31.5% out of 38
8	Vomiting	14 (17.5%) out of 80 and 36.8 % out of 38
9	Headache	5 (6.3%) out of 80 and 13.1% out of 38
10	Somnolance	1 (1.3%) out of 80 and 2.6% out of 38
	Serious Adverse F	Reaction
11	Arrythmia	1 (1.25%) out of 80 and 2.6 out of 38
12	Hypotension	None
13	QT Prolongation	None
14	Torsade's de Point	None
15	Renal and Hepatic Failure	None
16	Convulsions	None
17	Neutropenia,	None
	Leeucopenia and	
	Thrombocytopenia	
	Allergic	Reactions to Azithromycin
18	Arthralgia	None
19	Edema	None
20	Urticaria	1 (1.25%) out of 80; 2.6% out of 38
21	Angioedema	None

Table 4. Co morbid conditions

1	Co Morbid Conditions	38 (47.5%) out of 80
2	Diabetes	28 (35%) out of 80 and 73.6% out of 38
3	Hypertension	19 (23.7%) out of 80 and 50% out of 38
4	Ischemic	5 (6.25%) out of 80 and 13.1% out of
	Heart Disease	38

Amongst Patients having mild side effects 30(37.5%) out of 80 and 78.9% out of 38 had Abdominal Pain. 22(27.5%) out of 80 and 57.8% out of 38had Diarrhea, 20(25%) out of 80 and 52.6% out of 38 had Nausea, 2(2.5%) out of 80 and 5.2% out of 38 had Elevated ALT AST, 21(26.3%) out of 80 and 55.2% out of 38 had Anorexia, 29(36.3%) out of 80 and 76.3% out of 38 experienced Taste perversion 12(15%) out of 80 and 31.5% out of 38 had Dyspepsia.14(17.5%) out of 80 and 36.8 % out of 38 had Vomiting. 5(6.3%) out of 80 and 13.1% out of 38 had Headache. 1(1.3%) out of 80 and 2.6% out of 38 had Somnolence. Only 1(1.25%) out of 80 and 2.6% out of 38 had Arrythmia as serious adverse event and 1(1.25%) out of 80 and 2.6% out of 38 had Urticaria, Amongst Allergic reaction. (Table 3b) Out of 80 patients, 38 (47.5%) had Co Morbid Conditions in the form of Diabetes 28 (35%) out of 80 (73.6% out of 38). Hypertension was present in 19 (23.7%) out of 80 (50% out of 38) and 5(6.25%) out of 80 (13.1% out of 38) had Ischemic Heart Disease (Table 4).

Fig. 1 is bar chart showing frequency of occurrence of side effects was more in Age group 41-60 years that is 25 patients. 2 patients from 18-40 years, 10 from 61-80 years and 1 from> 81 years experienced adverse reaction.



Fig. 1. Showing frequency of side effects according to age groups

4. Discussion

Azithromycin is the prototype of an antimicrobial agent which falls in the class of azalides derived from the macrolides (14). Azithromycin has good tolerance in general, but relatively common adverse effects (1-5 % of patients) include gastrointestinal upset, headache and dizziness (15). Compared to study done by Barbara A. Brown Mean age was 66 years compared to 54.9 in our study. He noted unpropitious event in 32 of 39 patients (84%) while taking Azithromycin compared to 38(46.2%) patients in our study which is quite less. The mostly was GI event (82%) in Barbara's study, GI symptoms included diarrhea (62%) compared to (27.5%) in ours,

abdominal pain (41%) compared to (37.5%) in ours, anorexia (33%) compared to (26.3 %) in ours, unusual taste sensation (33%) compared to (36.3%) in ours, nausea (28%) compared to (25%) in ours, vomiting (18%) compared to (17.5%) in ours and abdominal bloating or dyspepsia (~IO%) compared to (15%) in our study (16).

Hence it is demonstrated that generally, Azithromycin remained safe drug option to use in covid positive, ICU admitted patients in Allied hospital (Faisalabad Medical University), majority of side effects were mild and tolerable and resulted in completion of antibiotic course, one patient had episode of arrhythmia, he had multiple co morbid conditions as well, that episode was successfully treated and does not resulted in fatality.

Further research with larger sample size however will definitely enable us to better manage this potentially fatal Novel Corona Virus. We concluded that Azithromycin is a safe drug as demonstrated by results only 38 (46.2%) out of 80 patients experienced side effects, majority of which were mild in nature. Only 1 (1.25%) patients had arrhythmia and one (1.25%) has allergic reaction that was successfully treated.

Conflicts of interest

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- Waris A, Atta UK, Ali M, Asmat A, Baset A. COVID-19 outbreak: current scenario of Pakistan. New Microbes New Infect. 2020 Apr 14;35:100681. doi: 10.1016/j.nmni.2020.100681. PMID: 32322403; PMCID: PMC7171524.
- Sahin AR, Erdogan A, Agaoglu PM, Dineri Y, Cakirci AY, Senel ME, Tasdogan AM. 2019 novel coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak: a review of the current literature. Eurasian J Med. 2020; 4 (1): 1-7. doi: 10.14744/ejmo.2020.12220.
- Hoehl S, Rabenau H, Berger A, Kortenbusch M, Cinatl J, Bojkova D, Behrens P, Böddinghaus B, Götsch U, Naujoks F, Neumann P, Schork J, Tiarks-Jungk P, Walczok A, Eickmann M, Vehreschild MJGT, Kann G, Wolf T, Gottschalk R, Ciesek S. Evidence of SARS-CoV-2 Infection in Returning Travelers from Wuhan, China. N Engl J Med. 2020 Mar 26;382(13):1278-1280. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc2001899. Epub 2020 Feb 18. PMID: 32069388; PMCID: PMC7121749.
- 4. Zhu N, Zhang D, Wang W, Li X, Yang B, Song J, Zhao X, Huang B, Shi W, Lu R, Niu P, Zhan F, Ma X, Wang D, Xu W, Wu G, Gao GF, Tan W; China Novel Coronavirus Investigating and Research Team. A Novel Coronavirus from Patients with Pneumonia in China, 2019. N Engl J Med. 2020 Feb 20;382(8):727-733. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2001017. Epub 2020 Jan 24. PMID: 31978945; PMCID: PMC7092803.
- Zu ZY, Jiang MD, Xu PP, Chen W, Ni QQ, Lu GM, Zhang LJ. Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): a perspective from China. Radiology 2020; 200490-200490.
- To KK, Tsang OT, Yip CC, Chan KH, Wu TC, Chan JM, Leung WS, Chik TS, Choi CY, Kandamby DH, Lung DC, Tam AR, Poon RW, Fung AY, Hung IF, Cheng VC, Chan JF, Yuen KY. Consistent Detection of 2019 Novel Coronavirus in Saliva. Clin Infect Dis. 2020 Jul 28;71(15):841-843. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciaa149. PMID: 32047895; PMCID: PMC7108139.
- 7. Lai CC, Shih TP, Ko WC, Tang HJ, Hsueh PR. Severe acute

respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) and coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19): The epidemic and the challenges. Int J Antimicrob Agents. 2020 Mar;55(3):105924. doi: 10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2020.105924. Epub 2020 Feb 17. PMID: 32081636; PMCID: PMC7127800.

- Schwartz RA, Suskind RM. Azithromycin and COVID-19: Prompt early use at first signs of this infection in adults and children, an approach worthy of consideration. Dermatol Ther. 2020 Jul;33(4):e13785. doi: 10.1111/dth.13785. Epub 2020 Jul 12. PMID: 32510734; PMCID: PMC7300563.
- 9. Yao X, Ye F, Zhang M, Cui C, Huang B, Niu P, Liu X, Zhao L, Dong E, Song C, Zhan S, Lu R, Li H, Tan W, Liu D. In Vitro Antiviral Activity and Projection of Optimized Dosing Design of Hydroxychloroquine for the Treatment of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2). Clin Infect Dis. 2020 Jul 28;71(15):732-739. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciaa237. PMID: 32150618; PMCID: PMC7108130.
- Andreani J, Le Bideau M, Duflot I, Jardot P, Rolland C, Boxberger M, Wurtz N, Rolain JM, Colson P, La Scola B, Raoult D. In vitro testing of combined hydroxychloroquine and azithromycin on SARS-CoV-2 shows synergistic effect. Microb Pathog. 2020 Aug;145:104228. doi: 10.1016/j.micpath.2020.104228. Epub 2020 Apr 25. PMID: 32344177; PMCID: PMC7182748.
- Xu P, Zeng L, Xiong T, Choonara I, Qazi S, Zhang L. Safety of azithromycin in paediatrics: a systematic review protocol. BMJ Paediatr Open. 2019 Jun 19;3(1):e000469. doi: 10.1136/bmjpo-2019-000469. PMID: 31321320; PMCID: PMC6598555.
- 12. Tran DH, Sugamata R, Hirose T, Suzuki S, Noguchi Y, Sugawara A, Ito F, Yamamoto T, Kawachi S, Akagawa KS, Ōmura S, Sunazuka T, Ito N, Mimaki M, Suzuki K. Azithromycin, a 15-membered macrolide antibiotic, inhibits influenza A(H1N1)pdm09 virus infection by interfering with virus internalization process. J Antibiot (Tokyo). 2019 Oct;72(10):759-768. doi: 10.1038/s41429-019-0204-x. Epub 2019 Jul 12. PMID: 31300721.
- 13. Gérard A, Romani S, Fresse A, Viard D, Parassol N, Granvuillemin A, Chouchana L, Rocher F, Drici MD; French Network of Pharmacovigilance Centers. "Off-label" use of hydroxychloroquine, azithromycin, lopinavir-ritonavir and chloroquine in COVID-19: A survey of cardiac adverse drug reactions by the French Network of Pharmacovigilance Centers. Therapie. 2020 Jul-Aug;75(4):371-379. doi: 10.1016/j.therap.2020.05.002. Epub 2020 May 7. PMID: 32418730; PMCID: PMC7204701.
- 14. Panteix G, Guillaumond B, Harf R, Desbos A, Sapin V, Leclercq M, Perrin-Fayolle M. In-vitro concentration of azithromycin in human phagocytic cells. J Antimicrob Chemother. 1993 Jun;31 Suppl E:1-4. doi: 10.1093/jac/31.suppl_e.1. PMID: 8396080.
- **15.** Zuckerman JM, Qamar F, Bono BR. Macrolides, ketolides, and glycylcyclines: azithromycin, clarithromycin, telithromycin, tigecycline. Infect Dis Clin North Am. 2009 Dec;23(4):997-1026, ix-x. doi: 10.1016/j.idc.2009.06.013. PMID: 19909895.
- 16. Brown BA, Griffith DE, Girard W, Levin J, Wallace RJ Jr. Relationship of adverse events to serum drug levels in patients receiving high-dose azithromycin for mycobacterial lung disease. Clin Infect Dis. 1997 May;24(5):958-64. doi: 10.1093/clinids/24.5.958. PMID: 9142801.



Research Article



J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 36-40 doi: 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.8

Effects of curcumin on arginase enzyme activity, ornithine and nitric oxide levels in experimental breast cancer model

Ezgi KÜRKÇÜ KAHRAMAN^{1,*}⁰, Nurettin AYDOĞDU²⁰, Hakan ERBAŞ³⁰

¹Department of Biochemistry, Cerrahpaşa Faculty of Medicine, İstanbul University, İstanbul, Turkey ²Department of Physiology, Faculty of Medicine, İnönü University, Malatya, Turkey ³Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Medicine, Trakya University, Edirne, Turkey

Received: 11.05.2021 Accepted/Published Online: 12.06.2021 Final Version: 01.01.2022 •

Abstract

Breast cancer accounts for almost 30% of all cancer types, making it the most common type of tumor among women in the world. Arginase, an essential enzyme of the urea cycle, leads to the formation of urea and ornithine from L-arginine using the same substrate as nitric oxide synthase (NOS). Arginase has been reported to be higher in cancer patients and can be used as a useful biomarker. In this study, we aimed to investigate the effects of curcumin, an anticarcinogenic agent, on arginase enzyme activity, ornithine, and nitric oxide (NO) levels in experimental breast cancer model in mice. 43 male Balb/c mice were used, and Erhlich acid tumor model was created in the study. Mice were divided into five groups as healthy control group, curcumin treatment before tumor formation, curcumin treatment after tumor formation and cancer control groups. 100 mg/kg curcumin were given orally. Serum and tissue arginase enzyme activities, NO levels and tissue ornithine levels were determined spectrophotometrically. Increased serum arginase activity decreased with curcumin treatment, but this difference was not statistically significant. On the other hand, decreased NO levels were increased with curcumin treatment. In tumor tissue, arginase activity and ornithine levels decreased significantly with curcumin treatment and tissue NO levels increased significantly with curcumin treatment. In our study, we show that curcumin may have a protective effect on the development of breast cancer by inhibiting arginase enzyme activity and ornithine levels, which are the precursors of polyamines, as well as inducing NO production via NOS. As a promising anticancer agent, the net effects of curcumin in this mechanism should be supported by more advanced studies and new parameters.

Keywords: arginase, breast cancer, curcumin, nitric oxide, ornithine

1. Introduction

Breast cancer is one of the leading causes of cancer and cancer death, which is the most common diagnosis among women who constitute 23% of all cancer cases and 14% of cancer deaths (1). Therefore, it is very important to continue to develop the diagnostic and treatment methods currently used and to identify new prognostic variables (2). Arginase, (L-arginine amidinohydrolase; E.C.3.5.3.1) catalyzes the hydrolysis of L-arginine, urea and ornithine as the key enzyme (3) responsible for nitrogen metabolism (4). Nitric oxide synthase is the enzyme responsible for the catalysis of L-arginine, nitric oxide and L-citrulline oxidation (3).

Arginase enzyme has two isoforms, AI and AII. AI (hepatic arginase) is a cytosolic enzyme and is involved in the liver. AII (extrahepatic arginase) was localized to the mitochondrial matrix. While AI is mainly related to urea synthesis and detoxification of ammonia, AII is thought to be related to biosynthetic functions such as ornithine, proline, glutamate synthesis (5). Arginase can induce nitric oxide synthase (NOS) activity (6) and plays a role in wound healing, immune response, tumor biology and inflammation

regulation in conjunction with NOS (7). Serum arginase activity is low in healthy individuals (8). The arginase enzyme is a potent immune inhibitor and is present in the cytoplasm of cancer cells in a much larger amount than in normal cells (9). It was found that serum arginase level was 4 times higher in breast cancer than healthy women in the preoperative period (10). Because of the polyamines, which are very important for cell proliferation, it is possible that high ornithine level due to increased arginase activity will lead to cancer development. Many different studies on serum and tissue arginase levels in various types of cancer indicate that arginase enzyme activity is related to cancer (8, 10). It was also stated that arginase enzyme activity might be an important determinant in breast cancer patients (11). Arginine is catalyzed by NOS and nitric oxide (NO) and citrullin are synthesized. Three types of NOS are mentioned: neuronal (nNOS or NOS1), inducible (iNOS or NOS2) and endothelial (eNOS or NOS3). eNOS and nNOS are thought to be constitutive (cNOS) (11). Numerous studies have shown that NO is associated with both tumor-inducing and tumor

suppressing functions. Today, the contradiction continues (2). In addition to that, NO and NO metabolites have been shown to have an inhibitory effect on tumor tissue metastasis and cell development (12). Curcumin is a yellow-colored hydrophobic polyphenol extracted from the *Curcuma longa* roots. Experimental studies show that curcumin inhibits breast cancer cell growth through the nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B) signaling pathway and induces breast cancer apoptosis by regulating the expression of apoptosis-related genes (13, 14). The aim of this study is to investigate the effects of curcumin on serum and cancer tissue arginase enzyme activities, NO levels and tissue ornithine levels for the first time in this study.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Animals and tumor cells

This study was performed in the Experimental Animal Breeding and Research Unit of the Trakya University upon approval by the local animal ethics committee. 43 male Balb / c mice with a mean weight of 25-30 grams (mean 27 grams) were used. Ehrlich ascites tumour cells which were derived from a spontaneous murine mammary adenocarcinoma were used obtaining the breast carcinoma (11).

2.2. Experimental design

In the eighth week, five groups were formed. The first group was healthy controls (Cont.). The other groups were breast cancer. To induce the formation of tumours, subcutaneous inoculation of Ehrlich ascites cells into the mice's left footpath was performed. Tumor growth was visible, and mice had difficulty walking. 7 days after injection of Ehrlich acid cells, the thickness of the footpad was measured and assessed. Group 2 (tumor cont. 1) received 100 µl of ethyl alcohol orally 5 days prior to the injection of Ehrlich acid tumor, which continued for 23 days. Group 3 (tumour cont. 2) One week after the injection of Ehrlich acid tumor, 100 µl of ethyl alcohol was given orally every other day for the whole experiment. Group 4 (Treatment 1), treatment was started 5 days before the injection of Ehrlich acid tumor and 100 mg/kg curcumin dissolved in 100 µl of ethyl alcohol and administered orally over the course of the entire experiment. Group 5 (Treatment 2) treatment was started 1 week after the Ehrlich acid tumor was injected and 100 mg/kg curcumin dissolved in 100 µl of ethyl alcohol and administered orally over the course of the entire experiment. At the end of the experimental studies, the animals were sacrificed under anaesthesia. Serum and cancer tissue samples were stored at -80 °C. Determination of Arginase enzyme activity in serum and cancer tissue Cancer tissue Arginase activity; The amount of urea produced as a result of the hydrolysis of arginine with arginase in the sample was determined by spectrophotometric determination with TDMU (Thiosemicarbazide-Diacetyl Monoxime Urea) method (15). Breast tissue ornithine Levels were measured colorimetrically with Chinard's Method (16). Breast tissue protein levels were determined by Lowry method (17). Serum arginase activity was determined by spectrophotometric determination with Munder method with some modifications (18). NO was measured spectrophotometrically using Cartos and Wakid method (19).

2.3. Statistical analysis

The statistical analysis of the data provided in our study was performed using STATISCA statistical program. The differences between arginase enzyme activity, ornithine and NO levels between tumor control and treatment groups were evaluated by Kruskal Wallis test and compared with Mann-Whitney U test. In addition, correlations between the groups were evaluated using Spearman's rank correlation coefficient analysis. P values below 0.05 were accepted to be statistically significant.

3. Results

Serum means and standard deviation values arginase enzyme activities and NO levels as well as tissue arginase enzyme activities, ornithine and NO levels were shown in Table 1. Serum arginase enzyme activities were significantly higher in tumor groups than healthy control groups. When treatment groups and tumor groups were compared, serum NO levels were significantly increased in treatment groups. Although there was a decrease in the serum arginase enzyme activity after treatment, this decrease was not statistically significant. It was found that arginase enzyme activity decreased significantly with curcumin treatment in tumor tissue samples. As a result of curcumin treatment, both decreasing arginase activity and ornithine levels were significantly decreased. On the other hand, curcumin treatment increased NO levels significantly. The effects of curcumin on cancer, arginase enzyme activity, ornithine and NO levels were found to be more effective than cancer after curcumin (Fig. 1-5). Also, Spearman's rank correlation coefficient analysis was performed and a significant difference was found between tissue arginase enzyme activities and ornithine levels only in the third group. The p value was determined to be 0.047.



Fig. 1. Serum arginase enzyme activity, *: p<0.05, ** : p<0.001



Fig. 2. Serum NO activity







Fig. 4. Cancer tissue ornithine activity



Fig. 5. Cancer tissue NO activity

Table 1. Arginase enzyme	activity and NO	D levels of serur	n samples and	arginase enzy	me activity,	ornithine a	and NO	levels m	ean and	l standard
deviation values of the tissue	e samples									

	Cont.	Tumor cont. 1	Tumor cont. 2	Treatment 1	Treatment 2
	(Group 1)	(Group 2)	(Group 3)	(Group 4)	(Group 5)
Serum Arginase (U/L)	1.31±0.24	9.10±1.40c**	14.63±8.84c**	8.96±3.42	10.36±3.45
Serum NO (mmol/L)	10.95±7.39	4.06±3.19a*	9.27±3.13	20.62±13.14b**	17.96±9.79
Tissue Arginase (U/mg protein)		110.48±35.66	68.98±28.40	36.28±9.09d**	27.65±6.94e**
Tissue Ornithine (µmol/mg protein)		0.074±0.018	0.056±0.031	0.053±0.079f*	0.056±0.026
Tissue NO (µmol/mg protein)		0.99±0.65	1.57±0.39	2.36±1.17g*	1.52±0.63

a: Comparison of serum NO levels between Group 1 and 2. **b:** Comparison of serum NO levels between Group 2 and 4. e: Comparison of tissue arginase levels between group 3 and 5.

d 4. **f:** Comparison of ornithine levels between group 2 and 4.

c: Comparison of serum arginase levels between Group 1, 2 and 3. **g:** Comparison of tissue NO levels between group 2 and 4. **d:** Comparison of tissue arginase levels between group 2 and 4. ***** : p<0.05, ****** : p<0.001.

4. Discussion

Curcumin may have a beneficial effect on cancer by inhibition of arginase enzyme. In addition to reducing arginase enzyme activity with curcumin, it is also possible to reduce ornithine levels, which are precursors of carcinogens and polyamines. The inclusion of NO in this mechanism and the demonstration that NO has anti-carcinogenic effect suggests that this system may be an important part of the non-carcinogenic curcumin mechanism. Both arginase and nitric oxide synthases enzymes competed for their common substrate; L-arginine. This relationship between the two enzymes represents one of the important factors in the regulation of NO production. Increased arginase activity may limit NO synthesis by reducing the availability of L-arginine for NOS (11). The arginase enzyme has a Vmax value at physiological pH, 1000 times more than the NOS enzyme Km value of arginase enzyme for L-arginine is 2-20 mM and it is 1-20 mM for NO (20, 21). Therefore, these two enzymes, even at low concentrations of L arginine are capable of using this substrate easily (5). It is stated that NO and NO metabolites inhibit cell growth and metastases in tumor tissues, inhibit tumor growth at high concentrations of NO and induce apoptosis of tumor cells in this way (12, 21, 22). At the same time, there are studies suggesting that NO can be used as an agent with chemical sensitivity and immune sensitivity and may be effective in immunotherapy or chemotherapy in cancer treatment by showing a synergistic effect (23). Up on constridation of serum NO levels in our study, NO values were decreased significantly in the tumor groups compared to the healthy group. This result gives us a meaningful understanding of the relationship between NO and cancer. In patients with breast cancer, significantly increased tissue ornithine levels and serum arginase enzyme activities were observed. These finding

will result in increased polyamine biosynthesis. In several studies, this is introduced as the triggering the mechanism for cancer development (3, 10, 24). In addition to this case, the decrease in NO level, which has been reported to play a protective role in the development of cancer, due to increased arginase enzyme activity, can be shown as a complement to the mechanism on the development of cancer (3, 23). In this study, the decreased NO level in the group of cancer patients against increased arginase enzyme activity supports this theory. In recent years, studies on the anticarcinogenic properties of curcumin have increased. In animal models, curcumin has been shown to be a potent antioxidant, anti-inflammatory molecule. It has been shown that it fights agonist carcinogenic DNA damage and inhibits tumorigenesis (25). Curcumin is one of the molecules used in the treatment of various diseases as an ethnic drug. Especially, curcumin has been acknowledged as an effective anticancer agent that regulates multiple intracellular signaling pathways, including transcription factors (e.g., STAT3, NF-KB, and AP-1), receptors (e.g., IL-8, HER2, and CXCR4), kinases (e.g., EGFR, ERK, and JAK), cytokines (e.g., TNF, IL, and MIP), enzymes (e.g., MMP, iNOS, and GST), and growth factors (e.g., EGF, NGF, and HGF) (13). Curcumin, p53, Ras, phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase, protein kinase B are targeted at numerous signaling pathways associated with cancer therapy and curcumin cell cycle regulation is closely related to PI3K / AKT / mTOR, a signaling pathway associated with cellular silence, proliferation, cancer and longevity. In addition, curcumin has been shown to cause anticancer effects by activating apoptotic pathways in cancer cells, inhibiting precancerous processes including inflammation, angiogenesis and metastasis (26, 27, 28). Another study reveals the antimetastatic and apoptosis-inducing potential of curcumin with increased Bax levels, decreased MMP-2, MMP-9 and Bcl-2 levels in breast cancer cells and erlich acid tumor cells (29). While curcumin treatment applied to breast cancer animals was found to increase serum NO levels significantly, a decrease in the same rate was not detected on arginase enzyme activity. However, even increasing the NO levels of curcumin can be considered as a positive effect in preventing cancer formation. Therefore, curcumin is an anticarcinogenic agent the action mechanism(s) as outlined above, due to inhibitory effects an arginase enzyme stimulatory effect on NO, as well as it suppressive effects on ornithine and polyamine levels. There is no study investigating the effects of curcumin on arginase enzyme activity which is reported to be associated with cancer and increased in cancer patients. In our study, interesting results were obtained in evaluating the effectiveness of time to start treatment of curcumin. Two different treatments were performed for this purpose. Although curcumin was administered to a group of animals (treatment group 1) before cancer cell injection, the second group (treatment group 2) was given curcumin after the cancer tissue was formed in the animal body. When these two groups were evaluated in terms of arginase enzyme activity, ornithine and NO levels; the

curcumin intake was found to be much more effective before the cancer cell was given in the body. For this reason, curcumin, which is already used as a spice, can be considered as a factor that prevents the formation of cancer with daily diets. Unfortunately, we could not determine NOS levels in this study, and that was one of our study's limitations. As a result, curcumin, which is shown as an anticarcinogenic agent, exhibits this effect by inhibiting serum and tissue arginase enzyme activity in breast cancer patients and shifting the pathway towards from NO formation. This positive effect of curcumin can be more clearly shown by the fact that it starts to take a long time before the formation of cancer. Curcumin, a promising agent in cancer treatment, should be supported by further studies and new parameters.

Ethics Committee Approval

Ethics committee approval was received for this study from the ethics committee of Trakya University Animal Ethics Committee.

Informed Consent: N/A.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Funding: The authors declared that this study has received financial support from Trakya University Research Project (TUBAP).

This study was published as a poster "**Possible Protective Role** of Curcumin in Breast Cancer" National Biochemistry Congress in 2009.

References

- Jemal A, Bray F, Center MM, Ferlay J, Ward E, Forman D. Global cancer statistics. Vol. 61, CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians. 2011; 69–90.
- Salimian Rizi B, Achreja A, Nagrath D. Nitric Oxide: The Forgotten Child of Tumor Metabolism. Vol. 3, Trends in Cancer. 2017.
- **3.** Erbas H, Aydogdu N, Usta U, Erten O. Protective role of carnitine in breast cancer via decreasing arginase activity and increasing nitric oxide. Cell Biol Int. 2007;31(11).
- Porembska Z, Luboiński G, Chrzanowska A, Mielczarek M, Magnuska J, Barańczyk-Kuźma A. Arginase in patients with breast cancer. Clin Chim Acta. 2003 Feb;328(1–2):105–11.
- Singh R, Pervin S, Karimi A, Cederbaum S, Chaudhuri G. Activity in human breast cancer cell lines: N(ω)-hydroxy-L-arginine selectively inhibits cell proliferation and induces apoptosis in MDA-MB-468 cells. Cancer Res. 2000;60(12):3305–12.
- **6.** Bansal V, Ochoa JB. Arginine availability, arginase, and the immune response. Vol. 6, Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition and Metabolic Care. 2003; 223–8.
- Efron DT, Barbul A. Arginine and nutrition in renal disease. Vol. 9, Journal of Renal Nutrition. 1999. p. 142–4.
- Porembska Z, Skwarek A, Mielczarek M, Barańczyk-Kuźma A. Serum arginase activity in postsurgical monitoring of patients with colorectal carcinoma. Cancer. 2002 Jun 1;94(11):2930–4.
- 9. Leu S -Y, Wang S -R. Clinical significance of arginase in

Kürkçü Kahraman et al. / J Exp https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/7539994/

colorectal cancer. Cancer. 1992;70(4):733-6.

- **10.** Štraus B, Čepelak I, Festa G. Arginase, a new marker of mammary carcinoma. Clin Chim Acta. 1992 Sep 15;210(1–2):5–12.
- Erbaş H, Bal O, Çakır E. Effect of rosuvastatin on arginase enzyme activity and polyamine production in experimental breast cancer. Balkan Med J. 2015;32(1):89–95.
- 12. Fukumura D, Kashiwagi S, Jain RK. The role of nitric oxide in tumour progression. Vol. 6, Nature Reviews Cancer. 2006; 521–34.
- Wang Y, Yu J, Cui R, Lin J, Ding X. Curcumin in Treating Breast Cancer: A Review. J Lab Autom. 2016;21(6):723–31.
- Banik U, Parasuraman S, Adhikary AK, Othman NH. Curcumin: The spicy modulator of breast carcinogenesis. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. 2017;36(1):1–16.
- **15.** Geyer JW, Dabich D. Rapid method for determination of arginase activity in tissue homogenates. Anal Biochem. 1971;39(2):412–7.
- **16.** Photometric estimation of proline and ornithine. [Internet]. [cited 2020 Jun 22]. Available from: https://www.cabdirect.org/cabdirect/abstract/1953140123
- Lowry Oh, Rosebrough Nj, Farr Al, Randall Rj. Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent. J Biol Chem. 1951 Nov;193(1):265–75.
- Munder M, Eichmann K, Morán JM, Centeno F, Soler G, Modolell M. Th1/Th2-regulated expression of arginase isoforms in murine macrophages and dendritic cells. J Immunol [Internet]. 1999;163(7):3771–7. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10490974
- **19.** Cortas NK, Wakid NW. Determination of inorganic nitrate in serum and urine by a kinetic cadmium-reduction method. Vol. 36, Clinical Chemistry. 1990. p. 1440–3.
- Griffith OW, Stuehr DJ. Nitric Oxide Synthases: Properties and Catalytic Mechanism. Annu Rev Physiol [Internet]. 1995 Oct [cited 2020 Jun 22];57(1):707–34. Available from:

- Hofseth LJ, Hussain SP, Wogan GN, Harris CC. Nitric oxide in cancer and chemoprevention. Vol. 34, Free Radical Biology and Medicine. 2003; 955–68.
- 22. Cui S, Reichner JS, Mateo RB, Albina JE. Activated Murine Macrophages Induce Apoptosis in Tumor Cells through Nitric Oxide-dependent or -independent Mechanisms. Cancer Res. 1994;54(9):2462–7.
- Bonavida B, Khineche S, Huerta-Yepez S, Garbán H. Therapeutic potential of nitric oxide in cancer. Drug Resist Updat. 2006 Jun;9(3):157–73.
- 24. Caldwell RW, Rodriguez PC, Toque HA, Priya Narayanan S, Caldwell RB. Arginase: A multifaceted enzyme important in health and disease [Internet]. Vol. 98, Physiological Reviews. American Physiological Society; 2018 [cited 2020 Jun 22]; 641–65. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29412048/
- 25. Lin JK, Lin-Shiau SY. Mechanisms of cancer chemoprevention by curcumin. Vol. 25, Proceedings of the National Science Council, Republic of China. Part B, Life sciences. 2001; 59–66.
- 26. Mokbel K, Mokbel K. Chemoprevention of Breast Cancer With Vitamins and Micronutrients: A Concise Review. In Vivo (Brooklyn). 2019;33(4):983–97.
- 27. Song X, Zhang M, Dai E, Luo Y. Molecular targets of curcumin in breast cancer (Review). Mol Med Rep. 2019;19(1):23–9.
- **28.** Tan BL, Norhaizan ME. Curcumin combination chemotherapy: The implication and efficacy in cancer. Molecules. 2019;24(14):1– 21.
- **29.** Kumari M, Purohit MP, Pahuja R, Patnaik S, Shukla Y, Kumar P, et al. Pro-inflammatory macrophage polarization enhances the anticancer efficacy of self-assembled galactomannan nanoparticles entrapped with hydrazinocurcumin. Vol. 9, Drug Delivery and Translational Research. 2019; 1159–88.



Research Article

icine



Effects of psychological predictors on hospital discharge duration after total knee arthroplasty

İnci Meltem ATAY¹ , Tolga ATAY², Recep DİNÇER^{2,*}

¹ Department of Psychiatry, Faculty of Medicine, Suleyman Demirel University, Isparta, Turkey ² Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Faculty of Medicine, Suleyman Demirel University, Isparta, Turkey

Received: 05.05.2021	•	Accepted/Published Online: 12.06.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022
		·····		

Abstract

This study aims to evaluate the effects of somatosensorial amplification, kinesiofobia, health anxiety and depression on hospital discharge durations after knee arthroplasty. 193 patients with total knee arthroplasty were included in the study. Patients were divided into two groups due to discharge durations. Group 1 included patients who were discharged in 1 to 4 days; Group 2 included patients who were discharged in 5 to 7 days. Functional outcome was measured with Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index (WOMAC). For psychiatric evalution; a Sociodemographic form, Somatosensory Amplification Scale, Health Anxiety Inventory, Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale and The Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia were used. There wasn't any significant difference in terms of WOMAC scores between Group 1 and 2 postoperatively. (Pain; p=0.666, Stiffness; p=0.349, Functionality; p= 0.145). There was a significant difference in terms of Health Anxiety Inventory and Somatosensorial Amplification scores between Group 1 and 2 (p=0.006; p=0.031). In correlation analysis Somatosensorial Amplification scores between Group 1 and 2 (p=0.001). In correlation analysis there was a positive correlation between Tampa kinesiaphobia score and hospital discharge durations. (r: 0.618; p: 0.000). Multiple regression analysis indicated that Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia were related with longer hospital discharge durations. Health anxiety, Somatosensory amplification and mostly Kinesiophobia were related with longer hospital discharge durations and mostly kinesiophobia were related with longer hospital discharge durations and mostly Kinesiophobia were related with longer hospitalization periods due to worse functional outcomes after total knee arthroplasty. Maladaptive psychological strategies about false bodily sensations lead a worse outcome for knee arthroplasty patients. Therapeutic programs aiming false cognitive factors would result with improved functional recovery.

Keywords: somatosensory amplification, kinesiophobia, health anxiety, total knee arthroplasty, WOMAC

1. Introduction

As the life expectancy of the population continues to rise, the frequency of operations such as knee arthroplasty is becoming more prevalent. When conservative management strategies fail and the quality of life continues to decline for patients, knee arthroplasty may be the surgical treatment of choice to decrease pain and joint destruction to improve quality of life (1, 2). It's known that over 2% of individuals in the United States were living with a total hip or total knee replacement in 2010 which corresponds to an estimated seven million people (3). Another study conducted in US in 2013, represented an increasing prevalence that 4.2 % of the population had total knee replacement in fifty years of age or older patients (4). Although there are not many studies about the prevalence of knee arthroplasty in our country, in a recent study Ceyhan et al. indicated that a total of 283,400 primary and 9900 revision knee arthroplasty operations were applied in Turkey between 2010 and 2014, and also showed an increase in prevalence of knee arthroplasties (5).

There are many factors about a better outcome of a knee artroplasty; like type of surgery, age, gender, body mass

comorbidities, duration of index. symptoms, home environment variables, baseline caregiver assistance, preoperative ambulation status; among those one of the most important predicting risk factor for worse outcome is shown as postsurgical pain and postoperative ambulation status (6, 7, 8). It has been shown that most patients have pain relief after approximately three months after total knee arthroplasty; but unfortunately despite surgical and radiological success, 8-34% patients still experience chronic postsurgical pain which effects patients' functional status and quality of life (9, 11). Also, pain after knee arthroplasty has been shown to be one of the most important predictive factor for prolonged use of opioids and postoperative dissatisfaction (11, 12).

Researchers have been suggested many preoperative and postoperative risk factors for postoperative pain in patients undergoing knee arthroplasty like genomics, functional status, clinical characteristics, medical comorbidities, socioeconomic status. But among all risk factors preoperative pain and psychological status especially anxiety, depression and pain catastrophizing were shown to have the strongest association with chronic postsurgical pain following total knee arthroplasty which cause delayed postoperative ambulation and complications (11, 13). In this context findings suggest that there may be differences in pain perception and somatization among patients. Previous studies showed a positive correlation between somatosensory amplification (SSA), pain perception and pain-related fear of movement called as Kinesiophobia (14, 17).

Somatosensory amplification is defined as the tendency to experience strong bodily sensations, to the extent that they become harmful and troublesome. In other words, SSA is a tendency to experience bodily sensations as intense, noxious and disturbing. There are many reports about SSA in terms of increased somatic symptoms in various medical conditions like rheumatoid arthritis, drug sensitivities, pseudocoronary symptoms of patients with normal coronary arteries and specifically reports mostly suggest that patients who have higher SSA scores are more vulnerable about higher pain perception (15, 18-22).

SSA is associated with a tendency to catastrophize bodily sensations that patients may have disease-avoidance behaviors such as delayed postoperative ambulation. We therefore carried out a longitudinal investigation and determined the knee arthroplasty patients for delayed postambulation in terms of psychological factors; depression and kinesiophobia, anxiety, SSA. It's hypothesized that patients' functional status and discharge from the hospital would relate to psychological factors, somatosensorial amplification, or kinesiophobia.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Subjects

The study was approved by the University Ethics Committee. All patients signed a written informed consent form. 193 patients with total knee arthroplasty who were operated between August 2018-August 2019 were included in the study. A total of 193 of the 212 patients were included in the study. The patients whose BMI were above 40, who had a chronic joint disease like rheumatoid arthritis, who were not able to answer the scale questions, who had secondary surgery and who had a serious psychiatric disease like dementia, delirium were excluded from the study. They were determined and operated by the same orthopedic surgeon and a psychiatrist before and after the surgery. Patients who had cognitive inability, diagnosis of another chronic disease that may impair joint functions were excluded from the study. Also patients with severe obesity (BMI>40kg/m²) were excluded. Patients were divided into two groups due to their discharge durations. Group 1 included patients who were discharged in 1 to 4 days; Group 2 included patients who were discharged in 5 to 7 days. Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index (WOMAC) was used to determine functional outcomes of patients postoperatively while discharge. A sociodemographic form including age, gender, body mass index (BMI) were applied to all participants. Patients were determined with Somatosensory Amplification Scale (SAS), Health Anxiety Inventory (Short Form) (HAI), The Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS) and The Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia (Tampa Scale) before the surgery.

2.2. Measures

Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index (WOMAC)

The WOMAC osteoarthritis index is a generalized scoring system for osteoarthritis, including three parts as pain, stiffness and functionality with a total score ranging from 0 to 96 (a low score indicates a better result) (23).

2.3. Somatosensory Amplification Scale (SAS)

The scale has 10 items describing the tendency to experience harmless bodily sensations as intense, noxious or disturbing. Participants rate each item on a 5-point likert type scale from 1 ("not at all") to 5 ("extremely"). A higher total score suggests greater symptom amplification with the scores ranging between 10 and 50. Turkish version of the scale was used to determine all patients (24, 25).

2.4. Health Anxiety Inventory (Short Form) (HAI)

The short form of Health Anxiety Inventory is a measure designed to assess the spectrum of health anxiety and to discriminate between individuals with exaggerated health anxiety from those without it, also in samples of somatically ill patients. This scale is comprised of 18 items highly correlated with the full scale (26, 27).

2.5. The Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS)

The Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS) which measures anxiety and depression in physically ill adults was used to determine all patients. The scale comprises 14 items, 7 items screen for anxiety, 7 for depression. Each item takes four possible response options [0-3] making the possible sum scores range from 0 to 21 for each of the subscales, HADS-A and HADS-D. Higher values indicate greater symptom severity. A score≥8, has been proposed for the identification of for both depression and anxiety. In accordance with the original HADS, we defined respondents with a score below 8 as "no cases/low", respondents with a score below 8 as "suspicious cases/moderate" and respondents with a score higher than 10 as "definite cases/high". Turkish version of the scale was used for all patients (28, 29).

2.6. The Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia (Tampa Scale)

The Tampa Scale is a 17-item questionnaire to determine fear of movement and re-injury due to movement and physical activity on a scale of 0-68, where 68 indicates greater fear of re-injury due to movement. Turkish validated version was used for all patients (30, 31).

2.7. Surgical method

Total knee arthroplasty was applied to all patients with midvastus approach under general or spinal anesthesia. Cemented prosthesis was used for all patients under tourniquet. All patients were given systematic prophylactic antibiotics and anticoagulants to decrease deep venous thrombosis risk after the surgery. Patients were given analgesics for 24-hours to control pain due to the same analgesic procedure.

2.8. Hospital Discharge Criteria's

The hospital discharge decision was due to the pain and knee flexion ROM. Patients whose pain is under 5 in the 10 –point visual analog scale and patients who can flex their knee to 90 degrees were discharged from the hospital. Also patients were able to walk with walkers and had no need any intravenous analgesics.

2.9. Statistical analysis

SPSS v.18 is used for statistical analysis. Kolmogorov-Smirnov test is used to determine whether the variables have normal distribution or not. Variables were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. Chi-square test was performed for qualitative variables. Continuous variables between two groups were compared with Independent-t test. Pearson correlation test is used to determine correlation between SAS, HAI, HADS, Tampa Scale and hospital discharge status in knee arthroplasty patients. Multiple linear regression analysis was used to determine independent associations between variables. The threshold of statistical significance was p<0.05.

3. Results

A total of 193 patients were included in the study. Sociodemographic variables were shown on Table 1. A total of 145 (57.1%) female patients and 48 (18.9%) male patients participated in the study. The mean age of the participants was 66.97 ± 7.41 . The mean body mass index (BMI) score was 28.29 ± 3.69 . There were no significant difference between Group 1 and Group 2 in terms of age, gender and BMI (Table 1). In terms of WOMAC scores, there wasn't any significant difference in discharge durations postoperatively for pain, stiffness and functionality (p=0.666; p=0.349; p= 0.145)

3.1. Comparison of HAI and HADS scores

The mean HAI score in female was 21.30 ± 6.97 , the mean HAI score in male was 21.30 ± 6.97 (p=0.865). In correlation analysis, age was not correlated with HAI scores (p=0.530). The mean HAI score for Group 1 was 20.72 ± 6.91 ; the mean score for Group 2 was 24.84 ± 6.90 . There was a significant difference in terms of HAI scores between Group 1 and Group 2 (p=0.006). In correlation analysis HAI scores were positively correlated with hospital discharge durations (r: 0.197; p: 0.006).

The mean HADS anxiety scale score in female was 8.88 ± 4.56 , the mean hospital anxiety score in male was 7.81 ± 4.22 (p=0.153). In correlation analysis, there wasn't any correlation between age and HAI scores (r: 0.016; p=0.822). The mean HADS anxiety scale score in Group 1 was 8.45 ± 4.01 ; the mean HADS anxiety scale score in Group 2 was 9.68 ± 6.95 There wasn't any significant difference in

terms of HADS anxiety scores between Group 1 and Group 2 (p=0.205). The patients whose HADS anxiety scale scores were above 8 were determined as anxiety, that 79(47.02%) patients in Group 1 and 17 (68%) in Group 2 had anxiety diagnosis (p=0.050).

The mean HADS depression scale score in female was 8.67 ± 2.90 , the mean hospital depression score in male was 8.72 ± 2.76 (p=0.902). In correlation analysis, age was not correlated with HADS depression scale scores (r: 0.006; p=0.931). The mean HADS depression scale score in Group 1 was 8.98 ± 2.76 ; the mean HADS anxiety scale score was 8.88 ± 2.26 . There wasn't any significant difference in terms of HADS depression scores between Group 1 and Group 2 (p=0.852). The patients whose HADS depression scale scores were above 8 were determined as depression, that 92(54.76%) patients in Group 1 and 9 (36%) in Group 2 had depression diagnosis (p=0.080).

	Group 1 (N=168) Mean±SD	Group 2 (N=25) Mean±SD	р
Age (years)	66.95±7.38	67.16±7.77	0.893*
Gender (F/M)	130/38	15/10	0.061**
BMI (kg/m ²)	28.27±3.65	28.39±4.08	0.873*

|--|

*Independent sample *t* test ** Chi-square test SD: Standard deviation BMI: Body Mass Index

3.2. Comparison of Somatosensory Amplification Scale (SAS) and The Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia (TSK) scores

The mean SAS score in female was 32.54 ± 8.92 , the mean SAS score in male was 31.71 ± 9.07 (p=0.579). In correlation analysis, there wasn't any correlation between age and SAS scores (r: 0.061; p=0.400). The mean SAS score in Group 1 was 31.80 ± 9.08 ; the mean SAS score in Group 2 was 9.68 ± 6.95 . There was a significant difference in terms of SAS scores between Group 1 and Group 2 (p=0.031). In correlation analysis SA score was positively correlated with hospital discharge duration times (r: 0.155, p: 0.031).

The mean Tampa scale score in female was 41.06 ± 7.00 , the mean Tampa scale score in male was 41.50 ± 5.16 (p=0.646). In correlation analysis, there wasn't any correlation between age and Tampa scale scores (p=0.539). The mean Tampa scale score in Group 1 was 40.04 ± 4.72 ; the mean SAS score in Group 2 was 50.44 ± 1.76 . There was a significant difference in terms of Tampa scale scores between Group 1 and Group 2 (p<0.001). In correlation analysis there was a positive correlation between Tampa scale score and hospital discharge durations (r: 0.618; p: 0.000).

3.3. Correlation analysis of SAS, TSK, HAI and HADS anxiety

Correlation analyses of all scales are shown in Table 2. According to the analysis all scales are positively correlated with each other and the strongest relation was between TSK and HAI scores (Table 2).

Table 2.	Correlation	coefficients	between	SAS,	TSK,	HAI	and
HADS and	xiety scores						

	SAS (r-value)	TSK (r-value)	HADS-Anxiety (r-value)
HAI	*0.496	*0.531	*0.507
SAS	-	*0.348	*0.453
TSK	*0.348	-	*0.323

3.4. Multiple linear regression analysis of variables

Heath anxiety, SAS and Tampa Scale scores, which were statistically correlated to hospital discharge durations mentioned as Group 1 and Group 2 were considered to multiple regression analysis. Multiple regression analysis indicated that Tampa Scale of Kinesisophobia was the major predictive factor for hospital discharge durations (Table 3).

Table 3.Multiple lineer regression analyses associated with Hospital discharge duration in knee arthroplasty patients

Independent variables	Standard regression coefficients (ß)
	Hospital Discharge
	Duration
HAI	0.013
SAS	0.049*
Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia	0.176*

R² (Multiple coefficient of 0.611 determination) * p<0.001

4. Discussion

The main findings of this study was higher health anxiety, somatosensory amplification and kinesiophobia scores were correlated with longer hospital discharge durations independent of age, gender and BMI in knee arthroplasty patients.

First of all, we determined both health anxiety, and general anxiety in both groups and found higher anxiety scores in patients those have longer hospital durations. Health anxiety is defined to discriminate individuals with exaggerated health concerns from those without it. In our study patients who had longer hospital durations were found as more concerned about their health and disabilities. Although most of the studies determining anxiety levels and clinical outcomes in knee arthroplasty patients mention that higher anxiety levels are related with worse clinical outcomes, to our knowledge our study was the first investigating both anxiety and health concerns in knee arthroplasty patients using health anxiety inventory (32, 33). In literature, health anxiety is mostly found related with chronic pain that our study findings about longer discharge durations might be due to heath anxiety and prolonged pain (34-36). Also anxiety was found associated with a negative effect on muscle tone causing a reduced local blood flow due to hyperplasia of sympathetic ganglia, which results with symptom increases (37). In a study conducted in Turkey revealed better functional outcomes and less analgesic use with an anxiolytic agent Alprazolam after total knee arthroplasty (38). Alattas et al mentioned that greater preoperative anxiety, pain and poorer function predict a worse outcome of a total knee arthroplasty consistent with our findings (32).

In our study, we suggested that somatosensory amplification (SSA) may explain inter-individual differences for functional outcomes and effects to discharge durations in knee arthroplasty patients (39). SSA is defined as a tendency to experience bodily sensations as disturbing and SSA is found associated with increased somatic sensations which was defined before in various medical conditions (22). In non-psychiatric patients it was hypothesized that SSA could explain inter-individual differences in symptom reporting. And although the exact mechanisms and determinants of SSA are still unknown, Nakao et al. reported a significant relationship between the event-related potentials (P300) amplitude and SSA which may cause 'hypervigilance' to body sensations (39). Higher levels of SSA are assumed to turn body sensations into symptoms and increase the severity of already body sensations into symptoms (41). In literature, chronic pain and lower back pain was found associated with higher SSA (42, 43). In our study, we firstly reported the negative effects of higher SSA in knee arthroplasty patients consistent with previous findings.

Kinesiophobia was another important term investigated in our study. We found that kinesiophobia was the most significant factor for prolonged hospital discharge durations. Kinesiophobia is defined with fear avoidance model. In fear avoidance model, patients feel pain as harmful (pain catastrophizing) leading an avoidance of movement or touch. According to fear-avoidance model kinesiophobia can be a risk factor for persistent pain and disability (44). If patients don't have kinesiophobia they are more likely to confront daily activities resulting with fast recovery. In a study conducted with 89 total knee artroplasty patients, authors reported that during six-minute walk test, patients without kinesiophobia walked significantly farther than patients with kinesiophobia and consistent with our findings the effect of kinesiophobia on functional results was independent of age, gender and BMI (45). But Monticone et al. didn't find any difference for knee flexion ROM of knee arthroplasty in terms of kinesiophobia (45). However, in another study conducted in Turkey reported that, in early functioning, higher kinesiophobia levels were related with lower flexion of knee after total knee arthroplasties as indicated in our study (46). Also Brown et al. found a negative correlation between kinesiophobia levels and knee flexion ROM in total knee arthroplasty patients (47).

Another important point of our study was all psychological parameters were interacting with each other positively. In other words health anxiety and somatosensory amplification was increasing kinesiophobia mutually. Maladaptive psychological, behavioral and cognitive strategies like health anxiety were increasing kinesiophobia. It's known that somatosensorial amplification may be reduced with psychoeducational programs by applying techniques that aim to prevent catastrophic thoughts about bodily sensations (37). Hence, such techniques including therapies or agents to reduce anxiety and also cognitive restructuring for somatosensoriel amplification would lower kinesiophobia resulting with a better outcome for total knee arthroplasty patients in early functioning.

The main limitation of our study was the short follow up that makes it difficult for us to comment on long-term results. Also the psychological measures were self-report questionnaires. Furthermore this study didn't include obese patients that may change the outcomes.

In conclusion we found health anxiety, somatosensory amplification and mostly kinesiophobia were related with longer hospital discharge periods due to worse functional outcomes after total knee arthroplasty in early periods. The strength of our study was we evaluated health anxiety and somatosensory amplification function with the relation of kinesiophobia for the first time in literature. We highlight that maladaptive psychological strategies about false bodily sensations lead a worse outcome for knee arthroplasty patients. Total knee arthroplasty in patients is particularly challenging for orthopedic surgeons and requires close interdisciplinary cooperation. We suggest therapeutic programs aiming false cognitive factors that contribute to activity avoidance would result with improved functional recovery after total knee arthroplasty.

Conflict of interest

The authors have no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. Masaracchio M, Hanney WJ, Liu X, Kolber M, Kirker K. Timing of rehabilitation on length of stay and cost in patients with hip or knee joint arthroplasty: A systematic review with meta-analysis. PLoS One 2017;12(6): e0178295.
- Dailiana ZH, Papakostidou I, Varitimidis S, Liaropoulos L, Zintzaras E, Karachalios T, et al. Patient reported quality of life after primary major joint arthroplasty: a prospective comparison of hip and knee arthroplasty. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2015; 16:366.
- **3.** Kremers HM, Larson DR, Crowson CS, Kremers WK, Washington RE, Steiner CA, et al. Prevalence of Total Hip and Knee Replacement in the United States. Bone Joint Surg Am 2015;97: 1386-97.
- **4.** Weinstein AM, Rome BN, Reichmann WM, Collins JE, Burbine SA, Thornhill TS, et al. Estimating the burden of total knee replacement in the United States. Bone Joint Surg Am. 2013 Mar 6;95(5): 385-92.
- Ceyhan E, Gursoy S, Akkaya M, Ugurlu M, Koksal I, Bozkurt M. Toward the Turkish National Registry System: A Prevalence Study of Total Knee Arthroplasty in Turkey. The Journal of Arthroplasty 2016;31: 1878-84.
- Barsoum WK, Murray TG, Klika AK, Green K, Miniaci SL, Wells BJ. Predicting patient discharge disposition after total joint arthroplasty in the United States. J Arthroplasty 2010;25: 885– 92.
- 7. Konopka JF, Hansen VJ, Rubash HE, Freiberg AA. Risk

Assessmen t Tools Used to Predict Outcomes of Total Hip and Total Knee Arthroplasty. Orthop Clin N Am 2015;46: 351–62.

- Bugada D, Allegri M, Gemma M, Ambrosoli AL, Gazzerro G, Chiumiento F, et al. Effects of anaesthesia and analgesia on longterm outcome after total knee replacement: A prospective, observational, multicentre study. Eur J Anaesthesiol 2017;34(10): 665-72.
- **9.** Beswick AD, Wylde V, Gooberman-Hill R, Blom A, Dieppe P. What proportion of patients report long-term pain after total hip or knee replacement for osteoarthritis? A systematic review of prospective studies in unselected patients. BMJ Open 2012;2: e000435.
- **10.** Liu SS, Buvanendran A, Rathmell JP, Sawhney M, Bae JJ, Moric M, et al. A cross-sectional survey on prevalence and risk factors for persistent postsurgical pain 1 year after total hip and knee replacement. Reg Anesth Pain Med 2012;37: 415-22.
- Kim DH, Pearson-Chauhan KM, McCarthy RJ, Buvanendran A. Predictive Factors for Developing Chronic Pain After Total Knee Arthroplasty. The Journal of Arthroplasty 2018;33: 3372-8.
- 12. Franklin PD, Karbassi JA, Li W, Yang W, Ayers DC. Reduction in narcotic use after primary total knee arthroplasty and association with patient pain relief and satisfaction. J Arthroplasty 2010;25: 12e6.
- **13.** Pinto PR, McIntyre T, Ferrero R, Almeida A, Araújo-Soares V. Risk factors for moderate and severe persistent pain in patients undergoing total knee and hip arthroplasty: a prospective predictive study. PLoS One 2013;8: e73917.
- 14. Köteles F, Simor P. Modern Health Worries, Somatosensory Amplification and Subjective Symptoms: A Longitudinal Study Int J Behav Med 2013;20: 38–41.
- **15.** Barsky AJ, Orav EJ, Ahern DK, Rogers MP, Gruen SD, Liang MH. Somatic style and symptom reporting in rheumatoid arthritis. Psychosomatics 1999;40: 396–403.
- 16. Ak I, Sayar K, Yontem T. Alexithymia, somatosensory amplification and counterdependency in patients with chronic pain. The Pain Clinic. 2004;16: 43–51.
- **17.** Güney-Deniz H, Kınıklı GI, Caglar O, Atilla B, Yuksel I. Does kinesiophobia affect the early functional outcomes following total knee arthroplasty? Physiotherapy Theory and Practice 2017;33: 448–53.
- **18.** Barsky AJ, Goodson JC, Lane RS, Cleary PD. The amplification of somatic symptoms. Psychosom Med 1988;50(5): 510–9.
- 19. Doering BK, Szécsi J, Bárdos G, Köteles F. Somatosensory Amplification Is a Predictor of Self-Reported Side Effects in the Treatment of Primary Hypertension: a Pilot Study. Int J Behav Med 2016;23: 327–32.
- **20.** Korkmaz H, Korkmaz S, Yildiz S, Gundogan B, Murad Atmaca M. Determination of health anxiety, anxiety, and somatosensory amplification levels in individuals with normal coronary angiography. Psychiatry Research 2017;252: 114–7.
- **21.** Le Borgne M, Boudoukha AH, Petit A, Roquelaure Y. Chronic low back pain and the transdiagnostic process: How do cognitive and emotional dysregulations contribute to the intensity of risk factors and pain? Scand J Pain 2017;17(1): 309-15.
- **22.** Köteles F, Doering BK. The many faces of somatosensory amplification: the relative contribution of body awareness, symptom labeling, and anxiety. J Health Psychol 2016;21(12): 2903-11.
- **23.** Bellamy N, Buchanan WW, Goldsmith CH, Campbell J, Stitt LW. Validation study of WOMAC: a health status instrument for measuring clinically important patient relevant outcomes to

antirheumatic drug therapy in patients with osteoarthritis of the hip or knee. J Rheumatol 1988;15: 1833–40

- 24. Barsky A, Wyshak G, Klerman G. The somatosensory amplification scale and its relationship to hypochondriasis. J Psychiatr Res 1990;24: 323–34.
- **25.** Gulec H, Sayar K, Gulec MY. Bedensel Duyumları Abartma Olcegi Turkce Formunun Gecerlik ve Guvenirligi. Dusunen Adam 2007;20(1): 16-24.
- 26. Salkovskis PM, Rimes KA, Warwick HM, Clark DM. The health anxiety inventory: development and validation of scales for the measurementof health anxiety and hypochondriasis. Psychological Medicine 2002;32: 843–85.
- Aydemir O, Kirpinar I, Sati T, Uykur B, Cengisiz C. Archives of Neuropsychiatry 2013;50(4): 325-31.
- **28.** Zigmond AS, Snaith RP. The hospital anxiety and depression scale. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica 1983;67: 361–70.
- 29. Aydemir O, Guvenir T, Kuey L, Kultur S. Hastane Anksiyete Depresyon Ölçeği Türkçe Formunun geçerliliği ve güvenilirliği. Türk Psikiyatri Derg 1987;8: 280-7.
- **30.** French DJ, France CR, Vigneau F, French JA, Evans RT. Fear of movement/(re)injury in chronic pain: A psychometric assessment of the original English version of the Tampa scale for kinesiophobia (TSK). Pain 2007;127(1-2): 42-51.
- **31.** Yilmaz OT, Yakut Y, Uygur F, Ulug N. (2011). Tampa Kinezyofobi Ölçeği'nin Türkçe versiyonu ve test-tekrar test güvenirliği. Fizyoter Rehabil 2011;22(1): 44-9.
- **32.** Alattas SA, Smith T, Bhatti M, Wilson-Nunn D, Donell S. Greater pre-operative anxiety, pain and poorer function predict a worse outcome of a total knee arthroplasty. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 2017; 25: 3403-10.
- 33. Hanusch BC, O'Connor DB, Ions P, Scott A, Gregg PJ. Effects of psychological distress and perceptions of illness on recovery from total knee replacement. Bone Joint J 2014;96-(2): 210-6.
- **34.** Aksoy MS, Bozkurt M, Sayıt E, Unlu S, Karadag H. Does spinal anesthesia increase the pain and anxiety after total knee arthroplasty? A randomized prospective study. Joint Dis Rel Surgery 2013;24(1): 30-2.
- **35.** Tang NK, Wright KJ, Salkovskis PM. Prevalence and correlates of clinical insomnia co-occurring with chronic back pain. J Sleep Res 2007; 16: 85-95.
- **36.** Ucar M, Sarp U, Karaaslan O, Gul AI, Tanik N, Arik HO. Health anxiety and depression in patients with fibromyalgia syndrome.

Journal of International Medical Research 2015; 43(5): 679-85.

- **37.** Seto H, Nakao M. Relationships between catastrophic thought, bodily sensations and physical symptoms. BioPsychoSocial Medicine 2017; 11: 28.
- 38. Yılmaz B, Komur B, Aktas E, Sonnur Yılmaz F, Copuroglu C, Ozcan M, Cıftdemir M, Copuroğlu. Impact of Alprazolam on Comorbid Pain and Knee Functions in Total Knee Arthroplasty Patients Diagnosed with Anxiety and Depression. Open Orthop J 2015;23(9): 530-5.
- **39.** Nakao M, Barsky AJ. Clinical application of somatosensory amplification in psychosomatic medicine. BioPsychoSocial Medicine 2007;1(17): 1–7.
- 40. Nakao M, Barsky AJ, Nishikitani M, Yano E, Murata K. Somatosensory amplification and its relationship to somatosensory, auditory and visual evoked and event-related potentials (P300). Neuroscience Letters 2007;415(2): 185–9.
- **41.** Köteles F, Witthöft M. Somatosensory amplification An old construct from a new perspective Journal of Psychosomatic Research 2017;101: 1–9.
- **42.** Kosturek A, Gregory RJ, Sousou AJ, Trief P. Alexithymia and somatic amplification in chronic pain. Psychosomatics 1998;39(5): 399-404.
- **43.** Hagiwara Y, Yabe Y, Yamada H, Watanabe T, Kanazawa K, Koide M, et al. Effects of a wearable type lumbosacral support for low back pain among hospital workers: A randomized controlled trial. J Occup Health. 2017;28;59(2): 201-9.
- **44.** Vlaeyen JW, Linton SJ. Fear- avoidance and its consequences in chronic musculoskeletal pain: a state of the art. Pain 2000; 85: 317-32.
- **45.** Panchout FD, Metivier JC, Fouquet B. Kinesiophobia negatively influences recovery of joint function following total knee arthroplasty Eur J Phys Rehabil Med 2015; 51: 1561.
- **46.** Monticone M, Ferrante S, Rocca B, Salvaderi S, Fiorentini R, Restelli M, et al. Home-based functional exercises aimed at managing kinesiophobia contribute to improving disability and quality of life of patients undergoing total knee arthroplasty: A randomized controlled trial. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation 2013;94: 231–9.
- **47.** Brown ML, Plate JF, Von Thaer S, Fino NF, Smith BP, Seyler TM, Lang JE. Decreased range of motion after total knee arthroplasty is predicted by the Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia. Journal of Arthroplasty 2015;31: 793–7.



Research Article



J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 47-50 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.10

The relationship between disease severity and GDF-15 in individuals diagnosed with obstructive sleep apnea syndrome

Yalcin BODUROGLU^{1,*} ⁽⁰⁾, Duygu ZORLU KARAYIGIT² ⁽⁰⁾, Bilal ILANBEY³ ⁽⁰⁾, Arzu ERTURK² ⁽⁰⁾

¹Clinic of Cardiology, Kirsehir Education and Research Hospital, Kirsehir, Turkey
²Department of Pulmonology, Faculty of Medicine, Ahi Evran University, Kirsehir, Turkey
³Clinic of Biochemistry, Faculty of Medicine, Ahi Evran University, Kirsehir, Turkey

Received: 12.05.2021	٠	Accepted/Published Online: 21.06.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022

Abstract

Obstructive sleep apnea syndrome (OSAS) is characterized with interruption of sleep with apnea attacks and is associated with various diseases such as metabolic syndrome. GDF-15 (Growth differentiation factor 15) is a cytokine belonging to the transforming growth factor – β superfamily and it has been found to be associated with chronic heart failure, acute pulmonary embolism, and acute attacks of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). It was aimed to evaluate the relationship between disease severity and mean GDF-15 in patients diagnosed with OSAS. Our study was carried out with 75 patients with OSAS. GDF-15 levels were checked by in the morning fasting blood test. Among the 75 patients, 27 constituted the mild, 22 constituted the moderate and 26 constituted the severe OSAS groups. The mean ages of the patients were not significantly different between groups (53.17±10, 54.61±10.2 and 53.5±11.6 respectively; p>0,05). GDF-15 levels were not significantly different between groups separately (p>0.05). There was only a weak positive relationship between GDF-15 and NREM and REM (p<0.05). In our study, it was revealed that there was no significant relationship between the OSAS severity groups and GDF-15. Our determination of a positive relationship with NREM and REM may have been related to reduction of minute ventilation experienced in OSAS-diagnosed patients, tachycardic fluctuations, their more severe nature and increased right ventricular pressure. Consequently, our current knowledge indicates that GDF-15 is not much guiding in the prediction and monitoring of OSAS severity.

Keywords: sleep apnea syndrome, OSAS, GDF-15, REM, NREM, apnea

1. Introduction

Obstructive sleep apnea syndrome (OSAS) is a syndrome characterized by recurrent partial or complete upper obstructions respiratory airway ending in hypoxia/reoxygenation and arousals during sleep (1). While its etiology and pathophysiological mechanisms have not been completely understood, it is a complex, polygenic, and multifactorial disease accompanied by some predisposing factors such as age, sex, obesity, anatomic and mechanical factors and neuromuscular function (2, 3). OSAS may lead to some complications such as cardiovascular complications, malignancy and diabetes while studies have shown that these complications may be associated with endothelial dysfunction, excess oxidative stress, increased systemic inflammation and sympathetic stimulation (4-7). GDF-15 (Growth differentiation factor 15) is a cytokine belonging to the transforming growth factor $-\beta$ superfamily, and it plays a role in cellular growth and differentiation. It has been found to be associated with acute coronary syndrome, chronic heart failure, acute pulmonary embolism, idiopathic pulmonary hypertension and acute attacks of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) (7-9). A study where OSAS patients were compared to a control group did not find a

GDF-related difference. However, in the study, the OSAS group was assessed without separation into sub-groups based on severity (mild-moderate-severe) (10).

In difference to previous studies on this topic, in this study, it was aimed to assess the relationship between disease severity and mean GDF-15 in patients diagnosed with OSAS.

2. Materials and Methods

The ethics board approval for the study was obtained from the Kirsehir Ahi Evran University Faculty of Medicine Clinical Studies Ethics Board with the Decision No:2020-02/11 with date of 11-02-2020. Written consent was obtained from the patients who volunteered to participate in the study. The costs of the kits that were used in the study were covered by the researchers.

2.1. Population

Our study was carried out with 75 patients who visited the Pulmonology and Cardiology clinic of our hospital, prediagnosed with OSAS, were of the ages of 18-80, had newly diagnosed OSAS and not started positive airway pressure (PAP) treatment. Patients with a diagnosis of central type sleep apnea, neurological diseases such as history of cerebrovascular disease and recent head trauma and those who had cardiovascular diseases that could lead to increased GDF-15, diagnoses like heart failure, acute coronary syndrome or history of idiopathic pulmonary hypertension were excluded from the study. The included patients did not have a history of any medication usage. The patients meeting the exclusion and inclusion criteria and volunteering to participate were hosted at the sleep clinic for a night for polysomnography (PSG), and after fasting overnight, their venous blood samples were taken into plain and K2EDTAcontaining tubes. The blood samples were transferred to the biochemistry laboratory without waiting. The samples that were taken into plain tubes were centrifuged at 1500g for 10 minutes after waiting for them to coagulate. From a part of the serum that formed, routine biochemical parameters were studies by standard methods by using a Cobas 8000 (Roche Diagnostics®, Germany) autoanalyzer. The remaining serum was kept at -80 °C until the time it would be studied for GDF-15 levels. Serum GDF-15 was measured with the ELISA method by using a commercial kit (www.relassay.com, Gaziantep, Turkey). Validation of performance parameters of ELISA kits as were:

- 1) Within-batch difference: CV<10%,
- 2) Batch-batch difference: CV<12%,
- 3) Sensitivity: 5.09 ng/L,
- 4) Period of validity: Twelve months.

In the blood samples taken into K2EDTA tubes, complete blood count tests were carried out with a Sysmex XN-1000 (Sysmex Corporation, Kobe, Japan) automated blood count device.

2.2. Polysomnography (PSG)

The diagnosis of OSAS is made by polysomnography (PSG). In the examination that was made for an entire night, using a Philips Respironics Polysomnography device (1001 Murry Ridge Lane Murrysville, PA 15668 USA Respironics Gewerbestrasse 82211 Deutschland 17 Herrsching, Germany), four-channel electroencephalogram (EEG) and two-channel electrooculography (EOG), submental electromyography (EMG), pulse-oximetry, thoracic and abdominal movements, electrocardiogram (ECG), tracheal sounds and oronasal air flow were recorded. In PSG, measurements of respiratory decrease (H=hypopnea) and complete stoppage of respiration (A=apnea) are made, and the hourly Apnea (A)- Hypopnea (H) counts (I=index) are determining. OSAS diagnosis is made as AHI: (apneahypopnea index): 5-15/hour: Mild; AHI: 16-30: Moderate, and AHI: > 30: Severe OSAS. A stoppage of air flow for more than 10 seconds was defined as apnea, and a reduction of 4% in oxygen saturation and a >30% reduction in air flow for more than 10 seconds were defined as hypopnea. For OSAS severity, based on the apnea and hypopnea counts per hour determined during sleep, the apnea-hypopnea index

2.3. Reproducibility and validation

same doctor and on the same day.

To calculate the intraobserver and interobserver coefficients of variation for measurements of PSG recording and GDF-15 results, 20 random selected patients among severe group were assessed by repeating the measurements under the same baseline conditions. To test the interobserver variability, we performed the measurements offline from video recordings by a second observer. The intraobserver and interobserver coefficients of variation for PSG and HGI measurements were found to be <5% and nonsignificant.

(AHI) was calculated. All patients were grouped based on

their AHI scores as mild (AHI: 5-15), moderate (AHI: 15-30)

2.4. Statistical analysis

This study aimed to test the relationships of the AHI group variable with other variables. Considering the observation numbers based on groups, parametric and non-parametric hypothesis tests were applied for tests towards quantitative data. For comparison of quantitative medical parameters among the AHI groups, ANOVA and Kruskal Wallis tests were applied based on the suitability of the data for normal distribution. Shapiro-Wilk test was used to test normal distribution. For the categorical data, to test the relationships between the AHI groups based on sexes, chi-squared test was used. The findings of the statistical analyses were obtained by using the IBM SPSS 20 package software. Values of p<0.05 was accepted as statistically significant.

Table 1. Comparison of the GDF-15 values of the AHI ratio index groups

	AHI	ratio index group	S	
Variables	5-15 Mild OSAS	16-30 Moderate OSAS	>30 Severe OSAS	p¥
Age	53.62± 10.01	54.93± 9.63	54.48± 11.05	0.231
GDF-15	389.84± 147.54	506.48± 239.23	429.76± 175.39	0.350

^{¥:} Kruskal Wallis Test. GDF-15 levels were not found to be different between groups

3. Results

The study included 75 patients satisfying the inclusion criteria. Among these, 27 constituted the mild, 22 constituted the moderate, 26 constituted the severe OSAS groups.

The mean ages of the patients who were included in the study based on the mild, moderate and severe groups were respectively 53.17 ± 10 , 54.61 ± 10.2 and 53.5 ± 11.6 , while there was no statistically significant age difference among the groups. Again, respectively 25%, 36.4% and 40.9% were male, 75%, 63.6% and 59.1% were female.

According to the age and GDF-15 mean comparisons of the AHI ratio index groups, there was no significant difference in these variables (p>0.05). The relationships of

GDF-15 with several parameters that are shown in Table 2 were assessed, and only a weak positive relationship was found between GFT-15 and the parameters of NREM and REM (p<0.05). GDF-15 also did not have a significant relationship with the inflammation markers of C-reactive protein (CRP) and platelet counts.

Table 2.	Correlations	between	GDF-15	and other	parameters
----------	--------------	---------	--------	-----------	------------

	GDI	7-15
Parameters	r	ρβ
Age	0.038	0.760
Height-meter	0.072	0.554
Hba1c (%)	0.102	0.402
Hgb (g/dL)	-0.156	0.201
Glucose	0.027	0.827
Platelet $(10^3/\text{mm}^3)$	0.073	0.549
Monocyte (%)	0.008	0.945
Eosinophil (%)	-0.055	0.654
Basophil (%)	-0.021	0.863
MVC (µm3)	0.040	0.742
MCH (pg)	-0.057	0.642
MCHC (g/dL)	-0.217	0.073
RDW (%)	-0.109	0.372
MPW (μ m ³)	0.110	0.369
CRP (mg/dL)	-0.003	0.983
Creatinine (mg/dL)	0.099	0.416
Total-Cholesterol (mg/dL)	0.074	0.556
LDL-Cholesterol (mg/dL)	-0.035	0.783
HDL-Cholesterol (mg/dL)	0.128	0.306
Triglyceride (mg/dL)	-0.077	0.553
Total Sleep Duration (minute)	0.056	0.648
Activity/Sleep	-0.042	0.732
Apnea-count	-0.022	0.860
Hypopnea-count	0.029	0.812
Apnea + Hypopnea Total count	0.005	0.967
Central apnea-count	0.005	0.971
Obstructive apnea-count	-0.048	0.693
Mixed apnea-count	0.025	0.840
NONREM/ratio	0.267	0.027 β
Non-REM-Stage-1-ratio	-0.161	0.187
Non-REM-Stage-2-ratio	0.122	0.318
Non-REM-Stage-3-ratio	-0.075	0.543
REM-ratio	0.270	0.025 β
NONREM-AHI	0.092	0.454
REM-AHI	0.073	0.549
Apnea-index	-0.055	0.655
Hypopnea-index	0.010	0.938
Left-side-AHI	0.003	0.983
Supine-AHI	0.052	0.670
Right-Side-AHI	-0.046	0.707
Left-Side-Sleep-Duration	0.078	0.534
Left-Side-Deep-Sleep-Duration	-0.007	0.956
Supine-Sleep-Duration	0.086	0.483
Supine-Total- Sleep-Duration	0.036	0.768

 β : Spearman Correlation Analysis. Only Non-REM and REM-ration were found to be correlated with GDF-15 level but weakly. AHI: Apnea-hypopnea index, REM: Rapid Eye Movement

4. Discussion

In our results, interestingly, it was revealed that there is no significant relationship between OSAS severities and GDF-15. However, studies on GDF-15 have found it associated with many chronic diseases (8-14). Studies have more clearly demonstrated the relationship between cardiac pathologies and GDF-15 (5,12). In other diseases whose relationship to

GDF-15 has been more clearly demonstrated especially such as cardiac pathologies, the severity of inflammation might also have affected this situation. More importantly, it is seen that the cardio-specificity of GDF-15 (myocardial, endocardial or pericardial specificity) is strong. We would expect OSAS to have varying rates of significant relationships with GDF-15 based on not only its primary etiopathogenic mechanism but also its accompanying comorbid chronic diseases and the levels and severities of this disease. However, this result of ours showed that there are unknowns in terms of GDF-15 cytokine pathways, effect mechanism and receptor activation-specificity.

As previous studies have found its relationship to many chronic diseases, while planning our study, we also thought that it could be a practical marker regarding its relationship to OSAS severity, therefore, disease severity projection and monitoring (especially in cardiac disease projection). The fact that our results did not constitute significance among the groups showed that, before studies with GDF-15 on chronic diseases, it is needed to follow up on new developments regarding GDF-15. With our current knowledge, it is seen that GDF-15 is not very useful in estimation and monitoring of OSAS severity.

GDF-15 serves as a cardiokine inducible with stress which provides protection against pathological myocardial reshaping as a response to a pressure or volume overload (12). It is known that the circulation levels of GDF-15 are high in acute pulmonary embolism patients and GDF-15 may respond to RV overload in those with idiopathic pulmonary hypertension (13-14). In order to more clearly demonstrate the relationship between GDF-15 and OSAS, we did not include individuals with coronary artery disease in our study. As we excluded the situation of OSAS and myocardial effect this way, in our study, we showed that there is no significant relationship between GDF-15 and isolated OSAS.

In our study, weak positive relationships were found between GDF-15 and the parameters of NREM and REM.

As known, sleep consists of two stages, it starts with NREM and then transitions to the REM stage. The NREM stage also has sub-stages as 1, 2 and 3. The EEG wave frequency decreases, and wavelength increases. The reason for this is increased synchronization. Falling asleep starts with the 1(N1) stage, transition occurs respectively to 2 and 3 (N2, N3), and sleep deepens (15).

It was reported that the minute ventilation at each stage of sleep decreases by 1.6 liters. As the metabolism decreases in sleep, oxygen consumption and carbon dioxide production also decrease. As the decrease in minute ventilation is more effective, the partial carbon dioxide pressure in arterial blood increases, and the partial oxygen pressure and oxygen saturation decrease. The ventilation response to hypercapnia decreases by 20-50% in NREM and even more in REM. It is thought that this decrease has two reasons. These are a reduction of working medullary respiration neurons in relation to the decrease in the central chemoreceptor sensitivity and an increase in the upper respiratory airway resistance. The lower response in REM sleep was attributed to increased brain blood flow during REM (16).

In sleep, the heart rate changes in relation to sympathetic and parasympathetic system effect changes. The parasympathetic effect is dominant at the NREM stage and bradycardic. Bradycardia also continues at the REM stage, but there are occasional bradycardic and tachycardic fluctuations based on sympathetic activity (17).

Based on these data, we believe our determination of a positive relationship with NREM and REM may have been related to reduction of minute ventilation experienced in sleep physiology in OSAS-diagnosed patients, tachycardic fluctuations, these fluctuations' more severe nature and increased right ventricular pressure, and therefore, increased normal function of the myocardium.

Consequently, our current knowledge indicates that GDF-15 is not much guiding in the prediction and monitoring of OSAS severity. Following molecular-level studies of GDF-15 may perhaps allow us to have a better idea on this issue in the future.

Acknowledgements

We thank all the study participants for their participation and contribution.

Conflicts of interest

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- 1. Gaudette E, Kimoff R. Pathophysiology of OSA. European Respiratory Monograph, 2010;50:31.
- **2.** Parish JM. Genetic and immunologic aspects of sleep and sleep disorders. Chest, 2013;143(5):1489-1499.
- **3.** Eckert DJ, Malhotra A. Pathophysiology of adult obstructive sleep apnea. Proceedings of the American thoracic society, 2008;5(2):144-153.
- Dewan NA, Nieto FJ, Somers VK. Intermittent hypoxemia and OSA: implications for comorbidities. Chest, 2015;147(1):266-274.
- Badran M, Ayas N, Laher I. Cardiovascular complications of sleep apnea: role of oxidative stress. Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity, 2014, Article ID 985258, 1D.
- **6.** Jelic S, Le Jemtel TH. Inflammation, oxidative stress, and the vascular endothelium in obstructive sleep apnea. Trends in cardiovascular medicine, 2008;18(7):253-260.
- 7. Tamisier R. Nights of intermittent hypoxia elevate daytime blood pressure and sympathetic activity in healthy humans. European respiratory journal, 2011;37(1):119-128.
- 8. Framnes NS, Arble MD. The Bidirectional Relationship Between Obstructive Sleep Apnea and Metabolic Disease. Front. Endocrinol, 2018;9:440.
- 9. Kim M, Cha I S, Choi J K.et al. Prognostic Value of Serum

Growth Differentiation Factor-15 in Patients with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Exacerbation. Tuberc Respir Dis, 2014;77:243-250.

- 10. Sari K, Ede H, Gencer KZ. The Correlation of Serum Growth Differentiation Factor-15 Level in Patients with Obstructive Sleep Apnea. BioMed Research International, 2015, Article ID 807683, 5.
- **11.** Berry RB. The AASM manual for the scoring of sleep and associated events. Rules, Terminology and Technical Specifications, Darien, Illinois, American Academy of Sleep Medicine, 2012. 176.
- **12.** Shimano M, Ouchi N, Walsh K. Cardiokines: recent progress in elucidating the cardiac secretome. Circulation, 2012;126:327-332.
- 13. Lankeit M, Kempf T, Dellas C, Cuny M, Tapken H, Peter T, et al. Growth differentiation factor-15 for prognostic assessment of patients with acute pulmonary embolism. Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 2008;177:1018-1025.
- 14. Nickel N, Kempf T, Tapken H, Tongers J, Laenger F, Lehmann U, et al. Growth differentiation factor-15 in idiopathic pulmonary arterial hypertension. Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 2008;178:534-541.
- 15. Levent Öztürk. Bölüm 1. Uykuda Solunum Fizyolojisi. Oya İtil, Oğuz Köktürk, Sadık Ardıç, Çağlar Çuhdaroğlu, Hikmet Fırat: Uykuda Solunum Bozuklukları.1. Baskı. Ankara, 2015:26-32.
- Rechtschaffen A, Siegel J: Chapter47. Sleep and Dreaming. In Kandel, ER, Schwartz JH, Jessell TM eds.: Principles of Neural Science. 4. Baskı. New York: McGraw Hill; 2000:936-947.
- 17. Chokroverty S: Chapter 7. Physiologic Changes in Sleep. In Chokroverty S ed.: Sleep Disorders Medicine: Basic Science, Technical Considerations and Clinical Aspects. 3. Baskı. Philadelphia: Saunders; 2009:80-104.





ergipark.org.tr/omujecm



J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 51-55 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.11

Demirtas' early renal vascular control technique (DERVACT): A novel technique for open partial nephrectomy

Gökhan SÖNMEZ^{1,6}, Şevket T. TOMBUL¹, Turev DEMİRTAŞ², Abdullah GÖLBAŞI¹ Abdullah DEMİRTAŞ^{1*}

¹Department of Urology, Faculty of Medicine, Erciyes University, Kayseri, Turkey

²Department of Medical History and Ethics, Faculty of Medicine, Erciyes University, Kayseri, Turkey

Received: 12.05.2021 • Accepted/Published Online: 31.05.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022
--	---	---------------------------

Abstract

"Demirtas' Early Renal Vascular Control Technique (DERVACT)" is a novel technique for renal pedicle control that aims to achieve rapid and direct access to the renal artery through the retroperitoneal space and then the superior-dorso-lateral aspect of the kidney. In this study, we aimed to introduce DERVACT and to present the initial outcomes of this technique. This retrospective-observational study compared two groups of patients that were operatively treated by the same surgical team using two different nephron sparing surgery (NSS) procedures. Group I (n=95) underwent standard open NSS and Group II (n=92) underwent open NSS with the DERVACT between Jan 2015 and July 2020. Mean age was 56.42 ± 13.27 years. No significant difference was found between the two groups with regard to age, gender, Body mass index, mass laterality and size, and the Padua and c-index scores (p=0.087, p=0.642, p=0.957, p=0.200, p=0.101, p=0.361, respectively). Similarly, no significant difference was found between the other group with regard to ischemia duration (20.0 [15.0-30.0] min vs. 18.5 [11.0-27.0] min, respectively, p=0.060) and intraoperative vascular complication rate (6.3% vs. 1.1\%, respectively. p=0.059). However, non-ischemic operative time was significantly shorter in the DERVACT group than in the standard partial nephrectomy group (64.0 [50.0-75.0] vs. 84.0 [61.0-105.0], p<0.001). As a conclusion, DERVACT is a simple, time-saving, and safe procedure for NSS that can be used in clinics with no opportunities for robotic-laparoscopic partial nephrectomy or in open partial nephrectomy.

Keywords: kidney surgery, retroperitoneal approach, vascular anatomy, partial nephrectomy

1. Introduction

Renal cell carcinoma (RCC) is the third most common urological cancer worldwide. Nephron-sparing surgery (NSS) or partial nephrectomy (PN) is a common technique used in the treatment of RCC (1). This technique typically consists of three stages: (i) dissection of renal hilum and vascular clamp, (ii) dissection and complete release of the kidney, and (iii) removal of the mass and renorrhaphy (2). The primary aim in this technique is to achieve renal hilar clamping and vascular control as promptly as possible (3).

In addition to classic PN techniques, numerous other techniques have also been developed to date. These novel techniques have mainly focused on ischemic/non-ischemic PN and its effect on renal functions, differences between the effects of clamping main versus segmental renal arteries, treatment outcomes based on the type and duration of ischemia, and renorrhaphy (4-7). However, to our knowledge, there have been very few studies focusing on vascular control, which is a critical step in PN and has a direct effect on the operative time (8).

Variations in renal arteries account for $\sim 30\%$ of their existence (9). However, renal artery is mostly localized to the posterior renal segment, which complicates renal pedicle

control and thereby leads to inadequate control of the arterial system during the standard procedure (Fig. 1A and 1B) (8).

In this study, we aimed to introduce a new technique for open PN that aimed to reduce the duration of vascular control and achieve renal hilar dissection in a safer and faster manner by utilizing the localization of the renal artery, which runs more superiorly and posteriorly compared to the renal vein. The study also aimed to present the initial treatment outcomes of this technique.

2. Matherials and Methods

2.1. Study design and population

The retrospective study compared two groups of patients that were operatively treated by the same surgical team with 10year experience in PN using two different nephrectomy procedures at Erciyes University, Department of Urology. Group I (n=95) underwent standard open PN and Group II (n=92) underwent PN with the "Demirtas' Early Renal Vascular Control Technique (DERVACT)" between Jan 2015 and July 2020. Patients with a history of renal/adrenal surgery were excluded from the study. Demographic and clinical characteristics including age, gender, body mass index (BMI), laterality and size of the mass, Padua and Cindex scores, duration of ischemia, and surgical duration were compared between the two groups. Mass size was calculated based on the histological examination of the specimens.

2.2. Calculation of operative time

Operative time was calculated as the time from first incision to closure of the skin. However, duration of ischemia was excluded from when calculating the operative time in order to rule out the factors associated with mass localization, mass complexity, and renographic variations.



Fig. 1. Standard anatomical view of the kidneys. A. Anterior view. B. Posterior view

2.3. Anatomical touchstones: DERVACT-Point, DERVACT-Line and DERVACT-Triangle

DERVACT-Point was defined as the anterior-superior-lateral point on the kidney. In accordance with the Padua scoring system, this point was defined as the lateral point on the upper polar line (10).

DERVACT-Line was defined as the line extending from the DERVACT-Point to the posterior-inferior-medial point on the kidney (renal hilus) when the kidney is deviated anteriorly. This line technically indicates the renal artery. DERVACT-Triangle was defined as the space among (i) renal artery (which is exposed by a dissection made along the DERVACT-Line), (ii) medial segment of the upper pole kidney, and (iii) adrenal gland in the anterior-superior segment of the kidney. Renal hilus is normally located in this space and any type of hilar dissection can be performed in this area. Illustrations of the technique are shown in Fig. 2.



Fig. 2. Illustration for anatomical touchstones of the technique. A. DERVACT-Point. B. DERVACT-Line. C. DERVACT-Triangle

2.4. Novel surgical technique

The patient was placed in a full flank position with the affected kidney side facing upwards. A supra-11th flank incision was made through the skin and underlying subcutaneous tissues and the 11th rib was partially removed (Fig. 3A). The retroperitoneal space was accessed by retracting the peritoneum medially. After dissecting Gerota's fascia laterally, the upper pole of perirenal fat was dissected beginning from the anterior-superior-lateral point (DERVACT-Point) and then the upper pole was separated from the adrenal gland. The superior-lateral-posterior segment of the kidney was dissected and the dissection was continued along the DERVACT-Line towards the posterior-inferior-medial segment (renal hilus) by lifting the kidney anteriorly after it had been freed from the surrounding attachments. At the end of this line, the renal artery was easily accessed and was suspended by a vessel tape. At this stage, a triangle was formed, with the renal artery localized in its floor, the adrenal gland localized on its top, and the medial aspect of the upper pole localized at its lateral wall (DERVACT-Triangle) (Fig. 3B). After this stage, all the other attachments of the kidney were freed completely and the dissection was continued only to the renal hilum. However, renal hilum was not dissected so as not to lose time. Renal artery was subsequently occluded with Bulldog clamp after intravenous administration of 150 ml of 20% mannitol solution. Warm or cold ischemia was applied based on the clinical characteristics of the renal mass. In cases that were administered cold ischemia, the renal capsule around the mass was drawn after renal artery occlusion with Bulldog clamp and 10 min of cold ischemia, and then the mass was removed by enucleation. Surgical margin and frozen section specimens obtained from the mass base were sent for histological examination. Bleeding foci and resected portions of the collecting duct system (if any) were repaired with 3-0 absorbable sutures. Renorrhaphy was completed after the placement of Surgicel in the surgical site. PN was completed after the removal of the Bulldog clamp.

2.5. Standard nephron sparing surgery with anterior approach

The steps up to the Gerota's fascia are similar to those of DERVACT. In the standard technique, after the Gerota's fascia was parted, the psoas muscle and ureter were found. By following the ureter, kidney parenchyma and renal hilum were reached. Careful dissection was conducted to isolate the ureter, renal vein, and renal artery, each of which is surrounded by a different colored vessel loop. It should be remembered that the renal vein was usually located anteriorly in the renal hilum and this was the first vessel encountered. In order to reach the renal artery, the renal vein should be completely dissected and lateralized at the first step. Then the renal artery was dissected enough to put a bulldog clamp. The kidney was completely dissected starting from the lower pole and separated from the surrounding adipose tissue after hilum dissection. Dissections were made between the adrenal gland and the parenchyma in the upper pole. After the entire kidney was completely free, the

applied renal artery was brought into a state to be clamped. The methods applied from this stage are similar to DERVACT.



Fig. 3. Operation view for anatomical touchstones of the technique. **A.** Patient position and incision area. An incision is made on the 11th rib. PA: Posterior axillar line. **B.** Anatomical definitions of the technique. The DERVACT point is located in the posterior and upper pole of the kidney (x). The line extending from the DERVACT point to the posterior hilus-posterior renal lodge axis is the DERVAT-line (y), DERVACT-Triangle is defined as the space among renal artery-medial segment of the upper pole kidney, and adrenal area (z). Red vessel strip shows the main renal artery. Blue vessel strips show the segmental arteries. PK: posterior wall of the kidney, SA: Surrenal area, RV: Renal vein, RA: Renal artery

2.6. Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed using SPSS 22.0 for Windows (IBM Corp. Released 2013, Armonk, USA). Normal distribution of quantitative data was assessed using Shapiro-Wilk test and Histogram plots. Quantitative data with normal distribution were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (SD) and data with non-normal distribution were expressed as median (1st- 3^{rd} quartile). Categorical data were expressed as percentages (%). Continuous variables in independent groups were compared using independent samples t-test or Mann-Whitney **Table 1. Comparison of the two techniques**

U test based on their distribution pattern. Categorical variables were compared using chi-square test (Pearson's Chi-square test or Fisher's Exact test). A p value of less than 0.05 was considered significant.

2.7. Ethical approval

This study was approved by the Erciyes University Clinical Research Ethics Committee (Approval number: 2020/246). All participants were informed verbally and in writing before the operations and a written consent was obtained from each of them.

3. RESULTS

3.1. Patient characteristics

The 187 patients comprised 110 (58.8%) men and 77 (41.2%) women with a mean age of 56.42 ± 13.27 years and a median BMI value of 29.0 (27.0-33.0) kg/m². The mass was located in the right kidney in 102 (54.5%) and in the left kidney in 85 (45.5%) patients. The mass was mostly localized to the lower pole (n=72; 38.5%), followed by upper pole (n=62; 33.1%) and middle pole (n=53; 28.4%). Median mass size was 4.0 (3.0-5.0) cm, median Padua score was 7.0 (6.0-8.0), and median C-Index score was 2.0 (1.0-3.0). Median duration of intraoperative ischemia was 20.0 (12.0-29.5) min and median operative time was 70.0 (55.0-120.0) min. In histological examination, 157 (84.0%) cases were reported as RCC, 20 (10.7%) as oncocytoma, 9 (4.8%) as angiomyolipoma, and 1 (0.5%) as sarcoma.

3.2. Outcomes of the novel technique and comparison of groups

No significant difference was found between the two groups with regard to age, gender, BMI, mass laterality and size, and the Padua and C-Index scores (p=0.087, p=0.354, p=0.642, p=0.957, p=0.200, p=0.101, p=0.361, respectively). However, median operative time was significantly shorter in the DERVACT group (p<0.001) (Table 1).

Tuble If comparison of the two teeningues			
Variable	Standard Enucleation	DERVACT Enucleation	p
	Nephrectomy (n=95)	Nephrectomy (n=92)	
Age (years)	54.79±12.82	58.11 ± 13.58	0.087
Gender (Female/Male)	40/52	35/60	0.354
Body mass index (kg/m ²)	29.0(27.0-32.0)	29.0(27.0-34.0)	0.642
Laterality (Right/Left)	52/43	50/42	0.957
Mass size (cm)	5.0(4.0-7.0)	6.0(5.0-7.0)	0.200
Padua	6.5(6.0-8.0)	8.0(7.0-9.0)	0.101
C-Index	2.0(1.0-3.0)	3.0(2.0-4.0)	0.361
Duration of ischemia (min)	20.0(15.0-30.0)	18.5(11.0-27.0)	0.060
Operative time (min)	84.0(61.0-105.0)	64.0(50.0-75.0)	< 0.001

DERVACT: Demirtaş' Early Renal Vascular Control Technique

3.3. Intraoperative complications

Intraoperative vascular complications occurred in six (6.3%) patients that underwent standard PN and in one (1.1%) patient in the DERVACT group (p=0.059). In the group that underwent standard PN, five (5.3%) patients developed minor vascular injury during renal pedicle control. In the same group, the segmental renal artery branch was injured in one (1.1%) patient and thus required ligation. In the DERVACT group,

however, only one patient developed renal venous injury. All these injuries were repaired intraoperatively and PN was completed in all patients. Apart from these complications, no major intraoperative complications occurred in both groups.

4. Discussion

The results indicated DERVACT provided several advantages: (1) safer and faster completion of kidney dissection, (2) avoidance of time loss due to the non-requirement of dissection

of fat tissues in the renal pedicle and renal vein, and (3) reduced operative time. Moreover, the DERVACT group had a similar complication rate to that of other group, which implicates that DERVACT is a safe procedure.

Renal hilar dissection followed by vascular clamping represents the most important and critical step in renal surgery (3). Although there are a limited number of studies conducted on this subject, Porpiglia et al. are known as the precursors of the strategy used for accessing and controlling the renal artery, who proposed that the arterial control can be achieved via direct access to the aorta and renal artery at the level of Treitz ligament (11-13). Based on this technique, Tunc et al. developed modified laparoscopic radical nephrectomy that involved accessing the renal artery and renal pedicle through the Morison space and performing rapid pedicle control via enbloc ligation of the renal pedicle (14). In 2019, Yang et al. described a renal hilar dissection technique for laparoscopic partial and radical nephrectomy that offered early vascular control. In this technique, renal artery is reached via direct access to the renal hilum through the posterior aspect of the kidney immediately after entering the retroperitoneal space. The researchers named this technique "three-step method" and proposed it as a safe and practical technique (15). Zhang et al. developed a similar technique for retroperitoneal laparoscopic PN, which involved full exposure of the tumor via dissections followed by renal artery access through the ureter and the superior-lateral aspect of the kidney (5). Nouralizadeh et al. argued that by rotating the kidney 180 degrees on the horizontal axis, the renal pedicle can be controlled more easily (16). The common feature of these three techniques and our technique is that all four of them prioritize the control of the renal artery by accessing the renal hilum through the posterior aspect of the kidney. However, our technique, unlike the others, involves accessing the kidney through the superiordorsal-lateral aspect rather than the lateral or inferior-lateral aspect of the kidney, thus prioritizing direct and prompt access to the renal artery. Accordingly, DERVACT-Line and DERVACT-Triangle, which were introduced within this technique, may allow the implementation of this technique in a more systematic way. Additionally, DERVACT was developed based on open PN by taking into account the clinics with no opportunities for laparoscopic PN or those with no such experience.

In our study, the operative time was calculated by excluding the duration of ischemia in order to reduce the effect of the complexity of the renal mass and the duration of enucleation. As a result, the mean operative time was calculated as 64 min in the DERVACT group as opposed to 84 min in the group that underwent standard PN, which indicates that DERVACT reduced the operative time by approximately 20 min. Yang et al. evaluated patients that underwent laparoscopic PN and reported the mean operative time as 88 min (15). In contrast, Zapala et al. and as 174 min by Pereira et al. reported the mean operative time in patients undergoing

open PN as 100-120 min and 174 min, respectively (17, 18). These findings indicate that the mean operative times in our study, even when the durations of ischemia were included, were shorter than those reported in the literature. This difference could be attributed to the fact that all the procedures were performed by the same surgical team that had 10 years of experience in PN.

A previous meta-analysis evaluated the outcomes of three studies and reported the rate of intraoperative complications in patients undergoing open PN as 4.9% (19). Similarly, another study reported this rate as 5.3% (20). In our study, however, intraoperative vascular complications occurred in only 3.7% (n=7) of 187 patients that underwent open PN, including six (6.3%) patients in the standard PN group and one (1.1%) patient in the DERVACT group. However, this difference was statistically insignificant (p=0.059). Considering that only vascular complication rates were calculated in the present study, our complication rates seem to be consistent with those reported in the literature.

Our study had several important limitations. First, the study had a retrospective design and a small patient population. Second, the time interval between skin incision and pedicle control could not be recorded due to the retrospective nature of the study. Finally, the study introduced a technique for open PN, which is used rarely when compared to the laparoscopic or robotic techniques.

In conclusion, DERVACT is a simple, time-saving, and safe procedure that can be used in clinics with no opportunities for robotic-laparoscopic partial nephrectomy or in cases requiring NSS.

Conflict of interest

All authors declare that, there is no conflicts of interest in connection with this paper

Acknowledgments

Many thanks to Dr. Meltem Guman for her drawings and her support to the study.

References

- Campbell S, Uzzo RG, Allaf ME, Bass EB, Cadeddu JA, Chang A, Clark PE, Davis BJ, Derweesh IH, Giambarresi L, Gervais DA, Hu SL, Lane BR, Leibovich BC, Pierorazio PM. Renal Mass and Localized Renal Cancer: AUA Guideline. J Urol. 2017;198(3):520-529. doi: 10.1016/j.juro.2017.04.100.
- Kletscher BA, Lauvetz RW, Segura JW. Nephron-sparing laparoscopic surgery: techniques to control the renal pedicle and manage parenchymal bleeding. J Endourol. 1995;9(1):23-30. doi: 10.1089/end.1995.9.23.
- Kenney PA, Wotkowicz C, Libertino JA. Contemporary Open Surgery of the Kidney. Campbell-Walsh Urology. 2012; 2: 1567-8.
- Leslie S, Goh AC, Gill IS. Partial nephrectomy--contemporary indications, techniques and outcomes. Nat Rev Urol. 2013;10(5):275-83. doi: 10.1038/nrurol.2013.69.
- 5. Russo P. Open partial nephrectomy. Personal technique and current outcomes. Archivos espanoles de urologia. 2011; 64(7),

571-593.

- Azhar RA, Metcalfe C, Gill IS. Anatomic partial nephrectomy: technique evolution. Curr Opin Urol. 2015 Mar;25(2):95-9. doi: 10.1097/MOU.00000000000140.
- Minervini A, Campi R, Lane BR, De Cobelli O, Sanguedolce F, Hatzichristodoulou G, et al. Impact of Resection Technique on Perioperative Outcomes and Surgical Margins after Partial Nephrectomy for Localized Renal Masses: A Prospective Multicenter Study. J Urol. 2020;203(3):496-504. doi: 10.1097/JU.000000000000591.
- 8. Zhang C, Wang F, Shi X, Guo F, Wang H, Yang Y, et al. Direct Lateral Access to Renal Artery During Transperitoneal Laparoscopic Partial Nephrectomy: Surgical Technique and Comparative Outcomes. Urology. 2018; 120:120-124. doi: 10.1016/j.urology.2018.07.014.
- **9.** Standring S. The Anatomical Basis of Clinical Practice. 39th edition. New York, NY, USA: Elsevier, Churchill Livingstone, Gray's anatomy. 2005; pp. 1271–4.
- 10. Ficarra V, Novara G, Secco S, Macchi V, Porzionato A, De Caro R, et al. Preoperative aspects and dimensions used for an anatomical (PADUA) classification of renal tumours in patients who are candidates for nephron-sparing surgery. Eur Urol. 2009;56(5):786-93. doi: 10.1016/j.eururo.2009.07.040.
- **11.** Porpiglia F, Terrone C, Cracco C, Renard J, Musso F, Grande S, et al. Direct access to the renal artery at the level of treitz ligament during left radical laparoscopic transperitoneal nephrectomy. Eur Urol. 2005;48(2):291-5. doi: 10.1016/j.eururo.2005.03.024.
- Porpiglia F, Renard J, Billia M, Morra I, Scoffone C, Cracco C, et al. Left laparoscopic radical nephrectomy with direct access to the renal artery: technical advantages. Eur Urol. 2006;49(6):1004-10. doi: 10.1016/j.eururo.2006.02.038.
- **13.** Porpiglia F, Terrone C, Cracco C, Cossu M, Grande S, Musso F, et al. Early ligature of renal artery during radical laparoscopic

transperitoneal nephrectomy: description of standard technique and direct access. J Endourol. 2005;19(6):623-6; discussion 626-7. doi: 10.1089/end.2005.19.623.

- 14. Tunc L, Canda AE, Polat F, Onaran M, Atkin S, Biri H, et al. Direct upper kidney pole access and early ligation of renal pedicle significantly facilitates transperitoneal laparoscopic nephrectomy procedures: Tunc technique. Surg Laparosc Endosc Percutan Tech. 2011;21(6):453-7. doi: 10.1097/SLE.0b013e31823badc1.
- 15. Yang F, Zhou Q, Li X, Xing N. The methods and techniques of identifying renal pedicle vessels during retroperitoneal laparoscopic radical and partial nephrectomy. World J Surg Oncol. 2019;17(1):38. doi: 10.1186/s12957-019-1580-1.
- 16. Nouralizadeh A, Ziaee SA, Basiri A, Simforoosh N, Abdi H, Mahmoudnejad N, Kashi AH. Transperitoneal laparoscopic partial nephrectomy using a new technique. Urol J. 2009;6(3):176-81.
- 17. Zapala P, Dybowski B, Miazek N, Radziszewski P. Open partial nephrectomy for entirely intraparenchymal tumors: a matched case-control study of oncologic outcome and complication rate. Int Braz J Urol. 2017;43(2):209-215. doi: 10.1590/S1677-5538.IBJU.2016.0040.
- Pereira J, Renzulli J 2nd, Pareek G, Moreira D, Guo R, Zhang Z, et al. Perioperative Morbidity of Open Versus Minimally Invasive Partial Nephrectomy: A Contemporary Analysis of the National Surgical Quality Improvement Program. J Endourol. 2018;32(2):116-123. doi: 10.1089/end.2017.0609.
- **19.** Wu Z, Li M, Liu B, Cai C, Ye H, Lv C, et al. Robotic versus open partial nephrectomy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2014;9(4):e94878. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0094878.
- 20. Ghani KR, Sukumar S, Sammon JD, Rogers CG, Trinh QD, Menon M. Practice patterns and outcomes of open and minimally invasive partial nephrectomy since the introduction of robotic partial nephrectomy: results from the nationwide inpatient sample. J Urol. 2014;191(4):907-12. doi: 10.1016/j.juro.2013.10.099.



Research Article

e

J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 56-61 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.12

The importance of paracetamol blood levels on the cost and management of patients with paracetamol overdose

Fatih ÇALIŞKAN^{1,}*[®], Hızır Ufuk AKDEMİR¹[®], Ramazan AMANVERMEZ²[®]

¹Department of Emergency Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Turkey ²Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Medicine, Ondokuz Mayıs University Samsun, Turkey

Received: 12.05.2021	•	Accepted/Published Online: 12.06.2021	٠	Final Version: 01.01.2022

Abstract

We aimed to evaluate the effect of serum paracetamol level measurement on cost and patient management by evaluating the patients with a history of paracetamol overdose in the emergency department. This study was performed by investigating the data of 175 adult patients admitted to the emergency service after ingestion of the paracetamol-containing drug. Patients were divided into main three groups according to the narrative of ingested amount, and ten subgroups according to the serum paracetamol level, antidote treatment and hospitalization. According to the patients' narrative, the ingested paracetamol amount was toxic in 97 (55.4%) patients. Serum levels were non-toxic in 50 (28.6%), and toxic in only 4 (2.3%) patients. In intergroup cost analysis, the highest median cost per patient was in Group 4 (\$ 332.9 [332.2 – 335.6]), and the lowest median cost per patient was in Group 3 (\$ 98.0 [67.1 – 98.0]). When the patient groups in our study were evaluated in terms of cost per patient, there was a statistically significant difference between the groups (p <0.001). Antidote administration, hospitalization, and the length of treatment caused to increase in cost about 67.3 units, 56.1 units, 2.2 units, respectively (p<0.001). The treatment cost can be reduced by measuring serum paracetamol levels. For avoiding a potential missed diagnosis of paracetamol overdose the routine measurement of paracetamol level warrants to reduce the cost of the patients who had an ingestion history of unknown paracetamol amount, especially in cases with altered mental status and psychiatric disorder who had suspected/elusive medical anamnesis about drug ingestion.

Keywords: paracetamol, ingestion, level, management, cost, emergency

1. Introduction

Paracetamol (acetaminophen) widely used for its antipyretic/analgesic effects is one of the most common medications ingested in overdose (1). It is cheap, easily accessible, and combined with many other drugs and accepted as a harmless medicinal agent by many users. Nevertheless, intentional and unintentional massive paracetamol ingestions are commonly seen in all around the world.

Paracetamol poisoning is a heavy burden on health systems. In a study conducted in the United Kingdom (UK) between 1992 and 1995, the average cost per patient was 181 Euro (ϵ) due to paracetamol overdose. The total annual cost of paracetamol poisoning is approximately ϵ 8 billion in the UK. Therefore, studies have focused on reducing the costs of diagnosis and treatment (2).

The measure of the paracetamol blood level can only reveal the actual risk of toxicity, especially in most of the patients who required the antidote therapy according to the narrative of the ingested amount. Choosing the right patients for hospitalization and antidote treatment may reduce the costs. The cost-effectiveness and correct antidote use can be achieved only by giving it to the patients who are above the treatment line using the Rumack-Matthew nomogram after the serum paracetamol measurement. Then, unnecessary antidote treatment is prevented by measuring serum paracetamol levels. With its serum level measurement, early diagnosis is made, and complications are prevented, particularly in the patients who do not need antidote according to the ingestion, but have a history of unreliable doses with high serum paracetamol levels (especially in suicidal and psychiatric patients). It provides convenience in the management of patients whose ingested amount is unknown, and unnecessary antidote administration can be prevented by measuring serum paracetamol level in patients who do not need antidote and when anamnesis cannot be taken in relation to paracetemol blood concentrations. For all these reasons, we aimed to examine the importance of serum paracetamol measuring on the patient management and cost in the patients with a history of excessive paracetamol ingestion in the emergency department.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Study design, setting, and population

This retrospective and descriptive study was conducted with the patients aged 18 years and above who admitted to the emergency service after the ingestion of a paracetamolcontaining drug. One hundred eighty-six patients met the inclusion criteria in this study. But due to lack of clinic findings, 11 patients were excluded from the study, and totally 175 patients were enrolled. This study was approved by The Clinical Research Ethics Committee of Ondokuz Mayıs University Medical Faculty (OMU CREC protocol no: 2012/172).

The sociodemographic characteristics, the presence of risk factors for liver damage (advanced age, malnutrition, chronic alcohol consumption, combined drug-using [cytochrome p450 inducers] and primary liver disease), vital signs, symptoms of patients on admission, the amount of paracetamol-containing medication (in grams), the other drugs and their amounts, the ingestion time and the medical history (the presence of psychiatric illness and/or suicidal attempt) were recorded. All the patients were evaluated according to a number of data with the results of liver function tests, serum paracetamol level, treatment (hydration, antidote therapy [intravenous and oral n-acetylcysteine], extracorporeal therapy), the requirement of

critical care, the length of hospitalization duration, the hospitalized unite, total cost and prognosis (discharge, death).

The diagnosis for paracetamol poisoning was made by using the following definitions: 1) > 10 gr or 200 mg/kg over a 24 hour period, and 2) > 6 gr or 150 mg/kg per 24-hour period at least two consecutive days (3). The distribution of patients was determined with respect to Clinical staging (Stage 1-4) for paracetamol poisoning (3). Patients' prognosis evaluated according to discharge, liver damage, and death. The cut-off level of hepatocellular injury tests (AST, ALT) for hepatotoxicity was defined as 1000 IU / L and above (4,5). Patients were divided into main three groups (A: Ingestion of non-toxic amounts, B: Ingestion of toxic amounts, C: Ingestion of unknown amounts) and also ten subgroups according to the amount of paracetamol ingestion, serum paracetamol level, antidote treatment and hospitalization (Table 1). Due to the differences in fees of medical procedures, inpatient treatment applied to patients over the years, the total cost for each patient was calculated in the United States dollar (\$) considering the current costs in 2020.

Table 1.	The research	groups according	to the amount	of paracetamol	intake
Table 1.	The research	groups according	to the amount	of paracetamon	marc

Cuanta	Number of The increased Comme Devectored Articlete				
Groups	Number of	The Ingested	Serum Parasetamoi	Antidote	Hospitalization
	Patients(n=175)	amount*	Level**	Treatment***	Status****
1	74	M_1	\mathbf{P}_0	A_1	Y_1
2	18	M ₂	\mathbf{P}_0	A_2	Y_1
3	25	M_2	\mathbf{P}_0	A_2	Y_2
4	4	M ₃	\mathbf{P}_0	A_1	Y_1
5	4	M_1	P1	A_1	Y_1
6	7	M_1	P_2	A_2	Y_1
7	12	M_1	P_2	A_2	Y_2
8	10	M_2	\mathbf{P}_2	A_2	\mathbf{Y}_1
9	15	M ₂	P_2	A_2	Y_2
10	6	M ₃	P_2	A_2	Y_1

*The amount of paracetamol intake: M₁, Toxic; M₂, Non-toxic; M₃, Unknown. **Serum paracetamol level: P₀, Level cannot be measured; P₁, Toxic; P₂, Nontoxic. ***Antidote treatment: A₁, Antidote given; A₂, Antidote not given. ***The decision of hospitalization: Y₁, Hospitalized; Y₂, Not hospitalized

2.2. Data Analysis

IBM[®] SPSS[®] Statistics V21 software was used for statistical analysis of the data. Data were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (SD), median (minimum – maximum), and number (%) after it was determined if the data were parametric or non-parametric. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov/Shapiro-Wilk Test was used to evaluate the conformity of the quantitative data distribution to a normal distribution. It was determined that it would be appropriate to use non-parametric tests for data analysis in this study. Kruskal-Wallis Test was used for the statistical significance of inter-group costs, which were not found to fit the normal distribution. Regression analysis was performed to determine the independent variables affecting the cost. The statistical significance level was accepted as p <0.05 for all tests.

3. Results

In perspective of the patients' narrative, the ingested paracetamol amount was toxic in 97 (55.4%), non-toxic in 68 (38.9%), and unknown in 10 (5.7%) of patients. Serum paracetamol level could not be measured in 121 (69.1%) of patients because of a lack of analysis kit in the emergency

laboratory. Serum paracetamol levels in 54 (30.9%) of patients were measured. Serum paracetamol concentrations were nontoxic in 50 (28.6%), and toxic in only 4 (2.3%) of patients. A mild allergic reaction was seen in one patient (0.6%) during intravenous n-acetylcysteine (NAC) antidote therapy. No patient died and also underwent hemodialysis and liver transplantation in the study population. The characteristics of the patients are presented in Table 2. According to the laboratory parameters, hepatocellular damage markers (ALT, AST) in 8 (4.6%) of patients had increased, and also INR value in 3 (1.7%) of patients had elevated. In intergroup cost analysis, the highest median cost per patient was observed in Group 4 (\$332.9 [332.2 - 335.6]), and the lowest median cost per patient was seen in Group 3 (\$ 98.0 [67.1 – 98.0]). In the regression analysis, the independent variables affecting the antidote administration. cost were determined as hospitalization, and duration of treatment. 98.6% of the cost can be explained with these three independent variables. One unit increase in antidote administration, hospitalization, and the length of treatment caused to an increase in the cost about 67.3 units, 56.1 units, 2.2 units, respectively (p<0.001).

|--|

Age	24 (18 - 56)
Gender n (%)	
Female/Male	112 (64%) / 63 (36%)
Admission Time (hour)	4 (0.5 - 12)
Medical History	
No previous history	130 (74.2%)
Depression disorder	32 (18.2%)
Drug intoxication	9 (5.1%)
Bipolar disorder	4 (2.2%)
Suicidal paracetamol intake	170 (97.1%)
Risk factors for Liver Failure	
No risk	78 (44.5%)
Additional drug ingestion	97 (55.4%)
Chronic alcohol user	5 (2.8%)
Primary liver disease	2 (1.1%)
Multidrug ingestion	
Present/Absent	106 (60.6%)/69 (39.4%)
Vital signs	
Systolic blood pressure	110 (70 -180)
Heart rate	80 (60 -116)
Ingested amount	
Toxic	97 (55.4%)
Non-toxic	68 (38.9%)
Unknown	10 (5.7%)
Serum paracetamol level	
Unmeasurable – no kit	121 (69.1%)
Toxic level	4 (2.3%)
Non-toxic level	50 (28.6%)
Clinical stage	
Stage 1/2	1/2 (98.3%)/3 (1.7%)
Lenght of treatment (hour)	24 (1 -96)
Treatment modalities	175 (1000/)
Normal saline	1/5 (100%)
Normal saline+Decontamination	1/5 (100%)
[Gastric lavage, active charcoal]	4 (2 20/)
Normal saline + Oral NAC therapy	4 (2.2%)
Normal saline + IV NAC therapy	/9 (45.1%)
Emergency chargester norm	120 (69 50/)
Intensive care unite	120(00.5%)
Final status	5 (1.770)
Full recovery	140 (85 10/)
Pafuse to receive treatment	26(14,00%)
Cost (\$)	20 (14.970)
	101.1(0/.130/.9)

Data are presented as number (%) or median (min - max).

Fig. 1 presents the data of antidote therapy, hospitalization, duration of treatment, and cost values in study groups. When the patient groups were evaluated in terms of cost per patient, there was a statistically significant difference between the groups (p < 0.001). The cost per patient (\$) was significantly lower in Group 6 (M1P2A2Y1) than in Group 1 (M1P0A1Y1) (p=0.027). In addition, the cost value was significantly higher in Group 1 compared to Group 7 (p < 0.001). However, there was no statistically significant difference between Group 4 (M3P0A1Y1) and Group 10 (M3P2A2Y1) in terms of the cost (\$) per patient (p>0.05).

4. Discussion

Paracetamol overdose is the most common etiological cause of acute liver failure (6). The patient management strategies for

paracetamol overdoses include the rapid identification of highrisk patients and low-risk patients because of the need of antidote therapy. With accurate and current patient management strategies, avoiding unnecessary examinations and treatments can alleviate the financial burden on health systems.

Paracetamol-induced liver damage is related to the direct effect of paracetamol and its toxic product (NAPQI) produced excessively by the liver. In relation to drug metabolism, glutathione binds NAPQI and then it converts into non-toxic products (7). Thus, paracetamol intoxication lead to decrease in liver's glutathione stores (8). Moreover, it assumes that hepatic glutathione reserves may decrease in a number of conditions such as advanced age, malnutrition, fasting, and chronic liver disease are though to be risk factors for liver injury in paracetamol overdose. Isoniazid, rifampin, phenobarbital, chronic alcohol consumption may affect the cytochrome P-450 enzyme system, and could give rise to liver damage. Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, fibrates, and statins may cause paracetamol-induced liver damage as a result of unknown mechanisms. Obesity and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease are risk factors for paracetamol-induced liver injury (5,9).

Multidrug use (antiepileptic, antipsychotic, antidepressant drugs most commonly metabolized in the liver) was estimated as a risk factor for liver damage in our study group. However, there were also patients with chronic alcohol consumption, and chronic liver disease (HBV-induced liver disease) along with multiple drug intake. Actually, no significant differences were observed for the development of paracetamol overdose induced hepatotoxicity, the presence of multiple drug intake, chronic alcohol consumption, chronic liver disease, and the other risk factors for liver damage in this study. Hypoprotrombinemia, metabolic acidosis, and renal failure are associated with elevated aminotransferase levels in paracetamol-induced liver injury (10,11). In our study group, the increased levels in ALT, AST and INR were detected in a small number of laboratory parameters used as a marker of hepatotoxicity. Since hepatocellular damage markers were higher than 1000 IU / L, it was associated with toxicity (9); no patients with hepatotoxicity were detected in our study. This situation may be interested in the low number of patients and the absence of severe poisoning.

Litovitz et al. reported that the majority of patients with acute intoxication who applied to the emergency department were not in poor condition (12). In the study of Sorodoc et al., 51.9% of patients with acute intoxication had good general status (13). In our study, 98.3% of patients were asymptomatic (Stage 1 for paracetamol poisoning) when the complaints, symptoms, and physical examination findings of the patients were evaluated, considering that patients are asymptomatic in the early period of paracetamol-induced liver injury.

Çalışkan et al. / J Exp Clin Med



Fig. 1. Analysis of study groups according to ingested amounts, antidote therapy, hospitalization and costs using Kruskal-Wallis Test Group A: Ingestion of non-toxic amounts, B: Ingestion of toxic amounts, C: Ingestion of unknown amounts.

* According to serum paracetamol level, "P0 = Level cannot be measured, P1 = Toxic, P2 = Nontoxic".

** According to antidote treatment, "A1 = Antidote given, A2 = Antidote not given".

*** According to the decision of hospitalization, "Y1 = Hospitalized, Y2 = Not hospitalized".

****Study groups were identified with the letters "abcde" using Kruskal-Wallis test according to cost differences. The presence of the same letter in the study groups indicates that there was no statistical difference between the groups.

The median value of hospital stay in patients with hepatotoxicity was 3 (1-192) days, and the median value of total hospital expenses was \$ 2,123 (342-89,182) in a study (14). In our study, the median value of hospital stay was 24 hours. The patients with high ALT and AST values on admission were hospitalized for three days, and the median cost per patient was \$ 94.0 (75.8-131.5). The fact that 14.9% of the patients left the emergency department before the completion of the treatment period could explain the total length of hospital stay and the lower total cost than other studies. The previous study included only patients who developed hepatotoxicity. Thus, the need for organ transplantation, hemodialysis, and the need for prolonged intensive care associated with these conditions increase both the total length of hospital stay and the cost. The absence of hepatotoxicity (ALT and AST \geq 1000 IU / L) in our study may be another additional factor affecting length of hospital stay and cost. The independent variables affecting total cost and length of hospital stay were age, sex, comorbid diseases, paracetamol-related hepatotoxicity in the previous study (14). In our study, antidote administration, hospitalization, and duration of treatment were found to be independent variables affecting cost, considering that this condition is related to the absence of hepatotoxicity.

Antidote treatment is frequently arranged according to the patient's narrative of ingested amount in emergency departments where serum paracetamol level cannot be measured. Hesitative, low-reliability anamnesis, especially in psychiatric, or unconscious patients are challenging conditions

59

for the emergency physician. However, there were no patients had a toxic serum level of paracetamol in the patient groups who had a non-toxic intake in the anamnesis.

In cases have no additional factor for the indication of hospitalization and follow-up, serum paracetamol measuring facilitates patient management (diagnosis, antidote treatment, hospitalization, and discharge) as long as the ingested amount is toxic according to the patient's anamnesis. When we compared the total costs of Group 1 and 6 in our study, serum paracetamol measuring was cost-effective, especially in patients who received excessive amounts of paracetamol in their medical history.

In cases with the ingestion of unknown amounts of paracetamol or suspected history of intoxication with altered mental status, the routine measurement of paracetamol level should be made to avoid a potential missed diagnosis of paracetamol overdose. Dargan et al. detected 4 (3.5%) patients poisoned with paracetamol among 115 patients presenting with collapse after routine measurement of serum paracetamol level. Based on their results, they suggested that the potential for missed paracetamol poisoning in such patients warrants the routine use of paracetamol screening in all patients presenting to the emergency department with a history of altered mental status (15).

Diagnosis for paracetamol poisoning can be made only by measuring serum paracetamol levels in patients who had no information about ingested amount such as group 10. If the serum paracetamol level could not be measured as in group 4, the patients should be closely monitored using the liver function tests for paracetamol poisoning. In group 10, paracetamol over-intake was excluded using serum paracetamol level measurement, and antidote treatment was not applied. The fact that the cost per patient in Group 10 is less than Group 4 can be explained by the decrease in the length of hospital stay and laboratory examination costs. Measuring the serum paracetamol level seems to reduce the possible additional costs (hospital stay, follow-up of laboratory tests and antidote treatment). Similarly, serum paracetamol measuring appears to provide cost-effectiveness when the costs between groups 1 and 7 were evaluated. The measurement of serum paracetamol level decreases the cost by shortening the duration of hospital stay and clinical follow-up.

Serum paracetamol levels should be controlled in poisonings with unknown history of drug ingestion. As a result of this, the concomitant paracetamol overdose can be excluded or confirmed. If the determined level is non-toxic, unnecessary antidote treatment decreases, and it results in shortening the hospital stay and reducing the cost. In the view of our findings, we noticed that the routine measurement of serum paracetamol level in patients with paracetamol overdose of unknown ingestion and patients with multiple drug intake of unknown type contributed to patient management (diagnosis, antidote treatment, hospitalization and discharge).

In conclusion, our study aims to contribute to the development of correct diagnosis and treatment strategies in order to reduce the burden of massive paracetamol ingestion among the etiologic factors leading to acute hepatic failure by evaluating the effect of serum paracetamol level on the patient management and cost. Accordingly to our findings, it is suggested that the measuring of serum paracetamol level can permit to reduce patients' cost interested in an ingestion history of unknown paracetamol amount and the number of potential missed paracetamol poisoning in the presence of altered mental status and psychiatric disorder for patients in associated with suspected/elusive medical anamnesis about drug intake.

Although some countries have studies discussing the cumulative costs of paracetamol to their national economies (16,17), our study is the only study that evaluates the effects of paracetamol levels on cost and patient management in detail. The most important limiting factors of our study were retrospective study and absence of hepatotoxicity in the study group. Prospective studies involving more patients are needed to elucidate many factors affecting the cost and length of hospital stay and its relationship with serum paracetamol levels. In our country and other countries in the world, patients who applied to the emergency department due to excessive intake of paracetamol, the number of similar studies on patient management, and cost is not very high. Hence, our study is also essential in terms of shedding light on future studies.

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

This study was produced from the medical specialty thesis (number / year: 426712/2016) titled "Investigation of the relationship between patient management, cost and determination of the serum level of paracetamol in patients admitted to emergency service due to massive ingestion of paracetamol". It has not been received any financial support.

This study was approved by The Clinical Research Ethics Committee of Ondokuz Mayıs University Medical Faculty (OMU CREC protocol no: 2012/172).

References

- Mowry JB, Spyker DA, Cantilena LR Jr, McMillan N, Ford M. 2013 Annual Report of the American Association of Poison Control Centers' National Poison Data System (NPDS): 31st Annual Report. Clin Toxicol (Phila). 2014 Dec;52(10):1032-283. doi: 10.3109/15563650.2014.987397.
- Sheen CL, Dillon JF, Bateman DN, Simpson KJ, Macdonald TM. Paracetamol toxicity: epidemiology, prevention and costs to the health-care system. QJM. 2002 Sep;95(9):609-19. doi: 10.1093/qjmed/95.9.609.
- Wightman, RS, Nelson, LS. Acetaminophen. In: Tintinalli, JE, editor-in-chief. Tintinalli's Emergency Medicine: A Comprehensive Study Guide. 9th ed. New York: Mc Graw-Hill Comp.; 2020;1252-1259.
- Hodgman MJ, Garrard AR. A review of acetaminophen poisoning. Crit Care Clin. 2012 Oct;28(4):499-516. doi: 10.1016/j.ccc.2012.07.006.
- Yoon E, Babar A, Choudhary M, Kutner M, Pyrsopoulos N. Acetaminophen-Induced Hepatotoxicity: a Comprehensive Update. J Clin Transl Hepatol. 2016 Jun 28;4(2):131-42. doi: 10.14218/JCTH.2015.00052. Epub 2016 Jun 15.
- Montrief T, Koyfman A, Long B. Acute liver failure: A review for emergency physicians. Am J Emerg Med. 2019 Feb;37(2):329-337. doi: 10.1016/j.ajem.2018.10.032. Epub 2018 Oct 22.
- Ramachandran A, Jaeschke H. Mechanisms of acetaminophen hepatotoxicity and their translation to the human pathophysiology. J Clin Transl Res. 2017 Feb;3(Suppl 1):157-169. doi: 10.18053/jctres.03.2017S1.002. Epub 2017 Feb 12.
- 8. Du K, Williams CD, McGill MR, Jaeschke H. Lower susceptibility of female mice to acetaminophen hepatotoxicity: Role of mitochondrial glutathione, oxidant stress and c-jun Nterminal kinase. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 2014 Nov 15;281(1):58-66. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2014.09.002. Epub 2014 Sep 16.
- **9.** Lancaster EM, Hiatt JR, Zarrinpar A. Acetaminophen hepatotoxicity: an updated review. Arch Toxicol. 2015 Feb;89(2):193-9. doi: 10.1007/s00204-014-1432-2. Epub 2014 Dec 24.
- 10. Ostapowicz G, Fontana RJ, Schiødt FV, Larson A, Davern TJ, Han SH, McCashland TM, Shakil AO, Hay JE, Hynan L, Crippin JS, Blei AT, Samuel G, Reisch J, Lee WM; U.S. Acute Liver Failure Study Group. Results of a prospective study of acute liver failure at 17 tertiary care centers in the United States. Ann Intern Med. 2002 Dec 17;137(12):947-54. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-137-12-200212170-00007.
- Albalawi, MA, Albalawi, SA, Albalawi, THS, Almuhawwis, KS, Mansour, A. Evaluation of Recent Updates Regarding Acetaminophen-Induced Acute Liver Failure. Archives of Pharmacy Practice. 2019;1: 56.

- Litovitz TL, Bailey KM, Schmitz BF, Holm KC, Klein-Schwartz W. 1990 annual report of the American Association of Poison Control Centers National Data Collection System. Am J Emerg Med. 1991 Sep;9(5):461-509. doi: 10.1016/0735-6757(91)90216-7.
- **13.** Sorodoc V, Jaba IM, Lionte C, Mungiu OC, Sorodoc L. Epidemiology of acute drug poisoning in a tertiary center from Iasi County, Romania. Hum Exp Toxicol. 2011 Dec;30(12):1896-903. doi: 10.1177/0960327111403172. Epub 2011 Mar 22.
- 14. Myers RP, Shaheen AA, Li B, Dean S, Quan H. Impact of liver disease, alcohol abuse, and unintentional ingestions on the outcomes of acetaminophen overdose. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2008 Aug;6(8):918-25; quiz 837. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2008.02.053. Epub 2008 May 16.
- **15.** Dargan PI, Ladhani S, Jones AL. Measuring plasma paracetamol concentrations in all patients with drug overdose or altered consciousness: does it change outcome? Emerg Med J. 2001 May;18(3):178-82. doi: 10.1136/emj.18.3.178.
- 16. Senarathna SM, Sri Ranganathan S, Buckley N, Fernandopulle R. A cost effectiveness analysis of the preferred antidotes for acute paracetamol poisoning patients in Sri Lanka. BMC Clin Pharmacol. 2012 Feb 22;12:6. doi: 10.1186/1472-6904-12-6.
- 17. Gosselin S, Hoffman RS, Juurlink DN, Whyte I, Yarema M, Caro J. Treating acetaminophen overdose: thresholds, costs and uncertainties. Clin Toxicol (Phila). 2013 Mar;51(3):130-3. doi: 10.3109/15563650.2013.775292.



Research Article



J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 62-65 doi: 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.13

A comparison of the safety of two different enoxaparin doses for thromboprophylaxis following cesarean section

Buğra ŞAHİN^{1,*}, Gizem CURA ŞAHİN²

¹Department of Obstetric and Gynaecology, Turhal State Hospital, Tokat, Turkey ²Department Obstetric and Gynaecology, Tokat State Hospital, Tokat, Turkey

Received: 16.05.2021	•	Accepted/Published Online: 12.06.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022
Received: 16.05.2021	•	Accepted/Published Online: 12.06.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022

Abstract

Enoxaparin, from the low molecular weight heparin group, is used as thromboprophylaxis in patients with risk factors following caesarean section. The aim of this study was to investigate the effect of enoxaparin doses on the formation of deep vein thrombosis (DVT), wound site infection (WSI), wound site hematoma (WSH) and hemogram results of patients on the 10th postoperative day. A retrospective examination was made of the files of patients who had undergone a caesarean section operation and been administered enoxaparin as postpartum thromboprophylaxis for 10 days postoperatively. Two groups were formed of 16 patients who received enoxaparin at dose of 60mg/day and 25 patients who received 40mg/day. The groups were compared in respect of age, weight, gravida, gestational week at the time of operation, the leukocyte (Wbc), hemoglobin (Hb), and platelet (Plt) values on postoperative days 1 and 10, and the development of DVT, WSI, and WSH on postoperative day 10. The development of WSI and WSH was determined to be significantly higher in the group that received 60mg/day enoxaparin than in the group that received 40mg/day (p=0.007, p=0.008). With the use of 60mg/day enoxaparin, no change was observed in the Wbc and Hb values on the postoperative 10th day compared to the 1st day (p=0.128, p=0.947), and a significant reduction was determined in Plt values (p=0.014). With an increase in the dose of enoxaparin used as thromboprophylaxis following caesarean section in patients with risk factors, there was seen to be an increase in the formation of WSI and WSH. Compared to a dose of 40mg/day, the use of 60mg/day enoxaparin reduced serum Wbc, did not change Hb, and increased Plt values. Dose adjustment should be made for the drug used as caesarean postoperative thromboprophylaxis in patients with indications, taking the side-effects of enoxaparin into consideration.

Keywords: caesarean, deep vein thrombosis, enoxaparin, hemogram, wound site infection-hematoma

1. Introduction

The likelihood of thromboembolism developing in pregnant females is 4-5-fold greater than in non-pregnant females. Thromboembolic events in pregnancy are venous in 80% of cases, and prevalence is 0.5-2.0 per 1000 pregnancies (1). Deep vein thrombosis (DVT) is seen in 75% of pregnancyrelated venous thromboembolism (VTE), and pulmonary embolism (PE) in 20-25% (2). The VTE risk is greater in the postpartum period, and especially in the first two postpartum weeks (3). In a meta-analysis of the relationship between caesarean delivery and VTE, caesarean section delivery was reported to be an independent risk factor for VTE, and the estimated incidence of VTE was 0.003% which was seen to be a 4-fold increase compared with vaginal delivery (4).

While the leading cause of maternal death is hemorrhage in developing countries, thromboembolic diseases are among the leading causes in developed countries (5). Due to the high prevalence of thromboembolism in pregnancy and the postpartum period, and the severity of the outcomes, the treatment and prophylaxis of this disease have a very important place in antenatal care (6, 7). A national guideline has been established in Turkey, based on the RCOG

guidelines, for the determination of pregnant patients at moderate-high risk of thromboembolism (8, 9).

Various agents are used in postpartum thromboprophylaxis. The most used drug group is low molecular weight heparin (LMWH), but this may have sideeffects such as bleeding and hematoma (10). Enoxaparin is a widely used LMWH (11). The aim of this study was to investigate deep vein thrombosis (DVT), wound site infection (WSI), wound site hematoma (WSH) and hemogram results on the 10th postoperative day of patients administered 40mg/day or 60mg/day enoxaparin according to the risk classification following caesarean section operation.

2. Materials and Methods

This retrospective study included 41 female patients who underwent caesarean delivery and then received postpartum thromboprophylaxis of enoxaparin for 10 days between January 2019 and January 2021 in the Obstetrics and Gynaecology Clinic of Turhal State Hospital. All the patients were aged 18-36 years and had no comorbidities. Two groups were formed of 16 patients who received enoxaparin at a dose of 60mg/day and 25 patients who received 40mg/day.
Patients were excluded from the study if they had an allergy to heparin or heparin derivatives, liver failure, or any findings of perioperative bleeding (intraabdominal, retroperitoneal, and intracranial). As Turhal State Hospital is a second level healthcare institution, patients with a known high risk of thrombophilia, a history of VTE, a mechanical heart valve, heart failure, active systemic lupus erythematous, or active inflammatory bowel disease, were transferred to a tertiary level healthcare institution. The study was approved by the Local Ethics Committee of Gaziosmanpaşa University with no: 21-KAEK-070.

All the patients underwent caesarean operation by the same surgeon. The operations were conducted under spinal or general anesthesia. The abdomen was entered with a Pfannenstiel caesarean-type incision, and the uterus was opened with a transverse incision. In all the operations, the uterus was sutured in a single layer after the procedure. At mean 8 hours postoperatively, the patients were mobilized and thromboprophylaxis was started at the postoperative 12th hour. In the postnatal period, prophylactic enoxaparin was administered for 10 days to patients with \geq 2 points (apart from those with a history of VTE or high-risk thrombophilia) in the VTE risk factors according to the "management guidelines for venous thromboembolism in pregnancy" published by the Republic of Turkey Ministry of Health in 2017 (12) (Fig. 1).

Enoxaparin was administered as a single dose of 40mg/day to patients <90 kg body weight and at 60 mg/day to those weighing >90 kg. A record was made for each patient of age, weight, gravida, gestational week, and postoperative first day hemogram results. The patients were discharged after 48 hours at the earliest and were called for follow up at postoperative 10 days. The development of DVT-PE, the presence of wound site infection or hematoma, and hemogram results were recorded. All these data were compared between the two groups of patients who received 60mg/day enoxaparin and those who received 40 mg/day. The changes in the hemogram from postoperative day 1 to day 10 were also compared between the groups.

Statistical Analysis: Data obtained in the study were analyzed statistically using SPSS vn. 20.0 software (Statistical Package for Social Sciences Chicago, IL, USA). Descriptive statistics were stated as mean \pm standard deviation (SD) values for continuous variables and as number (n) and percentage (%) for categorical values. In the paired group comparisons, the Independent Samples t-test, Mann Whitney U-test, or the Chi-Square test were used. A value of p<0.05 was accepted as statistically significant.

3. Results

Evaluation was made of a total of 41 females applied with enoxaparin following caesarean section delivery, as 25 patients who received 40mg/day and 16 patients who received 60 mg/day. The mean age of the patients was 27.20 ± 4.76 years in the 40mg/day enoxaparin group and 26.25 ± 4.49 years in the 60mg/day group (p=0.451). No difference was determined between the groups in respect of gestational week at the time of caesarean operation and gravida (p=0.882, p=0.754).

Table 1. Comparison of the groups administered enoxaparin 40mg/day and enoxaparin 60mg/day for thromboprophylaxis aftercesarean section

	Enoxaparin 40 $mg/day (n=25)$	Enoxaparin 60 $mg/day (n=16)$	р
Age (years)	27.20± 4.76	26.25 ± 4.49	0.451
Gravidity	2(1-3)	2(1-3)	0.754
Maternal weight (kg)	77.68 ± 8.47	98.75 ± 7.03	<0.001*
Gestational week	38 (34-41)	39 (34-40)	0.882
Wbc in po.	8.79 ± 2.96	8.21 ± 3.41	0.385
1^{st} day $(10^3/\mu L)$			
Wbc in po.	8.29 ± 3.9	9.14 ± 3.21	0.302
$10^{th} day(10^{3}/\mu L)$			
Hb in po.1stday(g/dL)	11.79 ± 1.15	11.49 ± 1.67	0.862
Hb in po.10 th	11.04 ± 0.97	11.05 ± 1.43	0.715
day(g/dL)			
Plt in	259.92 ± 55.34	264.19 ± 58.47	0.904
po.1 st day(10 ³ /µL)			
Plt in po.10 th	203.16 ± 61.53	171.75 ± 39.69	0.316
$day(10^3/\mu L)$			
IIS	2 (8)	7 (43.75)	0.007*
HIS	0	4 (25)	0.008*
DVT	0	1 (6.25)	0.236

Variables presented as mean \pm sd and number (%). Wbc= white blood cell, Hb= hemoglobin, Plt= platelet, po.=postoperative, IIS= Infection in the incision site, HIS= Hematoma under the incision site, DVT= Deep Vein Thrombosis

The development of WSI and WSH was determined to be significantly lower in the group that received 40mg/day enoxaparin than in the group that received 60mg/day (p=0.007, p=0.008). In the comparison of the Wbc, Hb, and Plt values on the postoperative 1st and 10th days, no statistically significant difference was determined between the groups (p=0.385, p=0.302, p=0.864, p=0.715, p=0.904, p=0.316) (Table 1).

From postoperative day 1 to postoperative day 10, there was a decrease of $56.76\pm55.61\ 103/\mu$ L in the serum Plt value in the 40 mg/day enoxaparin group and a decrease of 92.44 \pm 48.53 103/ μ L in the 60 mg/day enoxaparin group. The change in Plt was statistically significant between the groups (p=0.014).

From postoperative day 1 to postoperative day 10, there was a decrease of $0.5\pm4.04 \ 103/\mu$ L in the serum WBC value in the 40 mg/day enoxaparin group and an increase of $0.92\pm3.27103/\mu$ L in the 60 mg/day enoxaparin group, and the difference between the groups was not statistically significant (p=0.128). From postoperative day 1 to postoperative day 10, there was a decrease of $0.75\pm1.70 \ \text{g/dL}$ in the serum Hb value in the 40 mg/day enoxaparin group and a decrease of $0.43\pm2.06 \ \text{g/dL}$ in the 60 mg/day enoxaparin group. The change in Hb was not statistically significant between the groups (p=0.947) (Table 2).

Table 2. Comparis	on of the	change	s in Wbo	, Hł	o and	Plt levels	of
groups from postop	erative 1st	to post	operative	10^{th}	days		
			_		< 0.		

	Enoxaparin 40 mg/day (n=25)	Enoxaparin 60 mg/day (n=16)	p value
Wbc $(10^{3}/\mu L)$	0.5 ± 4.04	-0.92 ± 3.27	0.128
Hb(g/dL)	0.75 ± 1.70	0.43 ± 2.06	0.947
$Plt(10^{3}/\mu L)$	56.76 ± 55.61	92.44 ± 48.53	0.014*

Variables presented as mean ±sd and number (%). Wbc= white blood cell, Hb= hemoglobin, Plt= platelet

4. Discussion

Within a two-year period, 41 patients who had undergone caesarean section operation in the single centre of the Obstetrics and Gynaecology Clinic of Turhal State Hospital received enoxaparin as postpartum thromboprophylaxis according to the "guidelines for the management of venous thromboembolism in pregnancy" published by the Republic of Turkey Ministry of Health in 2017. Of these patients, 16, weighing <90 kg received enoxaparin at a dose of 40mg/day and 25, weighing>90kg received 60 mg/day. The results of this study showed that with an increase in enoxaparin dose, there was an increase in the formation of WSI and WSH. Compared to enoxaparin at a dose of 40mg/day, with the use of 60mg/day, no change was observed in the serum WBC and Hb values, and a reduction was seen in Plt values.

During pregnancy, the risk of DVT or PE is approximately 0.1%, and this rate is 3-4 folds higher than in non-pregnant women of the same age (13). During the pregnancy and for 6-8 weeks postpartum, the DVT risk increases 5-6-fold. The frequency of DVT in pregnancy is 0.05%-1.8% and in pregnant patients who have a caesarean delivery, this rate increases to 2.2%-3% (14). Previous studies in literature have shown the efficacy of postpartum thromboprophylaxis (15). In a review of international guidelines, it was reported that LMWH administered for one week postpartum reduced the likelihood of DVT development by 70% (3). Caesarean section delivery increases the risk of venous thromboembolism2-fold. Nevertheless, this risk for a healthy woman with no risk factors is still low (1/1000) (1). In the current study, PE was not observed in any patient, and DVT developed in only one patient. Due to the low numbers, no significant relationship could be determined between enoxaparin dose and DVT development.

LMWH may have side-effects such as bleeding and hematoma (16). Thrombocytopenia and osteoporosis are rarely seen side-effects caused by heparin (17). In a previous observational study, the likelihood of severe hemorrhage associated with LMWH was reported to be 0.3%-1.1% (18-20). In another study, it was calculated that to prevent each DVT, treatment with LMWH would cause two major hemorrhages, seven wound hematoma, and si transfusion cases (3, 21). In contrast, Watanabe et al. reported that enoxaparin started immediately after caesarean did not increase the incidence of hemorrhagic complications and showed that of 131 cases, there was only one case of potential incision hematoma, and no change was recorded in hemoglobin (22). In the current study, of the 25 patients who received 40mg/day enoxaparin, WSI developed in two patients and no cases of WSH or DVT were observed.

In heparin-related thrombocytopenia, although the risk changes according to the form used, there is a risk of thrombocytopenia associated with all heparin preparations. Therefore, whatever type of heparin is used, the thrombocyte count of all patients using heparin should be monitored closely for at least 5-14 days after starting treatment (5, 23). This causes hypercoagulopathy, which is observed in platelet IgG antibody activation (24). In the current study, a significant reduction was seen in the Plt values from the first to the tenth day.

The selection of an appropriate and safe dose of enoxaparin is clinically important for obese women as this patient population is at high risk of developing DVT and hemorrhage after giving birth (25, 26). Of the 16 patients who received 60mg/day enoxaparin in the current study, WSI developed in 7, WSH in 4, and DVT in 1. The frequent occurrence of WSI was attributed to maternal excess weight.

There were some limitations to this study, primarily the retrospective design, and that patient data were gathered from the available patient follow-up forms and then analyzed. The low number of patients in each group may have been the reason that significant results were not obtained in the comparisons of some parameters. Therefore, there is a need for further prospective studies with a greater number of patients.

In conclusion, the Republic of Turkey Ministry of Health has set a target of the application of postpartum thromboprophylaxis to at least 50% of patients undergoing caesarean section delivery. The administration of enoxaparin at doses of 40mg/day and 60mg/day to pregnant patients at moderate – high risk of thromboembolism is effective and safe, but the side-effects of enoxaparin must not be overlooked. For patients with indications after caesarean delivery, there should be good dose adjustment of enoxaparin to be used as thromboprophylaxis.

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

References

- 1. Thromboembolism in pregnancy. Practice Bulletin No. 123. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. Obstet Gynecol 2011; 118:718– 729.
- **2.** T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı Türkiye Halk Sağlığı Kurumu. Riskli Gebelikler Yönetim Rehberi. 2014, Ankara.

- **3.** Kotaska A. Postpartum venous thromboembolism prophylaxis may cause more harm than benefit: a critical analysis of international guidelines through an evidence-based lens. BJOG. 2018; 125:1109-1116.
- Bıyık İ. Sezaryen Sonrası Tromboflaksisinin Uygulanan Olguların Değerlendirilmesi. ACU Sağlık Bil Derg 2020; 11(4):641-645.
- **5.** T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı Türkiye Halk Sağlığı Kurumu. Gebelikte venöz tromboembolizm yönetim rehberi. 2017, Ankara.
- **6.** Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists Green-Top Guideline No. 37a: Reducing the Risk of Thrombosis and Embolism During Pregnancy and the Puerperium. London: RCOG, 2015.
- 7. Sénat MV, Sentilhes L, Battut A. Postpartum practice: guidelines for clinical practice from the French College of Gynaecologists and Obstetricians (CNGOF). Eur J ObstetGynecolReprodBiol.2016;202:1-8.
- **8.** Lindqvist PG, Hellgren M. Obstetric thromboprophylaxis: the Swedish guidelines. AdvHematol. 2011; 2011:157483.
- **9.** Nystrom PO, Jonstam A, Hojer G, Ling L. Incisional infection after colorectal surgery in obese patients. ActaChirScand 1987; 153: 225-227.
- **10.** Samama MM. Epidemiology of risk factors of deep venous thrombosis (DVT) of the lower limbs in community practice: the SIRIUS study. ThrombHaemost 1993; 769:763.
- 11. Heit JA, Silverstein MD, Mohr DN, Petterson TM, O'Fallon WM, Melton LJ 3rd. Risk factors for deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism: A population-basedcase-control study. ArchInternMed 2000;160(6):809–815.
- **12.** Alikhan R, Cohen AT, Combe S. Risk factors for venous thromboembolism in hospitalized patients with acute medical illness: Analysis of the MEDENOX Study. ArchInternMed 2004;164(9):963–968.
- **13.** Shannon M. Bates. Treatment and prophylaxis of venous thromboembolism during pregnancy. ThrombosisResearch 2003; 108:97–106.
- 14. Kafkas S, Kadıköylü G. Gebelik ve kalıtsal trombofili. ADÜ Tıp Fakültesi Dergisi 2005; 6:43–50.
- **15.** Goto M, Yoshizato T, Tatsumura M. Safety and efficacy of thromboprophylaxis using enoxaparin sodium after cesarean section: A multi-centerstudy in Japan. Taiwan J

ObstetGynecol.2015;54:248-252.

- 16. Schulman S, Beyth RJ, Kearon C, Levine MN. American College of Chest Physicians. Hemorrhagic complications of anticoagulant and thrombolytic treatment: American College of Chest Physicians Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guidelines (8th Edition). Chest 2008; 133:257–298.
- 17. Sagaram D, Siddiq Z, Eisenberger AB. Heparin-Induced Thrombocytopenia during Obstetric Hospital Admissions. Am J Perinatol. 2018; 35:898-903.
- Rodger M. Pregnancy and venous thromboembolism: 'TIPPS' for risk stratification. HematologyAm. Soc. Hematol. Educ. Program 2014; 2014:387–392.
- **19.** Greer IA, Nelson-Piercy C. Low-molecular weight heparins for thromboprophylaxis and treatment of venous thromboembolism in pregnancy: a systematic review of safety and efficacy. Blood 2005; 106:401–407.
- **20.** Bauersachs RM, Dudenhausen J, Faridi A. Risk stratification and heparin prophylaxis to prevent venous thromboembolism in pregnant women. ThrombHaemost 2007; 98:1237–1245.
- **21.** Kotaska A. Postpartum venous thromboembolism prophylaxis may cause more harm than benefit: a critical analysis of international guidelines through an evidence-based lens. BJOG. 2018; 125:1109-1116.
- **22.** Watanabe T, Matsubara S, Usui R, Izumi A, Kuwata T, Suzuki M. No increase in hemorrhagic complications with thromboprophylaxis using low-molecular-weight heparin soon after cesarean section. J ObstetGynaecol Res. 2011 Sep;37(9):1208-1211.
- **23.** Arepally GM. Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. Blood. 2017; 129:2864-2872.
- 24. Cuker A, Arepally GM, Chong BH. American Society of Hematology 2018 guidelines for management of venous thromboembolism: heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. Blood Adv. 2018; 2:3360-3392. Shelkrot M, Miraka J, Perez ME. Appropriate enoxaparin dose for venous thromboembolism prophylaxis in patients with extreme obesity. Hosp Pharm. 2014 Sep;49(8):740-747.
- **25.** Gilmartin CE, Cutts BA, Ismail H. Venous thromboembolism prophylaxis of the obese postpartum patient: A cross-sectional study. Aust N Z J ObstetGynaecol. 2020 Jun;60(3):376-381.
- **26.** Greinacher A. Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. N Engl J Med. 2015; 373:1883-1884.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm

Research Article



J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 66-70 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.14

Investigation of Epstein-Barr Virus antibodies by ELISA and IFA methods

Fahriye EKŞİ^{1*} [®], Tekin KARSLIGİL¹[®], Mehmet ERİNMEZ¹[®], Mustafa PEHLİVAN² [®]

¹Department of Medical Microbiology, Faculty of Medicine, Gaziantep University, Gaziantep, Turkey ²Department of Hematology, Faculty of Medicine, Gaziantep University, Gaziantep, Turkey

Received: 17.05.2021 • Accepted/Published Online: 12.06.2021 •	Final Version: 01.01.2022
--	---------------------------

Abstract

Epstein-Barr Virus (EBV), play role in etiology of malignancies as Burkitt Lymphoma and Nasopharyngeal Carcinoma alongside very common situation like Infectious Mononucleosis. Also in patients groups, like transplant and oncologic patients whose immune system especially depressed detection of EBV reactivation is important. In this study, investigation of results defined by Immunofluorescent Antibody (IFA) and Enzyme-Linked ImmunoSorbent Assay (ELISA) methods aimed. Between 2017 July and 2020 July in our laboratory, With 7455 samples Anti-VCA IgM results detected by the ELISA method were 3.9% positive, 94.1% negative, and 3% borderline. With 5510 samples Anti-VCA IgG results detected by the ELISA method were 82,3% positive, 16.1% negative, and 1.6% borderline. With 449 samples, 32.9% of Anti-VCA IgM, 96.8% of Anti-VCA IgG, 55% of Anti-EA IgG, and 93.5% of Anti-EBNA antibody results detected by the IFA method were positive. Positive Anti-VCA IgG results were 3% by ELISA and 25% by the IFA, positive Anti-VCA IgG results were 96.3% by ELISA and 98% by IFA. ELISA Anti-VCA IgG sensitivity was found to be 96.3% and ELISA Anti-VCA IgM sensitivity was found to be 12.9% in statistical analysis, considering IFA as the gold standard. For serological diagnosis of acute EBV infection or reactivation of latent infection EBV Anti-VCA IgM, Anti-VCA IgG, Anti-EBNA IgG, Anti-EA IgG, and Anti-VCA IgG avidity antibodies should be evaluated together.

Keywords: epstein-barr virus, immunoflourescent antibody, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay, anti-epstein-barr nuclear antigen

1. Introduction

Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) is a virus from the Herpesviridae family, which can be seen quite frequently in the world, can be transmitted through oropharynx secretions through close contacts such as kissing, blood, and common items. It contains DNA as genetic material. Infectious mononucleosis (IM) is a clinical condition that can occur with symptoms such as lymphadenopathy (LAP), pharyngitis, fever, and splenomegaly in young and adult patients, while pediatric patients often pass without symptoms (1, 2). The virus can cause malignant transformation in B and T lymphocytes, epithelial cells, and smooth muscle cells. It has been shown to be associated with various cancers such as Burkitt's Lymphoma (BL), nasopharyngeal carcinoma (NFC), posttransplant lymphoproliferative disease (PTLD), gastric carcinoma, Hodgkin, and non-Hodgkin lymphoma, and leiomyosarcoma (3). In immunocompromised individuals, EBV reactivation occurs when cytotoxic T lymphocytes, B lymphocytes, as well as latent antigens are affected and cause malignant changes. This system is quite balanced to normal conditions in a healthy individual and causes almost no specific symptoms and signs. In cases where the immune system is weakened, T cell activity is reduced, such as in a solid organ or stem cell transplants, or HIV infection, virus reactivation can cause serious complications (4).

The fact that EBV infections have become an important

problem in immunocompromised patients, whose number is increasing, has increased the importance of EBV specific tests (5). It is important to detect and demonstrate the reactivation of latent EBV, especially in immunocompromised patients such as organ and bone marrow recipients or cancer patients (6). In this study, it was aimed to examine the EBV antibody results determined by Enzyme-Linked ImmunoSorbent Assay (ELISA) and Immune Fluorescent Antibody (IFA) test.

2. Materials and Methods

EBV viral capsid antibody Anti- (VCA) IgM in 7455 serum samples sent to our laboratory from various clinics of our university's hospital between July 2017 and July 2020 and Anti-VCA IgG antibodies in 5510 serum samples was investigated by ELISA method (Architect, Abbot, Wiesbaden-Germany). EBV Anti-VCA IgM, Anti-VCA IgG, Anti-EarlyAntigen (EA) IgG, Anti-Epstein-Barr Nuclear Antigen (EBNA) IgG antibodies and Anti-VCA IgG avidity in 449 serum samples with IFA method (Euroimmun, Luebeck-Germany) status has been investigated. In addition, in this study, Anti-VCA IgG and Anti-VCA IgM antibody results determined by IFA and ELISA were compared in 164 samples sent simultaneously from the same patients. The IFA method was accepted as the gold standard and the sensitivity and specificity of the ELISA test were calculated.

3. Results

Hematology 3534 (47.4%), pediatric hemato-oncology 756 (10.2%), infectious diseases 448 (6.1%), internal diseases 324 (4.3%), pediatric nephrology 289 (3.8%) and 2104 (28.2%) from other clinics among the 7455 anti-VCA IgM antibodies investigated by ELISA, 298 (4.1%) were positive, 7018 (94.1%) were negative, 139 (1.8%) were determined as intermediate values (Table 1). The average age of these patients, whose age range is 1-88, is 46, the gender distribution is 3986 (53.5%) male and 3469 (46.5%) female.

 Table 1. EBV Anti-VCA IgM and Anti-VCA IgG antibody results

 determined by ELISA

	Anti-VCA	Anti-VCA IgG
	IgM n (%)	n (%)
Positive	298 (4.1%)	4539 (82.3%)
Negative	7018 (94.1%)	886(16.1%)
Intermediate	139 (1.8%)	85 (1.6%)
Total	7455 (100%)	5510 (100%)

Hematology 1924 (34.9%), pediatric hemato-oncology 692 (12.6%), internal diseases 536 (9.8%), infectious diseases 327 (5.9%), pediatrics 298 (5.4%) and 1733 (31.4%) samples from other clinics. Of the 5510 samples investigated for anti-VCA IgG antibody, 4539 (82.3%) were positive, 886 (16.1%) were negative, and 85 (1.6%) were determined as intermediate values (Table 1). The average age of these patients, whose age range is 1-79, is 34, the gender distribution is 3101 (56.2%) male and 2409 (43.8%) female.

Hematology 398 (88.6%), pediatrics 29 (6.5%), and 22 (4.9%) from other clinics, 148 (32.9%) of 449 samples investigated by IFA method had Anti-VCA IgM, 435 (96.8%) had Anti -VCA IgG was found to be positive in 247 (55%) Anti-EA IgG, 420 (93.5%) with anti-EBNA antibodies, low avidity in 33 (7.3%) of the samples studied with the IFA test, 416 (92.7%), high avidity was detected (Table 2). The

average age of these patients, whose age range is 1-67, is 41, the gender distribution is 237 male (52.7%) and 212 female (47.3%).

Table 2. EBV profile results determined by IFA			
	Positive	Negative	Total n (%)
Anti-VCA IgM n(%)	148 (32.9%)	301 (67.1%)	449 (100%)
Anti-VCA IgG n(%)	435 (96.8%)	14 (3.2%)	449 (100%)
Anti-EA IGG	247 (55%)	202 (45%)	449 (100%)
Anti- EBNA IgG	420 (93.5%)	29 (6.5%)	449 (100%)
	High n(%)	Low n(%)	Total n(%)
Anti-VCA IgG Avidity	416 (92.6%)	33 (7.3%)	449 (100%)

Anti-VCA IgM and Anti-VCA IgG antibodies were studied simultaneously with IFA and ELISA tests in a total of 164 samples, 146 of whom were from the Hematology clinic, in 3% of the patients with the Anti-VCA IgM antibody ELISA, in 25% with IFA, Anti-VCA IgG antibody was detected as positive in 96.3% by ELISA and 98.1% by IFA (Table 3). While ELISA and IFA were consistent, differences were found in Anti-VCA IgM results. ELISA Anti-VCA IgG sensitivity was found to be 96.3%, while ELISA Anti-VCA IgM sensitivity was 12.9% in the statistical analysis performed by accepting IFA as the gold standard. Anti-VCA IgM antibody results, the p-value was <0.00001 (p <0.05), Anti-VCA IgG results were statistically insignificant; the pvalue is .310579 (p <0.05) when two methods were compared with Pearson Chi-Square test. EBV other antibody results of these patients are given in Table 4. The average age of these patients, whose age range is 3-77, is 45, the gender distribution is 94 (57.3%) male and 70 (42.7%) female.

Table 3. Comparison of Anti-	VCA IgM and Anti-	-VCA IgG antibody results	in patient samples studied	with ELISA and IFA method

	Anti-VCA IgM n (%)		Anti-VCA IgG n (%)	
	ELISA	IFA	ELISA	IFA
Positive	5 (3%)	41 (25%)	158 (96.3%)	161 (98.1%)
Negative	159 (97%)	123 (75%)	6 (3.7%)	3 (1.9%)
Total	164 (100%)	164 (100%)	164 (%100)	164 (100%)

Table 4. IFA EBV Profile results of patients compared with ELISA

 and IFA antibody results

and if if antibody results			
	Positive n (%)	Negative n (%)	Total n (%)
Anti-EA IgG	99 (% 57)	65 (%43)	164 (%100)
Anti-EBNA IgG	134 (%81.4)	30 (%18.6)	164 (%100)
	High avidity n(%)	Low avidity n(%)	Total n (%)
Anti-VCA IgG Avidity	157 (%94.7)	7 (%5.3)	164 (%100)

4. Discussion

By detecting antibodies produced against four different antigens of EBV, the infection is diagnosed serologically and the infection period is determined. These antigens; VCA is

67

the diffuse component of EA (EA / D), the restrictive component of EA (EA / R), and the nuclear antibody (EBNA). In acute infection, EBV VCA IgG, IgM, and EA antibodies are positive, and EBNA antibodies are negative. Four weeks after the onset of the acute period, VCA IgM disappears, while VCA IgG is detected positive in serum for life. Anti VCA IgG and EBNA are persistent for life and are an indicator of chronic virus carriers (7). Specific serological tests for EBV antigens are used to identify EBV infection and distinguish between other mononucleosis-causing to infections. The diagnosis of primary and past EBV infection can often be made by looking at only 3 parameters: anti-VCA IgM, anti-VCA IgG and anti-EBNA IgG antibodies. Most likely, anti-VCA IgM and anti-VCA IgG positivity as well as anti-EBNA IgG negativity favor acute infection, presence of anti-VCA IgG and anti-EBNA IgG, absence of anti-VCA IgM past infection (8). In cases where there is only anti-VCA IgG in the absence of anti-VCA IgM and anti-EBNA IgG, or in cases where all three parameters are present, it may be difficult to diagnose infections such as acute, past or reactivation serologically. The presence of isolated anti-EBNA IgG may also raise suspicion. To interpret such

profiles, detection of anti-IgM and anti-IgG antibodies by IFA, immunoblot test, detection of anti-VCA IgG avidity and anti-EA / D antibodies, and viral genome determination by molecular methods can be used. These tests can be useful to identify possible infection status and to resolve problems that may arise in routine laboratory practice (6, 8, 9–11).

Anti-EBV Antibodies			Evaluation
VCA IgM	VCA IgG	EBNA IgG	
Negative	Negative	Negative	Not exposed to EBV infection
Positive	Negative	Negative	Acute infection early or nonspecific*
Positive	Positive	Negative	Acute infection
Negative	Positive	Positive	Past infection
Negative	Positive	Negative	Acute or past infection *
Positive	Positive	Positive	Late primary infection or reactivation *
Negative	Negative	Positive	Past infection or nonspecific *

*: Atypical serological profile

Table 6. Possible causes of atypical ebv serological profiles and further review suggestions

Atypical Profile	Possible Causes	Further Review
Isolated VCA IgG positivity	EBV VCA IgM may not have been produced, can be found in low concentration (false negativity), can occur 1-2 weeks after VCA IgG. In 5% of past infections, EBNA IgG may not be produced or may be produced below the detection limit (False negativity), present in immunocompromised patients may disappear over time.	-Immunoblot -VCA IgG Avidity -EBV DNA Research -Heterophil Antibody Tests -Repetition of tests after 30 days -Anti EA-IgG research
Combination positivity of EBNA IgG, VCA IgM and VCA IgG	VCA IgM may remain positive for several more months after acute infection, may occur in EBV reactivation, may persist from primary infection. Late period of primary infection where EBNA IgG is newly formed. False positivity can be found in VCA IgM during CMV, Parvovirus B19, Toxoplasma gondii, HAV, HIV infections.	-Immunoblot -VCA IgG Avidity -EBV DNA Research -Heterophil Antibody Tests -Repetition of tests after 30 days -Anti EA-IgG research - Parvovirus IgM and CMV IgM analysis
Isolated EBNA IgG positivity	VCA IgG Loss in previous infection	-Immunoblot -Anti EA-IgG research -Heterophil Antibody Tests

After primary infection, EBV can enter the latent phase and then reactivation can be observed depending on the immunological status of the host. In reactivation, virus replication and excretion usually occur asymptomatically. In rare cases, reactivation is associated with clinical manifestations such as EBV-associated lymphoproliferative disorders, mostly in individuals with compromised T-cell immune systems, such as in AIDS patients and transplant recipients. In addition, EBV is also associated with Burkitt's Lymphoma and Nasopharyngeal Carcinoma in individuals with strong immune systems (12). Due to such reasons and its importance in the differential diagnosis, early and correct diagnosis of EBV is very important. Conventionally, antibodies against EBV are measured by IFA. IFA is considered the 'gold standard' in the serological diagnosis of EBV infection (1, 13). The use of IFA in EBV infected cells

is the reference method for determining specific EBV antibodies (14). However, the disadvantages of the IFA method are nonspecific immunofluorescent staining, difficulties in standardization, requiring experienced personnel, and subjective interpretation of the results. It is therefore important to determine the sensitivity and specificity of the ELISA method, in which many sera can be evaluated more practically, compared to IFA (15, 16). EBV infections are acquired at different ages in different socioeconomic groups, and this may affect clinical presentation (17). The positivity rates in various age groups in a variety of low seroprevalence studies reported from Turkey at 70%, was reported to be the highest at 99.4% (18-21). In these studies, seroprevalence was investigated using the ELISA method and it is consistent with the results of our study.

Haque et al. (15) found 97% compatibility between IFA and ELISA in a study, while ELISA was found to be less sensitive than IFA. Farber et al. (23), EBV VCA IgG was measured by ELISA and IFA, and the compatibility between the two methods was examined, and ELISA was shown to be 95% compatible with IFA for VCA IgG. According to IFA, the sensitivity of ELISA for EBV VCA IgG was determined as 94% and specificity was 97.8% (23). Michalek et al. (22) emphasized that serology and DNA analysis should be evaluated together in the diagnosis of EBV infections in pediatric oncology patients, and serological tests alone are not sufficient in the diagnosis. Serological profiles that can be obtained by the ELISA method and their interpretations are given in Table 5, and some atypical situations that may be encountered in interpreting the profiles are given in Table 6. In the interpretation of serological profiles, acute or previous infection or reactivation comments cannot always be made clear.

Kaşifoğlu et al. (24), ELISA and IFA compliance rates were found to be 100% for seronegativity, 100% for acute primary infection, 22.2% for late primary infection, and 92.1% for the previous infection. In our study, while ELISA and IFA Anti-VCA IgG results were consistent, differences were found in Anti-VCA IgM results. In the statistical analysis performed by accepting the IFA as the gold standard, ELISA Anti-VCA IgG sensitivity was found 96.3%, while ELISA Anti-VCA IgM sensitivity was found 12.9%.

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

References

- 1. Nowalk A, Green M. Epstein-Barr Virus. Microbiol Spectr. 2016; 4(3).
- Hsu JL, Glaser SL. Epstein-barr virus-associated malignancies: epidemiologic patterns and etiologic implications. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2000; 34(1):27-53.
- Duca KA, Shapiro M, Delgado-Eckert E, Hadinoto V, Jarrah AS, Laubenbacher R, et al. A virtual look at Epstein-Barr virus infection: Biological Interpretations. Plos Pathog. 2007; 3(10):1388-400.
- 4. Mithoe GD, Boelens E, Drenth J, Feikens HP, Benne CA. Comparison of five Epstein Barr virus (EBV) enzyme immunoassays, an automated chemiluminescence assay and immunoblot assay with the EBV immunofluorescence assay as a reference. Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd. 2007; 15(1):122.
- Ağaçfidan A, Bozacı M, Badur S. Epstein Barr virusu infeksiyonlarının tanısında kullanılan serolojik yöntemlerin değerlendirilmesi. Klimik Derg. 1991; 3:133-5.
- 6. Nystad TW, Myrmel H. Prevalence of primary versus reactivated Epstein-Barr virus infection in patients with VCA IgG, VCA IgM and EBNA-1 antibodies and suspected infectious mononucleosis. J ClinVirol. 2007; 38: 292-7.
- 7. Sumaya CV, Ench Y. Epstein-Barr virus infectious mononucleosis in children. II. Heterophil antibody and viral-

In our study, when the VCA IgM IFA and ELISA results were compared, a difference was found in the positivity rates. When we examine this result, it is known that the evaluation of IFA test requires experienced personnel. Experienced personnel are employed in our laboratory as well. At the same time, it was found that the VCA IgM antibody positivity evaluation of the kit used in this study was a little more difficult, besides easily detecting other antibodies. We think it is important for the manufacturing company to consider this assessment.

VCA IgM antibodies can persist for months after acute infection (25) and reappear in reactivation situations (26). In some cases, VCA IgM may not be produced or appear in VCA IgG after 1-2 weeks, or they are produced in concentrations too low to be detected by standard methods (8). It may be useful to consult the EA IgG and Anti-VCA IgG results to interpret the VCA IgM antibodies investigated by both IFA and ELISA methods in acute or past infection or reactivation situations.

Especially for Anti-VCA IgM, there is a need to compare IFA and ELISA results in larger patient groups. In the serological diagnosis of acute EBV infection, late primary infection, or reactivation, anti-VCA IgM, Anti-VCA IgG, Anti-EBNA IgG, Anti-EA IgG and Anti-VCA IgG avidity antibodies of EBV antibodies should be evaluated together.

specific responses. Pediatrics. 1985; 75:1011-9.

- De Paschale M, Clerici P. Serological diagnosis of Epstein-Barr virus infection: Problems and solutions. World J Virol. 2012; 1(1):31-43.
- Hess RD. Routine Epstein-Barr virus diagnostics from the laboratory perspective: stil challenging after 35 years. J Clin Microbiol. 2004; 42:3381-7.
- **10.** Sener AG, Afsar I, Pinar E. Evaluation of Epstein-Barr virus antibodies, anti-VCA avidity by immunofluorescence and immunoblot assays for assessment of Epstein-Barr virus immunologic state. J Virol Methods. 2009; 159:300-2.
- Altuglu I, Aksoy A, Zeytinoglu A, Orman M. Evaluation of immunoblot-based assay for detecting Epstein-Barr virus viral capsid antibodies. Mikrobiyol Bul. 2010; 44:231-6.
- 12. Gartner BC, Fischinger JM, Roemer K, Mak M, Fleurent B, Mueller-Lantzsch N. Evaluation of a recombinant line blot for diagnosis of Epstein-Barr Virus compared with ELISA, using immunoflorescence as reference method. J Virol Methods. 2001; 93:89-96.
- Fung MK, Mordarski KT, Bader SA, Gronowski AM. Evaluation of the Wampole Laboratories ELISA-based assay for Epstein-Barr virus serology. Clin Chim Acta. 2002; 319:43-8.
- 14. Debyser Z, Reynders M, Goubau P, Desmyter J. Comparative evaluation of three ELISA techniques and an indirectimmunofluorescence assay for the serological diagnosis of Epstein-Barr virus infection. Clin Diagn Virol. 1997; 8:71-81.
- Haque T, Iliadou P, Hossain A, Crawford DH. Seroepidemiological study of Epstein-Barr virus infection in Bangladesh. J MedVirol. 1996; 48:17-21.

- **16.** Hotchin NA, Crawford DH. The diagnosis of Epstein-Barrvirus associated disease. In: Morgan-Capner P, editors. Currenttopics in clinical virology. London: Laversham Pres; 1991, p. 115-40.
- **17.** Wang PS, Evans AS. Prevalence of antibodies to Epstein-Barr virus and cytomegalovirus in sera from a group of children in the People's Republic of China. J Infect Dis. 1986; 153:150-2.
- Fidan I, Yüksel S, Imir T. Değişik yaş gruplarında Epstein-Barr virus antikorlarının araştırılması. İnfeksiyon Derg. 2005; 19:453-6.
- 19. Feyzioğlu B, Özdemir M, Baykan M, Baysal B. Epstein-Barr virüs infeksiyonunun tanısında indirekt immünoflöresan ve ELISA tanı metodlarının karşılaştırılması. Selçuk Üniv Tıp Derg. 2011; 27:77-82.
- 20. Soylu M, Zeytinoğlu A, Altuğlu I. Ege Üniversitesi Hastanesi'ne başvuran hastalarda enzim işaretli floresan test ile elde edilen Epstein-Barr virüsü serolojik test sonuçlarının değerlendirilmesi. Ege J Med. 2014; 53:119-23.
- Ozkan A, Kilic SS, Kalkan A, Ozden M, Demirdag K, Ozdarendeli A. Seropositivity of Epstein-Barr virus in Eastern Anatolian Region of Turkey. Asian Pac J Allergy Immunol.

2003; 21:49-53.

- **22.** Michalek J, Horvath R. High incidence of Epstein-Barr virus, Cytomegalovirus and Human Herpesvirus 6 infections in children with cancer. BMC Pediatr. 2002; 2:1.
- 23. Farber I, Hinderer W, Rothe M, Lang D, Sonneborn HH, Wutzler P. Serological diagnosis of Epstein-Barr virus infection by novel ELISAs based on recombinant capsid antigens p23 and p18. J MedVirol. 2001; 63:271-6.
- **24.** Kaşifoğlu N, Oz S, Dinleyici E. Comparison of Methods Used for the Diagnosis of Epstein-BarrViru sInfections in Children. Pol J Microbiol Vol. 2018; 67(1):81–88.
- **25.** Evans AS, Niederman JC, Cenabre LC, West B, Richards VA. A prospective evaluation of heterophile and Epstein-Barr virus-specific IgM antibody tests in clinical and subclinical infectious mononucleosis: Specificity and sensitivity of the tests and persistence of antibody. J Infect Dis. 1975; 132:546–554.
- Schmitz H, Volz D, Krainick-Riechert C, Scherer M. Acute Epstein-Barr virus infections in children. Med Microbiol Immunol. 1972; 158:58–63.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm

Research Article



2022; 39(1): 71-74 doi: 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.15

Determinants for poor perinatal outcome in term pregnancies with umbilical cord prolapse

Burak ERSAK*[®], Mahmut Kuntay KOKANALI[®], Duygu TUĞRUL[®], Yüksel OĞUZ[®], Yasemin TASCI[®]

Department Obstetrics and Gynecology, University of Health Science, Ankara, Turkey

Received: 23.05.2021	•	Accepted/Published Online: 01.06.2021	٠	Final Version: 01.01.2022

Abstract

Umblical cord prolapse is a very rare condition. It is an obstetric emergency that can have unfavourable consequences for the fetus. We aimed to investigate the determinants for poor perinatal outcome following emergency cesarean delivery performed due to umbilical cord prolapse in uncomplicated term pregnancies. Fifty-three term pregnants and their babies born with cesarean section due to umbilical cord prolapse were included in this retrospective study. Newborns who were taken to neonatal intensive care unit were defined as poor perinatal outcome. Eleven of fifty-three newborns needed intensive care. All of them were discharged without any problem after the treatment. The presence of fetal distress detected before or during the umbilical cord prolapse was found to be the only marker associated with poor perinatal outcome. Abnormalities detected in fetal heart rate monitoring before or during umblical cord prolapse increase poor perinatal outcome in uncomplicated term pregnancies.

Keywords: cesarean section, perinatal outcome, umblical cord, newborn

1. Introduction

Umbilical cord prolapse (UCP) is a rare condition in obstetrics practice. Its incidence is generally reported to be between 0.1%-0.6% and increases in non-cephalic presentations, multiple pregnancies, polyhydramnios, or early gestational ages (1, 2). It is classified as an obstetric emergency because it can cause poor neonatal outcomes such as hypoxic encephalopathy and death (2).

Some predictors for perinatal outcome have been identified including location where the prolapse occurred, diagnosis-to-delivery interval (DDI), gestational age/birthweight of the fetus and mode of delivery (3). While when UCP occurs outside the hospital, the mortality rate has been reported as 44% and it has been reported 3% when it occurs inside the hospital (4). Premature and low birth weight infants have less favorable outcomes, and the risk of perinatal mortality was 2-fold higher than in those without UCP (5). In some studies, it has been found that DDI less than 30 minutes is associated with higher Apgar scores (6). And emergency cesarean section (ECS) delivery reduces the risk of perinatal mortality and morbidity compared to vaginal delivery. Nevertheless, poor perinatal outcome may also occur when CS is applied promptly (7).

Umbilical cord prolapse is believed to be as an "all or non event condition' that causes overwhelming neurological injuries and death. It may cause brain damage to fetus (2, 3). However, there is insufficient information about the factors that may be associated with poor perinatal outcome even when emergency interventions are performed. In our study,

we aimed to investigate whether there are any factors that increase the probability of poor perinatal outcome in cesarean delivery which is applied urgently in uncomplicated term pregnancies due to UCP indication.

2. Materials and Methods

This retrospective study included pregnant women who were delivered by cesarean section due to UCP at Zekai Tahir Burak Woman's Health Education and Research Hospital over a 5-year period. The detection of a segment of the umbilical cord descending through the cervix to the vagina in front of the presenting part of fetus was defined as UCP (3). In our clinics, as soon as UCP is detected, the prolapsed cord is pushed manually from the vagina and an immediate ECS is performed. Pregnant women who were included in the study had term pregnancy and all had singleton vertex presentation fetuses. Pregnant women with complications such as diabetes mellitus, intrauterine hypertension. growth restriction, polyhydramnios was excluded from the study. Multiple pregnancies were also excluded. In addition, pregnant women who had insufficient data about pregnancy follow-up, labor process and perinatal period were excluded from the study. Necessary approval was obtained from the institutional review board of the hospital for the study.

The presence of admission to the neonatal intensive care unit (NICU) of the newborn following cesarean section was defined as poor perinatal outcome. Pregnant women with poor perinatal outcome were classified as case group, while the women with no poor perinatal outcome constituted the control group. The data were retrieved from the hospital records and each reviewed with special interest to the demographic parameters and the pregnancy status of the mothers. The gestational age (corrected by the first trimester ultrasonography) and the delivery phase at which the UCP occurred as well as intrapartum fetal well-being determinants (meconium-stained amniotic fluid and fetal heart rate monitoring record), DDI, and the perinatal outcome were also noted. The detection of any recurrent abnormal fetal heartbeat decelerations during fetal heart rate monitoring (FHRM) including prolonged decelerations, moderate-to-severe variable decelerations, late decelerations combined with absent or minimal variability, or bradycardia with a reduction in baseline FHR to less than 70 beats per minute was defined as fetal distress (8).

Statistical analyses were carried out by using the statistical packages for SPSS 17.0 for Windows (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to determine the data distributions. Continuous variables were expressed

as mean \pm standard deviation, and categorical variables were given as number (percentage). Continuous variables were analyzed using Students' t-test and categorical variables were compared using a $\chi 2$ test. Factors classified as related risk factors for poor perinatal outcome were assessed using multivariate logistic regression model. The p values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

3. Results

UCP was detected in 68 (0.12%) of 56179 term pregnant women delivered in our hospital during the study period. After exclusion criteria, 53 pregnant women were determined to be eligible for the study. Eleven (20.8%) of them constituted the case group, while 42 (79.2%) of them constituted the control group. All newborns in the case group were taken to NICU due to respiratory distress and were discharged from the hospital without any problem after treatment. No perinatal mortality was detected in the newborns of the study.

Table 1. The clinical and demographic characteristics of groups

	Case group (n=11)	Control group (n=42)	р	
Woman's age (year)	27.63±1.80	27.90±3.36	0.800	
Gestational age (day)	275.37±6.33	275.26±4.90	0.954	
Multiparity	6 (54.5)	23 (54.8)	0.990	
Labor induction with oxytocin	7 (63.6)	26 (61.9)	0.916	
ARMs	10 (90.9)	35 (83.3)	0.532	
Early ARM (before 5 cm cervical dilatation)	4 (36.4)	14 (33.3)	0.850	
Meconium-stained amniotic fluid	4 (36.4)	6 (14.3)	0.096	
Cervical dilatation (cm) during UCP	$6.00{\pm}1.00$	5.14±1.76	0.129	
Fetal head engagement	4 (36.4)	11 (26.2)	0.505	
Antecedent or coincedent fetal distress	9 (81.8)	12 (28.6)	0.001	
Diagnosis to delivery interval (min.)	21.95±3.94	20.18±4.38	0.200	
Diagnosis to delivery interval >30 min.	1 (9.1)	2 (4.8)	0.580	
Diagnosis to delivery interval>20 min.	7 (63.6)	30 (71.4)	0.616	
Newborn birth weight (gr)	3740.00±515.93	3721.90±383.63	0.898	
Newborn birth weight ≥4000 gr	6 (54.5)	12 (28.6)	0.046	
Newborn gender ratio (male/female)	7:4	19:23	0.277	
Values were presented as mean±standard deviation and number (%) UCP: Umblical cord prolapse: ARM: Artificial rupture of membranes. p<0.05 was				

Values were presented as mean±standard deviation and number (%). UCP: Umblical cord prolapse; ARM: Artificial rupture of membranes. p<0.05 was considered as statistically significant.

Table 2. Multivariate analysis of possible risk factors for poor perinatal outcome

	Wald	S.E.	р	OR (95% CI)
Cervical dilatation during UCP	2.37	0.34	0.123	0.59 (0.31-1.15)
Antecedent or coincedent fetal distress	9.04	1.34	0.003	56.16 (4.07-775.61)
Meconium-stained amniotic fluid	1.33	1.36	0.249	4.81 (0.33-69.52)
Diagnosis to delivery interval	1.13	0.12	0.287	1.14 (0.90-1.44)
Newborn birth weight ≥4000 gr	0.40	1.04	0.228	1.93 (0.25-14.82)
Newborn gender ratio (male/female)	3.07	1.51	0.080	14.14 (0.73-274.38)

UCP: Umblical cord prolapse; SE: Standart error; OR: Odds ratio, CI: Confidence Interval. p<0.05 was considered as statistically significant

The clinical and demographic characteristics of the groups were listed in Table 1. Maternal and gestational age did not reveal any significant differences between the groups (p=0.800 and p=0.954; respectively). In both groups, more than half of the pregnancies were multiparous (p = 0.990) and more than half were administered oxytocin infusion for labor induction (p = 0.916). In each group, almost all of the pregnancies (90.9% vs. 83.3%) had undergone an artificial rupture of membranes (ARMs) (p=0.532), and about a third of these (36.4% vs. 33.3%) were early ARM (p= 0.850). Although the presence of meconium-stained amniotic fluid was detected more frequently in the case group, the difference between the groups was not significant (36.4% vs. 14.3%; p= 0.096). The cervical dilatation measurements when UCP occurred (p=0.129) and the state of engagement of the fetal head (p=0.505) were similar in both groups. DDI duration in the case group was 21.95 \pm 3.94 min, and in the control group it was 20.18 \pm 4.38 min. and these values did not reveal a

statistical difference (p=0.200). There were also no significant differences between the groups in terms of DDI >30 or >20frequency (p=0.580 and p=0.616, respectively). Similarly, no significant difference was found between the birth weights of the newborns (3740.00±515.93 gr vs. 3721.90±383.63 gr; p=0.898). In addition, considering the neonatal gender, the male gender in case group and female gender in the control group was higher, but this difference was not statistically significant (p=0.277). On the other hand, the presence of antecedent or coincident fetal distress (81.8% vs. 28.6%) and newborns with \geq 4000gr birthweight (54.5% vs. 28.6%) were significantly more frequent in the case group than in the control group (p=0.001 and p=0.046; respectively). Variable decelerations detected during FHRM in 5 (55.6%) pregnant women and absent / minimal variability in 4 (4.4%) pregnant women were defined as fetal distress. In the control group, the number of these pregnant women was 7 (58.3%) and 5 (41.7%), respectively. The multivariate analysis found that the only significant independent risk factor for poor perinatal outcome was the presence of antecedent or coincident fetal distress (Odds Ratio= 56.16 95% Confidence Interval= 4.07-775.61; p=0.003) (Table 2).

4. Discussion

UCP is an obstetric disaster, fortunately its frequency is quite rare, as found in our study. Today, although the rate of perinatal mortality has gradually decreased in the presence of UCP due to scientific and technological developments in obstetric practice, UCP still causes serious health consequences (9). In our study, we did not observe mortality in any newborn. We think that this result is important and shows that we apply the appropriate management in the presence of UCP. It has been previously reported that mechanical occlusion caused by compression of umbilical cord between the presenting part of fetus and surrounding tissues or vasospasm developing in the umbilical cord due to relatively cold environment in the vagina during UCP may disrupt fetal blood supply and the oxygenation. Also, it was shown to cause deep or total acute asphyxia or subacute hypoxia with poor neonatal outcome (10). In our clinical practice, when we detect UCP, we perform the ECS immediately. At the same time, we also elevate the fetal presenting part with digital examination. In this way, the pressure and the risk of occlusion on the umbilical cord is reduced. We also prepare optimal emergency resuscitation conditions that the newborn may need after birth. We think that these management strategies improve neonatal outcome. Indeed, in the literature, it has been reported that perinatal outcomes during UCP have improved with more liberal ECS administration and better and faster neonatal care (3,11).

Considering the risk factors for poor perinatal outcome related to UCP, the only determined factor was the presence of fetal distress identified before or during UCP. In our study, most of the newborns with poor perinatal outcome (81.8%) had signs of distress in their FHR tracing before delivery. On

the other hand, in most of the newborns with no poor outcome (71.4%), signs of fetal distress were not identified. Huang et al. reported that fetal distress to be a strong determinant for low apgar score and poor perinatal outcome, and even severe fetal distress accompanying UCP may be associated with fetal death (10). In contrast, Koonings et al. did not observe any fetal death in the presence of variable deceleration or prolonged deceleration that they detected during fetal monitoring in UCP cases (4). In another study, Nizard et al showed that the incidence of adverse neonatal outcomes was low in the presence of normal findings in FHR monitoring, which lasted at least 20 minutes after the diagnosis of UCP (12). All these studies support our study, albeit partially. As a result of our study and the findings of the above studies, it can be said that the severity and duration of the fetal distress are as important as the presence of fetal distress. However, fetal monitoring alone may be insufficient to show the perinatal outcome. Fetuses with low reserves against distress can experience worse outcomes in the presence of UCP. The fact that fetal death was not observed in the UCP cases accompanied by the findings of variable deceleration and variability loss in our study similar to the findings in the study of Koonings et al. suggest that fetuses with these monitoring findings may have relatively sufficient reserves against UCP. However, additional studies are needed regarding which monitoring finding makes UCP more dangerous for the fetus.

UCP can quickly lead to a dangerous condition for the fetus, resulting in long-term disability or death. Therefore, if the fetus is alive when UCP is diagnosed, it is necessary to deliver it quickly. This type of prompt intervention can positively affect the fetal outcome (6). The generally accepted approach is to deliver UCP cases by ECS delivery. For UCP, which occurs in the first stage of the labor, where there is no full dilatation in the cervix, delivery by ECS is inevitable. In the second stage of the labor, when the cervix is completely dilated, an instrumental delivery can be applied, but even in this case, there are studies reporting that perinatal outcomes are better with ECS (3,6). As we have already mentioned, when we diagnose UCP, we perform ECS delivery in our clinical approach. Therefore, no case in our study was delivered vaginally, which led to the inability to compare the effect of vaginal delivery and cesarean delivery on perinatal outcome.

Although DDI is reported as a determining factor for fetal outcome, there is no full consensus on optimal value for this period. While the German Society of Gynecologists and Obstetricians recommends a maximum of 20 minutes for favorable fetal outcome (13), the Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (14) and the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists and the American Academy of Pediatrics (15) emphasize that this period should not exceed 30 minutes. On the other hand, poor outcomes can be observed in those born with DDIs that are less than 20 minutes, while it has not always been shown that adverse outcomes are always present for babies born much longer than 30 minutes (16,17). Such contradictions suggest that other factors besides DDI may also be effective. In our study, the mean DDI values (approximately 20 minutes for both) and >20 and >30 minutes DDI frequency of the groups were similar. The number of newborns delivered within 30 minutes was 3, but 1 of them was in the poor outcome group. All babies were discharged without any problem. Our hospital is a refereed center that is active 24 hours a day and has sufficient equipment regarding all kinds of staff and tools in the obstetric field. Therefore, UCP diagnosis can be made easily during labor follow-up and delivery via ECS can be performed quickly, ensuring that the DDI process is short for patients. Perhaps that we have such equipment and ability to intervene quickly leads to good perinatal results. Thus, DDI has moved away from being a factor that may lead to poor perinatal outcome for our study.

The retrospective character of our study may have caused limitations on the variety and reliability of the data. However, it should be remembered that conducting a controlled prospective study on UCP can be very difficult and force ethical rules. In addition, there are no long-term follow-up results for newborns in our study. As a result of this, the morbidity / mortality assessment of the future periods that

References

- 1. Gabbay-Benziv R, Maman M, Wiznitzer A, Linder N, Yogev Y. Umbilical cord prolapse during delivery - risk factors and pregnancy outcome: a single center experience. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2014;27(1):14-17. doi:10.3109/14767058.2013.799651
- 2. Gibbons C, O'Herlihy C, Murphy JF. Umbilical cord prolapse-changing patterns and improved outcomes: a retrospective cohort BJOG. 2014;121(13):1705-1708. doi:10.1111/1471study 0528.12890
- 3. Sayed Ahmed WA, Hamdy MA. Optimal management of umbilical cord prolapse. Int J Womens Health. 2018; 10:459-465. Published 2018 Aug 21. doi:10.2147/IJWH.S130879
- 4. Koonings PP, Paul RH, Campbell K. Umbilical cord prolapse. A contemporary look. J Reprod Med. 1990;35(7):690-692.
- 5. Lin MG. Umbilical cord prolapse. Obstet Gynecol Surv. 2006;61(4):269-277. doi: 10.1097/01.ogx.0000208802.20908.c6
- 6. Alouini S, Mesnard L, Megier P, Lemaire B, Coly S, Desroches A. Procidence du cordon: prise en charge obstétricale et conséquences néonatales [Management of umbilical cord prolapse and neonatal outcomes]. J Gynecol Obstet Biol Reprod (Paris). 2010;39(6):471-477. doi: 10.1016/j.jgyn.2010.05.013
- 7. Critchlow CW, Leet TL, Benedetti TJ, Daling JR. Risk factors and infant outcomes associated with umbilical cord prolapse: a population-based case-control study among births in Washington Obstet 1994;170(2):613-618. State. Am J Gynecol. doi:10.1016/s0002-9378(94)70238-1
- 8. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. ACOG Practice Bulletin No. 106: Intrapartum fetal heart rate monitoring: nomenclature, interpretation, and general management principles. Obstetrics and gynecology, 114(1), 192-202. doi:10.1097/AOG.0b013e3181aef106

UCP may cause could not be investigated completely. Unfortunately, the current literature is still insufficient in this regard. On the other hand, since UCP is a very rare condition, there are limited number of studies on UCP and we think that the studies on this subject are important and valuable for the literature.

In conclusion, although UCP is a rare condition during the labor of uncomplicated term pregnant women, it may cause poor results for the newborn. In particular, abnormalities in FHR monitoring detected before or during UCP increase the need of NICU for newborn. Whereas, when the diagnosis of UCP is made, vaginal elevation of the presented part, performing immediate cesarean delivery in a short time and providing optimal care conditions for the newborn increase the expectation of the specialist and parents about good perinatal outcomes. Therefore, providing adequate medical facilities and staffing is very important to improve perinatal outcome during UCP.

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

- 9. Hehir MP et al Perinatal death associated with umbilical cord prolapse. Journal of perinatal medicine, 45(5), 565-570. doi: 10.1515/jpm-2016-0223
- 10. Huang JP, Chen CP, Chen CP, Wang KG, Wang KL. Term pregnancy with umbilical cord prolapse. Taiwan J Obstet Gynecol. 2012;51(3):375-380. doi: 10.1016/j.tjog.2012.07.010
- 11. Obeidat N, Zayed F, Alchalabi H, Obeidat B, El-Jallad MF, Obeidat M. Umbilical cord prolapse: a 10-year retrospective study in two civil hospitals, North Jordan. J Obstet Gynaecol. 2010;30(3):257-260. doi:10.3109/01443610903474330
- 12. Nizard J. Neonatal Outcome Following Prolonged Umbilical Cord Prolapse in Preterm Premature Rupture of Membranes. BJOG; an international journal of obstetrics and gynaecology, 112(6), 833-836. doi:10.1111/j.1471-0528.2005.00603.x
- 13. Roemer VM, Heger-Römermann G. Clinic structure and timely management of emergency cesarean section--reference values recommendations. Z Geburtshilfe and Perinatol. 1993;197(4):153-161.
- 14. Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. Umbilical Cord Prolapse: Green-top Guideline No. 50. London, UK: RCOG, 2014.
- 15. Guidelines for Perinatal Care. 5th ed. Elk Grove Village, IL, Washington, DC: AAP, ACOG; 2002. American Academy of College Pediatrics, American of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists; p. 147.
- 16. Bloom SL, Leveno KJ, Spong CY, et al. Decision-to-incision times and maternal and infant outcomes. Obstet Gynecol. 2006;108(1):6-11. doi:10.1097/01.AOG.0000224693.07785.14
- 17. Thomas J, Paranjothy S, James D. National cross sectional survey to determine whether the decision to delivery interval is critical emergency caesarean section. BMJ. in 2004;328(7441):665. doi:10.1136/bmj.38031.775845.7C



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm

Research Article

Ţ

J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 75-79 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.16

MRI utilization in pediatric emergency department: An analysis over 5 years

Ünal AKÇA¹[®], Gülfer AKÇA¹[®], Burcu ÇALIŞKAN¹[®], Fatih ÇALIŞKAN^{2,}* [®]

¹ Department of Pediatrics, Faculty of Medicine, Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Turkey ² Department of Emergency Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Turkey

Received: 22.05.2021	٠	Accepted/Published Online: 12.06.2021	٠	Final Version: 01.01.2022

Abstract

There are concerns on exposure to radiation especially in pediatric population, as magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) can be used in emergency departments and provides an imaging without radiation; its utilization has recently increased. This study aimed to evaluate MRI utilization trends in patients who underwent a MRI in a pediatric emergency department within a period of five years. Examination data of the patients admitted to pediatric emergency department between 2014 and 2018 were obtained from database of the hospital with the approval of Clinical Research Ethical Committee. Rate of MRI utilization in patients admitted to pediatric emergency department was 0.88%. There was a statistically significant increase in MRI utilization within five years (p<0.001). The rate of male patients (1.24%) who underwent MRI was significantly higher than that of female patients (0.65%) (p<0.0001). There was a statistically significant decrease in MRI utilization by age in all categories (p<0.0001). Neuroradiology imaging was the most common. Complaints at presentation and pre-diagnoses were analyzed. The results of MRI were evaluated by radiologists and 53.9% of the results were normal. The highest rate (46.1%) of MRI utilization has increased in pediatric patients, neuroradiology imaging is the most common type. MRI utilization in pediatric emergency department is higher in male patients and in the early ages.

Keywords: pediatrics, pediatric emergency department, magnetic resonance imaging, clinical indication

1. Introduction

Emergency departments are dynamic areas where disorders and injuries of the patients are evaluated as acute or emergent and where the resuscitation, first care, diagnosis and treatment of these emergencies are performed. Pediatric emergency departments consist of 25% of all patients with an emergency (1, 2).

In addition to clinical evaluation, radiological imaging is also needed to diagnose several emergent cases. Although imaging is a guide for disorders, its potential damages should be considered as well (3-6). As there are concerns on exposure to radiation especially in pediatric population, there should be an effort to reduce the radiation dose in imaging for infant and pediatric patients in emergency departments (2, 7). As magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) can be used in emergency departments and provides an imaging without radiation, its utilization has recently increased (2, 8). Although it is hard to obtain an image in MRI for pediatric patients due to the noise, fear, and inability to remain indoors or inactive, it is possible to obtain quality images in some patients with sedation or general anesthesia.

This study aimed to evaluate the frequency of MRI utilization according to age, gender, indication and type of

examination in a pediatric emergency department in Turkey between 2014 and 2018.

2. Materials and Methods

This study was performed in a pediatric emergency department which was an 18-bed tertiary care center. Thirty-five thousand patients on average are admitted to this department every year. All age groups under 18 are admitted to the pediatric emergency department. Three MRI scanners are actively used in the Department of Radiology. While 2 MRI scanners were in use from January 2011 to January 2015, 3 MRI scanners have been used since 2015. Technical staffs work in shifts (8am-4pm, 4pm-12am and 12am-8am). This scheme operates 24 hours a day and 7 days a week. Scanners are active for imaging requested for the patients in emergency departments, wards, and outpatient clinics. Physicians who requested MRI examination for these patients are internal, external, or emergency physicians.

The patients who underwent MRI examination after admitted to the pediatric emergency department between January 2014 and January 2019 were accessed from the database of the hospital and included in the study. Data obtained in the study were transferred to IBM SPSS 23 for evaluation. For descriptive statistics, continuous data were given as mean and standard deviation while categorical data were given as counts and percentiles in the analysis of the data. Chi-Square test and T-test were used in the comparison of the data. The value of p<0.05 was accepted as statistically significant. This study was performed with the approval of the Clinical Research Ethical Committee of Ondokuz Mayıs University.

3. Results

The number of patients who were admitted to the emergency department between 2014 and 2019 was 175,331. While the number of patients admitted to pediatric emergency department was 24,411 in 2014, this number increased to 45,992 in 2018. Within this period of 5 years, 1,551 MRI examinations were performed for 1,233 patients (1.25 imaging per patient). While 1,198 (77.2%) of the patients were admitted to the emergency department, 353 (22.8%) had been followed up for a chronic disease. According to the years, the ratio of the number of MRI requested in pediatric emergency department to the number of patients was 0.86% in 2014 and 1.1% in 2018. There was a statistically significant increase in MRI utilization (p<0.001). The average rate of MRI utilization in patients admitted to pediatric emergency department of the pediatric emergency department of patients was 0.88%.

Out of 1551 patients, 859 (55.4%) were male and 692 (44.6%) were female. The rate of male patients (n=69,308; 1.24% of the patients admitted to the emergency department) underwent MRI examination was statistically who significantly higher than that of female patients (n=106,023; 0.65% of the patients admitted to the emergency department) (p<0.0001). While the number of neuroradiology and musculoskeletal imaging was significantly higher in male patients (p<0.0001), the number of body imaging was significantly higher in female patients (p<0.0001). The rate of male patients who underwent neuroradiology imaging among all MRI examinations was 52.1% (n=809) and that of female patients was 40.1% (n=623). The rate of female patients who underwent body imaging was 3.4% (n=54) and that of male patients was 1.6% (n=25). The rate of musculoskeletal imaging was 1.6% (n=25) in male patients and 0.96% (n=15) in female patients. The ratio of male to female patients in neuroradiology examination was 1.3:1, the ratio in musculoskeletal examinations was 1.6:1, and the ratio in body examinations was 1:2.1.

Among the categories of MRI, neuroradiology was the most requested imaging type with a rate of 92.3% (brain: 82.6%; spine: 3.4%; angiographic: 3.3%; orbit: 1.7%; pituitary: 1%; and MR spectroscopy: 1%). The rate of body imaging (chest, abdomen, and pelvis) was 4.9% and the rate of musculoskeletal imaging was 2%. When the categories of imaging were analysed, a statistically significant increase was found in neuroradiology imaging (p<0.001) (Fig. 1a). Complaints of the patients who underwent MRI examination

were given in Table 1. The most common complaint in neuroradiology imaging was seizure with a rate of 29.3%. The most common complaint was trauma in musculoskeletal imaging and abdominal pain in body imaging. The most common pre-diagnoses in MRI were cranial pathologies (vascular pathologies such as arteriovenous malformation, bleeding, thrombosis, and stroke, structural brain abnormalities, neurodevelopmental pathologies, etc.) with a rate of 54.9%, suspected infections (meningitis, encephalitis, etc.) with a rate of 18.5% and ventriculoperitoneal shunt dysfunction/infection with a rate of 12.3% for neuroradiology imaging. While the most common pre-diagnoses were acute abdomen (suspected appendicitis, ovarian torsion, etc.: n=28, 1.8%) and ovarian cyst rupture (n=23, 1.5%) in body imaging, they were arthritis/arthralgia (n=23, 1.5%) and mass etiology (n=7, 0.5%) in musculoskeletal imaging. Eight hundred and thirty-six (53.9%) of MRI results were evaluated as normal by radiologists. There was a statistically significant decrease in MRI utilization by age in all categories (p<0.0001) (Fig. 1b). The rate of neuroradiology imaging was statistically higher in the age group of 0-6 than in other age groups (p<0.0001). And the rate of body imaging was statistically higher in the age groups of 7-12 and 13-18 (p<0.0001).

Table 1. Complaints of the patients who underwent MRI	
---	--

Neurologic System		
Seizure	454	29.3%
Fever / vomiting / seizure with	105	12.6%
ventriculoperitoneal shunt	195	12.070
Headache	91	5.9%
Fever, headache, vomiting	83	5.4%
Fever, vomiting, somnolence	60	3.9%
Nausea, vomiting	57	3.7%
Visual impairment	45	2.9%
Somnolence	42	2.7%
Headache, vomiting	41	2.6%
Fever, seizure	40	2.6%
Ataxia	34	2.2%
Inability to walk	31	2%
Muscle weakness	28	1.8%
Fainting	23	1.5%
Neck stiffness	23	1.5%
Speech disorder	21	1.4%
Headache and visual impairment	19	1.2%
Facial paralysis	18	1.2%
Dizziness	13	0.8%
Bulging fontanel	12	0.8%
Numbness	10	0.6%
Other (Incontinence, Otorrhagia,	13	0.8%
Swollen eye)	15	0.070
Musculoskeletal System		
Trauma	56	3.6%
Joint swelling	26	1.7%
Cervical swelling	7	0.5%
Soft tissue swelling	6	0.4%
Backache	3	0.2%
General		
Abdominal pain	59	3.8%
Abdominal mass	7	0.5%
Heart failure	4	0.1%
Cough	1	0.1%



Fig. 1. a. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) utilization by year, b. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) utilization by age

The rates of MRI utilization within a day were 35.9% between 8am and 4pm, 46.1% between 4pm and 12am and 18% between 12 am and 8 am. In the distribution of MRI utilization days, the highest rate was on Friday with a rate of 15.9% (n=246). The rates in other days were 15.7% (n=243) on Tuesday, 15% (n=232) on Thursday, 14.8% (n=229) on Wednesday, 14.1% (n=218) on Monday and 13.7% (n=213) on Saturday. The lowest rate of MRI utilization was on Sunday with a rate of 11% (n=170). The months when the rate of MRI utilization was the highest were August (n=171, 11%), December (n=162, 10.4%), September (n=151, 9.7%) and October (n=145, 9.3%). The months when the rate of MRI utilization was the lowest were February (n=92, 5.9%) and April (n=91, 5.9%).

4. Discussion

MRI scanner is an imaging device used to evaluate a variety of diseases (9). Neuroradiology exams including brain, head, neck, and spine consisted of 92.3% of the total amount of imaging. MRI utilization especially for brain, head and neck has considerably increased and this increase was predicted in a study performed years ago (10). The rate of neuroradiology imaging was reported as 90% in a former study on a pediatric emergency department and 92.2% in another study on an emergency department in which adult patients were admitted. The rate of body imaging was consistent with those of other pediatric studies; however, the rate of musculoskeletal imaging was lower (11, 12).

Utilization of MRI was more in male patients than in female patients. While the number of male patients was significantly higher especially in neuroradiology and musculoskeletal imaging, the number of female patients was significantly higher in body imaging. Although MRI is not used as a primary care imaging in conditions on pelvic region such as ovarian torsion, it is helpful for the cases that are hard to be diagnosed (13). As in many studies conducted recently, the utilization of MRI with high sensitivity in the presence of free fluid and in intra-abdominal imaging has increased as an alternative of computed tomography (CT) in the diagnosis of appendicitis in conditions in which ultrasonography is insufficient (14, 15). MRI is a type of imaging that gives better results than CT does in the evaluation of appendicitis or adnexal pathologies in pregnant women (16, 17). As pregnant women are admitted to the emergency department for adults even if they are under the age of 18, there were no pregnant women who underwent MRI examination in our study.

The most common complaint in neuroradiology was seizure. Seizures during infancy are different from those during childhood or adulthood and a variety of conditions such as eye misalignment, blinking or rapid eye blinking, sucking, smacking or other buccal movements and swimming or pedaling movements may occur. Moreover, there is generally no loss of consciousness (18). A variety of movements during childhood from simple but unnatural movements to complex motor movements like natural movements in inconvenient environments may he characterized with seizure (19). As several movements are evaluated as seizure by families, they present to the emergency department. The prevalence of lifelong seizure has increased by 4% with pediatric rates ranging from 0.4% to 1.0% (20). This is consistent with our study.

The most common pre-diagnoses established by the clinician working in an emergency department in which the most common complaint was seizure were intracranial pathologies. Pre-diagnoses of the patients who were admitted to the emergency department with seizures and who were considered to have suspected infections such as meningitis and encephalitis or ventriculoperitoneal shunt dysfunction varied according to their conditions. Almost half of the reported MRI results were compatible with the pre-diagnosis. Pre-diagnoses are of great importance in MRI reporting of the radiologist. It is important to establish a strong cooperation between emergency physicians and radiologists in deciding the correct examination according to the clinic of the patient. We could not find any study on pre-diagnoses and their results in literature.

The most common complaint in body imaging was abdominal pain and the most important reason to request abdominopelvic MRI for female patients was abdominal pain symptom of complex adnexal pathologies (13, 14). Although musculoskeletal imaging was generally low in number, the higher rate of male patients who underwent musculoskeletal imaging was associated with more active characters of boys and sports injuries (21). Moreover, the fact that the rate of septic arthritis and osteomyelitis and the prevalence of bone tumors are higher in boys is another factor for that (22, 23).

MRI utilization decreases by age. The rates of imaging increasing by age were reported in two different pediatric studies performed in Orlando and Bronx (11, 24). MRI is used more in younger age group because the young population, especially the population under the age of 5 is high and patients mostly present with seizures that are seen at very young ages. Although MRI utilization in emergency department differed according to the seasons, there was a slight increase during summer and autumn months. There was an increase in similar months in the study of adult emergency department (8). There were also slight differences among weekdays. The day with the lowest rate of MRI utilization was Sunday and the shift with the lowest rate was 12am-8am. While MRI was not used during the shift of 12 am-8 am on Sundays due to the limited number of technicians two years ago, a single MRI scanner was used during the shift of 12 am-8 am on weekdays. MRI utilization is high during the shift of 4pm-12am. However, MRI utilization was higher in evenings and at nights in most of emergency departments (8, 11). While patients in outpatient clinics and patients admitted to emergency department share MRI scanners during the day, mainly patients admitted to emergency department use them at the evening hours. As our hospital is a tertiary care district hospital, the number of patient transfers from external centers increases at the evening hours and therefore, MRI utilization is more at these hours.

The number of CT examinations per 1000 people increased by 30% and the number of MRI examinations increased by 60% in Turkey between 2008 and 2010, which reveals the rapid increase in the number of demands. The number of MRI examinations per 1000 people was 79.5 by 2010 and nearly two times more than the average MRI examination (44.9) predicted by the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) in the same year (25). Although the date of our study was not similar, it revealed that the rate of MRI increased from 0.86% (2014) to 1.1% (2018) over 5 years. This increase was also seen in other countries such as the USA as well as our country (6, 26). The number of MRI utilization increased after 2014; however, increase in the number of patients was higher (4). Therefore, the increase in MRI utilization in our country was not as much as expected. In a study on pediatric MRI in the USA, this rate increased from 0.23% to 0.49% (11) and while the rate of increase was 113%, it was 27% in our study. The rate of increase in the study of emergency department for adults was 15% as the rate increased from 1.64% to 1.9% (8). In a study performed in Korea, the number of MRI per 1000 people increased from 8.1 to 74.6 within 10 years (12).

Increases in the number of MRI utilization are consistent with the effort of clinicians to establish a final diagnosis due to medical concerns (27). It is an undeniable fact that clinicians perform extra tests, procedures, or imaging in order to decrease their medical malpractice liability to protect themselves from legal actions (28). Moreover, diagnosis with MRI is a great advantage for patients especially with suspected ventriculoperitoneal shunt dysfunction as they are not exposed to ionized radiation on the contrary to computed tomography (29). Thanks to these advantages, MRI utilization is increasing. The cost of MRI is two times higher than that of computed tomography depending on the institution where MRI is used (30). Although its cost is high, this will not matter when a possible risk of cancer is considered in children (31, 32). Our study had some limitations. The results are related to the approaches we used in our hospital. A broader study can be performed with MRI utilization trends of other centers. Although MRI has a great advantage in terms of exposure to radiation, its effects due to sedation were not considered in this study. Factors such as duration of hospital stays, or the cost of the examination can be analyzed in another study.

The rate of MRI utilization has increased within years. Neuroradiology imaging was used more. The rate of MRI utilization was higher in male patients than in female patients. While trends, approaches, examinations, and treatments change in medical world, more research is needed to understand the factors responsible for these changes and determine the effect of radiology utilization in emergency departments on patient results

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

References

- Öztürk MA, Güneş T. Acil Hastanın Özellikleri ve Acil Hastaya Yaklaşım. Turkiye Klinikleri J Pediatr – Special Topics.2004; 2(6):519-28 Article Language: TR.
- Goske MJ, Applegate KE, Boylan J, et al. The Image Gently campaign: working together to change practice. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2008;190(2):273-274. doi:10.2214/AJR.07.3526
- **3.** Raja AS, Wright C, Sodickson AD, et al. Negative appendectomy rate in the era of CT: an 18-year perspective. Radiology. 2010;256(2):460-465. doi:10.1148/radiol.10091570
- 4. Wildermuth S, Knauth M, Brandt T, Winter R, Sartor K, Hacke W. Role of CT angiography in patient selection for thrombolytic therapy in acute hemispheric stroke. Stroke. 1998;29(5):935-938. doi:10.1161/01.str.29.5.935
- Sodickson A, Baeyens PF, Andriole KP, et al. Recurrent CT, cumulative radiation exposure, and associated radiation-induced cancer risks from CT of adults. Radiology. 2009;251(1):175-184. doi:10.1148/radiol.2511081296
- Smith-Bindman R, Lipson J, Marcus R, et al. Radiation dose associated with common computed tomography examinations and the associated lifetime attributable risk of cancer. Arch Intern Med. 2009;169(22):2078-2086. doi:10.1001/archinternmed.2009.427
- Donnelly LF. Reducing radiation dose associated with pediatric CT by decreasing unnecessary examinations. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2005;184(2):655-657. doi:10.2214/ajr.184.2.01840655
- Rankey D, Leach JL, Leach SD. Emergency MRI utilization trends at a tertiary care academic medical center: baseline data. Acad Radiol. 2008;15(4):438-443. doi:10.1016/j.acra.2008.01.003
- **9.** ACR appropriateness criteria, 2006. Available at: http://www.acr.org/ac. Accessed August 10, 2007.
- 10. Rao VM, Parker L, Levin DC, Sunshine J, Bushee G. Use trends and geographic variation in neuroimaging: nationwide medicare data for 1993 and 1998. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2001;22(9):1643-1649.

- Scheinfeld MH, Moon JY, Fagan MJ, Davoudzadeh R, Wang D, Taragin BH. MRI usage in a pediatric emergency department: an analysis of usage and usage trends over 5 years. Pediatr Radiol. 2017;47(3):327-332. doi:10.1007/s00247-016-3764-y
- 12. Ahn S, Kim WY, Lim KS, et al. Advanced radiology utilization in a tertiary care emergency department from 2001 to 2010. PLoS One. 2014;9(11):e112650. Published 2014 Nov 18. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0112650
- 13. Lourenco AP, Swenson D, Tubbs RJ, Lazarus E. Ovarian and tubal torsion: imaging findings on US, CT, and MRI. Emerg Radiol. 2014;21(2):179-187. doi:10.1007/s10140-013-1163-3
- 14. Aspelund G, Fingeret A, Gross E, Kessler D, Keung C, Thirumoorthi A, et al. Ultrasonography/MRI versus CT for diagnosing appendicitis. Pediatrics. 2014;133(4), 586-593.
- **15.** Bolmers MD, van Rossem CC, Gorter RR, et al. Imaging in pediatric appendicitis is key to a low normal appendix percentage: a national audit on the outcome of appendectomy for appendicitis in children. Pediatr Surg Int. 2018;34(5):543-551. doi:10.1007/s00383-018-4244-2
- 16. Rosen MP, Ding A, Blake MA, Baker ME, Cash BD, Fidler JL, et al. ACR Appropriateness Criteria® right lower quadrant pain—suspected appendicitis. Journal of the American College of Radiology. 2011;8(11), 749-755.
- **17.** Pedrosa I, Lafornara M, Pandharipande PV, Goldsmith JD, Rofsky NM. Pregnant patients suspected of having acute appendicitis: effect of MR imaging on negative laparotomy rate and appendiceal perforation rate. Radiology. 2009;250(3):749-757. doi:10.1148/radiol.2503081078.
- 18. Proposal for revised classification of epilepsies and epileptic syndromes. Commission on Classification and Terminology of the International League Against Epilepsy. Epilepsia. 1989;30(4):389-399. doi:10.1111/j.1528-1157.1989.tb05316.x
- 19. Lüders H, Acharya J, Baumgartner C, et al. Semiological seizure classification. Epilepsia. 1998;39(9):1006-1013. doi:10.1111/j.1528-1157.1998.tb01452.x.
- 20. Theodore WH, Spencer SS, Wiebe S, et al. Epilepsy in North America: a report prepared under the auspices of the global campaign against epilepsy, the International Bureau for Epilepsy, the International League Against Epilepsy, and the World Health Organization. Epilepsia. 2006;47(10):1700-1722. doi:10.1111/j.1528-1167.2006.00633.x.
- 21. Linakis JG, Amanullah S, Mello MJ. Emergency department visits for injury in school-aged children in the United States: a comparison of nonfatal injuries occurring within and outside of

the school environment. Acad Emerg Med. 2006;13(5):567-570. doi:10.1197/j.aem.2005.11.073

- 22. Goergens ED, McEvoy A, Watson M, Barrett IR. Acute osteomyelitis and septic arthritis in children. J Paediatr Child Health. 2005;41(1-2):59-62. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1754.2005.00538.x
- 23. Niu X, Xu H, Inwards CY, et al. Primary Bone Tumors: Epidemiologic Comparison of 9200 Patients Treated at Beijing Ji Shui Tan Hospital, Beijing, China, With 10 165 Patients at Mayo Clinic, Rochester, Minnesota. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2015;139(9):1149-1155. doi:10.5858/arpa.2014-0432-OA
- 24. Ramirez J, Thundiyil J, Cramm-Morgan KJ, Papa L, Dobleman C, Giordano P. MRI utilization trends in a large tertiary care pediatric emergency department. Annals of Emergency Medicine. 2010; 3(56), S18-S19.
- **25.** Akman M. Türkiye'de birinci basamağın gücü. Türkiye Aile Hekimliği Dergisi, 2014;18(2), 70-78.
- 26. Oguz KK, Yousem DM, Deluca T, Herskovits EH, Beauchamp NJ. Effect of emergency department CT on neuroimaging case volume and positive scan rates. Academic radiology. 2002;9(9), 1018-1024.
- 27. Kanzaria HK, Hoffman JR, Probst MA, Caloyeras JP, Berry SH, Brook RH. Emergency physician perceptions of medically unnecessary advanced diagnostic imaging. Acad Emerg Med. 2015;22(4):390-398. doi:10.1111/acem.12625
- Yeşiltaş A, Erdem R. Defansif Tip Uygulamalarına Yönelik Bir Derleme. Süleyman Demirel Üniversitesi Vizyoner Dergisi. 2018;10(23), 137-150.
- **29.** Boyle TP, Paldino MJ, Kimia AA, et al. Comparison of rapid cranial MRI to CT for ventricular shunt malfunction. Pediatrics. 2014;134(1):e47-e54. doi:10.1542/peds.2013-3739
- 30. Leite ED, Seber A, de Barbosa FG, Ginani VC, Carlesse FC, Gouvea RV, et al. Rapid, low-cost MR imaging protocol to document central nervous system and sinus abnormalities prior to pediatric hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Pediatric radiology. 2011;41(6), 749-756.
- **31.** Pearce MS, Salotti JA, Little MP, McHugh K, Lee C, Kim KP, et al. Radiation exposure from CT scans in childhood and subsequent risk of leukaemia and brain tumours: a retrospective cohort study. The Lancet, 2012;380(9840), 499-505.
- **32.** Miglioretti DL, Johnson E, Williams A, Greenlee RT, Weinmann S, Solberg LI, et al. The use of computed tomography in pediatrics and the associated radiation exposure and estimated cancer risk. JAMA pediatrics. 2013;167(8), 700-707.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm

Research Article



Retrospective evaluation of 16 patients who underwent spinal cord stimulation

Bora UZUNER¹, Dursun TÜRKÖZ^{2,*}

¹Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Faculty of Medicine Ondokuz Mayis University, Samsun, Turkey

²Department of Neurosurgery, Samsun Health Research Center, University of Health Sciences, Samsun, Turkey

Received: 23.05.2021	•	Accepted/Published Online: 31.05.2021	٠	Final Version: 01.01.2022

Abstract

The aim of this study was to examine the outcomes of patients who underwent Spinal Cord Stimulation (SCS) in our clinic. In this study, records of 16 patients who underwent SCS in the Algology and Neurosurgery Clinic of the Ministry of Health, Health Sciences University, Samsun Training and Research Hospital between 2015 and 2018 were retrospectively analysed. The pain levels of the patients before and after the procedure were evaluated with the Visual Analogue Scale (VAS). The mean age of the patients was 54.25 ± 11.45 years. After the SCS procedure, it was found that pain levels determined by the VAS decreased significantly (p < 0.001). Eleven (68.7%) patients reported that they were quite satisfied or partially satisfied after SCS, and seven patients (43.8%) underwent revision due to hardware malfunctions and postsurgical complications. Based on our study results, we believe that SCS is an effective treatment method that can be used to reduce pain.

Keywords: neuromodulation, spinal cord stimulation, pain, VAS, CSF

1. Introduction

Spinal cord stimulation (SCS) is a reliable, minimally invasive treatment method that is widely used in the treatment of chronic pain. In recent times, it has been successfully used for the management of chronic pain conditions, such as complex regional pain syndrome, failed back surgery syndrome, peripheral vascular disease, chronic refractory angina, and visceral pelvic pain (1, 2).

Studies report that 30%–40% of patients with SCS have device-related malfunctions or post-surgical complications (3). Device-related malfunctions that were reported included lead migration, lead breakage, high or low stimulation, hardware failure, generator failure or failure to connect with the generator. Post-surgical complications that were reported included infection, epidural bleeding, seroma, neurological damage, cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) leakage, pain at the implant site, allergic reactions, and skin erosion (4).

The present study aimed to guide and help clinicians to predict, prevent and manage these complications in the early post-operative period by retrospectively examining the indications for and common complications observed in SCS.

2. Materials and Methods

This study was designed as a retrospective descriptive study. Prior to the study, ethics approval was obtained from the Ministry of Health Samsun Training and Research Hospital Medical Specialization Training Board. Sixteen patients over the age of 18, who were not pregnant nor were planning for pregnancy soon and who applied to the Algology and Neurosurgery Clinic of the Ministry of Health, Health Sciences University, Samsun Training and Research Hospital between 2015 and 2018, were included in the study.

The severity of low back pain and satisfaction levels of the patients before and after the procedure were evaluated using the Visual Analogue Scale (VAS). In addition, complications that occurred after the procedure were recorded. The patients were evaluated during routine polyclinic controls after the procedure. Informed consent was obtained from all patients prior to the procedure.

2.1. Surgical technique

The patients were taken to the operating table in the prone position for the SCS procedure. After surgical asepsis 0.05 mg/kg of midazolam was administered for sedation, whereas fentanyl was titrated at a dose of $1-2 \mu g/kg$ for analgesia. A small incision was made in the midline over the intervertebral space at the surgical site where a local anesthetic was injected, and a pocket was created for the connection cables of the electrode over the lateral part of the incision. A 14 G Touhy/16 G R-K needle was used to gain access to the epidural space from the T12–L1 vertebral space through a paramedian approach at an angle of nearly 45°. A guide was sent through the epidural needle to allow easy access to the electrode in the epidural region. Later, the electrode was controlled with fluoroscopy and moved towards the relevant dermatome. By providing stimulation with different stimulation modes, the area where the patient felt paranesthesia and painful area were determined and the electrode was fixed. Interconnections of the electrode were passed under the skin and removed from a distant point. After the procedure, patients were followed for three hours, and stimulator settings were adjusted. Detailed information was given to the patients and their relatives about the device usage. In patients with successful results during the trial period, the part placed in the intervertebral space was connected to the permanent electrode so that a permanent system could be placed.

2.2. Statistical analysis

SPSS 22.0 software program was used for statistical analysis. The normality of numerical data was evaluated with the Shapiro–Wilk test. Descriptive statistics were presented in terms of frequency (n), percentage (%), mean \pm standard deviation, minimum (min), maximum (max), median (median), 25th percentile and 75th percentile. The Chi-Square test was used to compare categorical variables. The difference between the values before and after SCS placement was analysed using the Wilcoxon test. Statistical significance was accepted as p < 0.05.

3. Results

Sixteen patients were evaluated in the present study. Nine (56.3%) of the patients included in the study were female, and seven (43.8%) were male (Fig. 1). The mean age of the patients was 54.25 ± 11.45 years, that of females was 54.33 ± 13.85 and that of males was 54.14 ± 9.48 years. There was no statistically significant difference between males and females in terms of age (p = 0.976). The most common location of pain was the waist and leg (43.8%), followed by only leg (31.3%), back (12.5%) and arm–foot pain (6.3%) (Fig. 2).



Fig. 1. Distribution of patients by gender

SCS was performed in more than half of the patients (n = 9; 56.25%) due to failed back surgery syndrome (FBSS), also known as post laminectomy syndrome (PLS), in four (n = 4; 20%) patients due to complex regional pain syndrome, in two patients due to spinal tumors (n = 2; 12.5%) and in one patient due to traumatic cauda equina syndrome (n = 1; 6.25%) (Table 1). It was determined that the median VAS score of the patients before the SCS procedure was 8 (min/max = 7/9), and it decreased to 2 (min/max = 1/8) after the procedure, which was statistically significant (p < 0.001) (Table 2).



Fig. 2. Distribution of pain location

Table 1. Spinal cord stimulation (SCS) indications

	n (%)
Failed back surgery syndrome	9 (56.25)
Complex regional pain syndrome	4 (20)
Spinal tumour	2 (12.50)
Traumatic cauda equina syndrome	1 (6.25)

n: Number of cases, %: Percentage

When the satisfaction levels of the patients, changes in daily activity and time of return to work after the SCS procedure were examined, it was found that 11 (68.7%) patients were quite satisfied or partially satisfied, whereas the remaining patients reported that they were less satisfied or dissatisfied (Table 3). Within three years after the initial procedure, a revision procedure was performed in seven (43.75%) of 16 patients included in the study due to hardware malfunctions or post-surgical complications. The revision procedure was performed in five (71.43%) cases due to hardware malfunctions and in two (28.57%) cases due to post-surgical complications. It was determined that hardware malfunctions were most frequently caused by lead migration (n = 4, 80%) and due to failure to connect to the generator (n = 1, 20%). Post-surgical complications were observed in three patients. Seroma and infection requiring removal of the generator were observed in two of these patients. In the other patient, a hematoma was observed in the paravertebral tissues. Spontaneous resorption was observed during the controls in the patient who had hematoma in the paravertebral tissues.

Fable 2. VAS scores	of patients befo	re and after the SCS p	procedure
Variables	$X \pm SS$	Median	р

(Min/Max)

Pre-VAS score	7.9 ± 0.7	8 (7/9)	< 0.001*
Post-VAS score	3.5 ± 2.2	2 (1/8)	< 0.001*
Wilcoxon test, *: p	< 0.05, X:	Mean, SD: Standard	deviation, Min:
Minimum, Max: Maxim	num		

Satisfaction level	n (%)
Quite satisfied	9 (56.2)
Partially satisfied	2 (12.5)
Neutral	1 (6.3)
Partially dissatisfied	2 (12.5)
Not satisfied at all	2 (12.5)

n: Number of cases, %: Percentage

4. Discussion

In the present study, the records of the patients who applied to our clinic between 2015 and 2018 for SCS were analysed retrospectively. A total of 16 patients were included in the study. Nine (56.3%) of the patients were female and seven (43.8%) were male. More than half of the patient population was female. In a study conducted with 707 patients in 2011, Mekhail et al. reported that 57.7% of the patient population was female (5). In another study conducted in Turkey with 62 patients in 2017, Özdemir et al. reported that 62.9% of patients who underwent SCS procedure were female (6). The results of the present study in terms of gender distribution are consistent with that in literature.

Mekhail et al. reported that the mean age of patients was 46 ± 15 years in their study (5), whereas Özdemir et al. reported that the mean age was 57.95 ± 13.16 years in theirs (6). In the present study, the mean age was calculated as 54.25 ± 11.45 years. Thus, in terms of age, our patient population was like that in the study by Özdemir et al., whereas it was older compared with that in the study by Mekhail et al.

When the indication distribution of SCS, a neuromodulation method applied in the treatment of many chronic pain cases, was examined, it was determined that more than half of the patients in our study underwent this procedure due to FBSS. The second most common indication after FBSS was complex regional pain syndrome. While the most common indication was Complex Regional Pain Syndrome (CRPS) in a study by Mekhail et al., it was followed by FBSS (5). Like the results of the present study, Özdemir et al. reported that FBSS was the most common indication for SCS, followed by angina and CRPS (6, 7).

In a study conducted by Kumar and Toht to determine the effectiveness of SCS, 182 patients who underwent SCS with a diagnosis of FBSS were followed for 8.8 ± 4.5 years, and it was determined that 48% of the patients had a 50% or more reduction in pain intensity. Taylor et al. conducted a systematic review of 63 studies in 2014 to examine the reduction in pain levels of patients who underwent SCS due to chronic low back and leg pain and found that there was a statistically significant pain reduction in 58% of the patients (8).

In a randomized controlled study conducted by North et al. (2005), 50 patients with a diagnosis of PLS who had undergone surgery three years ago were randomly divided into two groups, and while SCS was performed on participants in one group, those in the other group were reoperated. It was reported that opioid use was higher in patients who underwent reoperation compared with that in the SCS group. In addition, they reported that SCS application in patients with persistent radicular pain after spine surgery was more cost-effective than surgery for reducing pain (9). Our study results found that the median VAS score was 8 (min/max = 7/9) before the SCS procedure, and it decreased to 2 (min/max = 1/8) after the procedure; this decrease was statistically significant and consistent with literature.

In a multicenter prospective randomized controlled study conducted by Kumar et al. (2007) to examine the effectiveness of SCS and conventional medical treatment, 100 patients with FBSS were divided into two groups as a conventional treatment group and SCS treatment group and were followed for a year. The study results found a decrease in axial pain intensity, an increase in quality of life and treatment satisfaction in the SCS group (3). In another study conducted by Sanders et al. on 199 patients who underwent SCS between 2001 and 2011, it was reported that 84.27% of the patients were satisfied with the implant (10, 11). In the present study, we found that more than half of the patients (n = 11, 68.7%) were quite satisfied or partially satisfied after the SCS procedure, like that observed in literature.

In literature, complications have been reported in 30%–40% of patients undergoing SCS due to device-related malfunctions, such as lead migration, lead breakage, high or low stimulation, hardware failure, generator failure or failure to connect with the generator, or due to post-surgical factors, such as infection, epidural bleeding, seroma, neurological damage, CSF leakage, pain at the implant site, and allergic reactions (3, 4).

In a 20-year systematic review published by Cameron in 2004, 68 studies and 3679 patients were evaluated. In this review, it was reported that the most common complication after SCS was lead migration seen in 13.2% (n = 361) of the patients (12). In a case series by Mekhail et al., which included 707 patients, it was reported that none of the patients had serious complications, such as permanent neurological deficit or death due to the SCS procedure. Infection was occurred in 32 (4.5%) of 707 patients. Seroma without signs of infection was reported in 1 patient, pain on the generator side was reported in 86 (12%) patients. Lead migration was reported in 119 (22.6%) patients, lead connection failure was reported in 50 (9.5%) patients and lead breakage was reported in 33 (6%) patients out of 527 patients who had IPG implantation. (5). In the study conducted by Özdemir et al., it was reported that complications occurred after the SCS procedure in 14.5% of the patients, and the most common complication was infection with a rate of 33.3% (6). In the present study, it was determined that the most common complication in the three-year period was lead migration (n =4; 25%), like that observed in Cameron's study (12).

SCS application is an important treatment method that can be used in reducing pain scores and improving the quality of life of patients as it is a minimally invasive method, has lesser side effects compared with pharmacotherapies and is highly cost-effective. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study in literature reporting results obtained from the Middle Black Sea region regarding the SCS procedure. Therefore, we believe that this study can significantly contribute to literature. However, the limitations of the present study are that this was a single-center study, which cannot be generalized to the whole population, and the retrospective study design. Therefore, there is a need for future multi-center studies that will contribute to the determination of appropriate treatment strategies by clinicians along with defining the indications for and complications of SCS.

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

References

- 1. Manchikanti L, Derby R, Wolfer L, Singh V, Datta S, Hirsch JA. Evidence-based medicine, systematic reviews, and guidelines in interventional pain management: Part 7: systematic reviews and meta-analyses of diagnostic accuracy studies. Pain Physician 2009;12(6):929-63.
- 2. Pain SA, Raff M, Melvill R, Coetzee G, Smuts J. Spinal cord stimulation for the management of pain: Recommendations for best clinical practice. S Afr Med J 2013;103(6):423-30.
- **3.** Kumar K, North RB, Taylor RS, et al. Spinal cord stimulation versus conventional medical management: a prospective, randomized, controlled multicenter study of patients with failed back surgery syndrome (PROCESS study). Neuromodulation. 2005;8(1-2):213-218.
- 4. Eldabe A, Buchsher E, Duarte RV. Complications of spinal cord stimulation and peripheral nerve stimulation techniques: a review

of the literature. Pain. 2016;17(2):325-336.

- Mekhail NA, Mathews M, Nageeb F, Guirguis M, Mekhail MN, Cheng J. Retrospective review of 707 cases of spinal cord stimulation: indications and complications. Pain Pract 2011;11(2):148-53.
- Özdemir İ, Akbaş M, Yeğin A, Dağıstan G, Erkan DÖ. Spinal kord stimülasyonu uygulanan 62 hastanın retrospektif değerlendirilmesi. Ağrı Dergisi 2017;29(1):25-32.
- 7. Kumar K, Toth C. The role of spinal cord stimulation in the treatment of chronic pain postlaminectomy. Curr Pain HeadacheRep 1998; 2:85-92.
- **8.** Taylor RS, Desai MJ, Rigoard P, Taylor RJ. Predictors of pain relief following spinal cord stimulation in chronic back and leg pain and failed back surgery syndrome: a systematic review and meta-regression analysis. Pain Pract 2014;14(6):489-505.
- North RB, Kidd DH, Farrokhi F, Piantadosi SA. Spinal cord stimulation vs repeated lumbosacral spine surgery for chronic pain: a randomized, controlled trial. Neurosurgery 2005;56(1):98-107.
- 10. Kumar K, Taylor RS, Jacques L, Eldabe S, Meglio M, Molet J, et al. Spinal cord stimulation versus conventional medical management for neuropathic pain: a multicentre randomised controlled trial in patients with failed back surgery syndrome. Pain 2007;132(1-2):179-8
- Sanders RA, Moeschler SM, Gazelka HM, Lamer TJ, Wang Z, Qu W, et al. Patient Outcomes and Spinal Cord Stimulation: A Retrospective Case Series Evaluating Patient Satisfaction, Pain Scores, and Opioid Requirements. Pain Pract 2016;16(7):899-904.
- **12.** Cameron T. Safety and efficacy of spinal cord stimulation for the treatment of chronic pain: a 20-year literature review. J Neurosurg 2004;100(3):254-67.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm

Research Article



J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 84-90 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.18

Possible effects of some anaesthetic agents in rat hepatotoxicity: Histological and biochemical study

Ebru ANNAÇ^{1,*}, Öznur ULUDAĞ², Zümrüt DOĞAN³

¹Department of Histology and Embryology, Medical Faculty, Adıyaman University, Adıyaman, Turkey

²Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Medical Faculty, Adıyaman University, Adıyaman, Turkey

³Department of Anatomy, Medical Faculty, Adıyaman University, Adıyaman, Turkey

	1		5,	5/ 5	57	5		5	
Received: 25.0	5.2021	•	Accepted/Pub	olished Online: 26.10.2021	•		Fin	al Version: 01.01.2022	

Abstract

Selectively steroidal neuromuscular blocking agents, such as rocuronium, are required to maintain surgical procedures. It is a sugammadex γ -cyclodextrin-derived drug that encapsulates these drugs and reverses its effects. In the present study, it was aimed to investigate the effects of sugammadex rocuronium complex on liver and possible toxic effects on hepatocytes using histopathological and biochemical methods. Thirty-two adult Sprague - Dawley male rats were used. Four groups were designed as pure control, control group, sugammadex and sugammadex-rocunorium. Following the experimental procedures, liver tissues extracted from rats were stained after routine histological procedures. The images were taken from the sections for histopathological evaluation. For biochemical analysis, glutathione (GSH) and malondialdehyde (MDA) enzymes were analyzed in the liver tissues. In the group treated with the sugammadex-rocunorium complex, caspase-3 expressions were observed to be higher than in other groups. In addition, while the amount of GSH belonging to sugammadex and sugammadex-rocunorium groups decreased compared to the control group, an increase in MDA amount was found. Sugammadex-rocunorium can lead to oxidative stress in the hepatocytes. However, more studies are needed to reveal the toxic effects of sugammadex and sugammadex and rocunorium complex in the liver.

Keywords: sugammadex, rocuronium, oxidative stress, immunohistochemistry, liver histology, rat

1. Introduction

Most patients who undergo surgical procedures require general anesthesia. For this purpose, in addition to neuromuscular blockers, various analgesic and anesthetic agents are used (1). Muscle relaxants can cause many side effects such as atelectasis, pneumonia, pulmonary complications, hypercapnia, and hypoxemia in the postoperative period (2,3). Rocuronium is one of the muscle relaxants commonly used in general anesthesia and provides neuromuscular junction blockade (4). In general anesthesia applications, neuromuscular blocking agents are used to facilitate airway intubation, to provide mechanical ventilation and to adapt surgical operation conditions (5). In this regard, it is necessary to eliminate the effect of muscle relaxants to improve muscle function in the patient and prevent neuromuscular blockage (6). Steroidal neuromuscular blocking drugs, such as rocuronium, are widely used in clinical anesthesia to facilitate tracheal intubation and to allow surgical access to body cavities. Residual neuromuscular block and subsequent respiratory insufficiency are associated with substantial morbidity and mortality, although the quality of tracheal intubation has significantly improved because of the clinical use of neuromuscular blocking agents (NMBAs), resulting in a reduction of pharyngo-laryngeal lesions. Therefore, many anesthetists

routinely reverse neuromuscular block to facilitate rapid and complete recovery after surgery to prevent residual block (7-10).

Sugammadex is a γ -cyclodextrin designed to reverse the effects of steroidal neuromuscular blocking agents such as rocuronium and vecuronium (11). The mechanism of action of sugammadex is different from other reversing agents. Since sugammadex is a molecule-binding agent, it does not act on acetic cholinesterase and other receptor systems (12). The sugammadex-rocuronium complex formed by the binding of a sugammadex molecule target agent rocuronium in plasma, quickly and safely restores the rocuronium-induced deep neuromuscular blockade (13). The complex formed by the pharmacokinetic properties of sugammadex is inactivated and excreted from the body through the kidneys (12). In addition, it has been suggested that this complex remained in circulation for a long time. For this reason, it has been reported that it causes histopathological findings such as skeletal muscle myopathy, vacuolization, pyknotic nuclei clumps, and thus causes disorders such as weakening of muscle fibers and hypertrophy (14). Since sugammadex is excreted from the kidneys and is not metabolized in the liver (15), there are a limited number of studies including its effect on liver morphology and enzymes (16). Clarke et al. (17)

reported that a cutaneous anaphylaxis effect in patients sensitive to rocuronium was alleviated with sugammadex after two minutes. It has been demonstrated that sugammadex reduces the rocuronium-induced increase in tryptase concentration caused by rocuronium in the rat liver after five minutes (17). In this context, sugammadex is suggested to reduce the activation of mast cells (18). In the light of this information, studies on the role of rocuronium and sugammadex on anaphylaxis-related liver enzymes are limited (17-19). There are no morphological studies hepatopathologically. Based on this point, we aimed to investigate the effects of sugammadex and sugammadexrocuronium complex on liver morphology in our study by histopathological, immunohistochemical using and biochemical methods. The presented study contributes to the literature in terms of explaining the effect of suggamadex on liver in detail using immunohistochemical, the histopathological and biochemical methods.

2. Material and Methods

2.1. Animals and study design

The experimental procedures of the present study were approved by the Adıyaman University, Animal Experiments Local Ethics Committee with the report of ADYU-HADYEK 2019/032. In our study, 32 adult Sprague - Dawley male rats weighing 300-350 g were used (20,21). The rats were monitored daily under favorable conditions (Room temperature: 22-25 °C and humidity: 50-55%) with standard pellet diet and water ad libitum. 12-hour light-dark cycle using cold white fluorescent lamps (06.00-18.00) was provided. The rats were randomly divided into four groups (n=8): Pure control group, control group, sugammadex group, sugammadex-rocuronium group. The pure control group consisted of animals that did not have any surgical treatment and that comply with the routine care rules to obtain basal values. Rats of the control group were given 16 mg / kg intravenous (IV) 0.9% isotonic saline. Rats of the sugammadex group were given 16 mg / kg IV sugammadex (BridionR; Schering - Plow Corporation, Oss, The Netherlands). After three minutes following the administration of 16 mg/kg IV sugammadex (the bridion; Schering - Plow Corporation, Oss, The Netherlands), 1 mg/kg IV rocuronium (ESMERON is, Organon, Istanbul, Turkey) was injected to sugammadex + rocuronium group. All drugs were administered intravenously over the tail vein. Doses administered Bostal et al. (22) and Pühringer et al. (23) was determined by taking the studies conducted as a guide. Following experimental procedures, liver tissues under ketamine/xylazine anesthesia were dissected from animals under ketamine/xylazine anesthesia.

2.2. Tissue processing, sectioning, and staining procedures Liver samples obtained for the purpose of histopathological examinations were placed in 10% formaldehyde solution in separate groups. After a week-long fixation, paraffin blocks were prepared by routine histological tissue follow-up. 5 μ m thick sections were taken from paraffin blocks. The sections taken were stained with hematoxylin-eosin, Masson trichrome and Toluidine blue dyes. Images were obtained from liver slides of each group using a microscope with a digital camera attachment, Axiocam ERc5 model of Carl Zeiss. Histopathological evaluation was performed on the images obtained.

2.3. Immunohistochemical staining

For immunohistochemical analysis, primary antibody Caspase-3 (Thermo Fisher Scientific; cat no: PA5-16335) diluted 1/200 with the commercial kit Termo Scientific TM TP-015-HA was used. From the blocked tissues, 5 μ m thick sections were taken into adhesive slides and deparaffinized. Streptavidin-biotin-peroxidase complex method was used in staining. Positive and negative controls were performed as recommended by the manufacturers. After applying AEC Chromogen, reverse staining was performed with Mayer's hematoxylin. Histopathological evaluation was performed on the images obtained. The degree of staining was determined as 0: no, +0.5: extremely low, +1: low, +2: moderate, +3: severe (24). The removed liver tissues were used for histopathological and biochemical analysis

2.4. Biochemical tests

The dissected liver samples were washed with saline at a temperature of +4°C, placed in ependorphic tubes according to the cold chain principles and kept at -70°C until examination. Tissue homogenates for malondialdehyde (MDA) and reduced glutathione (GSH) measurements were prepared cold using 0.15 M KCl with 10%, (w/v) homogenizer. The Mihara and Uchiyama method used for the determination of lipid peroxidation and MDA, which is a marker of free oxygen radical amount, is based on the reading of the pink colored product from N-butanol phase at 535 and 520 nm because of reacting with the thiobarbituric of the pink colored product at 95 °C (25). Liver tissue was centrifuged by homogenizing in 10% trichloroacetic acid. After the supernatant was mixed with an equal volume of 0.67% thiobutyric acid, it was incubated in boiling water for 15 minutes at 90 ° C. Following incubation, it was centrifuged by cooling. Tissue MDA concentrations were measured in nmol /g tissue under 532 nm absorbance. GSH is an antioxidant enzyme that catalyzes the reduction of harmful peroxides such as lipid peroxide and hydrogen peroxide. During this reduction, reduced glutathione is converted to oxidized glutathione. In the GSH analysis performed by the method described by Elman (26), glutathione in the analysis tube reacts with 5i-dithiobis2-nitrobenzoic acid to give a yellow-greenish color. The light intensity of this color was measured with a spectrophotometer at a wavelength of 410 nm.

2.5. Statistical analysis

In the statistical analysis of the data obtained, the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to determine whether the data was normally distributed. One Way ANOVA test was used for normally distributed data and Tukey test, post-hoc test for multiple comparisons. The Kruskal-Wallis test was used for non-normally distributed data and the Mann Whitney-U test for multiple comparisons. The results were evaluated within the mean \pm standard deviation (SD) of 95% confidence interval. P value <0.05 was considered statistically significant. SPSS program (Chicago, IL, USA; version 22.0) was used for statistical analysis.

3. Results

3.1. Light microscopic findings

When hematoxylin eosin-stained sections of tissues belonging to pure control and control groups were examined, it was observed that hepatocyte cords extending from v. centralis to periphery in the middle of the liver lobule and sinusoids located between these cords were normal (Figs. 1a and 2a). The presence of polygonal shaped liver cells was monitored. It was determined that hepatocyte cytoplasm showed acidophilic staining feature, which varies in density according to the activity status of the cells. The nuclei of these cells were found to be centrally located, large, round and euchromatic, some hepatocytes have bi-nucleus and in normal morphology (Figs. 1b and 2b). In the rat liver tissues belonging to pure control and control group, which was applied by Masson's trichrome staining method to show the connective tissue density, Intense connective tissue was observed around the v. centralis and periportal area (Figs. 1c and 2c). The density of mast cells in the vascular connective tissue was normal (Figs. 1d and 2d). When hematoxylin eosin-stained sections of rat liver tissues belonging to the group treated with sugammadex were examined, hepatocytes that formed the parenchyma in small magnification compared to the group treated with Rocuronium. It was observed that it showed a slightly more regular structure around v. centralis (Fig. 3a). It was noted that the hepatocytes that make up the liver parenchyma are of normal structure and maintain their acidophilic structure in large enlargements of the same group. Among the hepatocytes, it was determined that there were degenerated hepatocytes, and dilatation in sinusoids (Fig. 3b). The connective tissue density was observed to be normal around the v. centralis and periportal areas in the Masson's trichrome staining method (Fig. 3c). Mast cell density was low compared to sugammadex and rocunorium applied group (Fig. 3d). When the sections of rat liver tissues belonging to the group treated with sugammadex and rocunorium were examined with hematoxylin-eosin, at small magnification, a liver structure was observed in which there was a disruption in the arrangement of hepatocyte cords formed by hepatocytes around the v. centralis, and the lobule structure and boundaries were not clearly distinguishable (Fig 4a). It is noteworthy that in the large enlargements of the same group, the cytoplasmic boundaries of the hepatocytes that make up the parenchyma are not clearly distinguished, the polygonal shapes disappear, the size differences and degenerative changes between the cells are broken. These were observed to have a dark pyknotic core in some areas. In addition, in this group, an increase in dilatation was observed in sinusoid structures (Fig. 4b). To show the connective tissue density, Masson's trichrome staining method has been applied in rat liver tissues, compared to other groups around the v. centralis and periportal areas, it was observed that the connective tissue density increased (Fig. 4c). The density of mast cells in the vascular connective tissue was significantly increased compared to the pure control and control groups (Fig. 4d).



Fig. 1. (1a-1d pure control group) 1a, 1b, 1c and 1d: Images of the group in magnification x4, x40, x10 and x40 respectively; (Hematoxylin-Eosin staining, Masson' trichrome staining and Toluidine blue staining); #, central vein; thin arrow, mast cell; thin arrowhead, connective tissue; thick arrow, healthy hepatocyte



Fig. 2. (2a-2d control group) 2a, 2b, 2c and 2d: Images of the group in magnification x4, x40, x10 and x40 respectively; (Hematoxylin-Eosin staining, Masson' trichrome staining and Toluidine blue staining); #, central vein; thin arrow, mast cell; thin arrowhead, connective tissue; thick arrow, healthy hepatocyte

3.2. Histopathological results

When the cellular degeneration, lobular degeneration, fibrosis, sinusoidal dilation, mast cell density, mast cell density parameters of the sugammadex+rocuronium group were examined by histopathological scoring, it was determined that there was a highly significant increase in the pure control and control groups. Statistical data are given in

Table 1.

3.3. Immunohistochemical findings

Caspase-3 immunoreactivity was extremely low in hepatocytes in the hepatic cords in the pure control and control groups (Figs. 5a and b). The involvement in the sugammadex group increased slightly compared to the control and control groups (Fig. 5c). In the sugammadex + rocuronium group, positively stained cells were higher than in the other groups (Fig. 5d).



Fig. 3. (3a-3d sugammadex group) 3a, 3b, 3c and 3d: Images of the group in magnification x4, x40, x10 and x40 respectively; (Hematoxylin-Eosin staining, Masson' trichrome staining and Toluidine blue staining); #, central vein; thin arrow, mast cell; thin arrowhead, connective tissue; thick arrow, healthy hepatocyte; thick arrowhead, degenerated hepatocyte cells; star, dilated sinusoid



Fig. 4. (4a-4d sugammadex + rocuronium group) 4a, 4b, 4c and 4d: Images of the group in magnification x4, x40, x10 and x40 respectively; (Hematoxylin-Eosin staining, Masson' trichrome staining and Toluidine blue staining); #, central vein; thin arrow, mast cell; thin arrowhead, connective tissue; thick arrow, healthy hepatocyte; thick arrowhead, degenerated hepatocyte cells; star, dilated sinusoid

When the degree of immunostaining of the sugammadex+rocuronium group were examined by histopathological scoring, it was determined that there was a highly significant increase in the pure control and control

groups. Statistical data are given in Table 1.

3.4. Biochemical analysis results

There was no statistically significant difference between pure control and control groups at the MDA level, which is defined as the indicator of free radical-induced damage in tissues (p> 0.05). However, sugammadex and sugammadex + rocuronium groups showed a significant increase in MDA levels compared to pure control and control groups (p <0.01). The data of the groups are shown in Table 2 and Fig. 6.



Fig. 5. 5a, 5b, 5c and 5d: Images at x40 magnification of groups (Pure control, control, sugammadex and sugammadex + rocuronium group respectively); * Caspase 3 positive cells exposed to apoptosis

Table 1. Histopathological scoring in all groups

1.0000	annono Brear	beening in a	n Brompo	
Groups	Pure Control	Control	Sugammade x	Sugammadex + Rocuronium
Cellular	$0.75 \pm$	$0.50 \pm$	$1.14 \pm$	$2.12 \pm$
degeneration	0.71	0.53	0.70	0.83*
Fibrosis	$0.50 \pm$	$0.62 \pm$	$0.71 \pm$	$2.01 \pm$
	0.75	0.74	0.75	0.78*
Sinusoidal	$0.62 \pm$	$0.65 \pm$	$1.42 \pm$	$1.98 \pm$
dilation	0.74	0.51	0.78	1.09*
Lobular	$0.62 \pm$	$0.50 \pm$	$0.85 \pm$	$2.10 \pm$
degeneration	0.74	0.75	0.69	1.12*
Mast cell	$0.75 \pm$	$0.75 \pm$	$1.57 \pm$	$2.09 \pm$
density	0.70	0.70	0.53	1.24*
The degree of	$0.81 \pm$	$0.50 \pm$	$1.21 \pm$	$2.37 \pm$
immunostain	0.65	0.46	0.56	0.91*

It was found that GSH level, which plays a role in preventing free radical-induced damage in tissues, decreased in the group treated with sugammadex + rocunorium compared to other groups (p <0.01). The data of the groups are shown in Table 2 and Fig. 6.

Table 2. Liver biochemical parameters in all groups (n=8)

Groups	Pure Control	Control	Sugammadex	Sugammadex + Rocuronium
MDA	$630.22 \pm$	$553.09 \pm$	$889.85 \pm$	$901.99 \pm$
(nmol/g)	70.23	46.95	78.77*	73.09*
GSH	2277.15 ±	$2999.48 \pm$	$2358.08 \pm$	$1721.89 \pm$
(nmol/g)	104.72	221.66	105.59	153.51#

Valus are expressed as mean \pm SE; n=8 for each treatment group, * Statistical significancy compared to the Pure Control and Control groups (p<0.01), # Statistical significancy compared to the other groups (p<0.01)



Fig. 6. Biochemical data which resulted from these groups are presented in this graph. Values are expressed as means \pm SD; n=8 for each treatment group. Statistical significancy compared to the pure control and control group: *: p<0.01. Statistical significancy compared to the control group: #: p<0.01

4. Discussion

In current anesthesia applications, rocuronium, which is in the aminosteroid structure, is a muscle relaxant that is frequently used before intubation and is safe for surgical maintenance. The return of this neuromuscular blockade is at least as important as its maintenance. In this regard, various agents, such as sugammadex, are needed to restore the patient's airway control. These agents play an important role in reducing mortality and morbidity due to respiratory complications in the postoperative period. Sugammadexrocuronium complex is eliminated by the kidneys. In this regard, prolonged effect of rocuronium in patients with renal failure is observed (15). As a result, depending on the elimination time of sugammadex-rocuronium complex, it is not recommended for use in patients with severe renal disease, since the decrease in sugammadex in plasma concentration varies (27). Tomak et al. (28) observed that the number of mast cells increased in rats treated with sugammadex compared to the control group. In this case, they suggested that treatment with sugammadex increased susceptibility to allergic reactions. However, the susceptibility to rocunorium-induced allergic reaction has been observed to a greater extent than susceptibility to sugammadex in the liver. The results show that sugammadex may inhibit rocuronium-induced mast cell degranulation depending on the dose (28). However, according to Clarke et al. (28), sugammadex is not sufficiently effective in changing the clinical reflection of the allergic reaction caused by rocuronium use (17). In histopathological examination, we found less mast cells in sugammadex group compared to sugammadex-rocunorium group. This finding supports the suppression feature of sugammadex anaphylaxis. There are no adequate studies on the effects of sugammadex on the liver. However, the effects of cyclodextrins on the liver have been studied (29-31). There are three types of cyclodextrin, α , β and γ cyclodextrins consist of six, seven and eight a- (1,4) linked glycosyl units, respectively. Although three types of cyclodextrin have water solubility feature, γ cyclodextrins with the highest water dissolution rate (32). In one study, the oral combination of a β -cyclodextrin group drug with clotrimazole, an antimycotic agent, induces fat accumulation in the liver compared to clotrimazole and can lead to liver hypertrophy. Although the resulting complex is promising in treatment due to its oral bioavailability, the hepatoxicity it causes cannot be excluded (29). On the other hand, in another study, it is noted that β cyclodextrins can affect the hepatoprotective effect positively as carbon tetrachlorideinduced acute hepatotoxicity increases the water solubility of the proactive detective hydrophobic flavone compounds (23). In this case, it can be concluded that the β cyclodextrin group may vary depending on the complex it constitutes regarding the hepatoxic activity. Based on this point, we examined the effects of sugammadex alone, y gamma cyclodextrin, and sugammadex and rocunorium complex on the liver using histopathological and biochemical methods. Redox signal transmission pathways play an important role in the regulation of cell functions. Oxidative stress is an important part of the pathogenic processes that occur in relation to redox homeostasis disorder. In case of cell damage, a high concentration of redox signal is observed by DNA degeneration (33). Pathological processes caused by oxidative stress can be reversible or irreversible (34). In addition, liver is the primary organ sensitive to pathological cascades caused by oxidative stress, and especially parenchymal cells are very vulnerable in the oxidative environment. Abundant reactive oxygen radicals are produced from microsomes in mitochondria and parenchymal cells (35). Simultaneously, the hepatic content of increased MDA, decreased hepatic superoxide dismutase, glutathione peroxidase, GSH indicates hepatic oxidative damage. In addition to these signs, increased caspase 3 mRNA expression in the cell indicates this (36). In this context, the increase in MDA levels in the groups belonging to sugammadex and sugammadexrocunorium complex in our study proves oxidative stress occurring in liver tissues of both groups. However, the simultaneous decrease in GSH levels in the sugammadex and sugammadex-rocunorium groups is also accompanied. Especially the decrease in GSH level of sugammadexrocunorium group is higher compared to sugammadex group. Therefore, oxidative stress damage occurring in the group treated with Sugammadex-rocunorium complex is higher compared to sugammadex group. Similarly, Palanca et al. (37) examined the neurotoxic effects of sugammadex and suggested that sugammadex-induced changes were associated with oxidative stress and apoptosis activation. sugammadex predominantly causes cell death in neurons, and induced apoptosis induction has been associated with a change in neuronal cholesterol homeostasis The (37). immunohistochemical analyzes also indicated this. Caspase 3 is expressed more in the sugammadex-rocunorium group compared to the sugammadex group. Caspase 3 is considered as an important biomarker in the mitochondrial apoptotic pathway (38). Based on this point, the sugammadexrocunorium complex can trigger the apoptotic process in

hepatocytes.

In conclusion, sugammadex is γ gamma cyclodextrin group drug that can reverse the effects of rocuronium, a neuromuscular blocker. There are no adequate publications on the effects of suggamadex on the liver. In addition, suggamadex can inhibit rocuronium-induced anaphylaxis by reducing mast cell count. However, its toxic effect on hepatocytes has not been studied. In this context, in the present study, it has been demonstrated by biochemical methods that sugammadex and sugammadex-rocunorium complex cause hepatic oxidative stress. In addition, sugammadex-rocunorium complex was shown to increase induction of apoptosis and increase caspase 3 expression in hepatocytes compared to sugammadex. Furthermore, several morpho-quantitative studies are needed to reveal the toxic effects of the sugammadex-rocunorium complex.

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

References

- Bowman WC. Neuromuscular block. Br J Pharmacol. 2006;147: 277-86. doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0706404.
- 2. Baillard C. Incidence and complications of post operative residual paralysis. Ann Fr Anesth Reanim. 2009; 28 (2): 41-5. doi:10.1016/s0750-7658(09)72486-4.
- **3.** Kumar GV, Nair AP, Murthy HS, Jalaja KR, Ramachandra K, Parameshwara G. Residual neuromuscular blockade affects postoperative pulmonary function. Anesthesiology. 2012;117: 1234-44. doi: 10.1097/ALN.0b013e3182715b80.
- Kalkan Y, Tumkaya L, Bostan H, Tomak Y, Altuner D, Yilmaz A, Erdivanli B, Bedir R, Yalcin A, Turan A. Effect of sugammadex on rocuronium induced changes in pancreatic mast cells. Toxicol Ind Health. 2015; 31: 738-46. doi: 10.1177/0748233713484654.
- Geldner G, Niskanen M, Laurila P, Mizikov V, Hubler M, Beck G, Reitbergen H., Nicolayenko E. A randomised controlled trial comparing sugammadex and neostigmine at different depths of neuromuscular blockade in patients undergoing laparoscopic surgery. Anaesthesia. 2012; 67: 991-8. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2044.2012.07197.x.
- Türk R, Kaya SE, Dönmez İ, Özaydın İ, Merhan O, Yayla S, Ermutlu CŞ, Kaçar C, Aydın U, Aksoy Ö, Hüseyinoğlu Ü. The effect of rocuronium and sugammaedex on progesterone levels in pregnant rabbits under general anesthesia. Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg. 2019; 25:179-84. doi: 10.9775/kvfd.2018.20609.
- 7. Hunter JM. New neuromuscular blocking drugs. N Engl J Med 1995; 332: 1691–9.
- **8.** Pedersen T, Viby-Mogensen J, Ringsted C. Anaesthetic practice and postoperative pulmonary complication. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 1992; 36: 812–18.
- **9.** Shorten GD. Postoperative residual curarisation: incidence, aetiology and associated morbidity. Anaesth Int Care 1993; 21: 782–9.
- 10. Mencke T, Echternach M, Kleinschmidt S, et al. Laryngeal morbidity and quality of tracheal intubation: a randomized

controlled trial. Anesthesiology 2003; 95: 1049-56.

- Herring WJ, Woo T, Assaid CA, Lupinacci RJ, Lemmens HJ, Blobner M, Khuenl-Brady KS. Sugammadex efficacy for reversal of rocuronium- and vecuronium-induced neuromuscular blockade: A pooled analysis of 26 studies. J Clin Anesth. 2017; 41: 84-91. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinane.2017.06.006.
- 12. Gijsenbergh F, Ramael S, Houwing N, Van Iersel T. First human exposure of Org 25969, a novel agent to reverse the action of rocuronium bromide. Anesthesiology. 2005; 103: 695-703. doi: 10.1097/00000542-200510000-00007.
- 13. Sorgenfrei IF, Norrild K, Larsen PB, Stensballe J, Ostergaard D, Prins ME, Viby-Mogensen J. Reversal of rocuronium-induced neuromuscular block by the selective relaxant binding agent sugammadex: a dose-finding and safety study. Anesthesiology. 2006; 104: 667-74. doi: 10.1097/00000542-200604000-00009.
- 14. Kalkan Y, Bostan H, Tumkaya L, Tomak Y, Bostan M, Yilmaz A, Turut H, Temiz A, Turan A. The effect of rocuronium, sugammadex, and their combination on cardiac muscle and diaphragmatic skeletal muscle cells. J Anesth. 2012; 26: 870-7. doi: 10.1007/s00540-012-1440-4.
- **15.** Staals LM, Snoeck MM, Driessen JJ, Van Hamersvelt HW, Flockton EA, Van Den Heuvel MW, Hunter JM. Reduced clearance of rocuronium and sugammadex in patients with severe to end-stage renal failure: a pharmacokinetic study. Br J Anaesth. 2010; 104: 31-9. doi: 10.1093/bja/aep340.
- Platt PR, Sadleir PH, Clarke RC. Sugammadex, rocuronium and mast cell numbers in the rat liver. Anaesthesia. 2013; 68(2):208-9. doi: 10.1111/anae.12106.
- **17.** Clarke RC, Sadleir PH, Platt PR. The role of sugammadex in the development and modification of an allergic response to rocuronium: evidence from a cutaneous model. Anaesthesia. 2012; 67: 266-73. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2044.2011.06995.x.
- **18.** Leysen J, Bridts CH, De Clerck LS, Ebo DG. Rocuroniuminduced anaphylaxis is probably not mitigated by sugammadex: evidence from an in vitro experiment. Anaesthesia. 2011; 66: 526-7. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2044.2011.06729.x.
- 19. Simsek T, Erbas M, Buyuk B, Pala C, Sahin H, Altinisik B. Prevention of rocuronium induced mast cell activation with prophylactic oleuropein rich diet in anesthetized rabbits. Acta Cir Bras. 2018; 33: 954-63. doi: 10.1590/s0102-865020180110000002.
- 20. Yeşiltaş S, Orhon ZN, Cakır H, Dogru M, Çelik MG. Does Sugammadex Suppress Allergic Inflammation Due to Rocuronium in Animal Model of Rat? Allergol Immunopathol (Madr). 2021 May 1;49(3):91-99. doi: 10.15586/aei.v49i3.84.
- **21.** Kim YB, Choi JM, Chang YJ, Choi HR, In J, Yang HS. Effects of different sugammadex doses on the train of four ratio recovery progression during rocuronium induced neuromuscular blockade in the rat phrenic nerve hemidiaphragm. Korean J Anesthesiol. 2020 Jun;73(3):239-246. doi: 10.4097/kja.19278.
- 22. Bostan H, Kalkan Y, Tomak Y, Tumkaya L, Altuner D, Yılmaz A, Erdivanli B, Bedir R. Reversal of rocuronium-induced neuromuscular block with sugammadex and resulting histopathological effects in rat kidneys. Ren Fail. 2011;33(10):1019-24. doi: 10.3109/0886022X.2011.618972.
- 23. Pühringer FK, Rex C, Sielenkämper AW, Claudius C, Larsen PB, Prins ME, Eikermann M, Khuenl-Brady KS. Reversal of profound, high-dose rocuronium-induced neuromuscular blockade by sugammadex at two different time points: an international, multicenter, randomized, dose-finding, safety assessor-blinded, phase II trial. Anesthesiology. 2008;109(2):188-97. doi: 10.1097/ALN.0b013e31817f5bc7.

- 24. Yalcin A, Aydin H, Turk A, Dogukan M, Eser N, Onderci M, Üçkardeş F, Yoldas A, Yılmaz E, Keles H. Vitamin D: An effective way to combat methotrexate-induced testis injury. Medicine, 2020;9(4):998-1003. doi: 10.5455/medscience.2020.10.222.
- **25.** Mihara M, Uchiyama M. Determination of malonaldehyde precursor in tissues by thiobarbituric acid test. Anal Biochem. 1978; 86(1): 271-8. doi: 10.1016/0003-2697(78)90342-1.
- **26.** Ellman GL. Tissue sulfhydryl groups. Arch Biochem Biophys. 1959; 82(1): 70-7. doi: 10.1016/0003-9861(59)90090-6.
- 27. Min KC, Lasseter KC, Marbury TC, Wrishko RE, Hanley WD, Wolford DG, Udo de Haes J, Reitmann C, Gutstein DE. Pharmacokinetics of sugammadex in subjects with moderate and severe renal impairment. Int J Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2017; 55: 746-52. doi: 10.5414/CP203025.
- 28. Tomak Y, Yilmaz A, Bostan H, Tumkaya L, Altuner D, Kalkan Y, Erdivanlı B. Effects of sugammadex and rocuronium mast cell number and degranulation in rat liver. Anaesthesia. 2012; 67: 1101-4. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2044.2012.07264.x.
- **29.** Yong CS, Li DX, Prabagar B, Park BC, Yi SJ, Yoo BK, Lyoo WS, Woo JS, Rhee JD, Kim JA, Choi HG. The effect of betacyclodextrin complexation on the bioavailability and hepatotoxicity of clotrimazole. Pharmazie. 2007; 62: 756-9.
- **30.** Yeh YL, Ting WJ, Kuo WW, Hsu HH, Lin YM, Shen CY, Chang CH, Padma VV, Tsai Y, Huang CY. San Huang Shel Shin Tang beta-cyclodextrin complex augmented the hepatoprotective effects against carbon tetrachloride-induced acute hepatotoxicity in rats. BMC Complement Altern Med. 2016; 16: 150. doi: 10.1186/s12906-016-1127-8.
- **31.** Marcolino AIP, Macedo LB, Nogueira-Librelotto DR, Vinardell MP, Rolim CMB, Mitjans M. Comparative evaluation of the hepatotoxicity, phototoxicity and photosensitizing potential of dronedarone hydrochloride and its cyclodextrin-based inclusion

complexes. Photochem Photobiol Sci. 2019; 18: 1565-75. doi: 10.1039/c8pp00559a.

- **32.** Martin Del Valle EM. Cyclodextrins and their uses: A review. Process biochem. 2004; 39 (9): 1033-46.
- Mortezaee K, Khanlarkhani N. Melatonin application in targeting oxidative-induced liver injuries: A review. J Cell Physiol. 2018; 233: 4015-32. doi: 10.1002/jcp.26209.
- 34. Zhang C, Wang N, Xu Y, Tan HY, Li S, Feng Y. Molecular Mechanisms Involved in Oxidative Stress-Associated Liver Injury Induced by Chinese Herbal Medicine: An Experimental Evidence-Based Literature Review and Network Pharmacology Study. Int J Mol Sci. 2018; 19: 2745. doi: 10.3390/ijms19092745.
- 35. Feng M, Ding J, Wang M, Zhang J, Zhu X, Guan W. Kupfferderived matrix metalloproteinase-9 contributes to liver fibrosis resolution. Int J Biol Sci. 2018; 14: 1033-40. doi: 10.7150/ijbs.25589.
- 36. Shati AA, Elsaid FG. Hepatotoxic effect of subacute vincristine administration activates necrosis and intrinsic apoptosis in rats: protective roles of broccoli and Indian mustard. Arch Physiol Biochem. 2019; 125: 1-11. doi: 10.1080/13813455.2018.1427765.
- 37. Palanca JM, Aguirre-Rueda D, Granell MV, Aldasoro M, Garcia A, Iradi A, Obrador E, Mauricio MD, Vila J, Gil-Bisquert A, Valles SL. Sugammadex, a neuromuscular blockade reversal agent, causes neuronal apoptosis in primary cultures. Int J Med Sci. 2013; 10: 1278-85. doi: 10.7150/ijms.6254.
- 38. Li J, Wu DD, Zhang JX, Wang J, Ma JJ, Hu X, Dong WG. Mitochondrial pathway mediated by reactive oxygen species involvement in alpha-hederin-induced apoptosis in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. World J Gastroenterol. 2018; 24: 1901-10. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v24.i17.1901.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm

Research Article



J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 91-96 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.19

The risk of tuberculosis bacilli seeding during mediastinoscopy in mediastinal tuberculosis: Is it clinically important?

Yasemin B. BÜYÜKKARABACAK^{1,}*[®], Mehmet Gökhan PİRZİRENLİ¹[®], Selçuk GÜRZ¹[®], Ayşen TASLAK ŞENGÜL¹[®], Yeliz TANRIVERDİ ÇAYCI²<u>®,</u> Ahmet BAŞOĞLU¹[®]

¹Department of Thoracic Surgery, Faculty of Medicine, Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Turkey ²Department of Medical Microbiology, Faculty of Medicine, Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Turkey

Received: 08.06.2021	•	Accepted/Published Online: 12.06.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022
----------------------	---	---------------------------------------	---	---------------------------

Abstract

Mediastinoscopy is the gold standard for diagnosis in the absence of parenchymal lesions in mediastinal tuberculosis lymphadenitis. During mediastinoscopy biopsy, tuberculous bacillus seeding into the mediastinum is a rare complication. This study aimed to test the safety of mediastinoscopy in terms of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* seeding in the mediastinum by microbiologically evaluating mediastinal lavage samples taken before and after biopsy. Classical cervical mediastinoscopy was performed all of patients and who were reported as granulomatous inflammatory events results of histopathological examinations and who underwent mediastinal lavage before and after biopsy, were included in the study. All the lavage fluids were tested for AFB and subjected to *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* PCR DNA testing and standard tuberculosis culture. The patients were divided into two groups, Group 1: Necrotizing granulomatous inflammation, Group 2: non-necrotizing granulomatous inflammation. The microbiological tests of the patients in Group 1 were negative before biopsy. However, in two patients of Group 1, the results of cultures of lavage fluids that taken from after biopsy were positive for tuberculosis. In all patients in Group 2, all microbiological tests of the lavage fluids were negative (Power of the decision: 99.8%, with 5% error). All of patients in group 1, Antituberculosis treatment was initiated and continued for 6 months. There weren't seen any serius complications due to treatment and recurrence during the follow-up period. Mediastinoscopy can be used safely, with low morbidity and mortality rates and a high success rate for the diagnosis of mediastinal tuberculosis.

Keywords: tuberculosis, mediastinoscopy, biopsy, lavage, culture

1. Introduction

Lymph node tuberculosis is the most common form of extrapulmonary tuberculosis after pleural tuberculosis. Mediastinal lymph node tuberculosis (MLNT)accounts for 5% of tuberculosis lymphadenitis cases (1). In the absence of parenchymal lesions in mediastinal tuberculosis lymphadenitis, obtaining a diagnosis with microbiological examination of sputum and bronchoalveolar lavage fluids is very difficult. Mediastinoscopy is the 'gold standard' method for diagnosis, especially for non-cancerous mediastinal lymphadenopathies such as tuberculous and sarcoidosis (2-5).

Complications during and after mediastinoscopy are rare. Reported morbidity and mortality rates for mediastinoscopy are 0.08% and 0%, respectively. Severe bleeding, tracheobronchial laceration, esophageal perforation, recurrent and phrenic nerve paralysis, thoracic duct injury, mediastinitis, venous air embolism and tumor cell seeding in the mediastinum and along the incision line are major complications that can accompany mediastinoscopy (6). However, there is no available information about the seeding of tuberculosis bacilli in the mediastinum during mediastinoscopy and its effects on the treatment process of tuberculosis. Therefore, this study aimed to test the safety of mediastinoscopy in terms of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* seeding by microbiologically evaluating mediastinal lavage samples taken before and after biopsy.

2. Materials and Methods

This study was approved by the Medical Research Ethics Committee and Informed consent was obtained from patients who participated in our study. Four hundred and fifty-three patients of our clinic who underwent mediastinoscopy between 2012 and 2019 were included in our study. Mediastinoscopy was performed on 573 patients who had lung cancer or mediastinal mass identified for cancer staging or diagnosis. For diagnostic purposes, mediastinoscopy was also performed on 135 patients who had mediastinal lymphadenopathy. Subsequently, all the patients were further evaluated with chest X-Ray, thorax tomography, addition, bronchoscopy. In positron emission tomography/computed tomography (PET-CT) was applied to patients with suspected malignancy.

Inclusion criteria for patients were histopathological diagnosis of lymph node biopsy as granulomatous disease, underwent mediastinal lavage before and after biopsy during mediastinoscopy. Exclusion criteria for patients were underwent mediastinoscopy for the staging of lung cancer, underwent mediastinoscopy due to malignant mediastinal mass, granulomatous disease diagnosis by mediastinoscopical biopsy but did not have lavage applied before and after biopsy during mediastinoscopy. Ultimately, 88 patients having mediastinal, pathological sized lymphadenopathy (LAP) and whose results were reported as granulomatous inflammation by mediastinoscopy and who underwent mediastinal lavage before and after biopsy in mediastinoscopy were included in the study. The patients were divided to two groups according to the results of histopathological examination of their lymph node biopsies: Group 1: Necrotizing granulomatous inflammation and Group 2: non-necrotizing granulomatous inflammation.

All patients underwent classical cervical mediastinoscopy. Under general anesthesia, a 3 cm skin incision was performed in the supine position at 2 cm above the jugular notch, over the cervical midline. After the skin and subcutaneous and muscle layers were dissected, the mediastinum was entered from the anterior of the trachea. The subcarinal region was reached with blunt and sharp dissection along the midline without exploring the lymph node stations. Before their exploration with blunt and sharp dissection, 20 cc of serum physiological solution was delivered to the pretracheal area via a 14-gauge feeding tube through a mediastinoscope. This process was repeated three times. Finally, all the laving fluid in the mediastinum was aspirated. Following pre-biopsy, the right-left 2., right-left 4. and 7. mediastinal lymph node stations [upper paratracheal, lower paratracheal and subcarinal] were explored (Fig. 1, Table 1). Samples were taken from all lymph nodes by multiple punch biopsies. After the biopsy procedure, mediastinoscope was advanced into the subcarinal area. The mediastinum was lavage with 20 cc of serum physiological solution again. So, both before and after biopsy, the mediastinum was laved with 20 cc of serum physiological solution. These fluids were collected into different test tubes labelled 'prebiopsy mediastinal lavage' and 'post biopsy mediastinal lavage'. The incision was then closed, and the procedure was terminated. All patients were awakened in the operating room and followed up in our clinic.



Fig. 1. Peroperative images of a patient whose tuberculosis culture of lavage fluid was positive

Table 1. Statistical results						
Station number	Culture	Total n				
	Negative n [%]	Positive n [%]	[%]			
1	17 [100]	0 [0]	17 [100]			
2	17 [89.5]	2 [10.5]	19 [100]			
3	5 [100]	0 [0]	5 [100]			
4	1 [100]	0 [0]	1 [100]			
5	2 [100]	0 [0]	2 [100]			
Total	42 [95.5]	2 [4.5]	44 [100]			

2.1. Microbiological analysis

The mediastinal lavage specimens taken before and after biopsy were sent to the Medical Microbiology Laboratory. Specimens were sterilized by using sodium hydroxide [4% NaOH]. After concentration by centrifugation at 3000 g for 15 minutes, the sediment was re-suspended in 1.5 mL of 0.5 M phosphate buffer [pH 6.8] and inoculated onto Lowenstein-Jensen [LJ] medium and MGIT-7H9 broth supplemented with oleic acid-albumin-dextrose-catalase [OADC] and PANTA [Becton Dickinson]. The test tubes containing the inoculum and growth media were then incubated in Lowenstein-Jensen [LJ] medium at 37°C in a MGIT 960 unit [Becton-Dickinson and Company, Sparks MD, USA]. *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* complex strains grown on MGIT medium were tested for first-line anti-tuberculosis drugs in MGIT 960.

The Erlich, Ziehl and Neelsen staining method was applied to specimens that were then examined under a light microscope at $1000 \times$ magnification.

An XpertMLNTB/RIF device was used for the molecular identification of the Mycobacterium tuberculosis is complex. The testing was performed on samples by using version four according to the recommendations cartridges, of manufacturer. The Xpert assay sample reagent, which contains NaOH, and isopropanol was added within the ratio of 1 to 3 to the tubes to kill any mycobacteria present and to liquify the sample. The suspension was vigorously shaken and allowed to sit for 15 min before being shaken again and allowed to sit for another five min. Finally, 2 mL of the suspension was pipetted into anXpert assay cartridge and inserted into the GeneXpert unit for PCR testing. The measurements and analyses were conducted automatically, and reports were generated with Gene XpertDx software [Version 4.0].

2.2. Statistical analyses

In this study, descriptive statistical methods [percentage, frequency, mean] and the Chi-square test were used to analyze the data in the SPSS software program (IBM Corp. Released 2012. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 21.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.) For statistical calculations, each lymph node station was identified as an area and the level for statistical significance was set at P < 0.05.

3. Results

The general characteristics of patients are shown in Table 2. Sixty-one patients were female and 27 were male. [Group 1: Necrotizing granulomatous inflammation [n:44] and Group 2: non-necrotizing granulomatous inflammation [n:44].

Table 2. General features all of pat	ients	
General features	Group 1[n:43]	Group 2[n:45]
Age	53,52 [81-23]	50,34[75-25]
Sex		
Female Male	27 16	34 11
Symptoms Cough	35	32
Sputum	20	12
Hemoptysis	2	0
Dispnea	6	10
Night sweats	12	5
Weight loss	10	10
No symptoms	8	12
AFB, tuberculous and common cultures		
in sputum	32	35
Negative	0	0
Positive	11	9
Notperformed		
Bronchoscopy		
EBL +	0	0
EBL –	17	24
Notperformed	26	21
Tuberculosis culture in BAL		
Negative	17	24
Positive	0	0
Lymph nodes that were biopsied		
Station 2nd	17	1.5
Right	17	15
Lett	/	4
Station 4th Diabt	25	20
Kigiit	55	39
Station 7th	7	7
MI before bionsy	7	/
PCR theDNA		
Negative	43	44
Positive	0	0
AFB		
Negative	43	44
Positive	0	0
Tbc culture		
Negative	43	44
Positive	0	0
ML after biopsy		
PCR tbc DNA		
Negative	43	44
Positive	0	0
AFB		
Negative	42	44
Positive	1	0
Tbc culture		
Negative	42	44
Positive	1	0

Table 2. General features all of patie	ents
--	------



Fig. 2. a, b- Additionally radiological findings in Group 1(a) and in Grup 2 (b)

The most sampled lymph node station was the lower right paratracheal station [4R] and the least sampled station was the upper left paratrachealstation [2L]. A mean 1.9 [range 1-5] lymph node stations were sampled (Fig. 3). In 14 patients, pathological lymph nodes were detected in the subcarinal area, and all of them were sampled.



Fig. 3. Lymph node situations and histopathological features

Acid-fast bacilli (AFB) and Mycobacterium tuberculosis Polymerase Chain Reaction- tuberculous deoxyribonucleic acid (PCR DNA) testing and tuberculosis culturing were performed on all lavage fluids collected before and after biopsy. In all patients in Group 2, all microbiological tests were negative for all lavage fluids collected both before and after biopsy, and the pre-biopsy tests of the patients in Group 1 were all negative. However, the tuberculosis cultures of the post-biopsy lavage fluids of two patients in group 1 were positive (Fig. 4 a, b).



Fig. 4. a, b- Microbiological images of patients whose tuberculosis cultures of lavage fluids were positive: First patient (a), second patients (b)

Increasing the number of stations and / or the width of the dissection area did not have a significant statistical effect on the positive or negative expression of cultures. In addition, the rate of positive results for the tuberculosis culturing of mediastinal lavage fluids was 4.5%. The power of the decision was 99.8%, with a 5% margin of error, based on the power of the test and the sample size.

All of patients in group 1, antituberculosis treatment was

AFB: Acid-resistant bacteria EBL: Endobronchial lavage, BAL: Bronchoalveolar lavage, ML: Mediastinal lavage, PCR- tbc DNA: Polymerase Chain Reaction- tuberculous deoxyribonucleic acid, Tbc: Tuberculous

The mean age was 51.93 years with a range of 23 -81 years and the most common symptom was coughing. Twenty patients had no symptoms. Mediastinoscopy was performed on them due to the presence of pathological lymph nodes which were detected coincidentally. All patients had multiple mediastinal LAPs but none of them had endobronchial lesions. Additional radiological findings are shown in Fig. 2. All the patients were discharged at the first day after operation. There were no complications, except for hoarseness experienced in two patients which was resolved quickly.

initiated. The patients were given on INH 300 mg [5 mg/kg], rifampicin 600 mg10mg/kg], ethambutol 1500 mg[20mg/kg], and pyrazinamide 2 g [25 mg/kg] for four months. Treatment was completed with INH and rifampicin for the next two months. All patients were followed up during the treatment period and for one year afterwards. There weren't seen any serius complications due to treatment. No recurrence was observed in any patient during the follow-up period.

4. Discussion

The most common form of tuberculosis after parenchymal tuberculosis is mediastinal tuberculosis. Mediastinal tuberculosis is mostly seen in children. MLNT without parenchymal lesion is a rare condition in adults. In Patients of our cohort, isolate mediastinal lymphadenopathy was detected in 46% of non-necrotizing granulomatous inflammation.; this rate was 25% in patients diagnosed with tuberculosis (7, 8). In our study, in both groups 1 and 2 the most common secondary pathologies were hilar LAP and parenchymal nodules (Figs. 2 and 3).

Mediastinal tuberculosis occurs more frequently in females than males, as same as the situation in our cohort of patients. Most patients are asymptomatic or present with nonspecific symptoms. Coughing is the most common symptom in symptomatic patients. The most common symptoms in our patients were cough and sputum (Table 2). The probable cause of cough without parenchymal lesion is the irritation of the bronchi by mediastinal lymph nodes.

The most frequently affected lymph nodes in MLNT are the upper mediastinal and right hilar lymph nodes (9, 10). In our patients, the most frequently affected lymph nodes were the lower right paratracheal lymph nodes. The most affected lymph nodes after mediastinal lymph nodes were the hilar LAPs. Multiple biopsies were performed on all the pathological lymph nodes. The most frequently affected lymph nodes in both Groups 1 and 2 were the lower right paratracheal lymph nodes The least affected lymph nodes in both groups were the left upper paratracheal and subcarinal lymph nodes.

In some patients, bacilli from lymph nodes that are invading the bronchus can be detected in bronchoscopic lavage and / or sputum examinations. Our study was planned based on that information. In some patients with MLNT, bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) can be found positive about tuberculosis due to mediastinal lymph node/nodes that invade bronchus in microbiological examination (11). This situation suggests that mediastinal lavages may be positive about tuberculosis after the mediastinoscopy of patients with MLNT.

The main purpose of this study was to determine the effects on prognosis of the seeding of the mediastinum with *M. tuberculosis bacilli* during biopsy procedures. In our study, tuberculosis cultures of mediastinal lavage fluids after biopsy

were positive for only two patients. Those two patients did not show any differences from other patients in terms of response to treatment, complications, and recurrence during the followup period of two year.

Direct microscopy and culture are the 'gold standard' methods for the diagnosis of infections due to mycobacteria. The easiest and quickest method of diagnosis is ARB via the Ehrlich-Ziehl-Nielsen staining method. However, to show bacteria with direct microscopy, the material must contain at least 5000 to 10000 bacteria per mL [8]. In a study of newly diagnosed tuberculosis patients, it was reported that smear positivity could be shown in 50% to 80% of patients. Culturing is 500 times more sensitive than direct microscopy. However, the deficiency mentioned earlier in relation to the direct microscopic examination of tuberculosis bacilli and / or the amount of time consumed in culturing them prompts the use of molecular methods (12).

PCR is becoming used more widely because it has higher sensitivity and specificity rates and a wider identification spectrum than other molecular methods. It provides several advantages over culturing, including confirmation of the presence of M. tuberculosis within 1 to 3 days, compared to 2 to 6 weeks for culture techniques (13). The rapid diagnosis of tuberculosis with sensitivity like that of culturing has been reported for fresh specimens such as sputum and aspirated fluid by using PCR. Moreover, the sensitivity of PCR was 56.7%, the specificity was 100%, and the general efficiency of the test was 96.4% in a study conducted with endobronchial ultrasound-guided aspiration (EBUS-TTAB) transbronchial needle and endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine needle aspiration (EBUS-FNA) patients (14).

In our study, we used the three methods for the examination of mediastinal lavage fluids. Direct microbiological examination and PCR were used for the rapid and reliable detection of bacteria. In addition, tuberculosis culture, which is the 'gold standard' diagnostic method, was applied to mediastinal lavage fluids of all patients to prevent any false negative tests (15). Also in our study, while tuberculosis was diagnosed by pathological examination, mediastinal examinations lavage were performed microbiologically. We did not expect that other, atypical mycobacterial bacteria could be among the etiological agents. Because there was no additional immunodeficiency in our patients, that meant to be a low incidental of isolated mediastinal atypical mycobacterial infections in our patient groups. In addition to, successful results were obtained for all patients with anti-tuberculosis therapy. All these results collectively indicate that M. tuberculosis was the only factor directly impacting on the health status of the studied cohort.

A lot of complications, such as severe bleeding, mediastinitis, and tumor cell seeding in the mediastinum and along the incision line etc., can be seen during mediastinoscopy (16, 17). However, no information was found in the literature regarding the seeding of tuberculosis bacilli during mediastinoscopy and its effects on follow-up treatment. In our study, the post-biopsy mediastinal lavage tuberculous cultures of two patients were positive. Our results showed that the seeding of tuberculosis bacilli in the mediastinum can occur during mediastinoscopy in patients with mediastinal tuberculosis.

The most likely explanation is the direct seeding of tuberculous bacilli into the mediastinum during biopsy. In these patients, biopsies were taken from only two stations which did not include the subcarinal area. These results suggest that the increased dissection and number of biopsies during mediastinoscopy are not predisposing factors for the seeding of bacilli in the mediastinum. In other words, our results showed that mediastinoscopy is a safe method that minimizes bacillus seeding of the mediastinum in MLNT. Statistically, according to the power and sample size of the applied test, the power of the decision was 99.8%, with a 5% margin of error. In addition, no difference was observed between the two patients' positive cultures of M. tuberculosis and others in terms of treatment period, response to treatment and recurrence during the follow-up period.

Especially in recent years, the new, non-invasive methods such as EUS-FNA and EBUS-TBNA have become frequently used in the diagnosis of mediastinal diseases. However, the diagnostic value of these methods in malignant diseases is higher than non-cancerous, mediastinal lymphadenopathies such as tuberculosis. In addition, with these methods, difficulties of exploration of the lymph nodes which are smaller than pathological dimensions and / or around the great vessels can lead to false negative results. This can also lead to delays in the initiation of treatment. For this reason, the diagnostic value of mediastinoscopy increases further, especially in non-cancer, mediastinal pathologies (6, 18).

This study has some limitations. First, because this study was prospective clinical study, mediastinal lavage fluids samples were obtained all of patients who performed mediastinoscopy and had not malign diagnosis. Patients whose pathology results were not reported as tuberculosis were excluded from the study. Secondly, since the follow-up of patients diagnosed with tuberculosis was carried out by tuberculosis dispensaries, the surgical follow-up of the patients could only be made by phone calls. Patients who could not be reached by phone during the follow-up period were also excluded from the study.

The authors of the presents study suggest that during mediastinoscopical biopsy, tuberculous bacillus seeding into the mediastinum was a rare complication. Furthermore, this situation had no effect on both the prognosis and treatment response. Therefore, mediastinoscopy remains the 'gold standard' diagnostic method in that it can be used safely, with a high diagnostic success rate and low morbidity and mortality, in the diagnosis of mediastinal tuberculosis.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest in relation to this study.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank Dr. Gregory T. Sullivan for proofreading an earlier version of this manuscript.

References

- 1. Jacob B, Parsa R, Frizzell R, Mearns A, Smith P. Mediastinal tuberculosis in Bradford, United Kingdom: the role of mediastinoscopy. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2011;15(2):240-5, i. PMID: 21219688.
- Kang W, Yu J, Du J, Yang S, Chen H, Liu J, et al. The epidemiology of extrapulmonary tuberculosis in China: A largescale multi-center observational study. PLoS One. 2020;15(8): e0237753. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0237753. PMID: 32822367; PMCID: PMC7446809.
- 3. Issoufou I, Harmouchi H, Efared B, Belliraj L, Ammor FZ, Lakranbi M, et al. Quelle contribution pour la médiastinoscopie dans les lésions médiastinales spécifiques non tumorales? [What contribution for mediastinoscopy in non-tumor specific mediastinal lesions?]. Rev Pneumol Clin. 2018;74(4):242-247. French. doi: 10.1016/j.pneumo.2018.05.003. Epub 2018 Jul 17. PMID: 30017753.
- **4.** Ayed AK, Behbehani NA. Diagnosis and treatment of isolated tuberculous mediastinal lymphadenopathy in adults. Eur J Surg. 2001; 167:334-338.
- Sayar A, Ölçmen A, Metin M, Güleç H, Demir A, Ölçmen M. Role of Mediastinoscopy in Intrathoracic Tuberculous Lymphadenitis. Asian Cardiovasc Thorac Ann. 2000;8(3):253-255. doi:10.1177/021849230000800314
- Bilgin Büyükkarabacak Y, Taslak Şengül A, Meydan BC, Çelik B, Pirzirenli MG, Gürz S, Sürücü ZP, Başoğlu A. The risk of tumor cell dissemination in mediastinoscopy: a cytological study. Turk J Med Sci. 2015;45(4):872-6. doi: 10.3906/sag-1406-11. PMID: 26422860.
- Chunawala Z, Shah I. Clinical Profile of Children with Mediastinal Tuberculosis. J Trop Pediatr. 2021; 67(3): fmaa056. doi: 10.1093/tropej/fmaa056. PMID: 32814966.
- Iyengar KB, Kudru CU, Nagiri SK, Rao AC. Tuberculous mediastinal lymphadenopathy in an adult. BMJ Case Rep. 2014; 2014: bcr2013200718. doi: 10.1136/bcr-2013-200718. PMID: 24419636; PMCID: PMC3902323.
- Singh S, Pandey D, Ahmad Z, Bhargava R, Hameed I, Mehfooz N. Unusual presentation of tuberculosis. Trop Doct. 2009; 39(3):183-4. doi: 10.1258/td.2008.080311. PMID: 19535763.
- 10. Webb WR. Themediastinum: mediastinalmasses. In: Webb WR, Higgins CB, eds. Thoracicimaging: pulmonaryandcardiothoracicradiology. 2nd edn. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2011;219–85.
- 11. İntepe Y, Kıyık M, Tigin H, Durmaz A, Epöztürk K., Çıkrıkçıoğlu S. Diagnostic value of Acid Fast Bascilli at BAL in Patients who are accepted as clinically and radiologically active tuberculosis with negative sputum smear. Bozok Med J. 2014; 4(2), 31 – 36.
- **12.** Gümüş S, Deniz Ö, Tozkoparan E. Diagnostic Value of Bronchial Lavage and Trans bronchial Parenchymal Biopsy in the Diagnosis of Smear Negative Patients Suspected of Having

Tuberculosis According to Chest X-rays. Torax Journal 2007; 8(2): 101-109.

- Eroğlu C. PCR in the diagnosis of tuberculosis. Tuberculosis Symposium in the 21st Century and II. Tuberculosis Laboratory Diagnostic Methods Course, Samsun 2003.
- 14. Fujiwara T, Yoshida Y, Yamada S, Kawamata H, Fujimori T, Imawari M. A case of primary esophageal tuberculosis diagnosed by identification of Mycobacteria in paraffin-embedded esophageal biopsy specimens by polymerase chain reaction. J Gastroenterol. 2003;38(1):74-8. doi: 10.1007/s005350300009. PMID: 12560925.
- 15. Senturk A, Arguder E, Hezer H, Babaoglu E, Kilic H, Karalezli A, Hasanoglu HC. Rapid diagnosis of mediastinal tuberculosis with polymerase chain reaction evaluation of aspirated material taken by endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration. J Investig Med. 2014; 62(6):885-9. doi: 10.1097/01.JIM.0000446837.75352.3b. PMID: 24866460.
- 16. Ponn BR. Invasive diagnostic procedures. In: Shields TW,Lo Cicero J, Ponn RB, Rusch VW, editors. General Thoracic Surgery. 6th ed. Philadelphia, PA, USA: Lippincott Williams &Wilkins; 2005; 299–313.
- 17. Al-Sofyani M, Maziak DE, Shamji FM. Cervical mediastinoscopy incisional metastasis. Ann Thorac Surg. 2000; 69(4):1255-7. doi: 10.1016/s0003-4975(99)01461-7. PMID: 10800833.
- Eickhoff L, Golpon H, Zardo P, Suhling H, Welte T, Jonigk D, Gottlieb J, Fuehner T. Endobronchial Ultrasound in Suspected Non-Malignant Mediastinal Lymphadenopathy. Pneumologie. 2018;72(8):559-567. English. doi: 10.1055/a-0583-0265. Epub 2018 May 22. PMID: 29788514.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm



Research Article

J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 97-100 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.20

Comparison of the gastric biopsy results of Afghan refugees and Turkish people

Muhammed Ali AYVAZ^{1,*} 📴, Mustafa YAKARIŞIK²💿, Ahmet Cumhur DÜLGER³ D, Nergis EKMEN⁴ D

¹Department of Gastroenterology, Giresun University, Prof. Dr. İlhan Özdemir Training and Research Hospital, Giresun, Turkey
² Department of Internal Medicine, Giresun University, Prof. Dr. İlhan Özdemir Training and Research Hospital, Giresun, Turkey
³ Department of Gastroenterology, Giresun University, Prof. Dr. İlhan Özdemir Training and Research Hospital, Giresun, Turkey
⁴ Department of Gastroenterology, Faculty of Medicine, Gazi University Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

Received: 31.05.2021	•	Accepted/Published Online: 21.06.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022

Abstract

Helicobacter pylori- (*H. pylori*) infection is one of the effective factors in the development of gastric premalignant lesions, and it is known that socioeconomic conditions are closely related to *H. pylori* infection. Our aim was to show whether there were differences regarding *H. pylori* infection and gastric histopathological findings between humans who had to manage an exhausting escape out of their own country and residents of a coastal town in the black sea region of Turkey. Endoscopic findings of Turkish and Afghan patients who underwent gastroscopy for various reasons, gastric biopsies, and their histopathological results (*H. pylori*, intestinal metaplasia, and gastric atrophy) and some biochemical parameters were retrospectively screened from the hospital online data system. A total of 222 patients, 41 Afghan and 181 Turkish, were included in the study. There were no significant differences regarding age and gender of the patients between the groups. The percentage of the patients with intestinal metaplasia and *H. pylori* infection was higher in the group of the Afghan patients than in Turkish patients. Afghan refugees had similar rates of atrophic gastritis (23.1% versus 21.5%; p=0.834), when compared to resident controls. Risk factors of gastric cancer include the presence of *H. pylori* infection, atrophic gastritis, and intestinal metaplasia. This study supports the knowledge that socioeconomic factors such as low economic conditions and poor health infrastructure are one of the major causes of widespread global H. pylori infection status.

Keywords: gastric biyopsy, *H. pylori*, intestinal metaplasia, gastric atrophy

1. Introduction

Due to ongoing socioeconomic turmoil and civil war like circumstances almost four million Afghan refugees had to leave their country and to move to neighboring countries and to the middle east, as well. According to the Journal of UN (1) there are 300.000 Afghan refugees in Turkey with the world's largest refugee population of about four million refugees in total, being under official protection.

It is classically described that both refugees and immigrants have lower socioeconomic status and have diminished access to health care centers due to lack of proper supports in their residential areas. Overcrowded immigration centers, poverty and low education levels are also contributed to some communicable diseases among Afghan refugees (2).

H. pylori is a gram-negative, spiral rod-shaped bacterium mainly seen in Asia, affecting almost half of the world's population (3). It is one of the responsible reasons for gastric cancer and gastric mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue (MALT)-lymphoma which comprises 5% of all cancer types in humans (4). Environmental etiological factors for developing *H. pylori*-infection include consuming contaminated drinking water, living in overcrowded houses

and dormitories, having either poverty or low education level (5).

Thus, immigrant populations are still the main targets of H. pylori studies to evaluate the spreading patterns of these infectious diseases.

Other hand, premalignant conditions and gastric cancer are one of the main health problems in some Asian countries including Japan, Afghanistan, Iran, and Turkey. Although the exact reason is not well established, those high rates of gastric cancer in such countries could be related to dietary habits and genetic predisposing factors (6). Intestinal Metaplasia (IM) means the emerging and presence of both colonic and intestinal mucosa in the gastric mucosa without wellestablished underlying factors. It is strongly associated and presented with intestinal type gastric adenocarcinoma and should be screened in all high populations (7). Risk factors of gastric IM have been reported as the presence of H. pylori infection, older age, smoking history, strong spicy food, occupation status and the presence of IL10-592 C/A (8).

Other hand, atrophic gastritis is defined as immunologically destructed parietal cells in either gastric fundus or corpus (9).

Both of atrophic gastritis and gastric IM are implicated in gastric carcinogenesis and should be tracked by endoscopic screening programs (10).

Our aim in this study is to determine the frequency of *H. pylori* infection and associated gastric precancerous lesions in the Afghan patient group with poor access to health-sufficient socioeconomic conditions and to compare these findings with the resident Turkish patient group living in the same region.

2. Materials and Methods

This study is a retrospective, unicenter trial. All Afghan refugee and Turkish resident patients over 18 years of age who underwent gastroscopy with a diagnosis of dyspepsia between May 2018 and October 2019 were included in the study.

We had previously excluded patients with severe underlying disease, including gastric cancer and gastric resection. All Patients without gastric biopsies or with pathology results, which could not be obtained, were excluded.

The control group was selected from native Turkish subjects presenting with dyspepsia. Gastroscopy with antral biopsy was performed in all patients at enrollment of the study. Laboratory parameters were obtained from hospital data system.

2.1. Endoscopy and histologic examination

All endoscopic examinations were performed with propofol anesthesia using Fujinon videoscope (Tokyo, Japan). Biopsy samples were reviewed by a pathologist for GPL and *H. pylori* status. Gastric biopsy specimens were fixed in formalin and assessed for *H. pylori* (by Giemsa staining) and intestinal metaplasia (by staining with hematoxylin and eosin). Intestinal metaplasia was classified in two grades (absent or present). Atrophic gastritis was defined as absence or presence of parietal cells in gastric mucosa with similar pathologic methods.

2.2. Ethical approval

Ordu University Training and Research Hospital / Ordu, Decision of Invasive Clinical Research Ethics Committee, 2020.

2.3. Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were performed with SAS software (SAS Institute, Cary, N.C.). The demographic, clinical, pathological and laboratory data and characteristics of the patients were compared by Student's t-test and Fisher's Exact-test to assess the difference between the proportions. All p-values were two-sided; significance was indicated by a p-value of less than 0.05.

3. Results

During the same time with fifty-five Afghan patients being gastroscopies, the gastroscopic findings of coincidentally

found two hundred-forty Turkish patients were screened via the computer data system of the hospital. Fourteen Afghan and fifty-nine Turkish patients were excluded because of at least one exclusion criteria. Finally, forty-one Afghan and one hundred eighty-one Turkish patients were included into the study. The characteristic sociodemographic features at baseline were well balanced between refugees and control subjects with respect to age (40.5 ± 13.3 versus 44.8 ± 13.7 years) and gender (all p >0.05). The total of the demographic and laboratory results of both groups are presented in Table 1.

Table 1. Demographic and laboratory results of the Afghan	and
Control group	

	Afghan Grou	р	Turkish group		
	Mean values (95 % CI)	SD	Mean values (95 % CI)	SD	Р
Age	40.53 (36.52- 44.55)	13.7	44.8 (52.8- 56.9)	13.7	<0.00 1
Gender					
Female	20 (48.78)		68 (37.6)		0.054
Male	21 (51.21)		113 (62.4)		0.054
Hemoglobin	13.43 (12.93- 13.94)	1.67	13.1 (12.8- 13.43)	2.12	0.413
Hematocrit	40.79 (39.51-42.08)	4.27	40.56 (39.7-41.4)	5.62	0.954
MCV	85.97 (84.12- 87.81)	6.15	85.45 (84.5- 86.4)	6.36	0.765
WBC	6.60 (5.91-7.28)	2.28	7.85 (7.48- 8.21)	2.47	0.002
Thrombocytes	235 (211.97- 258.03)	76.5	279.0 (250.1- 308)	197. 4	0.109
Glucose	108 (93.76- 122.24)	43.3	106.6 (99.7- 113.5)	49.9	0.148
Urea	27.88 (26.09- 29.67)	5.67	31.2 (29.2-33.2)	13.1	0.210
Creatinin	0.69 (0.65- 0.73)	0.13	0.80 (0.76- 0.84)	0.27	0.003
AST	23.05 (18.94- 27.16)	13.2	23.74 (21.03- 26.46)	17.9	0.585
ALT	19.6 (15.4-23.8)	13.8	23.64 (20.47- 26.82)	21.4	0.273
Albumin	4.1 (3.7-4.5)	0.4	4.57 (4.41- 4.72)	0.53	0.039
Ferritin	4.57 (4.41-4.72)	56.1	52.34 (38.21- 66.47)	42.9	0.004
TSH	2.04 (1.36-2.71)	2.25	2.02 (1.69-2.34)	1.92	0.435

MCV: mean corpuscular volume; WBC: white blood cells; AST: aspartataminotransferase; ALT: alanin-aminotransferase; TSH: thyroid-stimulating hormone; CI: confidence interval; sd: Standard deviation



Fig. 1. Endoscopic findings of the Afghan patients

The histopathologic results of the gastric biopsies as H. *pylori*, intestinal metaplasia and gastric atrophy are demonstrated in Table 2. The gastric biopsy specimens unveiled a significantly higher rate of H.*pylori* infection and gastric intestinal metaplasia in Afghan patients in comparison to
Turkish patients (78% versus 60.8%; p= 0.037 and 19.5% versus 3.3%; p=0.001, retrospectively). Interestingly, Afghan refugees had similar rates of atrophic gastritis (23.1% versus 21.5%; p=0.834), when compared to resident controls.

The mean serum albumin levels among Afghan refugees were lower than those of the Turkish control group (4.1 vs. 4.57 g/dl). The ferritin values in the Afghan group were higher (89.58ng/mL) than in the Turkish group (52.34 ng/mL).

The means of serum creatinine and leucocyte levels were significantly higher in the Turkish group than in the Afghan refugee group $(0.80\pm0.27 \text{ mg/dl} \text{ versus } 0.69\pm0.13 \text{ mg/dl}; \text{p}=0.003 \text{ and } 7.85\pm2.47\text{mm}^3 \text{ versus } 6.60\pm2.28/\text{mm}^3; \text{p}=0.002, \text{ respectively}).$

Table 2. Histopathologic results of *H. pylori*, intestinal metaplasia, and gastric atrophy

		Afghan group	Turkish	P-value
			group	
H. Pylori; n (%)	No	9 (22)	71 (39.2)	< 0.001
	Yes	32 (78)	110	
			(60.8)	
Intestinal	No	33 (80.5)	175	0.000
Metaplasia; n		× /	(96.7)	
(%)				
	Yes	8 (19.5)	6 (3.3)	
		()	()	
Atrophy; n (%)	No	32 (78.04)	142	0.834
			(78.5)	

H. Pylori: Helicobacter Pylori

4. Discussion

H. pylori has infected millions of people worldwide and has caused millions of gastric cancer cases. Risk factors of gastric cancer include the presence of *H. pylori* infection, atrophic gastritis, and intestinal metaplasia. Possible gastric cancer related environmental factors include living in a weak health infrastructured area and being in low socioeconomic status. The turmoil in the middle east and central Asia, where health organizations still face major limitations, caused further dislocations of a huge number of immigrants into Turkey in recent years.

Supporting the setting of this study, we found that the rate of H. pylori-infection in the Afghan refugee group was statistically significantly higher than Turkish patients. An Afghan study pointed out, that the prevalence of H. pylori infection was found as 59.1% by using an enzyme linked immunosorbent assay test. In our study, the rate of H. pylori infection in the Afghan group was significantly higher with 78% compared to this study. The reason for this difference can be attributed to the fact that Afghan refugees had to leave their hometown for various reasons and live in lower socioeconomic and poor sanitation conditions. Its presence was reportedly correlated with as follows; hypertension, smoking cigarettes, higher body mass index, diabetes mellitus and higher total cholesterol levels (all p<0.05) (11). Unfortunately, we did not analyse underlying factors that prone to H. pylori infection due to the retrospective nature of the study.

The importance of intestinal metaplasia in the development of gastric cancer was first described as the Correa sequence in the 1970s. According to this hypothesis, H. pylori infection results in superficial gastritis, atrophic gastritis, and intestinal metaplasia (12). Later, the close relationship between H. pylori, glandular atrophy, and intestinal metaplasia was defined by Matsuhisa et al. (13). The lower socioeconomic status in Asia is one of the fundamental reasons for the higher seroprevalence of H. pylori. It is assumed to be responsible of emerging gastric cancers and MALT-lymphoma (6). It is supposed that the rate of intestinal metaplasia in the Japanese population leads to more frequent gastric cancer compared to other Asian countries (13). Another study was conducted in Afghan humans complaining dyspepsia. 364 native Afghan humans were screened by upper gastrointestinal endoscopy without sedation, unveiling rates of esophageal cancer and gastric cancer of 25.3% and 3.6%, respectively (14). In our study, we found higher rates of gastric intestinal metaplasia in Afghan refugees. We did not detect any gastric cancer cases in our study subjects. The reason for this situation can be considered as the low number of Afghan patients in the study and the general condition of the patients with gastric cancer not being able to take refuge.

The circumstance of lower albumin levels among Afghan refugees could be explained by malnutrition, as it was the case in our Afghan group (15), the higher levels of ferritin at normal hemoglobin in the Afghan group were interpreted as acute phase protein reaction rather than anemia.

The fact of higher creatinine-levels in the Turkish control group than in the Afghan group could be due to the lower weight and muscle mass because of malnourishment in the last months.

Our study was conducted retrospectively, so it could not be planned systematically like a prospective study. Another limiting factor of this study is that patients may be using a proton pump inhibitor before endoscopy, which may affect *H. pylori* evaluation. Finally, in this small city where the study was conducted, the number of Afghan refugees is quite low compared to metropolises. Further on, it is questionable, whether these patients represent most of the Afghan people in Turkey.

Our endoscopic findings may provide a novel opportunity to draw attention on the health problems, in particular the gastric cancer risk among Afghan refugees or asylum seekers all over the world. Of course, more studies are necessary on this topic to maintain a sufficient health care for the global challenge of refugees.

Conflict of interest

No conflict of interest was declared by authors.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

References

- 1. UNHCR. Refugee Agency. October 2020. https://www.unhcrorg/.
- Khakpour M, Iqbal R, GhulamHussain N, Engler-Stringer R, Koc M, Garcea J, et al. Facilitators and Barriers toward Food Security of Afghan Refugees Residing in Karachi, Pakistan. Ecol Food Nutr. 2019;58(4):317-334. doi: 10.1080/03670244.2019.1598982. Epub 2019 Apr 17. PMID: 30991835.
- Park JS, Jun JS, Ryu EY, Yeom JS, Park ES, Seo JH, et al. Changes in Seroprevalence of Helicobacter pylori Infection over 20 Years in Jinju, Korea, from Newborns to the Elderly. J Korean Med Sci. 2020; 35(32): e259. doi: 10.3346/jkms.2020.35.e259.

PMID: 32808510; PMCID: PMC7431285.
4. Mbulaiteye SM, Hisada M, El-Omar EM. Helicobacter Pylori associated global gestria espace burden. Event Piesei (Londmark)

- associated global gastric cancer burden. Front Biosci (Landmark Ed). 2009; 14:1490-504. doi: 10.2741/3320. PMID: 19273142; PMCID: PMC2654592.
- Melese A, Genet C, Zeleke B, Andualem T. Helicobacter pylori infections in Ethiopia; prevalence and associated factors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Gastroenterol. 2019; 19(1):8. doi: 10.1186/s12876-018-0927-3. PMID: 30630433; PMCID: PMC6327617.
- Rahman R, Asombang AW, Ibdah JA. Characteristics of gastric cancer in Asia. World J Gastroenterol. 2014 ;20(16):4483-90. doi: 10.3748/wjg. v20.i16.4483. PMID: 24782601; PMCID: PMC4000485.
- Canakis A, Pani E, Saumoy M, Shah SC. Decision model analyses of upper endoscopy for gastric cancer screening and preneoplasia surveillance: a systematic review. Therap Adv Gastroenterol. 2020; 13:1756284820941662. doi: 10.1177/1756284820941662. PMID: 32728390; PMCID: PMC7366398.
- Kim N, Park YS, Cho SI, Lee HS, Choe G, Kim IW, et al. Prevalence and risk factors of atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia in a Korean population without significant gastroduodenal disease. Helicobacter. 2008; 13(4):245-55. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-5378.2008.00604. x. PMID: 18665932.
- Matysiak-Budnik T, Camargo MC, Piazuelo MB, Leja M. Recent Guidelines on the Management of Patients with Gastric Atrophy: Common Points and Controversies. Dig Dis Sci. 2020; 65(7):1899-1903. doi: 10.1007/s10620-020-06272-9. PMID: 32356261; PMCID: PMC7767582.
- Rugge M, Sugano K, Scarpignato C, Sacchi D, Oblitas WJ, Naccarato AG. Gastric cancer prevention targeted on risk assessment: Gastritis OLGA staging. Helicobacter. 2019;24(2): e12571. doi: 10.1111/hel.12571. Epub 2019 Feb 17. PMID: 30773732.
- Hamrah MS, Hamrah MH, Ishii H, Suzuki S, Hamrah MH, Hamrah AE, et al. Association between Helicobacter pylori Infection and Cardiovascular Risk Factors among Patients in the Northern Part of Afghanistan: a Cross-Sectional Study in Andkhoy City. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2018; 19(4):1035-1039. doi: 10.22034/APJCP.2018.19.4.1035. PMID: 29693980; PMCID: PMC6031800.
- 12. Abadir A, Streutker C, Brezden-Masley C, Grin A, Kim YI. Intestinal metaplasia and the risk of gastric cancer in an immigrant asian population. Clin Med Insights Gastroenterol. 2012; 5:43-50. doi: 10.4137/CGast.S10070. PMID: 24833933; PMCID: PMC3987763.
- 13. Matsuhisa TM, Yamada NY, Kato SK, Matsukura NM. Helicobacter pylori infection, mucosal atrophy and intestinal

metaplasia in Asian populations: a comparative study in age-, gender- and endoscopic diagnosis-matched subjects. Helicobacter. 2003; 8(1):29-35. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-5378.2003.00121. x. PMID: 12603614.

- Hamrah MS, Hamrah MH, Rabi M, Wu HX, Hao CN, Harun-Or-Rashid M, Sakamoto J, Ishii H. Prevalence of esophageal cancer in the Northern part of Afghanistan. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2014;15(24):10981-4. doi: 10.7314/apjcp.2014.15.24.10981. PMID: 25605213.
- Ota A, Kondo N, Murayama N, Tanabe N, Shobugawa Y, Kondo K; Japan Gerontological Evaluation Study (JAGES) group. Serum Albumin Levels and Economic Status in Japanese Older Adults. PLoS One. 2016;11(6): e0155022. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0155022. PMID: 27276092; PMCID: PMC4898757.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm

Research Article



J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 101-109 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.21

Patients' approach to medicines in COVID-19

Duygu ZORLU^{1,*}, Ali BULUT², Lokman HIZMALI³, Gülhan ÜNLÜ⁴

¹Department of Pulmonology, Faculty of Medicine, Ahi Evran University, Kırşehir, Turkey

²Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Charge of the Filiation Team, Faculty of Medicine, Ahi Evran University, Kırşehir, Turkey ³ Department of Infection Disease and Clinic Microbiology, Faculty of Medicine, Ahi Evran University, Kırşehir, Turkey ⁴ Department of Pharmacology, Faculty of Medicine, Ahi Evran University, Kırşehir, Turkey

Received: 15.06.2021 •	Accepted/Published Online: 01.07.2021	٠	Final Version: 01.01.2022

Abstract

Several different guidelines and therapeutic recommendations have been reported for the treatment of COVID-19 since the announcement of the pandemic. In our study, the attitudes and approaches of patients with a medical indication for COVID-19 who were given drugs towards drug usage were evaluated. We aimed to present our data on the drug usage characteristics of patients to contribute to the literature. A total of 399 patients were included in the study. In the study, 51.1% of the patients were female, and 48.9% were male. The highest number of the patients were in the 18-30 age group (27.6%), the lowest number of the patients were 65 years old or older (9.8%). Twenty-five questions prepared by the researchers were asked to the patients to evaluate "their knowledge and attitudes on drug usage and disease prevention in COVID-19." Of the patients, 75.7% were not smokers. No history of chronic disease was present in 65.5% of the patients. It was determined that no drug was recommended for 9.8% of the patients, and hydroxychloroquine and favipiravir were recommended together in 49.9%. The rate of the use of chloroquine alone was 4.8%, and the rate of using only favipiravir was 32.8%. Eighty-two percent of the patients reported that they regularly used the drugs that were recommended. Among the patients, 11.5% either never used the recommended drugs or did not use them at the recommended dose and time. Of the 46 (11.5%) patients who did not use the prescribed drugs regularly, none died. In other words, improvement was observed in the patients who did not use the drugs that were recommended to them. Our aim in this study was to determine the rate and characteristics of the drugs prescribed by physicians in diagnosed patients. In this cross-sectional sample of Turkey, it was determined that the rate of recommended drug usage was sufficient with the data of the city where the study was carried out.

Keywords: COVID-19, drugs, patients, hydroxychloroquine, favipiravir

1. Introduction

Several different guidelines and therapeutic recommendations have been reported for the treatment of COVID-19 since the announcement of the pandemic. Accordingly, at the beginning of the current pandemic, in China, several agents were used first and successively. Furthermore, numerous clinical studies were initiated to investigate the potential efficacy of treatments for COVID-19, highlighting the need to obtain high-quality evidence as soon as possible (1-5).

Urgent responses and high-quality evidence were needed regarding the efficacy and safety of the therapeutic agents currently used at the beginning of the pandemic process. For this reason, several clinical studies with different approaches, different drug combinations and different durations were approved during the pandemic period. Therapeutic agents such as hydroxychloroquine, remdesivir, lopinavir/ritonavir, favipiravir, tocilizumab, immune plasma and immunoglobulins were recommended by Clinical Research Agencies. Most of these randomly designed trials with these drugs are still ongoing, and the effectiveness and efficacy of these drugs are not yet clear (3-8).

In Turkey, the Scientific Advisory Board was established by the Ministry of Health with the announcement of the pandemic. Epidemic management, monitoring and control were planned in line with the recommendations of this board. Moreover, each subject title was made available in the name of "Guidelines" on the Ministry of Health's webpage. Thus, the approach to the patient, treatment plan and follow-up were standardized throughout the country. The guidelines include how the COVID-19 pandemic started and spread, the characteristics of the SARS-CoV-2 virus that caused the pandemic, the form of the transmission of the disease, its epidemiology, diagnosis, treatment and follow-up, and individual and institutional measures to be taken to control the pandemic. These guidelines presented which cases would be treated and where and how they would be treated (outpatient, service or intensive care units), the doses of drugs used in treatment, side effects, at which stage of the disease these drugs should be initiated/discontinued, as well as supportive treatments. The guidelines handled in detail every issue related to the management of COVID-19 patients, from evaluation of the patient's response to the treatment, the isolation/quarantine periods/rules of the patient, to the burial procedures of the deceased patients, and they presented recommendations and algorithms for implementation (9-11). Since the pandemic's announcement, the guidelines have been and still are frequently updated considering new data and information. They have provided the opportunity to find the most accurate and up-to-date information that health professionals will need in the management of the disease. Drug indications and doses to be used have been clearly stated in the guidelines, and treatment protocols have been applied accordingly.

In our study, we evaluated the attitudes and approaches of patients with a medical indication for COVID-19 who were given drugs to drug usage. We aimed to present our data on the drug usage characteristics of patients to contribute to the literature.

2. Materials and Methods

The ethics committee approval of the study was obtained from the Ahi Evran University Clinical Research Ethics Committee with the decision no.: 2021-02/15. Consent was obtained from each patient participating in the study.

2.1. Study Population

The study was conducted with patients diagnosed with COVID-19 registered by the Provincial Health Directorate of our city. There were 17436 cases registered in the city at the end of January 2021. To select the sample of the study, 600 adult patients were called randomly from these cases. 153 patients could not be reached on the phone number they had provided, and 47 patients did not agree to participate in the study. Patients in the pediatric age group were excluded.

The sample of the study was formed of 400 randomly selected patients who were interviewed by phone and volunteered to participate. The required sample size of the study was calculated by power analysis. As a result of the power analysis performed by taking the effect size of w=0.25, power $(1-\beta)=0.95$, df=9, it was calculated that the total sample size should be at least 378. Power analysis was performed using the G*Power 3.1.9.6 software.

The data were collected from the 400 randomly selected patients comprising the initial sample by contacting the patients on the official phone line of the Provincial Health Directorate. Twenty-five questions prepared by the researchers were asked to the patients to evaluate "their knowledge and attitudes on drug usage and disease prevention in COVID-19" (Table I). The answers to the questions asked to the participants one by one through the official phone line were recorded. The questions were created under the guidance of the guidelines of the Ministry of Health to evaluate the demographic characteristics of the participants, as well as their data on COVID-19 diagnosis characteristics, drug usage and their compliance with the protection methods recommended in the Ministry of Health guidelines (9). Information about the study was given to each patient who agreed to participate in the study, and consent and voice recording of the interview were obtained. Only 1 patient stated that they did not want to participate in the study by returning our call. The data of this patient were excluded from the study. A total of 399 patients were included in the study.

2.2. Statistical Analysis

The statistical analyses in the study were performed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences version 21.0 software for Windows (IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 21.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp., USA). The descriptive statistics of the variables are presented as n (%). Chi-squared and Fisher-Freeman-Halton tests were used for the univariate analysis of the variables. In all statistical analyses, results with a p-value below 0.05 were interpreted as statistically significant.

3. Results

A total of 399 patients were included in the study, where 51.1% of the patients were female, and 48.9% were male. The highest number of the patients was found in the 18-30 age group (27.6%), and the lowest number of the patients were 65 years old or older (9.8%). It was observed that the education levels of the patients were mostly on the primary education (35.8%) and bachelor's degree (32.3%) levels. No history of chronic disease (such as Diabetes Mellitus (DM), Essential Hypertension (HT), Coronary Artery Disease (CAD), Congestive Heart Failure (CHF), Malignancy) was detected in 65.5% of the patients. The most common chronic disease history was determined to be DM (9.32%) and HT (9.32%). Of the patients, 75.7% were not smokers (Table 2).

Most of the patients stated that they used masks (96.7%) when they went out of the house when necessary (e.g., grocery shopping). While 57.4% of the patients did not work in any job, 41.1% of them were working. When this group of employees was evaluated, 13.3% of them stated that they were eating and drinking together with their colleagues in their work environment. The ratio of those who stated that they paid attention to the recommendations of the Scientific Advisory Board (social distancing, limitation of the number of people in an indoor environment and ventilation of the environment) during eating and drinking was 92.2%. While 6.8% of the patients stated that they accepted guests to their houses and/or went to visit others, a significant portion (90.5%) stated that they did not accept guests during this period, and they did not go to visit others either (Table 2).

A significant proportion (86.2%) of the patients were diagnosed with COVID-19 in the 3-month period prior to the starting date of the study. In other words, the 3-month period (November, December, January) before February 2021, when the study was conducted, was determined as the period with the highest number of the patients included in this study during the pandemic (Table 2).

Zorlu et al. / J Exp Clin Med

	Date://2021 City/District where you live:
1	Age? 18-30 31-40 41-50 51-64 +65
2	Sex? Female Male
3	Education status? Illiterate Primary school High school Bachelor's degree Postgraduate/Doctorate
4	Do you have any chronic disease? Asthma/COPD Diabetes Hypertension Heart Diseases Other
5	Do you smoke? Yes No
6	Do you wear a mask when going out of the house (when you go shopping, etc.)? Yes No
7	Are you currently in a job? Yes No (If your answer is No, move to the question 9)
8	Do you get together with your colleagues at work, drink tea, coffee, etc., and eat something? Yes No
9	When drinking tea, coffee or eating, do you pay attention to the Scientific Advisory Board's recommendations (distance and number of people in a closed environment)? Yes No
10	Do guests come to your house, or do you go on house visits? Yes No
11	When did you get the diagnosis of COVID-19? 0-3 months ago 4-6 months ago 7-9 months ago 10-12 months ago
12	Which drugs were recommended to you by the pandemic outpatient clinic/contact tracing team? (you can check more than one option) Plaquenil Favipiravir Plaquenil + Favipiravir
13	Did you regularly use the drugs recommended by the pandemic outpatient clinic/contact tracing team? Yes I started using them when my condition got worse No
14	If your answer was I started using them when my condition worsened, or no, why did you not use them?I do not think coronavirus drugs are beneficial.I did not use them because I was afraid of their side effects.I do not like taking drugs.Other
15	Did you use the drugs recommended by the pandemic outpatient clinic/contact tracing team in the amount recommended by them? Yes No
16	Did you adjust the dosage of the drugs recommended by the pandemic outpatient clinic/contact tracing team by yourself? Yes No
17	Did you use the drugs recommended by the pandemic outpatient clinic/contact tracing team more than the amount recommended by them? Yes No
18	Where did you get information about drugs used against COVID-19?The website of the Ministry of HealthThe physicians working in the pandemic outpatient clinicPhysicians I knowThe contact tracing team staffThe pharmacy (pharmacist/pharmacy employee)Healthcare personnel (nurse/technician) I knowThe drug package insertInternet/tvNeighbors or relativesOther
19	Did your neighbors or relatives give you non-drug recommendations for the coronavirus disease, and did you follow these recommendations? Yes (cupping/leech/amulet/herb mixture) No
20	Did you take any food supplements or drugs other than coronavirus drugs? Yes (*Vitamin D/ *Vitamin B/ *Omega 3/* Propolis/* Mg /* Zn/ *Coraspin /*Other:) No
21	Are you thinking of getting vaccinated? Yes No (Move to the question 23)
22	Where did you get information about the vaccine? TV/Social Media The website of the Ministry of Health Relatives Other:
23	Why do you not want to be vaccinated? I do not think it is safe. I think it is harmful. Other:
24	Were you vaccinated against flu and pneumonia? Yes No
25	Do you get the flu vaccine regularly every year? Yes No

Table 1. Sample follow-up form to evaluate patients' drug usage, prevention from the disease, knowledge and attitudes in COVID-19

It was determined that no drug was recommended for 9.8% of the patients, and hydroxychloroquine and favipiravir were recommended together in 49.9%. The use of chloroquine alone was 4.8%, and the rate of using only favipiravir was 32.8%. In the study, 82% of the patients reported that they regularly used the drugs recommended by the pandemic outpatient clinic and/or the physician of the contact tracing team. Among them, 11.5% either never used the recommended drugs or did not use them at the recommended dose and time. Of the 46 (11.5%) patients who

did not use the prescribed drugs regularly, none died. In other words, improvement was observed in the patients who did not use the drugs.

In the evaluation questions, the patients' reasons for not using drugs were questioned by providing them with the options "I do not think drugs are beneficial, I think drugs are harmful, I did not use them because I was afraid of their side effects, I did not use them because I felt good, I do not like taking drugs". During the pandemic process, most of the patients (50.6%) received their information about the drugs used in COVID-19 from the contact tracing team. Many patients (21.3%) also searched for information about drugs on the internet/TV. Accordingly, it was observed that the patients

preferred the Ministry of Health's website (1.3%) and pharmacies (0.5%) much less to obtain relevant information (Table 2).

Table 2. Frequency and % values of the patients participating in the study

		N (%)
Sex		
	Female	204 (51.1)
	Male	195 (48.9)
Age	10.20	110 (27.0)
	18-50	110(27.6)
	31-40	97 (24.5)
	41-50	/5 (18.8)
	31-04	76 (19.0)
Education state	62+	39 (9.8)
Education statt	IN Internet	12 (2.0)
		12(5.0)
	Primary school	143 (35.8)
	High school	95 (23.8)
	Bachelor's degree	129 (32.3)
Character Disease	Postgraduate	5 (1.5)
Chronic Diseas	es A chang	19 (4 20)
		18 (4.20)
		40 (9.32)
	Hypertension (H1)	40 (9.32)
	Heart Diseases (CAD/CHF)	15 (3.5)
		7 (1.63)
	Liver Disease	2(0.47)
	Unter Liver Diseases	3 (0.70)
	Thyroid Diseases	8 (1.86)
	Kidney Diseases	1 (0.23)
	COPD	2 (0.47)
	None	281 (65.50)
	Other (Rheumatic, skin-related, etc. diseases)	12 (2.80)
Do you smoke	2	
	Yes	86 (21.6)
	No	302 (75.7)
Do you wear a	mask when going out of the house (when you go shopping, etc.)?	
	Yes	386 (96.7)
	No	1 (0.3)
Are you curren	tly in a job?	
	Yes	164 (41.1)
	No	229 (57.4)
Do you get tog	ether with your colleagues at work, drink tea, coffee, etc., and eat something?	
	Yes	53 (13.3)
	No	325 (81.5)
When drinking	tea, coffee or eating, do you pay attention to the Scientific Advisory Board's recommendations (social distancing and num	iber of people in a
closed environ	nent)?	
	Yes	368 (92.2)
	No	5 (1.3)
Do guests com	e to your house, or do you go on visits?	
	Yes	27 (6.8)
	No	361 (90.5)
When did you	get the diagnosis of COVID-19?	
	0- 3 months ago	344 (86.2)
	4- 6 months ago	21 (5.3)
	7-9 months ago	28 (7.0)
	10-12 months ago	2 (0.5)
Which drugs w	ere recommended to you by the pandemic outpatient clinic/contact tracing team? (you can check more than one option)	
	Plaquenil	19 (4.8)
	Favipiravir	131 (32.8)
	Plaquenil +Favipiravir	199 (49.9)
	None (Pregnant/lactation)	39 (9.8)
Did you regula	rly use the drugs recommended by the pandemic outpatient clinic/contact tracing team?	. ,
	Yes	327 (82.0)
	I started using them when my condition got worse	4 (1.0)
	No	46 (11.5)
If your answer	was I started using them when my condition worsened, or no. why did you not use them?	. ()
	I do not think coronavirus drugs are beneficial	0 (0.0)
	I think coronavirus drugs are harmful.	0(0.0)
	I did not use them because I was afraid of their side effects	3 (0.8)
	I did not use them because I was analy of them side effects.	2(0.5)
	I do not like taking drugs	2 (0.5)
	Other	20 (0.8)
	Ulici	39 (9.8)

Zorlu et al. / J Exp Clin Med

Did you use the d	rugs recommended by the pandemic outpatient clinic/contact tracing team in the amount recommended by them?	
	Yes	324 (81.2)
	No	61 (15.3)
Did you adjust the	e dosage of the drugs recommended by the pandemic outpatient clinic/contact tracing team by yourself ?	
	Yes	7 (1.8)
	No	349 (87.5)
Did you use the d	rugs recommended by the pandemic outpatient clinic/contact tracing team more than the amount recommended by them?	
	Yes	16 (4.0)
	No	368 (92.2)
Where did you ge	t information about drugs used against COVID-19?	
	The physicians working in the pandemic outpatient clinic	20 (5.0)
	Physicians I know	15 (3.5)
	The Contact Tracing Team	202 (50.6)
	The pharmacy	2 (0.5)
	Healthcare personnel I know	22 (5.5)
	The drug package inserts	1 (0.3)
	Internet/TV	85 (21.3)
	The website of the Ministry of Health	5 (1.3)
	Family physician	21 (5.0)
Did you take any	food supplements or drugs other than coronavirus drugs?	
	Yes	26 (6.5)
	No	356 (89.2)
Supplement		
	Vitamin C	20 (60.60)
	Vitamin D	6 (18.18)
	Multivitamin	6 (18.18)
	Ginger	1(3.0)
	Propolis	0 (0.0)
Are you thinking	of getting vaccinated?	
	Yes	262 (65.7)
	No	119 (29.8)
Where did you ge	t information about the vaccine?	
	TV/social media	307 (76.9)
	The website of the Ministry of Health	0 (0.0)
	Relatives	15 (3.8)
	Contact tracing team/Provincial Health Directorate	22 (5.5)
	Other	35 (8.8)
Why do you not v	vant to be vaccinated?	
	I do not think it is safe.	78 (19.5)
	I think it is harmful.	3 (0.8)
	Other	181 (45.4)
Were you vaccina	ted against flu and pneumonia?	
	Yes	54 (13.5)
D	No .	327 (82.1)
Do you get the flu	i vaccine regularly every year?	16 (4.0)
	Yes	16(4.0)
D.C. A. A.		300 (91.7)
Patients getting th	e COVID-19 vaccine	274 (02 7)
	N0 V	574 (93.7)
	Ies	25 (6.3)

Note: The rates that led to incomplete sums were caused by the fact that some participants did not respond to some questions.

A clear reason was not determined among these options as the reason for 9.8% of the patients to not use the drugs regularly as these patients stated that they did not want to answer this question in general. Among the patients who responded to this question, there were those who stated that the drugs are not beneficial, they have side effects, they are malaria drugs, and they did not use it because of stomach disorders (Table 3).

While 81.2% (n=324) of the patients reported that they used the drugs recommended by the pandemic outpatient clinic or contact tracing team at the recommended dose, 15.3% (n=61) did not use the recommended dose. There were no patients who died among the patients who stated that they did not use the drug/s at the recommended dose. When the study was terminated, a retrospective evaluation was made to detect the deceased. Two patients who died reported that they had used the exact doses of the drugs recommended to them during our evaluation.

According to the results, 1.8% of the patients adjusted the dose of the drugs recommended by the pandemic outpatient clinic or the physician of the contact tracing team by themselves. Dosage adjustment by oneself was considered as taking less or more tablets than the recommended dose. The number of the patients who reported using more tablets than the recommended drug dose was 16 (4%). These patients made their explanations as that they forgot that they had taken the drug and took it again or that they thought that the higher dose would be more effective, and they would recover quickly. All patients in this group were hospitalized and followed up, without any organ failure or death (Table 3).

Table 3. The patients' characteristics of using of drugs

Did you regularly use the drugs recommended by the pandemic outpatient clinic/contact tracing team?					
		Yes	I started using them when my condition got worse	No	р
	Plaquenil	19 (100.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
which drugs were recommended to you by the pandemic outpatient clinic/contact tracing team? (you can check more than one option)	Favipiravir	116 (90.6)	3 (2.3)	9 (7.0)	0.000
	Plaquenil + Favipiravir	184 (93.9)	1 (0.5)	11 (5.6)	0.000

Note: The rates that led to incomplete sums were caused by the fact that some participants did not respond to some questions.

Of the patients, 6.5% stated that they used food supplements and/or additional drugs other than the drugs that were recommended for them for their COVID-19 infection status. It was determined that vitamin C (60.6%) was the most frequently used supplement (Table 2).

While 65.7% of the patients were thinking of vaccination, 29.8% of them stated that they did not think of vaccination. Most patients reported that they obtained information about

the vaccine from TV/social media (76.9%). According to the results, 19.5% of the patients stated that they did not think of having the vaccine because they did not find the vaccine safe. While 13.5% of the patients had had influenza and pneumococcal vaccines, 82.1% had not. At the end of the study, when the 399 patients participating in the study were evaluated retrospectively, it was found out that 2 patients (0.5%) died, and the vaccination rate was 6.3% (Table 4).

Table 4. Analysis of the patients'	opinions about the COVID-19 vaccine and other vac	ccine-related characteristics
Ano you thinking of gotting your	air at a d 2	

The you minking of getting vacentated.						
		Yes (n=262)	No (n=119)	р		
Where did you get in:	formation about the vaccine?					
	TV/social media	201 (77.3)	106 (89.1)			
	The website of the Ministry of Health	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0.026		
	Relatives	12 (4.6)	3 (2.5)	0.036		
	Contact tracing team	27 (10.4)	8 (6.7)			
	Other	20 (7.7)	2 (1.7)			
Were you vaccinated	against flu and pneumonia?					
	Yes	38 (14.6)	16 (13.4)	0 772		
	No	223 (85.4)	103 (86.6)	0.775		
Do you get the flu vaccine regularly every year?						
	Yes	14 (5.4)	2 (1.7)	0.004		
	No	244 (94.6)	117 (98.3)	0.094		

Note: The rates that led to incomplete sums were caused by the fact that some participants did not respond to some questions.

4. Discussion

In our study, interesting results contrary to what is commonly known were presented. These were the results which were contrary to the information that individuals over the age of 65, those with chronic diseases and/or those who are smokers are more easily infected and evaluated in a higher-risk group. According to our data, the lowest number of the patients in our sample was in the group of individuals who were 65 years and older (9.8%) specified in the high-risk group. No history of chronic disease was detected in 65.5% of the patients, and 75.7% of them were not smokers. In other words, contrary to what is known, the rate of COVID-19 diagnosis was found to be high in the individuals in our sample who did not smoke and/or did not have any chronic diseases. We think that the low rate of infection in the patients in our sample aged 65 and over may have occurred due to the frequent emphasis on the warning that they are at risk, as well as the strict social isolation practices imposed upon this age group (12-18). Studies that reflect different views on the relationship between smoking and the disease have been conducted. It has been reported that there is a higher rate of disease progression in smokers compared to non-smokers, and smoking is a risk factor for the progression of COVID-19 (5, 6). On the other hand, there are also studies stating that the effects of smoking on the severity of the disease, duration of hospital stay, noninvasive mechanical ventilation need (NIMV), admission to the intensive care unit (ICU) and mortality are not statistically significant (7). According to the results of our study, although we cannot clearly state that smoking is a risk factor, we also cannot say that smoking has negative effect on COVID-19 progression. In this study conducted in the 11th month of the pandemic process, it was observed that the majority of the patients received their diagnosis in the 3-month period before the study was carried out. In other words, the disease diagnosis rate between the 8th and 11th months of the pandemic (November, December, January) was found to be high in our sample. In this result, we think the increase in the number of daily tests and the flexibility of the implementation of restrictions, measures and prohibitions across the country may have been effective (12, 17, 18).

Although most of the patients stated that they paid attention to the rules of protection and precaution in their workplaces and private lives, they became infected. However, studies conducted so far have clearly revealed that the most effective way to prevent infection with the disease is wearing

masks and complying with rules and recommendations on social distancing and hygiene (2, 9, 10). This result showed that individual compliance with rules and recommendations cannot be evaluated objectively. In other words, the person may think that they comply with the rules and/or recommendations, but they might actually be not applying these practices properly or in the correct manner. For example, the person may have used a mask, but they might have not applied the mask properly to cover their nose and mouth completely. Nevertheless, when studies evaluate this patient, they evaluate their use of masks positively based on the patient's self-report. This evaluation may also be considered in other measures and applications. For this reason, the rules and measures that affect public health should not be left to an individual approach, but they should be managed with strict control, criminal action and sanctions.

In Turkey, the treatment protocol was determined by the Scientific Advisory Board of the Ministry of Health, which was created with the announcement of the pandemic, and the treatment protocols have been made available to all healthcare professionals with the guidelines of this board. Thus, the treatment protocols have been standardized throughout the country. The New Coronavirus National Diagnosis and Treatment Guideline prepared by the Ministry of Health Coronavirus Scientific Advisory Board was published online on 14 January 2020 on the Ministry's website (9). According to this guideline, it was recommended to add only hydroxychloroquine at the beginning of the pandemic and favipiravir at later stages of all cases in the early period (viral replication) both in mildly symptomatic and even asymptomatic cases that can be treated on an outpatient basis and in cases requiring hospitalization. The recommended 5day treatment was extended to 10 days when deemed necessary by the physician (19-22). Even though their PCR test was negative, these treatments could also be given to people with clinical and thoracic computed tomography (CT) findings compatible with COVID-19-related pneumonia. The pharmacy sales of these drugs were restricted and withdrawn, and they could be prescribed directly by the Ministry and free of charge in hospitals on a case-by-case basis. The drugs to be used by the patient were given from the hospital or brought to the homes of some patients who were found to be positive by contact tracing and response teams. It was also observed that healthcare workers with a high risk of contact sometimes used these drugs in terms of preventive/early/pre-treatment (9). These practices have differed in different countries, especially in European countries. In these countries, even PCR-positive asymptomatic patients were followed up without drugs.

According to the data collected in our study, medication was not indicated in 9.8% of the patients, only hydroxychloroquine was started in 4.8%, only favipiravir was started for 32.8%, and hydroxychloroquine and favipiravir were started together for 49.9%. The Patients without drug indication have consisted of those in pregnancy or lactation periods, those with cardiac disease diagnosis and/or electrocardiography (ECG) findings evaluated before drug prescription, as specified in the guidelines of the Ministry of Health. Pregnant or lactating patients indicated for medication have been hospitalized and treated (9-11). According to our data, the rate of physicians prescribing drugs for the patients in our study was 97.3%. The prescribed drugs were given to the patients from the hospital's pharmacy at that time. The rate of the patients in our sample who were not prescribed drugs was caused by the fact that the physician wrote a prescription, but prescription records could not be made due to computer system errors at the time. In other words, no system registration was made, but the manuscript prescription and the drug were given to the patient.

In Turkey, pandemic outpatient clinics were opened with the announcement of the pandemic, and patients whose RT-PCR tests were positive in the examinations there were collected in the system records and the provincial and countrywide data pool. The contact tracing teams formed by the provincial directorates also undertook the follow-up of individuals who had contact and home treatment in the field. Physicians and assistive health personnel were assigned in the contact tracing teams. PCR-positive contacts were identified by the team and tested by visiting homes. Medical treatment for contacts and patients was provided by the contact tracing teams according to the principles specified in the guidelines (9-11). While 82% of the patients in our study stated that they regularly used the drugs recommended by the pandemic outpatient clinic or contact tracing team physician, 11.5% did not use them regularly. A group among the patients who did not use the recommended drugs regularly did not state a clear reason for not using drugs regularly (9.8%). As it may be seen here, although concern for the efficacy and side effects of drugs seems to be common in society, the rate of drug usage was found to be quite high in our sample. However, the rate of not using drugs is exaggerated on social media. Nevertheless, the other striking result was that there was no death among the 46 (11.5%) patients who did not use the prescribed drugs regularly. Some of these patients also recovered without medication. In these patients, many factors such as being affected by the disease, their immune system, viral load, and maybe, genetic factors might have been effective. On the other hand, this result may have been obtained because the patients stated that the drugs were ineffective and that they did not intend to use them but in fact used the drugs in practice. Still, the interesting thing was that, among the patients who stated that they did not use the drugs at their recommended dosage, there were no patients who died. In the evaluation we made, 2 patients who were found to die afterwards, had reported in our study that they had taken the exact dose of the drugs recommended to them. The low rate of death in the patients who did not use drugs may have been found because of the low number of the patients who did not comply with drug usage. This result brings to mind the

question of whether drugs have individual efficacy, which has not been emphasized much in previous studies. This subject may also be considered as the topic of a separate study. It may be seen that, in the last three-month period before the study started (November, December, January), the infection rate was high, and the mortality rate was quite low (0.5%). This result gives the hope that SARS-CoV-2's virulence and mortal mutations/variants are reduced, and there may be mild mutations (10).

According to our data, the patients mostly (50.6%) obtained information about the drugs used in COVID-19 from the contact tracing team. This was a promising result in terms of informing patients accurately about drugs. We attribute the high rate of drug usage in the patients to their acquisition of drug-related information from the contact tracing teams. In this regard, a large number of patients (21.3%) received information about drugs also via the internet/TV. We think, during the pandemic period, social media and communication tools were not managed well, and control over accurate information/news could not be fully achieved. Nonphysicians from many unrelated fields made comments, and people in anxiety and panic accepted what was said to be true without questioning it. Unexpectedly, the patients in our study used the Ministry of Health's website (1.3%) and pharmacies (0.5%) much less frequently for information. However, an upto-date and comprehensible data network was created for the public on the website of the Ministry of Health (9-11). Another interesting result of our study was related to the usage of supplements. Although the rate of using supplements preferred in traditional medicine practices seems to be very high in the general public, only 6.5% of the patients in our study stated that they took food supplements and/or drugs other than the specified drugs. In studies on COVID-19 and the use of supplements, the usage of various herbal products such as propolis, vitamins C, D and B12, probiotics, Sambucus, sumac and herbal teas was mentioned (13,14,15). In our study, it was observed that the patients who used supplements mostly used vitamin C (60.6%), followed by multivitamin supplements and ginger during this period. This result may have been a consequence specific to our local population. There are no clear data on the level of evidence on supplements, and studies are ongoing (13-15).

In Turkey, the vaccination program was initiated on healthcare professionals as of 14 January 2021. During the period covering the study, only healthcare workers were included in the vaccination program, and the vaccination program of other individuals in the community was not initiated (9). In our study, where we also evaluated the opinions of the patients about the vaccination program, 65.7% of the patients stated that they were thinking of vaccination, while 29.8% said they were not. Most patients reported that they obtained information about the vaccine from TV/social media (76.9%). Moreover, because 19.5% of the patients did not find the vaccine safe, they did not think of having the

vaccine. Different opinions on this matter and the vaccination comments of non-physicians might have been effective on this result. Routine influenza and pneumococcal vaccines are recommended for individuals with chronic diseases and/or those over 65 years of age in Turkey (23). While 13.5% of the patients in the sample of this study had had influenza and pneumococcal vaccines, 82.1% had not. However, when these vaccines were started, individuals showed interest in these vaccines like the COVID-10 vaccine, and the vaccines ran short, and it was difficult to obtain the influenza and pneumococcal vaccines from the market for a while. The interesting result was that the rate of having influenza and pneumococcal vaccines in the indicated individuals decreased during the pandemic period. In a study evaluating the media's relationship with patients' views on influenza and pneumococcal vaccines, it was reported that patients with chronic respiratory disease were not affected by the media regarding vaccination, and the rate of those receiving these vaccines was 44% (24). This rate was determined as 13.5% in our study. We think that the incomplete data obtain in research on vaccines might have caused this rate to decrease (25-28). As of February, the 11th month of the pandemic, only 6.3% of the 399 patients who participated in this study were found to have received COVID-19 vaccine. In Turkey, the gradual implementation of the vaccination program according to age, occupation and risk groups and the groups that have not been vaccinated yet are effective in the low vaccination rate.

A limitation of our study was the inadequate evaluation of the clinical course, complications, contamination, and mortality in the patient group who did not use the recommended drugs. In our study, the number of such patients was limited. This issue may be evaluated in more detail with studies with larger samples.

Consequently, our aim in this study was to determine the rate of use and characteristics of drugs prescribed by physicians in diagnosed patients. As a cross-sectional sample of Turkey, it was determined that the rate of the use of the recommended drugs was sufficient with the data of the city where the study was carried out. Moreover, as the process progressed, it was observed that the mortality rate decreased, but the number of infected individuals increased. In cases involving public health, compliance with personal protection and precaution rules should be more strictly controlled, and sanctions should be increased. Social media has a great impact and a great responsibility to provide accurate information. Controls and sanctions for providing accurate information should be increased.

Conflict of interest

None to declare

Acknowledgments

We dedicate our work to healthcare workers around the world who died from COVID-19.

References

- Zhu N, Zhang D, Wang W, Li X, Yang B, Song J, et al.; China Novel Coronavirus Investigating and Research Team. A Novel Coronavirus from Patients with Pneumonia in China, 2019. N Engl J Med. 2020 Feb 20;382(8):727-733. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2001017.
- 2. https://www.worldometers.info/coronavirus/.
- **3.** F Esposito S, Noviello S, Pagliano P. Update on treatment of COVID-19: ongoing studies between promising and disappointing results. Infez Med. 2020 Ahead of print Jun 1;28(2):198-211. PMID: 32335561.
- Guan WJ, Ni ZY, Hu Y, Liang WH, Ou CQ, He JX, et al.; China Medical Treatment Expert Group for Covid-19. Clinical Characteristics of Coronavirus Disease 2019 in China. N Engl J Med. 2020 Apr 30;382(18):1708-1720. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2002032.
- Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y, et al. Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. Lancet. 2020 Feb 15;395(10223):497-506. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30183-5.
- Meo SA, Klonoff DC, Akram J. Efficacy of chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine in the treatment of COVID-19. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 2020 Apr;24(8):4539-4547. doi: 10.26355/eurrev 202004 21038.
- Peng Y, Tao H, Satyanarayanan SK, Jin K, Su H. A Comprehensive Summary of the Knowledge on COVID-19 Treatment. Aging Dis. 2021 Feb 1;12(1):155-191. doi: 10.14336/AD.2020.1124.
- Polack FP, Thomas SJ, Kitchin N, Absalon J, Gurtman A, Lockhart S, et al.; C4591001 Clinical Trial Group. Safety and Efficacy of the BNT162b2 mRNA Covid-19 Vaccine. N Engl J Med. 2020 Dec 31;383(27):2603-2615. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2034577.
- REPUBLIC OF TURKEY MINISTRY OF HEALTH COVID-19 VACCINATION INFORMATION PLATFORM. [Internet]. 2021 [updated 2021 Oct 10; cited 2021 Oct 10]. Available from: https://covid19.saglik.gov.tr/TR-66301/covid-19-rehberi.html
- REPUBLIC OF TURKEY MINISTRY OF HEALTH.COVID-19 Information Platform. Turkey COVID-19 Patient Table.[Internet]. 2021 [updated 2021 Oct 10; cited 2021 Oct 10]. Available from: https://covid19.saglik.gov.tr/
- 11. REPUBLIC OF TURKEY MINISTRY OF HEALTH.Republic of Turkey Ministry of Health General Directorate of Public Health General Directorate of Employee Health.[Internet]. 2021 [updated 2021 Oct 10; cited 2021 Oct10]. Available from: https://hsgm.saglik.gov.tr/tr/calisansagligi-anasayfa
- Mustafa MZ, Shamsuddin SH, Sulaiman SA, Abdullah JM. Antiinflammatory Properties of Stingless Bee Honey May Reduce the Severity of Pulmonary Manifestations in COVID-19 Infections. Malays J Med Sci. 2020 Mar;27(2):165-169. doi: 10.21315/mjms2020.27.2.17.
- Bilezikian JP, Bikle D, Hewison M, Lazaretti-Castro M, Formenti AM, Gupta A, et al. MECHANISMS IN ENDOCRINOLOGY: Vitamin D and COVID-19. Eur J Endocrinol. 2020 Nov;183(5):R133-R147. doi: 10.1530/EJE-20-0665.
- 14. Aman F, Masood S. How Nutrition can help to fight against COVID-19 Pandemic. Pak J Med Sci. 2020 May;36(COVID19-S4):S121-S123. doi: 10.12669/pjms.36.COVID19-S4.2776.

- Simonson W. Vitamin C and coronavirus. Geriatr Nurs. 2020 May-Jun;41(3):331-332. doi: 10.1016/j.gerinurse.2020.05.002.
- 16. Günal Ö, Türe E, Bayburtlu M, Arslan U, Demirağ MD, et al. COVID-19 Tanılı Hastaların Risk Faktörleri Açısından Değerlendirilmesi [Evaluation of Patients Diagnosed with COVID-19 in Terms of Risk Factors]. Mikrobiyol Bul. 2020 Oct;54(4):575-582. Turkish. doi: 10.5578/mb.69811.
- Zeynep A. Elderly People in Covid-19 Outbreak. Tepecik Educate and Research Hospital Magazine 2020;30:49-57 doi:10.5222/terh.2020.93723
- 18. Uğur Chousein EG, Çörtük M, Cınarka H, Tanrıverdi E, Turan D, Yıldırım BZ, Sezen CB, Özgül MA. Is there any effect of smoking status on severity and mortality of hospitalized patients with COVID-19 pneumonia? Tuberk Toraks. 2020 Dec;68(4):371-378. English. doi: 10.5578/tt.70352.
- Tomcsányi J, Tomcsányi K. A szerzett hosszú-QT-szindróma veszélye a koronavírus-járvány idején. Fókuszban a hidroxiklorokin [Hazard of acquired long QT syndrome during coronavirus pandemic. Focus on hydroxychloroquine]. Orv Hetil. 2020 Apr 1;161(17):689-691. Hungarian. doi: 10.1556/650.2020.31817.
- 20. Ramireddy A, Chugh H, Reinier K, Ebinger J, Park E, Thompson M, et al. Experience With Hydroxychloroquine and Azithromycin in the Coronavirus Disease 2019 Pandemic: Implications for QT Interval Monitoring. J Am Heart Assoc. 2020 Jun 16;9(12):e017144. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.120.017144.
- Joshi S, Parkar J, Ansari A, Vora A, Talwar D, Tiwaskar M, et al. Role of favipiravir in the treatment of COVID-19. Int J Infect Dis. 2021 Jan;102:501-508. doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2020.10.069.
- 22. McCullough PA. Favipiravir and the Need for Early Ambulatory Treatment of SARS-CoV-2 Infection (COVID-19). Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2020 Nov 17;64(12):e02017-20. doi: 10.1128/AAC.02017-20.
- 23. Republic of Turkey Ministry of Health General Directorate of Public Health, Pandemic Influenza National Preparation Plan Update: Ankara 2019 . <u>https://grip.gov.tr/depo/saglikcalisanlari/ulusal_pandemi_plani.p</u> <u>df</u>
- 24. Zorlu Karayiğit D. Have the opinions of the patients about influenza and pneumococcal vaccines influenced by the media? Virtual Congress Proceedings OP-047 2020;10:90-91.Turkish Thoracic Society 23rd Annual Congress 15-18 October 2020.
- 25. Chakraborty C, Sharma AR, Bhattacharya M, Sharma G, Saha RP, Lee SS. Ongoing Clinical Trials of Vaccines to Fight against COVID-19 Pandemic. Immune Netw. 2021 Jan 19;21(1):e5. doi: 10.4110/in.2021.21.e5.
- 26. Mishra SK, Tripathi T. One year update on the COVID-19 pandemic: Where are we now? Acta Trop. 2021 Feb;214:105778. doi: 10.1016/j.actatropica.2020.105778.
- 27. Reiter PL, Pennell ML, Katz ML. Acceptability of a COVID-19 vaccine among adults in the United States: How many people would get vaccinated? Vaccine. 2020 Sep 29;38(42):6500-6507. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2020.08.043
- 28. Detoc M, Bruel S, Frappe P, Tardy B, Botelho-Nevers E, Gagneux-Brunon A. Intention to participate in a COVID-19 vaccine clinical trial and to get vaccinated against COVID-19 in France during the pandemic. Vaccine. 2020 Oct 21;38(45):7002-7006. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2020.09.041.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm



Research Article

J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 110-116 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.22

Investigation of university students' attitudes toward web-based distance education in terms of theoretical and applied courses during the COVID-19 pandemic period

Gülşah BARĞI*[®], Mehmet Egemen AKKAYA[®], Yiğit Ege GÜNEY[®]

Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation, Faculty of Health Sciences, İzmir Demokrasi University, İzmir, Turkey

Received: 15.06.2021	•	Accepted/Published Online: 11.08.2021	٠	Final Version: 01.01.2022
----------------------	---	---------------------------------------	---	---------------------------

Abstract

University students had to switch from face-to-face education to web-based distance education (WBDE) owing to new coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic. While theoretical courses can be provided properly with WBDE, it has been thought that applied courses cannot be sustained effectively by the same way. University students' attitudes toward WBDE regarding theoretical and applied courses taught in physiotherapy and rehabilitation department has not been investigated yet, which was therefore aimed in current study. This cross-sectional study included university students (n=180, 20.14±1.57 years) who still maintain actively WBDE at Izmir Democracy University, Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation Department. "Scale for Evaluating Students' Attitudes/Opinions/Thoughts Regarding Applied and Theoretical Courses in Distance Education" was generated by the researchers and performed through online platform. Scale comprised 26 items. Each item is scored as from 5 (completely agree) to 1 (strongly disagree). Proper factor analyses were performed and repeated until the items were found to be significant. Factor loads of final 16-item ranged from 0.27 to 0.84. All fit indices ($\chi 2/SD=1.42$) were within acceptable limits. One-dimensional structure of scale was confirmed with 16 items. Cronbach Alpha internal consistency coefficient was found to be 0.916, and total correlations of the items varied between 0.422 and 0.772. This scale was found to be highly reliable. Internal consistency between items was high. Maximum score obtained from scale is 80. Total score of students (39.91±10.97) showed that attitudes/opinions/ideas regarding theoretical and applied courses through WBDE were negative. These negative attitudes of students were same according to gender (p>0.05). Attitudes of university students studying at physiotherapy and rehabilitation department through WBDE regarding theoretical and applied courses were negative regardless of gender. This valid and reliable scale should be used to identify need of university students studying at applied sciences about WBDE. Advanced technology products should be urgently synchronized to WBDE.

Keywords: COVID-19, education, distance, physical therapy, students, attitude

1. Introduction

The COVID-19 infection caused by the new type of Coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2), which broke out in China in December 2019, spread all over the world in a short time due to its high contagious nature (1). According to the May 14, 2021 data of the World Health Organization, 160,813,869 confirmed cases and 3,339,003 deaths were recorded worldwide due to COVID-19 and 5,083,996 of these cases and 44,059 of the deaths were seen in Turkey (2). After the emergence of the first case in Turkey on March 11, 2020, many restrictions and bans such as lockdowns were put into effect in our society simultaneously with the rest of the world (3). The measures taken to reduce the spread of this infectious disease also included the closure of educational institutions (3). According to the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO), face-to-face education, which involved 1.4 billion students worldwide, had to be suspended between February 16, 2020 and May 15, 2020 due to the virus (4). As in many countries, schools, universities, and other educational institutions in Turkey had to be closed temporarily. The Council of Higher Education in Turkey took action rapidly in this process and decided to continue the teaching process through distance education until

the next decision (5). Following these developments, face-toface education was suspended at all levels of education. It was decided to switch to distance education, postpone local and central exams, and introduce web-based tests in measuring and evaluating student achievement (5).

Studies conducted on web-based distance education (WBDE) during the COVID-19 pandemic process have shown different results. Although some of the university students have a negative perception of the COVID-19 pandemic, they have positive opinions about web-based distance education during this challenging pandemic period and are satisfied with the outcomes (6, 7). In fact, male students have found distance education lessons more effective and have been more satisfied with distance education (8). Although students and lecturers have adapted quickly to the pandemic process (9), university students want to continue their education through face-to-face education in terms of focusing on lessons and vocational applied courses as a result of their experiences during the COVID-19 process so far (7). On the other hand, some students want to continue their education with a mixed type of education that blends face-toface and web-based distance education (10, 11). Some studies that included the physiotherapy and rehabilitation department have shown that students do not find web-based distance education, which is compulsory during the pandemic process, as effective as face-to-face education and that they do not prefer it because the efficiency of education has decreased (12, 13).

Universities in Turkey continue the education process through web-based distance education. However, while theoretical courses can be provided effectively through WBDE at universities, the case is not the same for applied courses. In addition, there are no studies in the literature evaluating university students' attitudes toward web-based distance education during the COVID-19 pandemic period in terms of applied and theoretical courses in the undergraduate program of the physiotherapy and rehabilitation department, where applied courses are as important as theoretical ones. For this reason, this study was conducted to investigate the attitudes of the students in the undergraduate program of the physiotherapy and rehabilitation department toward webbased distance education in terms of applied and theoretical courses.

2. Materials and Methods

Our study used a cross-sectional design. It was conducted in accordance with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Izmir Democracy University Non-Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee with decision number 2021/03-5.

According to the inclusion criteria, students who were 18 years or older, volunteered to participate in the study, were attending online distance learning as a registered undergraduate program student at the Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation in the Faculty of Health Sciences at Izmir Democracy University, and could understand and answer the questionnaires were included in the study. Exclusion criteria included freezing the undergraduate registration or dropping out of school and attending other departments. After the students who met the inclusion criteria were informed about the study, their consents were obtained.

The responses to the scale and other questions designed by the researchers were collected through Microsoft Forms. Within the scope of the study, the demographic data of the students (age, gender, height, body weight, body mass index, daily time spent on social media, and the status of having had COVID-19) were recorded.

The "Scale for Evaluating Students' Attitudes/Opinions/Thoughts Regarding Applied and Theoretical Courses in Distance Education", whose items were prepared by researchers, was developed to evaluate students' perspectives on distance education and their attitudes towards conducting vocational applied courses and theoretical courses through web-based distance education. The first draft of the scale consisted of 26 items in total. Each item was scored on a five-point Likert-type scale using the following options: strongly agree (5), agree (4), undecided (3), disagree (2), strongly disagree (1). The scale did not have a cutoff point.

While creating the items of the scale, the problem was defined in the first stage. In the second stage, an item pool was created by reviewing the literature, and closed-ended questions were written. Then, the draft form of the scale was submitted to expert opinion in terms of suitability, and a pre-application form was created. In the last stage, the scale was given its final form by making the necessary changes according to the expert opinion. To measure the intelligibility and answerability of the items, the scale was first piloted to a small sample (n=10) (14).

2.1. Statistical analysis

Analyses were conducted by an expert statistician using the SPSS version 20.0 software package. Exploratory Factor Analysis (EFA) was conducted to determine the factorial structure and validity of the scale. The appropriateness of the sample size was evaluated using the result of Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin statistics, and the suitability of the data for factor analysis was evaluated with the Bartlett sphericity test. The internal consistency and reliability of the scale were determined by using the reliability coefficient (Cronbach's alpha) that varied between 0 and +1. A reliability coefficient that is close to 1 means that the reliability of the items and the internal consistency between them are high and acceptable. As a result of the factor analysis, the items with factor loading values that were lower than 0.30 were removed, and the factor analysis was repeated until the factor loadings of the items on the scale were found appropriate. Confirmatory Factor Analysis (CFA) was conducted to confirm the factorial structure of the remaining items as a result of the Exploratory Factor Analysis. As the multivariate normality assumption between the items was not met, parameter estimation was conducted by using the asymptotic covariance matrix with the Robust Unweighted Least Squares (ULS) method. As a result of this analysis, the analysis was repeated until the t values were found to be significant by removing the items with nonsignificant t values. Finally, the model-data fit of the scale was examined with the remaining single-factor items, and necessary care was taken to ensure that the scale was within acceptable limits (15-17).

According to the results of the scale obtained after validity and reliability analyses, descriptive statistics were represented using frequency (n), percentage (%), mean (x), standard deviation (sd), minimum (min.) and maximum (max.) values. The differences in scale scores by gender were analyzed by using Student's t-test. The probability of error in statistical analysis was determined as p<0.05.

3. Results

Table 1 presents the characteristics of the students.

3.1. Validity and reliability analyses

Evaluating Students The Scale for Attitudes/Opinions/Thoughts in terms of Applied and Theoretical Courses in Distance Education, which consisted of 26 items rated using a five-point Likert-type structure, was administered to 180 students. Students scored the items on the scale with options ranging between 1 (strongly disagree) and However, the 5 (strongly agree). in analysis, 1,2,3,11,13,14,15,16,17,19,21,22,23,25, and 26th items had to be reversed as 5 (strongly disagree) and 1 (strongly agree). Accordingly, high scores on the scale showed that students found distance education positive and that low scores showed students evaluated distance education negatively.

Table 1. Demographic characteristics of the students

	University students (n=180) x±sd
Age (year)	20.13±1.57
Male/Female (n; %)	43; 23.9% / 137; 76.1%
Body weight (kg)	61.44±12.29
Height (m)	$1.69{\pm}0.08$
Body mass index (kg/m ²)	21.44±3.18
Daily time spent on social media (n; %)	
0-1 hour	14; 7.8%
1-2 hours	31; 17.2%
2-3 hours	57; 31.7%
>3 hours	78; 43.3%
Undergraduate period (n; %)	
2nd semester	77; 42.8%
4th semester	67; 37.2%
6th semester	36; 20%
Status of having had COVID-19 (n; %)	29; 16.1%

n: frequency, %: percentage, kg: kilogram, m: meter, COVID-19: new coronavirus disease

 Table 2. The total variance values explained for the factor analysis of the scale

Factors	Eigenvalue	Explained variance %	Cumulative variance %
1	9.106	43.362	43.362
2	2.075	9.879	53.241
3	1.392	6.628	59.869
4	0.992	4.722	64.591
5	0.785	3.738	68.329
6	0.772	3.676	72.005
7	0.663	3.158	75.163
8	0.633	3.015	78.178
9	0.611	2.909	81.087
10	0.502	2.390	83.478
11	0.467	2.223	85.701
12	0.449	2.138	87.839
13	0.396	1.885	89.724
14	0.340	1.620	91.343
15	0.334	1.591	92.935
16	0.302	1.438	94.373
17	0.286	1.362	95.735
18	0.282	1.342	97.077
19	0.252	1.199	98.276
20	0.227	1.083	99.359
21	0.135	0.641	100.000

Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin sample adequacy: 0.918

Since the factor loadings of the 10th, 14th, 17th, and 20th items in the EFA were found to be lower than 0.30, these items were removed from the scale, and EFA was performed for the second time. In the factor analysis, the factor loading of the 26th item was found to be low this time, and this item was also removed from the scale, and EFA was performed for the third time. All factor loadings were found to be appropriate in the factor analysis conducted on the remaining 21 items. The explained variance table regarding the factor analysis is shown in Table 2. A Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (0.918) statistic value of greater than 0.50 indicates that the sample size is enough. The result of the Bartlett sphericity test also showed that the data were appropriate for factor analysis (Table 2, p<0.05). When Table 2 was examined, the 21-item scale was found to have three factors with an eigenvalue of greater than 1. However, when the eigenvalues and scree plot were examined, it was observed that the scale was dominated by a single factor (Fig. 1). As a result of EFA, which was limited to a single factor, it was observed that the scale measured 43% of the intended features (Fig. 1). The factor loadings, item-total correlations, and reliability coefficient of the 21 items on the scale are shown in Table 3. Factor loadings of all items were greater than 0.30 and ranged from 0.474 to 0.815. Item-total correlations were also greater than 0.40 and ranged from 0.433 to 0.784. The reliability coefficient of the 21-item scale showed high reliability and high internal consistency between the items, and it was found acceptable (Table 3).



Fig. 2. Path graph for the remaining scale items

Chi-square Bartlett sphericity test= 2145,484 **SD=** 210, p<0.001 %: percentage, SD: degrees of freedom

Bargi et al. / J Exp Clin Med

Table 3. Factor loadings of scale items and item-total correlations according to the results of exploratory factor analysis

Items	Factor	Item-total
1 I spend more effort understanding the applied lessons in distance education compared to the theoretical	loadings	correlations
lessons.	0.614	0.545
2- It is more difficult to understand the applied lessons in distance education compared to other theoretical lessons.	0.679	0.614
3- I have difficulty in perceiving the extent of physical power to be applied in applied lessons in distance education.	0.720	0.657
4-I can easily understand the theoretical lessons in distance education by following them online.	0.645	0.626
5- I can easily understand the applied lessons in distance education by following them online	0.815	0.784
6- The increased number of videos or animations in applied lessons in distance education helps me grasp the subject.	0.482	0.455
7- I have been doing better in my lessons since the transition to distance education.	0.607	0.576
8-The resources and materials used in the theoretical courses in distance education are sufficient.	0.531	0.498
9-I can participate interactively in theoretical courses in distance education.	0.584	0.555
11-I feel I cannot do the same application myself after the applied lessons in distance education.	0.708	0.651
12-The possibility of accessing the theoretical lessons in distance education gets rid of my worries.	0.537	0.512
13-The delivery of the applied courses online in distance education prevents me from gaining experience.	0.707	0.646
15-Theoretical courses in distance education do not make us gain more knowledge than face-to-face education.	0.694	0.652
16-I believe that my success in applied courses will fall in distance education.	0.763	0.706
18- During the applied lessons in distance education, doing the lessons online by screen sharing makes me learn.	0.474	0.433
19- I get bored and have difficulty in understanding while listening to the theoretical lessons in distance education.	0.759	0.733
21- I feel that in the web-based distance education process, our opportunities to study in cooperation with instructors and classmates, to learn through discussion, and develop social relations are reduced.	0.672	0.619
22- I have concerns about evaluation and decision-making when a problem-based case study is given in distance education.	0.760	0.704
23-After returning to face-to-face education, I am not planning to participate in any online distance education.	0.515	0.484
24-I do not think that there is a change in my learning and understanding of both theoretical and applied courses in distance education.	0.683	0.636
25-I cannot practice by constantly thinking in applied lessons in distance education, and I cannot predict the results by following the patient or my peers.	0.730	0.674

Reliability coefficient: 0.932

As the multivariate normality assumption between the items was not met in the CFA, parameter estimation was conducted by using the asymptotic covariance matrix with the Robust Unweighted Least Squares (ULS) method. According to the results of the CFA, the t values of the 11th, 21st, and 24th items were not found to be significant, so they were removed from the scale. When CFA was performed for the second time with the remaining 18 items, the t values of items 12 and 23 were not found to be significant, so these items were removed, too, and the CFA analysis was performed for the third time. The t values on the remaining 16-item scale were found to be significant (p<0.05). Factor loadings, t values, and R² values of the scale items are shown in Table 4. Factor loadings ranged from 0.27 to 0.84. The path graph for the scale items is shown in Fig 2. The fit indices for the modeldata fit of the single factor 16-item scale are shown in Table 5. All fit indices were within acceptable limits. Therefore, the one-dimensional structure of the scale was confirmed with 16 items. The reliability coefficient of the 16-item scale was found as 0.916, and item-total correlations were observed to vary between 0.422 and 0.772 (Table 6).

Considering all these results, the scale was found to be highly reliable, and the internal consistency between the items was high. The highest score that can be obtained from the scale is 80, and the lowest score is 16. As the score obtained from the scale increases, it means that attitudes toward distance education are positive, that is. the attitudes/opinions/thoughts of the students are positive in terms of applied and theoretical courses in distance education. As the score obtained from the scale decreases, attitudes toward distance education are considered negative. Items 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, and 18 on the scale are scored as 1 (strongly disagree) and 5 (strongly agree). However, items 1, 2, 3, 13, 15, 16, 19, 22, and 25 are scored reversely as 5 (strongly disagree) and 1 (strongly agree).

Tabl	le 4.	Con	firmat	ory	factor	anal	ysis	results	for	scale	e i	tems
				~			~					

Item number	Factor loadings value	\mathbb{R}^2	t
1	0.59	0.35	4.90
2	0.66	0.44	5.38
3	0.67	0.45	5.97
4	0.63	0.40	4.94
5	0.84	0.71	9.73
6	0.49	0.24	3.69
7	0.60	0.36	5.47
8	0.53	0.28	4.07
9	0.57	0.33	5.01
13	0.68	0.46	6.13
15	0.53	0.28	4.10
16	0.67	0.46	6.71
18	0.27	0.07	2.04
19	0.65	0.43	6.09
22	0.74	0.55	7.06
25	0.45	0.21	3.78

3.2. Results of the scale in terms of the students

The students' total scores (x±sd: 39.91 ± 10.97 ; min.: 16; max.:74) showed that their attitudes/opinions/thoughts toward theoretical and applied courses through web-based distance education were negative. These negative attitudes of the students were similar by gender (female: 39.33 ± 10.74 , male: 41.77 ± 11.6) (p=0.204).

 Table 5. Fit indices for model-data fit of a single factor 16-item scale

Goodness of fit index	Acceptable limit *	Value
x ² /SD	<5 Orta düzeyde	147.33/104
A /5D	<3 İyi uyum	=1.42
GFI	>0.90	0.96
CFI	>0.90	1.00
NFI	>0.90	0.92
RFI	>0.85	0.91
RMSEA	< 0.08	0.083

SD: degrees of freedom., RMSEA: Mean Square Root Error Estimation

Table 6. Total correlations of the remaining 16 items

	Item-total correlations
1-I spend more effort understanding the applied lessons in distance education compared to the theoretical lessons.	0.534
2- It is more difficult to understand the applied lessons in distance education compared to other theoretical lessons.	0.614
3- I have difficulty in perceiving the extent of physical power to be applied in applied lessons in distance education.	0.652
4-I can easily understand the theoretical lessons in distance education by following them online.	0.598
5- I can easily understand the applied lessons in distance education by following them online	0.772
6- The increased number of videos or animations in applied lessons in distance education helps me grasp the subject.	0.458
7- I have been doing better in my lessons since the transition to distance education.	0.566
8-The resources and materials used in the theoretical courses in distance education are sufficient.	0.485
9-I can participate interactively in theoretical courses in distance education.	0.556
13-The delivery of the applied courses online in distance education prevents me from gaining experience.	0.644
15-Theoretical courses in distance education do not make us gain more knowledge than face-to-face education.	0.652
16-I believe that my success in applied courses will fall in distance education.	0.714
18- During the applied lessons in distance education, doing the lessons online by screen sharing makes me learn.	0.422
19- I get bored and have difficulty in understanding while listening to the theoretical lessons in distance education.	0.703
22- I have concerns about evaluation and decision- making when a problem-based case study is given in distance education.	0.704
25-I cannot practice by constantly thinking in applied lessons in distance education, and I cannot predict the results by following the patient or my peers.	0.675
Confidence coefficient: 0.916	

4. Discussion

Both theoretical and practical courses have an important place in the education of students in the physiotherapy and rehabilitation department. In our study, it was determined that regardless of gender, the attitudes, opinions, and thoughts of the undergraduate students who were actively attending webbased distance education in the physiotherapy and rehabilitation department due to the COVID-19 pandemic about theoretical and applied courses were negative. Contrary to the results of our study, Orçanlı and Bekmezci reported that undergraduate students' perceptions about the COVID-19 pandemic were negative, but their perceptions about distance education carried out in this process were positive (6). Similarly, Terzi et al. found the general satisfaction level of students with an associate degree from distance education during the pandemic period was high (7). On the other hand, some university students stated that face-to-face education was more efficient in terms of focusing on the lesson and especially in terms of the adequacy of applied courses, and therefore they wanted to continue the lessons through face-toface education method at the end of the COVID-19 process (7). Genç and Gümrükçüoğlu on the other hand, reported that postgraduate students in the field of theology generally had positive opinions about distance education during the pandemic process (9). According to the opinions of these students, despite the sudden transition to distance education, both students and instructors were able to adapt to the process in a short time (9). All these studies were carried out in the early periods when the uncertainty due to the pandemic process and the fear of death due to infection were higher. Our study, on the other hand, was carried out in the one-year aftermath of the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. Therefore, the differences between students' opinions in our study and aforementioned studies, which addressed distance education during the pandemic process can be attributed to this increased experience with the pandemic, in which the psychological and physical negative effects of the pandemic became more evident. Both students and instructors have been able to fully adapt to the pandemic conditions during this prolonged process. However, the negative opinions of our students may have stemmed from the inability to do enough practice on individuals with real pathology and the lack of one-to-one control of the practices by instructors. Therefore, advanced technology products including robotic approaches should be adapted to web-based distance education. According to another study, male students found distance education courses more effective than female students, and male students were more satisfied with distance education (8). This result, which is contrary to the result of our study, may be related to the fact that the students in the reported study were undergraduate students in the field of tourism. The students of the physiotherapy and rehabilitation department come from schools focusing mainly on science education and this department is mostly based on applied education. For this reason, students in the physiotherapy and rehabilitation department had a negative opinion about distance education.

In some studies published in the literature, the proportion of undergraduate students preferring face-to-face and distance education for various reasons was found to be equal. Afsar and Büyükdoğan (10) reported that 50.7% of the undergraduate students in their study preferred distance education during the COVID-19 process, primarily because it allowed them to plan their own time and they did not need to commute to campus. Other students in the study (49.3%) did not prefer distance education due to technical problems, deprivation of the social environment, inability to ask questions about subjects that they did not understand, and lack of constant access to the internet. In universities where distance education is continued, it is recommended that students participate in live lessons more actively and that the lessons should involve more group works (10). Serçemeli and Kurnaz (11) suggested that accounting education should be given to undergraduate students by blending traditional and distance education methods during the COVID-19 pandemic period. In this process, we have been going on experiencing the negative effects of the pandemic deeply in all areas of our lives. We recommend that during the normalization phase in the teaching and learning process, theoretical courses should be given through web-based distance education and applied courses should be conducted with a reduced number of students after ensuring the suitability of the physical conditions of the universities.

Like the results of our study, Keskin and Özer Kaya reported that 84.4% of the students did not find web-based distance education, which was carried out compulsorily during the COVID-19 pandemic, as effective as face-to-face education (12). It was also emphasized in this study that the advantages and disadvantages of web-based distance education needed evaluating according to the feedback of students and that this type of education needed structuring appropriately (12). Similarly, Altuntaş Yılmaz (13) reported that during the COVID-19 pandemic process, undergraduate students from the physiotherapy and rehabilitation department found the efficiency of distance education low in terms of applied courses (87.5%) and theoretical courses (78.5%). While 90.3% of these students preferred face-to-face education, 9.7% preferred distance education (13). The delivery of all the courses given via web-based distance education due to the pandemic in the physiotherapy and rehabilitation department, which is among the applied sciences, has resulted in students' dissatisfaction. Nevertheless, it is not clear when the pandemic will end. Therefore, in the ongoing process, it must be ensured that students get the highest level of efficiency from physiotherapy and rehabilitation courses, which will contribute to shaping the future of society more healthily. For this reason, advanced technology products, such as robotic simulations, patient models, application devices, should be adapted to web-based distance education urgently.

In our study which was conducted to measure the attitudes of undergraduate students, who were studying in physiotherapy and rehabilitation department provided education through theoretical and applied courses and switched from face-to-face education to web-based distance education due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the attitudes of the students toward theoretical and applied courses were found to be negative regardless of gender. The scale that we created to evaluate these attitudes was found to be valid and reliable. For this reason, it can be used to determine the needs of university students studying applied sciences regarding webbased distance education. The quality and efficiency of distance education should be increased considering the opinions of the students.

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

Material in this manuscript previously presented as an oral presentation at the Anatolian Congresses 6th International Applied Sciences Congress.

References

- Sun P, Lu X, Xu C, Sun W, Pan B. Understanding of COVID-19 based on current evidence. J Med Virol. 2020; 92(6): 548-551.
- WHO Coronavirus (COVID-19) Dashboard [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2021 May 14]. Available from: https://covid19.who.int/.
- BBC News Türkçe. Koronavirüs: Adım adım Türkiye'nin Covid-19'la mücadelesi [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2020 June 03]. Available from: https://www.bbc.com/turkce/haberler-turkiye-52899914.
- 4. UNESCO COVID-19 [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2021 May 14]. Available from: https://en.unesco.org/covid19/educationresponse.
- Yükseköğretim Kurulu Basın açıklaması. Yükseköğretim Kurulu Başkanı Prof. Dr. M. A. Yekta SARAÇ. [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2020 March 26]. Available from: https://www.yok.gov.tr/Sayfalar/Haberler/2020/YKS%20Ertelen mesi%20Basın%20Açıklaması.aspx.
- 6. Orçanlı K, Bekmezci M. Determining university students' perceptions about distance education in COVID-19 pandemic and its relationship with some demographic variables. Uluslararası İktisadi ve İdari Bilimler Dergisi. 2020; 6(2): 88-108.
- Terzi D, Akalın RB, Erdal B. The effect of COVID-19 pandemic on education of health students: Tekirdağ Namık Kemal University Health Services Vocational School example. Namık Kemal Tıp Dergisi. 2020; 8(3): 279-287.
- Buluk B, Eşitti B. Koronavirüs (COVİD-19) sürecinde uzaktan eğitimin turizm lisans öğrencileri tarafından değerlendirilmesi. Jornal of Awareness. 2020; 5(3): 285-298.
- Genç MF, Gümrükçüoğlu S. Koronavirüs (Covid-19) Sürecinde İlâhiyat Fakültesi Öğrencilerinin Uzaktan Eğitime Bakışları. Turkish Studies. 2020; 15(4): 403-422.
- 10. Afşar B, Büyükdoğan B. Assessments of FBAS and FSHS Students About Distance Education During the Covid-19 Pandemic Period. Karatay Sosyal Araştırmalar Dergisi. 2020; (5): 161-182.
- 11. Serçemeli M, Kurnaz E. Covid-19 pandemi döneminde öğrencilerin uzaktan eğitim ve uzaktan muhasebe eğitimine

yönelik bakış açıları üzerine bir araştırma. International Journal of Social Sciences Academic Researches. 2020; 4(1): 40-53.

- 12. Keskin M, Özer Kaya D. COVID-19 Sürecinde Öğrencilerin Web Tabanlı Uzaktan Eğitime Yönelik Geri Bildirimlerinin Değerlendirilmesi. İzmir Katip Çelebi Üniversitesi Sağlık Bilimleri Fakültesi Dergisi. 2020; 5(2): 59-67.
- 13. Altuntas Yılmaz N. Yükseköğretim kurumlarında covid-19 pandemisi sürecinde uygulanan uzaktan eğitim durumu hakkında öğrencilerin tutumlarının araştırılmasi: fizyoterapi ve rehabilitasyon bölümü örneği. Necmettin Erbakan Üniversitesi Sağlık Bilimleri Fakültesi Dergisi. 2020; 3(1): 15-20.
- Büyüköztürk Ş. Anket geliştirme. Türk Eğitim Bilimleri Dergisi. 2005; 3(2): 133-151.
- Kalaycı Ş. SPSS Uygulamalı Çok değişkenli İstatistik Teknikleri.
 2. Baskı. Ankara: Asil Yayın Dağıtım; 2005.
- 16. Baumgartner H, Homburg, C. Applications of structural equation modeling in marketing and consumer research: A review. International Journal of Research in Marketing. 1996; 13(2): 139-161.
- Bentler PM. Multivariate analysis with latent variables: Causal modeling. Annual Review of Psychology. 1980; 31: 419-456.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm





J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 117-120 doi: 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.23

Is there a relation between serum vitamin D and ovarian reserve markers in infertile women?: A retrospective cohort study

Neslihan BEZİRGANOĞLU ALTUNTAŞ¹^(D), Sema BAKİ YILDIRIM²^(D), Huri GÜVEY^{3,*}^(D), Ömür ERDEN¹^(D)

¹Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, Trabzon Kanuni Educational and Research Hospital, Trabzon, Turkey ²Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, Giresun University Maternity and Children's Hospital, Giresun, Turkey ³Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, Private Kütahya Parkhayat Hospital, Kütahya, Turkey

Received: 16.06.2021 • Accepted/Published Online: 26.07.2021 • Final Version: 01.01.2022
--

Abstract

Vitamin D is an essential molecule for reproductive health. There are studies in the literature showing contradictory results regarding te relationship between serum 25(OH) vitamin D levels and ovarian reserve markers. The aim of this retrospective cohort study was to investigate the relationship between ovarian reserve markers; follicle stimulating hormone (FSH), antral follicle count (AFC), and anti-Müllerian hormone (AMH), and serum 25(OH) vitamin D levels. 195 infertil women aged between 18-45 years were included in the study. After the participants were divided into 2 groups according to their 25 (OH) D levels (those with ≤ 20 ng/ml (vitamin D deficiency) and those with ≥ 20 ng/ml (vitamin D insufficiency)), the age, body mass index (BMI), AFC, AMH, FSH levels of the groups were compared. The mean age of the 25(OH) vitamin D deficient group was significantly younger (p=0.025) than the other group. There was no statistically significant difference in BMI (p=0.47) or season of blood sampling (p=0.62) between groups. The levels of the ovarian reserve markers AFC, AMH, and FSH were not significantly different between groups (p=0.95,0.18,0.86, respectively). Multiple linear regression and logistic regression analysis after adjusting potential confounders showed no significant relationship between vitamin D and AMH (p=0.628) and AFC(p=0.107). In conclusion, we found no correlation between 25(OH) vitamin D concentrations and markers of ovarian reserve. We cannot, however, ignore the critical role of vitamin D in the female reproductivity. To determine the optimal 25(OH)D3 levels during the reproductive period and the amount of vitamin D supplementation required to achieve those levels for the numerous actions of vitamin D throughout reproductivity process, high-quality, largescale randomized clinical trials are required.

Keywords: Vitamin D, infertility, anti-Müllerian hormone, antral follicle count

1. Introduction

Vitamin D is required not only for calcium and phosphorus homeostasis regulation, but also for a variety of other functions, including female reproduction. Vitamin D receptor (VDR) and 1-hydroxylase are found in reproductive tissues such as the ovary, uterus, placenta, testis, and hypophysis (1, 2). As a result, a link between vitamin D and reproductive health appears to be almost inevitable. The importance of 25 hydroxyvitamin D (25(OH) vitamin D) in female reproduction was initially demonstrated in mice lacking in either 25(OH) vitamin D or VDR, which developed uterine hypoplasia and ovulatory dysfunction, resulting in infertility (3).

Different markers are used to assess ovarian reserve. Serum follicle stimulating hormone (FSH), which is measured during the early follicular phase, has been widely used as an ovarian reserve marker; however, it only indicates the reserve indirectly, with its blood level increasing only when ovarian follicles are severely depleted (4). In addition, ovarian reserve can also be assessed via ultrasound on the second or third day of menstruation using antral follicle count (AFC). It demonstrates the number of ovarian follicles ranging in diameter from 2 to 10 mm in both ovaries (5). On the other hand, the other ovarian reserve marker, anti-Mullerian hormone (AMH) maintains a constant level throughout the cycle (6). Nonetheless, AMH levels can fluctuate seasonally in correlation with 25(OH) vitamin D levels (7).

So far, studies on the effects of 25(OH) vitamin D on ovarian reserve markers have yielded contradictory results. While some studies show a positive relationship between serum 25(OH) vitamin D levels and ovarian reserve markers (7), others do not (8). Given the contradictory literature and the importance of 25(OH) vitamin D in reproductive health, in this study we aimed to investigate the relationship between ovarian reserve markers; FSH, AFC, and AMH, and serum 25(OH) vitamin D levels.

2. Materials and Methods

This retrospective cohort was conducted between October 2020 and October 2021, in two specialized maternity hospital centers on North-East Coast of Turkey. Patients aged 18–45 years who were admitted due to infertility (no conception after 12 months of no contraceptive methods) were included in the study. Patients who refused to give informed consent, were taking vitamin supplements, had any surgical procedure on the pelvis, were receiving chemotherapy or radiation therapy to the pelvis, were taking menstrual cycle-affecting medications or gonadotoxic therapy, had a history of gynecological malignancy, premature menopause, or had Mullerian anomaly were excluded from the study.

Baseline clinical characteristics including age, BMI, time of blood samples taken were obtained. AFC was determined using transvaginal ultrasonography by a gynecologist during the early follicular phase (the first five days of the cycle). AFC were defined as folicles ranging in diameter from 2 to 10 mm.

Blood samples were collected to measure AMH and FSH levels; the serum AMH level was measured by 'ECLIA' method (electrochemiluminescence immunological test), using the Cobas device (Roche Diagnostics, Risch-Rotkreuz, Switzerland) and the serum FSH level was determined using the immunochemiluminometric (ICMA) method with the ARCHITECT System kit (Abbott Laboratory Diagnostics, USA).

To measure 25(OH) vitamin D levels, the blood samples taken from the patients with EDTA tube were rotated for 5 minutes at 2500 rotation per minute (rpm) and yielded plasma was analysed by Beckman Coulter Unicel Dx1600 (Beckman Coulter, Ca, USA) immune analyser with the same branded kits. Due to the fact that none of the participants had a normal level of 25(OH) vitamin D, the patients were divided into two groups: those with < 20ng/ml (vitamin D deficiency) and those with \geq 20ng/ml (vitamin D insufficiency) (9).

After the participants were divided into 2 groups according to their 25 (OH) D levels, the age, body mass index (BMI), AFC, AMH, FSH levels of the groups were compared. Our primary outcome was correlation of ovarian reserve markers with vitamin D levels. The study was approved by Health Sciences University Kanuni Educational and Research Hospital Ethics committee (23.12.2020/2020/80). All ethical principles of the latest version of the Declaration of Helsinki on human studies were met throughout the study.

2.1. Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed using SPSS, version 25.0 (SPSS, Chicago, IL). Categorical variables were described as percentages and compared using Pearson's chi-squared test and Fisher's exact test when necessary. For continuous variables, mean and standard deviation (SD) were given as descriptive variables. Correlation between 25(OH) vitamin D and AMH, FSH levels, and AFC was evaluated by Pearson

chi-square test. We used a logistic regression model adjusting for the potential confounders (age, BMI, season of blood sampling) to estimate the adjusted odds ratios (ORs) and measure the 95 % CI for the comparison of the two groups in relation to the primary outcomes. p<0.05 was considered statistically significant. Sixty-five subjects in each group were required to test the 10% reduction in AFC, AMH and FSH levels at 90 percent power.

3. Results

A total of 195 participants were enrolled in the study. The mean age of patients was 32.1 ± 5.4 years and the mean BMI was 23.8 ± 1.7 kg/m². Table 1 summarizes the baseline and biochemical characteristics of patients. Of all participants, 72.3% (n=141) were in vitamin D deficient group (<20 ng/mL) and 27.7% (n=54) were in vitamin D insufficiency group (≥ 20 ng/mL). The mean age of the 25(OH) vitamin D deficient group was significantly younger (p=0.025) than the other group. There was no statistically significant difference in BMI (p=0.47) or season of blood sampling (p=0.62) between groups. The levels of the ovarian reserve markers AFC, AMH, and FSH were not significantly different between groups (p=0.95,0.18,0.86, respectively) (Table 2).

Table 1. Baseline characteristics of the study population

Variables	Group 1 (25(OH) vitamin D <20 ng/mL)	Group 2 (25(OH) vitamin D \geq 20 ng/mL)	р
Number of patients, n (%)	141(72.3)	54 (27.7)	
Age (year), mean (SD)	$31.5\pm\!\!5.4$	33.5± 5.4	0.0251
BMI (kg/m ²), mean (SD)	$23.9 \pm \! 1.6$	23.7±1.7	0.471
Season of blood sampling, n (%)			0.62 ²
Autumn	38 (19.5)	18 (9.2)	
Spring	26 (13.3)	7 (3.6)	
Summer	35 (17.9)	11 (5.6)	
Winter	42 (21.5)	18 (9.2)	
1	0 -		

¹Mann-Whitney U test, ²Pearson ×² test, Plus-minus values are mean±standard deviation SD: standart deviation

Table 2. Relation of ovarian reserve markers and vitamin D level

	Group 1 (25(OH) vitamin D <20 ng/mL)	$\begin{array}{l} \text{Group 2} \\ \text{(25(OH)} \\ \text{vitamin} \text{D} \\ \geq 20 \text{ ng/mL} \end{array}$	p
AFC, n (%)			0.95 ¹
≥6	96 (49.2)	37 (19)	
<6	45 (23.1)	17 (8.7)	
AMH (ng/mL), mean (SD)	3.5 ± 3.3	35 ± 4.4	0.182
FSH, mean (SD)	8.6 ± 5.2	9.01 ± 6.2	0.86 ²

Plus-minus values are mean \pm standard deviation SD: standart deviation. SD: standart deviation.¹Pearson ×² test, ²Mann-Whitney U test

Multiple linear regression analysis was conducted in order to evaluate the relationship between serum 25(OH) vitamin D levels and AMH levels, after adjusting for potential confounders (age and BMI) According to the adjusted analysis no correlation was found between 25(OH) vitamin D and AMH levels (standardized coefficient=0.486, p=0.628) (Table 3).

Logistic regression analysis was conducted in order to evaluate the relationship between serum 25(OH) vitamin D levels and AFC, after adjusting for potential confounders (age, BMI, AMH and season of blood sampling) According to the adjusted analysis no relation was found between 25(OH) vitamin D levels and AFC (p=0.107) (Table 4). We found no correlation between serum 25(OH) vitamin D and AMH (r=0.78, p=0.280), AFC (r=0.005, p=0.949) and FSH levels (r=0.049, p=0.497) (Fig. 1 and Fig. 2).

Ta	b	le	3.	L	inear	regression	coefficients	between a	ll covariates	and ser	um anti-M	lüllerian	hormone
						<u> </u>							

	Unstandardized Coefficients		Standardized Coefficients	t	<i>p</i> value	95,0% Confidence Interval for Beta		
	В	Std. Error	Beta			Lower Bound	Upper Bound	
(Constant)	9.965	3.450		2.889	0.004	3.161	16.770	
Age (year)	-0.329	0.043	-0.496	-7.666	0.000	-0.414	-0.244	
25(OH) vitamin D (ng/mL)	0.017	0.034	0.031	0.486	0.628	-0.051	0.084	
BMI (kg/m ²)	0.162	0.135	0.076	1.199	0.232	-0.104	0.428	

a. Dependent Variable: AMH, BMI: Body mass index

 Table 4. Logistic Regression coefficients between covariates and AFC

Coverietos	n valua	OP	95% CI for OR			
Covariates	<i>p</i> value	OR	Lower	Upper		
Age (year)	0.008	1.122	1.031	1.223		
25(OH) vitamin D(ng/mL)	0.107	0.952	0.897	1.011		
AMH (ng/mL)	0.000	0.493	0.358	0.679		
Constant	0.137	0.097				



Fig. 1. Correlation plots of 25(OH) vitamin D and anti-Mullerian hormone (AMH)



Fig. 2. Correlation plots of 25(OH) vitamin D and follicle stimulating hormone (FSH)

4. Discussion

In this present retrospective cohort study, we tried to investigate the correlation of ovarian reserve markers; AFC, AMH and FSH with vitamin D level, to study whether vitamin D has a role in increasing female reproductivity. Our results demonstrated no significant relationship between ovarian reserve markers, FSH, AFC and AMH, and serum 25(OH) vitamin D levels even after adjusting confounders such as age and season of blood sampling.

Previous studies on this subject yielded inconsistent results so far. Similarly to our findings, Drakopoulos et al. (10) reported that there was no significant association between serum 25(OH) vitamin D levels and AFC and AMH levels after adjusting for possible confounding variables. Furthermore, an Iranian cross-sectional study of 287 infertile women found no correlation between serum 25(OH) vitamin D concentrations and both AFC and AMH levels. Additionally, the majority of participants in this study had vitamin D levels in the deficiency zone (20ng/mL), possibly as a result of their clothing and religious practices (11). In another study, which was also conducted retrospectively and included a larger sample size of 340 women, the authors concluded that AMH levels did not exhibit seasonal variation, as 25(OH) vitamin D concentrations do, and that there is no significant correlation between AMH and vitamin D levels. Interestingly, a prospective study involving 22 women with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) and 45 women without PCOS found that supplementing deficient participants with vitamin D reduced AMH levels in PCOS patients but had no effect on AMH levels in the control group (12).

However, there is some evidence in the literature that vitamin D 25(OH) is associated with ovarian reserve markers. Merhi et al. (13) reported that while AMH and 25(OH) vitamin D levels were positively correlated in women in their late reproductive years, no correlation could be founded in young women. Another study involving 33 women revealed a seasonal correlation between serum AMH levels and 25(OH) vitamin D, indicating that seasonal changes can be avoided by supplementing with vitamin D, particularly during the winter (7). The study's findings, however, should be interpreted in light of the study's sample size. Naderi et al. (14) examined 30 infertile women with 25(OH) vitamin D concentrations less than 30 ng/mL and AMH concentrations less than 0.07ng/mL. They reported that after three months of weekly vitamin D replacement at a dose of 50.000 IU, participants' 25(OH) vitamin D and AMH levels increased concurrently. Furthermore, the authors concluded that vitamin D deficiency can impair AMH production, resulting in infertility, and that vitamin D supplementation increases fertility through AMH. Additionally, an Iranian study discovered a significant positive correlation between 25(OH) vitamin D levels and AFC in 189 infertile women with an average 25(OH) vitamin D concentration of 15.46 ng/mL (vitamin D deficient) (15). These contradictory findings can be explained by a variety of factors, not just methodological differences. Disparities in several reproductive health outcomes may be explained by genetic, ethnic, and racial differences, as well as religious and dressing habits and season. Another factor that could influence the results is the use of different AMH measurement methods and blood storage times (16). Additionally, because AFC is evaluated using ultrasound, which is influenced by individual experience, it is possible for different results to be obtained from the same patient.

One of our study's limitations is that it was conducted retrospectively, which meant that we could not access all of the participants' data. For instance, we could present AFC in two categories, as ≥ 6 and < 6, without specifying the follicle count. Additionally, we did not evaluate the causes of infertility. Another limitation is that, in addition to BMI, age, and season of blood sampling, several factors can influence vitamin D levels. Beyond these limitations, one of this study's strengths is its relatively large sample size, which is sufficient to create objective results. Another factor is that the study population was drawn from two different tertiary care hospitals in the Black Sea region.

In conclusion, we found no correlation between 25(OH) vitamin D concentrations and markers of ovarian reserve. We cannot, however, ignore the critical role of vitamin D in the female reproductivity. To determine the optimal 25(OH)D3 levels during the reproductive period and the amount of vitamin D supplementation required to achieve those levels for the numerous actions of vitamin D throughout reproductivity process, high-quality, large-scale randomized clinical trials are required.

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

References

1. Kinuta K, Tanaka H, Moriwake T, Aya K, Kato S, Seino Y.

Vitamin D is an important factor in estrogen biosynthesis of both female and male gonads. Endocrinology. 2000;141(4):1317–1324.

- Elhusseini H, Lizneva D, Gavrilova-jordan L, Eziba N, Abdelaziz M, Brakta S, et al. Vitamin D and female reproduction. In: A critical evaluation of vitamin D-Basic overview. IntechOpen; 2017, p. 298–321.
- **3.** Grundmann M, von Versen-Höynck F. Vitamin D roles in women's reproductive health? Reprod Biol Endocrinol. 2011;9(1):146.
- 4. Marca A La, Argento C, Sighinolfi G, Grisendi V, Carbone M, Ippolito GD, et al. Possibilities and limits of ovarian reserve testing in ART. Curr Pharm Biotechnol. 2012;13(3):398–408.
- 5. Lima ML, Martins WP, Neto MAC, Nastri CO, Rui A. The assessment of ovarian reserve by antral follicle count in ovaries with endometrioma. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2015;546(2):239–242.
- Arslan S and Akdevelioğlu Y. The Relationship Between Female Reproductive Functions and Vitamin D. J Am Coll Nutr [Internet]. 2018;37(6):546–551.
- Dennis NA, Houghton LA, Jones GT, Rij AM Van, Morgan K, Mclennan IS. The level of serum Anti-Müllerian hormone correlates with vitamin D status. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2012;97(7):2450–2455.
- **8.** Pearce K, Gleeson K, Tremellen K. Serum anti-Mullerian hormone production is not correlated with seasonal fluctuations of vitamin D status in ovulatory or PCOS women. Hum Reprod. 2015;30(9):2171–2177.
- Holick MF, Binkley NC, Bischoff-ferrari HA, Gordon CM, Hanley DA, Heaney RP, et al. Evaluation, treatment, and prevention of vitamin D deficiency: an Endocrine Society Clinical Practice Guideline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;96(7):1911–1930.
- **10.** Drakopoulos P, Vijver A Van De, Schutyser V, Milatovic S, Anckaert E, Schiettecatte J, et al. The effect of serum vitamin D levels on ovarian reserve markers: a prospective cross-sectional study. Hum Reprod. 2017;32(1):208–214.
- Alavi N, Ebrahimi M, Akbari-asbagh F. The effect of vitamin D status on ovarian reserve markers in infertile women: A prospective cross-sectional study. Int J Reprod Biomed. 2020;18(2):85–92.
- Irani M, Minkoff H, Seifer DB, Merhi Z. Vitamin D increases serum levels of the soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products in women with PCOS. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2014;99(5):886–890.
- **13.** Merhi Z, Seifer D, Weedon J, Adeyemi O, Holman S, Anastos K, et al. Circulating vitamin D correlates with serum Anti-Mullerian hormone levels in late reproductive-aged women: Women's interagency HIV study. Fertil Steril. 2012;98(1):228–234.
- 14. Naderi Z, Kashanian M, Chenari L, Sheikhansari N. Evaluating the effects of administration of 25- hydroxyvitamin D supplement on serum anti- mullerian hormone (AMH) levels in infertile women. Gynecol Endocrinol. 2017;34(5):409–412.
- 15. Arefi S, Khalili G, Iranmanesh H, Farifteh F, Hosseini A, Fatemi HM, et al. Is the ovarian reserve influenced by vitamin D deficiency and the dress code in an infertile Iranian population? J Ovarian Res. 2018;11(62):1–6.
- Wheeler MJ. The Measurement of Anti-Müllerian Hormone (AMH). Methods Mol Biol. 2013;1065:141–146.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm



Research Article

J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 121-124 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.24

The effects of vitamin deficiencies in the first trimester on pregnancy outcomes

Zehra YILMAZ¹^(b), Canan SOYER ÇALIŞKAN²^(b), Nur DOKUZEYLUL GUNGOR^{3,*}^(b), Merve YILMAZ⁴^(b) Samettin ÇELİK²^(b), Sebahattin ÇELİK⁵^(b)

¹Private Office, Samsun, Turkey

²Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Samsun Education and Research Hospital, Samsun, Turkey

³Department of Reproductive Endocrinology and IVF, BAU Medical Park Göztepe Hospital, Istanbul, Turkey

⁴Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Samsun Gazi State Hospital, Samsun, Turkey

⁵Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Balıkesir State Hospital, Balıkesir, Turkey

Received: 22.08.2021	٠	Accepted/Published Online: 22.09.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022	
----------------------	---	---------------------------------------	---	---------------------------	--

Abstract

Adequate maternal nutrition is crucial for pregnancy and fetal growth, and thereby influences pregnancy outcome. In this study, we investigate the relationship between certain vitamin levels of first trimester pregnancy and its maternal-fetal outcomes. This retrospective study was conducted between January 2020 and July 2020 by evaluating data drawn from the hospital database. Serum vitamin B12, 25OH-vitamin D, folic acid and ferritin levels were evaluated in 499 women during the first trimester of pregnancy and confounding factors were analyzed. The mean age was 27 years. The mean birth weight of newborn was 3300g. The vaginal delivery rate was 73.1% whereas caesarean delivery rate was 26.9%. Neonatal intensive care unit (NICU) was needed in 8% of newborns. Meconium was seen in 12.6% of newborns. There was a significant statistical difference between caesarean section and vaginal delivery group with respect to 25OH-vitamin D, vitamin B12, and folic acid levels(p<0.001). All three vitamins were low in first trimester in caesarean delivery group. In contrast, ferritin levels were similar between two groups. 25OH-vitamin D, folic acid and vitamin B12 levels were significantly low in the presence of meconium(p=0.001). 25 OH-vitamin D (p=0.001), vitamin B12 (p<0.001) and ferritin(p<0.001) levels were significantly low in mothers of newborns hospitalized in NICU. In contrast, folic acid level was similar between two groups(p=0.066). Adequate levels of certain vitamins in the first trimester of pregnancy are crucial for a healthy pregnancy and newborn.

Keywords: ferritin, folic acid, 25-OH vitamin D, pregnancy outcome, vitamin B12

1. Introduction

Vitamins are essential for growth and functions of the body. Therefore, it is crucial to supply vitamin deficiencies in pregnancy to decrease unwanted perinatal outcomes. There is a physiological hemodilution in pregnancy leading to decrease in plasma levels of some vitamins whereas others are not affected due to increased carrier proteins (1). Folate has an important role in the prevention on neural tube defects (NTDs). Also, epigenetic patterns and the phenotype of the offspring are affected from the maternal folate status (2). Vitamin B₁₂ is also a co-factor of enzymes catalyzing reactions essential for growth and development (3). Ferritin is a kind of intracellular protein showing the iron stores of the body (4). A low level of serum ferritin is used as a parameter of iron deficiency anemia which is very common in pregnancy. Vitamin D including cholecalciferol (vitamin D3) and ergocalciferol (vitamin D2) is a precursor of hormones which are important in the regulation of calcium and phosphate metabolism (5). Higher requirement for vitamins during pregnancy makes women prone to vitamin deficiency therefore inadequate supply exhausts the body stores of pregnant women. Optimal vitamin supply is important during early pregnancy as it influences the future health and wellbeing of the fetus. Because of this, vitamin deficiency in pregnancy is a public health problem. In this study, we investigate the relationship between vitamin B_{12} , folic acid, ferritin, and vitamin D25(OH) levels of first trimester pregnancy and its maternal-fetal outcomes.

2. Materials and Methods

This retrospective study was conducted between January 2020 and July 2020 by evaluating data drawn from the hospital database of patients who underwent routine antenatal visit at Samsun Research and Training Hospital. This study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. Ethical approval was obtained from the Ethics Committee of GOKA/2021/10/2. Informed consent was obtained from all individual participants included in the study. The eligibility criteria for study enrollment were: 1) pregnancy \geq 37wk 2) age 18–45 years;3) without previous history of chronic illnesses (diabetes mellitus, thyroid problems, hypertension, autoimmune diseases); 4) without

previous caesarean section history; 5) no alcohol or drug abuse; 6) singleton viable pregnancy. Serum vitamin B_{12} , 25OH-vitamin D, folic acid and ferritin levels were evaluated in 499 women during the first trimester of pregnancy and confounding factors were analyzed. Age, gravida, parity, birth weight, delivery by vaginal or caesarian section, neonatal intensive care unit (NICU) demand, apgar scores (0. and 5. presence of meconium were recorded. min) and Electrochemiluminescence immunoassay (ECLIA) was used for measurements of Vitamin B₁₂, folate and ferritin levels. High performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) was used for measurements of 25OH-vitamin D levels. Gestational age was calculated according to the last menstrual period and also confirmed by ultrasonography in all women. Descriptive statistics results will be given as mean \pm standard deviation or median (min-max) for numerical variables and number and/or percentage of patients for categorical variables. All continuous data are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. The comparative analysis is made with the Mann-Whitney U test for continuous data and $\gamma 2$ test for categorical data. The ratio of categorical variables will be compared between groups using the chi-square test. P <0.05 will be considered statistically significant. Patients with missing information or data on file were excluded from the study. SPSS statistical software for Windows (Statistical Package for Social Sciences, version 16.0, SPSS Inc. Chicago, Illinois, USA) was used to evaluate the study results.

3. Results

We enrolled a total of 499 pregnant women in this study. Demographic characteristics and pregnancy results are described in Table 1. The mean age was 27 years. The mean gravida and parity were 2 and 1 respectively. The mean birth weight of newborn was 3300g. The mean Apgar scores were 9 and 10 at 0 and 5 minutes respectively. The vaginal delivery rate was 73.1% whereas cesarean delivery rate was 26.9%. Neonatal intensive care unit (NICU) was needed in 8% of newborns. Meconium was seen in 12.6% of newborns.

 Table 1. Demographic characteristics and pregnancy results

	Patients (n=499)
Age (y)	27 (18-46) ^a
Gravida (n)	2 (1-3) ^a
Parity (n)	1 (0-2) ^a
Birthweight of newborn (g)	3300 (1780-4900) ^a
Apgar scores	
0. min	9 (5-9) ^a
5. min	10 (6-10) ^a
Delivery	
Vaginal (%)	365 (% 73.1) ^b
Caesarean section (%)	134 (% 26.9) ^b
NICU demand	
No (%)	459 (% 92) ^b
Yes (%)	40 (% 8) ^b
Meconium presence	
No (%)	436 (% 87.4) ^b
Yes (%)	63 (% 12.6) ^b
1' (1' - 1) (0/1)	

a: median (min-max), b: n (%), y:year, g:gram

 Table 2. The vitamin levels in first trimester

	Patient (n=499)
25OH-vitamin D (ng/ml)	9 (2-44)
Vitamin B ₁₂ (pg/ml)	177 (44-890)
Ferritin (ng/ml)	11 (1.53-344)
Folic Acid(ng/ml)	5.64 (1.11-28)

We compared the way of delivery and serum vitamin levels in Table 3. There was a significant statistical difference between caeserian section and vaginal delivery patients with respect to 25OH-vitamin D, vitamin B₁₂, and folic acid levels (p<0.001). All three vitamins were higher in first trimester in cesarean delivery group. In contrast, ferritin levels were similar between two groups.

Table 3. Comparision of delivery way with respect to vitamin levels

	Caeserian section (n=134)	Vaginal delivery (n=365)	р
25OH- vitamin D (ng/dl)	12 (2-41.62)	8.33 (2-44)	<0.001
Vitamin B ₁₂ (pg/ml)	202 (78-890)	168 (44-583)	<0.001
Ferritin (ng/ml)	10.25 (2.7-234)	11.34 (1.53-344)	0.715
Folic Acid (ng/ml)	6.73 (1.4-28)	5.12 (1.11-22)	<0.001

The relationship between vitamin levels and meconium presence was represented in Table 4. 25OH-vitamin D and vitamin B_{12} levels were significantly low in the presence of meconium (p<0.001) whereas the level of ferritin was significantly high in the presence of meconium (p=.0.001). In addition, folic acid level was also significantly low in the presence of meconium (p=0.031)

 Table 4. The relationship between vitamin levels and meconium presence

	Meconium (+) (n=63)	Mekonyum (-) (n=436)	р
25OH-vitamin D (ng/dl)	4 (2-44)	9.55 (3-41.62)	<0.001
Vitamin B ₁₂ (pg/ml)	123 (55-567)	189 (44-890)	<0.001
Ferritin (ng/ml)	20 (3-344)	10 (1.53-94.6)	0.001
Folic Acid (ng/ml)	5 (1.9-15.6)	5.87 (1.11-28)	0.031

In Table 5 we presented the relationship between vitamin levels and NICU need. 25 OH-vitamin D (p=0.001), vitamin B_{12} (p<0.001) and ferritin (p<0.001) levels were significantly low in mothers of newborns hospitalized in NICU. In contrast, folic acid level was similar between two groups (p=0.066).

We performed correlation analysis to show if there was a relationship between vitamin levels and pregnancy results in Table 6. There was a positive correlation between 25OH-vitamin D level and birthweight (p<0.001 r=0.615), 0. minute

apgar score (p<0.001 r=0.292) and 5. minute apgar scores (p<0.001 r=0.315). Also, there was a positive correlation between vitamin B₁₂ and birthweight (p<0.001 r=0.314), 0. minute apgar score (p<0.001 r=0.243) and 5. minute apgar scores (p<0.001 r=0.232). Moreover, there was a positive correlation between folic acid levels and birthweight (p<0.001 r=0.339), 0. minute apgar score (p=0.033 r=0.095) and 5. minute apgar scores (p=0.025 r=0.100). In contrast to other vitamin levels there was a negative correlation between ferritin and 0. minute apgar score (p=0.004 r=0.128) and 5. minute apgar scores (p=0.005 r=0.125).

	NICU (+) (n=40)	NICU (-) (n=459)	р
25OH-vitamin D (ng/dl)	4.5 (2-44)	9 (2-41.62)	0.001
Vitamin B ₁₂ (pg/ml)	127.5 (55-567)	180 (44- 890)	<0.001
Ferritin (ng/ml)	37.35 (3- 344)	9.92 (1.53- 94.6)	<0.001
Folic Acid (ng/ml)	4.47 (1.9- 15.6)	5.8 (1.11- 28)	0.066

NICU: neonatal intensive care unit

	250H-	Vitamin	Ferritin	Folic acid
	vitamin D	B ₁₂		
Але	p=0.001	p=0.006	p=0.998	p=0.092
nge	r=0.147	r=0.123	r<0.001	r=0.075
Gravida	p=0.011	P=0.051	P=0.946	p=0.128
Graviua	r=0.113	r=0.088	r=-0.003	r=0.068
Donity	p=0.011	P=0.051	P=0.946	p=0.128
rainy	r=0.113	r=0.088	r=-0.003	r=0.068
Birth	p<0.00	p<0.001	p=0.415	p<0.001
weight	r=0.615	r=0.314	r=0.037	r=0.339
0. min.	p<0.001	p<0.001	p=0.004	p=0.033
Apgar	r=0.292	r=0.243	r=-0.128	r=0.095
score				
0. min.	p<0.001	p<0.001	p=0.005	p=0.025
Apgar	r=0.315	r=0.232	r=-0.125	r=0.100
score				

r= correlation coefficient, p=statistical significance

Data analysis was performed in the SPSS 25 (Statistical Package for Social Sciences) package program. Results for P <0.05 were considered statistically significant. Descriptive statistics were shown as median (minimum-maximum) for numerical variables and as number of observations and (%) for nominal variables.

The normality of the distribution of numerical variables was investigated by Kolmogorov Smirnov test. Whether there was a statistically significant difference between the two groups in terms of numerical variables was evaluated using the Mann-Whitney U test. The correlation between vitamin levels and variables was evaluated by determining Spearman's "rho" coefficient and significance level (p).

4. Discussion

Folic acid and vitamin B_{12} play an important role in generating S-adenosyl methionine, a major methyl donor for all methylation reactions. Deficiency of these vitamins leads

to increased homocysteine levels, which may cause increased oxidative stress and adverse pregnancy outcomes (6, 7). The physiological functions of folic acid include DNA replication, cell proliferation and antioxidant protection. It is important also in angiogenesis, placental development, invasion of trophoblasts, and matrix metalloproteinase secretion (8). Vitamin B₁₂ is transported by transcobalamin II, which is produced by the human placenta. Moreover, the human placenta has receptors for binding transcobalamin (9). Similarly, to the study of Finkelstein et al, in our study, the levels of folic acid and vitamin B12 were lower in meconium positive group and NICU (+) group showing increased fetal distress (10). In some studies, it was shown that altered maternal folate, vitamin B12 and resultant increased homocysteine levels exist in women giving preterm birth (11,12). But in our study only pregnant women \geq 37 weeks were included and because of this we did not evaluate the effects of low folic acid and vitamin B12 levels on preterm delivery. 250H-vitamin D is essential for calcium and phosphate metabolism. It was shown that the placenta and decidua express the nuclear vitamin D receptor (VDR) and it is also important for fetoplacental development (13). However, the studies about the impact of hypovitaminosis D in the development of pregnancy complications has conflicting results (14,15). In a study it was shown that the Apgar scores were not affected from 25OH-Vitamin D levels (16). In contrast, at our study there was a positive correlation between high 25OH-Vitamin D levels and higher Apgar scores. With regards to caesarean section (CS), an association was found in our study between high 25OH-Vitamin D and increased risk of caesarean section rates which was contrast to Zhou et al results (17). Also, in a study done by Merewood et al. there was an increased risk of caesarean section rates in women with low 25OH-Vitamin D levels (18). Increase in the CS rate in patients with high vitamin D level may be due to cephalo-pelvic disproportion. The most common hematological problem encountered in pregnancy is anemia. Because of increased demand for oxygenation and fetal requirements, iron supplementation is needed (19). In our study, ferritin level was significantly high in the presence of meconium (p=.0.001). It may be due to increased incidence of isolated oligohydramnios which was shown by Korkmaz et al. (19). Iron overload is thought to favor oxidative stress which may trigger fetal stress increasing NICU need as in our study.

Adequate vitamin levels in the first trimester of pregnancy are crucial for a healthy pregnancy and newborn. A healthy balanced diet during pregnancy, is the best source of adequate supply. Inadequate or high levels of certain vitamins can cause unwanted pregnancy outcomes.

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

References

- 1. Picciano MF. Pregnancy and lactation: physiological adjustments, nutritional requirements and the role of dietary supplements. J Nutr. 2003 Jun;133(6):1997S-2002S.
- **2.** Burdge GC, Lillycrop KA. Folic acid supplementation in pregnancy: Are there devils in the detail? Br J Nutr. 2012 Dec 14;108(11):1924-30.
- **3.** Dominguez-Salas P, Cox SE, Prentice AM, Hennig BJ, Moore SE. Maternal nutritional status, C(1) metabolism and offspring DNA methylation: a review of current evidence in human subjects. Proc Nutr Soc. 2012 Feb;71(1):154-65.
- 4. Arosio P,Elia L,Poli M.Ferritin,cellular iron storage and regulation.2017;69(6):414-22.
- 5. Kulda V.Vitamin D metabolism. Vnitr Lek 2012;58(5):400-4.
- Furness DL, Yasin N, Dekker GA, Thompson SD, Roberts CT: Maternal red blood cell folate concentration at 10–12 weeks gestation and pregnancy outcome. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2012,25(8):1423-7.
- Furness D, Fenech M, Dekker G, Khong TY, Roberts C, Hague W: Folate, Vitamin B 12, vitamin B 6 and homocysteine: impact on pregnancy outcome. Matern Child Nutr 2013, 9(2):155-66.
- **8.** Williams PJ, Bulmer JN, Innes BA, Broughton Pipkin F: Possible roles for folic acid in the regulation of trophoblast invasion and placental development in normal early human pregnancy. Biol Reprod 2011;84(6):1148–53.
- **9.** Schneider H, Miller RK: Receptor-mediated uptake and transport of macromolecules in the human placenta. Int J Dev Biol 2010;54(2-3): 367–75.
- Finkelstein JL, Kurpad AV, Thomas T, Srinivasan K, Duggan C. Vitamin B12 status in pregnant women and their infants in South India. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2017 Sep;71(9):1046-1053.
- 11. Dhobale M,Chavan P, Kulkarni A, Mehendale S, Pisal H, Joshi S.Reduced Folate, Increased Vitamin B 12 and Homocysteine

Concentrations in Women Delivering Preterm. Ann Nutr Metab.2012;61(1):7-14.

- 12. Czeizel AE, Puhó EH, Langmar Z, Acs N, Bánhidy F: Possible association of folic acid supplementation during pregnancy with reduction of preterm birth: a population-based study. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Bio 2010; 148(2):135–40.
- **13.** Hewison M, Zehnder D, Chakraverty R, Adams JS. Vitamin D and barrier function: a novel role for extra-renal 1 alphahydroxylase. Mol Cell Endocrinol 2004;215(1-2):31–8.
- 14. Kolusari A, Kurdoglu M, Yildizhan R, Adali E, Edirne T, Cebi A, et al. Catalase activity, serum trace element and heavy metal concentrations, and vitamin A, D and E levels in preeclampsia. J Int Med Res.2008;36(6):1335–41.
- **15.** Aghajafari F, Nagulesapillai T, Ronksley PE, Tough SC, O'Beirne M, Rabi DM. Association between maternal serum 25hydroxyvitamin D level and pregnancy and neonatal outcomes: systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. BMJ. 2013 Mar 26;346:f1169.
- 16. Gbadegesin A, Sobande A, Adedeji O, Disu E, Korede O, Dosunmu A, et al. Maternal serum vitamin D levels and pregnancy outcomes: from Lagos, Nigeria. J Obstet Gynaecol. 2017 Jan;37(1):25-28.
- 17. Zhou J, Su L, Liu M, Liu Y, Cao X, Wang Z, et al. Associations between 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels and pregnancy outcomes: a prospective observational study in southern China. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2014 Aug;68(8):925-30.
- Merewood A, Mehta SD, Chen TC, Bauchner H, Holick MF. Association between vitamin D deficiency and primary cesarean section. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2009 Mar;94(3):940-5.
- **19.** Korkmaz V, Ozkaya E, Seven BY, Duzguner S, Karsli MF, Kucukozkan T. Comparison of oxidative stress in pregnancies with and without first trimester iron supplement: a randomized double-blind controlled trial. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2014 Oct;27(15):1535-8.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm



Research Article

J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 125-127 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.25

The effects of first trimester cholesterol levels on pregnancy outcomes

Zehra YILMAZ¹^(b), Nur DOKUZEYLÜL GÜNGÖR^{2*}^(b), Canan Soyer ÇALIŞKAN³^(b), Merve YILMAZ⁴^(b) Samettin ÇELİK³^(b) Sebahattin ÇELİK⁵^(b)

¹Private Office, Samsun, Turkey

²Department of Reproductive Endocrinology and IVF, BAU Medical Park Göztepe Hospital, Istanbul, Turkey

³Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Samsun Education and Research Hospital, Samsun, Turkey

⁴Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Samsun Gazi State Hospital, Samsun, Turkey

⁵Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Balıkesir State Hospital, Balıkesir, Turkey

	Received: 21.07.2021 •	Accepte	ed/Published Online: 31.08.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022
--	-------------------------------	---------	---------------------------------	---	---------------------------

Abstract

The purpose of this study was to determine whether changes in lipid profile in pregnant women might have any effect on the perinatal outcomes. This retrospective study was conducted between January 2020 and December 2020 by evaluating data drawn from the hospital database. The total serum cholesterol(C), HDL-C, LDL-C, VLDL-C and triglycerides levels were measured in 587 women during the first trimester of pregnancy and confounding factors were analyzed. The mean age was 27 years. The mean gravida and parity were 2 and 1 respectively. The mean birth weight of newborn was 3280 g. The mean Apgar score was 9 at 0 and 5 minutes respectively. The vaginal delivery rate was 68.3% whereas caeserian delivery rate was 31.7%. Neonatal intensive care unit (NICU) was needed in 0.5% of newborns. There was no significant statistical difference between the rates of caeserian section and vaginal delivery in patients with respect to lipid profile levels. The total serum cholesterol(C), triglycerides, LDL-C and VLDL-C levels were significantly higher in mothers of babies hospitalized in NICU.HDL-C level was similar between two groups. Adequate lipid levels in the first trimester of pregnancy are crucial for the health of pregnant women and newborn. High levels of lipids can increase NICU need but not effect way of delivery.

Keywords: pregnancy, total cholesterol, HDL-C, LDL-C, VLDL-C, triglycerides

1. Introduction

In a normal pregnancy, lipid parameters including total cholesterol (TC), triglycerides (TG), low-density lipoproteincholesterol (LDL-C), high-density lipoprotein-cholesterol (HDL-C) and phospholipids gradually increase starting in the 12th week of gestation and continue through the second and third trimesters (1, 2). Increased metabolic demands of the maternal organism and fetal growth can be reflected as changes in lipid profile of pregnant women. The two principal changes in lipid metabolism during pregnancy are hyperlipidemia and the accumulation of maternal fat depots (3). Many studies have shown that maternal dyslipidemia can predict the occurrence of adverse perinatal outcomes and some pregnancy complications. Herrera et al. reported that impaired maternal fatty acid metabolism was correlated with excessive fetal growth (3). Also, the Amsterdam born children and their development cohort study showed that maternal triglyceride concentrations in early pregnancy were linearly related with the prevalence of pregnancy-induced hypertension, induced preterm birth and large for gestational age (LGA) (4). The purpose of this study was to determine whether changes in lipid profile in pregnant women might have any effect on the way of delivery and neonatal intensive

care unit (NICU)need.

2. Materials and Methods

The study group consisted of 587 pregnant women between 18-46 years age in the first trimester of pregnancy, followed in Samsun Eğitim Araştırma Hospital from January 2020 to December 2020. The data was drawn from the hospital database of patients who underwent routine antenatal visit in our hospital. This study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. Ethical approval was obtained from the Ethics Committee of Samsun Research and Training Hospital (2021/10/1-26.05.2021). Informed consent was obtained from all individual participants included in the study. The total serum cholesterol (C), HDL-C, LDL-C, VLDL-C and triglycerides levels were measured in 587 women during the first trimester of pregnancy and confounding factors were analyzed. Age, gravida, parity, birth weight, delivery by vaginal or caeserian section, neonatal intensive care unit (NICU) demand, and apgar scores were recorded. Gestational age was calculated according to the last menstrual period and also confirmed by ultrasonography in all women. Venous blood samples for lipid assessment were

taken after overnight fasting from all the participants at the first trimester of pregnancy. The eligibility criteria for study enrollment were: 1) pregnancy \geq 37wk 2) age 18–46 years; 3) without previous history of chronic illnesses (diabetes mellitus, thyroid problems, hypertension, autoimmune diseases); 4) without previous cesarian section history; 5) no alcohol or drug abuse; 6) singleton viable pregnancy. The total cholesterol (TC), HDL-C, VLDL-C and triglycerides levels were measured with the appropriate reagents. Total cholesterol and triglycerides were assayed with the cholesterol oxidase-phenol aminophenazone method, and glycerol-3-phosphatase oxidase-phenol aminophenazone method, respectively. HDL-C and LDL-C were measured by homogeneous enzymatic colorimetric assays. All the lipid measurements were performed on an automatic biochemical analyser (Abbott Architect C16000, Abbott Laboratories, USA) respectively with TC, TG, HDL-C and LDL-C detection kits (Abbott Diagnostic Kit, Abbott Laboratories, USA).

3. Results

We enrolled a total of 587 pregnant women in this study. Demographic characteristics and pregnancy results were described in Table 1. The mean age was 27 years. The mean gravida and parity were 2 and 1 respectively. The mean birth weight of newborn was 3280 g. The mean Apgar score was 9 at 0 and 5 minutes respectively. The vaginal delivery rate was 68.3% whereas caesarian delivery rate was 31.7%. Neonatal intensive care unit (NICU) was needed in 0.5% of newborns.

The lipid profile of women was presented in Table 2. The mean TC level was 178 mg/dl, triglyceride 134 mg/dl, HDL-C 60 mg/dl, LDL-C 106.7 mg/ml and VLDL-C 70 mg/dl respectively. In Table 3 we compared delivery way and lipid profile levels. There was no significant statistical difference between the rates of caesarian section and vaginal delivery in patients with respect to lipid profile levels (p<0.05). In Table 4 we presented the relationship between lipid profile and NICU need. The TC, triglycerides, LDL-C and VLDL-C levels were significantly higher in mothers of babies hospitalized in NICU (p=0.003, p=0.02, p=0.0025, and p=0.01 respectively). HDL-C level was similar between two groups (p=0.279).

We performed correlation analysis to show if there was a relationship between lipid profile and pregnancy results. There was a positive correlation between total cholesterol levels and age (p=0.006 r=0.113), gravidity (p<0.001 r=0.216) and parity (p<0.001 r=0.216). On the other hand, there was a negative correlation between total cholesterol levels and apgar scores (p=0.006 r=-0.112). There was also positive correlation between triglyceride levels and gravidity (p<0.001 r=0.168) parity (p<0.001 r=0.168). LDL-C levels also positively correlated with gravidity (p=0.002 r=0.130) and parity (p=0.002 r=0.129) LDL-C levels negatively correlated with apgar scores (p=0.023 r=-0.094). VLDL-C

levels also positively correlated with gravidity (p=0.002 r=0.126) and parity (p=0.002 r=0.126). VLDL-C levels also negatively correlated with apgar scores (p=0.01 r=0.107). There was no correlation between HDL-C and other parameters.

Table 1.	Demogr	aphic char	acteristics	of patients
----------	--------	------------	-------------	-------------

	Patient (n=587)
Age(y)	27 (18-46) ^a
Gravida(n)	2 (1-7) ^a
Parity(n)	1 (0-6) ^a
Birth weight(g)	3280 (1000-5200) a
Apgar score	9 (7-9) ^a
Delivery	186 (31.7%) ^b
Caeserian Section(n)	
Vaginal(n)	401 (68.3%) ^b
Neonatal Intensive Care Unit Need	
No	584 (99.5%) ^b
Yes	3 (0.5%) ^b

a: median (min-max), b: n (%)

Data analysis was performed in the SPSS 25 (Statistical Package for Social Sciences) package program. Results for P <0.05 were considered statistically significant. Descriptive statistics were shown as median (minimum-maximum) for numerical variables and as number of observations and (%) for nominal variables. The normality of the distribution of numerical variables was investigated by Kolmogorov Smirnov test. Whether there was a statistically significant difference between the two groups in terms of numerical variables was evaluated using the Mann-Whitney U test. The correlation between vitamin levels and variables was evaluated by determining Spearman's "rho" coefficient and significance level (p).

Table 2. The lipid profile of the patients

	Patient (n:587)
Total cholesterol (mg/dl)	178 (55-389)
Triglicerides (mg/dl)	134 (33-577)
HDL-C (mg/dl)	60 (33.7-119)
LDL-C (mg/dl)	106.7 (30-400)
VLDL-C (mg/dl)	70 (16-244)

Table 3. Comparis	son of delivery w	vay with respec	t to lipid	profile
1	2	- 1		

*			
	C/S (n=186)	Vaginal (n=401)	р
Total cholesterol	177.15 (67-	178 (55-389)	0.438
(mg/dl)	331.2)		
Triglicerides	127 (34-439)	136 (33-577)	0.230
(mg/dl)			
HDL-C (mg/dl)	60 (34-96.1)	60 (33.7-119)	0.417
LDL-C (mg/dl)	103.65 (34-400)	110 (30-400)	0.113
VLDL-C (mg/dl)	70 (20-145.77)	70 (16-244)	0.257
C/Sussanian deliver			

C/S:caeserian delivery

Table 4. The relationship between lipid profile and NICU need

	NICU (+)	NICU (-)	р
	(n=3)	(n=584)	
Total cholesterol	345 (344-348)	178 (55-389)	0.003
(mg/dl)			
Triglicerides	248 (218-378)	134 (33-577)	0.02
(mg/dl)			
HDL-C(mg/dl)	69 (55-88.9)	60 (33.7-119)	0.279
LDL-C (mg/dl)	144 (138-145)	106 (30-400)	0.025
VLDL-C	118 (117-125)	69.95 (16-244)	0.01
(mg/dl)			

4. Discussion

During pregnancy, intestinal absorption capability of fat increased and is controlled by hormonal changes. As the pregnancy progresses, serum levels of triglycerides, TC, LDL-C were increased to store more fat required for maintaining pregnancy, fetal growth, and lactation. Placental trophoblast and endothelial cells can effectively transfer maternal cholesterol to the fetus throughout pregnancy, thus helping fetal growth and birth weight of infant. Chen et al. shown that elevated maternal HDL-C and LDL-C levels measured during third trimester are risk factor for small for gestational age (SGA), and high TC level during third trimester is inversely associated with SGA (5). In our study the mean birth weight of babies was in normal limits in contrast to Chen et al study. Like our study, many studies in the literature regarding lipid metabolism also are in accordance with the finding that lipid levels increase significantly during pregnancy (6-10). In contrast to Emet et al study the caeserian rate was higher in our study group. It may be due to increased request of patients (11). The mean birth weight of newborn in our study was like Zheng et al study results which was performed in 5089 pregnant women (12). As in our study, triglyceride levels did not predict fetal size in early pregnancy in Mossayebi et al study (13). Compared to the previous studies, we have a homogenous sample without diabetes mellitus, hypertension, and preterm labor. This homogenous population in our study excludes discrepancies due to different diseases such as diabetes and hypertension, and different strategies for treatment of such diseases and makes our sample as homogenous as possible. Retrospective nature of the study and possible selection bias could be accepted as limitations of the study.

Adequate lipid levels in the first trimester of pregnancy are crucial for the health of pregnant women and newborn. High levels of lipids can increase NICU need but not effect way of delivery. A healthy balanced diet is the best source of adequate supply for pregnant women.

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

References

- Bartels Ä, Egan N, DI, AS, Joyce C, Stapleton M et al. Maternal serum cholesterol levels are elevated from the 1st trimester of pregnancy: A cross-sectional study. J. Obstet. Gynaecol. 2012;32(8):747–52.
- Ghio A, Bertolotto A, Resi V, Volpe L, Di Cianni G. Triglyceride metabolism in pregnancy. Adv. Clin. Chem. 2012; 55: 133–153.
- **3.** Herrera E, Ortega-Senovilla H. Lipid metabolism during pregnancy and its implications for fetal growth. Curr. Pharm. Biotechnol. 2014: 15(1), 24–31.
- 4. Vrijkotte TGM, Krukziener N, Hutten BA, Vollebregt KC, Eijsden M, Twickler MB, Maternal lipid profile during early pregnancy and pregnancy complications and outcomes: The ABCD study. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.2012: 97(11), 3917-25.
- Chen Q, Chen H, Xi F, Sagnelli M, Zhao B, Chen Y, et al. Association between maternal blood lipids levels during pregnancy and risk of small-for-gestational-age infants. Sci Rep. 2020 Nov 16;10(1):19865.
- 6. Salameh WA, Mastrogiannis DS.Maternal hyperlipidemia in pregnancy. Clin Obstet Gynecol 1994;37(1):66–77.
- Desoye G, Schweditsch MO, Pfeiffer KP, Zechner R, Kostner GM. Correlation of hormones with lipid and lipoprotein levels during normal pregnancy and postpartum. J Clin Endocrinol Metab.1987; 64:704–12.
- **8.** Franz H, Wendler D. A controlled study of maternal serum concentrations of lipoproteins in pregnancy-induced hypertension. Arch Gynecol Obstet 1992; 252(2): 81-86.
- **9.** Montelongo A, Lasuncion MA, Pallardo LF, Herrera E. Longitudinal study of plasma lipoproteins and hormones during pregnancy in normal and diabetic women. Diabetes 1992; 41(12): 1651-59.
- **10.** Zheng W, Huang W, Zhang L, Tian Z, Wang T, Zhang T, et al. Changes in serum lipid levels during pregnancy and association with neonatal outcomes: a large cohort study. Reprod Sci. 2018;25(9):1406-12.
- **11.** Emet T, Ustüner I, Güven SG, Balık G, Ural UM, Tekin YB, et al. Plasma lipids and lipoproteins during pregnancy and related pregnancy outcomes. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2013 Jul;288(1):49-55.
- **12.** Zheng W, Zhang L, Tian Z, Zhang L, Liang X, Li G. Establishing reference ranges of serum lipid level during pregnancy and evaluating its association with perinatal outcomes: A cohort study. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2021 Feb 5.
- **13.** Mossayebi E, Arab Z, Rahmaniyan M, Almassinokiani F, Kabir A. Prediction of neonates' macrosomia with maternal lipid profile of healthy mothers. Pediatr Neonatol. 2014 Feb;55(1):28-34.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm

Research Article

J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 128-133 doi: 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.26

Consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic on fracture distribution: Epidemiological data from a tertiary trauma center in Turkey

Batuhan GENCER*[®], Özgür DOĞAN[®]

Orthopaedics and Traumatology Department, Ankara City Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

Received: 22.06.2021	•	Accepted/Published Online: 31.08.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022

Abstract

Redefinition of our social life for COVID-19, with social distance, prohibition of entering and exiting cities, closure of social areas and curfews effects every aspect of our lives, from psychological to physical. The aim of this study was to evaluate the injury mechanisms, fracture frequencies and priority treatment preferences in a tertiary trauma center from Turkey during the COVID-19 pandemic, both in adult and pediatric populations, and to compare them with pre-COVID-19 period. In this single-centered study, 960 patients (with 1039 fractures) who were admitted to a tertiary trauma center in Turkey, between April 2020 and December 2020 were examined. A control group of 964 patients (with 1070 fractures) who were admitted in the same date range of 2019 was formed. Patient demographics, injury mechanisms, fracture type and preferred treatment methods were recorded. There was a significant difference regarding injury mechanism between groups in both adult and pediatric populations (p=0.002 and p<0.001, respectively). In adults, according to the residual values, there was significant difference between groups in terms of proximal humerus, elbow, forearm, hand, femoral shaft and knee fractures (p<0.001). Among pediatric population, there has been a significant increase in the preference of conservative treatment in the pandemic group (p=0.002). With increased indoors time, restriction of outdoors physical activities and lesser time in traffic, fracture distribution and priority treatment preferences have increased significantly in the adult population, while the frequency of lower extremity fractures associated with high-energy injuries have decreased. In the pediatric population, treatment preferences are shifting towards conservative methods rather than surgery during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Keywords: pandemics, vehicle accidents, fracture epidemiology, trauma

1. Introduction

Although new vaccines developed nowadays are a ray of hope, the threat of COVID-19 is still as valid as on the first day, given the new mutations seen, lack of therapeutic drugs and doubts about the long-term efficacy of vaccines. As a result, public health measures are seen as the only way to prevent the progress of the pandemic since the early days (1, 2). A new concept of normal has been formed that redefines our social life with many features such as compulsory social distance, prohibition of entering and exiting cities, closure of cafes, restaurants, cinemas and other social areas, and curfews.

This "New Normal" has unavoidable effects on every aspect of our lives. While anxiety, increased stress and depression constitute the psychological aspect (3, 4), the changing injury mechanisms and fracture prevalence due to the decrease in the duration of outdoors physical activity and time in traffic and the increase in the time spent indoors constitute the physical aspect (5).

The aim of this study was to evaluate the injury mechanisms, fracture frequencies and priority treatment preferences in a tertiary trauma center from Turkey during the COVID-19 pandemic, both in adult and pediatric populations, and to compare them with pre-COVID-19 period.

2. Materials and Methods

This study was approved by the Ministry of Health and the local ethics committee. After ethical board approval, between April 2020 and December 2020, patients who were admitted to the emergency department of our hospital, which is one of the biggest tertiary trauma centers in Turkey, and consulted to the department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, were examined retrospectively. Inclusion criteria were determined as patients who admitted to the emergency department due to isolated orthopedic trauma, regardless of the injury mechanism and age, between the specified dates. In this context, patients with any internal organ injuries were not included in the study and a total of 1408 patients were examined. The exclusion criteria were determined as isolated soft tissue injuries without any fractures, fractures of axial skeleton (vertebra, scapula/clavicle, and ribs), pathological or old fractures, isolated joint dislocations without any fractures, ischemic wounds or diabetic feet, septic arthritis, abscess formations and prosthetic infections. A total of 448 patients were excluded from the study and 960 patients (with 1039 fractures) were evaluated.

A control group was formed from the patients who were admitted to the emergency department for any reason and consulted to the department of Orthopedics and Traumatology in the same date range of the previous year (April - December 2019). Considering the same inclusion and exclusion criteria, 458 patients were excluded from the 1422 patients that were examined and a control group of 964 patients (with 1070 fractures) was formed.

To evaluate adult and pediatric patients separately, pandemic (2020 admissions) and control (2019 admissions) groups were divided into subgroups. 18 years of age was accepted as the border and patients aged 18 and over were considered adults, while patients under 18 years old were considered children. Patient demographics (age and gender), injury mechanisms, fracture type and preferred treatment methods (conservative or surgery) were recorded. Injury mechanisms were defined as low-energy falls, high-energy falls (such as falling off balcony, ladder or tree), direct blows (commonly seen as domestic injuries), high-energy direct traumas (usually associated with assaults or working place accidents such as concrete falling on workers), traffic accidents (as passengers, drivers or pedestrians), sports injuries and gunshot wounds.

Fracture types were examined under 13 main headings, consisted with anatomical locations: Proximal humerus fractures, humeral shaft fractures, fractures of the elbow area (distal humerus, proximal ulna or proximal radius), forearm fractures, wrist fractures (distal radius or ulna), hand fractures (carpal, metacarpal or phalangeal), pelvis/acetabulum fractures, hip fractures (femoral neck, pertrochanteric or subtrochanteric), femoral shaft fractures, fractures of the knee area (distal femur or proximal tibia), tibia/fibula shaft fractures, ankle fractures (distal tibia metaphyseal or malleolar) and foot fractures (tarsal, metatarsal or phalangeal).

Statistical analyzes were performed using SPSS 18 software. The compliance of the variables to normal distribution were examined by visual (histogram and probability analytical (Kolmogorovgraphs) and Smirnov/Shapiro-Wilk tests) methods. For variables that are not normally distributed, descriptive analyzes were defined using median and interquartile range whereas frequency tables were used for nominal variables. Whether there was a difference between the groups in terms of "Age" variable was compared using the Mann Whitney U Test. Comparison of categorical data, such as "Gender", "Injury mechanism" and "Fracture frequency", has been analyzed with the Chi-Square Test, and for data that does not meet the Chi-Square conditions, Monte Carlo was applied. Detailed comments were made using residual values. The situations where the P value was below 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

3. Results

The frequency of traffic accidents in the pandemic group for adult and pediatric populations were 11.7% (79 cases) and 4.2% (12 cases) respectively, with a significant difference between control group (p=0.002 and p<0.001, respectively). Patient demographics of adult and pediatric populations can be seen in Tables 1 and 2.

Lable If Demographic data of the datat population
--

Adult Population (N= 1418)		Pandemic Group (N= 674)	Control Group (N= 744)	Р
Age		46.9 (Range: 18-99)	49 (Range: 18-95)	0.139
Condor	Male	348 (51.6%)	394 (53%)	0.221
Gender	Female	326 (48.4%)	350 (47%)	0.521
	Low-Energy Fall	355 (52.7%)	380 (51.1%)	
Injury Mechanism	High-Energy Fall	61 (9.1%)	52 (7%)	
	Direct Blow	111 (16.5%)	107 (14.4%)	
	High-Energy Direct Trauma	55 (8.2%)	41 (5.5%)	0.002
	Traffic Accident	79 (11.7%)	143 (19.2%)	
	Sports Injury	4 (0.6%)	8 (1.1%)	
	Gunshot Wound	9 (1.3%)	13 (1.7%)	

N: number of patients. P: statistical significance value. P< 0.05 was accepted as statistically significant

Table 2. Demographic data of the pediatric population

Pediatric Population (N= 506)		Pandemic Group	Control Group	Р
		(N=286)	(N=220)	
Age		(Range: 0-17)	(Range: 0-17)	0.001
Condon	Male	200 (69.9%)	156 (70.9%)	0.911
Gender	Female	86 (30.1%)	64 (29.1%)	0.811
	Low-Energy Fall	220 (76.9%)	167 (75.9%)	
	High-Energy Fall	8 (2.8%)	13 (5.9%)	
	Direct Blow	40 (14%)	10 (4.6%)	
Injury Mechanism	High-Energy Direct Trauma	0	8 (3.6%)	<0.001
	Traffic Accident	12 (4.2%)	22 (10%)	
	Sports Injury	6 (2.1%)	0	

N: number of patients. P: statistical significance value. P< 0.05 was accepted as statistically significant

In adults, most common fractures seen in the pandemic group were hand (17.8%) and foot (15.8%) fractures. According to the residual values, there was significant difference between pandemic and control groups in terms of proximal humerus, elbow, forearm, hand, femoral shaft and knee fractures (p < 0.001) (Table 3).

Most common fractures seen in the pandemic group in pediatric population were elbow (25.1%) and wrist (19.1%) fractures. According to the residual values, there was significant difference between pandemic and control groups in terms of proximal humerus, hand and knee fractures (p< 0.001) (Table 4).

Table 3.	Fracture	frequency	of adult	fractures	in p	pandemic	and
control g	roups						

Fracture (N= 1571)	Pandemic Group (N= 736)	Control Group (N= 835)	Р
Proximal Humerus	34 (4.6%)	66 (7.9%)	
Humerus Shaft	13 (1.8%)	22 (2.6%)	
Elbow	43 (5.8%)	20 (2.4%)	
Forearm	26 (3.5%)	8 (1%)	
Wrist	94 (12.8%)	90 (10.8%)	
Hand	131 (17.8%)	114 (13.7%)	< 0.001*
Pelvis/ Acetabulum	71 (9.6%)	82 (9.8%)	< 0.001"
Hip	93 (12.6%)	99 (11.9%)	
Femur Shaft	13 (1.8%)	34 (4.1%)	
Knee	32 (4.3%)	70 (8.4%)	
Tibia/Fibula	16 (2.1%)	15 (1.8%)	
Ankle	54 (7.3%)	73 (8.7%)	
Foot	116 (15.8%)	142 (17%)	

N: number of fractures.

In adults, surgical treatment was preferred in 316 fractures (42.9%) in the pandemic group and 325 fractures (38.9%) in the control group, with no significant difference between groups (p= 0.186). On the other hand, in pediatric population, there was a significant difference between groups regarding preferred treatment methods (p= 0.002) (Table 5).

Table 4. Fracture frequency of pediatric fractures in pandemic and control groups

Fracture (N= 538)	Pandemic Group (N= 303)	Control Group (N= 235)	Р
Proximal Humerus	2 (0.7%)	8 (3.4%)	
Humerus Shaft	7 (2.3%)	4 (1.7%)	
Elbow	76 (25.1%)	62 (26.4%)	
Forearm	31 (10.2%)	18 (7.7%)	
Wrist	58 (19.1%)	33 (14%)	
Hand	44 (14.5%)	13 (5.5%)	
Pelvis/ Acetabulum	12 (4%)	10 (4.3%)	< 0.001*
Hip	0	1 (0.4%)	
Femur Shaft	11 (3.6%)	17 (7.2%)	
Knee	5 (1.7%)	18 (7.7%)	
Tibia/Fibula	16 (5.3%)	10 (4.3%)	
Ankle	11 (3.6%)	12 (5.1%)	
Foot	30 (9.9%)	29 (12.3%)	

 Table 5. Preferred treatment methods of adult and pediatric populations

	Adult Fractures		Pediatric Fractures		
	(N=1571	.)	(N= 538)		
Preferred	Pandemic	Control	Pandemic	Control	
Treatment	Group	Group	Group	Group	
Method	(N=736)	N= 835)	(N=303)	N= 235)	
Conservative	420	510	234	153	
Treatment	(57.1%)	(61.1%)	(77.2%)	(65.1%)	
Surgical	316	325	69	82	
Treatment	(42.9%)	(38.9%)	(22.8%)	(34.9%)	
Р		0.186		0.002	

4. Discussion

Although there are many studies in the literature analyzing the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on social life, studies focusing the effect of changes in our social habits on fracture frequency and priority treatment preferences are usually limited to the countries in which they have been conducted (5-11). To our knowledge, this is the first study in the literature that examines this subject to such a wide extent in Turkey. This is the main strength of our study. One of the most important findings in our study was that there was a significant difference between pandemic and control groups in terms of proximal humerus, elbow, forearm, hand, femoral shaft and knee fracture frequencies in adult population. Additionally, in the pediatric population, there was significant difference between pandemic and control groups in terms of proximal humerus, hand and knee fracture frequencies. Furthermore, there was a significant difference between groups regarding treatment methods in the pediatric population.

The "pandemic of our age", which deeply affects the whole world, changes, and shapes everything from our work patterns to our kinship relationships, from our social habits to our health routines. For this reason, it is inevitable that the injury mechanisms will change during this period. It is essential to master this change and to be shaped accordingly, in order to provide maximum benefit to our patients. One of the most important lifestyle-changes we encountered in this period was the increased indoors time. It is a logical assumption that, with increased indoors time, common reasons for fractures such as traffic accidents will decline while minor fractures due to domestic accidents will increase. Our study supports this hypothesis. Even though the frequency of low-energy falls is similar in both groups, the frequency of traffic accidents declined while the frequency of direct blows has increased in the pandemic group, both in adult and pediatric populations (p=0.002 and p < 0.001, respectively). Another notable increase was observed in the frequencies of high-energy direct trauma and high-energy falls in adult population. Curfews, prohibitions on city entrance and exits, flexible working patterns, increased indoors time and increased stress are the main reasons for the change in injury mechanisms. In particular, with the curfews and the prohibitions of city entrance and exits, traffic rates decrease significantly, which reduces the frequency of traffic accidents. With flexible working patterns and lesser workforce engaging in manual labor, it is inevitable to have an increase in occupational accidents, despite all workplace safety measures taken. The decrease in children's playing time in parks and playgrounds and a considerable increase in indoors activity time results in a decrease in high-energy injury mechanisms seen in the pediatric population and an increase in household accidents (12). Finally, increased stress and anxiety during the COVID-19 pandemic, with combination of fear of infection, can damage the mechanisms of people to cope with stress, resulting in an increase in boxer's fracture cases, especially in adolescents (13).

In the pandemic group, average age of patients in pediatric population was 8 years (Range: 0-17 years) whereas in the control group average age was 9.4 years (Range: 0-17 years) (p= 0.001). Our findings are consistent with the literature. Turgut et al., in their study of 670 fractures, has stated that pediatric patients with a fracture was younger, compared to pre-pandemic period (5). The reason for this may be the restriction of the time spent outside and the decrease in sports activities, which are one of the main causes of adolescent fractures (5, 12).

Considering that phalanx fractures of hand and foot are among the most common fractures (14, 15), it was an expected result that the most common fractures of adults in our study were hand (17.8% vs. 13.7%) and foot (15.8% vs. 17%) fractures both in pandemic and control groups. According to the residual values, there was a significant increase in the frequency of hand fractures (carpal, metacarpal and phalangeal fractures) in both adult and pediatric patients (p < 0.001 and p < 0.001, respectively). Furthermore, a significant increase in elbow and forearm fractures were observed in adults during the COVID-19 pandemic. However, proximal humerus fracture frequency was decreased significantly, both in adult and pediatric populations. There are reports with similar results in the literature (5,9,16,17). As mentioned before, with increased stress during the COVID-19 pandemic, an increase of boxer's fracture cases, especially in adolescents, is expected (13). In addition, the increased indoors time leads to an increase in domestic accidents, which explains the increased frequency of phalanx fractures. The increase of elbow and forearm fractures of adults can be explained with the increase of occupational accidents, especially in heavy-duty workers and manual laborers, which is an inevitable result of flexible work-pattern. Absence of sports and school injuries of pediatric population may explain the decrease of proximal humerus fracture frequency (16). On the other hand, it is an unexpected result that proximal humerus fractures in adult population decreases, considering the increase in other upper extremity fractures and the fact that proximal humerus fractures of elderly usually occurs with domestic injuries, independently from the pandemic (17).

According to the residual values, knee fractures (distal femur and tibial plateau fractures) were significantly lower in both adult and pediatric populations in the pandemic group (p<0.001 and p<0.001, respectively). Additionally, a significant decrease was found in femoral shaft fractures in the adult population. Femoral shaft, distal femur and tibial plateau fractures are often associated with high-energy injuries in younger adults, such as traffic accidents. The reduced time spent in traffic during the COVID-19

pandemic may be the main reason for the decrease in the frequency of these fractures. On the other hand, in the pediatric population, femoral shaft fractures can be seen with domestic injuries, like falling from bunk beds. Therefore, it was not surprising that although femoral shaft fracture frequency was decreased in pediatric population, there was no significant difference, according to the residual values.

In adults, 316 fractures (42.9%) in the pandemic group and 325 fractures (38.9%) in the control group were treated surgically (p= 0.186). Most operated fractures were hip fractures in both groups (88 fractures, 12% and 76 fractures, 9.1% respectively), similarly with the literature (6,7), followed by ankle fractures (41 fractures, 5.6% and 66 fractures, 7.9%, respectively). Because hip fractures usually occur in the elderly population with osteoporotic background and with low-energy injuries such as domestic accidents, it was an inevitable fact that the frequency of hip fractures remained stable during the COVID-19 pandemic, as stated in the literature (5, 8, 18). Ankle fractures usually occur because of low-energy injuries such as basic falls or ankle sprains, and surgery is necessary if the fracture is instable (19). Therefore, it was an expected result that the frequency and necessity of surgery of ankle fractures did not change during the COVID-19 pandemic, just like hip fractures. Among pediatric patients, while 234 patients (77.2%) were treated conservatively and 69 patients (22.8%) surgically in the pandemic group, 153 patients (65.1%) were treated conservatively, and 82 patients (34.9%) were treated surgically in the control group (p= 0.002). Most operated fractures were elbow fractures in both groups (41 fractures, 13.5% and 31 fractures, 13.2%, respectively), with majority of cases being supracondylar fractures of humerus. Turgut et al. has stated that the rate of surgically treated fractures has increased during the early times of the COVID-19 pandemic (5). On the other hand, Ivengar et al. has suggested that conservative methods provide an alternative in non-obligatory fractures during the pandemic (20). Our study has shown that, while no significant difference was found among adults, treatment priority has shifted to conservative methods in children. Bram et al. have found a similar adaptation in their study of 1745 pediatric fractures (12). Parents' fear of increased virus exposure with hospitalization may be the main reason for this adaptation. Furthermore, the assignment of all available medical personnel to COVID-19-related wards and intensive care units, the conversion of most operating rooms into intensive care units, the provision of all available patient beds to COVID-19 patients and the reluctance of the surgeon to operate in an atmosphere of increased risk of viral exposure, in order to protect himself and his surgical team, also play an important role in this adaptation. Although all these factors are valid for adult fractures, the conservative treatment indications for adult fractures are

much more limited and the pediatric population responds much better to conservative treatment, which explains the limitation of this adaptation only to the pediatric population. Therefore, conservative methods have been the primary choice for all possible fractures in pediatric population during the COVID-19 pandemic.

There are some limitations in our study. First of all, there are many probable confound factors associated with fracture frequencies and injury mechanisms, such as weather conditions, which we were not able to take into account. Secondly, open phalanx fractures such as subtotal amputations were not included in the study. The reason for this is, in accordance with the internal regulations of our hospital, such fractures are consulted to the plastic surgery department and the treatment is planned by them. Thirdly, our fracture frequency analyses are based on anatomical classifications. However, more accurate results can be obtained with advanced statistics that evaluate specialized or common fractures such as pediatric supracondylar humerus fractures or physeal fractures as separate groups. Finally, although our findings as a single-centered study suggest a country-wide fracture epidemiology, the fact that our study was based on a single hospital is an important limitation.

The distribution and frequencies of fractures have inevitably changed during the COVID-19 pandemic, with increased indoors time, restriction of outdoors physical activities such as contact sports, lesser time in traffic and increased stress. In Turkey, the frequency of almost all upper extremity fractures except proximal humerus and humerus shaft fractures have increased significantly in the adult population, while the frequency of lower extremity fractures associated with high-energy injuries have decreased. In the pediatric population, treatment preferences are shifting towards conservative methods rather than surgery during the pandemic of our age.

Conflict of interest

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare that are relevant to the content of this article

Acknowledgments

The authors declare no acknowledgements.

References

- 1. Silva DS, Smith MJ. Social distancing, social justice, and risk during the COVID-19 pandemic. Can J Public Health 2020;111(4): 459-61.
- 2. Courtemanche C, Garuccio J, Le A, Pinkston J, Yelowitz A. Strong Social Distancing Measures In The United States Reduced The COVID-19 Growth Rate. Health Aff (Millwood) 2020;39(7): 1237-46.
- Marroquín B, Vine V, Morgan R. Mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic: Effects of stay-at-home policies, social distancing behavior, and social resources. Psychiatry Res 2020;293: 113419.
- 4. Orgilés M, Morales A, Delvecchio E, Mazzeschi C, Espada JP.

Immediate Psychological Effects of the COVID-19 Quarantine in Youth From Italy and Spain. Front Psychol 2020;11:579038.

- Turgut A, Arlı H, Altundağ Ü, Hancıoğlu S, Egeli E, Kalenderer Ö. Effect of COVID-19 pandemic on the fracture demographics: Data from a tertiary care hospital in Turkey. Acta Orthop Traumatol Turc 2020;54(4):355-63.
- Zhu Y, Chen W, Xin X, Yin Y, Hu J, Lv H, et al. Epidemiologic characteristics of traumatic fractures in elderly patients during the outbreak of coronavirus disease 2019 in China. Int Orthop 2020;44(8):1565-70.
- Hernigou J, Morel X, Callewier A, Bath O, Hernigou P. Staying home during "COVID-19" decreased fractures, but trauma did not quarantine in one hundred and twelve adults and twenty-eight children and the "tsunami of recommendations" could not lockdown twelve elective operations. Int Orthop 2020;44(8):1473-80.
- Nuñez JH, Sallent A, Lakhani K, Guerra-Farfan E, Vidal N, Ekhtiari S, et al. Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on an Emergency Traumatology Service: Experience at a Tertiary Trauma Centre in Spain. Injury 2020;51(7):1414-18.
- Nabian MH, Vosoughi F, Najafi F, Khabiri SS, Nafisi M, Veisi J, et al. Epidemiological pattern of pediatric trauma in COVID-19 outbreak: Data from a tertiary trauma center in Iran. Injury 2020;51(12):2811-5.
- Lv H, Zhang Q, Yin Y, Zhu Y, Wang J, Hou Z, et al. Epidemiologic characteristics of traumatic fractures during the outbreak of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) in China: A retrospective & comparative multi-center study. Injury 2020;51(8):1698-704.
- Park C, Sugand K, Nathwani D, Bhattacharya R, Sarraf KM. Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on orthopedic trauma workload in a London level 1 trauma center: the "golden month". Acta Orthop 2020;91(5):556-61.
- Bram JT, Johnson MA, Magee LC, Mehta NN, Fazal FZ, Baldwin KD, et al. Where Have All the Fractures Gone? The Epidemiology of Pediatric Fractures During the COVID-19 Pandemic. J Pediatr Orthop 2020;40(8):373-9.
- Mercan S, Uzun M, Ertugrul A, Ozturk I, Demir B, Sulun T. Psychopathology and personality features in orthopedic patients with boxer's fractures. Gen Hosp Psychiatry 2005;27(1):13-7.
- Gottschalk MB, Kakar S. Hand and Wrist Fractures and Nonunions. In: Grauer JN, editor. Orthopaedics Knowledge Update. 12th ed. Rosemont, Illinois, USA: American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons; 2017: 375-88.
- 15. York PJ, Wydra FB, Hunt KJ. Injuries to the great toe. Curr Rev Musculoskelet Med 2017;10(1):104-12.
- Gumina S, Proietti R, Villani C, Carbone S, Candela V. The impact of COVID-19 on shoulder and elbow trauma in a skeletally immature population: an Italian survey. JSES Int 2021;5(1):3-8.
- 17. Gumina S, Proietti R, Polizzotti G, Carbone S, Candela V. The impact of COVID-19 on shoulder and elbow trauma: an Italian survey. J Shoulder Elbow Surg 2020;29(9):1737-42.
- Çalışkan E, Doğan Ö. Synergistic Effect of Frailty and Malnutrition on Postoperative First-Month Mortality and Delirium Status among Geriatric Age Group Patients with Hip Fractures. Turkish Journal of Geriatrics 2019;22(2):140-9.
- 19. Black DA, Spitler CA, Graves ML. Ankle and Hindfoot Fractures. In: Grauer JN, editor. Orthopaedics Knowledge

Update. 12th ed. Rosemont, Illinois, USA: American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons; 2017: 539-52.

20. Iyengar K, Vaish A, Vaishya R. Revisiting conservative orthopaedic management of fractures during COVID-19 pandemic. J Clin Orthop Trauma 2020;11(4):718-20.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm



Research Article

J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 134-138 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.27

Depth-labeled lumbar disc forceps for safe lumbar disc surgery: Our experience with 405 patients

Faruk TONGA®

Department of Neurosurgery, Faculty of Medicine, Amasya University, Amasya, Turkey

Received: 26.06.2021 •	•	Accepted/Published Online: 10.07.2021	٠	Final Version: 01.01.2022

Abstract

Injury of intraabdominal structures by rupturing the anterior longitudinal ligament is a known complication of discectomy. Despite its very low incidence, it has a high mortality. Although various minimally invasive methods are defined for discectomy, no significant reduction in this complication has been achieved. Positioning of the patient, aggressive discectomy, and deep-seated use of disc forceps are important risk factors. The aim of this study is to share our experience with modified instruments to minimize the risk of vascular and visceral injury during discectomy in surgically treated 405 patients with lumbar disc herniation. We routinely perform preoperative depth measurements at the level of lumbar disc herniations for the patients undergoing lumbar disc surgery and check the neighborhood with the prevertebral structures. During the operation, we perform discectomy on 405 patients using these forceps between January 2015 and May 2021. In this retrospective study, disc depth measurements differed according to disc levels and gender. Disc depth was longer in males at all lumbar disc levels. It is very important to avoid vascular and visceral injuries for spinal surgeons. For this reason, we believe that knowing the safe preoperative discectomy depth and area and using centimeter-labeled disc forceps is the best method to prevent such complications.

Keywords: vascular injury, bowel injury, ureter injury, safe discectomy, depth labeled disk forceps

1. Introduction

Posterior lumbar discectomy is the most common, best described and most experienced operation in spinal surgery (1, 2). Mortality and morbidity are low in lumbar discectomy, in which the most common complications are wound infection and CSF fistula (3). Although it is such a wellknown surgical procedure, in the absence of intraoperative attention and care, retroperitoneal and intraabdominal organ injuries may occur, and it may become a nightmare for the surgeon. These are vascular injuries and hollow organ perforations such as bowel and ureter (4). Vascular complication rate during lumbar discectomy is 0.01% -0.06%. However, its mortality ranges between 40% -100% (5-9). The clinical presentation of vascular injuries may vary. For example, symptoms related to large artery injuries develop acutely due to excessive intraoperative blood loss, whereas arteriovenous fistulas and pseudoaneurysms may manifest themselves months and years later (10-13). Ureter and bowel injuries are less common and usually are not noticed intraoperatively. Postoperative abdomen and flank pain, hematuria and fever are observed in ureter injuries. Fever, abdominal pain, sepsis signs, air-fluid levels in the abdomen x-ray, wound infections, discitis and peritonitis symptoms suggest intestinal perforation (1, 2, 4, 14-17).

Defects in the anterior longitudinal ligament, adherence of

organs to the anterior longitudinal ligament, surgery for recurrences, aggressive and deep discectomy, obesity, previous intraabdominal surgery, and prone surgical position which causes an increase in intraabdominal pressure are the factors that are blamed for these complications with high mortality during lumbar discectomy (4, 18, 19). Anterior longitudinal ligament defect may have occurred preoperatively or by instruments used during discectomy. To prevent intraoperative visceral organ injury from this defect and to perform a safer discectomy, the disc forceps were marked with centimeter measurements by the author. The aim of this retrospective study is to present the labeled disc forceps and to share our experience with the patients we operated with these forceps.

2. Materials and Methods

405 patients who underwent lumbar discectomy with depthlabeled disc forceps in our clinic between January 2015 and May 2021 were included in the study. The patients' gender, age, discectomy levels, posterior-anterior (1st length) and posterior-oblique (2nd length) disc depths were evaluated retrospectively from digital patient files and PACS system. (Fig. 1, Fig. 2). This study was approved by Amasya University Non-Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee (date/decision no: 03.06.2021/81).


Fig. 1. Depth measurements on the left at L4-5 disc level



Fig. 2. Depth measurements on the right at L5-S1 disc level

2.1. Our preoperative evaluations

MRI examination was performed on all patients with lumbar disc herniation for which we decided to operate. T2 axial sections passing through the level with disc herniation were examined. Depth from the posterior longitudinal ligament where it will be opened for discectomy to anterior disc margins were measured vertically and obliquely. The relationships between anterior disc boundaries and visceral structures were evaluated (Fig. 1, Fig. 2).

2.2. How we do discectomy

When the patient is placed in the prone position on the operating table, silicone pads are placed slightly laterally to avoid an increase in intra-abdominal pressure. The lumbar disc forceps are marked with numbers and lines up to 5cm with laser engraving. Each line on the instruments corresponds to a centimeter, and the numbers correspond to half centimeters. In other words, the place where we see the number 4 points to 3.5 cm, and the line above the number 4 points to 4 cm. (Fig. 3). In addition, this marking encircles the instrument in 360 degrees; It can be easily seen from the right, left, bottom and top. In our operations, we used these disc forceps. We performed discectomy in accordance with

the measurements we made in preopoperative axial MRI sections. (Fig. 4). We usually used disc forceps in 3-4mm less depth than these measurements. (Fig. 5). We did not expand our discectomy window in the posterior longutinal ligament towards the midline as much as possible. In this way, we created a safe discectomy area in the depth of the disc level and in the oblique direction towards the contralateral side.



Fig. 3. Depth-labeled disc forceps (measurements in centimeter)



Fig. 4. Discectomy at 3.5 cm depth



Fig. 5. Discectomy at 2.5 cm depth

3. Results

215 (53%) of the patients were female and 190 (47%) were male. The mean age was 50.6 (23-82) years, 49.67 years for women and 51.7 years for men. 4 patients were operated at

L2-3, 68 patients at L3-4, 163 patients at L4-5 and 170 patients at L5-S1 level. The patients were followed up for an average of 33.3 (65-0.3) months postoperatively. (Table 1). The detailed results of the 1st and 2nd lengths of the disc levels in male and female patients who underwent discectomy, are presented in Table 2. Disc depths were longer in males at all levels. Although the average lengths of each disc level were measured, there were significant differences between the longest and shortest measurements. For example, the 1st and 2nd longest measurements for women were 46.75 mm and 52.48 mm at L5-S1 level, respectively, and 51.37 mm and 56.51 mm at L4-5 level for men. The shortest measurements were 23.91 mm and 30.13 mm at the L5-S1 level for women, and 28.95 mm and 33.45 mm at the L5-S1 level for men. In the postoperative follow-up of the patients, no clinical complaints of vascular, ureter and intestinal injuries were detected.

Table 1. General characteristics of the patient
--

Discectomy level	Female (215/ 53%)	Male (190/47%)	Total (405)
L2-3	3	1	4
L3-4	38	30	68
L4-5	84	79	163
L5-S1	90	80	170
	215	190	405
	Average age (years)		Postoperative follow-up (month)
Female	Male	Overall	
49.6 (23-82)	51.7 (25-76)	50.6 (23-82)	33.3 (65-0.3)

Table 2. Measurements at herniated disc levels by gender

	Female		Male	
Herniated	Length	Length	Length 1	Length 2
disc level	1 (mm)	2 (mm)	(mm)	(mm)
L2-3	31.73 (36.85- 27.13)	39.52 (45.02- 36.1)	36.04	40.19
L3-4	33.93	39.34	38.33	42.88
	(42.70-	(49.88-	(45.96-	(49.32-
	26.50	32.39)	33.71)	37.23)
L4-5	34.23	39.46	37.80	43.59
	(43.13-	(49.1-	(51.37-	(56.51-
	26.86)	30.15)	31.11)	33.48)
L5-S1	34.10	39.96	35.60	41.65
	(46.75-	(52.48-	(44.47-	(55.11-
	23.91)	30.13)	28.95)	33.45)

4. Discussion

Regardless of the technique performed, posterior lumbar discectomy is generally considered a reliable surgical procedure. Although prevertebral injuries during discectomy are very rare, they are well-defined complications (11). Suspicion, early diagnosis and timely interventions for these intraoperative and/or postoperative complications are lifesaving. Otherwise, mortality is high (18, 20, 21).

Prevertebral vascular injury as a complication of posterior lumbar discectomy was first reported in 1954 by Linton and White (22). Later, bowel and ureter injuries were presented in the literature, but they were less common (1, 2, 4, 17, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28). It is interesting that although microscopic discectomy techniques are widely used today, there is no evidence that such complications have been reduced (29). Visceral organ and vascular injuries are mostly available as case reports in the literature.

Vascular injuries are most common at L4-5 and L5-S1 levels. The most commonly injures structure is the contralateral common iliac artery. This is followed by injuries in the external iliac artery, inferior vena cava and aorta, respectively (5, 18, 30, 31). Intestinal injuries are most associated with L5-S1 discectomies (4, 15, 23). The prone knee-chest position, which increases the anatomical convergence between the intestines and the vertebral column due to increased intraabdominal pressure, and previous abdominal surgery increases the risk of complications (4, 20, 21). Ureter injuries are most common in the contralaterally located ureter at the L4-5 level (25, 32). We act in accordance with the recommendations in the literature by minimizing the increase in intra-abdominal pressure positionally in our operations.

In prevertebral injuries during discectomy, crossing the anterior longitudinal ligament at the anterior or contralateral side following deep placement of the disc forceps is the most blamed cause (21, 33). In routine practice, the depth of intraoperative disc forceps is adjusted based on the surgeon's experience. However, for a surgeon who has performed more than 15,000 discectomies, 3 cases of vascular injury complication cannot be ignored (34). Surgical microscope and magnification loops, which are widely used today, may cause overestimation of the intervertebral disc depth (35). When the desire for aggressive discectomy is added, crossing the anterior longitudinal ligament and prevertebral injuries are inevitable (36). Thus, Nilsonne and Hakelius (37) radiologically demonstrated that the disc forceps were inserted too deep during discectomy to minimize the risk of recurrent disc herniation, resulting in vascular and visceral organ injury. Anda et al. (38) found that the sagittal diameter of the L3-4, L4-5 and L5-S1 intervertebral discs was between 33mm and 56mm and suggested that advancing the disc forceps less than 30mm (3cm) would prevent vascular and visceral organ injury. Schwartz and Brodkey (39), reported that the safe discectomy depth was 2.85 cm. Antar et al. (40) found different depths at each disc level for each person and proved that the disc depth was greater in men than in women. In our study, we found that disc depths were very different both between disc levels and between genders. Therefore, we did not insist on a fixed depth. In addition, disc depths were longer in males than females, consistent with the literature.

In very few anatomical and clinical studies in the

literature, authors recommended marking the disc forceps to prevent vascular and visceral organ injuries in the prevertebral region and adjusting the depth using patientbased measurements during discectomy (24, 38, 40, 41). However, this is only a suggestion, and there is no report about the routine use of depth-labeled disc forceps. In addition, there are no length-measuring disc forceps in the catalogs of companies that produce surgical instruments in our country. In this sense, the disc forceps in the laminectomy sets in our clinic were marked with cm measurements by the author, and their routine use in discectomy operations was ensured by preoperative disc depth measurements of all patients. No evidence of vascular, ureter and intestinal injury was found in 405 patients who underwent discectomy in this way and followed up for an average of 33.3 months postoperatively.

Vascular, bowel and ureter injuries during discectomy are complications that cause nightmare for spinal surgeons. To avoid this disastrous complication, we recommend routinely measuring the intervertebral disc depth preoperatively, marking the existing disc forceps with depth measurements, having the new ones to be manufactured in the same way, thus performing discectomy within the safe area.

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

References

- Demirkesen O, Tunc B, Ozkan B. A rare complication of lumbar disk surgery: ureteral avulsion. Int Urol Nephrol, 2006; 38(3–4): 459–461.
- Turunc T, Kuzgunbay B, Gul U, Ozkardes H. Ureteral avulsion due to lumbar disc hernia repair. Can J Urol, 2010; 17(6): 5478– 5479.
- 3. Hernández-Perez PA, Prinzo-Yamurri H. Analysis of the lumbar discectomy complications. Neurocirugia. 2005; 16(5):419-26.
- **4.** Birkeland IW, Taylor TKF. Bowel injuries coincident to lumbar disk surgery: a report of four cases and review of literature. J Trauma 1970; 10:163–8.
- Papadoulas S, Konstantinou D, Kourea HP, Kritikos N, Haftouras N, Tsolakis JA. Vascular injury complicating lumbar disc surgery. A systematic review. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg. 2002; 24:189–95.
- Döşoğlu M, Iş M, Pehlivan M, Yıldız HK. Nightmare of lumbar disc surgery: iliac artery injury. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2006; 108:174–7.
- Skippage P, Raja J, McFarland R, Belli AM. Endovascular repair of iliac artery injury complicating lumbar disc surgery. Eur Spine J. 2008;17 (Suppl 2):228–31.
- Canaud L, Hireche K, Joyeux F, D'Annoville T, Berthet JP, Marty-Ané C, et al. Endovascular repair of aorto-iliac artery injuries after lumbar-spine surgery. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg. 2011;42:167–71.
- 9. Keskin M, Serin KR, Genc FA, Aksoy M, Yanar F, Kurtoğlu M. Iatrogenic major vascular injury during lumbar discectomy:

report of three cases. Turk Neurosurg. 2013;23:385-8.

- Birkeland IW, Taylor TKF. Major vascular injuries in lumbar disc surgery. J Bone Joint Surg. 1969; 51B (1):4–19.
- Brewster DC, May ARL, Darling RC, Abbott WM, Moncure AC. Variable manifestations of vascular injury during lumbar disc surgery. Arch Surg. 1979; 114:1026–1030.
- Smith DW, Lawrence BD. Vascular complications of lumbar decompression, laminectomy and foraminotomy. Spine. 1991; 16: 387–390.
- van Zitteren M, Fan B, Lohle PN, de Nie JC, Malefijt JW. A shift toward endovascular repair for vascular complications in lumbar disc surgery during the last decade. Ann Vasc Surg. 2013; 27:810–9.
- 14. Smith RA, Estridge MN. Bowel perforation following lumbardisc surgery. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1964; 46:826–32.
- **15.** Shakir AJ, Paterson HM. Small Bowel Perforation an Unusual Complication of Microdiscectomy : a Case Report. Acta Chir Belg, 2011; 111: 36-37.
- 16. María Jose Cases-Baldó, Victor Soria-Aledo, Joana Aina Miguel-Perello, Jose Luis Aguayo-Albasini, Maria Remedios Hernández. Unnoticed small bowel perforation as a complication of lumbar discectomy. The Spine Journal. 2011. doi: 10.1016/j.spinee.2010.10.018.
- 17. Kashani FO, Mousavi SM. Total ureteral avulsion leading to early nephrectomy as a rare complication of simple lumbar discectomy; a case report. SICOT J. 2015; 1: 30. doi: 10.1051/sicotj/2015031.
- Szolar DH, Preidler W, Steiner H, Riepl T, Flaschka G, Stiskal M, et al. Vascular complications in lumbar disc surgery: report of four cases. Neuroradiology. 1996; 38:521–525.
- Prabhakar H, Bithal PK, Dash M, Chaturvedi A. Rupture of aorta and inferior vena cava during lumbar disc surgery. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2005; 147: 327–329. Doi: 10.1007/s00701-004-0405-2.
- 20. Siu-Leung Yip, Siu-Bon Woo, Tik-Koon Kwok, Kan-Hing Mak. Nightmare of Lumbar Diskectomy : Aorta Laceration. Spine. 2011; 36(26)E1758–E1760. doi: 10.1097/BRS.0b013e3182194e1c.
- **21.** Sahinoglu M, Arun O, Orhan A, Nayman A, Calısır A, Böcü Y, et al. Iliac Artery Injury During Lumbar Disc Hernia Surgery. World Neurosurg. 2019; 125:347-351.
- 22. Linton RR, White PD. Arteriovenous fistula between the right common iliac artery and the inferior vena cava: report of a case of its occurrence following an operation for a ruptured intervertebral disc with cure by operation. Arch Surg. 1945;50:e13.
- **23.** Shaw ED, Scarbrough JT, Beals RK. Bowel injury as a complication of lumbar discectomy. A case report and review of the literature. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1981;63:478–80.
- 24. Goodkin R, Laska LL. Vascular and visceral injuries associated with lumbar disc surgery: medicolegal implications. Surg Neurol. 1998;49:358–72.
- 25. Trinchieri A, Montanari E, Salvini P, Berardinelli L, Pisani E. Renal autotransplantation for complete ureteral avulsion following lumbar disk surgery. J Urol. 2001; 165: 1210–1211.
- 26. Ríos González E, Ramón de Fata Chillón F, Tabernero Gómez A, Núñez Mora C, Hidalgo Togores L, de la Peña Barthel JJ. Iatrogenic injury of the lumbar ureter and iliac vessels after lumbar discectomy: urologic treatment using kidney autotransplantation. Actas Urol Esp, 2002; 26(7):504–508.

- 27. de Quintana-Schmidt C, Clavel-Laria P, Bartumeus-Jené F. Ureteral injury after posterior lumbar surgery. Case report. Neurocirugia (Astur), 2011: 22(2);162–166.
- **28.** Ioannis Siasios, Kunal Vakharia, Asham Khan, Joshua E. Meyers, Samantha Yavorek, John Pollina, et al. Bowel injury in lumbar spine surgery: a review of the literatüre J Spine Surg. 2018; 4(1):130-137.
- **29.** Inamasu J, Guiot B. H. Vascular injury and complication in neurosurgical spine surgery. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2006; 148:375–387.
- Erkut B, Unlü Y, Kaygin MA, Çolak A, Erdem AF. Iatrogenic vascular injury during to lumbar disc surgery. Acta Neurochir. 2007; 149:511–6.
- **31.** Torun F, Tuna H, Deda H. Abdominal vascular injury during lumbar disc surgery: report of three cases. Ulus Travma Acil Cerrahi Derg. 2007; 13:165–7.
- **32.** Shakir AJ, Paterson HM. Small Bowel Perforation an Unusual Complication of Microdiscectomy: a Case Report. Acta Chir Belg, 2011; 111: 36-37.
- **33.** Leavens ME, Bradford FK. Ruptured intervertebral disc. Report of a case with a defect in the anterior annulus fibrosus. J Neurosurg. 1953; 10: 544–546.

- 34. Goel A, Kumar P, Bahadur R. Abdominal Vascular Injury During Posterior Lumbar Discectomy, Experience from Three Cases and Review of Literature. Spine. 2019; 44(20);E1227– E1230. doi: 10.1097/BRS.00000000003100.
- **35.** Bolesta MJ. Vascular injury during lumbar diskectomy associated with peridiskal fibrosis: case report and literature review. J Spinal Disord. 1995; 8:224–7.
- **36.** Kramer J. Intervertebral disc disease. Causes, diagnosis, treatment and prophylaxis. New York: Thieme Medical Publishers Inc.; 1990. p. 18.
- Nilsonne U., Hakelius A. on vascular injury in lumber disc surgery. Acta Orthop Scand. 1965; 35:229-237.
- 38. Anda SA, Aakhus S, Skaanes KO, Sande E, Schrader H. Anterior perforations in lumbar discectomies. A report of four cases of vascular complications and a CT study of the prevertebral lumbar anatomy. Spine. 1991;16:54–60.
- Schwartz AM, Brodkey JS. Bowel perforation following microsurgical discectomy. A case report. Spine. 1989;14:104–6.
- 40. Antar V, Baran O, Kelten B, Atcı I.B, Yılmaz H, Katar S, et al. Morphometric Analysis of Lumbar Disc Space in the Turkish Population and Safe Discectomy Distance in Lumbar Disc Surgery. Turk Neurosurg, 2016; 27(4):603-9. doi: 10.5137/1019-5149.JTN.16871-15.0.







J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 139-143 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.28

The effect of laparoscopy in chronic pelvic pain on quality of life

Servet Şekeryapan ÇALIKOĞLU [®], Melike DOĞANAY [®], Duygu TUĞRUL*[®], Burak ERSAK[®], Mahmut Kuntay KOKANALI [®]

University of Health Sciences, Zekai Tahir Burak Women Health Care, Training and Research Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

Received: 09.07.2021 •	Accepted/Published Online: 26.07.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022
-------------------------------	---------------------------------------	---	---------------------------

Abstract

Chronic pelvic pain (CPP) is a problem facing gynecologists. Laparoscopy is a minimally invasive surgical technique used for both diagnosis and treatment of CPP. This study aimed to investigate the determination of women with pelvic pain who will benefit from diagnostic laparoscopic surgery and its effect to on quality of life. A prospective designed study conducted between October 2013 - August 2015 including 90 patients at University of Health Sciences, Zekai Tahir Burak Women Health Care, Training and Research Hospital, Turkey. While 45 patients in reproductive age with complaints of non-cyclic pelvic pain for more 6 months constituted the study group, 45 patients with no active complaints who admitted for laparoscopic tubal ligation constituted the control group. Short Form-36 (SF-36) and Visual Analog Scala (VAS) Questionnaire was applied to patients in preoperative and postoperative periods. While VAS score in study group patients before surgery was $6,91\pm0,92$, it was $4,33\pm1,64$ after surgery (p<0.001). In addition, there were statistically significant difference between SF-36 Physical Health and SF-36 Mental Health scores before and after surgery. There was a significant improvement in quality of life in the study group. Laparoscopic approach should be preferred for direct visualization and immediate treatment in patients with CPP. Laparoscopy keeps its importance for patients with CPP, improving quality of life.

Keywords: chronic pelvic pain, laparoscopy, quality of life, surgery

1. Introduction

Pain has been described as an unpleasant emotional sensation that originates from a specific part of the body, is related to tissue damage or not, and is also related to the past experiences of the person (1). New theories in the perception of pain emphasize the importance of emotional, environmental, and cognitive factors as well as physical factors. These "Biopsychosocial models" recognize that chronic pain is the result of complex relationships, each of which can affect the other, such as sensory stimulation, psychological factors, and socio-environmental factors (2). Although there is no generally accepted definition of chronic pelvic pain (CPP), it is one of the most complex problems facing gynecologists (3). It has been defined as pain felt in anatomical pelvis, anterior abdominal wall that fits under the umbilicus, lumbosacral region and hips for at least 6 months which disrupts the quality of life and is severe enough to need medical assistance (2, 4-6). On the other hand, this definition is not very useful in clinical practice and is rarely used.

There may be many different disorders of visceral or somatic origin in the etiology of CPP. The wide scope of etiology causes confusion in the diagnosis and treatment of patients who apply to gynecology clinic. Depression, anxiety, low quality of life, low productivity, decreased energy, sexual dysfunction and relationship problems were thought to be associated with CPP (7,8). Despite focused anamnesis and examinations, most of the reasons remain unclear and patients leave the polyclinics unsatisfied (5). Therefore the diagnostic treatment should be planned in a multidisciplinary manner.

Nowadays laparoscopy, which is a minimally invasive surgical technique used for both diagnosis and treatment, is thought to be the most important diagnostic tool in determining the CPP (6,9,10). In line with the developing technology and possibilities, it has gained an important place. While the rate of laparoscopy performed for CPP was 17% in 1987, this rate has reached 40% these days. It also accounts for 20% of hysterectomies performed for benign reasons (3,5,11). When the literature is examined, it is seen that there are few studies on the effect of laparoscopy on quality of life, especially in women of reproductive age, despite the high cost. Although some studies have shown that, laparoscopy has a positive psychological effect on CPP (12), the other studies incidated that laparoscopy do not affect either pain symptoms or quality of life in the long term and over half of women with CPP still take analgesics and have reduced quality of life (3, 13).

In this study, it was aimed to determine the effect of laparoscopy in CPP on quality of life. In addition it was planned to evaluate the organic pathologies in patients who underwent diagnostic laparoscopy in the reproductive age with a pre-diagnosis of CPP, and to select patients who would benefit from surgery.

2. Materials and Methods

After receiving approval from the institutional review board, the medical records of consecutive patients who were admitted to Ankara Dr. Zekai Tahir Burak Women's Health Training Research Hospital gynecology outpatient clinic between October 2013 and August 2015 were reviewed. The study was performed in accordance with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and ethical permission has been obtained. While patients who applied with the complaint of chronic pelvic pain and underwent laparoscopy were defined as the study group, patients who had laparoscopic tube ligation for contraception without any complaints were defined as the control group.

The diagnosis of CPP was accepted as pain felt in anatomical pelvis, anterior abdominal wall that fits under the umbilicus, lumbosacral region, and hips for at least 6 months (7). Patients' age, obstetric and gynecological history, initial clinical symptoms, laboratory, and transvaginal imaging findings were recorded as study parameters. Patients who had musculoskeletal, urological, gastroenterological, or psychiatric diseases, those with cardiovascular system and disease would constitute pulmonary that absolute contraindications to laparoscopy, and those with morbid obesity were excluded from the study. The Short-Form 36 (SF-36) quality of life scale and the Visual Analog Scale (VAS) were administered to the patients before the laparoscopy operation and 6 months after the operation (14). The patients in the study group were evaluated within the scope of the pelvic pain assessment form created by the International Pelvic Pain Association (15).

During conventional laparoscopy under general anesthesia, the uterus, bilateral ovaries, tubas, douglas, sacrouterine ligaments and pelvic side walls were evaluated and pathological areas were sampled. The patients were invited for examination in the 6th postoperative month. The primary outcome was relief of pain after treatment and detection of the most common pathologies in the reproductive age, and the secondary outcome was the changes in quality of life.

Data were analyzed via SPSS version 22.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Pearson's Chi-Square Test and Fisher's Exact Test were used to evaluate categorical variables. Normal distribution of the variables was evaluated using visual (histogram and probability graphs) and analytical methods (Shapiro-Wilk Test). Student's T Test for statistical significance between two independent groups and Paired Sample T Test for significance between two dependent groups were used for variables with normal distribution. For the variables found to be non- normal distribution; Mann-Whitney U Test was used as statistical method for significance between two independent groups, and Wilcoxon Signed-Ranks Test between two dependent groups. According to the results of laparoscopy, the sensitivity, specificity, positive and negative predictive values and accuracy of the pelvic examination and USG results were calculated. A p value of less than 0.05 was taken to be significant.

3. Results

For this study, 45 patients admitted to the hospital with the diagnosis of CPP and 45 patients who had laparoscopic tube ligation for contraception without any complaints were determined. While the mean age of the study group patients was 37.84 ± 5.49 years, it was 37.27 ± 4.05 years in the control group (p=0.226). There were no significant differences between the groups in terms of body mass index (BMI), status of education, profession, chronic disease status. Furthermore, diseases present in patients with chronic diseases, history of operation and type of surgery in patients with a history of surgery were similar between the groups (Table 1).

Table 1. Demographic and descriptive data of patients

Λ σο	Study Group	Control	n	
Age	(n=45)	Group (n=45)	P	
Age	37.84±5.49	37.27±4.05	0.226 ^a	
Body Weight (kg)	70.38±10.82	73.78 ± 8.98	0.108 ^b	
Height (cm)	162.31 ± 5.30	$163.80{\pm}5.88$	0.210 ^b	
BMI (kg/m ²)	26.71±3.96	27.52±3.25	0.293 ^b	
Status of Education				
Primary School	22 (48.9)	15 (33.3)		
Middle School	7 (15.6)	10 (22.2)	0.512	
High School	11 (24.4)	14 (31.1)	0.312	
College/ University	5 (11.1)	6 (13.3)		
Profession				
Housewife	27 (60.0)	25 (55.6)		
Teacher	3 (6.7)	6 (13.3)	0.600	
Slogger	8 (17.8)	6 (13.3)	0.099	
Officer	7 (15.6)	8 (17.8)		
Chronic Disease Stat	us			
None	26 (57.8)	32 (71.1)	0.196	
Yes	19 (42.2)	13 (28.9)	0.180	
Diseases Present in P	atients with Chr	onic Diseases (n=	=32)	
Depression	9 (47.4)	5 (38.5)		
Asthma	2 (10.5)	2 (15.4)	0.971	
Migraine	4 (21.1)	2 (15.4)	0.871	
Hypertension	4 (21.1)	4 (30.8)		
History of Operation				
None	33 (73.3)	25 (55.6)	0.078	
Yes	12 (26.7)	20 (44.4)		
Type of Surgery in P	atients with a Hi	story of Surgery	(n=32)	
Laparotomy	8 (66.7)	14 (70.0)	0.998°	
Laparoscopy	4 (33.3)	6 (30.0)		

^aMann-Whitney U Test; ^bStudent's T Test; ^cFisher's Exact Test Values were presented as mean±standard deviation and number (%) BMI: Body Mass Index

p<0.05 was considered statistically significant

Table 2. Distrubution of some pregnancy related features, duration of pain, history of pelvic inflammatory disease and treatment method of the groups

	Study Group	Control Group	n			
	(n=45)	(n=45)	P.			
Gravidity	2.87±1.41	3.84±1.41	0.002 ^a			
Parity	2.33±1.15	3.00±1.04	0.007 ^a			
Abortus	0.53 ± 0.62	$0.84{\pm}0.90$	0.135 ^a			
Duration of	12 (6-120)	0 (0-4)	<0.001 ^a			
Pain (months)	× ,	× ,				
Type of Delivery						
Nulliparity	3 (6.7)	0				
Vaginal Delivery	30 (66.7)	33 (73.3)	0.843*			
Cesarean Section	12 (26.7)	12 (26.7)				
Difficult Labor a	nd Delivery Hist	ory (n=87)				
None	30 (71.4)	30 (66.7)	0.621*			
Yes	12 (28.6)	15 (33.3)	0.051			
Pregnancy Contr	aception Status					
None	10 (22.2)	11 (24.4)	0.803			
Yes	35 (77.8)	34 (75.6)	0.805			
Type of Contrace	eption Used (n=6	9)				
Traditional	14 (40.0)	11 (32.4)				
Condom	11 (31.4)	8 (23.5)				
Intrauterine device	9 (25.7)	7 (20.6)	0.150			
Oral Contraceptive	1 (2.9)	5 (14.7)				
Other	0	3 (8.8)				
History of Pelvic	Inflammatory D	isease				
None	29 (64.4)	36 (80.0)	0 000			
Yes	16 (35.6)	9 (20.0)	0.077			
Type of Treatment in Patients with a History of Pelvic						
Inflammatory Di	sease (n=25)					
Outpatient	12 (75.0)	7 (77.8)	0 998°			
Inpatient	4 (25.0)	2 (22.2)	0.998			

^aMann-Whitney U Test; ^bStudent's T Test

*Nulliparous patients were excluded from the statistical analysis.

Values were presented as mean±standard deviation, median (min-max) and

number (%)

p<0.05 was considered statistically significant

The gravidity and parity were higher in the study group than in the control group. Furthermore, duration of pain was significantly more in the study group (12 (6-120) months vs 0 (0-4) months) (p<0.001). However, there were no significant differences between the groups in terms of history of pelvic inflammatory disease and treatment method of the groups (Table 2). The percentage of patients with ovarian cysts in the study group was significantly higher than the control group. On the other hand, there was no statistically significant difference in terms of adhesions, paratubal cysts and myomas because of laparoscopy (p> 0.05) (Table 3). Table 3. Laparoscopy results of the groups

Laparoscopy Results	Study Group (n=45)	Control Group (n=45)	р			
Ovarian Cyst	17 (37,8)	7 (15,6)	0,017			
Adhesion	12 (26,7)	5 (11,1)	0,059			
Paratubal Cyst	3 (6,7)	2 (4,4)	0,998ª			
Myoma	1 (2,2)	1 (2,2)	$1,000^{a}$			
Values were presented as number (%)						

^aFisher's Exact Test

Fisher's Exact Test

In table 4, VAS of the groups before surgery is shown. The visual analogue scale score was significantly more in the study group than in the control group $(6.91\pm0.92 \text{ vs} 2.09\pm1.58)$ (p<0.001).

 Table 4. Visual Analogue Scale (VAS) of the Groups Before

 Surgery

	Study Group (n=45) X±SD	Control Group (n=45) X±SD	P *
VAS Score Before Surgery	6.91±0.92	2.09±1.58	<0.001

X: Mean; SD: Standard Deviation

*Mann-Whitney U Test

VAS: Visual Analogue Scale

Values were presented as mean±standard deviation

p<0.05 was considered statistically significant

While VAS score in study group patients before surgery was $6,91\pm0,92$, it was $4,33\pm1,64$ after surgery (p<0.001). In addition, there were statistically significant difference between SF-36 Physical Health and SF-36 Mental Health scores before and after surgery (Table 5).

 Table 5. Visual Analogue Scale (VAS) and Short Form Survey-36

 scores of the study group before and after the surgery

(n=45)	Before Surgery X±SD	After Surgery X±SD	Р
VAS Score	6.91±0.92	4.33±1.64	<0.001 ^a
SF-36 Physical Health	33.77±10.05	39.83±10.33	<0.001 ^b
SF-36 Mental Health	36.90±9.90	41.14±9.25	<0.001 ^b

X: Mean; SD: Standard Deviation

VAS: Visual Analogue Scale

SF-36: Short Form Survey

^aWilcoxon Test; ^bPaired T Test

Values were presented as mean \pm standard deviation

p<0.05 was considered statistically significant

4. Discussion

Chronic pelvic pain is one of the most common complaints in gynecology. CPP, which may be of pathological, physiological, or psychological origin, is not always easy to evaluate and the results can be troublesome for both the doctor and the patient. The absence of a pathological finding on physical examination and the tendency to establish a relationship between pelvic pain and psychogenic origin generally lead to inappropriate orientation of patients and temporary symptomatic treatment methods. Although one can have an idea about the female genital organs with bimanual pelvic examination, it is an indisputable fact that it cannot be as accurate as a diagnosis made with laparoscopy under direct observation. The appropriate treatment of CPP can shorten the duration of pain and increase quality of life, resulting in less morbidity and cost. In addition, it reduces the workload of the clinician.

Laparoscopy offers a key advantage over the medical treatment allowing definitive histologic diagnosis and surgical treatment in one procedure. Therefore, it is very useful. However, despite these there is no consensus on this subject in the literature. Also, there is little research on this subject. In this study, the preoperative VAS scores of those in the study group were found to be significantly higher than the control group. Also, the postoperative VAS scores of the patients in the study group were found to be decreased significantly while SF-36 physical health and SF-36 mental health scores increased significantly.

The results of the studies investigating the effect of laparoscopy in CPP are controversial. Furthermore, there is little research focusing on long-term outcome after laparoscopy that uses standardized measures to evaluate quality of life. While some studies have reported a reduced quality of life up to 2 years after laparoscopy (13) and found a lack of evidence of benefit with high rate of negative laparoscopy findings (16) the others indicated that laparoscopy improves quality of life in patients with CPP (17).

Similar our study, in a study by Swanton et al. pain scores of 39 patients with CPP before and after laparoscopy were evaluated. VAS was used to evaluate the pain scores. And significant decreases were observed in the pain scores of the patients before and after the operation (18).

Moreover, in a prospective randomized controlled trial, laparoscopy has been shown to be superior to medical therapy in the treatment of mild to moderate endometriosis over a 6month period. Also in this study, although where endometriosis cannot be completely removed, it has been shown that 50% of the patients had less pain. It may be thought there is also a significant placebo response to surgical treatment (19). That the decrease in the pain scores of patients with normal genital findings can be explained by the placebo effect of laparoscopy in our study too. This placebo effect, which may be due to peritoneal cavity insufflation, anesthesia, or painkillers, has been reported to provide symptomatic improvement for up to six months (20). In addition, in the current study, in the group of patients for whom we could not detect organic pathology and whose complaints continued, a multidisciplinary approach was preferred after necessary interviews.

Whereas the routine use of laparoscopic adhesiolysis is not recommended for the management of CPP, in some studies laparoscopy has been found to be effective in the treatment of adhesive diseases. In a study of 187 cases, reduction or complete improvement in pain was observed in approximately one third of the patients after adhesiolysis (21). In some studies, up to %85 of patients has been shown to have postoperative improvement in pain (19,22,23).

Despite the increased interest in noninvasive methods, laparoscopy under general anesthesia still maintains its importance in the investigation of CPP. However, perhaps one of the more important issues is who will do the laparoscopy and the information must be carefully recorded. Surgeons who perform laparoscopy for chronic pelvic pain should be able to complete laparoscopy in sufficient time and in good standards in diseases such as endometriosis, adhesions, ovarian cysts, and hydrosalpinx. In addition, the surgeon should follow up the patient after the operation by keeping a multi-disciplinary approach. One of the strengths of this study is that the surgery was performed by expert surgeons who went through the same training process. This research focused on long-term outcome after laparoscopy using standardized measures to evaluate quality of life. In addition, careful patient selection was done excluding patients with high-risk anesthetic profile, strong preoperative suspicion for severe intra-abdominal adhesions, or history of psychiatric disorders.

Although there are several limitations to this study, we believe it may be valuable for the literature. Once, a relatively small number of subjects may limit the reliability of data. Moreover, the current study is limited to provide results that depict the general reproductive age female population. Visual analogue scale of the groups before surgery was shown. However, VAS and SF-36 physical and mental health scores of the control group after surgery were not determined.

In conclusion, in this current study, a significant increase in quality of life has been observed in patients with CPP after the surgery. We think, each patient should be evaluated individually and if an underlying gynecological pathology is considered, laparoscopic approach should be preferred in terms of direct diagnosis and simultaneous treatment. Although the diagnoses made by laparoscopy vary according to the selected patient population and the accepted definition of CPP, diagnostic laparoscopy still maintains its importance in the diagnosis of CPP. However, further studies in larger populations are needed.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to participants for their voluntary participation in this research.

References

- 1. Treede R-D. The International Association for the Study of Pain definition of pain: as valid in 2018 as in 1979, but in need of regularly updated footnotes. Pain reports. 2018;3(2).
- 2. Reiter RC. Evidence-based management of chronic pelvic pain. Clin Obstet Gynecol. 1998;41(2):422-435.
- 3. Cox L, Ayers S, Nala K, Penny J. Chronic pelvic pain and

quality of life after laparoscopy. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Bio. 2007;132(2):214-219.

- **4.** Howard FM. Chronic pelvic pain. Obstet Gynecol. 2003;101(3):594-611.
- **5.** Howard FM. The role of laparoscopy in the chronic pelvic pain patient. Clin Obstet Gynecol. 2003;46(4):749-766.
- **6.** Lamvu G, Tu F, As-Sanie S, Zolnoun D, Steege JF. The role of laparoscopy in the diagnosis and treatment of conditions associated with chronic pelvic pain. Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am. 2004;31(3):619-630.
- Haggerty CL, Schulz R, Ness RB, Investigators CHPS. Lower quality of life among women with chronic pelvic pain after pelvic inflammatory disease. Obstet Gynecol. 2003;102(5):934-939.
- Mathias SD, Kuppermann M, Liberman RF, Lipschutz RC, Steege JF. Chronic pelvic pain: prevalence, health-related quality of life, and economic correlates. Obstet Gynecol. 1996;87(3):321-327.
- **9.** Howard FM. The role of laparoscopy as a diagnostic tool in chronic pelvic pain. Ballieres Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol. 2000;14(3):467-494.
- **10.** Howard FM. The role of laparoscopy in chronic pelvic pain: promise and pitfalls. Obstet Gynecol Surv. 1993;48(6):357-387.
- Farquhar CM, Steiner CA. Hysterectomy rates in the United States 1990–1997. Obstet Gynecol. 2002;99(2):229-234.
- Elcombe S, Gath D, Day A. The psychological effects of laparoscopy on women with chronic pelvic pain. Psychol Med. 1997;27(5):1041-1050.
- **13.** Doyle DF, Li TC, Richmond MN. The prevalence of continuing chronic pelvic pain following a negative laparoscopy. J Obstet Gynaecol. 1998;18(3):252-255.
- 14. Hawker GA, Mian S, Kendzerska T, French M. Measures of adult pain: Visual Analog Scale for Pain (VAS Pain), Numeric Rating Scale for Pain (NRS Pain), McGill Pain Questionnaire (MPQ), Short-Form McGill Pain Questionnaire (SF-MPQ),

Chronic Pain Grade Scale (CPGS), Short Form-36 Bodily Pain Scale (SF-36 BPS), and Measure of Intermittent and Constant Osteoarthritis Pain (ICOAP). Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2011;63 Suppl 11:S240-252.

- Lamvu G. Abstracts from the International Pelvic Pain Society (IPPS) Annual Scientific Meeting on Pelvic Pain 2019. Pain Rep. 2020;5(2):e815.
- **16.** van den Beukel BA, de Ree R, van Leuven S, Bakkum EA, Strik C, van Goor H, et al. Surgical treatment of adhesion-related chronic abdominal and pelvic pain after gynaecological and general surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Hum Reprod Update. 2017;23(3):276-288.
- Abdou H, Ismail ME, Elboraie HO, Abou Talib Y. Effect of Laparoscopic Adhesiolysis of Pelvic Adhesions in Management of Chronic Pelvic Pain on Quality of Life. Evidence Based Women's Health Journal. 2020;10(3):223-229.
- **18.** Swanton A, Iyer L, Reginald P. Diagnosis, treatment and follow up of women undergoing conscious pain mapping for chronic pelvic pain: a prospective cohort study. BJOG. 2006;113(7):792-796.
- **19.** Sutton CJ, Ewen SP, Whitelaw N, Haines P. Prospective, randomized, double-blind, controlled trial of laser laparoscopy in the treatment of pelvic pain associated with minimal, mild, and moderate endometriosis. Fertil Steril. 1994;62(4):696-700.
- Baker PN, Symonds EM. The resolution of chronic pelvic pain after normal laparoscopy findings. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1992;166(3):835-836.
- **21.** Malik E, Berg C, Meyhöfer-Malik A, Haider S, Rossmanith WG. Subjective evaluation of the therapeutic value of laparoscopic adhesiolysis. Surg Endosc. 2000;14(1):79-81.
- 22. Stout AL, Steege JF, Dodson WC, Hughes CL. Relationship of laparoscopic findings to self-report of pelvic pain. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1991;164(1):73-79.
- Nezhat FR, Crystal RA, Nezhat CH, Nezhat CR. Laparoscopic adhesiolysis and relief of chronic pelvic pain. JSLS. 2000;4(4):281-285.



Research Article

rgipark.org.tr/omujecm



J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 144-148 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.29

Relationship between anxiety, depression, symptom level, and quality of life in individuals with COPD

Özlem ÇİNAR ÖZDEMİR*[®], Kübra OZONAY[®]

Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation, Faculty of Health Sciences, Izmir Democracy University, İzmir, Turkey

Received: 09.07.2021	•	Accepted/Published Online: 31.08.2021	٠	Final Version: 01.01.2022

Abstract

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is a progressive obstructive pulmonary disease. COPD is a major cause of workforce loss and may affect 7-12% of the adult population. The current study aimed to investigate the relationship between anxiety, depression, symptom level, and quality of life in patients with COPD who were in a stable period. The present study included 125 patients with COPD (66.1 ± 9.011 years) in a stable period. Data were obtained using the St. George Respiratory Questionnaire (SGRQ), Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HAD), and COPD Assessment Test (CAT). There was a significant positive correlation between HAD-anxiety, HAD-depression, HAD-total, CAT, SGRQ-symptom level, and SGRQ-total scores in each pairwise relationship (p<0.05). The present study showed a positive relationship between anxiety, depression, symptom level, and quality of life in patients with COPD who were in a stable period. COPD patients with lower quality of life had higher levels of anxiety, depression, and symptoms. Furthermore, COPD patients with higher symptom levels had higher levels of anxiety and depression. Therefore, multidisciplinary approaches such as breathing exercises and relaxation techniques are remarkable to reduce symptoms and increase the quality of life in patients with COPD.

Keywords: COPD, anxiety, depression, quality of life

1. Introduction

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is a progressive obstructive pulmonary disease characterized by persistent airflow limitation and associated with an increased chronic inflammatory response of the airways and lungs to noxious gases and particles. Although COPD is the fourth most common cause of death in the world, it is an important preventable and treatable health problem. Globally, the burden of COPD is expected to increase with greater exposure to COPD risk factors and the increasing elderly population (1).

Because dyspnea occurs due to airway obstruction in COPD, daily activity levels are restricted, and functional status gradually worsens (2). COPD is a major cause of workforce loss and may affect 7-12% of the adult population (3). In the study of Penña et al. (4), it has been reported that the prevalence of COPD was 9.1% in the adult population aged 40-69 years in Spain. When evaluated in terms of the community health care system, it is stated that COPD has an important place in both primary health care services and hospital admissions. Considering the aging of the population and the ever-increasing prevalence of the disease, the socioeconomic impact of COPD is gradually increasing (5).

In addition to being a chronic disease, COPD is a condition that can lead to a series of psychological, emotional, social, and psychosexual problems and conflicts for the patient (6). COPD severely affects emotional, social, and behavioral functions, self-care, mobility, enjoying hobbies, sleep, and rest functions. When dyspnea is acute and severe, it causes emotional stress. In some cases, it reaches the level of fear of death (7).

In the study of Gore et al. (8), it has been shown that patients with severe COPD had worse activities of daily living and physical, social, and emotional functions than patients with inoperable non-small-cell lung carcinoma. Furthermore, while depression and anxiety were detected in 90% of COPD cases, the rate was found to be 52% in the group with malignancy. It has been reported that patients with COPD have less knowledge about their diseases, receive less social support, and have a shorter life than patients with cancer (8).

COPD may lead to psychological disorders by affecting brain functions and occur psychological symptoms depending on the perception of the disease and its impact on the patient's life areas (9, 10). It has been reported that psychological disorders, especially depression and anxiety, are common in COPD patients compared to the general population (10, 11). It is stated that anxiety seen in COPD patients is 55%. Anxiety negatively affects the quality of life and functional independence of COPD patients (9, 12). It also causes an increase in physical findings such as breathlessness, dryness in the mouth, and palpitations seen in COPD patients (10). In the study of Van Ede et al. (11), it has been shown that hypoxemia in COPD accompanies depression by causing changes in neurophysiological functions. In the treatment, it is recommended to apply psychotherapeutic approaches in addition to giving medication for symptoms. The prevalence of depression in patients with COPD has been the issue of many studies. The rates obtained in these studies are in the range of 6-42% (10). Depression can rarely be realized or treated since depressive symptoms are often regarded as the manifestation of the disease in patients diagnosed with COPD.

Because COPD is a chronic disease and causes problems such as dyspnea, it is very important to evaluate parameters that affect the daily activities of the patient, such as anxiety, depression, symptom level, and quality of life, as well as respiratory functions and performances in patients with COPD. The current study aimed to investigate the relationship between anxiety, depression, symptom level, and quality of life in patients with COPD.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Study population

125 patients with a diagnosis of COPD who applied to the chest diseases policlinic were included in the present study. Inclusion criteria were being diagnosed with COPD according to the GOLD (Global Initiative for Obstructive Lung Disease) 2017 criteria, being in a stable period, and not having a mental problem that prevented them from completing the questionnaires used in the current study. Exclusion criteria were being uneducated, being in the attack period, and having cognitive problems.

2.2. Study design

The present study was planned as cross-sectional. An information form was created to query the demographic information and other data of the patients. Name, surname, gender, job, age, height, weight, marital status, education status, duration of disease, pain, history of disease and surgery, devices used, medications, accompanying diseases, social assurance, habits, allergies, curriculum vitae, family history, vital signs, years of smoking, and how many packs of cigarettes a day were questioned in this form. After the patients were evaluated with this form, the evaluation questionnaires described below were applied to each patient separately.

Necessary permissions were obtained from Non-Interventional Research Ethics Committee (2016/79) to carry out the study. The current study followed the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. Detailed information about the study was given to volunteers participating in the study, and informed consent forms were signed by all patients.

2.3. Measurements

2.3.1. St. George respiratory questionnaire

Developed by Jones et al. (13), the St. George Respiratory Questionnaire (SGRQ) consists of 50-item. It is a questionnaire used to evaluate the quality of life in patients with airway obstruction. SGRQ is a specific test used for respiratory diseases. The number of answer options per question ranges from two to five. Scores are calculated separately in three areas as symptoms (8 items), activity (16 items), and psychosocial impact (26 items), and the total score is obtained by summing these scores. The symptoms section involves shortness of breath, cough, sputum, wheezing, and attacks. In the activity section, physical activities that are affected or restricted due to shortness of breath are asked. The psychosocial impact section includes the panic state of the patient due to respiratory disease and the psychosocial impact of the disease on the patient. A score between 0 and 100 is taken. While a high score indicates poor health, a low score represents good health. It has a high repeatability and sensitivity level. The validity and reliability of SGRQ was conducted by Polatli et al. (14). It is especially used in asthma and COPD (15).

2.3.2. Hospital anxiety and depression scale

The Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HAD) was developed to determine the risk of anxiety and depression in individuals applying to primary health care services and to measure the level of anxiety and change in severity. HAD, which is a self-assessment scale, consists of 14 questions. While seven of the questions investigate anxiety levels, the other seven evaluate depression levels. Turkish validity and reliability study was performed by Aydemir (16).

2.3.3. COPD assessment test

The COPD Assessment Test (CAT) is recommended in the GOLD guideline for scoring COPD symptoms and grading the severity of COPD (17). CAT provides to measure the symptom level of patient with COPD and to obtain information about the patient's quality of life (18). In CAT, which consists of 8 items, each item is scored between 0 and 5, so a maximum of 40 points can be obtained from this test. A high score indicates worsening of symptoms and increased severity of COPD. Turkish validity and reliability study of the CAT was conducted by Yorgancioglu et al. (17).

2.4. Statistical analyses

Shapiro-Wilk's test was used to determine whether variables were normally distributed. Descriptive analyzes of the obtained data were stated as mean (x), standard deviation (SD), frequency (n), and percentage (%). Since variables were normally distributed, relationships between measurements were investigated using Pearson correlation analysis. Statistical significance level was taken as $p \le 0.05$ and analyzes were made using PASW (SPSS 18.0) statistical analysis program.

3. Results

Demographic characteristics of 125 patients with COPD participated in the current study were given in Table 1. The mean age of all patients was 66.1 ± 9.011 years, the mean height was 1.69 ± 0.065 m, the mean weight was $77.29\pm16,087$ kg, and the mean body mass index was 27.135.49 kg/m².

3.1. Correlation between variables

Pairwise relationship between HAD-anxiety, HADdepression, HAD-total, CAT, SGRQ-symptom level, and SGRQ-total scores were analyzed using Pearson correlation analysis. The correlation coefficients and the statistical significance level of these coefficients were shown in Table 2. According to these findings, there was a positive and significant correlation between HAD-anxiety, HAD-depression, HAD-total, CAT, SGRQ-symptom level, and SGRQ-total scores. In addition, all scores positively correlated with each other at the p=0.001 significance level.

Т	hlo	1	Democ	tranhic	charact	eristics	of t	natiente	with	COPD
11	able	1.	Demog	graphic	charact	ensucs	01 [Janemis	witti	COPD

	Patients with COPD
	(n=125)
Characteristics	X±SD / n; %
Age (year)	66.10±9.011
Male/female	115; 92% / 10; 8%
Weight (kg)	77.29±16.087
Height (m)	1.69±0.065
Body mass index (kg/m ²)	27.13±5.49
Marital status	
Married	111; 88.8%
Single	14; 11.2%
Job	
Public officer	4; 3.2%
Artisan or self-employment	9; 7.2%
Worker or servant	7; 5.6%
Retired	93; 74.4%
Others	12; 9.6%
Social assurance	
Yes	121; 96.8%
No	4; 3.2%
Working status	
Working	16; 12.8%
Retired	109; 87.2%
Individuals living together	
Alone	6; 4.8%
Spouse/child	116; 92.8%
Mother/father	2; 1.6%
Others	1; 0.8%

kg: kilogram, m: meter, x \pm SD: mean \pm standard deviation, n: frequency, %: percentage

Table 2. The relationship between variables in patients with COP
--

4. Discussion

In the present study, a significant positive correlation was found between anxiety, depression, symptom level, and quality of life in patients with COPD who were in a stable period. In other words, it was concluded that COPD patients with decreased quality of life had higher levels of anxiety, depression, and symptoms. In addition, our study showed that COPD patients with higher symptom levels had higher levels of anxiety and depression.

Anxiety and depression negatively affect individuals' selfcare and lifestyles. At the same time, it directly affects the health status of patients, the frequency of hospitalization, and symptom control. Therefore, detection of anxiety and depression is vital (19,20). It has been reported that depression is associated with exacerbations of COPD, hospitalizations, and mortality (21). Studies in the literature have shown that the depression rate in patients with COPD varies between 11% and 40%. However, it has been stated that depression is difficult to diagnose because its symptoms can be confused with the symptoms of COPD. For this reason, the patient's history and physical examination were expressed to be important (22,23). In the literature, it has been reported that depression and anxiety disorders are more common in patients with COPD compared to the general population and patients with other chronic diseases (10,11). Quality of life and functional independence are negatively affected in COPD patients with higher levels of anxiety (9,12). In the current study, COPD patients with decreased quality of life were showed to have higher levels of anxiety and depression. In parallel with our results, in the study of Balcells et al. (24) conducted on patients with mild and moderate COPD, it has been reported that COPD patients with decreased quality of life had higher levels of anxiety and depression.

		HAD-anxiety	HAD-depression	HAD-total	CAT	SGRQ- symptom level	SGRQ-total
HAD-anviety	r	_	0.841	0.959	0.521	0.615	0.613
IIAD-allxicty	р		p<0.001*	p<0.001*	p<0.001*	p<0.001*	p<0.001*
HAD-depression	r	_	_	0.960	0.493	0.661	0.639
HAD-ucpression	р	-		p<0.001*	p<0.001*	p<0.001*	p<0.001*
HAD-total	D-total r		_	_	0.529	0.666	0.653
	р				p<0.001*	p<0.001*	p<0.001*
САТ	r	_	_	_	_	0.764	0.827
C.III	р					p<0.001*	p<0.001*
SGRQ-symptom	-symptom r		_	_	_	_	0.963
level	р						p<0.001*
SGRQ-total	r	-	-	-	-	-	-

r: Pearson correlation coefficient, COPD: Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, HAD: Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale, CAT: COPD Assessment Test, SGRQ: St George's Respiratory Questionnaire. *p<0,05. Pearson correlation coefficient was used because all values were normally distributed.

In the present study, 92% of patients with COPD were men and the mean age was 66.10 years. In the study of Balcells et al. (24), which had a similar population to patients in our study, 93% of the patients with COPD were men and the mean age was 68 years. We think that since variables such as age range and gender in the study of Balcells et al. (24) are similar to our variables, the results of this study may be parallel to ours. Consistent with our study, the study of Burgel et al. (25) conducted on COPD patients with a mean age of 65 (male patient rate = 77%) stated that quality of life decreased in COPD patients with higher levels of anxiety or depression.

In line with our study, the study of Ekici et al. (26) carried out on patients with COPD in a stable period reported that there was a significant correlation between the lower quality of life and higher levels of anxiety and depression. Furthermore, as a result of the study, a significant relationship was found between quality of life and anxiety, while there was no relationship between quality of life and depression (26). In the study of Ekici et al. (26), men comprised 98.4% of patients with COPD, and 70.9% of participants had bronchiectasis. However, it has been stated that the presence of bronchiectasis did not affect the quality of life and psychological disorders.

Anxiety and depression complaints are common in patients with COPD. Depression is observed to be two to four times more often than in healthy individuals (19,20). The study of Cully et al. (27) showed that higher levels of anxiety and depression were associated with lower quality of life in COPD patients. In the study of Giardino et al. (28), the relationship between anxiety and quality of life in clinically stable patients with moderate to severe emphysema was investigated. Although the mean age (66.7 years) of the participants in the study was similar to our study, the rate of male participants (62%) was lower than ours. Consistent with our finding, this study showed that a higher anxiety level was associated with decreased quality of life (28). When we searched for studies investigating the relationship of quality of life with anxiety and depression in COPD patients with similar age groups and different gender ratios in the literature, we saw that almost all of them support each other. The results of our study are also compatible with the literature.

As far as we know, there is one study showing a relationship between anxiety, depression, symptom level, and quality of life in patients with COPD. In our study, in addition to the quality of life, a positive correlation was found between higher symptom levels and higher levels of anxiety and depression. In the study of Cleland et al. (29), the relationship between gender, age, anxiety, depression, symptom level, and quality of life in patients with COPD was analyzed. As a result of the study, in which 51.8% of the participants were men, it was reported that higher age and higher symptom levels were associated with higher levels of anxiety and depression (29). In our study, symptom level was also found to be positively associated with levels of anxiety and depression. The rate of men in our study was much higher than in this study. The relationship of gender with levels of anxiety and depression was not analyzed in our study. However, in the study of Cleland et al. (29), it was shown that there was no relationship between gender and levels of anxiety and depression. As the symptom level increases in COPD patients, the levels of anxiety and depression worsen (29). Based on this information, it was concluded that anxiety and depression levels are more in COPD patients with higher symptom levels.

As a result of our research, a significant relationship was revealed between anxiety, depression, symptom level and quality of life in COPD patients who were in the stable period. It was showed that the levels of symptom, anxiety and depression were more in COPD patients with poor quality of life. In addition, it was found that the levels of anxiety and depression were also higher in COPD patients with higher symptom levels. COPD is a disease with severe symptoms. Furthermore, anxiety and depression are more common in COPD. As with other chronic diseases, psychological health is also very important in COPD. For this reason, psychosocial approaches, as well as the appropriate medical treatments, gain importance. We would like to emphasize that multidisciplinary approaches are remarkable in reducing symptoms such as anxiety and depression and increasing the quality of life by using breathing exercises and relaxation techniques in patients with COPD.

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

References

- 1. Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease. Global Strategy 4ort he diagnosis and management of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (GOLD), updated 2013.
- Kelly JL, Elkin SL, Fluxman J, Polkey MI, Soljak MA, Hopkinson NS. Breathlessness and skeletal muscle weakness in patients undergoing lung health screening in primary care. Copd. 2013; 10(1): 40-54.
- Buist AS, McBurnie MA, Vollmer WM, Gillespie S, Burney P, Mannino DM, et al. International variation in the prevalence of COPD (the BOLD Study): a population- based prevalence study. Lancet. 2007; 370(9589): 741-750.
- Penña VS, Miravitlles M, Gabriel R, Jiménez-Ruiz CA, Villasante C, Masa JF, et al. Geographic variations in prevalence and underdiagnosis of COPD: results of the IBERPOC multicentre epidemiological study. Chest. 2000; 118(4); 981-989.
- Chapman KR, Mannino DM, Soriano JB, Vermeire PA, Buist AS, Thun MJ, et al. Epidemiology and costs of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Eur Respir J. 2006; 27(1): 188-207.
- Taytard A, Cousson F. Symptoms and life of patients with chronic bronchitis. Preliminary results. Rev Pneumol Clin. 1996; 52(6): 379-385.
- 7. Siafakas NM. Is dyspnoea the main determinant of quality of life in the failing lung? A review. Eur Respir Rev. 1997; 42:53-56.
- **8.** Gore JM, Brophy CJ, Greenstone AM. How well do we care for patients with end stage chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD)? A comparison of palliative care and quality of life in COPD and lung cancer. Thorax. 2000; 55(12): 1000-1006.
- Seemungal TA, Donaldson GC, Paul EA, Bestall JC, Jeffries DJ, Wedzicha JA. Effect of exacerbation on quality of life in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 1998; 157(5): 1418-1422.
- Garcia-Aymerich J, Farrero E, Félez MA, Izquierdo J, Marrades RM, Antó JM. Risk factors of readmission to hospital for a COPD exacerbation: a prospective study. Thorax. 2003; 58(2): 100-105.
- **11.** Van Ede L, Yzermans CJ, Brouwer HJ. Prevalence of depression in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a systematic review. Thorax. 1999; 54(8): 688-692.

- McSweeney AJ, Heaton RK, Grant I, Cugell D, Solliday N, Timms R. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; socioemotional adjustment and life quality. Chest. 1980; 77(2): 309-311.
- **13.** Jones PW, Quirk FH, Baveystock CM, Littlejohns P. A selfcomplete measure of health status for chronic airflow limitation. Am Rev Respir Dis. 1992; 145(6): 1321-1327.
- Polatlı M, Yorgancıoğlu A, Aydemir Ö, Demirci NY, Kırkıl G, Naycı SA, et al. St George Solunum Anketinin geçerlilik ve güvenilirliği. Tüberküloz Toraks. 2013; 61(2): 81-87.
- **15.** Rutten-van Mölken M, Roos B, Van Noord JA. An empirical comparison of the St George's Respiratory Questionnaire (SGRQ) and the Chronic Respiratory Disease Questionnaire (CRQ) in a clinical trial setting. Thorax. 1999; 54(11): 995–1003.
- Aydemir O. Hastane anksiyete ve depresyon olcegi Turkce formunun gecerlilik ve guvenilirligi. Turk Psikiyatri Derg. 1997; 8: 187-280.
- 17. Yorgancıoğlu A, Polatlı M, Aydemir Ö, Demirci NY, Kırkıl G, Atış SN, et al. KOAH değerlendirme testinin Türkçe geçerlilik ve güvenilirliği. Tuberk Toraks. 2012; 60(4): 314-320.
- Jones PW, Harding G, Berry P, Wiklund I, Chen WH, Leidy NK. Development and first validation of the COPD Assessment Test. Eur Respir J. 2009; 34(3): 648-654.
- 19. Elassal G, Elsheikh M, Gawad A, Zeid AGA. Assessment of depression and anxiety symptoms in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients: A case – control study. Egypt J Chest Dis Tuberc. 2014; 63(3): 575–582.
- 20. Disler RT, Gallagher RD, Davidson PM. Factors influencing selfmanagement in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: An integrative review. Int J Nurs Stud. 2012; 49(2): 230–242.
- 21. Laforest L, Roche N, Devouassoux G, Belhassen M, Chouaid C, Ginoux M, et al. Frequency of comorbidities in chronic obstructive

pulmonary disease, and impact on all-cause mortality: A populationbased cohort study. Respir Med. 2016; 117: 33–39.

- 22. Kendrová L, Kuriplachová G, Ištoňová M, Nechvátal P, Mikuľáková W, Takáč P. Assessment of depression in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Kontakt. 2014; 16(3): e203-e208.
- **23.** Ohayon MM. Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease and its association with sleep and mental disorders in the general population. J Psychiatr Res. 2014; 54: 79–84.
- **24.** Balcells E, Gea J, Ferrer J, Serra I, Orozco-Levi M, de Batlle J, et al. Factors affecting the relationship between psychological status and quality of life in COPD patients. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2010; 8(1): 1-9.
- **25.** Burgel PR, Escamilla R, Perez T, Carré P, Caillaud D, Chanez P, et al. Impact of comorbidities on COPD-specific health-related quality of life. Respiratory medicine. 2013; 107(2): 233-241.
- **26.** Ekici A, Bulcun E, Karakoc T, Senturk E, Ekici M. Factors associated with quality of life in subjects with stable COPD. Respir Care. 2015; 60(11): 1585-1591.
- 27. Cully JA, Graham DP, Stanley MA, Ferguson CJ, Sharafkhaneh A, Souchek J, et al. Quality of life in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and comorbid anxiety or depression. Psychosomatics. 2006; 47(4): 312-319.
- **28.** Giardino ND, Curtis JL, Andrei AC, Fan VS, Benditt JO, Lyubkin M, et al. Anxiety is associated with diminished exercise performance and quality of life in severe emphysema: a cross-sectional study. Respir Res. 2010; 11(1): 1-11.
- **29.** Cleland JA, Lee AJ, Hall S. Associations of depression and anxiety with gender, age, health-related quality of life and symptoms in primary care COPD patients. Fam Pract. 2007; 24(3): 217-223.



Research Article

J Exp Clin Med

2022; 39(1): 149-155 doi: 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.30

Effect of COVID-19 quarantine on patients admitted to neurosurgery outpatient

Eyüp ÇETİN*[®], Mehmet Edip AKYOL[®]

Department of Neurosurgery, Dursun Odabaş Medical Center, Van Yüzüncü Yıl University, Van, Turkey

Received: 10.07.2021 • Accepted/Published Online: 26.07.2021 • Final version: 01.01.2022	Received: 10.07.2021	•	Accepted/Published Online: 26.07.2021	٠	Final Version: 01.01.2022
--	-----------------------------	---	---------------------------------------	---	---------------------------

Abstract

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) emerged in Wuhan, China, and was declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization (WHO) on March 11, 2020. Throughout the pandemic period, numerous countries around the world have implemented nationwide isolation measures to control the spread and transmission of COVID-19. During this period, the prevalence of some physical and mental diseases have increased due to prolonged home isolation measures. In the present study, we aimed to examine the effect of the COVID-19 isolation measures imposed in Turkey on patients admitted to our neurosurgery outpatient clinic.

Keywords: isolation, COVID-19, pandemic, low back pain, headache

1. Introduction

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) emerged in Wuhan, China, in December 2019 and then spread to the entire world and was declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization (WHO) on March 11, 2020. Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2) is the primary cause of COVID-19 (1). Throughout the pandemic period, numerous countries around the world have implemented nationwide isolation measures to control the spread and transmission of COVID-19 (2).

In Turkey, as of March 2020, the government has imposed nationwide restrictions to prevent the risk of COVID-19 infection, such as closing schools, bars, nightclubs, theaters, gyms, mosques, and all public gathering places. Additionally, a permanent isolation was declared for the elderly and individuals with chronic diseases. In later periods, weekend curfews were imposed and the people were ordered to stay at home, work remotely, and engage in distance learning (3). Of these measures, the stay-at-home order has been shown to be an effective way to prevent COVID-19 infection and reduce the mortality rates (4).

Nevertheless, although the voluntary and compulsory stay-at-home measures are highly effective for preventing exposure to COVID-19, they have been shown to have several disadvantages such as causing reduced physical activity, weight gain, behavioral addiction, and social problems (5). In turn, reduced physical activity may lead to an increased prevalence of musculoskeletal disorders and pain (6). Additionally, long-term inactivity during the COVID-19 pandemic has been associated with a number of health problems (7).

Despite technological advancements and new treatment methods, low back pain and related conditions remain an important health concern around the world, even in developed countries (8). The global incidence of low back pain is estimated to be between 1.4% and 20% (9). Low back is one of the most common sites of work-related pain and low back pain poses significant problems in both private and professional lives of individuals (10). These problems include sleep disturbances, physical and mental disability, work absenteeism, decreased work efficiency (11). Additionally, the economic impact of low back pain also represents a major concern worldwide. Of note, the cost of low back pain is estimated to represent 1-2% of the gross national product in Western countries (12). Low back pain is primarily associated with occupational exposures in awkward postures, such as heavy lifting and repetitive lifting, as well as trunk flexion, rotation and hyperextension, pushing, pulling, carrying, and whole-body vibrations (13). In addition, some factors such as age, gender, hypertension, smoking, ergonomics, job satisfaction, excessive body weight or obesity, lack of physical activity, and depression may intensify low back pain (14). However, the prevalence of low back pain may change depending on the alterations in individual habits and lifestyles. Accordingly, a number of measures have been taken in many countries to prevent the risk of COVID-19 transmission (15).

Following the outbreak of COVID-19, a number of innovations were introduced into working conditions. To

illustrate, many corporations introduced remote working models based on the use of technological devices in order to minimize the risk of contamination (16). Expectedly, the home environment has numerous differences when compared to the working environment. Of note, the absence of ergonomic office furniture at home may prevent a healthy posture and thus may lead to the onset of musculoskeletal disorders (17). Prolonged sedentary behavior increases the risk of spinal disorders such as neck and back pain (18). On the contrary, home working has several positive effects as well, such as reducing psychological stress, improving the family life, and increasing the work efficiency (19).

The pandemic has also changed the amount of time spent at home and the daily routine of most people. Due to the reduced face-to-face interaction opportunities during the COVID-19 pandemic, people have resorted to technological devices with internet-based services (20). Moreover, people have started to spend more time on the internet and social media via smartphones in order to overcome boredom, seek information, utilize educational services, and do research (21). Internet usage has also increased significantly during the pandemic period (22). There are many psychiatric and musculoskeletal disorders associated with excessive smartphone use (23), which mainly typically include discomfort and pain in various parts of the body, including the neck, shoulder, elbow, wrist, hand, and thumb (24).

In a study conducted with a home working population in Italy, it was found that the prevalence of existing neck pain increased in 50% of the workers and decreased in 8% of them (25).

Headache is one of the most common diseases worldwide. Moreover, tension-type headache and migraine are reported as the second and third most common diseases in the world, respectively (26). According to the international classification of headache disorders, 50.1-78.4% of headaches are associated with primary headaches, while 2.5-23% of the cases cannot be classified (27). Correct classification of headache disorders is a prerequisite for targeted therapy both for headache specialists and clinicians (28).

Belvis et al. evaluated more than 41,000 COVID-19 patients and detected headache in 8-12% of them (29). After an incubation period of 2 to 24 days, a clinical picture including fever, dry cough, and difficulty breathing may be seen. Additionally, various combinations of weakness, muscle aches, headache, nasal congestion, nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, hemoptysis, sore throat, myalgia, arthralgia, anosmia, and ageusia may occur. On the other hand, the initial clinical manifestations may be complicated by pneumonia, acute respiratory distress syndrome, and sepsis in some patients [30]. Additionally, headache has been shown to be the 5th most common symptom of COVID-19 after fever, cough, myalgia, fatigue, and shortness of breath (31). During the pandemic period, the loneliness caused by the isolation measures has led to an increased prevalence of many pain conditions and to a significant increase in the prevalence of headaches (32).

There are numerous mental health problems associated with the isolation measures imposed during the COVID-19 pandemic (33). A previous study compared clinical data of patients before and after the pandemic and showed an increase in the prevalence of average psychological disorders (34). Since the cure of the pandemic has not yet been found and the uncertainty continues, it has led to an increases prevalence of psychiatric disorders including panic, anxiety, and depression (35). Additionally, some other studies showed that the individuals forced to quarantine at home are at increased risk for depression and post-traumatic stress disorder symptoms (36).

To date, numerous studies have investigated the increased prevalence of psychological and physical disorders resulting from the sedentary lifestyle during the COVID-19 pandemic. However, to our knowledge, there has been no retrospective study evaluating the changes in patients admitted to neurosurgery outpatient clinics. In the present study, we aimed to examine the effect of the COVID-19 isolation measures imposed in Turkey on patients admitted to our neurosurgery outpatient clinic.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Study design and participants

The retrospective study reviewed pre- and post-pandemic clinical records of 4,950 patients aged 18-100 years who applied to our outpatient neurosurgery clinic over the 10-month period between April 1, 2020 and January 15, 2021. Patients with conditions associated with trauma, those with a history of surgery, and patients who regularly visited the clinic for postoperative follow-up were excluded from the study.

Age, gender, occupation, presence of chronic disease, duration and progression of pain, ongoing medication, history of psychiatric diseases, clinical examinations and treatments, duration of home stay, and complications associated with delayed hospital admission were recorded for each patient. Patients were divided into two groups according to the duration of home stay due to COVID-19: (i) group 1 (0-4 months; n=1,913) and (ii) group 2 (\geq 5 months; n=2,036).

The study was conducted in accordance with the principles of Helsinki Declaration and the study protocol was approved by Van Yuzuncu Yil University Ethics Committee.

2.2. Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed using SPSS for Windows version 27.0 (Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.). Variables were expressed as mean, standard deviation (SD), median, minimum-maximum, frequencies (n), and percentages (%). Normal distribution of continuous variables was assessed using Kolmogorov-

Cetin and Akyol / J Exp Clin Med

Smirnov test. Continuous variables were compared using Mann-Whitney U test and categorical variables were

compared using Chi-square test. A p value of <0.05 was considered significant.

Table 1. Demographic and clinical characteristics

		Min-Max Median		Mean±SD/n-%	
Age (years)		17.0 - 92.0	43.0	44.0 :	± 14.4
Duration of home stay (months)		0.5 - 9.5	6.0	5.8 :	± 2.5
Duration of home stay	0-2 months			546	11.0%
	3-4 months			1367	27.6%
	5-7 months			1318	26.6%
	≥ 8 months			1718	34.7%
Gender	Male			2202	44.5%
	Female			2747	55.5%
Presenting complaints					
Low back pain				2989	60.4%
Headache				1523	30.8%
Neck pain				526	10.6%
Leg pain				364	7.4%
Arm pain				46	0.9%
Back pain				38	0.8%
Vertigo				12	0.2%
Carpal tunnel				7	0.1%
Cranial mass				4	0.1%
Hydrocephalus				2	0%
Comorbidity	(-)			4416	89.2%
Comorbidity	(+)			533	10.8%
LDH				169	31.7%
Cranial mass				136	25.5%
HT				59	11.1%
SDH				49	9.2%
DM				44	8.3%
Hydrocephalus				26	4.9%
Chiari malformation				21	3.9%
Spinal mass				7	1.3%
Epilepsy				6	1.1%
Other				34	6.4%
Chronic diseases	(-)			4827	97.5%
Chronic diseases	(+)			122	2.5%
Psychiatric disorders	(-)			4913	99.3%
i syematric disorders	(+)			36	0.7%
Complications associated with delayed hospital admission	(-)			4925	99.5%
Complications associated with delayed hospital admission	(+)			24	0.5%

LDH: Lactate dehydrogenase deficiency, HT: Hypertension, SDH: Subdural hematoma, DM: Diabetes mellitus

3. Results

No significant difference was found between the group with a duration of home stay of 0-4 months and the group with a duration of ≥ 5 months with regard to age and gender (p > 0.05 for both). Similarly, no significant difference was found between the two groups with regard to the prevalence of low back pain, headache, neck pain, arm pain, back pain, carpal tunnel, cranial mass, and hydrocephalus (p > 0.05), whereas the prevalence of leg pain was significantly lower and the prevalence of vertigo was significantly higher in patients with a duration of ≥ 5 months (p < 0.05 for both) (Table 2).

No significant difference was found between the two groups with regard to the prevalence of all comorbidities (p>0.05 for all) except for Chiari malformation, which was significantly higher in patients with a duration of ≥ 5 months (p<0.05). Similarly, no significant difference was found between the two groups with regard to the prevalence of chronic diseases and the complications associated with delayed hospital admission (p>0.05 for both). However, the prevalence of psychiatric diseases was significantly higher in patients with a duration of ≥ 5 months (p<0.05) (Table 2).

Cetin and Akyol / J Exp Clin Med

Table 2. Statistical	comparison of	f demographic and	clinical	characteristics	between the groups
----------------------	---------------	-------------------	----------	-----------------	--------------------

			Du	Duration of home stay (0-4 months)			Duration of home stay ≥ 5 months			
			Mean	±SD/n-%	Median	Mean±	SD/n-%	Median	р	
Age (y	ears)		44.4	± 14.8	43.0	43.8	±14.1	42.0	0.272 m	
Duratio	on of home stay (mon	ths)	3.1	± 1.1	3.0	7.4	± 1.4	7.5		
Gen der	Male		883	46.2%		1319	43.4%		0.062 x ²	
	Female		1030	53.8%		1717	56.6%			
Presen	ting complaints									
Low ba	ack pain		1163	60.8%		1826	60.1%		$0.649 x^2$	
Headad	che		584	30.5%		939	30.9%		$0.766 x^2$	
Neck p	ain		197	10.3%		329	10.8%		$0.549 x^2$	
Leg pa	in		166	8.7%		198	6.5%		<i>0.005</i> x ²	
Arm pa	ain		15	0.8%		31	1.0%		$0.398 x^2$	
Back p	ain		16	0.8%		22	0.7%		$0.661 x^2$	
Vertigo		1	0.1%		11	0.4%		<i>0.031</i> x ²		
Carpal tunnel		2	0.1%		5	0.2%		$0.584 x^2$		
Cranial mass		1	0.1%		3	0.1%		1.000 x^2		
Hydrocephalus		1	0.1%		1	0.0%		1.000 x^2		
Comor	bidity	(-)	1708	89.3%		2708	89.2%			
		(+)	205	10.7%		328	10.8%		$0.923 x^2$	
LDH				35.1%		97	29.6%		0.180 x^2	
Crania	l mass			22.4%		90	27.4%		$0.198 x^2$	
HT				12.7%		33	10.1%		$0.348 x^2$	
SDH				7.3%		34	10.4%		$0.236 x^2$	
DM				10.7%		22	6.7%		0.100 x^2	
Hydroo	cephalus			5.9%		14	4.3%		$0.408 x^2$	
Chiari	malformation			1.0%		19	5.8%		$0.005 x^2$	
Spinal	mass			0.5%		6	1.8%		$0.186 x^2$	
Epileps	sy			1.0%		4	1.2%		$0.795 x^2$	
Other				5.9%		22	6.7%		$0.695 x^2$	
C1 .	1.	(-)	1858	97.1%		2969	97.8%		0.140^{-2}	
Chroni	c diseases	(+)	55	2.9%		67	2.2%		0.140 X	
D 1.		(-)	1905	99.6%		3008	99.1%		0.042 2	
Psychi	atric disorders	(+)	8	0.4%		28	0.9%		0.042 x	
Compl	ications associated	(-)	1908	99.7%		3017	99.4%			
with de admiss	elayed hospital	(+)	5	0.3%		19	0.6%		$0.072 x^{2}$	

^mMann-Whitney U test / X² Chi-square test, LDH: Lactate dehydrogenase deficiency, HT: Hypertension, SDH: Subdural hematoma, DM: Diabetes mellitus

4. Discussion

The world is looking to an uncertain future for the first time in long years and it seems extremely difficult to win the war against this virus. More importantly, it is expected that the globalization of the world, the emergence of repeated infections due to COVID-19 mutations, and the outlook for new types of pandemics will lead to the prolongation and continuity of isolation measures (37). Although the isolation measures are loosened from time to time, the consequences of the pandemic can be aggravated and thus require repeated isolation measures. Moreover, although isolation measures help prevent virus transmission, the order and nature of the epidemic remain uncertain, thereby causing social and economic deterioration by affecting the functioning of the health system (38).

Despite the ongoing efforts to develop an effective vaccine, many people are concerned about vaccine safety. Bogart et al. showed remarkably high rates of potential vaccine hesitancy in the general population (39). In the present study, we evaluated the effects of COVID-19

isolation measures on neurosurgical patients based on the assumption that these measures would be further prolonged.

In the present study, we evaluated a total of 4,950 patients who applied to our neurosurgery outpatient clinic over a period of approximately 10 months from the beginning of the COVID-19 isolation period. We excluded patients who were previously operated on in our clinic or had complications due to previous surgeries and those affected by the COVID-19 virus. In doing so, we aimed only to determine the effects of isolation measures on our patients. We divided the patients into two groups according to the duration of home stay due to COVID-19: (i) group 1 (0-4 months) and (ii) group 2 (\geq 5 months), and we analyzed the results statistically. The results indicated no significant relationship between the isolation measures and age and gender.

In our study, no significant correlation was found between the duration of isolation measures and the prevalence of regional pains such as low back pain, headache, neck pain, arm pain, and back pain. This finding contradicts with the findings reported in the literature and may be due to the relaxation of temporary isolation measures. In contrast, the prevalence of leg pain decreased significantly as the duration of isolation measures increased. This finding could be attributed to the relaxing effect of home isolation on spinal disc herniation. On the other hand, the prevalence of vertigo increased significantly as the duration of isolation measures increased. Although the occurrence of vertigo in patients with COVID-19 infection has been reported in the literature, to our knowledge, there is no meaningful research on the effect of isolation on vertigo (40). Literature indicates that organic vertigo syndromes are closely associated with psychiatric disorders (41). Accordingly, we considered that the increased prevalence of vertigo in our patients could be associated with the increased prevalence of psychiatric disorders.

In our patients, the prevalence of Chiari malformation increased significantly as the duration of isolation measures increased. In the literature, social isolation has been reported to be positively associated with interleukin (IL)-6 and it has also been shown that the methylation of RNA leads to increased proinflammatory responses, thereby leading to epigenetic effects that are known to have adverse effects on health (42). Reducing loneliness is associated with decreased pro-inflammatory gene expression, which further reinforces the relationship between loneliness and inflammatory responses (43). Studies have shown that the increased symptoms of Chiari malformation has significant effects on loneliness and stress factors (44).

In our study, no significant relationship was found between the duration of isolation measures and the prevalence of chronic diseases. Based on this finding, we assume that the elderly population with chronic diseases are not significantly affected by the isolation measures. Additionally, it was also observed that the prevalence of psychiatric disorders increased in line with the duration of isolation measures, which could be associated with the increased prevalence of loneliness caused by isolation measures and with the increase in stress factors (45)

.In line with the globalization of the world, infectious viral diseases pose the risk of turning into a pandemic. Despite technological advancements and scientific studies, pandemics cause negative effects on humans' lifestyles. During the COVID-19 pandemic, the restrictions imposed by governments around the world encourage people to perform voluntary and involuntary home isolation. Additionally, these restrictions further increase the sedentary behavior of people, which is a prevalent problem brought by the modern age, and thereby increase the prevalence of some physical and mental diseases, ultimately leading to serious individual and social problems.

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

References

- Sohrabi C, Alsafi Z, O'Neill N, Kerwan A, Al-Jabir A, Iosifidis C, Agha R. "World Health Organization declares global emergency: A review of the 2019 novel coronavirus (COVID-19)," Int. J. Surg., vol. 76, pp. 71–76, Apr. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2020.02.034.
- Gostin LO, Wiley LF. "Governmental Public Health Powers during the COVID-19 Pandemic: Stay-at-home Orders, Business Closures, and Travel Restrictions," JAMA - J. Am. Med. Assoc., vol. 323, no. 21, pp. 2137–2138, Jun. 2020, doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.5460.
- Eroğlu Y. "Forecasting Models For COVID-19 Cases of Turkey Using Artificial Neural Networks and Deep Learning.," Endüstri Mühendisliği, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 353–372, Dec. 2020, doi: 10.46465/endustrimuhendisligi.771646.
- Fowler JH, Hill SJ, Levin R, Obradovich N. "The effect of stayat-home orders on COVID-19 cases and fatalities in the United States," medRxiv, Apr. 2020, Accessed: Mar. 23, 2021. [Online]. Available: http://arxiv.org/abs/2004.06098.
- Cascella M, Rajnik M, Cuomo A, Dulebohn SC, Di Napoli R. Features, Evaluation and Treatment Coronavirus (COVID-19). StatPearls Publishing, 2020.
- Holth HS, Werpen HKB, Zwart JA, Hagen K. "Physical inactivity is associated with chronic musculoskeletal complaints 11 years later: Results from the Nord-Trøndelag Health Study," BMC Musculoskelet. Disord., vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 1–7, Dec. 2008, doi: 10.1186/1471-2474-9-159.
- Lippi G, Henry BM, Bovo C, Sanchis-Gomar F. "Health risks and potential remedies during prolonged lockdowns for coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19)," Diagnosis (Berlin, Ger., vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 85–90, Apr. 2020, doi: 10.1515/dx-2020-0041.
- 8. Stanaway JD et al. "Global, regional, and national comparative risk assessment of 84 behavioural, environmental and occupational, and metabolic risks or clusters of risks for 195 countries and territories, 1990-2017: A systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017," Lancet, vol. 392, no. 10159, pp. 1923–1994, Nov. 2018, doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32225-6.
- **9.** Fatoye F, Gebrye T, Odeyemi I. "Real-world incidence and prevalence of low back pain using routinely collected data," Rheumatology International, vol. 39, no. 4. Springer Verlag, pp. 619–626, Apr. 10, 2019, doi: 10.1007/s00296-019-04273-0.
- 10. Meisha DE, Alsharqawi NS, Samarah AA, Al-Ghamdi MY. "Prevalence of work-related musculoskeletal disorders and ergonomic practice among dentists in Jeddah, Saudi Arabia," Clin. Cosmet. Investig. Dent., vol. 11, pp. 171–179, 2019, doi: 10.2147/CCIDE.S204433.
- Şimşek Ş, Yağci N, Şenol H. "Prevalence of and risk factors for low back pain among healthcare workers in Denizli Denizli'de sağlık çalışanlarında bel ağrısı prevelansı ve risk faktörleri PAIN A RI," Agri, vol. 29, no. 2, pp. 71–78, 2017, doi: 10.5505/agri.2017.32549.
- 12. Dutmer AL, Preuper HRS, Soer R, Brouwer S, Bültmann U, Dijkstra PU et al. "Personal and Societal Impact of Low Back Pain," Spine (Phila. Pa. 1976)., vol. 44, no. 24, pp. E1443– E1451, Dec. 2019, doi: 10.1097/BRS.00000000003174.
- 13. P. Coenen, On the origin of back pain.
- 14. Bento TPF, Genebra CVDS, Maciel NM, Cornelio GP, Simeao

SFAP, Vitta A. Journal of, and undefined 2020, "Low back pain and some associated factors: is there any difference between genders?," Elsevier, Accessed: Mar. 23, 2021. [Online]. Available:

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S14133555183 10128?casa_token=lHW_ppi7Q7gAAAAA:K4Y6Dxj14t3fmGH OqjU_CBPlgULEAKURyrUQ21aU3WjIZ9hThO8eYhPj9oAdO SYxnIXrcaK3pg.

- Huang C, W Yeming, L Xingwang et al. "Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China," Lancet, vol. 395, no. 10223, pp. 497–506, Feb. 2020, doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30183-5.
- **16.** Messenger J, Oscar VL, Lutz G, Simon B, Greet V, Mathijn Wilkens. "Working anytime, anywhere: The effects on the world of work," 2017, doi: 10.2806/425484.
- Will JS, Bury DC, Miller JA. "Mechanical Low Back Pain" Am Fam Fhysician, no. 98, pp. 421–428, 2018, Accessed: Mar. 23, 2021. [Online]. Available: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30252425/.
- 18. Baker R, Coenen P, Howie E, Williamson A, Straker L. "The short term musculoskeletal and cognitive effects of prolonged sitting during office computer work," Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health, vol. 15, no. 8, Aug. 2018, doi: 10.3390/ijerph15081678.
- Vittersø J, Akselsen S, Evjemo B, Julsrud TE, Yttri B, Bergvik S. "Impacts of Home-Based Telework on Quality of Life for Employees and Their Partners. Quantitative and Qualitative Results From a European Survey," J. Happiness Stud., vol. 4, no. 2, pp. 201–233, 2003, doi: 10.1023/A:1024490621548.
- 20. Mathew KVB, Walarine MT. "Neck pain among smartphone users: an imminent public health issue during the pandemic time," J. Ideas Heal., vol. 3, no. Special1, pp. 201–204, Sep. 2020, doi: 10.47108/jidhealth.vol3.issspecial1.65.
- 21. Király O, Potenza MN, Stein DJ, King DL, Hodgins DC, Saunders JB, et al. "Preventing problematic internet use during the COVID-19 pandemic: Consensus guidance," Compr. Psychiatry, vol. 100, p. 152180, Jul. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2020.152180.
- 22. Sun Y, Li Y, Bao Y, Meng S, Sun Y, et al. "Brief Report: Increased Addictive Internet and Substance Use Behavior During the COVID-19 Pandemic in China," Am. J. Addict., vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 268–270, Jul. 2020, doi: 10.1111/ajad.13066.
- Ding D, Li J. "Smartphone Overuse A Growing Public Health Issue," 2017, doi: 10.4172/2161-0487.1000289.
- 24. Matar Boumosleh J, Jaalouk D. "Depression, anxiety, and smartphone addiction in university students- A cross sectional study," PLoS One, vol. 12, no. 8, p. e0182239, Aug. 2017, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0182239.
- 25. Moretti A, Menna F, Aulicino M, Paoletta M, Liguori S, Iolascon G. "Characterization of Home Working Population during COVID-19 Emergency: A Cross-Sectional Analysis," Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health, vol. 17, no. 17, p. 6284, Aug. 2020, doi: 10.3390/ijerph17176284.
- 26. Steiner TJ, Stovner LJ, Birbeck GL. "Migraine: The Seventh Disabler," Headache J. Head Face Pain, vol. 53, no. 2, pp. 227– 229, Feb. 2013, doi: 10.1111/head.12034.
- 27. Pedraza MI, Mulero P, Ruíz M, de la Cruz C, Herrero S, Guerrero AL. "Características de los 2.000 primeros pacientes registrados en una consulta monográfica de cefaleas," Neurologia, vol. 30, no. 4, pp. 208–213, May 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.nrl.2013.12.010.
- **28.** Albers L, Straube A, Landgraf MN, Heinen F von Kries R. "High diagnostic stability of confirmed migraine and confirmed

tension-type headache according to the ICHD-3 beta in adolescents," J. Headache Pain, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 1–5, Dec. 2014, doi: 10.1186/1129-2377-15-36.

- **29.** Belvis R. "Headaches During COVID-19: My Clinical Case and Review of the Literature," Headache J. Head Face Pain, vol. 60, no. 7, pp. 1422–1426, Jul. 2020, doi: 10.1111/head.13841.
- 30. Adhikari SP, Meng S, Wu YJ, Ma YP, Ye RX, Wang QZ, Sun C, S Sean, Rozelle S, Raat H, Zhou H. "Epidemiology, causes, clinical manifestation and diagnosis, prevention and control of coronavirus disease (COVID-19) during the early outbreak period: A scoping review," Infectious Diseases of Poverty, vol. 9, no. 1. BioMed Central Ltd., p. 29, Mar. 17, 2020, doi: 10.1186/s40249-020-00646-x.
- 31. Borges do Nascimento IJ, Cacic N, Abdulazeem HM, von Groote TC, Jayarajah U, Weerasekara I, et al. "Novel Coronavirus Infection (COVID-19) in Humans: A Scoping Review and Meta-Analysis," J. Clin. Med., vol. 9, no. 4, p. 941, Mar. 2020, doi: 10.3390/jcm9040941.
- **32.** Yamada K, Wakaizumi K. "Loneliness, social isolation, and pain following the COVID-19 outbreak: data from a nationwide internet survey in Japan," doi: 10.21203/rs.3.rs-240504/v1.
- 33. Mahase E. "Covid-19: Mental health consequences of pandemic need urgent research, paper advises," BMJ, vol. 369, p. m1515, Apr. 2020, doi: 10.1136/bmj.m1515.
- 34. Pierce M, Hope H, Ford T, Hatch S, Hotopf M, John, et al. "Mental health before and during the COVID-19 pandemic: a longitudinal probability sample survey of the UK population," The Lancet Psychiatry, vol. 7, no. 10, pp. 883–892, Oct. 2020, doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30308-4.
- 35. Tsamakis K, Triantafyllis AS, Tsiptsios D, Spartalis E, et al. "COVID-19 related stress exacerbates common physical and mental pathologies and affects treatment (Review)," Exp. Ther. Med., vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 159–162, Apr. 2020, doi: 10.3892/etm.2020.8671.
- 36. Hawryluck L, Gold WL, Robinson S, Pogorski S, Galea S, Styra R. "SARS control and psychological effects of quarantine, Toronto, Canada," Emerg. Infect. Dis., vol. 10, no. 7, pp. 1206–1212, 2004, doi: 10.3201/eid1007.030703.
- **37.** Wang R, Hozumi Y, Yin C, Wei GV. "Mutations on COVID-19 diagnostic targets," Genomics, vol. 112, no. 6, pp. 5204–5213, Nov. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.ygeno.2020.09.028.
- 38. Haider N, Yusuf Osman A, Gadzepko A, Akipede GO, Asogun D, Ansumana R, et al. "Lockdown measures in response to COVID-19 in nine sub-Saharan African countries," BMJ Publishing Group, Oct. 2020. doi: 10.1136/bmjgh-2020-003319.
- 39. Bogart LM, Ojikutu BO, Tyagi K, Klein DJ, Mutchler MG, Dong L, Lawrence SJ, et al. "COVID-19 Related Medical Mistrust, Health Impacts, and Potential Vaccine Hesitancy Among Black Americans Living With HIV," J. Acquir. Immune Defic. Syndr., vol. 86, no. 2, pp. 200–207, Feb. 2021, doi: 10.1097/QAI.00000000002570.
- 40. Almufarrij I, Munro KJ. "One year on: an updated systematic review of SARS-CoV-2, COVID-19 and audio-vestibular symptoms," Int. J. Audiol., pp. 1–11, Mar. 2021, doi: 10.1080/14992027.2021.1896793.
- 41. Eckhardt-Henn A, Best C, Bense S, Breuer P, Diener G, Tschan R, et al. "Psychiatric comorbidity in different organic vertigo syndromes," J. Neurol., vol. 255, no. 3, pp. 420–428, Mar. 2008, doi: 10.1007/s00415-008-0697-x.
- 42. Cole SW. "Social regulation of human gene expression: Mechanisms and implications for public health," Am. J. Public Health, vol. 103, no. SUPPL.1, Oct. 2013, doi:

10.2105/AJPH.2012.301183.

- 43. Creswell JD, Irwin MR, Burklund LJ, Lieberman MD, Arevalo JMG, Ma J, et al. "Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction training reduces loneliness and pro-inflammatory gene expression in older adults: A small randomized controlled trial," Brain. Behav. Immun., vol. 26, no. 7, pp. 1095–1101, Oct. 2012, doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2012.07.006.
- 44. Garcia MA, Li X, Allen PA, Delahanty DL, Eppelheimer M, Houston JR, et al. "Impact of Surgical Status, Loneliness, and

Disability on Interleukin 6, C-Reactive Protein, Cortisol, and Estrogen in Females with Symptomatic Type I Chiari Malformation," Cerebellum, pp. 1–15, Mar. 2021, doi: 10.1007/s12311-021-01251-w.

45. Varga TV, Bu F, Dissing AS, Elsenburg LK, Bustamente JJH, Matta J, et al. "Loneliness, worries, anxiety, and precautionary behaviours in response to the COVID-19 pandemic: a longitudinal analysis of 200,000 Western and Northern Europeans," Lancet Reg. Heal. - Eur., vol. 2, p. 100020, Jan. 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.lanepe.2020.100020.



Research Article

J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 156-159

doi: 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.31

Effects of favipiravir on hematologic parameters and bone marrow in the rats

Tuğçe ATCALI[®], Seda YAKUT[®], Cüneyt ÇAĞLAYAN[®], Aykut ULUCAN[®], Adem KARA*[®]

Department of Histology and Embryology, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Bingol University, Bingol, Turkey

Received: 15.07.2021	•	Accepted/Published Online: 02.08.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022
----------------------	---	---------------------------------------	---	---------------------------

Abstract

Favipiravir, a selective RNA polymerase inhibitor agent, is an antiviral drug currently used effectively in treating pandemic diseases such as Covid-19. The present study aims to determine the effects of favipiravir use on bone marrow and blood cells. Twelve male Wistar rats were divided into two groups, namely control and favipiravir groups. Physiological saline at a dose of 1 ml/kg was administered to the rats in the control group by oral gavage for 10 days. Rats in the favipiravir group were administered favipiravir by oral gavage at a dose of 200 mg/kg for 10 days. At the end of the study, the blood tissue was collected from the heart, and bone marrow samples were collected from the femur bone of the rats sacrificed under anesthesia. The hematologic parameters in the blood samples obtained were measured using an auto-analyzer device with the help of rat compatible kits. Bone marrow cell counts were performed by examining structural changes and myeloid and erythroid cell series in the smear samples. The results obtained in the study revealed that favipiravir use caused a decrease in the counts of some hematologic parameters containing erythrocytes, lymphocytes, and monocytes. In addition, it was determined that the ratio of myeloid and erythroid cells in bone marrow smears changed significantly with the use of favipiravir. It was concluded that treatment with favipiravir caused suppression of erythrocyte and some leukocyte series. The suppressor effects were also determined in bone marrow cell series in the rats.

Keywords: bone marrow, favipiravir, rats, RBC, WBC

1. Introduction

Favipiravir, also known as T-705 (6-fluoro-3-hydroxy-2pyrazinecarboxamide), is an antiviral agent used against RNA viruses developed by the Japanese Toyama Chemical Co. Ltd. Nowadays; drugs with the active ingredient of favipiravir are particularly used in the treatment of Covid-19 disease caused by the SARS-Cov-2 virus. In addition, favipiravir, an RNAdependent RNA polymerase enzyme selective inhibitor used against influenza and some viruses, has been determined to be effective against arenavirus, bunyavirus and flaviviruses in rodent and in vitro studies, while it has also been reported to have a potential activity against alphavirus, paramyxovirus and noroviruses (3).

RNA polymerase (RNAP) is a family of enzymes that copy genetic information in the DNA or RNA molecule as an RNA molecule. The process of copying the information contained in a gene into a RNA molecule is called transcription. RNAP in cells allows genes to be read as RNA strands. RNAP enzymes are found in many living organisms as well as in viruses. RNAPs are a nucleotidyl transferase enzyme and allow the polymerization of ribonucleotides at the 3' end of an RNA 20 molecule. Molecular studies have revealed that viral proteases play a critical role in the life cycle of many viruses by affecting the cleavage of high molecular weight viral polyprotein precursors to obtain functional products or by catalyzing the process of structural proteins required for the aggregation and morphogenesis of virus particles. Currently, many studies are in progress on protease inhibitors in the treatment of a large number of RNA and DNA viruses, such as HIV, HCV, picornaviruses, RSV, herpes viruses, rotaviruses, and SARS (4, 8, 11).

Traditionally, cytological examinations of peripheral blood and/or bone marrow smears have been based on the screening of these cell types and their morphology, one after the other and one by one. The classification of bone marrow cell populations, on the other hand, has been carried out as manual determination of myeloid / erythroid (M / E) ratio. These analyses are important in the determination of morphological structures and series of cells (14). It has been determined that drug use may cause certain disorders in the hematological systems, as well as affect the leukocyte and platelet series and the entire coagulation system through various mechanisms (10). Some studies conducted on humans and animals have indicated that hematological values of individuals changed with favipiravir use (15, 16). However, there are no studies in the literature showing the effects of favipiravir use on bone marrow cell lines.

Favipiravir is a broad spectrum antiviral agent used in the treatment of many diseases, including covid-19 pandemic

disease. The aim of the present study is to examine the numerical and morphological changes of blood cells, and bone marrow cell structures due to favipiravir use.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Animals

Twelve male outbred Wistar albino rats to be used in the study were randomly divided into two groups as control (n = 6) and favipiravir (n = 6) groups. The study is in agreement with the principles of scientific research and publication ethics according to ethical norms approved by the Local Animal Care Committee of Bingöl University Veterinary Faculty (15668). Oral favipiravir (Favicor, Atabay, Turkey) was administered at a dose of 200 mg/kg for 10 days to the rats in the favipiravir group. For this purpose, the tablets containing 200 mg favipiravir were ground in a mortar and suspended in saline solution and then administered to the rats by oral gavage for 10 days. The animals were sacrificed after

blood samples were taken from their hearts under xylazine and ketamine anesthesia 24 hours after the last favipiravir administration.

2.2. Hematologic analysis

The complete blood count of samples was conducted using a BeneSphera 3 Part Differential Hematology Analyzer (Avantor Performance Materials India Limited, India) with the help of rat compatible kits. The femur bones were collected from the sacrificed rats, and the bone marrow cells were collected.

2.3. Bone marrow smear analysis

The femur was cut from the caput femoris region and bone medulla was washed 1 ml DPBS solution containing 1mm-EDTA. In the cytological examination of bone marrow, the preparations were made by spreading the cells onto the slides, drying in the air, and then staining with May-Grunwald-Giemsa (MGG] (2).

Fable 1. The hemogram	n analysis results	for control and favipiravir	administrated groups
-----------------------	--------------------	-----------------------------	----------------------

Groups		WBC	NEU	LYM	MON	EOS	BAS	RBC	HCT	PLT
		(K/uL)	(K/uL)	(K/uL)	(K/uL)	(K/uL)	(K/uL)	(K/uL)	(%)	(K/uL)
Control	Mean	13.79	2.77	9.46	0.74	0.61	0.01	8.56	46.89	332.83
	Stand. Dev.	0.82	0.48	0.36	0.13	0.17	0.01	0.30	1.34	65.90
Favipiravir	Mean	12.00	2.22	8.24	0.82	0.27	0.02	7.69	51.87	631.83
	Stand. Dev.	0.77	0.49	0.73	0.24	0.19	0.02	0.49	2.33	115.60
* P Value		0.04*	0.065	0.04*	0.39	0.09	0.51	0.004*	0.002*	0.045 *

* Statistical analysis was conducted with the Mann-Whitney U test. The p < 0.05 was accepted as statistically significant. The value is the mean of groups. The Asterix indicate the statistical differences between control and favipiravir administrated groups.

2.4. Assessment of bone marrow cells

Two hundred cells were selected from the random regions of each preparation, and myeloid and erythroid cells were identified and counted to determine the ratio of these cells (M:E ratio] in the assessment of bone marrow cells. Myeloid and erythroid cell ratios in these counted cells were determined separately for each animal and averaged. A trinocular light microscope (Leica, DM2500 / DFC295, Germany) was used in the examinations and cell count determination of bone marrow (Bolliger, 2004).

2.5. Statistical analyses

The data obtained in the study were statistically analyzed using the SPSS 20.00 (IBM Co. Armonk, NY, USA) software package. Since the Kolmogorov-Smirnov analysis revealed that the data were normally distributed (asymp. Sig.) and the p-value was less than 0.05, the statistical analysis of the data was conducted by applying the Mann-Whitney U test that is used for the comparison of two independent groups. The pvalues less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

3. Results

3.1. Hematologic results

The results of hematological analysis indicated that leukocyte (WBC), lymphocyte (LYM), monocytes (MON), erythrocyte (RBC), hematocrit (HCT) and thrombocyte (PLT) counts significantly reduced in the blood samples of rats treated with

favipiravir than those in the control group (p < 0.05). On the other hand, there was no statistically significant difference in terms of neutrophil (NEU), eosinophil (EOS), and basophil (BAS) counts between the control group and the favipiravir administrated group (p > 0.05). Hematological parameters and their comparisons are presented in the Table 1.

3.2. Assessment of bone marrow cells

It was determined from the manual counting of the cells obtained from the bone marrow under the light microscope that the percentage ratio of myeloid cells was 42.7% in the control group and 41.6% in the favipiravir group, while there was no statistical difference between the two groups (p > 0.082). The percentage ratio of erythrocyte cells in the bone marrow was detected to be 31.4% in the control group and 28.6% in the favipiravir group, and the difference was statistically significant (p < 0.043). The M:E ratio was 1.36 in the control group and 1.45 in the favipiravir group and the statistical comparison revealed that the difference was significant (p < 0.037). The myeloid and erythroid cell counts and M:E ratios are presented in the Table 2, and bone marrow swab images are shown in the Fig. 1.

Table 2. Femoral bone marrow myeloid and erythroid cellpercentages and M:E ratios in the control and favipiraviradministrated groups

	Control $(n = 6)$	Favipiravir $(n = 6)$	p-value
Myeloid (M) cell (%)	42.7±4.5	41.6±5.1	0.082
Erythroid (E) cell (%)	31.4±2.5	28.6±3.2	0.043
M:E ratio	1.36 ± 0.3	1.45 ± 0.5	0.037

* Statistical analysis was conducted with the Mann-Whitney U test. The p < 0.05 was accepted as statistically significant. The value is the mean of groups



Fig. 1. Cytological illustration of femoral bone marrow cells for control and favipiravir administrated groups, MK: megakaryocyte, PM: Premyoblast, MB: Myeloblast, M: Myelocyte, ME: Metarubricides, RB: Rubriblast, May-Grunwald-Giemsa (MGG) staining

4. Discussion

Favipiravir, a selective RNA polymerase inhibitor and a broad-spectrum anti-viral agent, has become very widely used with the emergence of Covid-19 pandemic disease. Although favipiravir was originally developed for the treatment of influenza viruses, it is also used in the treatment of other viral diseases as it is effective against RNA viruses with its broad spectrum antiviral activity. In the present study, the effects of favipiravir administration on systemic hematological cell lines were investigated.

It has been reported in the literature that the hematopoietic system was affected with the use of certain antiviral agents (10). McHutchison et al. (2007) found that the antiviral agent ribavirin used for the treatment of hepatitis-C caused anemia. In another study, it was stated that lamivudine used for the treatment of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and ribavirin for hepatitis C treatment induced pure red cell aplasia (6). Similarly, a case study indicated that thrombocytopenia developed due to the use of antiviral agents such as daclatasvir and asunaprevir (13, 1). In an animal study, it was reported that the administration of favipiravir in Marburg virus-infected animals caused changes in hemogram parameters, as well as reduced lymphocyte counts, and increased neutrophil counts (16). It was stated in another study that favipiravir use prevented leukopenia and thrombocytopenia in Junin virus-infected guinea pigs (5). However, the results of our study show that favipiravir administration resulted in the development of anemia, in addition to leukopenia and thrombocytopenia in the healthy rats.

In the study, hematopoietic cell lines were evaluated by examining bone marrow cells obtained from all rats. Myeloid (premyeloblast, myeloblast, myelocyte) and erythroid (metarubricytes, rubriblast) serial cells of the bone marrow were counted and their ratios were calculated. It was found that, the ratio of myeloid cells (42.7%) and erythroid cells (31.4%) in the control group was 1.36, while the ratio of myeloid cells (41.6%) and erythroid cells (28.6%) in the favipiravir group was 1.45. A significant difference was determined between the groups in the statistical comparison of the M:E ratio (p < 0.037). Schomaker et al. (2002) found that 14-day treatment of Cyclohexanone Oxime (CHO) caused a significant decrease in the M:E ratio (Control: 1.96, CHO: 0.41) based on erythroblastic hyperplasia. It was stated in the same study that there was a decrease in erythrocyte counts as well as hemoglobin and hematocrit levels, and an increase in the counts of reticulocytes and nucleated erythrocytes (12). Several other studies indicated that the use of daunorubicin reduced erythroid and myeloid cell lines (79% reduction in myeloid cell count and 90% reduction in erythroid cell count) and affected erythropoietin responsive cells and erythroid repopulating cells in the rat bone marrow (9, 12). Yaylaci et al. (2020) investigated the effect of favipiravir use on the blood parameters in Covid-19 patients and reported that erythrocyte count significantly decreased.

One of the limitations of the study is that animal models are poor predictors of drug safety in humans. Also, flow cytometric examination of bone marrow cells can enrich our study. Similar studies conducted in the future may focus on these issues.

In conclusion, it was determined in the present study that favipiravir use did not affect the myeloid cell line, suppressed the erythrocyte, thrombocyte, monocytes, and lymphocyte series, and caused a significant decrease in these cells. It is considered that the study would contribute to the relevant literature about the effects of favipiravir use on the hematopoietic and hematological system, on which there are limited studies in the literature.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest to the publication of this article.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

References

- Arai K, Kuramitsu K, Fukumoto T, Kido M, Takebe A, Tanaka M, et al. A case report of drug-induced thrombocytopenia after living donor liver transplantation. Kobe J Med Sci. 2016; 62(1): E9.
- 2. Bolliger AP. Cytologic evaluation of bone marrow in rats:

indications, methods, and normal morphology. Vet Clin Pathol. 2004; 33(2): 58-67.

- **3.** Furuta Y, Gowen BB, Takahashi K, Shiraki K, Smee DF, Barnard DL. Favipiravir (T-705), a novel viral RNA polymerase inhibitor. Antiviral Res. 2013; 100(2): 446-54.
- Goldhill DH, Te Velthuis AJ, Fletcher RA, Langat P, Zambon M, Lackenby A, et al. The mechanism of resistance to favipiravir in influenza. PNAS. 2018; 115(45): 11613-11618.
- 5. Gowen BB, Juelich TL, Sefing EJ, Brasel T, Smith JK, Zhang L, et al. Favipiravir (T-705) inhibits Junin virus infection and reduces mortality in a guinea pig model of Argentine hemorrhagic fever, Plos Neglect Trop D.2013; 7(12): e2614.
- John MAA, Rhemtula YA, Menezes CN, Grobusch MP. Lamivudine-induced red cell aplasia. J Med Microbiol. 2008; 57(8): 1032-1035.
- McHutchison JG, Manns MP, Brown RS, Reddy KR, Shiffman ML, et al. Strategies for managing anemia in hepatitis C patients undergoing antiviral therapy. Am J Gastroenterol. 2007; 102(4): 880-889.
- 8. Mendenhall M, Russell A, Juelich T, Messina EL, Smee DF, Freiberg AN, et al. T-705 (favipiravir) inhibition of arenavirus replication in cell culture. J Antimicrobial agents Nunberg, and chemotherapy. 2011; 55(2): 782-787.
- **9.** Millar JL, Blackett NM. The effect of various cytotoxic agents on the erythroid precursors in rat bone marrow. Br J Haematol.

1974; 26(4): 535-541.

- **10.** Mintzer DM, Billet SN, Chmielewski L. Drug-induced hematologic syndromes. Adv Hematol. 2009.
- Musa S. Hepatic and gastrointestinal involvement in coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): What do we know till now? Arab J Gastroenterol. 2020; 21(1): 3-8.
- **12.** Schomaker SJ, Clemo FA, Amacher DE. Analysis of rat bone marrow by flow cytometry following in vivo exposure to cyclohexanone oxime or daunomycin HCl. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 2002; 185: 48-54.
- Tanaka N, Ishida F, Tanaka E. Ribavirin-induced pure red-cell aplasia during treatment of chronic hepatitis C. NEJM. 2004; 350(12): 1264-1265.
- 14. Ulich TR, Del Castillo J. The hematopoietic and mature blood cells of the rat: their morphology and the kinetics of circulating leukocytes in control rats. Experimental hematology. 1991; 19(7), 639-648.
- **15.** Yaylaci S, Dheir H, Şenocak D, Genc AB, Kocayigit H, Çekiç D, et al. The effects of favipiravir on hematological parameters of covid-19 patients. RAMB. 2020; 66: 65-70.
- 16. Zhu W, Zhang Z, He S, Wong G, Banadyga L, Qiu X. Successful treatment of Marburg virus with orally administrated T-705 (Favipiravir) in a mouse model. Antiviral research, 2018; 151: 39-49.







J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 160-163 doi: 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.32

Changes in pelvic floor mobility in uncomplicated pregnant women over 28 gestational week and its relation with subjective urinary incontinence complaints

Üzeyir KALKAN^{1,}∗™, Murat YASSA²™, Burcak SEVİM²™, Ayca Miray BURAN²™, Pınar BİROL²™, Arzu Bilge TEKİN²™, Niyazi TUG²

¹Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Koc University, Istanbul, Turkey

²Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Sehit Prof Dr Ilhan Varank Sancaktepe Training and Research Hospital, Health Sciences

University, Istanbul, Turkey

$\mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{r}} = \mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{r}} + $
--

Abstract

To describe the mobility of the anterior pelvic compartment and hiatal enlargement measures in pregnancy with urinary stress incontinence complaints and their relation to the perceived subjective urinary incontinence severity. Forty-six pregnant women were included in this observational prospective cohort study, the ultrasonographic parameters of the pelvic anterior compartment including hiatal anteroposterior (AP) diameter, retrovesical angle (RVA), bladder neck descent (BND), urethral rotation angle (URA) and cystocele level were compared with the subjective urinary complaints in healthy third trimester pregnant women. Hiatal AP diameter, RVA and BND on Valsalva did not significantly correlate with gestational week (p=0.292, r=0.096; p=0.079, r=0.159; p=0.901, r=0.011, respectively). Urethral rotation angle was significantly increased in women after 39th gestational week (p=0.037, t=-2.17). Hiatal AP diameter, BND and RVA on maximal Valsalva did not differ with estimated fetal weight above and below 3000 gr. Total severity and bother scores of the M-ISI scale was found as similar among women with open (>1400) RVA and intact (<1400) RVA (p=0.556 and p=0.779, respectively). Only nocturia frequency (β=.379, t=4.035, p=.000) positively predicted the incontinence severity score. The pelvic floor ultrasound parameters of the anterior compartment may not predict the subjective urinary incontinence severity in third trimester of pregnancy. Nocturia was found to contribute for subjective impaired urinary function. The idea of being pregnant may suppress the general complaints related with changes in pelvic floor mobility.

Keywords: pelvic floor ultrasound, urinary incontinence, cystocele, pregnancy

1. Introduction

Urinary incontinence during pregnancy is very common, affecting more than half of pregnant women (1). The prevalence of any urinary incontinence increases substantially during pregnancy with a doubling when compared to prepregnancy (2). Vaginal childbirth and pregnancy itself were known to have detrimental effect on levator hiatus, ligamentous structures of pelvic floor and pelvic floor function (3,4). Urinary incontinence during pregnancy has 3.5 times increased risk for persistent incontinence at 6 months of postpartum period compared with those who were continent antenatally regardless of the mode of delivery (5, 6).

Pelvic floor ultrasound (PFU) is promising and efficient method to dynamically assess functional anatomy with ease. PFU was shown to successfully describe the significant changes due to the affected pelvic organ mobility/prolapse following vaginal childbirth resulted in highly significant changes to all parameters used to describe pelvic organ mobility (7).

Changes in mobility of anterior compartment regarding

pregnancy and its subjective effects is scarce in the literature. The burden of urinary incontinence in pregnancy and its impact on the quality of life is controversial (8-11). This study aimed to describe the mobility of the anterior pelvic compartment and hiatal enlargement measures in pregnancy and their relation to the perceived subjective urinary incontinence severity.

2. Patients and Methods

Pregnant women with singleton and cephalic fetus over 28 gestational week who has complaint of any urinary incontinence was included to this observational prospective cohort study. Pregnant women in their first trimester, who were in active labour phase or with progressive cervical dilatation and with clinically visible pelvic organ prolapse were excluded. Vaginal digital examination was not performed to any women. This study was approved by the local Institutional Scientific Researches Ethical Board (No.21/73). The results of preliminary analysis have been presented in the 6th International Urogynaecology Congress, Istanbul, 2018.

Transperineal ultrasound was performed to all women with

a 3D probe of Mindray Diagnostic Ultrasound System DC-8 PRO model (Shenzhen Mindray Bio-medical Electronics Co. Ltd., China) in a standardized fashion according to the method described by Shek and Dietz (12). All examinations were performed by two obstetricians who were experienced in pelvic floor ultrasonography. Third senior obstetrician was involved in cases of controversy. The inferior margin of the pubic symphysis was taken as the line of reference (13). Uretral rotation angle (URA), retrovesical angle (RVA), bladder neck descent (BND) and hiatal anteroposterior (AP) diameter were measured on maximal Valsalva lasted for at least 6 seconds to avoid levator co-activation. URA was defined by the angle between the proximal urethra at rest and on Valsalva. Cystocele of at least 10 mm below the pubic symphysis at maximum Valsalva were regarded as significant (12, 13). RVA was defined by the angle of the proximal urethra and trigonal surface of bladder on Valsalva maneuver (14). Patients with a RVA of more than or below 140° were classified as Green Type II and III, respectively. RVA was discriminated by 140 degree as open RVA (over 1400) and intact RVA (below 1400). Position of the bladder neck determined relative to the posterior inferior margin of the symphysis pubis (SP) was measured, the difference between the measurements on maximal Valsalva and at rest was defined as BND with a numerical value. The hiatal AP (AP) diameter which indicates hiatal ballooning was measured on maximal Valsalva as the shortest distance from the posteroinferior margin of the pubic symphysis to the anterior margin of the most central aspect of the puborectalis muscle in the midsagittal view.

A validated into Turkish language version of Michigan Incontinence Severity Index (M-ISI) was used to assess the quality of life related to the incontinence (15). M-ISI has ten items, consisting of a total M-ISI domain (the sum of items 1-8) and a distinct Bother domain (the sum of items 9 and 10). The total M-ISI score consists of three subdomains (items 1-3 for stress urinary incontinence [SUI], items 4-6 for UUI, and items 7 and 8 for PU). The responses for each item range from 0 to 4 on a Likerttype scale, with higher values representing greater symptoms and greater bother. The minimally important difference has been determined for the following domains/subdomains: total M-ISI (4 points), SUI (2 points), UUI (2 points), and PU (1 point) (16).

Nocturia was defined as the episodes of involuntarily micturition reflex during sleep. The severity of nocturia was assessed by the clinician using a non-validated Likert type scale (0-3) (17). Nocturia was scored as follows: 0 no, 1=one episode, 2=two to three episodes, 3=four or more episodes.

The primary clinical hypothesis was that the subjective incontinence severity can be predicted by several possible factors consisting of maternal, obstetric and ultrasonographic variables including age, parity, gestational week, fetal biometry, nocturia frequency, EFW, RVA, Cystocele degree, URA, Hiatal AP diameter and BND. Multiple linear regression analysis was used to test this hypothesis. SPSS-22 software was used for data analysis. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to assess normality. Paired T test was performed to compare normally distributed variables. Parameters were given as mean \pm standard deviation (SD), minimum, maximum and median. A p-value of less than 0.05 was considered significant.

3. Results

Forty-six pregnant women were included in this study. One pregnant woman was excluded from the study due to painless cervical dilatation. Seven women were excluded from the statistical analysis, 4 out of those was due to low image quality and three women was excluded due to observed levator co-activation. A total of 38 women was included to the final statistical analysis.

Mean age was 26.37 ± 5.8 and gestational week was 37.2 ± 3.5 (Min = 28, Max = 41). Median parity was found to be 1 with an interquartile range of 2 (Range = 0-5). Mean BMI (kg/m2) was 29.32 ± 5 . Descriptive statistics were given in Table 1.

		0			
	Min	Max	Mean	SE	SD
Age (year)	17	39	26.37	.94	5.79
Parity (n)	0	5	1.11	.20	1.23
Gestational week	28	41	37.26	.58	3.55
BMI (kg / m^2)	18.37	41.55	29.32	.81	5
BPD (mm)	73.0	96.3	88.45	.92	5.67
HC (mm)	260.3	347.2	317.95	3.23	19.92
EFW (gr)	1356.0	3962.0	2972.16	104.20	642.36
Nocturia (n)	0	3	1.90	.12	.76
Hiatal AP-Rest (mm)	36.6	77.9	54.10	1.39	8.57
Hiatal AP-Valsalva (mm)	37.4	83.0	58.30	1.57	9.71
Cystocele (mm)	-25.1	2.1	-11.97	1.17	7.17
Urethral rotation (degree)	2.0	67.0	26.79	2.72	16.80
Retrovesical angle (degree)	66.0	174.0	129.18	4.88	30.90
Bladder neck descent (mm)	.30	22.40	6.75	.85	5.22
SUI	0	12.00	2.68	.58	3.61
UUI	0	12.00	3.31	.62	3.83
PAD	0	8.00	1.52	.36	2.20
BOTHER	0	6.00	.87	.22	1.36
Total M-ISI SCORE	0	29.00	7.53	1.33	8.20

Table 1. Demographic and obstetric outcomes, pelvic floor ultrasound results and subjective scale measures



Fig. 1. Changes in pelvic floor mobility of a pregnant women at rest and on Valsalva

Hiatal AP diameter, RVA and BND on Valsalva did not significantly correlate with gestational week (p = 0.292, r = 0.096; p = 0.079, r = 0.159; p = 0.901, r = 0.011, respectively). Hiatal AP diameter, RVA and BND on Valsalva did not differ regarding gestational week in women over and below 39 weeks (p = 0.378, p = 0.176 and p = 0.874, respectively). UR angle, Hiatal AP diameter, BND and RVA on maximal Valsalva did not differ with estimated fetal weight above and below 3000 gr (p = 0.258, p = 0.824, p = 0.499 and p = 0.822, respectively).

URA was significantly increased in women after 39th gestational week (p = 0.037, t = -2.17). BND was positively correlated with URA and also the extent of the cystocele (p = 0.031, r = 0.351; p = 0.014, r = 0.222, respectively). Both URA and BND did not show a significant correlation with subjective scores (SUI domain: p=0.571 and p=0.615, r=0.052 and r=0.046, respectively; Bother domain: p=0.390 and p=0.912, r=0.078 and r=0.010).

Total severity and bother scores of the M-ISI scale was found as similar among women with open (>1400) RVA and intact (<1400) RVA (p = 0.556 and p = 0.779, respectively). Total severity score of M-ISI was not statistically significant regarding urethral and bladder neck mobility measures, gestational week, biparietal diameter (BPD) of the fetus, estimated fetal weight, extent of cystocele over symphysis pubis (p > 0.05). Nocturia episodes was significantly related with M-ISI severity score (p = 0.008, t = -2.833). Multiple regression analysis showed a significant effect on the subjective incontinence severity (F (13,108) = 1.967), p <.001), with R2=0.191 suggesting that 19.1% of the variation was predicted by the possible factors. Standard residual and Cooks' distance were between -1.85 to 2.89 and 0 to 0.169, respectively. Looking at the unique individual contributions of the predictors, the results showed that only nocturia frequency $(\beta=.379, t=4.035, p=.000)$ positively predicted the incontinence severity score (Part correlation: 0.349).

4. Discussion

The findings of this study showed that the pelvic floor ultrasound parameters of the anterior compartment did not predict the subjective urinary incontinence severity of women in their third trimester of pregnancy. The measured parameters did not show significant correlation as gestational week changes. Subjective incontinence severity scores did not change with anterior prolapse, gestational week, fetal weight and fetal BPD. Nocturia was found to contribute for subjective impaired urinary function.

Female urinary incontinence is a common but neglected issue during pregnancy. However, the quality of life of pregnant women barely gets affected by urinary incontinence (11). A cross-sectional study showed that the urinary incontinence is not uncommon in women even during their first pregnancy (8). While stress urinary incontinence was the most common type among others with 65%, more than half of the women included in the study in their third trimester reported that their daily activities were not affected from urinary incontinence (8). Another cross-sectional study comparing the prevalence and severity of urinary incontinence in between first and third trimester showed that the incidence of urinary incontinence is doubled in third trimester comparing with the first trimester of pregnancy (19% vs. 39.8%, p = 0.008) (18). Half of the women reported to have stress incontinence without significant effect on their daily life activities, however their quality of life was found to be changed in particular domains including physical, mental and social. Interestingly, urinary frequency affected the four of every ten women and caused distress in seven of every ten women (18). Similarly, nocturia frequency was significantly related with incontinence severity scores in the current study, moreover it positively predicted the incontinence severity score. We believe that the idea of being pregnant may suppress the general complaints related with changes in pelvic floor mobility.

Dietz et al showed that higher degrees in URA and BND level was correlated with the anterior vaginal wall relaxation (19). This relation was also significant in the current study with a moderate correlation between the degree of cystocele and BND level. Another study of Dietz et al showed that the bladder and urethral mobility increase as pregnancy progresses when compared the non-pregnant women with women in their third trimester of pregnancy, but not with the first trimester.3 Similar to Dietz, Chan et al showed significant descent in bladder neck, apex and anorectal junction as the pregnancy progresses (20). In contrary, the current study did not support the Dietz's hypothesis with no significant relation in between the gestational week and anterior compartment mobility. These different findings may be caused by relatively a small number of cohort. However, a prospective longitudinal study conducted in Norway showed that the majority of the vaginal POP-Q measures made a cranial shift from mid to late pregnancy (21). They interpreted that the larger uterus fills the bony pelvis, pends anteriorly over the rim of the bony pelvis, and therefore pulls the cervix and vagina in a cranial direction, in accordance with the literature (22). Our findings that shows a non-significant relation of anterior compartment mobility with the gestational week can be interpreted as in accordance with Reimers et al.

The strengths of this study are its prospective nature and the use of pelvic floor ultrasound in transperineally approach. It is known that pregnant women find the transperineal ultrasound more comfortable than digital examination (23). This approach may become more common in the research settings, and therefore should be studied more extensively. The logistic regression model that showed the nocturia as the only factor in predicting the subjective urinary incontinence severity can be considered as the other strength of the study.

A limitation of this study is the lack of an a priori power analysis. Furthermore, the size of the study is relatively small, potentially giving rise to bias in showing the change of anterior compartment mobility parameters as the pregnancy progress. Another limitation is the lack of detailed POP-Q data.

The pelvic floor ultrasound parameters of the anterior compartment may not predict the subjective urinary incontinence severity in third trimester of pregnancy. Nocturia episodes was the only determinant of impaired subjective urinary dysfunction. Urethral and bladder mobility and levator hiatus measures did not significantly differ with regard to neither gestational week nor estimated fetal weight and BPD.

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

References

- 1. Eason E, Labrecque M, Marcoux S, Mondor M. Effects of carrying a pregnancy and of method of delivery on urinary incontinence: a prospective cohort study. BMC pregnancy and childbirth. 2004;4(1):1-6.
- Wesnes SL, Rortveit G, Bø K, Hunskaar S. Urinary incontinence during pregnancy. Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2007;109(4):922-928.
- **3.** Dietz HP, Eldridge A, Grace M, Clarke B. Does pregnancy affect pelvic organ mobility? Australian and New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology. 2004;44(6):517-520.
- Huebner M, Antolic A, Tunn R. The impact of pregnancy and vaginal delivery on urinary incontinence. International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics. 2010;110(3):249-251.
- Wesnes SL, Hunskår S, Bo K, Rortveit G. The effect of urinary incontinence status during pregnancy and delivery mode on incontinence postpartum. A cohort study. BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology. 2009;116(5):700-707.
- **6.** Çırpan T, Akercan F, Akman L, İtil İM, Askar N. Postpartum Incontinence in a Young Women: Report of a Case and Review of the Literatüre. Turk J Obstet Gynecol. 2005;2(3):246-248.
- Dietz HP, Steensma AB. Which women are most affected by delivery-related changes in pelvic organ mobility? European Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology and Reproductive Biology. 2003;111(1):15-18.
- 8. Abdullah B, Ayub S, Zahid AM, Noorneza A, Isa MR, Ng P. Urinary incontinence in primigravida: the neglected pregnancy predicament. European Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology and

Reproductive Biology. 2016;198:110-115.

- **9.** Akkus Y, Pinar G. Evaluation of the prevalence, type, severity, and risk factors of urinary incontinence and its impact on quality of life among women in Turkey. International urogynecology journal. 2016;27(6):887-893.
- Dolan LM, Walsh D, Hamilton S, Marshall K, Thompson K, Ashe RG. A study of quality of life in primigravidae with urinary incontinence. International Urogynecology Journal. 2004;15(3):160-164.
- Kocaöz S, Talas MS, Atabekoğlu CS. Urinary incontinence in pregnant women and their quality of life. Journal of clinical nursing. 2010;19(23-24):3314-3323.
- **12.** Shek K, Dietz HP. Assessment of pelvic organ prolapse: a review. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2016;48(6):681-692.
- **13.** Dietz H, Lekskulchai O. Ultrasound assessment of pelvic organ prolapse: the relationship between prolapse severity and symptoms. Ultrasound in Obstetrics and Gynecology: The Official Journal of the International Society of Ultrasound in Obstetrics and Gynecology. 2007;29(6):688-691.
- Chantarasorn V, Dietz H. Diagnosis of cystocele type by clinical examination and pelvic floor ultrasound. Ultrasound in obstetrics & gynecology. 2012;39(6):710-714.
- **15.** Sargin MA, Yassa M, Taymur BD, Ergun E, Akca G, Tug N. Adaptation and validation of the Michigan incontinence severity index in a Turkish population. Patient preference and adherence. 2016;10:929.
- 16. Suskind AM, Dunn RL, Morgan DM, DeLancey JO, McGuire EJ, Wei JT. The Michigan incontinence symptom index (M-ISI): A clinical measure for type, severity, and bother related to urinary incontinence. Neurourology and urodynamics. 2014;33(7):1128-1134.
- 17. Yassa M, Tug N. Uterus-preserving laparoscopic lateral suspension with mesh operation in pelvic organ prolapse: initial experience in a single tertiary center with a median 24-month follow-up. Geburtshilfe und Frauenheilkunde. 2019;79(9):983.
- 18. Franco EM, Parés D, Colomé NL, Paredes JRM, Tardiu LA. Urinary incontinence during pregnancy. Is there a difference between first and third trimester? European Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology and Reproductive Biology. 2014;182:86-90.
- 19. Dietz HP, Moore KH, Steensma AB. Antenatal pelvic organ mobility is associated with delivery mode. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology. 2003;43(1):70-74.
- 20. Chan S, Cheung R, Yiu K, Lee L, Leung T, Chung T. Pelvic floor biometry during a first singleton pregnancy and the relationship with symptoms of pelvic floor disorders: a prospective observational study. BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology. 2014;121(1):121-129.
- 21. Reimers C, Stær-Jensen J, Siafarikas F, Saltyte-Benth J, Bø K, Ellström Engh M. Change in pelvic organ support during pregnancy and the first year postpartum: a longitudinal study. BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology. 2016;123(5):821-829.
- **22.** Horowitz E, Yogev Y, Hod M, Kaplan B. Prolapse and elongation of the cervix during pregnancy. International Journal of Gynaecology and Obstetrics. 2002;77(2):147-148.
- **23.** Wiafe YA, Whitehead B, Venables H, Dassah ET. Acceptability of intrapartum ultrasound by mothers in an African population. Journal of ultrasound. 2020;23(1):55-59.





Research Article

J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 164-168 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.33

Effects of COVID-19 pandemic on management of acute cholecystitis: A single tertiary center's experience

Murat DEREBEY^{1,*}^(b), Mahmut Arif YÜKSEK¹^(b), Ufuk KARABACAK²^(b), Vahit MUTLU³^(b), Salih Raşit MİZAN¹^(b), İsmail Alper TARIM¹^(b), Aysu Başak ÖZBALCI⁴^(b), Senem KOÇ⁵^(b), Bülent GÜNGÖR¹^(b), Ayfer Kamalı POLAT¹^(b), Mahmut BAŞOĞLU¹^(b)

¹Department of General Surgery, Faculty of Medicine, Ondokuz Mayis University, Samsun, Turkey ²Department of Surgical Oncology, Faculty of Medicine, Cumhuriyet University, Sivas, Turkey ³Department of General Surgery, Tokat State Hospital, Tokat, Turkey ⁴Department of Radiology, Faculty of Medicine, Ondokuz Mayis University, Samsun, Turkey ⁵Department of Medical Statistics, Faculty of Medicine, Nisantasi University, İstanbul, Turkey

Received: 27.07.2021	•	Accepted/Published Online: 02.08.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2021	

Abstract

Following the spread of novel coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic, surgical associations have issued their different recommendations for managing the acute cholecystitis (AC) clinic during the pandemic. We aimed to examine the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic period on our clinical approach in patients who presented to the emergency department with abdominal pain and were diagnosed with AC. Medical records of patients diagnosed with AC in the emergency room between 11 March 2020 and 10 March 2021 and in the same period of one year before the pandemic were retrospectively reviewed. Patients were divided into 2 groups as COVID-19 period (Group 1) and non-COVID period (Group 2). Demographics and clinical characteristics, treatment modalities, and outcomes of these two groups were compared. The number of patients diagnosed with AC in the emergency department decreased during the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. When the time between the onset of the complaints and the admission to the emergency service was evaluated, no statistically significant difference was found between the groups (p>0.05). The distribution of cholecystitis type and TG18 severity grading for AC were similar in both groups (p>0.05). While percutaneous cholecystostomy (PC) is more preferred in the treatment of AC during the pandemic period and the number of delayed interval laparoscopic cholecystectomy decreased, AC management was similar in both periods with no significant statistical difference (P>0.05). In conclusion, our clinical approach and management in the treatment of AC did not differ when compared to the pre-pandemic period.

Keywords: acute cholecystitis, COVID-19, treatment modality, clinical approach

1. Introduction

Acute cholecystitis (AC) is one of the most common gastrointestinal diseases and is considered a surgical emergency. The most common cause of AC is gallstonerelated but may also be associated with diabetes, immunosuppression, chronic kidney disease, viral illness, hemoglobinopathies, or vasculitis (1,2). The severity of AC was classified into three grades by Tokyo guidelines 2018 (TG 2018), as mild (grade I), moderate (grade II), and severe (grade III) (3,4). Early cholecystectomy (EC) during first admission is the preferred treatment method in patients suitable for surgery. Laparoscopic cholecystectomy (LC) is considered the "gold standard" for the surgical treatment of AC (5). Surgical management of critically ill patients remains a controversy due to high risk of postoperative morbidity and mortality (6,7). Therefore, percutaneous cholecystostomy (PC) can be valuable treatment as an alternative to EC in high-risk patients and in those with moderate or severe cholecystitis (8).

The novel coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic was first reported in December 2019 in Wuhan, Hubei Province of China, and spread rapidly all over the World. On March 11, 2020, The World Health Organization (WHO) declared COVID-19 a global pandemic and recommended that all possible intervention procedures and surgeries be postponed except in very urgent situations (9). The American College of Surgeons COVID-19 Elective Case Triage Guide (2020) advised that LC should be performed healthy patients with AC to minimize hospital stay, and if the patient is too high risk for surgery or operating room conditions are not available, IV antibiotics should be administered. In this guideline. PC was recommended in addition to antibiotic administration for patients who did not improve clinically with antibiotics and had signs of sepsis. The present study aims to examine the effects of the pandemic period on our clinical approach in patients admitted to the emergency department with the complaint of abdominal pain and diagnosed with AC.

2. Materials and Methods

This study was carried out in the General Surgery Clinic of Ondokuz Mayis University Medical Faculty Hospital. Ethical approval was obtained from the local ethics committee for the study (IRB approval number OMU: 2021/168). The first COVID-19 case in Turkey was announced on March 11. The medical records of patients who presented to the emergency department with the complaint of abdominal pain between 11 March 2020 and 10 March 2021 and in the same period of one year before the pandemic and were diagnosed with AC according to the Tokyo 2018 guideline were retrospectively reviewed. Patients with acute cholangitis or acute pancreatitis accompanying AC and outpatients whose data were not accessible were excluded this study. Patients were divided into 2 groups as COVID-19 period (Group 1) and non-COVID period (Group 2). Age, gender, time between the onset of complaints and admission to the emergency room, Creactive protein (CRP), white blood count (WBC), alanine transaminase (ALT), aspartate transaminase (AST), total and direct bilirubin, TG18 severity grading for AC, type of cholecystitis, COVID 19 status, patient management, length of hospital stay, bile duct injury and mortality rates were determined as parameters to be investigated. During the pandemic, chest computed tomography (CT) was performed and COVID-19 test was applied to all patients who were asked for surgical consultation in the emergency department. Patients with suspicious lesions showing COVID-19 pneumonia on chest CT were approached as positive for COVID-19, and optimum isolation conditions were attempted to be provided in these patients. PCR test results of the patients were followed. Patients with positive PCR tests were admitted to COVID-19 isolation wards. In the presence of symptoms such as shortness of breath, cough, fever, or worsening of vital signs, COVID-19 tests and chest CT were repeated, even if this was due to any other medical reason.

2.1. Statistical analysis

For statistical data analysis SPSS 21 (Statistical Package for the Social Sciences) program was used. As a first step in SPSS, descriptive statistics and normalization test was performed to analyze if the data were normally distributed. As a result of the normalization test according to Kolmogorov Smirnov the data was not normal distributed. Considering that the distribution was not normal, Mann Whitney U test which is a nonparametric test was used to find significance. Also Chi-Squared test was performed for the data.

3. Results

In the present study, one year covering the COVID-19 period and the other one year non-COVID period, 91 patients in the emergency department before the pandemic and 67 patients during the pandemic period was diagnosed with AC. The number of patients diagnosed with AC in the emergency department decreased during the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. The age and gender distribution were similar between the groups (p>0.05). When the time between the onset of the complaints and the admission to the emergency service was evaluated, no statistically significant difference was found between the groups (p>0.05). Laboratory values were presented in Table 1 (p<0.05). The distribution of cholecystitis type and TG18 severity grading for AC were similar in both groups (p>0.05). When the treatment approaches of AC were evaluated, although there was no statistically significant difference between the groups, it was observed that more PC was preferred in addition to antibiotic treatment during the pandemic period, and the number of delayed interval laparoscopic cholecystectomy decreased. There was no statistical difference between the groups in terms of length of hospital stay (LOS) (Seven days for group 1 and 6 days for group 2, p>0.05).

Strasberg Type A bile duct injury occurred in 1 patient in Group 1 and in 2 patients in Group 2 (p>0.05). Bile leakage managed with endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography and biliary stenting in all patients. While the COVID-19 test was positive in 2 patients at the time of diagnosis of AC during the pandemic period, COVID-19 was detected in 4 patients who were hospitalized for AC and whose tests were repeated with suspicious symptoms. Mortality rates were similar in both groups, four (6%) patients in Group 1 and 6 (6.6%) patients in Group 2 died (p>0.05). One of the two patients who underwent open cholecystectomy (OC) due to gallbladder perforation during the pandemic period contracted COVID-19 in the postoperative follow-up and died secondary to COVID-19 pneumonia. The other patient who was operated on died due to acute coronary syndrome. One patient who underwent PC died due to pulmonary embolism and the other patient with a history of lung cancer died due to sepsis. In the non-COVID period, three patients, one of whom was a postoperative patient, died due to sepsis, two patients died due to acute coronary syndrome and 1 patient died due to pulmonary embolism.

4. Discussion

All current guidelines recommend LC as the gold standard treatment for AC, as it provides better outcomes in terms of mortality, morbidity, and postoperative hospital stay. World Society for Emergency Surgery (WSES) guidelines emphasize that early laparoscopic cholecystectomy (ELC) should be performed as soon as possible (11) Murray et al. (2018) investigated the timing of surgery for AC and reported the rate of EC as 52.7% in the USA and 15.7% in the UK. They noted that the rate of LC in these patients was 82.8% and 37.9% for the USA and UK, respectively. We mostly do not prefer EC in the treatment of AC due to the high intensity of the operating room caused by working in a tertiary center. While our rate of ELC was 11% in the pre-pandemic period, this rate was 10.4% in the pandemic period, and the rates are similar. The similarity of the results indicates that early surgery is performed in emergency conditions in patients who absolutely need surgery in both periods.

Table 1. Demographics and clinical features,	laboratory values, management of	of acute cholecystitis and treat	tment outcomes of patients admitted
to the emergency department due to AC durin	g the COVID-19 pandemic and p	pre-pandemic period	

to the emergency department due to AC during the COVID-19 pandemic	Group L (COVID 10)	Group II (Non COVID)	D voluo
Total number fo natients	67 (42.4%)	91(57.6%)	P value
	67(42.470) 63.6 ± 17.04	62.00 ± 17.63	0.827
Agt Gender	03.0 ± 17.04	02.99 ± 17.05	0.827
Mala	22 (47 89/)	11 (18 10/)	0.041
Female	32(47.870) 35(52.2%)	44 (48.470)	0.941
Time between the onset of complaints and admission to the americanau	55 (52.270)	47 (51.070)	
< 24 hours	18 (26.0%)	25 (27 5%)	0.985
> 24 hours and < 48 hours	13(20.970) 14(20.094)	18(10.89%)	0.985
≥ 24 hours and ~ 46 hours	14(20.970)	10(19.870)	
\geq 40 Hours	145.7 ± 120	46(32.770) 112 2 \pm 82 0	0.024
White blood count (WPC) (×109/L)	143.7 ± 120 14104 ± 8201	115.5 ± 62.9 12002 ± 7070	0.924
Alaring transpringer (ALT) (ILI/L)	14194 ± 6201 150.2 + 205.7	13092 ± 7079	0.273
Alanine transaminase (ALT) (IU/L)	150.2 ± 205.7	114.1 ± 214.8 122.7 ± 227.0	0.108
Aspartate transammase (AST) $(10/L)$	109.7 ± 231.4	132.7 ± 357.9	0.003
Dilimitin direct (mg/dL)	2.09 ± 2.38	2.13 ± 2.49	0.707
Bilirubin direct (mg/dL)	1.43 ± 2.23	1.43 ± 2.06	0.820
Crada L (mild) seven is also severity grading for acute choiceystitis	22 (40 29/)	56 ((1.50/)	0.122
Grade I (mild) acute cholecystilis	<u> </u>	36 (61.5%)	0.123
Grade II (moderate) acute cholecystitis	21(51.5%)	10 (17.6%)	
Grade III (severe) acute cholecystitis	13 (19.4%)	19 (20.9%)	
I ype of cholecystitis	(2 (0 40/)	04 (02 20()	0.674
Calculous	63 (94%)	84 (92.3%)	0.674
Acalculous	4 (6%)	/ (/./%)	
COVID 19 Status	2 (20)		
Positive at the time of diagnosis	2 (3%)	-	
Positive on follow-up time	4 (6%)	-	
Index admission early laparoscopic cholecystectomy			0.100
No	67 (100)	88 (96.7%)	0.133
Yes	0	3 (3.3%)	
Index admission open cholecystectomy			
No	60 (89.6%)	84 (92.3%)	0.371
Yes	7 (10.4%)	7 (%7.7%)	
Non-operative management			
Conservative management with antibiotics	42 (62.7%)	69 (75.8%)	0.092
Conservative management with antibiotics and percutaneous	18 (26.9%)	12 (13.2%)	
cholecystostomy			
Delayed interval laparoscopic cholecystectomy			
No	55 (82.1%)	64 (70.3%)	0.065
Yes	12 (17.9%)	27 (29.7%)	
Length of hospital stay (day)	10.43 ± 13.29	7.32 ± 6.31	0.172
Bile duct injury			
No	65 (97%)	90 (98.9%)	0.386
Yes	2 (3%)	1 (1.1%)	
Mortality			
No	63 (94%)	85 (93.4%)	0.573
Yes	4 (6%)	6 (6.6%)	
			~

Following the spread of the COVID-19 infection, surgical associations have issued their recommendations for managing the effects of the pandemic on clinical practice. The UK's Intercollegiate General Surgery Guidelines on COVID-19 (2020) recommended non-surgical management whenever possible during the outbreak. The American Society of Gastrointestinal and Endoscopic Surgeons (2020) and the European Association of Endoscopic Surgery (2020), have recommended a patient- and hospital-centered approach. On the other hand, the American College of Surgeons (2020) emphasized that planned ELC through real-time reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction testing may be an option to consider. In an article published from Turkey, it was

noted that LC in AC is a high-risk procedure for surgical teams during the COVID-19 pandemic. It was stated that PC

is a potential alternative treatment method (17).

After WHO declared the COVID-19 pandemic, a study by the National Syndromic Surveillance Program found a 42% reduction in emergency room visits compared to historical trends, as well as a significant decrease in AC admissions to hospital (18). Due to the pandemic conditions, TG 18 grade I admissions decreased significantly, while severe cases (TG 18 grade II and III) remained stable. Cholecystectomy rates worldwide have fallen (19). In a recent study, surgeons opted for a non-surgical approach because of the COVID-19

pandemic in 97.2% of patients with mild-to-moderate cholecystitis defined according to the TG 18. The reason why non-surgical follow-up was preferred in this study was associated with the simultaneous service of the hospital operating room (20). However, it was determined that the LOS of the patients increased significantly due to the nonsurgical treatments preferred during the pandemic period (Martínez et al. 2021). In our series, the number of patients diagnosed with AC in the emergency department during the pandemic period decreased. Although the number of TG 18 grade I patients decreased, the TG 18 grades were similar when both periods were compared and no statistically significant difference was found. While PC is more preferred in the treatment of AC during the pandemic period and the number of delayed interval laparoscopic cholecystectomy decreased, AC management was similar in both periods with no significant statistical difference (P>0.05).

Acalculous acute cholecystitis (AAC) is an acute necroinflammatory disease of the gallbladder with high morbidity and mortality rates. Most of these patients have trauma, major surgery, burns, cardiopulmonary resuscitation, mechanical ventilation, long-term total parenteral nutrition, and multiple risk factors that suppress the immune system (22, 23). COVID-19 infection increases the expression of proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-6 and tumor necrosis factor alpha. These cytokines activate the coagulation cascade and explain the thrombosis of vascular structures in the gallbladder and the formation of AAC with ischemic gangrene (24, 25). In the light of this information, it was investigated whether there was an increase in the frequency of AAC in our clinic during the pandemic period, but no significant difference was found compared to the prepandemic period.

The COVIDSurg Collaborative group stated that 26.1% of 1128 patients who underwent surgery during the COVID-19 pandemic developed COVID-19 infection, and about half of these patients progressed with pulmonary complications, and 23.8% of the patients died from these causes (26). Our mortality rates were similar between the groups in the patients we followed up for AC in our series. Discussions intensified over the question of whether we should change our surgical indications for emergencies in this global situation. Despite all these controversies, LC remains the first-line treatment for AC even during the COVID-19 pandemic (27). It is known that the COVID-19 virus is found in blood, gastrointestinal tissues, peritoneal fluid, feces, nasopharyngeal swab, sputum or tracheal aspirate (Brat et al. 2020). However, although SARS-Cov-2 RNA has recently been detected in the peritoneal cavity, there is no evidence to suggest the presence of the virus in surgical smoke. It is unclear whether aerosolized viral particles were exposed during laparoscopy. No evidence emerged that the risk of COVID-19 infection due to LC could be higher than OC for either patient or healthcare workers. Many studies recommend the use of ultralow particulate air filters to remove most viral particles and filter the pneumoperitoneum during laparoscopy (29, 30). Since we could not provide this filter in our hospital, we did not have the opportunity to use it during the ongoing pandemic.

The retrospective design of the study, the exclusion of patients whose data could not be reached, and the small number of patients are the main factors limiting the study. In our study, although the number of patients with AC who applied to the emergency department during the pandemic period decreased, the clinical approach and management in the treatment of AC did not differ when compared to the prepandemic period. Due to the large population we provide health services and the high density of operating rooms secondary to working in a tertiary center, we generally do not prefer early surgery in the treatment of AC unless it is necessary. We attribute the similarity of our results to this situation. Although the results in the two periods were similar, four of patients who were hospitalized for treatment with the diagnosis of AC during the ongoing pandemic period, were infected with COVID-19 and one of these patients who underwent emergency OC due to gallbladder perforation, died secondary to COVID pneumonia in the postoperative period. In the light of the literature, we should never forget the risk of morbidity and mortality caused by being infected with COVID-19 in patients who underwent surgery during the pandemic period.

Our clinical approach and management in the treatment of AC did not differ when compared to the pre-pandemic period. While emphasizing that the protection of healthcare providers is the top priority to ensure the sustainability of the healthcare system, we recommend a patient- and hospital-centered approach in the treatment of AC during the pandemic period.

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

References

- 1. Bala M, Mizrahi I, Mazeh H, Yuval J, Eid A, Almogy G. Percutaneous cholecystostomy is safe and effective option for acute calculous cholecystitis in select group of high-risk patients. European journal of trauma and emergency surgery : official publication of the European Trauma Society. 2016;42(6):761-6.
- 2. Aroori S, Mangan C, Reza L, Gafoor N. Percutaneous Cholecystostomy for Severe Acute Cholecystitis: A Useful Procedure in High-Risk Patients for Surgery. Scandinavian journal of surgery : SJS : official organ for the Finnish Surgical Society and the Scandinavian Surgical Society. 2019;108(2):124-9.
- **3.** Yokoe M, Hata J, Takada T, Strasberg SM, Asbun HJ, Wakabayashi G, et al. Tokyo Guidelines 2018: diagnostic criteria and severity grading of acute cholecystitis (with videos). Journal of hepato-biliary-pancreatic sciences. 2018;25(1):41-54.
- 4. Okamoto K, Suzuki K, Takada T, Strasberg SM, Asbun HJ, Endo I, et al. Tokyo Guidelines 2018: flowchart for the

management of acute cholecystitis. Journal of hepato-biliary-pancreatic sciences. 2018;25(1):55-72.

- Ambe PC, Kaptanis S, Papadakis M, Weber SA, Zirngibl H. Cholecystectomy vs. percutaneous cholecystostomy for the management of critically ill patients with acute cholecystitis: a protocol for a systematic review. Systematic reviews. 2015;4:77.
- **6.** Ambe PC, Weber SA, Christ H, Wassenberg D. Primary cholecystectomy is feasible in elderly patients with acute cholecystitis. Aging clinical and experimental research. 2015;27(6):921-6.
- 7. Winbladh A, Gullstrand P, Svanvik J, Sandström P. Systematic review of cholecystostomy as a treatment option in acute cholecystitis. HPB : the official journal of the International Hepato Pancreato Biliary Association. 2009;11(3):183-93.
- 8. Miura F, Takada T, Strasberg SM, Solomkin JS, Pitt HA, Gouma DJ, et al. TG13 flowchart for the management of acute cholangitis and cholecystitis. Journal of hepato-biliary-pancreatic sciences. 2013;20(1):47-54.
- **9.** Stahel P. How to risk-stratify elective surgery during the COVID-19 pandemic? Patient Safety in Surgery. 2020;14.
- 10. American College of Surgeons (ACS). COVID 19: Elective Case Triage Guidelines for Surgical Care. Available from: https://www.facs.org/covid-19/clinical-guidance/elective-case. Accessed March 24, 2020.
- Ansaloni L, Pisano M, Coccolini F, Peitzmann AB, Fingerhut A, Catena F, et al. 2016 WSES guidelines on acute calculous cholecystitis. World Journal of Emergency Surgery. 2016;11(1):25.
- 12. Murray AC, Markar S, Mackenzie H, Baser O, Wiggins T, Askari A, et al. An observational study of the timing of surgery, use of laparoscopy and outcomes for acute cholecystitis in the USA and UK. Surgical endoscopy. 2018;32(7):3055-63.
- Royal College of Surgeons of England. Updated Intercollegiate General Surgery Guidance on COVID-19. Available from: https://www.rcseng.ac.uk/coronavirus/joint-guidance-forsurgeons-v2/. Accessed March 26, 2020.
- 14. EAES. Category: COVID-19 Statements. Availabe from: https://eaes.eu/category/covid-19-statements/.
- SAGES. SAGES COVID-19 / Coronavirus Announcement Archives. Available from: https://www.sages.org/category/covid-19/.
- 16. American College of Surgeons. Local Resumption of Elective Surgeries Guidance. Available at: https://www.facs.org/covid-19/clinical-guidance/resuming-elective-surgery. Accessed on 7 May 2020.
- **17.** Gok AFK, Eryılmaz M, Ozmen MM, Alimoglu O, Ertekin C, Kurtoglu MH. Recommendations for Trauma and Emergency General Surgery Practice During COVID-19 Pandemic. Ulusal travma ve acil cerrahi dergisi = Turkish journal of trauma & emergency surgery : TJTES. 2020;26(3):335-42.
- 18. Hartnett KP, Kite-Powell A, DeVies J, Coletta MA, Boehmer TK, Adjemian J, et al. Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on

Emergency Department Visits - United States, January 1, 2019-May 30, 2020. MMWR Morbidity and mortality weekly report. 2020;69(23):699-704.

- **19.** Manzia TM, Angelico R, Parente A, Muiesan P, Tisone G. Global management of a common, underrated surgical task during the COVID-19 pandemic: Gallstone disease An international survery. Ann Med Surg (Lond). 2020;57:95-102.
- **20.** Çiyiltepe H, Yıldırım G, Fersahoğlu MM, Aydın MT, Özcabı Y, Bulut NE, et al. Clinical approach to patients admitted to the emergency room due to acute cholecystitis during the COVID-19 pandemic and percutaneous cholecystostomy experience. Ulusal travma ve acil cerrahi dergisi = Turkish journal of trauma & emergency surgery : TJTES. 2021;27(1):34-42.
- 21. Martínez Caballero J, González González L, Rodríguez Cuéllar E, Ferrero Herrero E, Pérez Algar C, Vaello Jodra V, et al. Multicentre cohort study of acute cholecystitis management during the COVID-19 pandemic. European journal of trauma and emergency surgery : official publication of the European Trauma Society. 2021;47(3):683-92.
- 22. Jones MW, Ferguson T. Acalculous Cholecystitis. [Updated 2021 Feb 8]. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2021 Jan-. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK459182/.
- 23. Mattone E, Sofia M, Schembari E, Palumbo V, Bonaccorso R, Randazzo V, et al. Acute acalculous cholecystitis on a COVID-19 patient: a case report. Ann Med Surg (Lond). 2020;58:73-5.
- 24. van der Poll T, Jansen PM, Van Zee KJ, Welborn MB, 3rd, de Jong I, Hack CE, et al. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha induces activation of coagulation and fibrinolysis in baboons through an exclusive effect on the p55 receptor. Blood. 1996;88(3):922-7.
- **25.** Stouthard JM, Levi M, Hack CE, Veenhof CH, Romijn HA, Sauerwein HP, et al. Interleukin-6 stimulates coagulation, not fibrinolysis, in humans. Thrombosis and haemostasis. 1996;76(5):738-42.
- 26. Dell A, Harky A, Yıldız A, Lunevicius R, Giorgakis E, Viswanath Y, et al. Mortality and Pulmonary Complications in Patients Undergoing Surgery With Perioperative SARS-CoV-2 Infection: An International Cohort Study. The Lancet. 2020.
- 27. Campanile FC, Podda M, Arezzo A, Botteri E, Sartori A, Guerrieri M, et al. Acute cholecystitis during COVID-19 pandemic: a multisocietary position statement. World journal of emergency surgery : WJES. 2020;15(1):38.
- 28. Brat GA, Hersey S, Chhabra K, Gupta A, Scott J. Protecting Surgical Teams During the COVID-19 Outbreak: A Narrative Review and Clinical Considerations. Annals of surgery. 2020.
- **29.** Coccolini F, Tartaglia D, Puglisi A, Giordano C, Pistello M, Lodato M, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Is Present in Peritoneal Fluid in COVID-19 Patients. Annals of surgery. 2020;272(3):e240-e2.
- **30.** Mintz Y, Arezzo A, Boni L, Chand M, Brodie R, Fingerhut A. A Low-cost, Safe, and Effective Method for Smoke Evacuation in Laparoscopic Surgery for Suspected Coronavirus Patients. Annals of surgery. 2020;272(1):e7-e8.





Research Article

J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 169-173 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.34

The effects of quarantine on postpartum depression, sleep quality and breastfeeding: Comparison of two different intensity period

Osman Samet GÜNKAYA^{1,*}, Özge YAĞCIOĞLU YASSA², Arzu Bilge TEKİN¹, Meltem TEKELİOĞLU¹, Göktuğ UMUR¹, Oğuz ARSLAN¹, Zeynep GEDİK ÖZKÖSE³, Üzeyir KALKAN⁴, Niyazi TUĞ¹

¹University of Health Sciences Turkey, Sehit Prof. Dr. Ilhan Varank Sancaktepe Training and Research Hospital, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Istanbul, Turkey

²Private Goztepe Medical Park Hospital, Department of Neurology, Sleep Disorders Center, Istanbul, Turkey ³University of Health Sciences Turkey, Kanuni Sultan Suleyman Training and Research Hospital, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, division of perinatology, Istanbul, Turkey

⁴Koc University, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Istanbul, Turkey

Received: 29.07.2021	•	Accepted/Published Online: 31.08.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022

Abstract

The aim of this study is to investigate the effects of quarantine/social isolation on maternal depression, breastfeeding and sleep quality in mothers who have just given birth during the pandemic period that has affected the whole world. This cross-sectional study included women who gave birth during either in the first peak of the first wave (April, 2020) or the end of the first peak (July, 2020) of the Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2) pandemic in a tertiary pandemic regional referral centre. A total of 210 patients were enrolled to the study. The research data were collected using specific questionnaires including the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI), the Edinburgh Postpartum Depression Scale (EPDS) and the Breastfeeding Self-Efficacy Scale-Short Form (BSES-SF). As a result, maternal postpartum depression and sleep quality scores did not differ significantly among postpartum women with different timelines according to the intensity of the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic (p=0.205 and p=0.352, respectively). The Breastfeeding Self-Efficacy Scale was significantly better (p=0.000) in the post-quarantine period than in the early stages of the pandemic when there were strict quarantine regulations. In conclusion, Sleep quality and postpartum depression remained unchanged with regard to the severity of the quarantine among women who gave birth during the SARS-CoV-2 pandemics. The breastfeeding self-efficacy of mothers was found as improved in the post-quarantine period.

Keywords: breastfeeding, postpartum depression, quarantine effects, sleep quality

1. Introduction

Coronavirus Diseases-19 (COVID-19) pandemic had devastating effect on public health, mental health and caused financial crisis at global level (15). Vulnerable populations including children, elder, disabled people and pregnant women were the most affected. The Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2) pandemic condition creates an additional risk factor likely to increase the stress on pregnant women who are already prone to depression and anxiety (4, 12, 28). Besides that being pregnancy is already known as an important risk factor for having more severe disease during the pandemic, pregnancy may be a delicate state for possible social and mental consequences (28).

The mostly studied mental health issues including anxiety and depression were found to be impaired in pregnancy during the outbreak (4, 28). Quarantine has physiological and psychological impacts on individuals and social groups (9). Emotional and mental wellbeing of new mothers can seriously be affected from the possible long-term consequences of quarantine.

Postpartum depression may negatively affect a woman's self-esteem, self-efficacy, children's care and development, and responsibilities and roles related to her family and spouse (22). Therefore, early diagnosis and treatment of postpartum depression is important. Unfortunately, despite its negative impact on maternal health, postpartum, postpartum depression is often under-diagnosed and under-treated (5). The period of postnatal mothers with poor mental or emotional health are less likely to breastfeed (26). In addition, breastfeeding has a positive psychological impact on the postpartum mother period, improving her well-being, increasing her self-efficacy and her interaction with the infant (19, 21). The relationship between breastfeeding and postpartum depression may be bidirectional in nature, suggesting that while postpartum depression may reduce rates of breastfeeding, not engaging in breastfeeding may increase the risk of postpartum depression (14). Sleep disturbances may affect mood or even precede or

develop as a result of mood disorder as the first symptom of new or recurrent depressive episodes (3). Breastfeeding of the baby in the postpartum period may protect against depression or help the symptoms improve faster (14). Impaired maternal sleep may disrupt the mother's mood and thus impair breastfeeding self-efficacy (22, 18).

Depression, breastfeeding and sleep are three important factors that can affect the emotional/mental wellbeing of mothers following birth. The detrimental mental impacts of quarantine and social isolation can be massive and long lasting (7). The aim of this study was to investigate the extent of quarantine/social isolation effect on maternal depression, breastfeeding and sleep quality in mothers recently gave birth during the pandemic.

2. Methods and Methods

This cross-sectional study included women who gave birth during either in the first peak of the first wave (April, 2020) or the end of the first peak (July, 2020) of the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic in a tertiary pandemic regional referral center. April and July of 2020 were the most and least intense of the first peak of the first wave of the pandemics in Turkey, respectively. Strict restrictions were in effect in April, 2020 while easening the restrictions and re-opening for tourism were in action in July, 2020 in Turkey (T.R. Ministry of Health Covid-19 Information Platform [web page]., 2020).

Table 1. Patient characteristics and demo	ograp	hics
---	-------	------

	Overall				April & June
	Mean	SD	Median	IQR	P *
Age	28.15	5.753	27.00	8	0.226ª
Parity	2.28	1.131	2.00	2	0.919 ^b
	April	June	April	June	
	15	15	15	15	0.2100
	(20%)	(20%)	(20%)	(20%)	0.319
Education level	2.18	.998	2.00	2	0.068°
Profession	.07	.357	.00	0	0.211°
Education of partner	2.53	.999	3.00	1	0.579°
Profession of partner	.96	.218	1.00	0	0.412°
Health insurance	.95	.247	1.00	0	0.485°
Support of mother	.22	.416	.00	0	0.065°
Covid-19	.08	.270	.00	0	0.299°
Delivery method	1.37	.485	1.00	1	0.562°
Newborn incubator	.11	.317	.00	0	0.120°
Planned	.83	.378	1.00	0	0.094°

*Sub-groups comparison between patients evaluated in April (n= 98) and in June (n=106). aIndependent Samples T test, bMann Whitney U test, °Chi-Square tests

Mothers aged between 18 and 44 years, who gave birth to healthy babies following a low-risk pregnancy. Women with active SARS-CoV-2 infection, an ongoing or a history of neuropsychiatric or psychological disease, any chronic health problems that may affect breastfeeding and sleep quality, newborns with anomalies, those with a birth weight below 2500 g, those who gave birth before <37 weeks and those who had perinatal problems were excluded. Syrian refugees who were not able to make phone calls were also excluded.

Primary outcome was to capture the emotional/mental wellbeing related to the motherhood of women during the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic including the postpartum depression status, sleep quality, breastfeeding confidence/self-efficacy and infant feeding practices. Our null hypothesis was that emotional wellbeing of new mothers did not change by the intensity of the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic. To test the null hypothesis, Edinburgh Postpartum Depression Scale (EDPS), Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) and the Breastfeeding Self-Efficacy Scale-Short Form (BSES-SF) were performed by phone interview. Women were asked to complete the questionnaires at 6-8 weeks after birth in order to avoid misleading results due to the motherhood sadness. The infant feeding practices were categorized as exclusive breast milk, breast milk and formula, or exclusive formula, according to the WHO criteria (29). Social, demographic and obstetric data were noted. All patients gave written informed consent and approved for publication before data collection. All procedures were in accordance with the 1964 Helsinki Declaration and its later amendments. This study followed the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the Ethics Committee University of Health Sciences Turkey, Sehit Prof. Dr. Ilhan Varank Sancaktepe Training and Research Hospital (registry no: 20/22), Scientific Board of the Health Ministry and the local institutional administration board approved the study.

2.1. Measures

2.1.1. Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS)

This scale, which aims to determine the risk of depression in women in the postpartum period, was prepared for screening purposes and is not intended to diagnose depression. EPDS is a self-report scale in 4-point Likert format, consisting of 10 items. Answers consisting of four options are scored between 0 and 3, the lowest score that can be obtained from the scale is 0 and the highest score is 30. In the evaluation, items 1, 2, and 4 were scored as 0,1,2,3, while items 3, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, and 10 were scored as 3,2,1,0. The cut-off point of EPDS was previously calculated as 13, and women with a scale score of 13 or more were considered as in the risk group (16).

2.1.2. Breastfeeding Self-Efficacy Scale-Short Form (BSES-SF)

The BSES-SF is a 14-item self-administered instrument derived from the original 33-item BSES that measures breastfeeding confidence (11). All items are in positive direction and are preceded by the phrase "I can always" and rated on a 5-point Likert scale, ranging from 1 (not at all confident) to 5 (always confident). Total scores range from 14 to 70, with higher scores reflecting more significant levels of breastfeeding self-efficacy.

2.1.3. Infant Feeding Practices

The questionnaire asked for current infant feeding (exclusive breast milk, breast milk and formula, or exclusive formula).
Feeding practices were then categorized as exclusive breastfeeding (EBF) (exclusive feeding on mother's own milk) or mixed breastfeeding (MBF) (infant who had received predominantly formula along with breast milk or other milk, without complementary foods) according to World Health Organization criteria (29).

2.1.4. Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI)

Sleep was assessed using the 19-item PSQI, which is a selfreport questionnaire that assesses sleep quality and disturbances during the previous month (8). The seven component subscales include subjective sleep quality (i.e., subjective self-rating of sleep quality), sleep latency (i.e., how long it takes to fall asleep at night), sleep duration (i.e., amount of nighttime sleep), habitual sleep efficiency (i.e., percentage of time asleep when in bed), sleep disturbances (i.e., number of awakenings during the night), use of sleep medication, and daytime dysfunction (i.e., difficulty staying awake during the day). This scale has good internal consistency, test-retest reliability, and validity. Poorer sleep quality is indicated by higher PSQI global and subscale scores, with a global score of > 5 indicating poor sleep in the general population. The diagnostic sensitivity and specificity were 89.6% and 86.5% respectively in one study among adults with and ithout sleep disorders (2). Several studies have used the PSQI with postpartum women (17).

2.2. Statistics

The collected data were analyzed with SPSS version 22.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). The normality of the demographic data was assessed with the Shapiro-Wilk test. Demographic data were summarised as the median and interquartile range for non-normally distributed data and as the mean and standard deviation for normally distributed data. Specific statistical tests were stated in each tables. A p-value of less than 0.05 was considered significant.

3. Results

A total of 210 patients were enrolled to the study. Five of those were excluded due to psychiatric disorders (n=2), low data quality (n=3) and not giving consent (n=1). A total of 204 women were included to the final analysis.

Ninety-eight women (48%) gave birth during the strict quarantine regulations in April and 106 (52%) gave birth while controlled social life regulations were in effect following the end of the first wave of the pandemic. Out of all women, 7.8% (n=16) previously had SARS-CoV-2 infection. Social and demographic features of women were found as similar in both different timelines (Table 1).

Maternal PSQI and EPDS did not significantly differ between postpartum women in different timeline according to the intensity of the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic (Table 2). BFES-SF were found decreased in women who gave birth during the strict quarantine when compared to women in post-quarantine period with a mean difference of 4.5 points (95% CI: 6.28-2.66, p<0.001, Table 2). Out of all women, 70.59% (n=144) reported that they solely breastfed, 27.94% (n=57) required additional formula and 1.47% (n=3) used formula exclusively. The use of additional formula did not affect the PSQI and EPDS test scores with a mean difference of 0.105 and 0.614, respectively. (Independent Samples T test; p=0.804 and p=0.411, respectively).

In the postpartum period, depressive symptoms are observed in approximately 80% of mothers in the first two weeks and these symptoms regress spontaneously after two weeks. The depressive mood seen in this period is defined as "motherhood sadness-baby blues" and is considered as an entity separate from postpartum depression (24). Considering this situation, mothers with 2 weeks-18 months old babies were included in the study, considering that the application of EPDS to mothers who did not complete two weeks after birth would cause misleading results.

Table 2. Comparison of maternal depression, breastfeeding and sleep quality between postpartum women in different timeline according to the intensity of the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic

	Overall		April ^a	July ^b			Р
	Mean±SD	Min-Max	Mean±SD	Mean± SD	95% CI	Mean Difference	
EPDS (n=204)	3.93 ± 4.85	0-19	4.38±5.21	3.51 ± 4.48	-0.48 to 2.21	0.87	0.205
BSES-SF (n=201)*	64.54±6.72	29-70	63.2 ± 7.83	66.68±4.61	-6.28 to -2.66	-4.47	0.000
PSQI (n=204)	7.04 ± 2.79	1-20	6.85±3.26	7.22±2.27	-1.15 to 0.41	-0.37	0.352

Independent Samples T Test. ^a Denotes the strict quarantine regulations, ^b controlled social life without restrictions. ^{*}Three patients were excluded due to inability to breastfeeding BSES-SF: Breastfeeding Self-Efficacy Scale-Short Form, EPDS: Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale, PSQI: Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index. breastfeeding self-efficacy was found as improved in post-

4. Discussion

This study showed that women who gave birth during the COVID-19 pandemic had poor sleep quality and relatively low risk for postpartum depression. A vast majority of women (98.5%) breastfed with or without formula support. The postpartum depression risk and the sleep quality of mothers were found similar when compared within two distinct period of the pandemic including the peak of first wave with strict quarantine regulations and after the end of the first wave where pro-active regulatory measures were softened. The

quarantine period.
Postpartum women tend to experience more psychological disturbances due to additional concerns about their babies when facing a major public health event (12). Postpartum depression and poor sleep quality are important health problems that seriously affects the quality of life of postpartum women and, care and nutrition of their babies (10, 23). Women after giving birth may be more susceptible to depression and deterioration in sleep quality during the quarantine measures when compared to the general

population due to safety concerns for their babies, fair of getting SARS-CoV-2 infection, increased need for social support and postpartum care and their physiological and psychosocial adaptive conditions (9).

In the current study, the postpartum depression risk scores of postpartum women were found lower than the generally accepted cut-off scores. Moreover, this low-risk trend did not change in between the quarantine and post-quarantine periods. We speculate that this finding can be explained by the feeling of mothers that quarantine is helping to keep themselves and newborns safe (7). Therefore, comply with isolation and protection rules may have been unchanged during the transition from strict quarantine regulations to post-quarantine period. Adequate public information with the visual and printed media during the study setting may have increased the level of knowledge on COVID-19 in the society including pregnant and postpartum women, and therefore, may have helped to prevent from postpartum depression and its related effects (28) It is known that inadequate information about the SARS-CoV-2 infection plays an important role in increasing the levels of fear, anxiety, depression, and other symptoms (7). The quarantine precautions may disturb the sleep patterns and quality (9). Physical inactivity during the quarantine period, and the breastfeeding of mothers may cause the sleep quality to deteriorate (1). During the early phases of the COVID-19 pandemic, many people reported not being able to fall asleep early or maintain an adequate amount of sleep (13). Postpartum women are already more likely to experience sleep deprivation and chronic sleep disturbances compared to non-pregnant women (23). In this study the sleep quality scores of women in their postpartum period were found to be poor in two different periods of the quarantine. However, it was not possible to distinguish whether this effect was either due to the naturally poor sleep quality of women in the postpartum period or the quarantine effect. Despite all these findings, the decrease in the physical activity of postpartum women, particularly during the quarantine period, breastfeeding at night and the time spent by mothers for the care of their babies, and the anxiety caused by the fear of catching the disease may have a negative effect on sleep quality.

BSES-SF is a strong predictor of breastfeeding duration and level. Maternal BSES-SF is a modifiable factor that reflecs the confidence of postpartum women in breastfeeding (6). Therefore, it is important to have a better BSES-SF score for the breastfeeding continuity as well as high breastfeeding rates. In this study, the rate of pure breastfeeding and breastfeeding plus formula were found to be quite high in both quarantine periods. Early in the pandemic, there was no consensus on guidelines recommending women with COVID-19 infection to breastfeed. Those uncertainties and limited data have raised concerns about breastfeeding in women infected with SARS-CoV-2 (20). As time progress, the Royal College of Obstetrics and Gynaecology has begun to recommend the promotion and support of breastfeeding for mothers with suspected or low COVID-19 infection (https://www.rcog.org.uk/globalassets/documents/guidelines/ 2021-02-19-coronavirus-covid-19-infection-in-pregnancy-

v13.pdf, Accessed on 25.05.2021). Supporting this information may lead to an increase in breastfeeding self-efficacy, especially in the post-quarantine period, as in our study.

However, the stress caused by strict quarantine measures in April, 2020 had deleterious psychological effects on society and breastfeeding postpartum women may have caused their self-efficacy scores to decline (27). In our study, we found impaired BSE scores during the strict quarantine period, while we observed an increase in breastfeeding selfefficacy scores in the post-quarantine period.

In conclusion, sleep quality and postpartum depression were found to be remained unchanged with regard to the severity of the quarantine among women who gave birth during the SARS-CoV-2 pandemics. The breastfeeding selfefficacy of mothers was found as improved in post-quarantine period.

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

References

- 1. Achraf A, Michael B, Khaled T, Hamdi C, Omar B, Liwa M, et al. Effects of COVID-19 home confinement on eating behaviour and physical activity: results of the ECLB-COVID19 international online survey.2020. Nutrients. 12,1583.
- Ağargün YM, Kara H, Anlar Ö. The Validity and Reliability of the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index. Turkish Journal of Psychiatry. 1996; 7, 107-115.
- **3.** Alvaro PK, Roberts RM, Harris JK. A Systematic Review Assessing Bidirectionality between Sleep Disturbances, Anxiety, and Depression. Sleep. 2013; 36,1059-1068.
- Archana B, Hannah HK, Rebecca B. A cross-national study of factors associated with women's perinatal mental health and wellbeing during the COVID-19 pandemic. PLoS One. 2021; 16(4):e0249780.
- 5. Barrio L, Burt V. Depression in pregnancy: strategies for primary care management. Dealing with an underdiagnosed undertreated problem. Womens Health Prim Care. 2000; 3,490-498.
- Brockway M, Benzies K, Hayden KA. Interventions to Improve Breastfeeding Self-Efficacy and Resultant Breastfeeding Rates: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Hum Lact. 2017; 33(3): 486-499.
- Brooks SK, Webster RK, Smith LE, Woodland L, Wessely S, Greenberg N, et al. The psychological impact of quarantine and how to reduce it: rapid review of the evidence. The lancet. 2020; 395(10227), 912-920.
- **8.** Buysse DJ, Reynolds CF, Monk TH, Berman SR, Kupfer DJ. The Pittsburgh sleep quality index: a new instrument for psychiatric practice and research. J Psychiat Res. 1989; 28,193-213.
- 9. Casagrande M, Favieri F, Tambelli R, Forte G, et al. The enemy

who sealed the world: effects quarantine due to the COVID-19 on sleep quality, anxiety, and psy- chological distress in the Italian population. Sleep Med. 2020; 75,12e20.

- 10. Cooper PJ, Tomlinson M, Swartz L, Woolgar M, Murray L, Molteno C. Post-partum depression and the mother-infant relationship in a South African peri-urban settlement. Br J Psychiatry.1999; 175,554-558.
- **11.** Dennis CL. Breastfeeding initiation and duration: A 1990-2000 literature review. Journal Of Obstetrics Gynecologic And Neonatal Nursing. 2002; 3,12-32.
- Durankus F, Aksu E. Effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on anxiety and depressive symptoms in pregnant women: a preliminary study. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2020; 18,1-7.
- **13.** Ellemarije A, Chiara B, Colin AE, Jason E, Dimitri G, Brigitte H, et al. Dealing with sleep problems during home confinement due to the COVID-19 outbreak: practical recommendations from a task force of the European CBT-I Academy. J Sleep Res. 2020; 29(4):e13052.
- **14.** Figueiredo B, Canário C, Field T. Breastfeeding is negatively affected by prenatal depression and reduces postpartum depression. Psychological Medicine. 2014; 44,927-936.
- 15. Giorgi G, Lecca LI, Alessio F, Finstad GL, Bondanini G, Lulli LG, et al. COVID-19-Related Mental Health Effects in the Workplace: A Narrative Review. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2020; 17(21):7857.
- 16. Karaçam Z, Kitiş Y. The Postpartum Depression Screening Scale: Its Reliability and Validity for the Turkish Population. Turkish Journal of Psychiatry. 2007; 18, 3-9.
- **17.** Lawson A, Murphy KE, Sloan E, Uleryk E, Dalfen A. The relationship between sleep and postpartum mental disorders: a systematic review. J Affect Disord. 2015; 176, 65-77.
- Nicklas JM, Miller LJ, Zera CA, Davis RB, Levkoff SE, Seely EW. Factors associated with depressive symptoms in the early postpartum period among women with recent gestational diabetes mellitus. Maternal & Child Health Journal. 2013; 17(9),1665-1672.
- 19. Nishioka E, Haruna M, Ota E, Matsuzaki M, Murayama R, Yoshimura K, et al. Prospective study of the relationship

between breastfeeding and postpartum depressive symptoms appearing at 1-5 months after delivery. J. A ect. Disord. 2011; 133,553-559.

- 20. Rasmussen SA, Smulian JC, Lednicky JA, Wen TS, Jamieson DJ. Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) and pregnancy: what obste- tricians need to know. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2020; 5,415-426.
- **21.** Sisk PM, Lovelady CA, Dillard RG, Gruber KJ. Lactation counseling for mothers of very low birth weight infants: E ect on maternal anxiety and infant intake of human milk. Pediatrics. 2006; 117, e67-e75.
- 22. Slomian J, Honvo G, Emonts P, Reginster JY, Bruyère O. Consequences of maternal postpartum depression: A systematic review of maternal and infant outcomes. Womens Health (Lond). 2019; 15:1745506519844044.
- 23. Sohrab I, Gholam RK, Ahmad E, Motahar H, Mohammad RM. Association between sleep quality and postpartum depression. J Res Med. 2016; 2,110.
- 24. Stocky A, Lynch J. Acute psychiatric disturbance in pregnancy and puerperium. Baillieres Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol. 2000; 14,73-87.
- 25. T.R. Ministry of Health Covid-19 Information Platform. Available from: https://covid19.saglik.gov.tr/TR-66935/genelkoronavirus-tablosu.html., 2021.
- 26. Victora CG, Bahl R, Barros AJ, Franca GV, Horton S, Krasevec J., et al. Breastfeeding in the 21st century: Epidemiology, mechanisms, and lifelong e ect. Lancet. 2016; 387,475-490.
- Victoria JP, Alison JD. Stress in early pregnancy: maternal neuro-endocrine-immune responses and effects. J. Reprod. Immunol. 2010; 85, 86-92.
- 28. Yassa M, Yassa A, Yirmibes C, Pinar B, Umur G, Arzu BT. Anxiety levels and obsessive compulsion symptoms of pregnant women during the COVID-19 pandemic. Turk J Obstet Gynecol. 2020; 17,155-60.
- Yourkavitch J, Chetwynd EM. Toward Consistency: Updating Lactation and Breastfeeding Terminology for Population Health Research. J. Hum. Lact. 2019; 35, 418-423.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm

Research Article

1



J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 174-179 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.35

Comparison of quality of life, depression and fatigue in patients with psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis

Sertaç KETENCİ¹, Bora UZUNER^{2,*}, Ayhan BİLGİCİ²

¹Rheumatology Clinic, Faculty of Medicine, Izmir Katip Celebi University, Izmir, Turkey ²Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Faculty of Medicine, Ondokuz Mayis University, Samsun, Turkey

Received: 04.08.2021	•	Accepted/Published Online: 22.09.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022
----------------------	---	---------------------------------------	---	---------------------------

Abstract

Psoriatic arthritis (PsA) is a chronic inflammatory multisystemic disease. Limitations due to skin and joint involvement of the patients; can lead to negativie suffix in emotional state, social and physical activities. The aim of this study is to investigate the effects of parameters such as skin joint involvement and disease severity on factors such as fatigue, quality of life, depression, etc. in psoriasis and PsA patients. Thirty-four psoriasis and 48 PsA patients matched with each other in terms of age, sex, and other factors were included in the study. Disease severity was measured by Psoriasis Area Severity Index (PASI), Nail Psoriasis Severity Index (NAPSI), Disease Activity in Psoriatic Arthritis (DAPSA) and Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Index (BASDAI) scores. In order to determine the depression status, quality of life and fatigue levels of the patients, respectively; Beck Depression Inventory (BDI), Health Assessment Questionnaire (HAQ) and Functional Assessment of Chronic Illness Therapy - fatigue scale (FACIT) scores were used. SPSS 17 for statistical evaluation (SPSS Inc. Released 2007. SPSS for Windows, Version 17.0. Chicago, SPSS Inc.) software package was used for analyses. Written informed consent was obtained from all patients who were enrolled to the study. PsA patients were found to have worse quality of life scores than psoriasis patients who were similar in terms of age, gender and other demographic characteristics. (0.22±0.36-0-0.48±0.52 p=0.017 respectively). There was a strong correlation between DAPSA scores and HAQ scores of the cases in the PsA group (r:0,615 p<0.05). Likewise, disease activity measured by DAPSA was found to have moderate correlation with FACIT score, and weak but statistically significant correlation with BDI score. (r: -0.578 p<0.05 and r:0.346 p<0.001, respectively). No correlation was found between NAPSI-PASI scores and HAQ, BDI - FACIT scores in both the psoriasis and PsA groups. Both psoriasis and PsA affect the quality of life, and our findings suggest that this effect is more pronounced in PsA patients. Our study supports that; the disease severity in PsA patients is related to depression, bad quality of life and fatigue level.

Keywords: psoriasis, arthritis, disease activity, inflammation

1. Introduction

Psoriasis is a common, chronic, inflammatory skin disease with remission and relapses, where genetic, immunological, and environmental factors are suggested to play a role in its etiology (1). During the course of the disease, psoriatic arthritis (PsA), a chronic inflammatory rheumatic disease that can be seen in both sexes, may develop. PsA was defined as an inflammatory arthritis associated with psoriasis, in which rheumatoid factor (RF) was generally negative (2, 3). Some attributes of PsA include distal interphalangeal (DIP) joint involvement, asymmetric distribution, dactylitis (diffuse inflammation of the finger), enthesitis, spinal involvement, and association with HLA-B27 (4, 5). Based on the above characteristic features, PsA was classified within the family of HLA-B27 associated spondyloarthropathy (3, 5). The prevalence of arthritis varies between 7-42% in patients with psoriasis, while its prevalence is 2-3% in the general population (4, 5). The prevalence of psoriasis varies between 0.1 and 2.8% in the general population, while it is between 2.6% and 7.2% in patients with arthritis (2, 6). The onset of psoriatic skin disease is usually observed in the 2nd and 3rd decades, whereas PsA appears after an average of 1 or 2 decades. Prevalence increases from the 3rd to the 6th decade. Average onset is seen between 30-55 years of age. Unlike rheumatoid arthritis (RA), men and women are equally affected (2-6). This rate is different in subgroups of the disease: In the group with spine and DIP involvement, male dominance is observed, and in the group with symmetrical polyarthritis involvement, female predominance is observed. Although the prevalence of skin disease is not correlated with the severity of joint damage, synchronized exacerbations of joint and skin complaints are seen in PsA at a rate of 30-40% (6-9).

The severity of psoriatic nail involvement is closely related to the severity of both skin and joint disease, and DIF joint involvement is more common in such patients (5, 10, 11).

A patient survey published in 1998 by the United States National Psoriasis Foundation showed that patients with psoriasis believed this disease had profound emotional, social, and physical effects on their quality of life (12). In the said survey, most patients felt that the ineffectiveness of their treatment affected their quality of life. PsA was found to be strongly associated with reduced quality of life consistent with previous studies. Patients with PsA frequently reported emotional problems and body pain in their assessments of quality of life. Although it was shown that both psoriasis and PsA had major effects on individual's perception of quality of life, a very limited number of studies compared only cases with skin involvement with PsA patients (12).

Although Rosen et al. reported lower quality of life levels in PSA cases based on such criteria as the Health Assessment Questionnaire (HAQ) and Short Form 36 in their study in the Canadian population, statistically worse results in psoriasis cases were reported in the Dermatological Life Quality Index (DLQI), which is a dermatological and cosmetic evaluation (13). The results of the aforementioned limited number of studies comparing the two diseases are still controversial. In this study, it was aimed to compare quality of life, fatigue, depression and other parameters in psoriasis and PsA patient groups with similar characteristics in terms of age, gender, socio-demographic characteristics, and disease activity.

2. Materials and Methods

This cross-sectional study was conducted at Ondokuz Mayıs University Faculty of Medicine, Rheumatology Clinic. Prior to the study, relevant approval was obtained from the 19 Mayıs University Faculty of Medicine Ethics Committee (Approval no:2011/480) and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki were followed. Written informed consent was obtained from all patients enrolled in the study.

Thirty-four consecutive patients, who were diagnosed with psoriasis and met the study criteria and 48 cases with PsA, matched with the psoriasis group in terms of age and gender, were included in the study. Study inclusion criterias were; being diagnosed with psoriasis as a result of dermatologist examination or diagnosed with PsA according to CASPAR Criteria and regularly using the recommended medical treatment for these diseases, being older than 18 years of age and younger than 60 years of age, and volunteering to participate in the study. Exclusion criterias for the study were; having an additional disease (such as uncontrolled hypertension, diabetes, lung and heart diseases) that may affect quality of life, having another rheumatological disease requiring different medical treatment, presence of pregnancy, presence of neurological or orthopedic insufficiency that may cause disability, and being employed in heavy work. Joint involvement was excluded by detailed rheumatological examination in patients in the psoriasis group.

2.1. Study parameters

In order to determine disease activity, PsA activity index Disease Activity in Psoriatic Arthritis (DAPSA) and Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Index (BASDAI) scores were used in PsA cases, whereas Psoriasis Area Severity Index (PASI) and Nail Psoriasis Severity Index (NAPSI) were used in psoriasis cases. Pain level during the last week was determined by Visual Analog Scale (VAS) for both groups.

The DAPSA score is a scoring system developed from the Disease Activity in Reactive Arthritis (DAREA) score previously defined for reactive arthritis patients, and it was shown to be effective in indicating the severity of PsA disease (14). Swelling in 66 joints and tenderness in 68 joints is checked in this scoring system. The patient's pain score and the patient's global self-assessment of the disease are calculated in the Visual Analog Scale (VAS) 10-point system. Finally, the patients' C-reactive protein (CRP) value at the time of calculation is recorded as mg/dl. The DAPSA score is obtained by adding the number of tender joints, the number of swollen joints, the patient pain score, the patient global assessment, and the CRP value. High scores represent active and severe disease (14).

The PASI score is a scoring system in which the severity and extent of psoriasis disease are evaluated together, by which the size of the lesions in the head, upper extremities, lower extremities and trunk regions, and the severity of erythema induration and dandruff are evaluated (15). The sum of the scores in all 4 regions is expressed as a maximum of 72 points, with the increased scores representing the severe psoriasis case (15).

NAPSI is a scoring method developed to determine the severity of nail involvement in psoriasis patients (16). For all nails, the nail matrix and nail bed are divided into four quadrants and each quadrant is checked for involvement. A nail gets a minimum of 0 and a maximum of 8 points (16).

Patients are asked to mark the severity of pain by explaining that no pain is 0 on a 0-10 cm chart and 10 is the most severe pain that can be felt in life, when calculating the severity of pain with the Visual Analog Scale (VAS). Afterwards, the pain intensity is evaluated by measuring the point marked on the chart with a millimetric ruler (17).

The quality of life of the patients in both groups was evaluated by means of the Health Assessment Questionnaire (HAQ). HAQ is a questionnaire that consists of 20 questions to evaluate the quality of life of patients. Daily tasks such as dressing, eating, walking ability and maintaining personal hygiene are questioned (18). In the questionnaire, where each answer is evaluated between 0-3 points, the total score is divided by 20 and the result is obtained The HAQ score, which is a good indicator of functional status, is widely used in PsA publications and its validity and reliability was shown for Turkish Language (18, 19).

Depression levels of the patients in both groups were evaluated by means of the Beck Depression Inventory (BDI). Having been a questionnaire consisting of 21 items in total, each item is composed of 4 sentences and patients are asked to choose the sentence that best fits their situation in that scale (20). These sentences are scored between 0-3, with the most severe case being rated as 3 points. Relevant validity and reliability studies were conducted for patients in Turkey (20). The fatigue levels of the patients in both groups were evaluated by means of the FACIT Fatigue Scale. FACIT is questionnaire that has been used in many studies to evaluate fatigue and consists of 13 items each question is given points between 0 and 4, and questions 7 and 8 are scored inversely and a total value of 0-52 is obtained. Lower scores indicate that the patient's fatigue is more severe (21).

2.2. Statistics analysis

SPSS 17 for statistical evaluation (SPSS Inc. Released 2007. SPSS for Windows, Version 17.0. Chicago, SPSS Inc.) software package was used. Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to test the conformity of the obtained data to the normal distribution. The Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare the mean of the two groups, when the data did not fit the normal distribution. Chi-square test was used to compare the data obtained by counting method. As regards the correlations within the groups, the Pearson correlation test was applied for the data conforming to the normal distribution and the Spearman correlation test was used for the data not conforming to the normal distribution.

3. Results

The descriptive features of the cases in both groups are provided in Table 1. There was no significant difference in demographic data of psoriasis and PsA patients, such as age, gender, education status, and duration of disease. When comparing psoriasis and PsA groups with similar characteristics, a statistically significant difference was observed in the HAQ scale ($0.22\pm0.36-0-0.48\pm0.52$ p=0.017 respectively). While PsA patients showed more disability than psoriasis patients, there was no difference between the two diseases in terms of the depression and fatigue parameters measured by BDI and FACIT scales between the groups (BDI score 10.58 ± 8 - 10.91 ± 9.04 FACIT score $36.91 \pm 12.26 - 36.89\pm11.23$ for both p>0.05, respectively) (Table 2).

T 11 4	a · ·	CD	1 0 4
Table I.	Comparision	of Psoriasis	s and PsA group
			A

rubie ii companibion or	i bollabib alla i bi	Broup	
	Psoriasis (n:34)	PsA (n:48)	р
Gender Female (%)	24 (70%)	29 (60%)	0.325
Age (years)	$38,35 \pm 12,01$	$46,50 \pm 10,93$	0.122
(Mean±SD)			
Disease duration	$13,54 \pm 9,93$	$13,\!66 \pm 10,\!70$	0.475
(years) (Mean±SD)			
Marital status: Married	30 (90%)	44 (92)	0.319
(%)			
Educational status n			0.141
(%)			
Elementary school	18 (53%)	32(67%)	
High schools	8 (23%)	3(7%)	
University	6 (17%)	10 (20%)	
DAPSA (Mean±SD)		$13,90\pm 2,84$	
BASDAI (Mean±SD)		$2,06 \pm 1,11$	
PASI	$10,71 \pm 10,56$	$5,92 \pm 8,22$	0.110
NAPSI	$10,\!67 \pm 25,\!10$	$6,54 \pm 11,56$	0.135
VAS	$4,12\pm 3,01$	$5,36 \pm 3,19$	0.097
Subtypes of Psoriasis			
Plaque	85,3%	91.7%	
Pustuler	2,9%	2.1%	
Erythrodermic	2,9%	-	
Palmoplantar	8,8%	6.3%	
Pure Axial Disease		4.2%	
%			
Oligoarthritis		45.8%	
Polyarthritis		39.6%	
Dif+Polyarthritis		6.3%	
Axial+ Polyarthritis		2,1%	
Axial+ Oligoarthritis		2,1%	
Treatment Regimen			0.24
n (%)			5
DMARD	10	23	0.01
			1
Biologic Therapy	2	18	0.00 9

DAPSA: Disease Activity in Psoriatic Arthritis, BASDAI: The Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Index, PASI: The Psoriasis Area Severity Index, NAPSI: The Nail Psoriasis Severity Index, VAS: The Visual Analog Scale, DMARD: 'Disease Modifying Anti-Rheumatic Drugs

Table 2.	Comparision	of HAO.	BDI and FACIT so	ores
I HOIC -	comparision	$v_1 u_2$	DDI una i i i ot	0100

	Psoriasis	PsA	р
HAQ	$0,22 \pm 0,36$	$0,\!48 \pm 0,\!52$	0,017
BDI	$10{,}58\pm8$	$10,91 \pm 9,04$	0,966
FACIT	$36,91 \pm 12,26$	$36,89 \pm 11,23$	0,817

HAQ: Health Assessment Questionnaire, BDI: Beck Depression Inventory, FACIT: Functional Assessment of Chronic Illness Therapy-Fatigue Scale, PsA: Psoriasis Arthritis

There was a strong correlation between DAPSA scores and HAQ scores in the PsA group (r:0,615 p<0.05). Likewise, disease activity measured by DAPSA was found to have moderate correlations with FACIT score, and weak but statistically significant correlations with BDI score. (r: -0.578 p<0.05 and r:0.346 p<0.001, respectively). In the subgroup of patients with spondylitis, there was a correlation between BASDAI scores with HAQ and FACIT scores (r:0.498 and r:-0.513 p<0.05). There was no significant correlation between BDI scores (Table 3).

Table 3. Assessment of the Relation	Between	Disease	Severity	with
HAQ, BDI and FACIT scores				

	DAPSA correlation "r"	р	BASDAI correlation "r"	Р
HAQ	.615	< 0.05	.498	< 0.05
BDI	.346	< 0.05	.147	>0.05
FACIT	578	< 0.01	513	< 0.05

HAQ: Health Assessment Questionnaire, BDI: Beck Depression Inventory, FACIT: Functional Assessment of Chronic Illness Therapy-Fatigue Scale, DAPSA: Disease Activity in Psoriatic Arthritis, BASDAI: The Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Index

More severe deterioration in depression symptoms, disability and disease activity parameters were found in the group with severe fatigue, when the FACIT score cut-off value was taken as 30 in the PsA group. Similarly; more fatigue, more severe disease severity and worse disability scores were found in the severely depressed group, when patients with mild depression and severe depression were compared (Table 4).

 Table 4. Effects of Severe Depression and Fatique on PsA study group

Psoriasis Arthritis	FACIT≤30	FACIT>30	Р
HAQ	$0,91\pm0,47$	0,30±0,43	< 0.001
BDI	$19,85\pm 9,50$	$7,23\pm 5,74$	< 0.001
DAPSA	23,25±14,87	$10,94\pm 8,26$	< 0.001
Psoriasis Arthritis	BDI>17	BDI≤17	р
HAQ	$0,82\pm0,44$	$0,37\pm0,50$	< 0.002
FACIT	24,50±9,39	41,02±8,46	< 0.001
DAPSA	20,18±11,19	12,65±11,63	< 0.02

HAQ: Health Assessment Questionnaire, BDI: Beck Depression Inventory, FACIT: Functional Assessment of Chronic Illness Therapy-Fatigue Scale, DAPSA: Disease Activity in Psoriatic Arthritis

As regards the psoriasis group, it was observed that HAQ, FACIT and BDI scores did not show a significant correlation with clinical disease activity that evaluated by PASI and NAPSI scores, and this was also true for PsA patients (Table 5).

Table 5. The relation between PASI/NAPSI with HAQ, BDI andFACIT scores

Psoriasis	PASI	р	NAPSI	р
	correlation "r"		correlation "r"	
HAQ	,078	>0.05	-,054	>0.05
BDI	-,209	>0.05	,028	>0.05
FACIT	-,040	>0.05	-,108	>0.05
Psoriasis	PASI		NAPSI	
Arthritis	correlation "r"	р	"correlation r"	Р
HAQ	-,061	>0.05	,041	>0.05
BDI	-,008	>0.05	,002	>0.05
FACIT	-,020	>0.05	-,013	>0.05

HAQ: Health Assessment Questionnaire, BDI: Beck Depression Inventory, FACIT: Functional Assessment of Chronic Illness Therapy-Fatigue Scale, PASI: The Psoriasis Area Severity Index, NAPSI: The Nail Psoriasis Severity Index

4. Discussion

Studies in psoriasis and PsA cases revealed that both diseases reduced the quality of life. Again, studies in which these two diseases were evaluated separately showed that the two negatively affected depression and fatigue levels (22, 23). However, there is only a limited number of studies comparing

177

these two disease groups, taking into account similar age, gender, and disease duration criteria(13). In this study, both disease groups in Turkish society were evaluated on quality of life, fatigue, and depression parameters. According to the results of the study, only HAQ scores were significantly lower in the PsA patient group in terms of quality of life compared to the psoriasis patient group.

Skin diseases such as psoriasis are considered among the important causes of disability because they cause negative feelings such as anxiety and worry due to the presence of a skin disease rather than the itching-like discomfort they actually cause (22, 23). Similarly, some studies showed that the level of disability in skin diseases such as psoriasis did not always correlate with the severity of the disease (22, 24). Krueger et al. suggested in their study conducted in the USA on a national basis that the patients with psoriasis reported that the disease affected their quality of life at a moderate or advanced level at a rate of 75% (12). It was shown in a study conducted with generic quality of life indices based on physical, social, and psychological health assessment, that psoriasis patients and patient groups with atopic dermatitis had similar negative outcomes (25). Decreased quality of life and social comfort in patients with psoriasis were reported in studies conducted with criteria such as Dermatology Specific Quality of Life (DSYK) and Psoriasis Functional Loss Index (PDI), which allow a more sensitive assessment in terms of skin involvement (24-26). Generic scales offer the opportunity to compare two different disease groups, although these original scales were prepared by taking the concerns of psoriasis patients to the forefront. In our study, quality of life and disease activity were determined by means of the Health Assessment Questionnaire (HAQ). Lower scores were obtained especially in the physical health and psychological well-being domains compared to the healthy controls in the psoriasis cases as evaluated by WHOQOL-B in a study by Skevington et al., while it was reported similar results with the control group in the social relations and environment domains. In the same study, statistically significantly lower scores on physical health, psychological well-being, and environment domains were reported in patients with joint involvement compared to patients without joint involvement. In particular, it was emphasized that the items about body image and negative feelings negatively affected psychological well-being domain scores, and items about physical safety and bodily mobility negatively affected environmental domain scores (27). Similar results were reported in the social environment domain in groups with and without joint involvement. In the present study, quality of life was also evaluated by means of HAQ, and while significantly lower results were obtained in the PsA patient group compared to the psoriasis patient group, similar scores were found in the other domains of the quality of life. In a similar study conducted by Tezel et al. within the Turkish society, Psoriatic Arthritis Quality of Life (PSAQoL) scale and HAQ, which were prepared specifically for these patient groups, were used

to compare the quality of life in psoriasis and PsA cases (23). The authors reported that there was no significant difference between the groups in terms of PSAQoL scores, but the increase in HAQ scores in the PsA group was statistically significant. In addition, the authors suggested, the fact that especially psychological mood and social relations values were predominantly included in the calculation of this scale, affected the result in obtaining similar results with regard to PSAQoL scores between the groups (23). Rosen et al. compared the same two disease groups in their study, in which quality of life was evaluated both with the Short Form 36 (SF-36) scale, a generic scale, and with the DSYK, a scale specific to skin diseases (13). According to the results of this study, worse scores were obtained for SF-36 and HAQ results in the PsA patient group, while worse results were found in the psoriasis patient group for DSYK scores (13). Although the presence of arthritis was found to be a negative risk factor for quality of life and functional capacity in that study, the fact that there was an age difference between the groups included in the study (mean age was 46.8 in the psoriasis group, while the mean age was 51.7 in the PsA group) required a statistical correction by logistic regression during the computation of the results (13). In our study, however, the groups were chosen methodologically similar to each other in terms of age and gender in order not to encounter a similar problem; our results showed that high DAPSA scores significantly affected HAQ, FACIT, and BECK scores in PsA patients. These findings are consistent with the studies of Rosen et al. and support the fact that the severity of arthritis affects quality of life and function.

Studies showed that the mental health and activities of daily living of patients with high anxiety levels due to skin lesions were adversely affected. Rüschenschmidt et al. emphasized that although there was no difference in terms of psychological effects, functional disability might be more pronounced in cases with joint involvement (28). In our study, although HAQ scores were higher in the PsA patient group, there was no significant difference between the two groups in terms of BDI scores. Lee et al. suggested in their study that a significant improvement in quality of life, anxiety and depression scores could be recorded in patients with psoriasis, whose disease control could be achieved with treatment, although it was considered that the relationship between psoriasis and psychological well-being was negatively affected by low quality of life, fatigue, sleep disorders, presence of inflammatory cytokines, low vitamin D levels, anxiety, and similar reasons (29). According to a study by Lewinson et al., which offered another point of view, the presence of depression in patients with psoriasis was defined as a risk factor for the manifestation of joint involvement (30). However, although BDI scores were higher in the PsA patient group in our study, it did not lead to a statistically significant difference between these groups. Relevant studies considered fatigue a common symptom in both PsA and psoriasis patient groups (4-11). In their study, McDonough et

al. compared the cases with PsA and psoriasis in terms of anxiety, depression, fatigue, quality of life, and functional capacity(31). In that study, more negative results were obtained in the PsA group in measures of anxiety, depression, fatigue, and functional capacity(31). However, there was no difference between the groups in the mental component of quality of life as assessed by SF-36(31). However, the fact that 60% of the cases in the PsA group were men and most of these men were unemployed due to functional disability disrupted the similarity of the study groups (31). Again, inconsistent with this study, female sex was shown as a risk factor for both depression and fatigue for both disease groups in the literature(32, 34). In our study, however, there was no difference between the groups in fatigue and depression scores.

The strengths of our study are ; the diagnosis of psoriasis and PsA was confirmed by both a rheumatologist and a dermatologist, that the PsA group was matched with the psoriasis group in terms of age and gender variables, when forming the groups, and the use of generic scales for comparison between groups. However, the fact that the sample size was not calculated before the study, because it was a cross-sectional study, and that variables such as changes in attack periods and response to treatment did not yield results are included in the important limitations of our study.

As a result, both psoriasis and PsA are diseases that negatively affect such parameters as quality of life, functional capacity, density and depression, as in many chronic diseases. Nevertheless, the results of studies investigating these two diseases or the clinical effect of joint involvement in psoriatic cases are inconsistent. In addition, factors such as different age group, sex, disease activity, disease duration, and treatment regimens make it difficult to compare these two disease groups methodologically. In future prospective comparative studies that start with the diagnosis period, more meaningful results can be obtained by revealing the process, in which both diseases become chronic, and the response to treatment.

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

References

- 1. Ali Tahsin Güneş. Psoriyazisin Tarihçesi ve Epidemiyolojisi. Turkiye Klinikleri J Int Med Sci, 2005. 1(13): 1-4.
- Kundakci N, Türsen U, Babiker M, Gürgey E. The evaluation of the sociodemographic and clinical features of Turkish psoriasis patients. Int J Dermatol, 2002. 41(4): 220-4.
- **3.** Ritchlin CT.Pathogenesis of psoriatic arthritis. Curr Opin Rheumatol, 2005. 17(4): 406-12.
- **4.** Gelfand JM,Gladman D, Mease P, Smith N,Margolis D, Nijsten T et al. Epidemiology of psoriatic arthritis in the population of the United States. J Am Acad Dermatol, 2005. 53(4): 573.

- **5.** Kart-Köseoğlu H, Psöriyatik Artrit. Turkiye Klinikleri J Immunol Rheumatol; 2004. 4(1): 44-53.
- 6. Erdem HR., Psöriatik artritin klinik özellikleri. Turkish J Rheum 2000; 15: 31-38.
- 7. Akkaya VB. Psoriyazisde Tanı ve Ayırıcı Tanı. Turkiye Klinikleri J Int Med Sci. 2005; 1(13): 62-67.
- 8. Özel S, Ünal B, Koca I. Psöriazis Vulgariste Psöriatik Artrit görülme sıklığı. Ege Fiziksel Tıp ve Rehabilitasyon Dergisi 1997. 3(4): 259- 261.
- Karaoğlan B, Gül O, Koca İ, Karabay Y. Psoriazis Vulgariste Psoriatik Artrit insidansı, hastalarda klinik ve laboratuvar bulgular. Romatol Tıb Rehab 1992; 3(10): 10-4.
- Saraç G, Kapıcıoglu Y. Psoriasisin Etyopatogenezi. Dermatoz; 2015. 6(1).
- Çayakar A. Sedimantasyon & CRP- Geçmişten Geleceğe. Ege Tıp Bilimleri Dergisi; 2019. 2(2): 85-96.
- 12. Krueger, G.Koo J, Lebwohl M, Menter A, Stern RS, Rolstad T. The impact of psoriasis on quality of life: results of a 1998 National Psoriasis Foundation patient-membership survey. Arch Dermatol 2001; 137(3): 280-4.
- Rosen CF, Mussani F, Chandran V, Eder L, Thavaneswaran A, Gladman D. Patients with psoriatic arthritis have worse quality of life than those with psoriasis alone. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2012;51(3): 571-6.
- 14. Aletaha D, Alasti F, Smolen J S. Disease activity states of the DAPSA, a psoriatic arthritis specific instrument, are valid against functional status and structural progression. Ann Rheum Dis 2017;76(2): 418-421.
- **15.** Bilaç C, Şahin MT, Öztürkcan S. Disease severity scoring systems in dermatology. Turkderm 2016; 50(2):42-53.
- **16.** Cassell SE, Bieber J, Rich P, Tutuncu Z,Lee SJ,Kalunian KC et al., The modified Nail Psoriasis Severity Index: validation of an instrument to assess psoriatic nail involvement in patients with psoriatic arthritis. The Journal of Rheumatology 2007 ;34(1): 123-129.
- Wong PC, Leung Y-Y, Li EK, Tam L-S. Measuring disease activity in psoriatic arthritis. Int J Rheumatol, 2012; 2012: 839425.
- **18.** Kucukdeveci A.A., Sahin H, Ataman S, Griffiths B, Tennant A. Issues in cross-cultural validity: example from the adaptation, reliability, and validity testing of a Turkish version of the Stanford Health Assessment Questionnaire. Arthritis Rheum 2004; 51(1): 14-9.
- **19.** Ozcan E, Yılmaz Ö, Tutoğlu A, Bodur H., Validity and reliability of the Turkish version of the Health Assessment Questionnaire for the Spondyloarthropathies. Rheumatol Int 2012; 32(6): 1563-8.
- Hisli N. Beck Depresyon Envanterinin üniversite öğrencileri için geçerliği, güvenirliği. Psikoloji dergisi 1989; 7(23): 3-13.
- Webster K., Cella D, Yost K. The Functional Assessment of Chronic Illness Therapy (FACIT) Measurement System: properties, applications, and interpretation. Health Qual Life

Outcomes 2003; (1): 79.

- Bhosle MJ,Kulkarni A, Feldman S,Balkrishnan R. Quality of life in patients with psoriasis. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2006;4: 35.
- **23.** Tezel N,Tasdelen O, Bodur H, Gül U, Çakmaj S, Oguz I et al., Is the health-related quality of life and functional status of patients with psoriatic arthritis worse than that of patients with psoriasis alone? Int J Rheum Dis 2015; 18(1): 63-9.
- 24. Brodszky V, Pentek M,Balint PV, Geher P, Hadju O, Hodinka L et al. Comparison of the Psoriatic Arthritis Quality of Life (PsAQoL) questionnaire, the functional status (HAQ) and utility (EQ-5D) measures in psoriatic arthritis: results from a crosssectional survey. Scand J Rheumatol 2010; 39(4): 303-9.
- **25.** Lundberg L., Johannesson M, Silverdahl M, Hermasson C, Lindberg M, Health-related quality of life in patients with psoriasis and atopic dermatitis measured with SF-36, DLQI and a subjective measure of disease activity. Acta Derm Venereol 2000; 80(6): 430-4.
- 26. Fortune DG, Main CJ, O'Sullivan TM, Griffiths C E. Quality of life in patients with psoriasis: the contribution of clinical variables and psoriasis-specific stress. Br J Dermatol 1997; 137(5): 755-60.
- **27.** Skevington SM,Bradshaw J,Hepplewhite A, Dawkes K, Lovell CR. How does psoriasis affect quality of life? Assessing an Ingram-regimen outpatient programme and validating the WHOQOL-100. Br J Dermatol 2006; 154(4). 680-91.
- **28.** Ruschenschmidt C,Somberg B, Haussler G, Lohmann J. Comparison of patients with psoriasis vulgaris vs. psoriatic arthritis with regard to the reported quality of life. Rehabilitation 2008; 47(6): 343-9.
- 29. Lee YW, Park EJ, Kwon IH, Kwang HK, Kwang JK. Impact of Psoriasis on Quality of Life: Relationship between Clinical Response to Therapy and Change in Health-related Quality of Life. Ann Dermatol 2010; 22(4): 389-96.
- 30. Lewinson RT, Vallerand I, Lowerison M, Parsons L, Frolkis A,Kaplan G et al., Depression Is Associated with an Increased Risk of Psoriatic Arthritis among Patients with Psoriasis: A Population-Based Study. J Invest Dermatol 2017; 137(4): 828-835.
- 31. McDonough E, Ayearst R, Eder L, Chandran V, Rosen C, Thavaneswaran A et al. Depression and anxiety in psoriatic disease: prevalence and associated factors. J Rheumatol 2014; 41(5): 887-96.
- **32.** Çayakar A. Halsizlik ve Yorgunluğa Klinik Yaklaşım. Ege Tıp Bilimleri Dergisi 2019; 2(3): 168-78.
- **33.** Karshikoff B, Sundelin T, Lasselin J, Role of Inflammation in Human Fatigue: Relevance of Multidimensional Assessments and Potential Neuronal Mechanisms. Front Immunol 2017; 8: 21.
- 34. Sahi FM, Masood A, Danawar NA, Mekaiel A, Malik BH. Association Between Psoriasis and Depression: A Traditional Review. Cureus 2020;12(8):e9708.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm

Research Article



J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 180-188 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.36

The effect of maternal food consumption habits to the neonatal outcomes, blood biochemical parameters and nutrient elements: A cross-sectional study

Şebnem ALANYA TOSUN^{1,*}, Muhammet BULUT², Ayşegül ÇEBİ³, Sema BAKİ YILDIRIM¹

¹ Departments of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Faculty of Medicine, Giresun University, Giresun, Turkey ² Department of Pediatrics, Faculty of Medicine, Giresun University, Giresun, Turkey

³ Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Health Sciences, Giresun University, Giresun, Turkey

					_
Received: 08.08.2021	•	Accepted/Published Online: 31.08.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022	

Abstract

Optimal nutrition during prenatal, antenatal and postnatal period is one of the most desired conditions for the healthy birth of new generations and proper care of mother. The aim is to evaluate the effect of each maternal food consumption habit and supplementary intakes to the neonatal outcomes, blood biochemical parameters, macronutrient and micronutrient composition of body and address sufficient healthcare during antenatal care in a middle-income region. A group of 77 women at 3^{rd} months postpartum were asked to complete the 43 items dietary questionnaire. Among all the women, 44 of them completed the questionnaire properly. The results of the questionnaire were evaluated by a nutrient database program (BeBiS software program) designed to evaluate nutrient elements of the human body. The blood biochemical parameters of all the patients were analyzed. The socio-demographic features, neonatal outcomes and maternal-neonatal anthropometric measurements were noted. The mean infant's 3rd month height was statistically significantly higher in walnut consumed group 3-4 days a week (mean =66.57 ± 2.07 cm; CI: 95%) than in the non-consumed group (63.25 ± 2.08 cm; CI: 95%) (p =0.021). The mean weight gain was 10.94 ± 5.16 kg (CI 95%) in walnut non-consumed group and 18.43 ± 6.50 kg (CI 95%) in consumed group 3-4 days a week which is statistically significantly different (p =0.012). Iodine level was significantly statistically higher in the egg consumed group 5-7 days a week than the non-consumed group as secondary outcome (2.80 ± 0.24; 2.15 ± 0.64 respectively, p=0.022). The walnut consumption was related to the greater weight gain during pregnancy and the increase in infant's height. Although, optimal weight gain is essential to maintain physiological wellbeing during pregnancy, we should consider the positive effect of walnuts on infant's development.

Keywords: BeBIS, dietary questionnaire, pregnancy, maternal nutrition, neonatal development

1. Introduction

Pregnancy is an important period in which both a healthy fetal development is required, and many maternal physiological changes are observed. Optimal nutrition during prenatal, antenatal, and postnatal period is one of the most desired conditions for the healthy birth of new generations and proper care of mother (1). As well as intrauterine environment, placental factors, and genetic conditions; the nutrition of pregnant women also has effects on fetal development such as birth weight, head circumference and birth height (2). On the contrary, maternal malnutrition is known to increase both maternal and fetal morbidity and mortality rates such as chronic diseases, iron or vitamin deficiencies, neurological developmental disorders throughout infant's life and maternal metabolic diseases such as diabetes and obesity (3). Thus, women need to regulate her nutrition habits starting from preconception and there are antenatal programs to improve the nutrition quality during pregnancy.

There are some studies conducted with certain food groups such as vegetables and fruits which have been associated with birth weight and birth height (4). In addition, there are many supplements regularly recommended for use in pregnancy such as folic acid, omega 3 and vitamin D. Folate is necessary for cell division and tissue growth and acting role in nucleotide biosynthesis, amino acid metabolism and several methylation reactions (5) (6). Folic acid supplementation during pre-conception and first trimester pregnancy period is recommended to prevent neural tube defects and improve child cognitive developments (6). Omega 3 intake is also associated with the reduced risk of preterm birth, low birth weight and need of neonatal intensive care (7). Vitamin D intake and daily sunlight exposure during pregnancy improves the pregnancy outcomes by preventing preterm birth, preeclampsia, gestational diabetes, and asthma (8).

There is lack of research which evaluates the benefit of each food consumption habit and each supplement intake on neonatal outcomes; maternal micronutrient and macronutrient status; maternal hematological and biochemical blood parameters. Therefore, the aim of this study is to evaluate the potential effect of each maternal food consumption habit and supplementary intakes to the neonatal outcomes and to address sufficient antenatal care in terms of nutrition in a middle-income region.

2. Materials and Methods

A cross sectional single center study was performed with women in puerperium who were undergoing regular antenatal visits during their pregnancy in Giresun University Women and Children Research and Education Hospital between January, 2020 and March, 2021. All procedures performed in

Table 1. Demographic and anthropometric characteristics

studies involving human participants were in accordance with the ethical standards of the institutional and/or national research committee and with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards; all patients agreed written informed consent. The study approved by local ethical committee (Decision number: 18/04.03.21).

Characteristic	Mean \pm SD	Std error	95% Confidence Interval for Mean		Minimum	Maximum	
	(n=44)		Lower	Upper			
Age (n)	29.07 ± 6.87				19	36	
BMI (kg/m ²)	24.48 ± 4.01	0.60	23.26	25.70	19.53	36.73	
Weight gained during pregnancy (kg)	13.66 ± 5.52	0.83	11.98	15.34	1.00	28.00	
Birth weight (kg)	$3.32\ \pm 0.58$	0.87	3.15	3.50	2.05	4.38	
Birth height (cm)	50.31 ± 2.09	0.31	49.68	50.95	45.00	53.00	
Current birth height (cm)	64.32 ± 2.61	0.39	63.52	65.11	59.00	70.00	
Head circumference (cm)	41.76 ± 1.27	0.19	41.38	42.15	39.00	44.50	
Daily energy intake (kcal)	$1935.96 \pm \\597.22$	90.03	1754.38	2117.53	712.42	3334.05	

A total of 77 women were included to the study and 44 of them completed the required questionnaires properly. Patients have got involved to the study in their 3rd month after birth. Inclusion criteria included single healthy term births that were over >38 weeks of gestation, had not need to stay in the intensive care unit and exclusively breastfed neonates. Exclusion criteria included multiple gestations, adolescent pregnancies (age<18), advanced age pregnancies (age>36), maternal eating disorders (Anorexia Nervosa, Bulimia etc.), maternal chronic diseases (Celiac Disease, Diabetes Mellitus, Chronic Hypertension etc.), smoking and alcohol consumption.

The survey was totally two parts, including firstly 9-items questionnaire as sociodemographic and pregnancy related features, secondly 34 items questionnaire as nutrition habits and pregnancy related features.

Sociodemographic and pregnancy related features as body mass index (BMI), maternal age, gestational week at birth, weight gain during pregnancy, birth weight, infant's head circumference, birth height and infant's current height were asked by using 9-item questionnaire. Anthropometric measurements were taken by researchers as individual height measurement with 1 mm interval wall-mounted height meter and body weight with 100gr weight sensitive Sinbo Sbs 4429 during their routine antenatal and postnatal visits. BMI was calculated according to the Center for Disease Control and Prevention's criteria (9).

Secondly, all participants were asked to fill the detailed 34-item nutrient habits and pregnancy-related features questionnaire that evaluates attitudes about food consumption frequency for red meat, chicken meat, fish, egg, legume, milk and milk products, nuts, fruits, vegetables, walnut, hazelnut and supplements intake as Folic acid, Omega 3, Vitamin D and sunlight exposure. The nutrient habits questionnaire was evaluated by the nutrient database program (BeBiS software program; Turkish version of Bebispro for Windows, Stuttgart, Germany) designed to evaluate daily intake estimates of various nutrients by the food consumption frequencies which reflects the antenatal period of intake (10). BeBiS is a software program that contains the data more than 20,000 foods and reports nutritional elements such as calories, protein, carbohydrate, fat, vitamins, minerals, amino acids, fatty acids, and antioxidants.

All women's hemoglobin (hgb), hematocrit (hct), platelet (plt), lactate dehydrogenize, sodium, potassium, chloride, calcium, C reactive protein, triiodothyronine (T3), thyroxine (T4), thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH), vitamin D, uric acid, total protein, albumin, globulin, total bilirubin, direct bilirubin, indirect bilirubin, alkaline phosphatase, aspartate aminotransferase levels were also analyzed with autoanalyzer Cobas 6000 (Roche Diagnostics).

2.1. Statistical analysis

Calculations were performed using SPSS statistical software package 17.0 (IBM). The required sample size calculated as 39 with a 5% margin error. Cronbach's alpha and inter item correlation matrix were calculated for reliability statistics. ANOVA, Friedman's test and Chi-square test were used to analyze the differences between individuals and items. Tukey's test for nonadditivity was done as a post hoc test. P <0.05 was used to determine statistical significance.

Alanya Tosu	n et al. / .	J Exp (Clin Med
-------------	--------------	---------	----------

Consumption type	Frequency	Ν	Weight g	ain during pre	gnancy (kg)	Current height (cm)			
.,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	None	3	$\begin{array}{c} 22.63 \pm \\ 2.87 \end{array}$	9.00 ± 7.94	2.61 ± 0.50	$\begin{array}{c} 41.33 \pm \\ 0.58 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 48.00 \pm \\ 2.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 62.33 \pm \\ 1.53 \end{array}$	1623.19 ± 476.41
	1-2	17	$\begin{array}{c} 25.25 \pm \\ 3.85 \end{array}$	13.82 ± 4.22	$3.45\pm$ 0.59	42.16± 0.96	$50.47 \pm \\ 2.35$	64.47 ± 2.53	$\frac{1845.47 \pm }{583.34}$
Nuts	3-4	10	$\begin{array}{r} 23.22 \pm \\ 3.03 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 18.00 \pm \\ 5.54 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.46 \pm \\ 0.49 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 41.58 \pm \\ 1.31 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 50.90 \pm \\ 1.79 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 66.50 \pm \\ 2.22 \end{array}$	$2034.81 \pm \\ 609.02$
	5-7	14	$\begin{array}{c} 24.84 \pm \\ 4.93 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 11.36 \pm \\ 4.78 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.23 \pm \\ 0.56 \end{array}$	41.50± 1.62	$50.21 \pm \\ 1.81$	$\begin{array}{c} 63.00 \pm \\ 2.11 \end{array}$	2042.23 ± 645.21
	Total	44	$\begin{array}{c} 24.48 \pm \\ 4.01 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 13.65 \pm \\ 5.52 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.32 \pm \\ 0.58 \end{array}$	41.76 ± 1.27	50.32 ± 2.09	$\begin{array}{c} 64.32 \pm \\ 2.61 \end{array}$	$1935.96 \pm \\597.22$
	р		0.616	0.071	0.853	0.618	0.051	0.352	0.566
	None	16	$\begin{array}{r} 24.30 \pm \\ 4.93 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 10.94 \pm \\ 5.16 \end{array}$	3.23 ± 0.58	41.80 ± 0.89	$\begin{array}{r} 49.94 \pm \\ 2.26 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 63.25 \pm \\ 2.08 \end{array}$	1798.57 ± 596.00
	1-2	14	$\begin{array}{c} 25.60 \pm \\ 3.77 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 14.14 \pm \\ 5.08 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.30 \pm \\ 0.61 \end{array}$	41.48 ± 1.70	50.21 ± 2.01	$\begin{array}{c} 64.79 \pm \\ 2.61 \end{array}$	2125.13 ± 586.51
Walnut	3-4	7	$\begin{array}{c} 24.10 \pm \\ 3.84 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 18.43 \pm \\ 6.50 \end{array}$	3.61 ± 0.56	42.00 ± 0.50	$51.00 \pm \\ 2.31$	$\begin{array}{c} 66.57 \pm \\ 2.07 \end{array}$	2211.54 ± 635.25
	5-7	7	$\begin{array}{c} 22.99 \pm \\ 1.73 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 14.14 \pm \\ 2.61 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.28 \pm \\ 0.57 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 42.00 \\ \pm 1.66 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 50.71 \pm \\ 1.80 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 63.57 \pm \\ 2.99 \end{array}$	1596.04 ± 402.52
	Total	44	$\begin{array}{c} 24.48 \pm \\ 4.01 \end{array}$	13.66± 5.52	$\begin{array}{c} 3.32 \pm \\ 0.58 \end{array}$	41.76 ± 1.27	50.32 ± 2.09	$\begin{array}{c} 64.32 \pm \\ 2.61 \end{array}$	$1935.96 \pm \\597.22$
	р		0.558	0.020	0.556	0.765	0.682	0.025	0.107
	None	5	$\begin{array}{c} 23.98 \pm \\ 4.21 \end{array}$	12.80 ± 5.22	$\begin{array}{c} 3.06 \pm \\ 0.66 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 41.80 \\ \pm \ 0.84 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 49.20 \pm \\ 2.28 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 63.20 \pm \\ 2.17 \end{array}$	1750.56 ± 432.50
	1-2	19	$\begin{array}{c} 24.80 \pm \\ 3.91 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 13.37 \pm \\ 4.19 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.33 \pm \\ 0.55 \end{array}$	41.98 ± 1.13	50.11 ± 2.10	$\begin{array}{c} 64.05 \pm \\ 2.30 \end{array}$	1866.35 ± 616.10
Hazelnut	3-4	10	$\begin{array}{c} 25.06 \pm \\ 4.56 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 13.50 \pm \\ 7.95 \end{array}$	3.41 ± 0.62	41.50± 1.41	$\begin{array}{c} 50.70 \pm \\ 2.26 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 65.20 \pm \\ 3.49 \end{array}$	2254.12 ± 743.59
	5-7	10	$\begin{array}{c} 23.54 \pm \\ 3.97 \end{array}$	14.80± 5.77	$\begin{array}{c} 3.36 \pm \\ 0.61 \end{array}$	41.58± 1.63	$50.90\pm$ 1.79	$\begin{array}{c} 64.50 \pm \\ 2.46 \end{array}$	1842.74 ± 396.79
	Total	44	$\begin{array}{c} 24.48 \pm \\ 4.01 \end{array}$	13.66 ± 5.52	$\begin{array}{c} 3.32 \pm \\ 0.58 \end{array}$	41.76± 1.27	50.32 ± 2.09	$\begin{array}{c} 64.32 \pm \\ 2.61 \end{array}$	$1935.95 \pm \\597.22$
	р		0.863	0.881	0.623	0.861	0.334	0.393	0.293

Table 2. Comparison of clinical characteristics of daily nuts consumption

Bold values indicate statistically significant difference (p < 0.05)

3. Results

Seventy-seven postpartum women 3rd month after birth participated in the study. Thirty-three of them failed to complete the questionnaire properly and were excluded. A total of 44 participants were evaluated. Demographic and anthropometric features were given in Table 1.

Daily nuts consumption and daily food consumption of participants were shown in Table 2 and Table 3, respectively. There was no statistically significant relationship between red meat, chicken meat, fish, egg, legume, milk and milk products, nuts, fruits, vegetables, hazelnut consumption and pregnancy related features such as BMI, weight gain during pregnancy, infant's birth weight, birth height, birth head circumference, current head circumference, current head circumference, current height, and daily energy intake (p > 0.05). Also, the significant relationship was not stated between these consumption groups and nutrition elements or blood biochemical parameters.

The statistically significant relationship between walnut consumption and weight gain during pregnancy (p=0.012), infant's current height has been shown as primary outcome (p=0.021) (Table 2). Sixteen out of 44 women did not consume walnut at all, 14 of them consumed 1-2 days a week, seven of them consumed 3-4 days a week and seven of them

consumed 5-7 days a week (Table 4). The mean level of weight gain during pregnancy was statistically significantly lower in non-consumer group (mean = 10.94 ± 5.16 kg; CI 95%) than in the consumed group 3-4 days a week (Mean = 18.43 ± 6.50 kg; CI 95%) (p =0.012) (Table 4). The mean level of infant's current height was 63.25 ± 2.08 cm (CI: 95%) in non-consumer group and 66.57 ± 2.07 cm (CI: 95%) in the consumed group 3-4 days a week which is statistically significantly different (p=0.021) (Table 4). Mineral, pantothenic acid, folic acid, free folic acid, and sodium levels were significantly higher in the walnut consumed group 1-2 days per week than the non-consumed group (p = 0.010; p=0.028; p= 0.017; p= 0.008; p=0.018 respectively) (Table 4). In biochemical parameters, serum C-reactive protein was found to be higher in those who consumed a handful of walnuts, compared to those who consumed half or 1 whole walnut per day according to the daily amount of walnut consumption (CRP = 9.45 ± 0.35 vs. 8.75 ± 0.30 mg/dl; p=0.011). There was no significant difference in other biochemical parameters (p>0.05).

Iodine mean level found $2.15 \pm 0.65 \ \mu g$ in non-consumed group and 2.80 ± 0.24 in 5-7 days a week consumed group (CI: 95%). Iodine level was significantly statistically higher

in the egg consumed group 5-7 days a week than the nonconsumed group as secondary outcome (2.80 \pm 0.24; 2.15 \pm 0.64 respectively, p=0.022) (Table 5).

There was no statistically significant relationship between the intake of folic acid, vitamin D or omega 3 supplements with pregnancy outcomes, micronutrient, or biochemical parameters (p > 0.05).

4. Discussion

In this cross-sectional study, we assessed the relation of food consumption during pregnancy using the validated BEBIS program and found that red meat, chicken meat, fish, egg, legume, milk and milk products, nuts, fruits, vegetables, hazelnut consumption was not related to the BMI, weight gain during pregnancy, neonatal outcomes, and blood biochemical parameters. Specifically, we found that only the walnut consumption during pregnancy was associated with greater weight gain and higher chance of increase in infant's height. Surprisingly, serum C-reactive protein was higher in those who consumed higher amounts of walnut per day according to the daily amount of walnut consumption, although there was no such a relation with other biochemical parameters. Additionally, iodine level is the most important factor for neurological development of infants and this data have confirmed the significant effect of egg consumption on iodine level (11).

Table 3. Comparison of clinical characteristics of daily food consumption

Consumption type	Frequency	Ν	Weight ga	ain during preg	gnancy (kg)	Current height (cm)			
	None	13	24.29± 4.54	$\begin{array}{c} 13.92 \pm \\ 6.96 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.29 \pm \\ 0.48 \end{array}$	41.67± 1.52	$\begin{array}{c} 50.08 \pm \\ 2.10 \end{array}$	64.00± 1.73	1922.39± 517.29
	1-2	21	24.75 ± 4.22	13.14 ± 5.76	$\begin{array}{c} 3.29 \pm \\ 0.63 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 41.78 \pm \\ 1.10 \end{array}$	50.33 ± 2.29	$\begin{array}{c} 64.38 \pm \\ 3.02 \end{array}$	1945.25± 714.53
Meat	3-4	9	$\begin{array}{c} 24.48 \pm \\ 3.07 \end{array}$	14.22 ± 2.54	$\begin{array}{c} 3.33 \pm \\ 0.57 \end{array}$	41.72± 1.39	$\begin{array}{c} 50.44 \pm \\ 1.81 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 64.33 \pm \\ 2.87 \end{array}$	1924.53 ± 487.67
	5-7	1	21.31	16.00	4.31	43.00	52	67.00	2019.98
	Total	44	24.48± 4.01	13.66 ± 5.52	$\begin{array}{c} 3.32 \pm \\ 0.58 \end{array}$	41.76 ± 1.27	50.31 ± 2.09	$\begin{array}{c} 64.32 \pm \\ 2.61 \end{array}$	$1935.96 \pm \\597.22$
	р		0.871	0.927	0.402	0.806	0.846	0.752	0.998
	None	14	24.09± 2.93	$\begin{array}{c} 13.07 \pm \\ 4.99 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.29 \pm \\ 0.38 \end{array}$	41.76 ± 1.29	$\begin{array}{c} 50.29 \pm \\ 1.73 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 63.71 \pm \\ 1.38 \end{array}$	1772.78 ± 424.06
Chicken	1-2	21	$\begin{array}{r} 23.83 \pm \\ 3.75 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 13.52 \pm \\ 5.90 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.29 \pm \\ 0.69 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 42.06 \pm \\ 1.25 \end{array}$	50.24 ± 2.45	$\begin{array}{c} 64.95 \pm \\ 3.14 \end{array}$	$1963,32 \pm \\674.61$
	3-4	7	27.79± 5.81	$\begin{array}{c} 13.43 \pm \\ 5.06 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.38 \pm \\ 0.65 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 40.64 \pm \\ 0.85 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 50.86 \pm \\ 1.86 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 63.71 \pm \\ 2.98 \end{array}$	2055.07 ± 598.32
	5-7	2	22.45 ± 0.19	$\begin{array}{c} 20.00 \pm \\ 7.07 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.58 \pm \\ 0.63 \end{array}$	42.50± 0.71	$\begin{array}{c} 49.50 \pm \\ 2.12 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 64.00 \pm \\ 1.41 \end{array}$	$2373.95 \pm \\993.47$
	Total	11	$24.48\pm$	$13.66 \pm$	$3.32 \pm$	$41.76 \pm$	$50.32 \pm$	$64.32 \pm$	$1935.96 \pm$
	Total		4.01	5.52	0.58	1.27	2.09	2.61	597.22
	р		0.129	0.195	0.873	0.074	0.736	0.871	0.379
	None	25	24.87± 4.74	12.80 ± 4.93	3.31 ± 0.45	41.94 ± 1.28	50.20 ± 1.91	64.08 ± 2.40	2061.61 ± 621.87
	1-2	13	23.43± 2.04	$\begin{array}{c} 14.69 \pm \\ 6.30 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.48 \pm \\ 0.73 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 41.73 \pm \\ 1.42 \end{array}$	50.85 ± 2.30	$\begin{array}{c} 64.92 \pm \\ 2.87 \end{array}$	1781.23 ± 625.43
Fish	3-4	5	$\begin{array}{c} 24.36 \pm \\ 3.95 \end{array}$	$13.60 \\ \pm 6.11$	$\begin{array}{c} 2.90 \pm \\ 0.70 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 40.90 \pm \\ 0.55 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 49.40 \pm \\ 2.61 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 64.00 \pm \\ 3.54 \end{array}$	1719.95 ± 324.05
	5-7	1	29.02	22.00	3.76	42.20	51.00	64.00	18816.13
	Total	44	$\begin{array}{c} 24.48 \pm \\ 4.01 \end{array}$	13.66 ± 5.52	$\begin{array}{c} 3.32 \pm \\ 0.58 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 41.76 \pm \\ 1.27 \end{array}$	50.32 ± 2.09	$\begin{array}{c} 64.32 \pm \\ 2.61 \end{array}$	1935.96 ± 597.22
	р		0.506	0.351	0.255	0.423	0.591	0.814	0.464
	None	3	26.04± 4.22	$\begin{array}{c} 12.00 \pm \\ 3.46 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.60 \pm \\ 0.50 \end{array}$	41.67± 1.53	$\begin{array}{c} 50.00 \pm \\ 2.0 \end{array}$	62.67 ± 3.21	$\frac{1863.96 \pm }{336.74}$
	1-2	2	$\begin{array}{c} 26.17 \pm \\ 3.87 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 11.00 \pm \\ 1.41 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.47 \pm \\ 0.29 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 41.75 \pm \\ 0.35 \end{array}$	51.00 ±1.41	$\begin{array}{c} 64.50 \pm \\ 0.71 \end{array}$	1641.23 ± 182.67
Egg	3-4	5	23.65 ± 1.58	$\begin{array}{c} 16.20 \pm \\ 2.39 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.40 \pm \\ 0.61 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 41.90 \pm \\ 1.43 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 50.40 \pm \\ 1.67 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 64.80 \pm \\ 3.70 \end{array}$	2022.67 ± 588.38
	5-7	34	24.36± 4.31	$\begin{array}{c} 13.59 \pm \\ 6.05 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.28 \pm \\ 0.6 \end{array}$	41.75± 1.31	$\begin{array}{c} 50.29 \pm \\ 2.24 \end{array}$	64.38 ± 2.51	1946. 89 ± 638.68
	Total	44	$\begin{array}{c} 24.48 \pm \\ 4.01 \end{array}$	13.66 ± 5.52	$\begin{array}{c} 3.32 \pm \\ 0.58 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 41.76 \pm \\ 1.27 \end{array}$	50.32 ± 2.09	$\begin{array}{c} 64.32 \pm \\ 2.61 \end{array}$	$1935.96 \pm \\597.22$
	р		0.834	0.585	0.883	0.995	0.920	0.693	0.829
	None	1	25.54	10.00	3.07	42.0	48.0	59.0	1619.49
Milk	1-2	1	23.44	12.00	3.67	42.0	52.0	64.0	1512.06
and milk	3-4	4	28.99± 5.33	15.25± 12.09	$\begin{array}{c} 3.72 \pm \\ 0.49 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 42.18 \pm \\ 0.62 \end{array}$	51.50 ± 1.29	$\begin{array}{c} 64.75 \pm \\ 2.50 \end{array}$	1770.98 ± 199.09
products	5-7	38	24.00± 3.72	13.63± 4.78	$\begin{array}{c} 3.28 \pm \\ 0.59 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 41.71 \pm \\ 1.35 \end{array}$	50.21 ± 2.13	$\begin{array}{c} 64.42 \pm \\ 2.57 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1972.80 \pm \\ 631.98 \end{array}$

Alanya Tosun et al. / J Exp Clin Med

$24.48 \pm 13.66 \pm 3.32 \pm 41.76 \pm 50.32 \pm$	$64.32 \pm$	1935.95
Total 44 4.01 5.52 0.58 1.27 2.09	2.61	+ 597.22
	0.021	0.759
0.121 0.845 0.462 0.910 0.363	0.231	0.758
$22.24.49\pm 11.00\pm 3.37\pm 42.00\pm 50.00\pm 11.00$	$61.50 \pm$	1565.78±
1-2 2 1.48 4.14 0.42 0.00 2.83	3.54	75.96
$-23.55\pm$ 15.40 \pm 3.17 \pm 41.50 \pm 49.80 \pm	$65.60 \pm$	$2468.21 \pm$
3-4 5 1.27 8.50 0.69 1.94 2.86	3.65	884.01
Explicit Sector $24.61\pm 13.57\pm 3.34\pm 41.78\pm 50.41\pm 13.57\pm 13.5$	$64.29 \pm$	$1884.04 \pm$
5-7 37 434 5.25 0.58 1.22 2.01	2 38	537.88
4.34 5.25 0.36 1.22 2.01	2.30	337.88
Total 24.48 \pm 13.66 \pm 3.32 \pm 41.76 \pm 50.32 \pm	$64.32 \pm$	$1935.96 \pm$
4.01 5.52 0.58 1.27 2.09	2.61	597.22
p 0.927 0.501 0.879 0.845 0.912	0.067	0.074
$21.78\pm$ $21.00\pm$ $3.63\pm$ $42.00\pm$ $50.50\pm$	$66.00 \pm$	$3026.00 \pm$
3-4 2 0.74 5.66 0.70 0.00 3.54	1.41	71.33
$24.61 \pm 13.31 \pm 3.31 \pm 41.75 \pm 50.31 \pm$	$64.24 \pm$	$1884.04 \pm$
Vegetab $5-7$ 42 4.06 5.34 0.58 1.30 2.07	2.64	550.67
es 4.00 5.54 0.56 1.50 2.07	2.04	559.07
Total 24.48 \pm 13.66 \pm 3.32 \pm 41.76 \pm 50.32 \pm	$64.32 \pm$	$1935.96 \pm$
1081 44 4.01 5.52 0.58 1.27 2.09	2.61	597.22
p 0.336 0.053 0.457 0.789 0.901	0.358	0.007

Bold values indicate statistically significant difference (p $\leq 0.05)$

Table 4. Weekly walnut consumption's multiple comparison analysis

			Mean difference	an difference	95% Confidence Interval		
	Frequency A	Frequency B	$(A-B) \pm Std$ error	Sig.	Lower Bound	Upper Bound	
		1-2*	-1.29 ± 1.48	0.82	-5.27	2.68	
	None	3-4*	0.21 ± 1.84	0.99	-4.72	5.13	
DMI		5-7*	1.31 ± 1.84	0.89	-3.61	6.23	
BIMI	1.2	3-4	1.50 ± 1.88	0.86	-3.53	6.52	
	1-2	5-7	2.60 ± 1.88	0.51	-2.42	7.63	
	3-4	5-7	1.10 ± 2.17	0.96	-4.70	6.91	
	None	1-2	-3.21 ± 1.86	0.32	-8.18	1.77	
		3-4	$\textbf{-7.49} \pm 2.30$	0.01	-13.65	-1.33	
Weight gain during		5-7	-3.21 ± 2.30	0.51	-9.37	2.96	
pregnancy (kg)	1-2	3-4	-4.29 ± 2.35	0.28	-10.58	2.01	
		5-7	0.00 ± 2.35	1.00	-6.29	6.29	
	3-4	5-7	4.29 ± 2.71	0.40	-2.98	11.55	
	None	1-2	-0.07 ± 0.21	0.98	-0.64	0.50	
		3-4	$\textbf{-0.38} \pm 0.27$	0.50	-1.09	0.34	
Birth weight (kg)		5-7	$\textbf{-0.04} \pm 0.27$	0.99	-0.76	0.67	
Birth weight (kg)	1-2	3-4	-0.31 ± 0.27	0.67	-1.03	0.42	
		5-7	0.03 ± 0.27	1.00	-0.70	0.75	
	3-4	5-7	0.33 ± 0.31	0.72	-0.51	1.17	
	None	1-2	0.32 ± 0.48	0.91	-0.95	1.60	
		3-4	$\textbf{-0.20}\pm0.59$	0.99	-1.78	1.38	
2 nd head		5-7	$\textbf{-0.20}\pm0.59$	0.99	-1.78	1.38	
circumference (cm)	1-2	3-4	$\textbf{-0.52}\pm0.06$	0.82	-2.13	1.09	
		5-7	$\textbf{-0.52}\pm0.60$	0.82	-2.13	1.09	
	3-4	5-7	0.00 ± 0.69	1.00	-1.86	1.86	
	None	1-2	$\textbf{-}0.28\pm0.78$	0.98	-2.36	1.81	
		3-4	-1.06 ± 0.96	0.69	-3.64	1.52	
Rirth height (cm)		5-7	$\textbf{-0.77} \pm 0.96$	0.85	-3.36	1.81	
Dittil height (chi)	1-2	3-4	$\textbf{-0.79} \pm 0.98$	0.85	-3.42	1.85	
		5-7	$\textbf{-0.50} \pm 0.98$	0.96	-3.14	2.14	
	3-4	5-7	0.29 ± 1.14	0.99	-2.76	3.33	
	None	1-2	-1.54 ± 0.88	0.32	-3.90	0.83	
		3-4	-3.32 ± 1.09	0.02	-6.25	-0.39	
Current height (cm)		5-7	-0.32 ± 1.09	0.99	-3.25	2.61	
Current neight (em)	1-2	3-4	-1.79 ± 1.12	0.39	-4.78	1.21	
		5-7	1.21 ± 1.12	0.70	-1.78	4.21	
	3-4	5-7	3.00 ± 1.29	0.11	-0.46	6.46	
	None	1-2	-326.56 ± 210.18	0.42	-889.93	236.81	
		3-4	-412.97 ± 260.26	0.40	-1110.58	284.64	
Daily energy intake		5-7	202.53 ± 260.26	0.86	-495.08	900.14	
(kcal)	1-2	3-4	-86.41 ± 265.86	0.99	-799.02	626.20	
		5-7	529.09 ± 265.86	0.21	-183.53	1241.70	
	3-4	5-7	615.50 ± 306.99	0.20	-237.35	1438.35	

Alanya Tosun et al. / J Exp Clin Med

	None	1-2	-5.11 ± 1.69	0.02	-9.64	-0.59
		3-4	-5.87 ± 2.09	0.04	-11.47	-0.27
Min anal (a)		5-7	-1.64 ± 2.09	0.86	-7.25	3.96
wineral (g)	1-2	3-4	-0.75 ± 2.13	0.98	-6.47	4.97
		5-7	3.47 ± 2.13	0.38	-2.25	9.19
	3-4	5-7	4.22 ± 2.46	0.33	-2.38	10.83
	None	1-2	-2.05 ± 0.69	0.03	-3.91	-0.20
		3-4	-1.70 ± 0.86	0.21	-4.00	0.59
Pantotenic acid		5-7	$\textbf{-0.61} \pm 0.86$	0.90	-2.92	1.69
(mg)	1-2	3-4	0.35 ± 0.88	0.98	-1.99	2.70
		5-7	1.44 ± 0.88	0.37	-0.90	3.79
	3-4	5-7	1.09 ± 1.01	0.70	-1.62	3.80
	None	1-2	-46.65 ± 15.27	0.02	-87.59	-5.71
		3-4	-45.18 ± 18.91	0.10	-95.88	5.52
		5-7	-15.39 ± 18.91	0.85	-66.08	35.31
Folic acid (µg)	1-2	3-4	1.47 ± 19.32	1.00	-50.32	53.26
		5-7	31.26 ± 19.32	0.38	-20.52	83.05
	3-4	5-7	29.79 ± 22.31	0.55	-30.00	89.59
	None	1-2	-39.13 ± 11.56	0.008	-70.11	-8.15
		3-4	-37.29 ± 14.31	0.059	-75.66	1.07
Erros folio soid (u.s.)		5-7	-15.63 ± 14.31	0.696	-53.99	22.73
Free fonc acid (µg)	1-2	3-4	1.84 ± 14.62	1.00	-37.35	41.02
		5-7	23.50 ± 14.62	0.39	-15.68	62.69
	3-4	5-7	21.67 ± 16.88	0.58	-23.58	66.92
	None	1-2	-1205.40 ± 462.36	0.60	-2444.71	33.91
		3-4	-1577.98 ± 572.53	0.04	-3112.59	-43.38
Sodium (ma)		5-7	-283.33 ± 572.53	0.96	-1817.94	1251.28
Socium (mg)	1-2	3-4	-372.59 ± 584.84	0.92	-1940.20	1195.03
		5-7	922.07 ± 584.84	0.40	-645.54	2489.68
	3-4	5-7	1294.66 ± 675.31	0.24	-515.47	3104.78

*times a week. Bold values indicate statistically significant difference (p <0.05)

Table 5. Comparison of micronutrients characteristics of daily egg consumption

			Mean difference $(\Lambda B) + Std$		95% Confidence Interval		
	Frequency A	Frequency B	error	P value	Lower	Upper	
			Circl		Bound	Bound	
	None	1-2*	-0.11 ± 0.95	1.0	-2.66	2.44	
		3-4*	-1.18 ± 0.76	0.42	-3.22	0.87	
Vitamin D		5-7*	-1.28 ± 0.63	0.19	-2.97	0.40	
(µg)	1-2	3-4	-1.07 ± 0.87	0.62	-3.41	1.27	
		5-7	-1.17 ± 0.76	0.42	-3.21	0.86	
	3-4	5-7	-0.11 ± 0.50	0.99	-1.44	1.23	
	None	1-2	-43.57 ± 185.3	0.96	-540.25	453.11	
Vitamin V		3-4	-100.37 ± 148.24	0.91	-497.71	296.97	
$v \operatorname{Itamin} \mathbf{K}$		5-7	-145.25 ± 122.25	0.64	-472.94	182.45	
(µg)	1-2	3-4	-56.80 ± 169.83	0.99	-512.01	398ç41	
		5-7	-101.67 ± 147.69	0.90	-497.55	294.20	
	3-4	5-7	-44.87 ± 97.22	0.97	-305.47	215.73	
	None	1-2	-19.97 ± 92.32	0.99	-267.43	227.50	
Total folic acid		3-4	-63.45 ± 73.86	0.83	-261.42	134.53	
		5-7	-83.27 ± 60.91	0.53	-246.54	80.00	
(µg)	1-2	3-4	-43.48 ± 84.62	0.96	-270.29	183.33	
(µg)		5-7	-63.30 ± 73.59	0.83	-260.55	133.94	
	3-4	5-7	-19.82 ± 48.44	0.98	-149.66	110.02	
	None	1-2	-4.83 ± 32.91	0.99	-93.05	83.39	
		3-4	-4.87 ± 26.33	0.99	-75.45	65.70	
Free folic acid		5-7	-17.67 ± 21.71	0.85	-75.87	40.54	
(µg)	1-2	3-4	-0.04 ± 30.16	1.00	-80.89	80.82	
		5-7	-12.83 ± 26.23	0.96	-83.15	57.48	
	3-4	5-7	-12.79 ± 17.27	0.88	-59.08	33.49	
	None	1-2	2.07 ± 1.90	0.70	-3.02	7.16	
		3-4	0.19 ± 1.52	0.99	-3.88	4.26	
Vit B12 (ug)		5-7	1.81 ± 1.25	0.48	-1.54	5.17	
vit D12 (μg)	1-2	3-4	-1.89 ± 1.74	0.70	-6.54	2.79	
		5-7	-0.25 ± 1.51	0.99	-4.31	3.81	
	3-4	5-7	1.63 ± 0.99	0.37	-1.04	4.30	
Iodine (µg)	None	1-2	-0.50 ± 0.28	0.31	-1.28	0.28	

Alanya Tosun et al. / J Exp Clin Med

		3-4	-0.12 ± 0.26	0.11	-1.33	0.09
		5-7	-0.65 ± 0.21	0.02	-1.22	0.08
	1-2	3-4	-0.12 ± 0.26	0.97	-0.83	0.59
		5-7	-0.15 ± 0.21	0.89	-0.72	0.42
	3-4	5-7	-0.03 ± 0.17	0.99	-0.51	0.45
	None	1-2	1.28 ± 17.18	1.00	-44.78	47.34
Mono		3-4	-9.11 ± 13.75	0.91	-45.96	27.73
		5-7	-6.77 ± 11.34	0.93	-37.16	23.62
fatty acid (g)	1-2	3-4	-10.39 ± 15.75	0.91	-52.61	31.82
Tatty actu (g)		5-7	-8.05 ± 13.70	0.94	-44.76	28.66
	3-4	5-7	2.34 ± 9.02	0.99	-21.82	26.51
	None	1-2	7.83 ± 7.34	0.71	-11.84	27.50
D - 1		3-4	10.52 ± 5.87	0.29	-5.21	26.25
POly		5-7	7.97 ± 4.84	0.37	-5.00	20.95
fatty acid (g)	1-2	3-4	2.69 ± 6.72	0.98	-15.33	20.72
lauy acid (g)		5-7	0.14 ± 5.85	1.00	-15.53	15.82
	3-4	5-7	-2.55 ± 3.85	0.91	-12.87	7.77
	None	1-2	2.80 ± 2.12	0.55	-2.87	8.48
		3-4	2.26 ± 1.69	0.55	-2.28	6.80
Omaga 2(a)		5-7	1.70 ± 1.40	0.62	-2.04	5.45
Onlega 5 (g)	1-2	3-4	-0.54 ± 1.94	0.99	-5.75	4.66
		5-7	-1.10 ± 1.69	0.91	-5.63	3.42
	3-4	5-7	-0.56 ± 1.11	0.96	-3.54	2.42
	None	1-2	3.47 ± 6.35	0.95	-13.54	20.48
		3-4	7.25 ± 5.08	0.49	-6.36	20.86
Omega 6 (a)		5-7	5.03 ± 4.19	0.63	-6.19	16.25
Onlega 0 (g)	1-2	3-4	3.79 ± 5.82	0.92	-11.80	19.38
		5-7	1.56 ± 5.06	0.99	-11.99	15.12
	3-4	5-7	-2.22 ± 3.33	0.91	-11.15	6.70
	None	1-2	2.32 ± 18.62	1.00	-47.58	52.23
		3-4	-3.51 ± 14.89	0.99	-43.44	36.41
Riotin		5-7	-10.34 ± 12.28	0.83	-43.27	22.59
Biotini	1-2	3-4	-5.84 ± 17.06	0.98	-51.57	39.90
		5-7	-12.66 ± 14.84	0.83	-52.44	27.12
	3-4	5-7	-6.83 ± 9.77	0.90	-33.01	19.36

*times a week. Bold values indicate statistically significant difference (p <0.05)

The relation between maternal nutrition and fetal development has been well defined previously (12). Malnutrition during pregnancy is the important risk factor for adverse perinatal outcomes such as fetal growth restriction, low birth weight and increased morbidity (13, 14). Hajianfar et al. compared three identified major dietary patterns, a western dietary pattern, a traditional dietary pattern, and a healthy dietary pattern (2). Although the healthy and traditional dietary patterns did not show remarkable association, the western dietary pattern was associated with significant improvement in low-birth-weight infant's rates which may be attribute to a higher intake of desserts and sweets, sugar, saturated fat, potato and pizza in this dietary pattern (OR 0.80, 95%(CI) (0.34-1.93), P < 0.01) (2). Unlike our study, they did not analyze the foods individually, they evaluated the whole diet. Additionally, their data did not support any relation between maternal dietary patterns and neonatal height (OR 0.80, 95% (CI) (0.34-1.85), P< 0.93) (2).

Guzel et al. investigated the relation between maternal amino acid levels and pregnancy outcomes with the same nutrition database program (BeBiS software program, Bebispro for Windows, Stuttgart, Germany) in two different groups as reproductive aged women (n:130) and adolescents (n:39) (10). They found that the lower amino acid levels were related with low birth weight and preterm delivery in adolescents (p<0.05) (10). In our study, nutritional survey was carried out in the postpartum 3^{rd} month and only healthy term deliveries with maternal age over 18 were included to standardize the population. We could not confirm the correlation of amino acid levels with pregnancy outcomes in any type of food consumption group.

Our study differs from findings of previous studies showing that high adherence to walnut consumption during pregnancy may improve the neonatal outcomes. As far as we know, there is not any study about maternal walnut consumption in the literature. In our study, walnut consumption significantly increases the infant's height and weight gain during pregnancy. The National Academy of Medicine recommends 11.5 to 16 kg weight gain for BMI 18.5 to 24.9 kg/m2 individuals (15). In this study, 3-4 times a week walnut consumed group has significantly unfavorable weight gain as 18.43 ± 6.50 kg (p=0.02). In a randomized controlled trial, Rock et al. compared the weight reduction diets and found that walnut enriched reduced energy diet can provide weight loss like a standard diet, but this type of diet also has benefits to lower cardiovascular disease risk factors (16). Assaf-Balut et al. investigated the consumption of virgin olive oil and nuts (especially pistachios) in normal pregnancies and observed similar gestational weight gain between consumed and non-consumed groups (p=0.713) (17). Jang et al. followed infant's growth up to 6 month and documented that maternal vitamin C intake was related positively with the abdominal circumference of the fetus and infant birth length (18). Ramon et al. determined the correlation of increased maternal vegetable consumption with birth height whereas Loy et al. investigated that both vegetable and fruits consumption have significant effects on birth length (4, 19).

Iodine is an important micronutrient that plays role during thyroid hormone synthesis (11). Adequate iodine intake during pregnancy is essential for maternal health, fetal neurodevelopment and sufficient cognitive levels which are common issues affecting public health and population intellectual capacity (20, 21). Dietary iodine necessities are increasing 50% during pregnancy because human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) acts like thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) and binds to the TSH receptors. High estrogen concentrations during pregnancy lead the increasing levels of thyroid binding globulin, thus more triiodothyronine (T3) and thyroxine (T4) production is required to maintain free T3 and free T4 levels. Fetus supplies the thyroid hormone maternally, especially as T4 through the placenta and converts into T3 for fetal growth and brain development. The U.S Institute of Medicine suggests overall dietary and supplement iodine intake as 150 µg/day during preconceptional period, 220 μ g/day during gestation and 290 μ g/day during lactation (22). Recently, American Thyroid Association emphasizes the importance of dietary iodine intake instead of its supplements (23). Previous studies recommended fish, iodized salt consumption, some type of breads and milk products since they have proved that these products can avoid the iodine deficiency (24). There are also studies which have longer follow-up periods for years to investigate the effect of iodine intake to the neurological development of offspring's (25). In this study, the sufficient iodine intake was only shown in egg consumption group, but no immediate effects of iodine on

References

- 1. Parker HW, Tovar A, McCurdy K, Vadiveloo M. Associations between pre-pregnancy BMI, gestational weight gain, and prenatal diet quality in a national sample. PloS one. 2019;14(10):e0224034. PubMed PMID: 31626677. Pubmed Central PMCID: 6799919.
- Hajianfar H, Esmaillzadeh A, Feizi A, Shahshahan Z, Azadbakht L. Major Maternal Dietary Patterns during Early Pregnancy and Their Association with Neonatal Anthropometric Measurement. BioMed research international. 2018; 2018:4692193. PubMed PMID: 29955602. Pubmed Central PMCID: 6000839.
- Hajianfar H, Esmaillzadeh A, Feizi A, Shahshahan Z, Azadbakht L. The Association Between Major Dietary Patterns and Pregnancy-related Complications. Archives of Iranian medicine. 2018 Oct 1;21(10):443-51. PubMed PMID: 30415552.
- 4. Ramon R, Ballester F, Iniguez C, Rebagliato M, Murcia M, Esplugues A, et al. Vegetable but not fruit intake during

pregnancy outcomes and infant's anthropometry were observed.

Strengthen of this study was the using of BEBIS software program which provides a comprehensive assessment of the nutritional intake. The program captures all types of usual food items consumed by participants and estimates micronutrient and macronutrient values. So, it overcomes the difficulty of determinative effect of specific nutrient as part of the whole diet. This program was offered to be a consistent measure of diet quality in Turkey (10).

Limitation of the study was the small cohort of postpartum women who accepted to fill out the dietary questionnaire. Furthermore, the food consumption and supplementary intake habits may change according to the geographical region, country welfare and personal income. Several physiological changes occur even during normal pregnancies and lactation, so it is difficult to provide standardization in nutrition studies conducted with women in puerperium

Sufficient macronutrient and micronutrient status are necessary to develop healthy offspring and to maintain maternal well-being. In this study, the walnut consumption was related to the greater weight gain during pregnancy and the increase in infant's height. Although, optimal weight gain is essential to maintain physiological well-being during pregnancy, we should consider the positive effect of walnuts on infant's development. Further studies with larger cohort are needed to demonstrate our findings.

Conflict of interest

The authors declared no conflicts of interest with respect to the authorship and/or publication of this article.

Acknowledgments

The authors received no financial support for the research and/or authorship of this article.

The study approved by local ethical committee (Decision number: 18/04.03.21).

pregnancy is associated with newborn anthropometric measures. The Journal of nutrition. 2009 Mar;139(3):561-7. PubMed PMID: 19158218.

- Bailey LB, Stover PJ, McNulty H, Fenech MF, Gregory JF, 3rd, Mills JL, et al. Biomarkers of Nutrition for Development-Folate Review. The Journal of nutrition. 2015 Jul;145(7):1636S-80S. PubMed PMID: 26451605. Pubmed Central PMCID: 4478945.
- **6.** McNulty H, Rollins M, Cassidy T, Caffrey A, Marshall B, Dornan J, et al. Effect of continued folic acid supplementation beyond the first trimester of pregnancy on cognitive performance in the child: a follow-up study from a randomized controlled trial (FASSTT Offspring Trial). BMC medicine. 2019 Oct 31;17(1):196. PubMed PMID: 31672132. Pubmed Central PMCID: 6823954.
- Middleton P, Gomersall JC, Gould JF, Shepherd E, Olsen SF, Makrides M. Omega-3 fatty acid addition during pregnancy. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2018 Nov

15;11:CD003402. PubMed PMID: 30480773. Pubmed Central PMCID: 6516961.

- 8. Wagner CL, Hollis BW. The Implications of Vitamin D Status During Pregnancy on Mother and her Developing Child. Frontiers in endocrinology. 2018; 9:500. PubMed PMID: 30233496. Pubmed Central PMCID: 6127214.
- Kuczmarski RJ, Ogden CL, Guo SS, Grummer-Strawn LM, Flegal KM, Mei Z, et al. 2000 CDC Growth Charts for the United States: methods and development. Vital and health statistics Series 11, Data from the National Health Survey. 2002 May (246):1-190. PubMed PMID: 12043359.
- 10. Guzel AI, Cinar M, Erkilinc S, Aksoy RT, Yumusak OH, Celik F, et al. Association between adverse perinatal outcomes and amino acid levels measured with nutrient questionnaire in adolescent pregnancies. Journal of the Chinese Medical Association: JCMA. 2016 Jun;79(6):335-9. PubMed PMID: 27071985.
- **11.** Zhao W, Li X, Xia X, Gao Z, Han C. Iodine Nutrition During Pregnancy: Past, Present, and Future. Biological trace element research. 2019 Mar;188(1):196-207. PubMed PMID: 30218312.
- Mehta SH. Nutrition and pregnancy. Clinical obstetrics and gynecology. 2008 Jun;51(2):409-18. PubMed PMID: 18463470.
- **13.** Shaw GM, Wise PH, Mayo J, Carmichael SL, Ley C, Lyell DJ, et al. Maternal prepregnancy body mass index and risk of spontaneous preterm birth. Paediatric and perinatal epidemiology. 2014 Jul;28(4):302-11. PubMed PMID: 24810721.
- 14. Bhutta ZA, Das JK, Rizvi A, Gaffey MF, Walker N, Horton S, et al. Evidence-based interventions for improvement of maternal and child nutrition: what can be done and at what cost? Lancet. 2013 Aug 3;382(9890):452-77. PubMed PMID: 23746776.
- 15. In: Rasmussen KM, Yaktine AL, editors. Weight Gain During Pregnancy: Reexamining the Guidelines. The National Academies Collection: Reports funded by National Institutes of Health. Washington (DC)2009.
- 16. Rock CL, Flatt SW, Barkai HS, Pakiz B, Heath DD. Walnut consumption in a weight reduction intervention: effects on body weight, biological measures, blood pressure and satiety. Nutrition journal. 2017 Dec 4;16(1):76. PubMed PMID: 29202751. Pubmed Central PMCID: 5715655.
- 17. Assaf-Balut C, Garcia de la Torre N, Duran A, Fuentes M, Bordiu E, Del Valle L, et al. A Mediterranean Diet with an Enhanced Consumption of Extra Virgin Olive Oil and Pistachios

Improves Pregnancy Outcomes in Women Without Gestational Diabetes Mellitus: A Sub-Analysis of the St. Carlos Gestational Diabetes Mellitus Prevention Study. Annals of nutrition & metabolism. 2019;74(1):69-79. PubMed PMID: 30554220. Pubmed Central PMCID: 6425818.

- 18. Jang W, Kim H, Lee BE, Chang N. Maternal fruit and vegetable or vitamin C consumption during pregnancy is associated with fetal growth and infant growth up to 6 months: results from the Korean Mothers and Children's Environmental Health (MOCEH) cohort study. Nutrition journal. 2018 Nov 12;17(1):105. PubMed PMID: 30419900. Pubmed Central PMCID: 6231254.
- **19.** Loy SL, Marhazlina M, Azwany YN, Hamid Jan JM. Higher intake of fruits and vegetables in pregnancy is associated with birth size. The Southeast Asian journal of tropical medicine and public health. 2011 Sep;42(5):1214-23. PubMed PMID: 22299448.
- **20.** Zimmermann MB. Iodine deficiency. Endocrine reviews. 2009 Jun;30(4):376-408. PubMed PMID: 19460960.
- **21.** Zimmermann MB. Iodine deficiency in pregnancy and the effects of maternal iodine supplementation on the offspring: a review. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 2009 Feb;89(2):668S-72S. PubMed PMID: 19088150.
- 22. Trumbo P, Yates AA, Schlicker S, Poos M. Dietary reference intakes: vitamin A, vitamin K, arsenic, boron, chromium, copper, iodine, iron, manganese, molybdenum, nickel, silicon, vanadium, and zinc. Journal of the American Dietetic Association. 2001 Mar;101(3):294-301. PubMed PMID: 11269606.
- 23. Alexander EK, Pearce EN, Brent GA, Brown RS, Chen H, Dosiou C, et al. 2017 Guidelines of the American Thyroid Association for the Diagnosis and Management of Thyroid Disease During Pregnancy and the Postpartum. Thyroid: official journal of the American Thyroid Association. 2017 Mar;27(3):315-89. PubMed PMID: 28056690.
- 24. Chittimoju SB, Pearce EN. Iodine Deficiency and Supplementation in Pregnancy. Clinical obstetrics and gynecology. 2019 Jun;62(2):330-8. PubMed PMID: 30829881.
- 25. Manousou S, Johansson B, Chmielewska A, Eriksson J, Gutefeldt K, Tornhage CJ, et al. Role of iodine-containing multivitamins during pregnancy for children's brain function: protocol of an ongoing randomised controlled trial: the SWIDDICH study. BMJ open. 2018 Apr 10;8(4):e019945. PubMed PMID: 29643159. Pubmed Central PMCID: 5898322.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm

Research Article

J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 189-193

doi: 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.37

Neck metastasis in transglottic laryngeal carcinomas

Dursun Mehmet MEHEL^{1,*}, Gökhan AKGÜL¹, Doğukan ÖZDEMİR¹, Mehmet ÇELEBİ¹ Nesrettin Fatih TURGUT¹, Samet AYDEMİR¹, Abdulkadir ÖZGÜR²

¹ Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Samsun Health Practices and Research Center, University of Health Sciences, Samsun, Turkey
² Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Gaziosmanpaşa Hospital, İstanbul Yeni Yüzyıl University, İstanbul, Turkey

Received: 10.08.202	.1 •	Accepted/Published Online: 08.09.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022
		1		

Abstract

In laryngeal cancers, the first metastasis occurs in the cervical lymph nodes This study aimed to determine the levels of cervical metastatic lymph nodes in patients with transglottic laryngeal carcinoma, the effect of tumor prognostic factors on cervical lymph node metastasis. The research retrospectively examined 32 patients who underwent total laryngectomy and neck dissection, with the diagnosis of transglottic squamous cell carcinoma (SCC). Age, gender, complaint, smoking status, and other prognostic factors were evaluated. All patients underwent total laryngectomy with 63 neck dissections. Seven patients had metastatic cervical lymph nodes. Among the prognostic factors, thyroid cartilage invasion, combined perineural–perivascular invasion, subglottic extension, extra laryngeal extension, and preoperative tracheotomy procedure had statistically significant effects on neck metastasis. In conclusion, dissection at level IIB should be reassessed to decrease morbidity due to the low prevalence of level IIB metastasis, both clinically and pathologically. In locally advanced laryngeal cancers, considering the prognostic factors, it is ideal to plan specific treatments for each patient.

Keywords: transglottic laryngeal carcinoma, level IIB, cervical metastasis, prognostic factors.

1. Introduction

Laryngeal squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) is the second most common malignancy in the head and neck region. It constitutes 20–25% of head and neck tumors and 2–5% of all body tumors (1). More than 90% of malignant laryngeal tumors are SCCs, and over 40% of cases are advanced (2). Tumors that originate from one part of the larynx, cross the ventricle, and cause vocal cord fixation are called transglottic cancers. Transglottic cancers make up less than 5% of all cases, and they cause paraglottic region involvement and neck metastasis at an early stage (3).

In laryngeal cancers, the first metastasis occurs in the cervical lymph nodes (CLN). Cervical lymph node metastasis (CLNM) is seen in 1-7% of early-stage glottic (T1–T2) cancers and 20–30% of advanced glottic (T3–T4) cancers (25-55%) (4). Occult or obvious metastases to the cervical region are the most important factor causing recurrence and a 50% reduction in survival time. In addition, if there is extracapsular extension (ECE) in the metastatic lymph node, survival is further reduced by 50% (5).

Radical neck dissection (RND), which Crile first implemented in 1906, has since evolved to be applied in the form of modified radical neck dissection (MRND) and selective neck dissection (SND) (6). It has been reported that SND does not negatively affect survival rates in patients without clinical lymphadenopathy (N0), and it is as effective as other comprehensive neck dissections and causes less morbidity (7). In patients undergoing SND, shoulder syndrome symptom scores were found to be better than those in patients who underwent RND (8). Surviving laryngeal carcinomas is associated with tumor, nodes, metastases (TNM) stage, subglottic extension, perineural–perivascular– thyroid cartilage invasion, extralaryngeal extension, and preoperative tracheotomy procedure (9,10).

This study examined the effects of age, gender, preoperative tracheotomy procedure, anterior commissure involvement, perineural invasion, perivascular invasion, thyroid cartilage invasion, subglottic and extralaryngeal extension, and pathology on CLNM to determine which lymph node levels exhibited cervical spreading and whether level IIB dissection was necessary in this context.

2. Materials and Methods

This research retrospectively compiled the files of 32 patients (three female, 29 male), who underwent total laryngectomy and neck dissection, with the diagnosis of transglottic laryngeal SCC, in University of Health Sciences-Samsun Education and Research Hospital, between January 2017 and December 2019. The study began by receiving numbered ethical approval (GOKA/2020/5/12) from the ethics

committee of the University of Health Sciences-Samsun Education and Research Hospital Non-Interventional Clinical Researches Ethics Board. Patients who had undergone partial laryngeal surgery, as well as those with a history of radiotherapy, chemotherapy, or non-SCC laryngeal pathologies, were excluded.

Patients who were admitted with hoarseness and dyspnea and were diagnosed with laryngeal carcinoma after endoscopic examination were hospitalized. Neck and thorax contrast tomography was conducted. Then. direct laryngoscopy was performed; biopsies were taken; and the laryngeal lesions were mapped. Tracheotomies were opened in the same session for patients with breathing difficulties. Total laryngectomy and radical and/or functional neck dissections were performed in patients with advanced (T3-T4) transglottic tumors whose pathology results reported SCC. As a result of clinical, radiological, and preoperative evaluation, RND was performed on the side with suspected lymphadenopathy, and functional neck dissection (FND) was performed on the opposite side. Bilateral FND was applied to N0 patients. Neck dissection specimens were also reviewed with the relevant pathologist and ordered separately as levels I, IIA, IIB, III, IV, and V. According to the pathology specimen report, patients with more than one metastatic lymph node, with ECE, subglottic extension (1cm anteriorly and 0.5cm posteriorly), and perineural cartilage invasion were treated based on the decision of the tumor council. Localregional recurrences and overall survival were recorded by following the patients for between six and 29 months (average: 12.8 months).

Information concerning age, gender, complaint, smoking **Table 1.** Demographic features, habits and laryngeal location of the tumor

status, tumor placement, tumor histopathology in the pathology specimen report, anterior commissure involvement, subglottic extension, extralaryngeal spread, perineuralperivascular-thyroid cartilage invasion, metastatic-reactive lymph nodes, and ECE (especially level IIB) was compiled. Pathological TNM staging was also determined according to the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) (2017). The data obtained from the study were analyzed via the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) program (version 22.0, SPSS Inc.). During this evaluation, qualitative data were expressed as numbers (n) and percentages (%); the measurement data were expressed as means and standard deviations. In the statistical analyses, the consistency of continuous variables with the normal distribution was evaluated via the Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test. Pearson's Chisquared test was used to compare categorical data. P = 0.05was accepted as the statistical significance limit.

3. Results

The study included 32 patients with transglottic laryngeal cell carcinoma, who were aged 44 to 75 years (mean: 58.4 years). Three patients were female (average age: 46), and 29 were male (average age: 58.8). There was no statistically significant difference in CLNM between male and female patients (p = 0.536) or between smokers and non-smokers (p = 0.591). When the relationship between smoking and lymph node metastasis by gender was examined, again no statistically significant difference was found (p = 0.541). Although the complaints of patients with transglottic tumors varied, hoarseness was observed in 19 patients and respiratory distress in 13. Tracheotomy was performed in seven patients (21.8%) due to breathing difficulties (Table 1).

01	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,					
		Patient number	CLNM	p*		
Age	58.8 (44-75) years					
Gender	Female	3	1	m=0.526		
	Male	29	6	p=0,550		
Smalting	Female	2	1	n = 0.541		
Smoking	Male	29	6	p=0,341		
Commisint	Hoarseness	19				
Complaint	Respiratory distress	13		_		

*p Pearson Chi-square test.

Patients underwent bilateral neck dissection along with total laryngectomy. Of the 63 neck dissections, five were RND and 58 were FND. In the clinical examination, 18 patients (56.25%) had palpable lymphadenopathy in the neck (56.25%). Six of these (18.75%) presented metastatic cervical lymph nodes, confirmed by pathology; these were bilateral in four patients (12.5%) and unilateral in two (6.25%). In 12 (37.5%) patients with clinical lymphadenopathy (N+), there were no metastatic lymph nodes in the neck. In one N+ patient (right, level IV), a metastatic lymph node was reportedly caused by prostate adenocarcinoma. As a result, of pathological evaluation in one N0 patient (3.1%), metastasis was detected at level IIA. 13 patients (40.6%) without clinical adenopathy presented metastatic adenopathy in the neck. One

of these had two lymphadenopathies at level IV, which is reported as thyroid papillary carcinoma metastasis, and a total thyroidectomy was performed.

In seven patients, 19 metastatic lymph nodes were identified as pathological: 42.1% at level IIA, 26.3% at level III, 21% at level IV, 5.2% at level V, 5.2% at level IIB, and 0.0% at level I. Level IIB metastasis was seen in only one patient. This patient had bilateral level IIA, level III, and level IV metastasis. In the same patient, ECE was seen at level IIA and on the opposite side at level IV. While the level IIB metastasis rate was 3.12% among all patients, the rate among patients with metastatic lymphadenopathy was 14.2%. Six of the 32 patients included in the study were T4aN+M0; one was T3N+M0; 14 were T4aN-M0; and 11 were T3N-M0 (Table 2).

Mehel et al. / J Exp Clin Med

Table 2.	Tumor location.	histopathology.	clinical and histo	pathological of	cervical lvm	phadenopathy	and TNM class	ification
1 4010	i annoi iocation,	motopamorog,	ennieur una moto	pathological	ooi , ioui i , iii	phatenopath		mucution

	unior location, I	listopathology, en	incar and mste	pathological	cervical ly	прпацепораціу	and Traivi classi.	neation	
Patient no	Tumor location	Histopathology	CLN	Clinic Right	al Left	Histopa Right	thological Left	Leve 1 IIB	TNM
1	Transglottic	SCC		IIA,III,IV	IIA,III,I V	IIA,III,IV (ece [*])	IIA (ece), III,IV	+	pT4N3bM0
2	Transglottic	SCC	cN+/pN+	III,IV	V	III(ece), IV	V(ece)	-	pT4N3bM0
3	Transglottic	SCC	(n=6)	IIA,III,IV	IIA, III	IIA, III(ece)	-	-	pT4N2aM0
4	Transglottic	SCC	%18.75	IIA,III,IV,V	IIA	III,V	IIA	-	pT4N2cM0
5	Transglottic	SCC		IIA,III	-	IIA	-	-	pT4N1M0
6	Transglottic	SCC		IIA,III,IV	IIA	IIA, IV	IIA	-	pT4N2cM0
7	Transglottic	SCC		IIA,III	-	-	-	-	pT4N0M0
8	Transglottic	SCC		III	-	-	-	-	pT4N0M0
9	Transglottic	SCC		IIA	-	-	-	-	pT4N0M0
10	Transglottic	SCC		IIA,III,IV	IIA	-	-	-	pT4N0M0
11	Transglottic	SCC		IIA	-	-	-	-	pT4N0M0
12	Transglottic	SCC	cN+/pN0 (n=12)	IV	-	Prostate met (IV)	-	-	pT4N0M0
13	Transglottic	SCC	%37.5	IIA, III	-	-	-	-	pT4N0M0
14	Transglottic	SCC		IIA	IIA	-	-	-	pT4N0M0
15	Transglottic	SCC		III	-	-	-	-	pT4N0M0
16	Transglottic	SCC		III	-	-	-	-	pT4N0M0
17	Transglottic	SCC		IIA,II,IV	III	-	-	-	pT4N0M0
18	Transglottic	SCC		IIA	-	-	-	-	pT4N0M0
19	Transglottic	SCC	cN0/pN+ (n=1)%3.1	-	-	IIA	-	-	pT3N1M0
20	Transglottic	SCC		-	-	Papillary ca met (IV)	-	-	pT4N0M0
21	Transglottic	SCC		-	-	-	-	-	pT4N1M0
22	Transglottic	SCC		-	-	-	-	-	pT3N0M0
23	Transglottic	SCC		-	-	-	-	-	pT3N0M0
24	Transglottic	SCC	cN0/pN0	-	-	-	-	-	pT3N0M0
25	Transglottic	SCC	(n=13)	-	-	-	-	-	pT3N0M0
26	Transglottic	SCC	%40.6	-	-	-	-	-	pT3N0M0
27	Transglottic	SCC		-	-	-	-	-	pT3N0M0
28	Transglottic	SCC		-	-	-	-	-	pT3N0M0
29	Transglottic	SCC		-	-	-	-	-	pT3N0M0
30	Transglottic	SCC		-	-	-	-	-	pT3N0M0
31	Transglottic	SCC		-	-	-	-	-	pT3N0M0
32	Transglottic	SCC		-	-	-	-	-	pT3N0M0

*ece=extracapsular extension

In this study, thyroid cartilage invasion, combined perineural-perivascular invasion, subglottic extension, and extralaryngeal spread were found to be statistically significant in the occurrence of CLNM (p = 0.020, p = 0.006, p = 0.000, p = 0.000, respectively). The difference between CLNM incidence was also significant in patients with and without preoperative tracheotomy (p = 0.006) (Table 3).

Table 3. E	ffect of	prognostic	factors	on CLNM
------------	----------	------------	---------	---------

Prognostic factors	n=32	CLNM	р
Ant. commissure	24	7	0.084
involvement			
Thyroid cartilage invasion	20	7	0.020
Perineural invasion	3	1	0.614
Perivascular invasion	2	1	0.320
Perineural-perivascular	2	2	0.006
invasion			
Subglottic extension	9	6	0.000
Extralaryngeal spread	9	7	0.000
Preop tracheotomy	7	2	0.006

Adjuvant radiotherapy was applied to 20 patients, who presented thyroid cartilage invasion, extralaryngeal spread, subglottic extension, and multiple and/or ECE metastatic lymphadenopathy. The patients were followed from six to 29 months (average: 12.8 months). Three patients with ECE lymphadenopathy and one patient with peristomal recurrence died within six months. One patient who underwent total laryngectomy and right RND refused opposite-neck surgery and radiotherapy. This patient was admitted with a mass in the opposite neck 1.5 months later. Only 12 patients who underwent surgery and 16 patients who underwent adjuvant radiotherapy (total: 28 patients) were examined at regular intervals.

4. Discussion

There is no ideal treatment protocol for advanced laryngeal carcinomas. Treatment plans are devised according to the extent of each tumor and the presence of cervical lymphadenopathy. CLNM is the most important prognostic factor affecting survival (11). It is difficult to detect the primary site in the examination because patients with transglottic tumors of the larynx usually go to the doctor late. Clinically or radiologically, lymphadenopathy has been reported to cause poor prognosis in patients with laryngeal carcinomas. In neck surgical treatment, which began with RND, shoulder atrophy and loss of function may be caused by cutting the spinal accessory nerve, and morbidities-such as increased intracranial pressure and, thus, increased mortality-have made MRND, and, later, SND, more commonly applied treatments (12). Muzaffer applied RND to 61 patients, MRND to 54 patients, and SND to 61 patients, and reported no difference between the three groups in terms

of regional relapse and overall survival over a two-year follow-up period (13). Chepeha et al. compared MRND and SND patients in terms of shoulder function and found shoulder function to be more limited in patients who underwent MRND (12). In the present study, 63 neck dissections were performed in 32 patients with transglottic laryngeal carcinoma. RND was applied to five necks and FND to the remaining 58 necks, according to the clinical, radiological, and preoperative findings. Metastatic lymphadenopathies with ECE were reported in three of the RND necks and in one of the FND necks. Three patients who underwent RND died within six months due to regional recurrence and one due to peristomal recurrence. One patient with RND rejected opposite-neck surgery and radiotherapy. This patient was admitted with a mass in the opposite neck 1.5 months later.

According to the predictable cervical metastasis model for head and neck SCCs, dissection of the most affected areas and elective dissection of other regions, if there is no metastasis in these nodes, is controversial (2). Among 164 patients with laryngeal carcinoma, Mnejja et al. found 7% of the metastases at level IIA, 4.3% at level III, 2.7% at level IV, and 2.4% at level IIB (14). Gross et al. reported the results of elective and therapeutic neck dissections performed on patients with laryngeal and hypopharyngeal carcinoma and found level IIB metastasis to be 4% and 17%, respectively (15). In these patients, Gross et al. did not find a significant relationship between primary tumor stage, metastasis at levels IIA and III, clinical nodal stage, or ECE and level IIB metastasis. Sezen et al. dissected 673 lymph nodes from level IIA and 340 lymph nodes from level IIB because of 98 neck dissections performed in 67 patients with supraglottic, glottic, and subglottic laryngeal carcinomas. They reported that 11 (3.23%) of 340 lymph nodes dissected from level IIB were metastatic. They did not detect level IIB metastasis in any N0 patients. The distribution of cervical lymph node metastases in the patients who underwent neck dissection was as follows: eight (42.1%) at level IIA, five (26.3%) at level III, four (21%) at level IV, one at level V (5.2%), and one at level IIB (5.2%) (16). In the present study, level IIB metastasis was observed in only one patient, who had clinical and pathological bilateral metastases at levels IIA, III, and IV. In the same patient, ECE was detected at level IIA on one side, and metastases were detected on the opposite side at level IV. While the level IIB metastasis rate was 3.12% among all the rate among patients with metastatic patients. lymphadenopathy was 14.2%. In this study, the total number of reactive lymph nodes detected at levels I, IIA, III, IV, and V in the cervical region was 17.5 on the side where the tumor in the larynx was predominant, 14.3 on the opposite side of the neck, 4.3 at level IIB on the same side as the tumor, and 3.2 on the opposite side of the neck at level IIB.

It has been reported that the most important prognostic factor affecting survival in laryngeal carcinoma is N stage.

The other prognostic factors determine survival rate as they increase cervical metastasis. Yilmaz et al. reported that perivascular and perineural spread affect survival and recurrence by causing an increase in CLNM (17). Aydin et al. found a significant relationship between thyroid cartilage invasion and CLNM, and Bai et al. determined that extralaryngeal involvement was associated with CLNM (18,19). Lucioni et al. reported a correlation between paratracheal lymph node and laterocervical node involvement in patients with posterior subglottic extension (20). Özağaç et al. found no significant correlation between preoperative tracheotomy and neck metastasis in patients with laryngeal carcinoma (21). In the present study, combined perineuralperivascular invasion, thyroid cartilage invasion, extralaryngeal spread, and subglottic extension were found to significantly affect CLNM (p=0.020, p=0.006, p= 0.000, p=0.000, respectively). However, anterior commissure involvement and solely perineural or perivascular invasion did not significantly affect CLNM (p=0.084, p=0.614, p=0.320, respectively). The authors also found a significant difference between the incidence of CLNM in patients with and without preoperative tracheotomy (p = 0.006).

Approximately 60% of locally advanced laryngeal SCC patients require adjuvant radiotherapy. Skora et al. reported that adjuvant radiotherapy was given to 138 patients in the T3-4N0M0 stage, who underwent total laryngectomy and neck dissection; 34 patients experienced recurrence, and the five-year survival rate was 76% (22). Kennedy et al. found a five-year local and regional control rate of 92% after adjuvant radiotherapy in their study consisting of 36 patients in the T3-T4aN0 stage (23). In the present research, adjuvant radiotherapy was applied to 20 patients with postoperative thyroid cartilage invasion, subglottic extension, and multiple or ECE metastatic lymphadenopathy. The patients were followed between six and 29 months (average: 12.8 months). Local and regional recurrence occurred in five of the patients receiving adjuvant radiotherapy, and four of them died. Disease-free follow-up of 27 (84.3%) patients continues. Limitations of the present study included its retrospective design, the low number of patients, the short follow-up period, and the examination of only transglottic tumors.

In conclusion, transglottic laryngeal carcinomas, latent or overt neck metastases can be seen due to the locally advanced stage of the tumor. Dissection at level IIB should be reassessed to decrease morbidity, especially in N0 necks, due to the low incidence of level IIB metastasis, both clinically and pathologically. In treating advanced laryngeal cancers, considering the prognostic factors, the ideal approach would be to create an appropriate treatment plan for each patient.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Acknowledgments

The author(s) received no financial support for the research.

References

- Mendenhall WM, Werning JW, Hinerman RW, Amdur RJ, Villaret DB. Management of T1-T2 glottic carcinomas. Cancer. 2004 May 1;100(9):1786-92.
- 2. Hoffman HT, Porter K, Karnell LH, Cooper JS, Weber RS, Langer CJ, Ang KK, Gay G, Stewart A, Robinson RA. Laryngeal cancer in the United States: changes in demographics, patterns of care, and survival. Laryngoscope. 2006 Sep;116(9 Pt 2 Suppl 111):1-13.
- Bailey BJ. Glottic carcinoma. In: Bailey BJ, Biler HF, editors. Surgery of larynx. Philadelphia: WB Saunders Comp; 1985, p.257.
- Mendenhall WM, Werning JW. Early-stage cancer of the larynx. Part A: general principles and management. In: Harrison LB, Sessions RB, Hong WK, editors. Head and Neck Cancer: a multidisciplinary approach, 3rd edition. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins 2009, p.339–353.
- Alvi A, Johnson JT. Extracapsular spread in the clinically negative neck (N0): implications and outcome. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 1996 Jan;114(1):65-70.
- Gallo O, Deganello A, Scala J, De Campora E. Evolution of elective neck dissection in N0 laryngeal cancer. Acta Otorhinolaryngol Ital. 2006 Dec;26(6):335-44.
- 7. Pitman KT, Johnson JT, Myers EN. Effectiveness of selective neck dissection for management of the clinically negative neck. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 1997 Sep;123(9):917-22.
- 8. Taylor RJ, Chepeha JC, Teknos TN, Bradford CR, Sharma PK, Terrell JE, Hogikyan ND, Wolf GT, Chepeha DB. Development and validation of the neck dissection impairment index: a quality of life measure. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2002 Jan;128(1):44-9.
- Gallo A, Manciocco V, Simonelli M, Pagliuca G, D'Arcangelo E, de Vincentiis M. Supracricoid partial laryngectomy in the treatment of laryngeal cancer: univariate and multivariate analysis of prognostic factors. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2005 Jul;131(7):620-5.
- Bradford CR, Ferlito A, Devaney KO, Mäkitie AA, Rinaldo A. Prognostic factors in laryngeal squamous cell carcinoma. Laryngoscope Investig Otolaryngol. 2020 Jan 27;5(1):74-81.
- 11. Shah J, Patel S. Head and Neck surgery and oncology. 3th ed. Edingurg, London, New York, Toronto:Mosby; 2003; 353-94.
- 12. Chepeha DB, Taylor RJ, Chepeha JC, Teknos TN, Bradford CR, Sharma PK, Terrell JE, Wolf GT. Functional assessment using Constant's Shoulder Scale after modified radical and selective

neck dissection. Head Neck. 2002 May;24(5):432-6.

- **13.** Muzaffar K. Therapeutic selective neck dissection: a 25-year review. Laryngoscope. 2003 Sep;113(9):1460-5.
- 14. Mnejja M, Hammami B, Bougacha L, Chakroun A, Charfeddine I, Khabir A, Boudaoura T, Ghorbel A. Occult lymph node metastasis in laryngeal squamous cell carcinoma: therapeutic and prognostic impact. Eur Ann Otorhinolaryngol Head Neck Dis. 2010 Nov;127(5):173-6.
- **15.** Gross BC, Olsen SM, Lewis JE, Kasperbauer JL, Moore EJ, Olsen KD, Price DL. Level IIB lymph node metastasis in laryngeal and hypopharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma: single-institution case series and review of the literature. Laryngoscope. 2013 Dec;123(12):3032-6.
- **16.** Sezen OS, Kubilay U, Haytoglu S, Unver S. Frequency of metastases at the area of the supraretrospinal (level IIB) lymph node in laryngeal cancer. Head Neck. 2007 Dec;29(12):1111-4.
- 17. Yilmaz T, Hosal AS, Gedikoğlu G, Onerci M, Gürsel B. Prognostic significance of vascular and perineural invasion in cancer of the larynx. Am J Otolaryngol. 1998 Mar-Apr;19(2):83-8.
- Aydın Y, Paltura C, Tetik F, Kımıloğlu E, Külekçi M. The Relationship Between Local Properties and Neck Metastasis. Jarem. 2018; 8:191-7.
- **19.** Bai W, Ji W, Ren Z. [Relationship between the local invasion and the lymph node metastasis of the supraglottic carcinoma]. Lin Chung Er Bi Yan Hou Tou Jing Wai Ke Za Zhi. 2008 Feb;22(4):163-5.
- **20.** Lucioni M, D'Ascanio L, De Nardi E, Lionello M, Bertolin A, Rizzotto G. Management of paratracheal lymph nodes in laryngeal cancer with subglottic involvement. Head Neck. 2018 Jan;40(1):24-33.
- 21. Ozagaç A, Akın I, Erdoğan M, Celik H, Kaplan T, Eroglu S. Correlation of clinical and histopathological parameters to survival and neck metastasis in laryngeal squamous cell carcinoma. K.B.B. ve BBC Dergisi. 2002; 10:42-7.
- 22. Skóra T, Nowak-Sadzikowska J, Mucha-Małecka A, Szyszka-Charewicz B, Jakubowicz J, Gliński B. Postoperative irradiation in patients with pT3-4N0 laryngeal cancer: results and prognostic factors. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol. 2015 Mar;272(3):673-9.
- **23.** Kennedy WR, Amdur RJ, Boyce BJ, Dziegielewski P, Morris CG, Mendenhall WM. Neck Management with Total Laryngectomy and Adjuvant Radiotherapy in Locally Advanced Larynx Cancer. Oncol Res Treat. 2017;40(9):503-506.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm





J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 194-198 doi: 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.38

Iron deficiency in women with thyroid-specific autoantibodies: A case control study

Şanver KOÇ¹, Kağan GÜNGÖR*.², Nur DOKUZEYLÜL GÜNGÖR³, Mehmet UZUNLULU⁴

¹Department of Internal Medicine, Kartal Dr. Lütfi Kırdar Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey ² Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism, İstanbul Medeniyet University, Göztepe Training and Research Hospital,

İstanbul, Turkey

³Clinic of Reproductive Endocrinology and IVF, BAU Medical Park Göztepe Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey ⁴Department of Internal Medicine, İstanbul Medeniyet University, Göztepe Training and Research Hospital,

İstanbul, Turkey

	Received: 18.08.2021	•	Accepted/Published Online:22.09.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022
--	----------------------	---	--------------------------------------	---	---------------------------

Abstract

Autoimmune thyroid diseases are multifaceted conditions in which the thyroid gland is infiltrated by lymphocytes, resulting in the production of thyroid-specific auto-antibodies against thyroid peroxidase (TPOAb) and thyroglobulin (TGAb). Iron deficiency is a common nutritional deficiency and has multiple adverse effects on thyroid metabolism. The association between iron status and thyroid autoimmunity has not been well-evaluated. This retrospective study aimed to determine whether the frequency of iron deficiency was higher in patients with thyroid autoimmunity than in healthy individuals with negative thyroid autoantibodies. One-hundred-and-eighty female patients with positive thyroid auto-antibodies and 81 healthy controls were involved in the study. Hemoglobin, hematocrit, mean corpuscular volume (MCV), iron, thyrotropin (TSH), TPOAb, TGAb, free-T4, vitamin B12, ferritin and transferrin saturation (TS) were recorded. TSH, TPOAb and TGAb levels were significantly higher, while hemoglobin, hematocrit, MCV, ferritin, iron and TS were significantly lower in the patient group (all, p<0.05). Patients with thyroid autoimmunity had significantly higher frequency of lower levels of hemoglobin, iron, ferritin, MCV and TS than healthy controls (all, p<0.005). Correlations were found inversely between TPOAb and serum ferritin, iron, and TS levels, and also positively between TGAb and creatinine levels in the patient group. In conclusion, we found increased prevalence of iron deficiency in female patients with thyroid autoimmunity. Patients with autoimmune thyroid diseases were found to be at higher risk of iron deficiency development.

Keywords: anti-thyroglobulin antibody, anti-thyroid peroxidase antibody, ferritin, hemoglobin, iron

1. Introduction

The thyroid gland plays an important role in the regulation of multiple functions, such as metabolic rate, energy expenditure, general homeostasis and the use of other hormones and vitamins in the body. It is also the organ most affected by autoimmune conditions (1). In autoimmune thyroid diseases, the thyroid gland is infiltrated by autoreactive lymphocytes which cause the production of circulating thyroid-specific autoantibodies. Hashimoto thyroiditis is the most common form of autoimmune disease worldwide and is the most common cause of primary hypothyroidism in iodine-sufficient regions (2). It is more prevalent among women and the 40-60 years age group. The etiopathogenesis of Hashimoto's disease remains uncertain, but it is suggested to be caused by various complex interactions between genetic susceptibility, environmental and nutritional factors, and immune disorders (3). It is frequently accompanied by other autoimmune disorders, such as Celiac disease, chronic autoimmune gastritis, and type I diabetes mellitus (4). Hashimoto thyroiditis is characterized by clinical hypothyroidism and the presence of auto-antibodies against

thyroid peroxidase (TPOAb) and thyroglobulin (TGAb) (2). TPO is the key enzyme that oxidizes iodide to iodine that will be incorporated into thyroglobulin for the synthesis of thyroxine (T4) or triiodothyronine (T3) (5). TPOAb, the predominant antibody in autoimmune hypothyroidism, has been reported to be present in over 90% of patients and serves as a useful biomarker to identify disease without a need for thyroid biopsy or surgery (1).

Nutritional factors, including iodine, selenium, zinc, vitamin B12, vitamin D and iron may be associated with thyroid dysfunction (6). Iron deficiency is the most common nutritional disorder. In addition to being a very common cause of anemia, iron deficiency results in multiple adverse effects on thyroid metabolism by reducing activity of heme dependent TPO and interfering with the synthesis of thyroid hormones (7). However, the association between iron status and thyroid autoimmunity has not been well assessed. The present study aimed to evaluate whether the frequency of iron deficiency anemia was more common in patients with thyroid autoimmunity than in the individuals without thyroid disease.

2. Materials and Methods

This was a retrospective single center study that was carried out from January 2013 to May 2015 in the Endocrinology and Metabolic diseases Departments of Göztepe Training and Research Hospital, Medeniyet University, Istanbul, Turkey. A total of 554 patients with positive TPOAb and/or TGAb who were admitted to outpatient clinics were selected to be included in the study. The study group consisted of euthyroid or subclinical hypothyroid Hashimoto patients irrespective of their treatment status with levothyroxine. Patients younger than 18 and those older than 70 years old, patients with infections, chronic diseases (including diabetes mellitus and hypertension), malignancy, liver, kidney or cerebrovascular diseases, gastrointestinal disorders (including oesophagitis, erosive gastritis, peptic ulcer disease, inflammatory bowel disease and hemorrhoids), endocrine disorders (Cushing syndrome, acromegaly, adrenal insufficiency), autoimmune diseases (systemic lupus erythematosus, rheumatoid arthritis) were excluded from the study. In addition, pregnant women, patients with alcohol or substance abuse, those receiving medications other than levothyroxine, patients diagnosed with hypochromic microcytic anemia (other than iron deficiency: thalassemia, sideroblastic anemia) were excluded from the study. A total of 63 patients were excluded from the study with regard to exclusion criteria. Twenty-four patients were not involved to the study, due to taking iron supplementation at screening. Thirteen patients were excluded from study because they had autoimmune diseases including celiac disease and autoimmune chronic gastritis, which are comorbidities with Hashimoto's disease and could affect the iron status (4). Twenty-six patients were excluded from the study in terms of menstrual disorders. Previous studies have shown that gender differences could affect iron status, so we included only female patients to attain a homogenous patient cohort (8). A final group of 180 female patients with positive thyroid auto-antibodies were included in the study. The control group consisted of 81 healthy women admitted to the hospital for routine examination who were euthyroid or had subclinical hypothyroidism but had no thyroid autoantibodies. The study protocol was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of Göztepe Training and Research Hospital, Medeniyet University (2015/0023).

According to the World Health Organization criteria, anemia is defined as a hemoglobin value of <12 g/dL in non-pregnant women (9). Patients with serum ferritin level <12 ng/mL, serum iron level <50 μ g/dL, MCV <80 fL and transferrin saturation <16% were considered as having abnormal results (10).

Demographic characteristics, co-morbidities and laboratory findings were retrospectively retrieved from

patient charts. Hemogram parameters, including hemoglobin (Hb), hematocrit (Hct) and mean corpuscular volume (MCV) were measured with CELL-DYN 3700 System (Abbott Laboratories, IL, USA). Blood biochemistry parameters, including alanine aminotransferase (ALT), aspartate aminotransferase (AST), creatinine, blood urea nitrogen (BUN), iron, and unsaturated iron binding capacity (UIBC) were determined with spectrophotometric methods using Abbott Architect c8000 autoanalyzer (Abbott Laboratories, IL, USA). Serum thyrotropin (TSH), TPOAb, TGAb, free T4, vitamin B12 and ferritin levels were measured with the chemiluminescent microparticle immunoassay method by Abbott i2000 immunochemistry analyzer (Abbott Laboratories, IL, USA). Results above the manufacturer's reference limit for TPO-Ab and Tg-Ab were considered positive (TPOAb 5.61 IU / ml; TGAb 4.11 IU / ml). All blood samples were obtained from each patient in the morning and examined within less than one hour after the sampling. Each of the biochemical analyses were performed with the same analyzers and the same test kits in the central laboratory of our hospital.

2.1. Statistical Analysis

Data were presented as mean \pm standard deviation or median (minimum-maximum) for continuous variables according to normality of distribution for quantitative variables, and frequency (percentage) for categorical variables. In comparison of quantitative data, Student's t-test was used for comparing two groups of normally distributed variables, and Mann-Whitney U test was used for comparing non-normally distributed variables. The Pearson chi-squared test, Fisher's exact test and Yates' continuity correction (Yates corrected Chi-square) were used to compare categorical variables. The Pearson correlation analysis was performed to evaluate the relationship between the variables. All analyses were performed using NCSS (Number Cruncher Statistical System) 2007 (Kaysville, Utah, USA). A p value <0.05 was accepted as statistically significant.

3. Results

One-hundred-and-eighty female patients with positive TPOAb and TGAb and 81 healthy women were included in the study. The median age was 43.2 ± 13.1 years in the study group and 46.1 ± 15.3 years in the control group (p=0.143). TSH levels were significantly higher in the patient group (p=0.001). Hemoglobin, hematocrit, MCV, ferritin, iron and transferrin saturation values were significantly lower in patients with positive TPOAb and TGAb (p<0.05 for all). No differences were found between the two groups regarding AST, ALT, vitamin B12, and creatinine levels (p<0.05 for all). Demographic characteristics and laboratory values of the patient and control groups are shown in Table 1.

	Patients (n=180)	Controls	<i>p</i> -value
Age (years)	43.2±13.1	46.1±15.3	0.143
TSH (µIU/mL)	2.7±3.0	$1.8{\pm}1.1$	0.001
Free T4 (ng/dL)	1.07 ± 0.30	1.04±0.23	0.267
TPOAb (IU/mL)	107 (0.5-1095)	0.5 (0.5-3.2)	0.001
TGAb (IU/mL)	26.58 (0.79-1000)	1.1(0.27-4)	0.001
Hemoglobin (g/dL)	12.2±1.3	12.7±1.2	0.003
Hematocrit (%)	36.4±3.4	37.7±3.3	0.004
MCV (fL)	83.2±7.0	84.8±5.3	0.037
Iron (µg/dL)	59.5±33.4	716±32.7	0.007
UIBC (µg/dL)	285.9±70.6	269.7±71.6	0.092
Ferritin (ng/mL)	24.9±30.9	37.8±33.1	0.004
Vitamin B12 (pg/mL)	351±188	377±287	0.457
AST (U/L)	17.8 ± 8.2	$18.8{\pm}10.4$	0.433
ALT (U/L)	17.9±11.0	20.6±13.8	0.126
Creatinine (mg/dL)	$0.8{\pm}0.5$	$0.7{\pm}0.1$	0.059
BUN (mg/dL)	22.5±7.7	26.1±10.0	0.005
Transferrin saturation (%)	23.2±16.8	29.3±16.9	0.008

TSH: Thyrotropin, T4: Thyroxine, TPOAb: Thyroid peroxidase antibodies, TGAb: Thyroglobulin antibodies, MCV: Mean corpuscular volume, UIBC: Unsaturated iron binding capacity, AST: Aspartate amino-transferase, ALT: Alanine amino-transferase, BUN: Blood urea-nitrogen.

According to the World Health Organization criterias, 83 (46%), 78 (43%), and 79 (44%) TPOAb and TGAb positive patients were found to have abnormal levels of iron, hemoglobin, and ferritin, respectively. TPOAb- and TGAb-positive patients had a significantly higher frequency of having abnormal values in hemoglobin, iron, ferritin, MCV and transferrin saturation compared with the control subjects

(p<0.005 for all) There is also a significant relationship between TPOAb level and serum iron, ferritin, and transferrin saturation values. (Table-2). When we divided the study group according to serum ferritin levels (for determination of iron deficiency; serum ferritin levels <12 ng/mL), we did not observe any differences between the groups (p=0.120 and p=178, respectively) (Table 3).

Table 2. Number and percentage of individuals with abnormal levels of MCV, ferritin, transferrrin saturation in patient and control group

	Patients (n=180)	Controls (n=81)	<i>p</i> -value
Low MCV (<80 fL)	53 (29%)	14 (%17)	0.001
Low Ferritin (<12 ng/mL)	79 (44%)	19 (%23)	0.001
Low Transferrin saturation (<16%)	80 (44%)	19 (%23)	0.001
Low Serum Iron (<50 µg/dL)	83 (46%)	22 (%27)	0.001
Decreased Hemoglobin (<12 g/dL)	78 (43%)	21 (%26)	0.001

In correlation analyses, we found negative correlations between TPOAb and serum ferritin, iron, and transferrin saturation levels in the patient group (Table-4). Also, there was a positive correlation between TGAb and serum creatinine level in patients.

4. Discussion

This study aimed to determine the frequency of iron deficiency anemia in patients with positive thyroid-specific antibodies and to compare results with healthy individuals. We found decreased levels of hemoglobin, hematocrit, MCV, iron, ferritin, and transferrin saturation in TPOAb and TGAb positive patients compared to control subjects. Our results demonstrated higher frequencies of abnormal levels of hemoglobin, iron, and ferritin in patients with thyroid auto-antibodies than the control subjects. We also observed a significant correlation between TPOAb level and serum iron, ferritin, and transferrin saturation values.

Iron is an essential micronutrient and is contained in hemoglobin, myoglobin, and numerous iron-containing

enzymes; therefore, it is involved in various metabolic processes including oxygen transport and storage, oxidationreduction reactions, electron transfer, ATP production, DNA synthesis (11). Iron deficiency is a highly prevalent nutritional deficiency worldwide, with the most common results being anemia, decreased oxygen transport and impaired activity of iron-containing enzymes. Iron metabolism is related with the synthesis and metabolism of thyroid hormone. Several animal and human studies have demonstrated that iron deficiency may lower circulating levels of T3 and T4 and may also decrease peripheral conversion of T4 to T3 (12). TPO is the unique hemedependent enzyme required for thyroid hormone synthesis through iodide oxidation into iodine and incorporation of iodine to the tyrosyl residue of thyroglobulin for formation of mono-iodotyrosine and di-iodotyrosine (13). TPO becomes active at the apical surfaces of thyrocytes only after binding a prosthetic heme group (14). Iron deficiency may decrease TPO activity, causing lower T4 production -and higher serum TSH levels due to negative feedback. Iron deficiency triggers ineffective erythropoiesis and reduced oxygen transport to different tissues, which may lead to hypoxia and impaired enzymatic activity in a variety of enzymes, including the enzymes contributing to thyroid metabolism (15). Iron deficiency can also increase in-vitro hepatic reverse triiodothyronine deiodination, suggesting that thyroid hormones tend to be metabolized in inactivating pathways under iron-deficient conditions (16). Therefore, iron sufficiency is important for thyroid hormone synthesis.

	Patients with iron deficiency* in study group (n=79)	Patients with iron deficiency in control (n=19)	p value	Patients with non-iron deficiency in study group (n=102)	Patients with non- iron deficiency in control group (n=62)	<i>p</i> value	<i>p</i> value**
TSH	2.87±3.03	1.73±1.12	0.010	2.56 ± 3.00	$1.72{\pm}1.11$	0.012	0.449
T4	1.05 ± 0.25	1.03 ± 0.10	0.507	1.09 ± 0.33	$1.04{\pm}0.26$	0.248	0.306
TPOAb	297.54±337.79	0.55±0.12	0.001	222.75±292.97	$0.69{\pm}0.62$	0.001	0.120
TGAb	125.18±234.87	1.53 ± 1.09	0.001	82.19±177.76	1.45 ± 0.94	0.001	0.178

Table 3. Comparison of thyroid functions in study and control groups with different ferritin levels

TSH: Thyrophin. T4: Thyroxine. TPOAb: Antibodies against thyroid peroxidase. TGAb: Antibodies against thyroglobulin. Iron deficiency defined as serum ferritin level <12 ng/mL. **p value for comparison of iron deficiency and non-iron deficiency patients in the study group

Thyroid autoimmunity is the leading cause of thyroid dysfunction in iodine-sufficient countries (17). It has multifactorial etiology and is considered to result from a combination of genetic and environmental factors, as well as nutritional determinants. Erdal et al. showed lower iron and selenium levels in 43 auto-immune thyroiditis patients than healthy controls (18). However, limited studies have investigated the relationship between iron status and thyroid auto-immunity through TPOAb and TGAb. Huet al. found that TPO activity, total T3 and T4 levels, and thyroid follicular volume were lower in iron deficiency rats than in those without iron deficiency (19). However, they did not evaluate TPOAb levels. Veltri et al. showed a cross-sectional study in 1900 pregnant women that iron deficiency was related with a higher prevalence of TPOAb and higher serum levels of TSH and lower free T4, independent of confounding factors including age and body mass index (20). Zhang et al. found in 1592 pregnant women that iron deficiency is a risk factor for increased TGAb, but not for TPOAb or subclinical hypothyroidism (21). Wang et al. demonstrated in 190 patients with TGAb or anti-thyroid microsomal antibody (TMAb) positivity that higher frequencies of hemoglobin and iron was observed in TGAb and TMAb positive patients than healthy subjects (22). They found anemia in 16.3% and iron deficiency in 14.2% of patients with positive anti-thyroid antibody titers. In accordance with these studies, we demonstrated decreased levels of hemoglobin, hematocrit, MCV, iron, ferritin, and transferrin saturation in patients with TPOAb and TGAb positivity compared to healthy individuals. We found higher prevalence of iron, ferritin, MCV, hemoglobin and transferrin saturation deficiency in patients with thyroid-specific antibodies. We also observed correlations between TPOAb and serum iron, ferritin, and transferrin saturation levels. Our results suggest that patients with thyroid-specific autoantibodies were at higher risk of development of iron deficiency and anemia. This may be due to the relationship between TPO activity and iron levels. It may indicate that low TPO activity resulting from low iron

status causes an increase in thyroid autoimmunity with aim to maintain function. Low iron status may increase thyroid autoimmunity, as it could alter the binding of T3 to hepatic nuclear receptors and oxygen transport. Iron deficiency may also reduce the activity of other iron-containing enzymes, including myeloperoxidase and cytochrome oxidase, and therefore antibodies against these molecules could cause cross-reaction with TPOAb, leading to higher prevalence of thyroid autoimmunity (23). The relationship between thyroid autoimmunity and iron status may also result from the complex immunological etiopathogenesis of thyroid dysfunctions, in which common genetic and environmental factors play an important role. Besides, iron-deficiency anemia may be the first symptom leading to the diagnosis of subclinical hypothyroidism and thyroid autoimmune diseases. Patients with treatment-resistant anemia should be assessed for thyroid disorders. Autoimmune thyroid diseases should be considered in the differential diagnosis of anemia with unknown origin.

Several strengths of the present study are worthy of mention. Since inadequate intake of iodine could affect thyroid autoimmunity, we carried out the study in an iodinesufficient area. There are many conditions in the etiology of iron deficiency anemia (24). We excluded conditions that might interfere with iron status, such as chronic inflammation, infections, drugs, pregnancy, smoking and obesity (25). In patients with autoimmune thyroid disease, the risk of iron deficiency may increase with concomitant autoimmune diseases including celiac disease, pernicious anemia, atrophic gastritis, SLE and rheumatoid disorders (4). We also excluded patients with these conditions from the study. Several limitations of the current work should also be mentioned. First, the study had a relatively small sample size. Second, to homogenize the study group, we conducted this study in only females. Thirdly, the study was limited to iodine-sufficient areas; thus, the results may not be generalized for women in iodine-deficient or iodine-excess

areas.

In conclusion, we found increased prevalence of iron deficiency in female patients with thyroid autoimmunity. Patients with autoimmune thyroid diseases were at higher risk of development of iron deficiency and anemia. We think that thyroid-specific antibodies should be investigated in patients with treatment-resistant iron deficiency anemia.

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

The study protocol was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of Göztepe Training and Research Hospital, Medeniyet University (2015/0023).

References

- **1.** Rayman MP. Multiple nutritional factors and thyroid disease, with particular reference to autoimmune thyroid disease. Proceedings of the Nutrition Society. 2019;78(1):34-44.
- Ragusa F, Fallahi P, Elia G, Gonnella D, Paparo SR, Giusti C, et al. Hashimotos' thyroiditis: Epidemiology, pathogenesis, clinic and therapy. Best Practice & Research Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism. 2019;33(6):101367.
- **3.** Hu S, Rayman MP. Multiple nutritional factors and the risk of Hashimoto's thyroiditis. Thyroid. 2017;27(5):597-610.
- **4.** Ruggeri R, Trimarchi F, Giuffrida G, Certo R, Cama E, Campennì A, et al. Autoimmune comorbidities in Hashimoto's thyroiditis: different patterns of association in adulthood and childhood/adolescence. Eur J Endocrinol. 2017;176(2):133-41.
- **5.** Buzduga CM, Costea CF, Dumitrescu GF, Turliuc MD, Bogdănici CM, Cucu A, et al. Cytological, histopathological and immunological aspects of autoimmune thyroiditis: a review. Rom J Morphol Embryol. 2017;58(3):731-8.
- 6. Kawicka A, Regulska-Ilow B. Metabolic disorders and nutritional status in autoimmune thyroid diseases. Advances in Hygiene & Experimental Medicine/Postepy Higieny i Medycyny Doswiadczalnej. 2015;69.
- 7. Szczepanek-Parulska E, Hernik A, Ruchała M. Anemia in thyroid diseases. Pol Arch Intern Med. 2017;127(5):352-60.
- Levi M, Simonetti M, Marconi E, Brignoli O, Cancian M, Masotti A, et al. Gender differences in determinants of irondeficiency anemia: a population-based study conducted in four European countries. Annals of Hematology. 2019;98(7):1573-82.
- **9.** Sherard GB 3rd, Newton ER. Is routine hemoglobin and hematocrit testing on admission to labor and delivery needed? Obstetrics and gynecology. 2001;98(6):1038-40.
- **10.** Choi CW, Lee J, Park KH, Yoon SY, Choi IK, Oh SC, et al. Prevalence and characteristics of anemia in the elderly: cross-sectional study of three urban Korean population samples. American journal of hematology. 2004;77(1):26-30.
- 11. Cammack R, Wrigglesworth JM, Baum H. Iron-dependent enzymes in mammalian systems: CRC Press: Boca Raton; 1990.

- **12.** Ashraf TS, De Sanctis V, Yassin M, Wagdy M, Soliman N. Chronic anemia and thyroid function. Acta Bio Medica: Atenei Parmensis. 2017;88(1):119.
- Carvalho DP, Dupuy C. Thyroid hormone biosynthesis and release. Molecular and cellular endocrinology. 2017; 458:6-15.
- 14. Fayadat L, Niccoli-Sire P, Lanet J, Franc J-L. Role of heme in intracellular trafficking of thyroperoxidase and involvement of H2O2 generated at the apical surface of thyroid cells in autocatalytic covalent heme binding. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 1999;274(15):10533-8.
- 15. Maldonado-Araque C, Valdés S, Lago-Sampedro A, Lillo-Muñoz JA, Garcia-Fuentes E, Perez-Valero V, et al. Iron deficiency is associated with Hypothyroxinemia and Hypotriiodothyroninemia in the Spanish general adult population: Di@ bet. es study. Scientific reports. 2018;8(1):1-7.
- 16. Smith SM, Johnson PE, Lukaski HC. In vitro hepatic thyroid hormone deiodination in iron-deficient rats: effect of dietary fat. Life sciences. 1993;53(8):603-9.
- 17. Ranendra K, Sarada N. A Study on Anti Thyroid Peroxidase and Anti Thyroglobulin antibodies in patients with Thyroid Dysfunction. Journal of Dental and Medical Sciences 2020; 1(10): 14-18.
- 18. Erdal M, Sahin M, Hasimi A, Uckaya G, Kutlu M, Saglam K. Trace element levels in hashimoto thyroiditis patients with subclinical hypothyroidism. Biological trace element research. 2008;123(1-3):1.
- **19.** Hu X, Teng X, Zheng H, Shan Z, Li J, Jin T, et al. Iron deficiency without anemia causes maternal hypothyroxinemia in pregnant rats. Nutrition research. 2014;34(7):604-12.
- 20. Veltri F, Decaillet S, Kleynen P, Grabczan L, Belhomme J, Rozenberg S, et al. Prevalence of thyroid autoimmunity and dysfunction in women with iron deficiency during early pregnancy: is it altered. Eur J Endocrinol. 2016;175(3):191-9.
- **21.** Zhang Y, Huang X, Chen Z, Yang Q, Li X, Zhang R, et al. Iron deficiency, a risk factor for thyroid autoimmunity during second trimester of pregnancy in China. Endocrine Practice. 2020;26:(6). 595-603.
- **22.** Wang Y-P, Lin H-P, Chen H-M, Kuo Y-S, Lang M-J, Sun A. Hemoglobin, iron, and vitamin B12 deficiencies and high blood homocysteine levels in patients with anti-thyroid autoantibodies. Journal of the Formosan Medical Association. 2014;113(3):155-60.
- 23. Haapala A, Hyöty H, Parkkonen P, Mustonen J, Soppi E. Antibody reactivity against thyroid peroxidase and myeloperoxidase in autoimmune thyroiditis and systemic vasculitis. Scandinavian journal of immunology. 1997;46(1):78-85.
- 24. Percy L, Mansour D, Fraser I. Iron deficiency and iron deficiency anaemia in women. Best practice & research Clinical obstetrics & gynaecology. 2017; 40:55-67.
- **25.** Duntas LH. Environmental factors and thyroid autoimmunity. Annales d'endocrinologie; 2011; 72: (2) 108-13.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm

Research Article





J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 199-203 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.39

Evaluation of poisoning cases admitted to the pediatric emergency clinic retrospectively

Esra AKYÜZ ÖZKAN*🗅

Department of Pediatrics, Faculty of Medicine, Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Turkey

|--|

Abstract

We aimed to analyze the demographic and epidemiologic features of the acute poisoning cases admitted to the pediatric emergency department. We evaluated 439 cases aged 18 and under applied to Ondokuz Mayıs University Medical Faculty Pediatric Emergency Department between 01/01/2019 and 01/01/2020 retrospectively. The mean age of patients was 7.5 ± 6.39 years.242(55.1%) patients were female. Intoxications were most common in winter season (36.4%) and most seen with caustic corrosive substances. Of the poisoning agents, 35.5% (n:156) were nonpharmacologic and 57.4% (n:252) were pharmacologic agents. In poisonings with pharmacological agents, central nervous system drugs were the most common, while caustic-corrosive substances were most common in nonpharmacological poisonings. While caustic corrosive substances are in the first place in poisonings between the ages of 0-5 (47.4%), in the 5-11 age group; carbon monoxide (25%) and in the 11-18 age group; multiple drug poisonings (15%) were most common observed. Naphthalene intoxication was seen in 4.8% and alcohol was in 4.5%, higher than the literature. In our study, it was observed that alcohol use was high among young people in our region. Also, it is observed that naphthalene poisoning was in high rate. We believe that this study will guide the measures to be taken.

Keywords: adolescents, childhood, pediatric emergency, poisoning

1. Introduction

Poisoning is when a substance is taken into the body through the skin, eyes, mouth, respiratory or vascular access, causing toxic symptoms and sometimes even life-threatening (1). Poisoning is among the preventable causes of mortality and morbidity in children. Among the causes of death between the ages of 1-14, poisoning ranks first in developed countries, and comes after respiratory tract infections and gastroenteritis in developing countries such as our country (2, 3). Mortality from poisoning is four times higher in low- and middleincome countries than in high-income countries (4). The global death rate from poisonings for children younger than 20 years is 1.8 per 100 000 population (5).

While the annual frequency of intoxication caused by accident and suicide is between 0.02-0.93% in developed countries, it is known that this rate is 0.46-1.57% in Turkey (6). We decided to investigate pediatric poisonings in our area retrospectively because we thought that alcohol and naphthalene poisoning was high among the pediatric emergency admissions in our hospital and there were not enough studies about them.

Approximately two-thirds of all poisonings occur in childhood. Children under 6 years of age constitute 55% of all pediatric and adult cases and 80% of pediatric cases (7). Poisoning varies geographically according to different sociocultural and environmental risk factors. Drugs given by parents in the first 1 year of age, drugs kept in closets at the age of 3-5, and suicidal poisoning in school age and adolescence are common (5).

In this study, we aimed to retrospectively evaluate intoxication cases brought to our hospital's pediatric emergency service.

2. Materials and Methods

Ethics committee approval for the study was received from Ondokuz Mayıs University Ethics Committee (2020/411) on 13/07/2020. This study was conducted in accordance with the International Ethics and Declaration of Helsinki.

439 patients who applied to the Pediatric Emergency Service of the Ondokuz Mayıs University Faculty of Medicine in Turkey between 01/01/2019 and 01/01/2020 and whose hospital records could be accessed were evaluated retrospectively. The cases were evaluated in terms of age, gender, month of application, cause of poisoning, application complaint, treatment applied and prognosis. Drugs causing intoxication were grouped to determine their properties.

All patients under 18 years of age and considered intoxication were included in the study. Food poisoning, snake poisoning, allergic reactions and by-drug reactions that can be considered within the scope of toxicology were not included in the study. After a thorough evaluation by the principal investigator, children with suspected intoxication without a clear etiology were also excluded from the study.

All poisoning cases were consulted with the Poison

Information Center, and if necessary, gastric lavage was performed and / or activated charcoal was given. It was administered if the agent causing the poisoning had an antidote. The routes of exposure of the patients were oral or inhalational. According to the examination and vital signs after admission, the child was admitted to the emergency or intensive care units.

Our patients were categorized in 4 classes according to age groups as 0-2 years, 2-5 years, 5-11 years, 11-18 years.

2.1. Statistical Analysis

SPSS (Statistical Package for Social Sciences for Windows v.21.0 SPSS (Chicago, IL, USA)) program was used for

Table1. Distribution of the cases by age group and gender

statistical evaluation. Data are given as numbers and percentages.

3. Results

A total of 439 cases whose ages were between 0 and 18 years (mean 7.5 ± 6.39 years) and whose records were available were evaluated. The ratio of poisoning cases to all emergency admissions was 1.2%. 55.1% of the patients were female patients and the male: female ratio was 0.81. According to age groups, the proportion of boys between the ages of 2-5 (41.7%) was higher, while girls were more between the ages of 11-18 (43.8%). The most common age group for poisoning was 11-18 years (Table 1).

	0-2 age	2-5 age	5-11 age	11-18 age	Total
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Male	43 (21.8)	82 (41.7)	12 (6.1)	60 (30.4)	197 (44.9)
Female	49 (20.2)	75 (31)	12 (5)	106 (43.8)	242 (55.1)
Total	92 (21)	157 (36)	24 (5.4)	166 (37.6)	439 (100)

35.5% (n:156) of the cases were poisoned with nonpharmacological agents and 57.4% (n: 252) of them were with pharmacological agents (Table 2, 3). Central nervous system drugs were the most common (13.2%), antidepressants were the most common among pharmacological agents (7.2%), while multiple drug intoxications were in the second order (7%). Paracetamol poisoning was in third place (3.8%) grouped among analgesics (Table 2). Caustic-corrosive substances were the most common in non-pharmacological intoxications (13.2%), followed by naphthalene (4.8%) and alcohol intoxication (4.5%) (Table 3). In 31 patients (7.1%), the cause of poisoning could not be evaluated due to missing data records.

Considering the time of application according to the season (January-February-March are called winter, April-May-June are spring, July-August-September are summer, October-November-December are autumn), intoxications were seen most frequently in winter (36.4%) and with caustic corrosive substances. The autumn was in second place and poisoning with nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs was the most common in this season (Table 4).

In current study, while poisoning with caustic corrosive substances was in the first place (34.7%) between the ages of 0-2, naphthalene poisoning was the second (6.52%). Caustic corrosive substances were again most common (12.7%) between the ages of 2-5, naphthalene intoxication was the second (8.2%), and paracetamol poisoning was also common in this age group (6.3%). In the 5-11 age group, poisoning with carbon monoxide (25%) and caustic corrosive (20.8%) substances was common. Multiple drugs (15%) and antidepressant (12.6%) poisonings were observed between the ages of 11-18. Alcohol intoxication was seen in 12% of this age group (Table 5).

Table 2. Pharmacological factors caused poisoning

Agent	n (%)
Central nervous system drugs	58 (13.2)
Antidepressants	32 (7.2)
Antipsychotics	18 (4.1)
Antiparkinsonian drugs	4 (0.9)
Amitriptyline	1 (0.2)
Psychostimulants	3 (0.6)
Antiepileptics	12 (2.7)
Antihypertensives	7 (1.6)
Antibiotics	6 (1.3)
Antigribals	14 (3.1)
Analgesic-antipyretics	29 (6.6)
Ibuprofen	4 (0.9)
Paracetamol	17 (3.8)
Salicylate	8 (1.8)
Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatories	23 (5.2)
Antihistamines	5 (1.1)
Antidiabetics	3 (0.6)
Hormone-containing drugs	12 (2.7)
Cardiovascular system drugs	12 (2.7)
Vitamin-minerals	7 (1.6)
Respiratory system drugs	6 (1.3)
Gastrointestinal system drugs	10 (2.2)
Iron-containing drugs	11 (2.5)
Musculoskeletal system drugs	6 (1.3)
Myelorexanes	1 (0.2)
Colchicine	5 (1.1)
Multiple drug intake	31 (7)
Total	252 (57.4)

24.1% of the poisoning cases were caused by suicide, and 75.9% were caused by accident. Suicidal poisoning was more common in girls (79.2%) and multiple drugs were the most taken drugs, followed by antidepressant and antiepileptic drugs. Child psychiatry consultation was requested for all patients who took drugs for suicidal purposes.

A poison counseling center was called for all poisoning cases and when necessary, gastric lavage was performed and activated charcoal was given. In the follow-up of the patients, it was determined that 97.5% were hospitalized in the emergency department and 2.5% in intensive care. There were no cases that resulted in death.

F	
Agent	n (%)
Mushrooms	11 (2.5)
Pesticide-insecticides	9 (2)
Carbon monoxide	13 (3)
Caustic-corrosive substances	58 (13.2)
Mercury	4 (0.9)
Alcohol	20 (4.5)
Opiate	5 (1.1)
Detergents	1 (0.2)
Antiseptics	1 (0.2)
Hydrocarbons	32 (7.3)
Naphthalene	21 (4.8)
Thinner	8 (1.8)
Other	3 (0.6)
Plants	2 (0.4)
Total	156 (35.5)
	. ,

Table 3. Non-pharmacological factors caused poisoning

Table 4. Distribution of poisoning cases according to the seasons and the most common factors

Season	Most common factor	Total number of patients / most common factor n (%)
Winter	Caustic corrosive substance	160/21 (36.4%)
Spring	Caustic corrosive substance	96/13 (21.8%)
Summer	Caustic corrosive substance	84/16 (19.1%)
Autumn	Nonsteroidal anti- inflammatories	99/11 (22.5%)

Table 5. The most common causes of poisoning by age

Age	The most common factor	Number of Cases / Total number of patients (n) (%)	
0-2 years	Caustic corrosive substance	32/92 (34.7%)	
2-5 years	Caustic corrosive substance	20/157 (12.7%)	
5-11 years	Carbon monoxide	6/24 (25%)	
11-18 years	Multiple drug intake	25/166 (15%)	

4. Discussion

The purpose of the study was to evaluate poisoning cases in our rural area and calling attention to common poisoning agents.

In acute poisonings, which constitute a significant part of emergency admissions, early diagnosis and treatment are of great importance because of the high mortality and morbidity rates when intervened late (8).

Poisoning in the first year of life is usually caused by parental mistakes. Intoxications between the ages of 1-5 are caused by unconscious and careless parents leaving the drugs or other toxic substances in the reach of children and not following their children closely enough or keeping them in containers that do not belong to them. The children aged 12-19 are mostly caused using drugs or substances for suicide purposes (1).

In our study, the average age of the patients was 7.5 years. Poisoning in children under six years of age constitutes approximately 80% of childhood poisonings (7). The reason for this those children at this age are very active, inquisitive, curious about learning and try to recognize every item they find by putting them in their mouths (9). In the multicenter study conducted by Dayasiri et al. (10) on 1621 children, 80% of the children were under five years old. In the study of Berta et al., (11) 72.9% of the children were under four years old. In another multicenter study conducted on 2154 children, 67% of children were younger than four years (12). In current study, it was found that 57% of the cases were under 5 years old. In our study, the smallest case was a 22-day-old baby and the mother accidentally prepared and drunk formula with water containing descaler and intoxication occurred. Another youngest patient was a one-month-old baby, and he was poisoned by his older brother because he took a motilityreducing drug containing diphenoxylate and atropine sulfate.

Gender factor is important in intoxication cases. Most studies have shown that the cause of poisoning is mostly accidents and that poisoning cases in children are most common in boys between the ages of 1-5, and in adolescents when drugs taken for suicide are more common in girls (12). In our study, the male/female ratio was found to be 0.8. When grouped by age, the ratio of boys/girls for 0-5 years old was one, after the age of 11 this ratio was found to be 0.6. In the study of Berta et al. (11) 55% were male and Dayasiri et al. (10) the ratio of males was 60%.

When all our cases were evaluated, it was seen that the poisoning occurred because of an accident in 75.9% of the cases and suicide in 24.1% of the cases. In literature it is reported that 85% of poisonings were accidental, 10.6% therapeutic error, 2.3% suicide attempt and 1.5% recreational (11). In current study suicidal poisoning in adolescent girls was found to be frequent, consistent with the literature (n=84) (male/female ratio 0.27) (13). It made up 79.2% of the total suicide cases (n=106) and it was mostly by their own antidepressant drugs or by multiple drug poisoning. The high rate of suicide in girls may be related to their early maturity, emotional behavior, pressure, and intense psychological conflicts during adolescence.

The most common factors that increase the possibility of poisoning in our country are small children are often left at home alone, with a sibling or friend, and medicines and cleaning agents are kept within easy reach of children. In addition, the low level of education and unconsciousness of the families is another reason for this. It is thought that increasing the level of education, packaging the medicines and cleaning materials in protected packages, and keeping the cleaning materials in their own packaging will significantly reduce poisoning.

We observed that poisonings were most common in winter and then autumn months compared to other seasons. Like our study, Biçer et al. (14) showed that, poisoning was most common in winter and autumn months, while Kösecik et al. (15) found most frequently seen in spring and summer. In another study, no seasonal differences were found in poisoning cases (16).

In our study, while poisoning with caustic corrosive substances was the most common (34.7%) between the ages of 0-2, naphthalene poisoning was the second (6.52%). Caustic corrosive substances were again most common (12.7%) between the ages of 2-5, naphthalene poisoning was the second place (8.2%), and paracetamol poisoning was also common in this age group (6.3%). Among the children in the 5-11 age group, the most common poisonings were carbon monoxide (25%) and then caustic corrosive (20.8%) substances. In the age group of 11-18 years, the most common intoxications with multiple drugs (15%) and intoxications with antidepressants (12.6%) were observed. Alcohol intoxications occurred in 12% of this age group and 4.5% of all intoxications, and this rate was higher than the literature. In a study conducted by Bicer et al. (14) from Istanbul, the rate of alcohol intoxication was found to be 1.14%, and in a study conducted in Konya, it was found to be 1.4% (17). In our study, drug poisoning rate was 3% of 11-18 age group children and 1.1% among all children. In a study conducted by Yazar et al. (18) from Konya, this rate was 2.8%.

In current study, the high rate of poisoning with naphthalene was remarkable and was higher than the literature (4.8%). In the study of Biçer et al. (14) naphthalene intoxication rate was found to be 1.5%.

57.4% (n:252) of the cases were poisoned with nonpharmacological agents and 35.5% (n:156) were poisoned with pharmacological agents. Bicer et al. (14) and Çam et al. (19) found drugs in the first place among the intoxication agents (44.9%). In the study of Berta et al. (11) nonpharmacological agents (59%) were the most common, and household cleaning products were the most common among them, while pharmacological agents constituted 41% of poisonings. Among the pharmacological agents, analgesics (20.8%) were the most common, followed by psychotropics (18.2%) and cardiovascular drugs (12.6%). Dayasiri et al. (10) reported that, the most common poison was kerosene oil, followed by paracetamol. In the study of Mintegi et al. (12) conducted from Spain, 54.7% of the cases (the most used drug paracetamol) included local products in 28.9%, alcohol

in 5.9%, carbon monoxide in 4.5% and illegal drugs in 1.5%.

Among the non-pharmacological intoxication agents, caustic-corrosive substances (13.2%) took the first place, followed by naphthalene (4.8%) and alcohol intoxication (4.5%), respectively. The rate of mushroom poisoning was 2.5%. In a similar study conducted in our region, the rate of naphthalene poisoning was 6.09% and the rate of mushroom poisoning was close to our study (3.65%) (20). Naphthalene poisoning is rare in children due to its pungent odour, taste, insolubility in water, and poor absorption from the gastrointestinal tract. The small size and coloration of naphthalenes may attract the attention of children and cause accidental ingestion. It results from intravascular hemolysis. Supportive therapy includes transfusion of packed red blood cells, if needed, monitoring of fluid and electrolyte balance, and administration of alkalis (21).

Central nervous system drugs were the most common cause of intoxication with drugs and among these, antidepressants (7.2%) followed by multiple drug intake (7%) and analgesic-antipyretic (6.6%). Çam et al. (19) and Ağın et al. (22) reported that central nervous system (44.6%, 45% respectively) and analgesic-antipyretic drugs (15.7%, 26.3% respectively) were the leading agents. In the study of Biçer et al., (14) analgesics took the first place (22.3%) and the second was antidepressants (16.9%). In the study of Boran et al. (23) central nervous system drugs took first place among drugs (41.2%), while analgesics (20.2%) were the second.

The first treatment in poisoning is the emergency patient approach protocol (ABCD). In addition, giving specific antidotes for the poisoning agent, changing its metabolism, or increasing its excretion from the body, preventing its absorption, and treating the symptoms are other treatment methods (18). It is of great importance to apply to a health institution as soon as possible when poisoning is exposed or when this situation is noticed. Early initiation of the treatment process is directly proportional to the reduction in mortality and morbidity. Applications such as gastric lavage and drinking activated charcoal are highly effective in the first hour. In our study, most of the patients were referred and gastric lavage and activated charcoal application were performed before they arrived. The mortality rate of intoxication cases ranges from 0.1% to 3.9% (24). While there were some patients presenting with colchicine intoxication, which is known to have high mortality, none of our patients died, 11 patients were followed up in intensive care. The average follow-up period of all cases was 1 day.

One of the limitations of our study is the use of secondary data based on patient treatment forms, which prevents us from controlling the quality of information recorded in medical records. So, we could not determine the time between the time of poisoning and the emergency application. In conclusion, significant progress has been made in the treatment of poisoning, but the most valid method is preventive measures. For this, these are recommended; family education, keeping drugs or toxic substances out of the reach of children and not putting them in bottles that do not belong to them, producing boxes and lids that cannot be opened by children, placing warning labels on drugs, increasing the number of poisoning centers and increasing the number of health personnel trained on poisonings.

In current study, it was observed that alcohol use was at a high level among the youth in our region. In addition, it is seen that naphthalene poisoning is higher than the literature. Alcohol use among adolescents is alarming. We believe that this study will guide the measures to be taken.

Conflict of interest

None.

Acknowledgments

Ethics committee approval for the study was received from Ondokuz Mayıs University Ethics Committee (2020/411) on 13/07/2020.

References

- 1. Sarıkayalar F, 2001 Çocuklarda zehirlenmeler. Katkı Pediatri Dergisi. 22, 377-95.
- 2. Sharif F, Khan RA, Keenan P. Poisoning in a paediatric hospital. Ir J Med Sci. 2003 Apr-Jun;172(2):78-80.
- Uzel N, 2002. Zehirlenmeler. In: Neyzi O, Ertuğrul T, ed. Çocuk Sağlığı ve Hastalıkları. İstanbul, Nobel Tıp Kitapevleri; 1529-55.
- Taft C, Paul H, Consunji R, Miller T. Childhood Unintentional Injury Worldwide: Meeting The Challenge. Washington, DC: Safe Kids Worldwide. 2002.
- Peden M, Oyegbite K, Ozanne-Smith J, Hyder AA, Branche C, Rahman AKMF, Rivara F, Bartolomeos K, editors. World Report on Child Injury Prevention. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2008.
- Özayar E, Değerli S, Güleç H, Şahin Ş, Dereli N. Retrospective analysis of intoxication cases in the ICU. J Medical Surg Intensive Care Med. 2011; 2, 59-62.
- 7. Hoffman RJ, Osterhoudt KC. Evaluation and management of pediatric poisonings. Pediatr Case Rev. 2002 Jan;2(1):51-63.
- 8. Soori H. Developmental risk factors for unintentional childhood poisoning. Saudi Med J. 2001 Mar;22(3):227-30.
- Şenel Güzel I, Esin Kibar A, Vidinlisan S. Evaluation of demographic characteristics in intoxication cases who admitted to emergency room in pediatric unit. Genel Tip Derg. 2011; 21, 101-7.
- 10. Dayasiri MBKC, Jayamanne SF, Jayasinghe CY. Patterns and outcome of acute poisoning among children in rural Sri Lanka.

BMC Pediatr. 2018 Aug 18;18(1):274.

- 11. Berta GN, Di Scipio F, Bosetti FM, Mognetti B, Romano F, Carere ME, Del Giudice AC, Castagno E, Bondone C, Urbino AF. Childhood acute poisoning in the Italian North-West area: a six-year retrospective study. Ital J Pediatr. 2020 Jun 11;46(1):83.
- 12. Mintegi S, Fernández A, Alustiza J, Canduela V, Mongil I, Caubet I, Clerigué N, Herranz M, Crespo E, Fanjul JL, Fernández P, Humayor J, Landa J, Muñoz JA, Lasarte JR, Núñez FJ, López J, Molina JC, Pérez A, Pou J, Sánchez CA, Vázquez P. Emergency visits for childhood poisoning: a 2-year prospective multicenter survey in Spain. Pediatr Emerg Care. 2006 May;22(5):334-8.
- Koliou M, Ioannou C, Andreou K, Petridou A, Soteriades ES. The epidemiology of childhood poisonings in Cyprus. Eur J Pediatr. 2010 Jul;169(7):833-8.
- 14. Biçer S, Sezer S, Çetindağ F, Kesikminare M, Tombulca N, Aydoğan G, Aldemir H. Evaluation of acute intoxications in Pediatric Emergency Clinic in 2005. Marmara Medical Journal. 2007; 20, 12-20.
- 15. Kösecik M, Arslan SO, Çelik İL, Soran M, Tatlı MM, Koç A. Şanlıurfa'da Çocukluk Çağı Zehirlenmeleri. Çocuk Sağlığı ve Hastalıkları Dergisi 2001; 44, 235-239.
- 16. Ulu K, Hasbal Akkuş C, Ulu Ş, Erkum İ, Oral Cebeci S. Çocukluk Çağı Zehirlenmelerinin Geriye Dönük Değerlendirilmesi ve Maliyet Analizi. Çocuk Dergisi. 2019; 19, 138-47.
- 17. Yorulmaz A, Akbulut H, Yahya İ, Aktaş R, Emiroğlu HH, Peru H. Retrospective evaluation of patients admitted to the pediatric emergency department with intoxication. J Pediatr Emerg Intensive Care Med. 2017; 4, 96-103.
- Yazar A, Akın F, Türe E, Odabaş D. Evaluation of forensic cases admitting to Pediatric Emergency Clinic. Dicle Medical Journal. 2017; 44, 345-53.
- 19. Çam H, Kıray E, Taştan Y, Özkan HÇ. İstanbul Üniversitesi Cerrahpaşa Tıp Fakültesi Çocuk Sağlığı ve Hastalıkları Anabilim Dalı Acil servisinde izlenen zehirlenme olguları. Turkish Archives of Pediatrics. 2003; 38,233-9.
- 20. Güngörer V, Kökten Yıldırım N. Yeni açılan ikinci düzey çocuk yoğun bakım birimimizde yatan zehirlenme olgularının değerlendirilmesi. Turk Pediatri Ars. 2016; 51, 35-9.
- Ekambaram S, Chandan Kumar KM, Mahalingam V. Acute kidney injury: A rare complication of mothball (Naphthalene) poisoning. Saudi J Kidney Dis Transpl. 2017 Nov-Dec;28(6):1412-5.
- 22. Ağın H, Çalkavur Ş, Olukman Ö, Ural R, Bak M. Çocukluk çağında zehirlenmeler: son 2 yıldaki olguların değerlendirilmesi. T Klin Pediatri. 2002; 11, 186-93.
- 23. Boran P, Tokuç G, Öktem S. Çocukluk çağı zehirlenmeleri. Çocuk Dergisi. 2004; 4, 236-240.
- 24. Seydaoglu G, Satar S, Alparslan N. Frequency and mortality risk factors of acute adult poisoning in Adana, Turkey, 1997-2002. Mt Sinai J Med. 2005 Nov;72(6):393-401.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm



Research Article

J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 204-209 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.40

Evaluation of the protective effects of folic acid on the lung exposed to 900-MHZ electromagnetic field: A stereological and histopathological study

Kıymet Kübra TÜFEKÇİ^{1,*}^(D), Elfide Gizem BAKIRHAN²^(D), Berrin Zuhal ALTUNKAYNAK³^(D)

¹Department of Histology and Embryology, Faculty of Medicine, Kastamonu University, Kastamonu, Turkey
²Department Histology and Embryology, Faculty of Medicine, Adıyaman University, Adıyaman, Turkey
³Department of Histology and Embryology, Faculty of Medicine, Okan University, İstanbul, Turkey

Received: 12.11.2021 • Accepted/Published Online: 16.11.2021 • Final Version: 01.01.2022

Abstract

There is strong scientific evidence that radio frequency (RF) radiation is harmful to life. Exposure to radiation may cause lung toxicity and respiratory disorders. Folic acid (FA) is one of the powerful antioxidants that minimize oxidative stress in the biological system. In this study, we evaluated the effectiveness of the FA against the EMF-induced potential negative effects on the lung. Twenty-four male *Wistar albino* rats were divided into the four groups; control group (Cont), electromagnetic field group (EMF), FA treated group (FA), and electromagnetic field exposure + FA treated group (EFA). After the routine histological procedures, volumes of the alveoli, bronchioles and blood vessels have been estimated by the Cavalieri principle. It was found that a significant decrease in the mean volume of alveoli, bronchioles and blood vessels in EMF group in comparison of the Cont group (p<0.01). Besides this, histopathological analysis demonstrated that there was impaired lung structure, shrunken alveoli, and increased thickness of the alveolar wall in the EMF group sections. In the EFA group, significant protective effects were observed in the structures volumes and histopathology (p<0.01). These findings corresponded with the antioxidant effect of FA treatment. Our results suggest that FA protected alveoli, bronchioles, and blood vessels against EMF-induced lung injury. Thus FA has the potential to be a therapeutic agent.

Keywords: electromagnetic fields, folic acid, lung injury, Cavalieri Principle, stereology, antioxidant

1. Introduction

The exposure to electromagnetic fields (EMF) is increasing as a parallel of the developing technology. Many of electrical equipment especially mobile phones, emits the EMF, which ultimately negatively affects the human health. Several studies have reported that EMF caused cognitive impairment (1), depressive disorder (2), anxiety-like behaviour (3) and obsessive-compulsive disorder-like behaviour in brain (4). Moreover, exposure to EMF has been associated with reproductive function failure such as decreasing of sperm motility, inhibin B, prolactin, activin B, FSH and LH hormone levels in male Sprague dawley rats (5). Saygin et al. (6) have found a decrease the serum testosterone levels in the rats exposed to 2.45 GHz EMF.

EMF causes an increasing the free radicals by the Fenton reaction in the tissues; this may change the cellular balance and

leads to the cell damage (7,8). The oxidation products are harmful for the cellular components such as lipids, proteins, and DNA. Furthermore, the oxidative stress is associated with the apoptotic and necrotic cell death (9). It is known that, H₂O₂ plays an important role in carcinogenesis due to its diffusion capability throughout the mitochondria and across the cell membranes (10). Apart from this, EMF may have cytotoxic, genotoxic and carcinogenic effects on different organ (11-13). It was shown that the increased levels of reactive oxygen cause breast cancer as well as cell loss and dysfunction (14). Soffritti et al. (15) detected that increased genotoxicity in several tissues such as; heart, liver, pancreas, brain, skin, kidneys. In the tissue, generation of large amounts of free radicals can also disrupt the intracellular antioxidant defence mechanism. In this regard, it is very important that an antioxidant treatment can be applied to minimize possible cell damage. FA is a watersoluble vitamin with a high antioxidant capacity. It is involved in the synthesis, repair and methylation of DNA or RNA thus functions in the prevention of the cancer formation (16). It has been reported that FA inhibits EMF-induced oxidative brain damage (17). In a stereological study, it was found that folic acid has protective effects on the kidney against the side effects of exposure to electromagnetic radiation (18). Therefore, in this study we aimed to investigate the potential protective role of FA against the 900-MHZ EMF exposure in the lung.

2. Material and methods

2.1. Animals

Twenty-four male Wistar albino rats (12 weeks old, weighing 250 ± 50 g) were obtained from Experimental Animal Center of the Ondokuz Mayis University (Samsun, Turkey). All the experimental procedure was approved by the Ethical Committee at the Ondokuz Mayis University (HADYEK/2013-23, 27.08.2014). Animals were randomly divided into four experimental groups with six rats each groups (n=6). The animals were maintained ad libitum feeding schedule, housed individually in a 12-h light: 12-h dark cycle (lights on at 08.00 am-08:00 pm) at a temperature of $22 \pm 2^{\circ}C$ and 45-55% humidity. All experiments were performed in accordance with the guidelines of the European Community Council for experimental animal care.

2.2. Groups

Control (Cont): The rats were not received any treatment and EMF exposure. Electromagnetic field exposure (EMF): The rats were placed in a special apparatus and exposed to 900 MHz EMF for one hour per day (13: 30-14: 30) during the 21 days. No treatment was given to this group (17). Folic acid (FA): FA was given by gavage during the 21 days (50 mg/kg/day of FA, dissolving in 2 ml distilled water). This group was not received EMF exposure (17). EMF+FA: During the 21 days, FA was given by gavage (50 mg/kg/day of FA, dissolving in 2 ml distilled water) and subsequently animals were placed EMF apparatus and they were exposed to 900 MHz EMF one hour (13: 30-14: 30) per day (17).

2.3. Electromagnetic field exposure system

The system we use for EMF exposure; it is a signal generator (Microwave Test Transmitter, Set Electronic Ltd, Turkey) with 1-2 watt output (PW=Pulse Wave) that can operate at 900-1800 MHz frequency. This system works by connecting a 16-section round cage made of polycarbonate with a monopole antenna that can emit electromagnetic waves. In the setup, the antenna is placed in the center, equidistant and perpendicular to all the partitions in the cage, in order to provide an equal distribution of EMF from the monopole antenna to the compartments. In addition, the power density in the area close to the monopole antenna was precisely measured with the electric field probe (EXTECH RF EMF strength meter) during the experiment. For exposure, rats are positioned equidistant from each other with their heads facing the monopole antenna. The rats belonging to the EMF groups were exposed to 900 MHz EMF for 1 hour a day at the same point for 21 days (17).

2.4. Histological and stereological procedure

End of the experimental processes, the tissues of animals were fixed by cardiac perfusion (10% formalin). The lung tissues, after the processed of using routine histological techniques, were embedded in paraffin and were cut the section (10 μ m) by using the microtome (Leica RM 2135, Leica Instruments, Nussloch, Germany) then stained with hematoxylin-eosin (H&E).

2.5. Stereology

The calculation of the reference volume by the Cavalieri method is based on multiplying the surface area of the object by the average section thickness. Surface areas of the sections can be estimated using the point-counting grid that is consists of systematic points (+), which is separated at an equal distance from each other. Each of the points in this grid represents a unit grid area between four points. After superimposing of the grid randomly on the sections, total point numbers that are hit to related area or region would give an estimation of surface area. When the area of a point multiplies with the total number of points intersecting with the structures in the section, the total area is calculated (19, 20).

$$V_{ref} = \Sigma P_i \cdot \hat{t}$$

 $P_i = P(a)$

 V_{ref} is the reference volume, ΣPi is the total number of point superimposed to related area in the sections, \hat{t} is the average section thickness and P(a) represents the area represented by a point (20).

For this method, sampling interval determined by the pilot study and cross-sectional images were taken in tissue sections with a 4X objective (Olympus BX43, Center Valley, PA). By using the Image J program (Image Processing and Analysis in Java, NIH, USA), the point counting grid was placed on the images and calculated interested structures' (alveoli, bronchioles and vessel) area.

2.6. Statistical analysis

After the normality test, data were analyzed with the One-way ANOVA (Tukey-Post Hoc Test). Results were expressed as the means \pm SEM. Statistical analyses were performed on SPSS 20.0 for Mac IBM Corporation (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). All statistical values under 0.05 were considered significant.

3. Results

3.1. The mean volume of alveoli

The mean volume of alveoli in EMF group was significantly decreased compared to the Cont group (p<0.01). It was observed that significant increase in the alveoli volume of EFA group compared to the EMF (p<0.01). Moreover, there were no significant differences between the Cont and EFA group's alveoli volume (p>0.05), Table 1, Fig.1.

3.2. The mean volume of bronchioles

The mean volume of bronchioles in the EMF group was significantly decreased compared to the Cont group (p<0.01).

Furthermore, the volume of bronchiole in the EFA group showed significant increase compared to the EMF groups (p<0.01). There were significant differences between the Cont with the EFA groups (p<0.01), Table 1, Fig. 2.

Table 1. The mean coefficient of error (CE) and coefficient of variation (CV) values of stereological analysis of total volume of alveoli, bronchioles and blood vessels were given for the all groups

Groups		Alveoli	Bronchioles	Blood vessels
Cont	CE	0.05	0.05	0.05
	CV	0.06	0.07	0.08
EMF	CE	0.01	0.02	0.05
	CV	0.04	0.02	0.06
FA	CE	0.05	0.05	0.04
	CV	0.07	0.03	0.07
EFA	CE	0.06	0.03	0.03
	CV	0.04	0.04	0.07



Fig. 1. The graph shows the mean alveolar volume between the groups in the lung tissue (mean \pm SEM). (*) and (**) show statistical differences under p<0.05 and p<0.01 level, respectively



Fig. 2. The graph shows the mean volume of bronchioles between the groups in the lung tissue (mean \pm SEM). (**) Show statistical differences under p<0.01 level.

3.3. The mean volume of blood vessels

The mean volume of blood vessels in the lung was decreased in the EMF groups compared to the Cont group (p<0.01). In contrary to this, a significant increase was found in the EFA groups compare to the EMF group (p<0.01). There were differences between the Cont and EFA (p<0.05).



Fig. 3. The graph shows the mean volume of blood vessels between the groups in the lung tissue (mean \pm SEM). (*) and (**) show statistical differences under p<0.05 and p<0.01 level, respectively

3.4. Histopathological results

Histopathological observations were done in the HE stained sections. In the Cont group, general structure of lung were look in normal, the alveoli components were clearly observed; its walls thickness was normal. The bronchioles and vessels have well-structured layers and their lumens were seen open. The alveolar wall in the EMF group was thicker than Cont and EFA groups. Most of the area was seen with edematous. Also, alveolar haemorrhage was seen in the alveolar walls in the EMF exposed group. In the EMF group alveoli there is pronounced blood cells infiltration, which are neutrophil, lymphocytes and monocyte were seen. Also, it was observed that the wall of the bronchioles was split and the epithelial cells were damaged in the EMF exposed group. On the other hand, in the EFA group, the protective effect of folic acid was seen in the alveoli, bronchioles and vessels structures since they look very healthy and all structures could be seen clearly. It is observed that there is a clear delineation of the alveoli walls as well as the bronchial walls well organized in the EFA group. Similarly, In the EFA group, the vessels were well preserved and their walls were visible (Figs. 4-6).

4. Discussion

Today, individuals are exposed to electromagnetic waves throughout their lives, starting from the womb. The effects of electromagnetic waves, which are also defined as environmental pollution factors, on the human body are undoubtedly an issue that needs to be investigated. For this aim, in the present study, we evaluated that the protective effects of FA on EMF exposed lung tissues. Studies have reported that the radiation emitted by mobile phones can cause oxidative stress by increasing free oxygen radicals (ROS) in various tissues (21, 22). It has been shown that EMF exposure causes abnormal changes in intracellular antioxidant defence systems such as MDA and GSH due to excessive production of ROS in the body (17, 21). Odacı et al. (23) found that prenatal exposure to 900-MHz EMF causes a significant decrease in the total number of granule neurons in the dentate gyrus.
Similarly, it was found that pyramidal cell number significantly reduced in the EMF exposed group (24). The dentate gyrus and hippocampus cell loss may be mediated by the induction of oxidative stress in the nerve tissues by the EMF.



Fig. 4. Light microscopic images were taken from the sections of the alveolar region of the lung. There was no clear delineation of the alveolar structures in the EMF group. Moderate pulmonary oedema was detected in the EMF exposed group. Based on histological structure a significant protective effect of the FA treatment was observed in the EFA group. It was observed that the general morphology of the cells in these group alveoli was seen healthy. Not only all structures were preserved but also the alveolar cell borders were clear in the EFA group. The FA ameliorates the side effect of EMF on the lung tissue. *; Healthy alveoli, Hematoxylin and eosin staining



Fig. 5. Light microscopic images shows bronchioles in the lung. The normal structured bronchioles (star) were seen in the Cont, FA and EFA groups. It is noticed that there was heavily impaired wall (arrow) of bronchioles in the EMF group. Hematoxylin and eosin staining



Fig. 6. Light microscopic images shows that blood vessels. The stars indicate the normal structured vessels in the Cont and EFA groups. In the EMF group sections, it was observed that the vascular wall was thinned and the endothelial integrity was impaired (arrow). It is seen that FA administration has protective effects on the vessels in the EFA group. Hematoxylin and eosin staining

Yahyazadeh et al. (25) investigated that effect of 900-MHZ EMF on the lung. They showed that mean volumes of alveoli, bronchioles and blood vessels were significantly decreased in EMF group compared to the Cont group. They also detect histopathological alterations such as irregularity of the epithelial border and dispersion of connective tissue in bronchiole in the EMF group sections. Baltacı et al. (26) found that 50-Hz EMF leads to increases of MDA level in the lung tissue. Although GSH levels were also increased in response to increased MDA levels in this study, they were insufficient to restore MDA levels to control values. In the light of these findings, the researchers concluded that despite the increased antioxidant system activity, the increased tissue damage in the lung tissue as a result of exposure to EMF could not be prevented. Another study reported that exposure to a 50-Hz EMF increased the levels of SOD and TBARS in lung tissue (10). Similarly, Seyhan and Canseven (27), reported that exposure to 50-Hz EMF negatively affects the antioxidant defence systems in many organs such as the spleen, skin, lung, kidney and brain. According to all these studies results, it is clear that EMF causes to tissue damage by negatively affecting the antioxidant defence system. In several in vivo studies with the mice and rats, the EMF is thought to be cause cell death (apoptosis) (8, 28, 29). It has been reported that folic acid has free radical scavenging properties and antioxidant activity (30). The antioxidant activity of folic acid is mediated by many mechanisms that can increase total antioxidant capacity (TAC) and reduce ROS formation (30). In one study, it was reported that folate intake supports lung functions and is beneficial (31). In a meta-analysis study, it was reported that folic acid supplementation could significantly improve markers in the antioxidant defence system by increasing serum GSH and TAC concentrations and decreasing serum MDA concentrations (32). Kivrak et al. (17) reported that folic acid showed neuroprotective effects in the brain cells due to the its antioxidant activity. In another study, folic acid administration in diabetic rats has been shown to reduce oxidative damage (33).

In conclusion, we observed that EMF causes a reduced volume of blood vessels, bronchioles volume, and alveolar volume in the lung. This might cause serious side effects on the oxygen-carrying capacity of the organ. According to these results, it would be suggested that EMF might lead to impairment in the lung structure, so it causes loss of function. FA, that antioxidant properties are known, ameliorated these effects.

Based on the stereological results, although FA reduced the negative effects of EMF, it could not normalize bronchiole and blood vessel volumes. The inability of FA to show sufficient antioxidant effect may be due to insufficient dose or duration of use. There is a need for new studies on the duration and dose of FA.

On the other hand, although we attribute the protective effects of FA to its antioxidant properties, the lack of biochemical methods limits our study. We believe that this subject needs to be investigated using different techniques such as biochemical analysis of lung tissues, electron microscopic observation, and immunohistochemical staining processes for a better understanding of the side effect of EMF exposure on the lung.

Conflict of interest statement

The authors have declared that there is no conflict of interest.

Acknowledgement

This work was supported by the Ondokuz Mayıs University project management office (PYO. TIP.1904.13.025).

REFERENCES

- 1. Duan Y, Wang Z, Zhang H, et al. The preventive effect of lotus seedpod procyanidins on cognitive impairment and oxidative damage induced by extremely low frequency electromagnetic field exposure. Food Funct. 2013;4(8):1252-1262. doi:10.1039/c3fo60116a
- 2. Madjid Ansari A, Farzampour S, Sadr A, Shekarchi B, Majidzadeh-A K. Effects of short term and long term Extremely Low Frequency Magnetic Field on depressive disorder in mice: Involvement of nitric oxide pathway. Life Sci. 2016;146:52-57. doi:10.1016/j.lfs.2015.12.055
- 3. Djordjevic NZ, Paunović MG, Peulić AS. Anxiety-like behavioural effects of extremely low-frequency electromagnetic field in rats. *Environmental science and pollution research international*, 2017;24(27),21693–21699. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-017-9710-1</u>
- 4. Salunke BP, Umathe SN, Chavan JG. Experimental evidence for involvement of nitric oxide in low frequency magnetic field induced obsessive compulsive disorder-like behavior. Pharmacol Biochem Behav. 2014;122:273-278.

doi:10.1016/j.pbb.2014.04.007

- 5. Sepehrimanesh M, Saeb M, Nazifi S, Kazemipour N, Jelodar G, Saeb S. Impact of 900 MHz electromagnetic field exposure on main male reproductive hormone levels: a Rattus norvegicus model. Int J Biometeorol. 2014;58(7):1657-1663. doi:10.1007/s00484-013-0771-7
- 6. Saygin M, Caliskan S, Karahan N, Koyu A, Gumral N, Uguz A. Testicular apoptosis and histopathological changes induced by a 2.45 GHz electromagnetic field. Toxicol Ind Health. 2011;27(5):455-463. doi:10.1177/0748233710389851
- 7. 7. Simkó M. Cell type specific redox status is responsible for diverse electromagnetic field effects. Curr Med Chem. 2007;14(10):1141-1152. doi:10.2174/092986707780362835
- **8.** 8. Lu YS, Huang BT, Huang YX. Reactive oxygen species formation and apoptosis in human peripheral blood mononuclear cell induced by 900 MHz mobile phone radiation. Oxid Med Cell Longev. 2012;2012:740280. doi:10.1155/2012/740280
- **9.** Ocle KK, Perez-Polo JR. Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase inhibition prevents both apoptotic-like delayed neuronal death and necrosis after H(2)O(2) injury. J Neurochem. 2002;82(1):19-29. doi:10.1046/j.1471-4159.2002.00935.x
- 10. 10. Güler G, Ozgur E, Keles H, Tomruk A, Vural SA, Seyhan N. Neurodegenerative changes and apoptosis induced by intrauterine and extrauterine exposure of radiofrequency radiation. J Chem Neuroanat. 2016;75(Pt B):128-133. doi:10.1016/j.jchemneu.2015.10.006
- 11. El-Bialy NS, Rageh MM. Extremely low-frequency magnetic field enhances the therapeutic efficacy of low-dose cisplatin in the treatment of Ehrlich carcinoma. Biomed Res Int. 2013;2013:189352. doi:10.1155/2013/189352
- 12. 12. Tiwari R, Lakshmi NK, Bhargava SC, Ahuja YR. Epinephrine, DNA integrity and oxidative stress in workers exposed to extremely low-frequency electromagnetic fields (ELF-EMFs) at 132 kV substations. Electromagn Biol Med. 2015;34(1):56-62. doi:10.3109/15368378.2013.869755
- 13. Qi G, Zuo X, Zhou L, et al. Effects of extremely low-frequency electromagnetic fields (ELF-EMF) exposure on B6C3F1 mice. Environ Health Prev Med. 2015;20(4):287-293. doi:10.1007/s12199-015-0463-5
- 14. 14. Simkó M, Mattsson MO. Extremely low frequency electromagnetic fields as effectors of cellular responses in vitro: possible immune cell activation. J Cell Biochem. 2004;93(1):83-92. doi:10.1002/jcb.20198
- 15. 15. Soffritti M, Tibaldi E, Padovani M, et al. Synergism between sinusoidal-50 Hz magnetic field and formaldehyde in triggering carcinogenic effects in male Sprague-Dawley rats. Am J Ind Med. 2016;59(7):509-521. doi:10.1002/ajim.22598
- 16. 16. Krebs MO, Bellon A, Mainguy G, Jay TM, Frieling H. Onecarbon metabolism and schizophrenia: current challenges and future directions. Trends Mol Med. 2009;15(12):562-570. doi:10.1016/j.molmed.2009.10.001
- **17.** 17. Kivrak EG, Altunkaynak BZ, Alkan I, Yurt KK, Kocaman A, Onger ME. Effects of 900-MHz radiation on the hippocampus and cerebellum of adult rats and attenuation of such effects by folic acid and Boswellia sacra. Journal of microscopy and ultrastructure, 2017; 5(4), 216-224.
- 18. Deniz ÖG, Kıvrak EG, Kaplan AA, Altunkaynak BZ. Effects of folic acid on rat kidney exposed to 900 MHz electromagnetic radiation. Journal of microscopy and ultrastructure, 2017; 5(4), 198-205.
- 19. 19. Altunkaynak ME, Ozbek E, Altunkaynak BZ, Can I, Unal D,

Unal B. The effects of high-fat diet on the renal structure and morphometric parametric of kidneys in rats. J Anat. 2008;212(6):845-852. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7580.2008.00902.x

- 20. 20. Gundersen HJ, Jensen EB. The efficiency of systematic sampling in stereology and its prediction. J Microsc. 1987;147(Pt 3):229-263. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2818.1987.tb02837.x
- 21. 21. Altun G, Kaplan S, Deniz OG, et al. Protective effects of melatonin and omega-3 on the hippocampus and the cerebellum of adult Wistar albino rats exposed to electromagnetic fields. J Microsc Ultrastruct. 2017;5(4):230-241. doi:10.1016/j.jmau.2017.05.006
- 22. 22. Terzi M, Ozberk B, Deniz OG, Kaplan S. The role of electromagnetic fields in neurological disorders. J Chem Neuroanat. 2016;75(Pt B):77-84. doi:10.1016/j.jchemneu.2016.04.003
- 23. 23. Odaci E, Bas O, Kaplan S. Effects of prenatal exposure to a 900 MHz electromagnetic field on the dentate gyrus of rats: a stereological and histopathological study. Brain Res. 2008;1238:224-229. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2008.08.013
- 24. 24. Bas O, Odaci E, Mollaoglu H, Ucok K, Kaplan S. Chronic prenatal exposure to the 900 megahertz electromagnetic field induces pyramidal cell loss in the hippocampus of newborn rats. Toxicol Ind Health. 2009;25(6):377-384. doi:10.1177/0748233709106442
- 25. 25. Yahyazadeh A, Kıvrak EG, Erdem Koç G, Altunkaynak BZ. Protective effect of melatonin on the rat lung following exposure to 900-MHz electromagnetic field: a stereological and histopathological study. J Exp Clin Med, 2021; 38, 55-60. 10.52142/omujecm.38.2.1
- 26. 26. Baltaci, A.K., Mogulkoc, R., Salbacak, A., Celik, I., Sivrikaya, A., 2012. The role of zinc supplementation in the inhibition of tissue damage caused by exposure to electromagnetic field in rat lung and liver tissues. Bratisl. Lek. Listy.113, 400-403.
- 27. 27. Seyhan N, Canseven AG. In vivo effects of ELF MFs on

collagen synthesis, free radical processes, natural antioxidant system, respiratory burst system, immune system activities, and electrolytes in the skin, plasma, spleen, lung, kidney, and brain tissues. Electromagn Biol Med. 2006;25(4):291-305. doi:10.1080/15368370601054787

- 28. 28. Ghodbane S, Lahbib A, Ammari M, Sakly M, Abdelmelek H. Does static magnetic field-exposure induced oxidative stress and apoptosis in rat kidney and muscle? Effect of vitamin E and selenium supplementations. Gen Physiol Biophys. 2015;34(1):23-32. doi:10.4149/gpb 2014027
- **29.** 29. Türedi S, Kerimoğlu G, Mercantepe T, Odacı E. Biochemical and pathological changes in the male rat kidney and bladder following exposure to continuous 900-MHz electromagnetic field on postnatal days 22-59. Int J Radiat Biol. 2017;93(9):990-999. doi:10.1080/09553002.2017.1350768
- 30. 30. Joshi R, Adhikari S, Patro BS, Chattopadhyay S, Mukherjee T. Free radical scavenging behavior of folic acid: evidence for possible antioxidant activity. Free Radic Biol Med. 2001;30(12):1390-1399. doi:10.1016/s0891-5849(01)00543-3
- **31.** 31. Hirayama F, Lee AH, Terasawa K, Kagawa Y. Folate intake associated with lung function, breathlessness and the prevalence of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr. 2010;19(1):103-109.
- 32. 32. Asbaghi O, Ghanavati M, Ashtary-Larky D, et al. Effects of Folic Acid Supplementation on Oxidative Stress Markers: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. Antioxidants (Basel). 2021;10(6):871. Published 2021 May 28. doi:10.3390/antiox10060871
- 33. 33. Mutavdzin S, Gopcevic K, Stankovic S, Jakovljevic Uzelac J, Labudovic Borovic M, Djuric D. The Effects of Folic Acid Administration on Cardiac Oxidative Stress and Cardiovascular Biomarkers in Diabetic Rats. Oxid Med Cell Longev. 2019;2019:1342549. Published 2019 Jun 11. doi:10.1155/2019/1342549



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm



Research Article

J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 210-215 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.41

Multidrug resistant microorganisms in the intensive care unit without COVID-19 during pandemic

Özgür KÖMÜRCÜ^{1,}*¹, M. Gökhan TAFLAN², İlkay BOZKURT³, Yeliz Tanrıverdi CAYCI⁴ Fatma ÜLGER¹

¹Division of Intensive Care, Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Faculty of Medicine, Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Turkey ²Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Faculty of Medicine, Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Turkey

³Department of Infectious Diseases, Faculty of Medicine, Ondokuz Mayis University, Samsun, Turkey

⁴Department of Medical Microbiology, Faculty of Medicine, Ondokuz Mayıs University Samsun, Turkey

Received: 09.06.2021	•	Accepted/Published Online: 01.07.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022
		1		

Abstract

There are very few reports on the prevalence of multidrug-resistant microorganisms during the COVID-19 pandemic. In addition, these publications usually cover covid-19 patients. Our study aimed to compare the prevalence of multidrug-resistant microorganisms in patients without COVID-19 undergoing treatment in an intensive care unit (ICU) during the COVID-19 pandemic with those in the pre-pandemic period. The study was planned retrospectively. In our country, the prevalence of multi-drug-resistant microorganisms was evaluated in the intensive care unit where internal and surgical patients were hospitalized in a single center in 6-month periods before and after the occurrence of covid-19 cases. The prevalence of multidrug-resistant microorganisms increased in patients being followed up in our ICU during the pandemic period (p<0.05). Statistically significant relationships were found between the incidence rate of microorganisms with multi-drug resistance and sex (p=0.028), presence of malignancy (p=0.011), and nurse's duration of work in the ICU (p=0.04). The increased prevalence of multidrug-resistant microorganisms and the infections caused by these microorganisms are other challenges that must be tackled during the pandemic period.

Keywords: coronavirus pandemic, multidrug-resistant microorganisms, intensive care, COVID-19

1. Introduction

At present, there is a global endeavor to manage the third and most severe corona virus-related disease in the last two decades (1). By June 03, 2021, there have been 170. 812. 850 confirmed cases and 3.557.586 deaths worldwide due to coronavirus disease (COVID-19) (2). Although various antiviral, antibiotic, and antimalarial drugs have been used in treatment, no treatment with proven efficacy specific to COVID-19 infection has been found in randomized controlled studies (3). Therefore, preventive strategies and breaking the transmission chain of the disease have been major targets. Hand hygiene and the use of personal protective equipment are recommended by health authorities since the early days of the pandemic (4).

Along with primary infection with severe acute respiratory syndrome-coronavirus-2, infection with other microorganisms (as coinfection or superinfection), complicates diagnosis and treatment and adversely affects the prognosis (5). In order to prevent this, World Health Organization (WHO) initially recommended the use of empirical antibiotic treatment during COVID-19 pandemi (6). It was reported that, despite coinfection being found in 3.5% and secondary infection being found in 14.3% of patients hospitalized due to COVID-19, 70% of the patients used broad-spectrum antibiotics (7). With increasing knowledge on and experience with COVID-19, the use of empirical or prophylactic antibiotic treatment is no longer recommended in patient management in both WHO guidelines andthe local guideline that we take as basis (8, 9). In addition, COVID-19 outbreak has had an impact on healthcare services. A significant number of healthcare workers have contracted COVID-19, and in many cases, the disease was fatal. The resulting healthcare personnel shortage has been mitigated by employing less experienced healthcare professionals. Moreover, healthcare workers have had to face many issues such as psychological stress, extreme workload, extra working hours, and insufficient personal protective equipments (10).

Uncontrolled use of unproven treatment regimens (therapy with steroids, immunosuppressives, cytokine binders), reserve hospital staff being channeled to COVID-19 clinics, and in particular, inexperienced and exhausted healthcare workers, as well as intensive use of empirical antibiotics in intensive care units (ICUs), added a serious problem for medical professionals; multidrug-resistant (MDR) microorganisms. In our study, we aimed to analyze whether the incidence rate of MDR (resistance against at least three categories of antibiotics) microorganism-related infections increased during the COVID-19 pandemic compared to the pre-pandemic period in

patients in ICU.

2. Materials and Methods

The study was planned retrospectively after obtaining ethics committee approval (OMUKAEK: 2020/618). Patients in the 20-bed ICU in which patients who have undergone internal surgery during 10.01.2019-10.01.2020 (two 6-month periods before and after COVID-19 notification in our country) are monitored were included in the study. The included patients wereover the age of 18 years, and their cultures were positive for MDR microorganisms. The factors analyzed included the following: patients' demographic data (age, sex, chronic diseases); Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation II (APACHE II) score (a mortality prediction score based on acute health problems and chronic health conditions of patients in ICUs); indications for intensive care admission; the location from where the patients were admitted to the intensive care unit (hospital, emergency service, home, operating room); culture results before intensive care admission and date of sample collection before intensive care admission, culture results during intensive care (on which day of intensive care admission reproduction happened and the microorganism that reproduced); need for mechanical ventilation; whether tracheotomy was performed; invasive procedures performed (central catheter, urinary catheter, nasogastric catheter); presence of open wound; presence and degree of decubitus ulcer; and need for renal replacement therapy.

Simultaneously, the number of intensive care physicians, nurses, auxiliary healthcare personnel, number of new

healthcare personnel starting work in the COVID-19 pandemic period, amount of hand disinfectant used in the ICU in the 6month time periods before and after the beginning of COVID-19 pandemic, and number of personal protective equipment were evaluated to determine incidence rate of microorganisms patient samples in our ICU before and after the pandemic.

The data were analyzed using IBM SPSS Statistics 21.0 software. Friedman and Wilcoxon tests were used for intragroup comparisons. Mann–Whitney U test was used for numerical variables, and chi-square test was used for categorical variables for intergroup comparisons. Logistic regression models were used to determine the risk factors in the culture results with MDR (+) microorganisms, and p < 0.05 was considered significant.

3. Results

Over a period of 1 year, 1731 patients were admitted to our ICU. Monitoring and treatment of 857 patients were conducted in the 6-month period before March 2020 when COVID-19 cases started to occur in our country and that of 874 patients were conducted in the 6-month period after this date. MDR microorganism growth was detected in the cultures of 118 out of 857 patients admitted in the first six months before March 2020 and in those of 157 out of 874 patients admitted in the first six months after March 2020 (Fig. 1). When MDR microorganism cultures grown in both periods were compared, it was found that the rate increased significantly during the COVID-19 pandemic period (p < 0.05).



Fig 1. Flow chart of the patients included in the study; ICU: Intensive Care Unit, MDR: Multidrug Resistance

Demographic data, additional systemic diseases, and clinical characteristics of patients with MDR microorganisms grown in their cultures in the ICU during the two different time periods are summarized in Table 1. It was observed that the average intensive care stay of the patients was 24 days (range 1–233 days) in the 6-month period before the COVID-19 pandemic and 18 days (range 1–149 days) in the 6-month period after the pandemic, whereas intensive care stay durations of the patients in both periods was found to be statistically similar (p = 0.108). The average day on which

microorganism growth was observed was found to be the 10^{th} day (range $1^{st} - 213^{th}$ days) after admission among the patients who were monitored in the 6-month period before the pandemic, whereas this was the 9^{th} day (range $1^{st} - 326^{th}$ days) in the patients admitted in the 6-month period after the pandemic (p = 0.86). MDR microorganisms and the site of their growth in the body in both periods evaluated in the study are shown in Table 2 and 3. *Acinetobacter baumannii* was found as the dominant MDR ICU pathogen in the first samples collected after the patients were admitted to the ICU, according

to the surveillance data during ICU stay.

Table 1. Relationship between patients with multi-drug resistant microorganisms in their cultures before and after the Covid-19 pandemic and demographic, additional systemic diseases and their clinical characteristics

	Pre Covid-19 MDR (+) n=118	Post Covid-19 MDR (+) n=157	P value
Age, year mean \pm SD	61.9 ± 18.2	60.2 ± 18.9	0.337
Gender (F / M) %	47.4 / 52.6	60.4 / 39.6	0.028
Systemic Disease			
Diabetes Mellitus %	18.1	21.4	0.231
Hypertension %	32.4	29.9	0.342
Malignancy %	17.2	28.9	0.011
COPD %	8.6	4.4	0.144
APACHE II Score mean \pm SD	21.2 ± 8.5	22.5 ± 10	0.342
Intensive Care Admission			
Postoperative %	76.7	60.4	0.037
Sepsis %	10.3	18.9	0.054
Trauma %	9.5	12.6	0.611
Post Resüscitation %	3.4	8.2	0.413
Blood-Blood Product Transplantation			
Erythrocyte Suspension %	18.1	21.4	0.691
Fresh Frozen Plasma %	5.2	6.9	0.614
Platelet Suspension %	3.4	6.3	0.446
Mechanical Ventilation %	87.1	81.1	0.184
Tracheotomy%	24.1	22.6	0.993
Central Catheter%	57.8	54.1	0.583

MDR: Multi Drug Resistance, COPD: Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease, APACHE II = Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation

The intensive care work experience of our intensive care nurses was an average of 124 months before the pandemic. Instead of our 12 nurses who had positive Covid-19 swab culture, intensive care service was tried to be provided with our nurses with no or less intensive care experience. After the pandemic, our nurses' intensive care experience decreased to an average of 108 months, due to our newly recruited inexperienced nurses. The rate of MDR that increased during the pandemic period was found to be statistically significant with decreased nurse experience (p = 0.04)

Table 2. Resistant microorganisms that grow in 6-month time periods before and after the Covid-19 pandemic

	Pre Covid-19 MDR (+)	Post Covid-19 MDR (+)	Р
	n=118	n=157	
Acinetobacter Baumannii %	14.7	20.1	0.814
Staphylococcus Epidermidis %	19.0	15.1	1,000
Staphylococus Hominis %	10.3	12.6	0.406
Klebsiella Pneumoniae %	9.5	11.9	0.810
Escherichia Coli %	9.5	10.1	0.976
Enterococcus Faecalis %	7.8	8.2	0.414
Staphylococcus Haemolyticus %	2.6	5	0.536
Staphylococcus Aureus %	2.6	4.4	0.273
Pseudomonas Aeruginosa %	9.5	2.5	0.346
Candida Albicans %	1.7	1.4	0.721
Corynebacterium Striatum %	1.7	1,3	0.661
Enterobacter Cloacae %	0.9	1,3	0.423
Enterococcus Avium %	1.7	1.3	0.589
Staphylococcus Capitis %	2.6	1.9	0.638
Haemophilus İnfluenzae %	2.6	0.6	0.999
Providencia Rettgeri %	0.9	1.2	0.488
Streptococcus Pneumoniae %	1.7	0.6	0.885
Staphylococcus Caprae %	0.9	-	-

Table 3. Resistant microorganism breeding sites for 6 months before and after Covid-19 pandemic

	Pre Covid-19 MDR (+)	Post Covid-19 MDR (+)	P value
	n=118	n=157	
Peripheral Blood Culture %	36.2	30.2	0.428
Tracheal Aspirate Sample %	23.3	26.5	0.896
CSF %	11.2	14.5	0.899
Catheter Blood Culture %	12.1	13.8	1,000
Urine Sample %	11.2	8.2	0.310
Surgical Material %	3.4	3.1	0.620

2.6

Wound Culture % CSF: Cerebrospinal Fluid

The mortality rates of patients with MDR microorganisms detected in culture follow-ups in the ICU of our hospital was 36.4% in the first 6 months period (before the COVID-19 pandemic) and 51.6% in the second 6-month period (COVID-19 pandemic period) and this increase was statistically significant (Fig. 2) (p < 0.05).



Fig 2. Mortality rates with Kaplan Meier curve in patients with resistant microorganism culture (+) in Intensive Care Unit during Pre Covid-19 (6 months before Covid-19) and Post Covid-19 (6 months after Covid-19) periods, ICU: Intensive Care Unit (p < 0.05)

4. Discussion

MDR microorganism culture-positive rates increased statistically significantly during the pandemic period compared to the prepandemic period in the patients included in the present study. MDR microorganism species and growth sites during the pandemic period were found to be similar to those of prepandemic period. During the COVID-19 pandemic period, it was observed that among important MDR microorganisms; incidence of *Acinetobacter baumannii* (14.7% / 20.1%) and *Klebsiella pneumoniae* (9.5% / 11.9%) increased, whereas that of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (9.5% / 2.5%) decreased.

MDR infections are a growing public health problem.(11) Risk factors for the development of resistant infections observed in ICUs are mainly stated as sex, surgical history, central venous catheterization, mechanical ventilation, previous antibiotic therapy, and duration of stay in the ICU (12-14).

Sex is a controversial risk factor for MDR microorganism growth (15). In a meta-analysis evaluating 17 studies, male sex was specified as a risk factor for MDR growth, and it was explained withpossible related physiopathology, physiological differences, and lifestyle (12). In our study, MDR microorganisms were observed in 151 male and 124 female patients in the total study period, and a significant relationship was found between the presence of MDR microorganism culture, which increased during the pandemic period compared to the prepandemic period, and female sex. In previousstudies, urinary tract infections in particular are stated as a risk factor for MDR microorganism growth in patients of the female sex (16). In our data, no relationship could be demonstrated between female/malesexand MDR microorganism growth sites.

0.955

3.1

Surgical procedures, stress response, medical treatments during the process, and surgery-related immunosuppression increase the possibility of the occurrence of MDR microorganisms (17). In our center, based on the guidelines of our country's Ministry of Health, elective surgeries were postponed within the framework of the fight against the pandemic, while emergency and malignancy surgeries continued to be performed. Therefore, the number of postoperative patients admitted to our ICU decreased during the pandemic period (76.7% / 60.4%). Despite decreased number of surgical procedures being performed in our center during the pandemic period, the incidence rate of MDR microorganisms observed in the ICU increased compared to that of the pre-pandemic period.

Immunodeficiency occurring in patients with malignancy increases the likelihood of MDR microbial growth (18). When our data are examined, it is observed that admission of patients with malignancy to the ICU increased significantly between the periods before and after the pandemic. The presence of malignancy and the likelihood of detection of MDR microorganisms were directly correlated in our study. Most of the patients with malignancy admitted to the ICU during the pandemic period were admitted for postoperative follow-up rather than due to terminal malignancy and possible complications. It was observed that the ratio of patients with malignancy and those with MDR samples detected to nonoperative patients admitted to postoperative intensive care before pandemic was 86.4%, whereas the corresponding ratio during the pandemic was 71.3%. Since most palliative care units in our country were transformed into "COVID-19 ICUs" during the pandemic period, treatment of the patient population for whom the follow-up and treatment processes should be carried out mainly in palliative care centers was arranged in "Non-COVID-19 Internal Surgery ICUs" As a result, the rate of patients with malignancy accepted for medical treatment, which was 13.6% before the pandemic in our ICU where internal surgery patients were admitted, increased to 28.7% during the pandemic period. Despite the generally reduced number of surgical procedures, the increased rate of patients with malignancy being admitted to the ICU during the postoperative period might have contributed to the increased incidence of MDR microorganisms.

It is known that invasive procedures in ICUs increase the

rate of MDR microbial reproduction (19, 20). Pathogenic microorganisms colonize and multiply in the invasive material (such as a central venous catheter, endotracheal tube, and urinary catheter) inserted for prolonged periods and consequently increase the possibility of infection. MDR infections can be reduced with proper nursing care and catheter management (21, 22). During the pandemic period, 18 healthcare professionals (3 doctors, 3 assistant healthcare personnel, 12 nurses) in our ICU were infected with SARS-CoV-2. The staff shortage that occurred during the treatment and quarantine process of infected healthcare professionals was filled with healthcare professionals who did not have sufficient intensive care experience. As a result, the average level of intensive care experience of the nurses in our center, who were the most affected group, decreased during the pandemic period. In our study, it was found that decreased intensive care experience level correlated with the prevalence of MDR microorganisms.

When the mortality rates before and during the pandemic period were compared, it was observed that the mortality rate was significantly higher during the pandemic period. Admission of the increased number of patients with malignancy to our ICU during the pandemic period could have led to an increased mortality rate. However, an increase in mortality during the pandemic period was also observed in patients without malignancy according to the results of the subgroup analyses performed on these patients.

At present, the world is facing a test of large magnitude in the form of COVID-19. However, it is likely that we will also encounter problems triggered by the pandemic in addition to the pandemic itself. Although a solution for antibiotic resistance does not exist at the moment, it is important to identify the factors that cause its increased prevalence. We believe that our study, by revealing the increased prevalence of MDR microorganism growth in the ICU of our center during the pandemic period, will enable healthcare personnel worldwide to take adequate measures to avoid this public health issue.

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

References

- Morens DM, Daszak P, Taubenberger JK. Escaping Pandora's Box

 Another Novel Coronavirus. N Engl J Med. 2020;382(14):1293 doi: 10.1056/NEJMp2002106. PubMed PMID: 32101660.
- 2. WHO. Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) Dashboard. Data last updated: 2021/6/03.
- **3.** Song Y, Zhang M, Yin L, Wang K, Zhou Y, Zhou M, et al. COVID-19 treatment: close to a cure? A rapid review of pharmacotherapies for the novel coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2). International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents. 2020;56(2):106080. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2020.106080.

- 4. Alzyood M, Jackson D, Aveyard H, Brooke J. COVID-19 reinforces the importance of handwashing. J Clin Nurs. 2020;29(15-16):2760-1. Epub 2020/05/15. doi: 10.1111/jocn.15313. PubMed PMID: 32406958; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC7267118.
- Ruuskanen O, Lahti E, Jennings LC, Murdoch DR. Viral pneumonia. Lancet. 2011;377(9773):1264-75. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61459-6. PubMed PMID: 21435708; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC7138033.
- 6. Organization WH. Clinical management of severe acute respiratory infection (SARI) when COVID-19 disease is suspected: interim guidance, 13 March 2020. World Health Organization, 2020.
- Langford BJ, So M, Raybardhan S, Leung V, Westwood D, MacFadden DR, et al. Bacterial co-infection and secondary infection in patients with COVID-19: a living rapid review and meta-analysis. Clinical microbiology and infection : the official publication of the European Society of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases. 2020;26(12):1622-9. Epub 07/22. doi: 10.1016/j.cmi.2020.07.016. PubMed PMID: 32711058.
- 8. WHO. Clinical management of COVID-19. WHO-2019-nCoVclinical-20205-eng.
- 9. saglik.gov.tr. covid-19 rehberi eriskin hasta tedavisi. covid19saglikgovtr/Eklenti/39061/0/. 2020.
- 10. Cai H, Tu B, Ma J, Chen L, Fu L, Jiang Y, et al. Psychological Impact and Coping Strategies of Frontline Medical Staff in Hunan Between January and March 2020 During the Outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID19) in Hubei, China. Med Sci Monit. 2020;26:e924171. doi: 10.12659/MSM.924171. PubMed PMID: 32291383; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC7177038.
- Jolivet S, Lolom I, Bailly S, Bouadma L, Lortat-Jacob B, Montravers P, et al. Impact of colonization pressure on acquisition of extended-spectrum β-lactamase-producing Enterobacterales and meticillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus in two intensive care units: a 19-year retrospective surveillance. J Hosp Infect. 2020;105(1):10-6. Epub 2020/02/25. doi: 10.1016/j.jhin.2020.02.012. PubMed PMID: 32092367.
- **12.** Ang H, Sun X. Risk factors for multidrug-resistant Gram-negative bacteria infection in intensive care units: A meta-analysis. International Journal of Nursing Practice. 2018;24(4):e12644. doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/ijn.12644.
- 13. Kaye KS, Patel DA, Stephens JM, Khachatryan A, Patel A, Johnson K. Rising United States Hospital Admissions for Acute Bacterial Skin and Skin Structure Infections: Recent Trends and Economic Impact. PLoS One. 2015;10(11):e0143276. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0143276. PubMed PMID: 26599005; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4657980.
- 14. Chelazzi C, Pettini E, Villa G, De Gaudio AR. Epidemiology, associated factors and outcomes of ICU-acquired infections caused by Gram-negative bacteria in critically ill patients: an observational, retrospective study. BMC Anesthesiol. 2015;15:125. doi: 10.1186/s12871-015-0106-9. PubMed PMID: 26392077; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4578757.
- 15. Liu Q, Li W, Du X, Li W, Zhong T, Tang Y, et al. Risk and Prognostic Factors for Multidrug-Resistant Acinetobacter Baumannii Complex Bacteremia: A Retrospective Study in a Tertiary Hospital of West China. PLOS ONE. 2015;10(6):e0130701. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0130701.
- 16. Tenney J, Hudson N, Alnifaidy H, Li JTC, Fung KH. Risk factors for aquiring multidrug-resistant organisms in urinary tract infections: A systematic literature review. Saudi Pharmaceutical Journal. 2018;26(5):678-84. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsps.2018.02.023.

- Hogan BV, Peter MB, Shenoy HG, Horgan K, Hughes TA. Surgery induced immunosuppression. The Surgeon. 2011;9(1):38-43. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.surge.2010.07.011.
- Patolia S, Abate G, Patel N, Patolia S, Frey S. Risk factors and outcomes for multidrug-resistant Gram-negative bacilli bacteremia. Therapeutic advances in infectious disease. 2018;5(1):11-8. Epub 09/12. doi: 10.1177/2049936117727497. PubMed PMID: 29344356.
- Timsit JF, Schwebel C, Bouadma L, Geffroy A, Garrouste-Orgeas M, Pease S, et al. Chlorhexidine-impregnated sponges and less frequent dressing changes for prevention of catheter-related infections in critically ill adults: a randomized controlled trial. Jama. 2009;301(12):1231-41. Epub 2009/03/26. doi: 10.1001/jama.2009.376. PubMed PMID: 19318651.
- **20.** Jung JY, Park MS, Kim SE, Park BH, Son JY, Kim EY, et al. Risk factors for multi-drug resistant Acinetobacter baumannibacteremia in patients with colonization in the intensive care unit. BMC Infectious Diseases. 2010;10(1):228. doi: 10.1186/1471-2334-10-228.
- 21. Lebeaux D, Fernández-Hidalgo N, Chauhan A, Lee S, Ghigo JM, Almirante B, et al. Management of infections related to totally implantable venous-access ports: challenges and perspectives. Lancet Infect Dis. 2014;14(2):146-59. Epub 2013/12/10. doi: 10.1016/s1473-3099(13)70266-4. PubMed PMID: 24314751.
- **22.** Osti C, Wosti D, Pandey B, Zhao Q. Ventilator-Associated Pneumonia and Role of Nurses in Its Prevention. Journal of the Nepal Medical Association. 2017;56(208).



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm

Research Article



J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 216-220 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.42

Silymarin ameliorates cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity by downregulating TNF-α and NF-kB and by upregulating IL-10

Fikret ALTINDAĞ*🗅

Department of Histology and Embryology, Faculty of Medicine, Van Yüzüncü Yıl University, Van, Turkey

	Received: 13.06.2021	٠	Accepted/Published Online: 01.07.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022
--	----------------------	---	---------------------------------------	---	---------------------------

Abstract

Cisplatin (CP) is one of the antineoplastic agents used to treat many types of cancers. Besides these effects of CP, it causes various side effects such as nephrotoxicity. Inflammation is considered to be one of the main pathogeneses of CP-induced nephrotoxicity. Silymarin (SIL) is a flavonoid with beneficial pharmacological properties such as antioxidant and anti-inflammatory. The current study aimed to investigate the beneficial effects of Silymarin against CP-induced nephrotoxicity. Albino Wistar male rats were randomly divided into four groups (n=7): Control group was administered saline (0.5 ml) for 10 days intraperitoneally (IP), CP group was received CP (a single dose of 8 mg/kg, IP), CP+ SIL group was administered saline (0.5 ml) for 10 days and was received CP (a single dose of 8 mg/kg). To measure the inflammatory response, TNF- α , NF-kB and IL-10 expressions were performed. As a result, TNF- α and NF-kB expressions significantly increased while IL-10 expression decreased in the kidney of the CP group compared to the control group. However, SIL treatment significantly decreased TNF- α and NF-kB expressions and increased IL-10 expression in kidney CP-treated rats. These findings reveal that SIL may ameliorates the CP-induced nephrotoxicity in rats by inducing downregulation of TNF- α and NF-kB expressions and upregulation of IL-10 expression

Keywords: Cisplatin, IL-10, Nephrotoxicity, NF-kB, Silymarin, TNF-a

1. Introduction

Cisplatin (CP) is a platinum-derived anticancer agent used to treat many types of human cancers such as lung, bladder, ovary, testicular, leukemia, brain, kidney, head and neck tumors. It also plays a key role in the treatment of germ cell cancer (1). Despite its very strong effects in cancer treatment, it has side effects such as neurotoxicity and ototoxicity, especially neurotoxicity. More than 30% of patients receiving CP treatment suffered from renal dysfunction (2). Even though the toxic effects of CP have been proven, it is still a widely prescribed drug. Because it is a standard drug for some cancer treatments such as head and neck (3). Although the pathophysiology of acute kidney injury (AKI) caused by CP is complex, it mainly includes oxidative stress, apoptosis and inflammation (4). Inflammation is critical for understanding the pathogenesis of CP-induced nephrotoxicity (5). TNF- α is a major inflammatory factor that plays a crucial role in CPinduced nephrotoxicity. Production of TNF- α is mostly dependent on ROS and NF-kB activation (6). IL-10 is an antiinflammatory cytokine that inhibits the production of proinflammatory cytokines mainly produced by T cells, macrophages and Dendritic cells (7). Since CP is both nephrotoxic and an indispensable drug in the treatment of many tumors, reducing or preventing kidney damage caused by it becomes an important problem to be solved.

Studies have reported that the administration of natural compounds may be a protective strategy against CP-induced nephrotoxicity (8, 9). Silymarin is a natural polyphenol compound extracted from the thistle (Silybum marianum) plant (10). It has been reported to have anti-inflammatory, antioxidant, antiviral, immunomodulatory, anti-proliferative properties (11, 12). Silymarin has been proven to have a hepatoprotective effect against liver toxicity induced by various hepatotoxic agents (13, 14, 15, 16). Recently, some studies have reported the protective effects of Silymarin to prevent CP-induced nephrotoxicity (17, 18). However, the effect mechanism of Silymarin in CP-caused nephrotoxicity has not been fully elucidated. Therefore, in our study, the beneficial effects of Silymarin were investigated by evaluating the expressions of TNF-α, NF-kB and IL-10 in the treatment of CP.

2. Material and Method

2.1. Experimental animals and drug treatment

Twenty-eight healthy *Albino Wistar* male rats weighing 180-200 g were randomly divided into four groups (n=7): Control (C) group was administered 0.5 ml saline for 10 days, CP group was received a single dose of 8 mg/kg cisplatin intraperitoneally (IP) on the 5th day of the study (19), Cisplatin + Silymarin group was received 50 mg/kg silymarin (Sigma

Aldrich Biotechnology, CAS Number: 65666-07-1) orally for 10 days, and a single dose 8 mg/kg cisplatin IP was administered on the 5th day of the study, Silymarin group was received 50 mg/kg silymarin orally for 10 days (20). Animals were obtained from Van Yüzüncü Yıl University Experimental Medicine Application and Research Center. Animals were maintained normal light and dark cycles (12h:12h light/dark), at temperature $(21 \pm 2 \text{ °C})$ and humidity $(50 \% \pm 10)$, their feed and water were given in accordance with the standards (ad libitum). All protocols of the experiment have been approved by the Van Yüzüncü Yıl University Animal Experiments Local Ethics Committee (approval number: 2021/05-01). At the end of the experiment, the rats were anesthetized with intraperitoneal ketamine (75mg/kg). The kidney was removed and was fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin for immunohistochemical evaluation.

2.2. Immunohistochemical preparation

Kidney tissue was embedded in paraffin after undergoing routine histological processing stages. The sections of 4 µm thickness were taken from paraffin blocks. The taken sections were deparaffinized and dehydrated. After incubation with 3% Hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), the sections were incubated in citrate buffer (ph 6.1) by heating in a microwave oven. They were incubated in Ultra V Block. Antibodies of TNF-α (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, dilution:1/50), NF-kB (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, dilution:1/50) and IL-10 (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, dilution:1/50) were used as primary antibody. The sections were incubated with primary antibodies +4C overnight, then they were incubated in Biotinylated Goat Antiand Streptavidin-peroxidase Polyvalent, conjugate respectively. Diaminobenzidine (DAB) was used as a chromogen, and then stained with Mayer's hematoxylin. TNF- α , NF- κ B and IL-10 immunopositive cells were counted using cellSens Software imaging systems (Olympus, Japan) in a light microscope (Olympus BX53, Japan) and assessed by H-score.

3. Results

3.1. Immunohistochemical findings

According to the results of the immunohistochemical assay performed to measure the inflammatory response showed that CP significantly increased TNF- α and NF-kB expressions, while decreased IL-10 expression compared to the control group (p<0.05). However, treatment with silymarin reduced TNF- α and NF-kB expressions and increased IL-10 expression in CP-induced rat kidneys (p<0.05). Only a few TNF- α , NF-kB and IL-10 immunopositive cells were observed in the Control and Silymarin groups (Fig. 1 and 2).

4. Discussion

This study aimed to investigate the beneficial effects of Silymarin in CP-induced nephrotoxicity. The findings of our study showed that Silymarin has a nephroprotective effect by reducing kidney inflammation caused by CP treatment. The effect mechanism of silymarin is schematized in Fig. 3.

One of the most prominent complications of CP used to

treat many solid tumors is acute kidney injury (AKI) (4). It has been reported that inflammation is one of the most main pathogeneses of CP-induced AKI. Inflammation is a complex biological response that occurs after tissue damage (21). Previous studies have proven the role of inflammatory mechanisms in AKI caused by toxic substances (22). After kidney injury, the balance between pro-and anti-inflammatory mediators in the kidney significantly influences the extent of tissue damage and repair (23). Since AKI is closely related to inflammation, it is important to clarify inflammation in determining the necessary treatment modalities to prevent or treat AKI (21). The cellular damage and its associated molecular products are thought to be key triggers for inflammation after acute tissue injury (24). Pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF-a, IFN-y, IL-6, IL-1β, IL-23, IL-17 and anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-4, TGF-B, IL-10 are crucial factors in determining tissue damage and treatment strategies (25).



Fig. 1. The effect of silymarin on TNF- α , NF-kB and IL-10 expressions in kidney tissue of CP induced rats. H-Score



Fig. 2. Immunohistochemical figures of kidney tissues of rats. CP increased TNF- α and NF-kB expressions, while decreased IL-10 expression. However, treatment with silymarin reduced TNF- α and NF-kB expressions and increased IL-10 expression

 $NF-\kappa B$ is an important factor that plays an active role in the activation of transcription of genes encoding proinflammatory

cytokines especially TNF- α , and thus mediates inflammation (26). TNF- α is a potent cytokine that mediates inflammatory tissue damage in the kidney, and specifically activates IL1- β , MCP-1, and IL-6 pro-inflammatory cytokines (28). Previous studies have reported that CP causes an inflammatory response by stimulating the production of proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6, MCP-1 and NF-kB in the kidney (5). It has been demonstrated that CP administration activates NF-kB which stimulates the expression of other proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α in the kidney. It also inhibits the production of IL-10 which suppresses the expression of TNF- α . IL-10 has protective effects on tissue damage as well as inhibiting the production of inflammatory cytokines (28). In parallel to studying of Kim et al. (2010), the current study revealed that CP treatment-induced inflammation by increasing the expression of NF-kB and TNF- α in the kidney. On the other hand, it inhibited the anti-inflammatory mechanism by suppressing IL-10 expression.



Fig. 3. Mechanism of action of silymarin in CP-induced nephrotoxicity. CP treatment upregulates TNF- α and NF-kB expression in the kidney, while it downregulates IL-10 expression. However, silymarin treatment exerts a renoprotective effect by suppressing TNF- α and NF-kB expressions and stimulating IL-expression in CP-induced kidney

Recently, it has been reported that antioxidants have a nephroprotective effect by suppressing oxidative stress and inflammation in CP-induced nephrotoxicity (29). Soetikno et al. (2018) reported that increased NF- κ B and TNF- α expressions in CP-induced kidneys were significantly inhibited by curcumin treatment, and it also showed a nephroprotective effect by increasing IL-10 expression (30). Similarly, Sánchez-González et al. (2017) reported that CP-induced inflammatory markers such as TNF-a, iNOS and neutrophil infiltration, and Quercetin treatment improved these inflammatory markers (31). Similar to previous studies, in the current study, the increase in the expression of NF-kB and TNF-α caused by CP was significantly restored with Silymarin treatment. On the other hand, IL-10 expression suppressed by CP was significantly increased with Silymarin treatment (30, 31). These findings of our study reveal that Silymarin has an antiinflammatory effect against inflammation caused by CP in the kidney of rats.

One of the most important ways of preventing CP-induced kidney damage is to inhibit increased $TNF-\alpha$. It has been

reported that TNF- α can directly damages the glomerular and tubular cells and activates internal and external apoptotic pathways (32). Gawad and Mohamed (2010) revealed that it was observed histopathological changes such as diffuse renal tubular necrosis, degeneration and mononuclear cellular infiltration in the kidney tissues of rats treated with CP (33). They also reported that Silymarin can be used as a nephroprotective agent by improving these structural changes induced by CP. Similarly, Abdelmeguid et al. (2010) reported that CP application caused deteriorations in the kidney such as glomerular atrophy, dilated filtration gap, loss of brush border of proximal collecting tubules, hypertrophied podocyte pedicels and tubular cell vacuolization, but Silymarin treatment ameliorated these changes (34). It is estimated that the inflammation caused by CP may be related to the histopathological findings of previous studies (13, 33). This study shows that increased TNF- α , which is an important marker of inflammation, can have a direct toxic effect on kidney cells (32). In addition, the current study reveals that silymarin suppresses the expression of TNF- α and increases the expression of IL-10, which is both an anti-inflammatory and tissue-protective cytokine, and it may be a protective agent for cells in kidney tissue. In this respect, our study is thought to support previous studies (13, 33).

The results of our study showed that silymarin may have a renoprotective effect by reducing the increased inflammation in the kidney induced. It is considered that the renoprotective effects of silymarin are mainly related to the downregulation of the expression of TNF- α and NF-kB and the upregulation of the expression of IL-10. Therefore, it is estimated that silymarin may be used as a protective agent against CP-induced nephrotoxicity.

Conflict of Interest

The authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest

Funding

This research did not receive any grant from funding agencies

Acknowledgments

This study was carried out with the resources provided by the Department of Histology and Embryology, Faculty of Medicine, Van Yüzüncü Yıl University.

References

- 1. Dasari S, Tchounwou PB. Cisplatin in cancer therapy: molecular mechanisms of action. Eur J Pharmacol. 2014 Oct 5;740:364-78. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2014.07.025. Epub 2014 Jul 21. PMID: 25058905; PMCID: PMC4146684.
- Chen X, Wei W, Li Y, Huang J, Ci X. Hesperetin relieves cisplatin-induced acute kidney injury by mitigating oxidative stress, inflammation and apoptosis. Chem Biol Interact. 2019 Aug 1;308:269-278. doi: 10.1016/j.cbi.2019.05.040. Epub 2019 May 31. PMID: 31153982.
- 3. Miller RP, Tadagavadi RK, Ramesh G, Reeves WB. Mechanisms of Cisplatin nephrotoxicity. Toxins (Basel). 2010 Nov;2(11):2490-518. doi: 10.3390/toxins2112490. Epub 2010 Oct 26. PMID: 22069563; PMCID: PMC3153174.

- Ozkok A, Edelstein CL. Pathophysiology of cisplatin-induced acute kidney injury. Biomed Res Int. 2014;2014:967826. doi: 10.1155/2014/967826. Epub 2014 Aug 6. PMID: 25165721; PMCID: PMC4140112.
- Gao L, Liu MM, Zang HM, Ma QY, Yang Q, Jiang L, Ren GL, Li HD, Wu WF, Wang JN, Wei B, Liu XQ, Jiang C, Huang C, Li J, Meng XM. Restoration of E-cadherin by PPBICA protects against cisplatin-induced acute kidney injury by attenuating inflammation and programmed cell death. Lab Invest. 2018 Jul;98(7):911-923. doi: 10.1038/s41374-018-0052-5. Epub 2018 Mar 26. PMID: 29581579.
- Dashti-Khavidaki S, Shahbazi F, Khalili H, Lessan-Pezeshki M. Potential renoprotective effects of silymarin against nephrotoxic drugs: a review of literature. J Pharm Pharm Sci. 2012;15(1):112-23. doi: 10.18433/j3f88s. PMID: 22365093.
- Bamboat ZM, Ocuin LM, Balachandran VP, Obaid H, Plitas G, DeMatteo RP. Conventional DCs reduce liver ischemia/reperfusion injury in mice via IL-10 secretion. J Clin Invest. 2010 Feb;120(2):559-69. doi: 10.1172/JCI40008. Epub 2010 Jan 19. PMID: 20093775; PMCID: PMC2810082.
- Wang SW, Xu Y, Weng YY, Fan XY, Bai YF, Zheng XY, Lou LJ, Zhang F. Astilbin ameliorates cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity through reducing oxidative stress and inflammation. Food Chem Toxicol. 2018 Apr;114:227-236. doi: 10.1016/j.fct.2018.02.041. Epub 2018 Feb 20. PMID: 29471006.
- Güntürk I, Yazici C, Köse SK, Dağli F, Yücel B, Yay AH. The effect of N-acetylcysteine on inflammation and oxidative stress in cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity: a rat model. Turk J Med Sci. 2019 Dec 16;49(6):1789-1799. doi: 10.3906/sag-1903-225. PMID: 31655538; PMCID: PMC7518668.
- Ninsontia C, Pongjit K, Chaotham C, Chanvorachote P. Silymarin selectively protects human renal cells from cisplatin-induced cell death. Pharm Biol. 2011 Oct;49(10):1082-90. doi: 10.3109/13880209.2011.568506. Epub 2011 May 18. PMID: 21591838.
- Vargas-Mendoza N, Madrigal-Santillán E, Morales-González A, Esquivel-Soto J, Esquivel-Chirino C, García-Luna Y González-Rubio M, Gayosso-de-Lucio JA, Morales-González JA. Hepatoprotective effect of silymarin. World J Hepatol. 2014 Mar 27;6(3):144-9. doi: 10.4254/wjh.v6.i3.144. PMID: 24672644; PMCID: PMC3959115.
- 12. Lamia SS, Emran T, Rikta JK, Chowdhury NI, Sarker M, Jain P, Islam T, Gias ZT, Shill MC, Reza HM. Coenzyme Q10 and Silymarin Reduce CCl₄-Induced Oxidative Stress and Liver and Kidney Injury in Ovariectomized Rats— Implications for Protective Therapy in Chronic Liver and Kidney Diseases. *Pathophysiology*. 2021; 28(1):50-63. https://doi.org/10.3390/pathophysiology28010005
- **13.** Abdelmeguid NE, Chmaisse HN, Abou Zeinab NS. Silymarin ameliorates cisplatin-induced hepatotoxicity in rats: histopathological and ultrastructural studies. Pak J Biol Sci. 2010 May 15;13(10):463-79. doi: 10.3923/pjbs.2010.463.479. PMID: 21848071.
- 14. Chen IS, Chen YC, Chou CH, Chuang RF, Sheen LY, Chiu CH. Hepatoprotection of silymarin against thioacetamide-induced chronic liver fibrosis. J Sci Food Agric. 2012 May;92(7):1441-7. doi: 10.1002/jsfa.4723. Epub 2011 Nov 18. PMID: 22102319.
- 15. Zaulet M, Kevorkian SEM, Dinescu S, Cotoraci C, Suciu M, Herman H, Buburuzan L, Badulescu L, Ardelean A, Hermenean A. Protective effects of silymarin against bisphenol A-induced hepatotoxicity in mouse liver. Exp Ther Med. 2017 Mar;13(3):821-828. doi: 10.3892/etm.2017.4066. Epub 2017 Jan 20. PMID: 28450905; PMCID: PMC5403334.

- **16.** Ramezannezhad P, Nouri A, Heidarian E. Silymarin mitigates diclofenac-induced liver toxicity through inhibition of inflammation and oxidative stress in male rats. J Herbmed Pharmacol. 2019;8(3): 231-237. doi: 10.15171/jhp.2019.34.
- 17. Turgut F, Bayrak O, Catal F, Bayrak R, Atmaca AF, Koc A, Akbas A, Akcay A, Unal D. Antioxidant and protective effects of silymarin on ischemia and reperfusion injury in the kidney tissues of rats. Int Urol Nephrol. 2008;40(2):453-60. doi: 10.1007/s11255-008-9365-4. PMID: 18368506.
- Momeni A, Hajigholami A, Geshnizjani S, Kheiri S. Effect of silymarin in the prevention of Cisplatin nephrotoxicity, a clinical trial study. J Clin Diagn Res. 2015 Apr;9(4):OC11-3. doi: 10.7860/JCDR/2015/12776.5789. Epub 2015 Apr 1. PMID: 26046020; PMCID: PMC4437094.
- 19. Tomar A, Vasisth S, Khan SI, Malik S, Nag TC, Arya DS, Bhatia J. Galangin ameliorates cisplatin induced nephrotoxicity in vivo by modulation of oxidative stress, apoptosis and inflammation through interplay of MAPK signaling cascade. Phytomedicine. 2017 Oct 15;34:154-161. doi: 10.1016/j.phymed.2017.05.007. Epub 2017 Jun 15. PMID: 28899498.
- 20. Jahan S, Khan M, Imran S, Sair M. The hepatoprotective role of Silymarin in isoniazid induced liver damage of rabbits. J Pak Med Assoc. 2015 Jun;65(6):620-2. PMID: 26060158.
- 21. Rabb H, Griffin MD, McKay DB, Swaminathan S, Pickkers P, Rosner MH, Kellum JA, Ronco C; Acute Dialysis Quality Initiative Consensus XIII Work Group. Inflammation in AKI: Current Understanding, Key Questions, and Knowledge Gaps. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2016 Feb;27(2):371-9. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2015030261. Epub 2015 Nov 11. PMID: 26561643; PMCID: PMC4731128.
- **22.** Ramesh G, Reeves WB. Inflammatory cytokines in acute renal failure. Kidney Int Suppl. 2004 Oct;(91):S56-61. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1755.2004.09109.x. PMID: 15461705.
- 23. Ratliff BB, Rabadi MM, Vasko R, Yasuda K, Goligorsky MS. Messengers without borders: mediators of systemic inflammatory response in AKI. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2013 Mar;24(4):529-36. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2012060633. Epub 2013 Jan 24. PMID: 23349311.
- 24. Chen GY, Nuñez G. Sterile inflammation: sensing and reacting to damage. Nat Rev Immunol. 2010 Dec;10(12):826-37. doi: 10.1038/nri2873. Epub 2010 Nov 19. PMID: 21088683; PMCID: PMC3114424.
- **25.** Kurts C, Panzer U, Anders HJ, Rees AJ. The immune system and kidney disease: basic concepts and clinical implications. Nat Rev Immunol. 2013 Oct;13(10):738-53. doi: 10.1038/nri3523. Epub 2013 Sep 16. PMID: 24037418.
- 26. Mercantepe F, Mercantepe T, Topcu A, Yılmaz A, Tumkaya L. Protective effects of amifostine, curcumin, and melatonin against cisplatin-induced acute kidney injury. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol. 2018 Sep;391(9):915-931. doi: 10.1007/s00210-018-1514-4. Epub 2018 Jun 2. Erratum in: Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol. 2019 Mar 1;: PMID: 29860655.
- 27. Sharp CN, Doll MA, Dupre TV, Shah PP, Subathra M, Siow D, Arteel GE, Megyesi J, Beverly LJ, Siskind LJ. Repeated administration of low-dose cisplatin in mice induces fibrosis. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol. 2016 Mar 15;310(6):F560-8. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00512.2015. Epub 2016 Jan 6. PMID: 26739893; PMCID: PMC4796272.
- 28. Kim MG, Yang HN, Kim HW, Jo SK, Cho WY, Kim HK. IL-10 mediates rosiglitazone-induced kidney protection in cisplatin nephrotoxicity. J Korean Med Sci. 2010 Apr;25(4):557-63. doi: 10.3346/jkms.2010.25.4.557. Epub 2010 Mar 19. PMID: 20357998; PMCID: PMC2844593.

- **29.** Gómez-Sierra T, Eugenio-Pérez D, Sánchez-Chinchillas A, Pedraza-Chaverri J. Role of food-derived antioxidants against cisplatin induced-nephrotoxicity. Food Chem Toxicol. 2018 Oct;120:230-242. doi: 10.1016/j.fct.2018.07.018. Epub 2018 Jul 7. PMID: 29990577.
- 30. Soetikno V, Sari SDP, Ul Maknun L, Sumbung NK, Rahmi DNI, Pandhita BAW, Louisa M, Estuningtyas A. Pre-Treatment with Curcumin Ameliorates Cisplatin-Induced Kidney Damage by Suppressing Kidney Inflammation and Apoptosis in Rats. Drug Res (Stuttg). 2019 Feb;69(2):75-82. doi: 10.1055/a-0641-5148. Epub 2018 Jun 26. PMID: 29945277.
- 31. Sánchez-González PD, López-Hernández FJ, Dueñas M, Prieto M, Sánchez-López E, Thomale J, Ruiz-Ortega M, López-Novoa JM, Morales AI. Differential effect of quercetin on cisplatininduced toxicity in kidney and tumor tissues. Food Chem Toxicol.

2017 Sep;107(Pt A):226-236. doi: 10.1016/j.fct.2017.06.047. Epub 2017 Jun 30. PMID: 28669851.

- **32.** Ramesh G, Reeves WB. Salicylate reduces cisplatin nephrotoxicity by inhibition of tumor necrosis factor-alpha. Kidney Int. 2004 Feb;65(2):490-9. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1755.2004.00413.x. PMID: 14717919.
- **33.** Gawad SHA, Mohamed AAK. Silymarin administration protects against cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity in adult male albino rats. Egypt J Histol. 2010; 33(4), 683-691.
- **34.** Abdelmeguid NE, Chmaisse HN, Abou Zeinab NS, Protective Effect of Silymarin on Cisplatin-induced Nephrotoxicity in Rats. Pak J Nutr. 2010;9(7),1680–5194.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm

Research Article

edicine



J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 221-225 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.43

The role of platelet mass index in the prediction of preeclampsia full

Cuma TAŞIN^{1,}*[®], Nezaket KADIOGLU²[®], Revan Sabri CİFTCİ¹[®], Ayhan COSKUN¹[®] Hakan AYTAN¹[®]

¹Department of Obstetrics and Gynocology, Faculty of Medicine, Mersin University, Mersin, Turkey

Department of Obs	stetrics and	Gynocology, Faculty of Medicine, Yuksek Intisa	as Univers	sity, Ankara, Turkey
Received: 13.06.2021	•	Accepted/Published Online: 01.07.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022

Abstract

To assess the possible roles of platelet indices including platelet mass index (PMI), platelet count (PC), mean platelet volume (MPV) and PC/MPV in prediction of preeclampsia. 190 pregnant women diagnosed with preeclampsia and 100 healthy uncomplicated control patients were included in this retrospective study. Age, gestational week, fetal weight, alanine transaminase (ALT), aspartate transaminase (AST), creatinine, blood urea nitrogen (BUN), complete blood count parameters and platelet indices were compared. ROC curve was applied to analyze the cut-off values of the significantly differing parameters for prediction of preeclampsia. Preeclamptic patients gave birth significantly earlier than the controls. In preeclamptic patients, the mean values of PC, PC / MPV and PMI were significantly lower than the control group. Although mean MPV values were lower in preeclampsia patients, the difference was not significant. The cut-off values of PC, PC/MPV and PMI were found to be 207,500, 18448.16 and 2411.75 with a-sensitivity/specificity of 45.3%/ 44.3%, 42.2%/ 42.6% and 44.1%/ 44.3%, respectively. Indices such as PC, PC / MPV and PMI changed significantly in preeclampsia. Although they have low sensitivity and specificity, these indices can be combined with other parameters and used in the prediction of preeclampsia.

Keywords: mean platelet volume, platelet indices, platelet mass index, preeclampsia

1. Introduction

Preeclampsia is defined as the presence of systolic blood pressure of 140 mm Hg or more or diastolic blood pressure of 90 mm Hg or more on two occasions at least 4 hours apart after 20 weeks of gestation in a woman with previously normal blood pressure and proteinuria 300 mg or more per 24-hour urine collection (or this amount extrapolated from a timed collection) or protein/creatinine ratio of 0.3 mg/dL or more or dipstick reading of 2+ (used only if other quantitative methods not available) (1). In the absence of proteinuria, new-onset hypertension with the new onset of any of the following; Thrombocytopenia: Platelet count less than 100,000 10⁹/L; Renal insufficiency: Serum creatinine concentrations greater than 1.1 mg/dL or a doubling of the serum creatinine concentration in the absence of other renal diseases; Impaired liver function: Elevated blood concentrations of liver transaminases to twice normal concentration; Pulmonary edema; New-onset headache unresponsive to medication and not accounted for by alternative diagnoses or visual symptoms (2). Approximately 3% to 8% of pregnancies are complicated by preeclampsia and preeclampsia causes a significant increase in maternal and fetal complications in these pregnancies (between 14-53 % and 22-92 %, respectively) (3). Approximately 7% of patients who have preeclampsia in their current pregnancy also have preeclampsia in their later pregnancy (4). Although the exact pathophysiology of preeclampsia is not known, inadequate invasion of trophoblasts into the maternal placental vascular bed and as a result the decreased placental blood flow have been accused (5). Inadequate placental invasion causes perfusion deficiency and increased maternal endothelial dysfunction and maternal endothelial dysfunction also causes intravascular coagulation resulting in platelet consumption. In these patients, the production of new platelets begins in the bone marrow to compensate for platelet consumption (6). As the severity of preeclampsia increases, it further increases platelet consumption (7). For this reason, some indices used to measure platelet numbers and functions are used in the estimation of preeclampsia severity. Platelet count (PC), mean platelet volume (MPV), platelet count/mean platelet volume (PC/MPV), and platelet count x mean platelet count/ 10^3 (platelet mass index [PMI]) can be used for preeclampsia prediction (8). From these indices, PC and MPV have been investigated before for association with preeclampsia (9,10). In some studies, high MPV value was detected due to new platelets are produced in the bone marrow in bleeding-related platelet consumption and, instead of this, low MPV value was detected in diseases that progress with thrombocytopenia related increased destruction (11). The MPV value of young platelets arising from the bone marrow is high and these platelets form better hemostatic plugs (12). This study aimed to assess these platelet indices in preeclampsia including PMI which has not been assessed in this disease before and to

investigate the possible roles in the prediction of preeclampsia.

2. Materials and Methods

The study was conducted retrospectively by reviewing the files of 190 pregnant women with preeclampsia and 100 control patients hospitalized between 2012 and 2020 in the Mersin University Faculty of Medicine Obstetrics and Gynecology Department. This retrospective case-control study was approved by the hospital ethics committee on 08/07/2020 with an approval number of 2020/491. Patients with proteinuria (>1 positive in spot urine or > 300 mg protein in 24-hour-urine) and systolic blood pressure ≥ 140 mm Hg or diastolic blood pressure \geq 90 mm Hg measured every 6 hours after 20 weeks of pregnancy were accepted as "preeclamptic" and included in the study. Control patients were included from pregnant patients who were admitted to the service during the same period with similar age, body mass index (BMI), and gestational weeks without preeclampsia. Patients who have hypertension, hyper/hypothyroidism, chronic diabetes mellitus, chronic liver/renal/hematological disease, multiple pregnancies, or who suffered from PE during their previous pregnancies were excluded. Age, gestational week, fetal weight, alanine transaminase (ALT), aspartate transaminase (AST), creatinine, blood urea nitrogen (BUN), and complete blood count parameters and platelet indices of the patients were compared.

IBM SPSS version 22.0 statistics program was used to analyze the data. Before statistical analysis, all variables were checked for normality. Mean values were compared using Independent Samples T-Test and Mann-Whitney-U-Tests.ROC curve was applied to platelet indices that differed significantly. In the ROC curve, threshold values and specificity and sensitivity of these values were detected for preeclampsia prediction. P-values less than 0.05 (P < 0.05) were accepted as significant.

3. Results

290 pregnant women were enrolled in the study; 190 preclamptic patients and 100 age-gravida and BMI matched healthy pregnant control patients. Preeclamptic patients gave birth significantly earlier than the control patients (35 weeks vs 38 weeks, p=0.002). WBC count, absolute neutrophil count, ALT, AST, BUN, and creatinine levels of preeclamptic patients were significantly higher than the control group. In preeclamptic patients, the mean values of PC, PC / MPV, and PMI were significantly lower than the control group. Although mean MPV values were lower in preeclampsia patients, the difference was not significant (10.99 \pm 2.34 vs 11.12 \pm 1.17, respectively, p=0.19) (Table 1). ROC curve was applied to analyze the PC, PMI and PC / MPV levels that are significantly different in preeclampsia patients compared to the control group (Fig. 1).



Fig 1. ROC curve of platelet indices in patients with preeclampsia

	Preeclampsia patients (N=190)	Control Patients (N=100)	р
Age (year)	31.1±6.1	29.9±5.8	0.20
Gravida	3 (1-8)	2 (1-5)	0.119
Body Mass Index (BMI)	26.57 ± 2.91	27.86 ± 3.23	0.105
Birth week	35±3	38±1	0.002*
WBC $(10^{3}/\mu L)$	11.741±3.655	9.971±2.318	0.001*
Absolute neutrophil count (10 ³ /µL)	9.163±6.106	7.210±1.689	0.001*
Absolute monocyte count (10 ³ /µL)	705±345	703±163	0.39
Absolute lymphocyte count (10 ³ /µL)	$2.044{\pm}1.074$	2.071±538	0.17
Haematocrit (%)	34.9±4.2	34.7±3	0.81
Hemoglobin (g/dL)	11.8 ± 1.5	$11.8{\pm}1.2$	0.83
ALT (U/L)	45 ± 80	13±5.5	0.001*
AST (U/L)	70±124	17.8±5.3	0.001*
Blood urea nitrogen(BUN) (mg/dL)	25.3±12	14.5±3.8	0.001*
Creatinine (mg/dL)	0.68±0.23	$0.46{\pm}0.08$	0.001*
MPV (fL)	10.99 ± 2.34	11.12±1.17	0.19
PC $(10^{3}/\mu L)$	206.500±96.485	222.639±60.992	0.03*
PMI	2248.4±1.105.7	2449.6±603.2	0.04*
PC/MPV	18894±9.735	20.434±6.740	0.04*

Table 1. Clinical and biochemical analyses of preeclampsia and control patients

Independent Samples T Test and Mann-Whitney-U-Tests. * p<0.05. N-Number of Patients. m±SD: mean ± standard deviation. WBC: White Blood Cells. ALT: Alanine transaminase. AST: Aspartate transaminase. MVP: mean platelet volume. PC: Platelet count. PMI: Platelet Mass Index. PC/MPV: Platelet count / mean platelet volume

Table 2. Threshold values of platelet indices in the prediction of preeclampsia and sensitivity and specificity of these threshold values

	Threshold Value	Sensitivity	Specificity	AUC±SE	95% Confider Lower Bound U	ice Interval Jpper Bound	Р
PC (10 ³ /μL)	207,500	45.3%	44.3%	0.59 ± 0.04	0.51	0.66	0.038*
PMI	2411.75	44.1%	44.3%	$0.59{\pm}0.04$	0.51	0.66	0.045*
PC/MPV	18448.16	42.2%	42.6%	$0.59{\pm}0.04$	0.51	0.67	0.043*
DOC to at anna annali	- 1* - <0.05 ATT	C Amer II. In the	Course CE. Ct.		-1-4+ DC1-4-1		-+-1-+ 1 DM

ROC test was applied* p<0.05 AUC-Area Under the Curve. SE: Standard error. Platelet count-PC. platelet count x mean platelet volume-PMI. Platelet count/mean platelet volume-PC/MPV

The sensitivity and specificity of PC, PMI and PC / MPV to predict preeclampsia are shown in table 2 with ROC curve. Accordingly, it was determined that certain threshold values of these three parameters could predict preeclampsia with low sensitivity and specificity [(PC 45.3 % sensitivity, 44.3 % specificity (AUC: 0,59; 95%CI 0,51-0.66; p=0.038), PMI 44.1 % sensitivity, 44.3 % specificity (AUC: 0,59; 95 % CI 0,51-0.66; p=0.045), PC/MPV 42.2 % sensitivity, 42.6 % specificity (AUC: 0,59; 95 % CI 0,51-0.67; p=0.043)] (Table 2).

4. Discussion

In preeclampsia the trophoblastic invasion of the myometrial arterioles is inadequate and as a result, maternal endothelial dysfunction occurs. Damaged endothelial cells stimulate clotting factors, which causes platelets to migrate to these regions. Migrating platelets also stimulate clotting factors. A vicious circle develops as this stimulus continues from the damaged endothelial cells. Disseminated intravascular coagulation develops for this reason (13). Platelet destruction in the intravascular environment causes a stimulus for the production of new and young platelets in the bone marrow. Studies are indicating that these young platelets will be larger and MPV values will be higher (13-16). In some other studies, it was found that consumption was higher than production (low PC), but the MPV value of the new platelets formed was normal (9,10,14,17). In the present study, although the PC was significantly lower, MPV was not found to be significantly different than the control group.

There may be some possible causes for the different results found in the literature regarding MPV values in preeclamptic patients (14). First, there are differences in the methods for collecting the blood specimen. As an example adding EDTA to the hemogram tube increases MPV. Secondly using different hematological cell counters may result in different results (18). Thirdly MPV values change throughout the gestational weeks and ignoring gestational weeks may result in different results. Finally, comorbid diseases accompanying preeclampsia such as diabetes mellitus which itself increases MPV should be considered. Therefore these results indicate that MPV values are not always significantly higher in preeclamptic patients and it cannot be a reliable predictor of preeclampsia (18).

In patients with preeclampsia, an increase in platelet consumption due to endothelial damage and a decrease in PC / MPV index with newly produced platelets are expected. In a study by Freitas et al. PC was found to be lower in patients with

preeclampsia than in the control group (19). In another study, Doğan et al found that not only PC but also PC / MPV values were lower in preeclampsia cases than in the control group (15). Yavuzcan et al did not find any difference between pregnant women with preeclampsia, pregnant women without preeclampsia, and non-pregnant women in their study. However, in another study by Yavuzcan et al., it was concluded that PC and PC / MVP may predict preeclampsia (18,20). Von Dadelszen et al suggested that the MVP / PC ratio reflects platelet consumption and can be used as a weak indicator of maternal progression in preeclamptic cases (21). In another study, Altınbaş et al did not find a significant relationship between preeclampsia and PC / MPV (9). In our study, PC and PC / MPV indices were found to be significantly lower in the patient group with preeclampsia than the control group.

Another index, PMI, is obtained by multiplying the platelet count by the mean platelet volume. As we mentioned before, in cases with preeclampsia, it is expected that PC would decrease due to consumption and MPV would increase with the production of new platelets. Therefore, PMI is expected to be different in preeclamptic patients compared to the controls. PMI has previously been studied in many different diseases, but there is no data regarding PMI in preeclampsia. Gerday et al. found that PMI is associated with prolonged PT time without increasing the risk of hemorrhage (12). Zisk et al found that the transfusion requirement would decrease by 11.5% if the PMI value was taken into consideration in platelet transfusion in a newborn study (22). However, despite the decrease in the need for transfusion in the group with high PMI, they did not indicate any difference in terms of bleeding episodes and mortality (23). In another study, it was found that in premature infants with low PMI which reflects decreased platelet activity, the incidence of intracranial hemorrhage increases, and this incidence decreases with increasing PMI (24). In addition, PMI was found to be more significant than the number of platelets used to evaluate the pathology in the second phase of premature retinopathy (25). In the review of the studies, it was concluded that PMI showed platelet activity better than PC (26). As far as we know, our study is the first study to evaluate PMI in preeclampsia. In the present study it was found that although MPV did not change in preeclamptic cases, it was found that PMI was significantly lower compared to control cases. Therefore, PMI appears as a parameter that can be used in the evaluation of platelet functions in preeclampsia patients.

In the literature, no threshold value has been defined for

platelet indices associated with preeclampsia. Dundar et al found the sensitivity for preeclampsia as 69% and the specificity as 71% when the PC threshold value was 221,000 (27). Howarth et al reported that the sensitivity of low PC high MPV was 90% and the specificity was 83% (28). In our study, since there was no significant relationship between preeclampsia and MPV, no threshold or sensitivity test was performed for MPV. The threshold values of the significant PC, PMI, and PC / MPV indices were determined in the ROC curve for the diagnosis of preeclampsia (207,500; 2411.75; 18488.16, respectively). According to these threshold values, the sensitivity and specificity of all three indices were found to be moderate. One reason why the previously studied PC sensitivities may differ from our study may be due to the calculated threshold value. The evaluation of different indices together in our study was an advantage of our study.

The positive aspect of the study is that a new parameter such as the PMI index is being evaluated in patients with preeclampsia. This study has several limitations. Limitations are that it is a single-center study and meaning our results may not be appropriate to the general population. In addition, low AUC value, sensitivity, and specificity values of PC, PC / MPV, and PMI parameters examined in the study are another weakness. Conducting a multi-center study can provide more precise results.

Evaluation of platelet functions is important because bleeding is a common complication in patients with preeclampsia. Many studies have been conducted on platelet indices in preeclampsia and the relationship between PC, MPV, and preeclampsia was mostly investigated in these studies. Although there is a consensus on the low PC in patients with preeclampsia, there is no complete consensus on MPV. In our study, we evaluated not only PC and MPV but also PC / MPV and PMI as platelet indices. The superiority of this study is the evaluation of all of these indices together (especially PMI was studied for the first time in preeclampsia). As a result, it was found that MPV value was not important in cases with preeclampsia, but indices such as PC, PC / MPV, and PMI changed significantly. Although they have low sensitivity and specificity, these indices can be combined with other parameters and used in the prediction of preeclampsia.

Conflict of interest

The author(s) declared no potential conflicts of interest concerning the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article

Acknowledgments

The author(s) received no financial support for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article

This study was approved by the review board of the Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Faculty of Medicine, Mersin University, on 08/07/2020 with an approval number of 2020/491

References

- Chen KH, Seow KM, Chen LR. Progression of gestational hypertension to pre-eclampsia: A cohort study of 20,103 pregnancies. Pregnancy Hypertens. 2017;10:230-37.
- **2.** Gestational Hypertension and Preeclampsia: ACOG Practice Bulletin, Number 222. Obstet Gynecol. 2020;135(6):237-260
- Kumari A, Chakrawarty A, Singh A, Singh R. Maternofoetal complications and their association with proteinuria in a tertiary care hospital of a developing country. J Pregnancy 2014;2014:431-437
- **4.** Van Oostwaard MF, Langenveld J, Schuit E, et al. Recurrence of hypertensi ve disorders of pregnancy: an individual patient data metaanalysis. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2015;212:1-17.
- Burton GJ, Charnock-Jones DS, Jauniaux E. Regulation of vascular growth and function in the human placenta. Reproduction. 2009;138(6):895–902.
- Juan P, Stefano G, Antonella S, Albana C. Platelets in pregnancy. J Prenat Med. 2011;5(4):90–92.
- Ozdemir S GH, Acar A, Celik C, et al. The Comprasion of Maternal and Fetal Outcomes Pregnancies of Complicated by Moderate to Severe Thrombocytopenia Caused by Gestational Thrombocytopenia Preeclampsia/ HELLP Syndrome and Immune Thrombocytopenic Purpura. Obstet Gynaecol Reprod Med. 2008;14:154-8.
- **8.** Tzur T, Sheiner E. Is there an association between platelet count during the first trimester and preeclampsia or other obstetric complications later in pregnancy? Hypertens Pregnancy. 2013;32(1):74–82.
- Altınbas S, Toğrul C, Orhan A, Yücel M, Danısman N. Increased MPV is not a significant predictor for preeclampsia during pregnancy. J Clin Lab Anal. 2012;26(5):403–406.
- Yavuzcan A, Cağlar M, Ustün Y, et al. Mean platelet volume, neutrophillymphocyte ratio and platelet-lymphocyte ratio in severe preeclampsia. Ginekol Pol. 2014;85(3):197–203.
- Eldor A, Avitzour M, Or R, Hanna R, Penchas S. Prediction of haemorrhagic diathesis in thrombocytopenia by mean platelet volume. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 1982;285(6339):397400.
- **12.** Gerday E, Baer VL, Lambert DK, et al. Testing platelet mass versus platelet count to guide platelet transfusions in the neonatal intensive care unit. Transfusion 2009;49(10):2034-2039.
- 13. Dundar O, Yoruk P, Tutuncu L, et al. Longitudinal study of platelet size changes in gestation and predictive power of elevated MPV in development of pre-eclampsia. Prenat Diagn. 2008;28:1052-6.
- 14. Han L, Liu X, Li H, et al. Blood coagulation parameters and platelet indices: changes in normal and preeclamptic pregnancies and predictive values for preeclampsia. PloS one. 2014;9:114488.
- **15.** Dogan K, Guraslan H, Senturk MB, et al. Can Platelet Count and Platelet Indices Predict the Risk and the Prognosis of Preeclampsia? Hypertens Pregnancy. 2015;34:434-42.
- 16. Kanat-Pektas M, Yesildager U, Tuncer N, et al. Could mean platelet volume in late first trimester of pregnancy predict intrauterine growth restriction and pre-eclampsia? J Obstet Gynaecol Res. 2014;40:1840-5.
- Yoder SR, Thornburg LL, Bisognano JD. Hypertension in pregnancy and women of childbearing age. Am J Med. 2009;122:890-5.
- **18.** Ceyhan T, Beyan C, Ba, ser I, et al. The effect of pre-eclampsia on complete blood count, platelet count and mean platelet volume. Ann Hematol 2006;85:320–22.

- **19.** Freitas LG, Alpoim PN, Komatsuzaki F, Carvalho Md, Dusse LM. Preeclampsia: are platelet count and indices useful for its prognostic? Hematology. 2013;18(6):360–364.
- 20. Makuyana D, Mahomed K, Shukusho FD, Majoko F. Liver and kidney function tests in normal and pre-eclamptic gestation – a comparison with non-gestational reference values. Cent Afr J Med. 2002;48(5–6):55–59.
- **21.** Von Dadelszen P, Magee LA, Devarakonda RM, et al. The prediction of adverse maternal outcomes in preeclampsia. J Obstet Gynaecol Can 2004; 26:871–79.
- **22.** Zisk JL, Mackley A, Clearly G, Chang E, Christensen RD, Paul DA. Transfusing neonates based on platelet count vs. platelet mass: a randomized feasibility-pilot study. Platelets 2014;25(7):513-516.
- **23.** Yavuzcan Ozturk D, Ercin S, Gursoy T, Karatekin G, Ovali F. Platelet mass index: is it a hope for reduction of platelet transfusion in NICU? J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2016;29(12):1926-1929

- 24. Korkmaz L, Baştuğ O, Ozdemir A, Korkut S, Karaca C, Akin MA, et al. The efficacy of propranolol in retinopathy of prematurity and its correlation with the platelet mass index. Curr Eye Res 2017;42:88e97.
- 25. Demir N, Peker E, Ece İ, Ağelgin K, Bulan KA, Tuncer O. Is platelet mass a more significant indicator than platelet count of closure of patent ductus arteriosus? J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2016;29:1915e8.
- **26.** Zisk JL, Mackley A, Christensen RD, Paul DA. Is a small platelet mass associated with intraventricular hemorrhage in very low birth- weight infants? J Perinatol 2011;31:776e9.
- **27.** Gioia S, Piazze J, Anceschi MM, et al. Mean platelet volume: association with adverse neonatal outcome. Platelets 2007;18:284–8.
- Howarth S, Marshall LR, Barr AL, et al. Platelet indices during normal pregnancy and pre-eclampsia. Br J Biomed Sci 1999;56:20–2.



Research Article

Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm



J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 226-231 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.44

Do interventional pain procedures increase the risk of COVID-19?

Mustafa KURÇALOĞLU^{1,*}⁽⁰⁾, İbrahim APAK¹⁽⁰⁾, Özgür ŞENTÜRK¹⁽⁰⁾, Heval Can BİLEK²⁽⁰⁾, Bora UZUNER³⁽⁰⁾, Fatih ÖZKAN¹⁽⁰⁾, Fuat GÜLDOĞUŞ¹⁽⁰⁾

¹Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Algology Clinic, Faculty of Medicine, Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Turkey
²Department of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases, Faculty of Medicine, Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Turkey
³Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Faculty of Medicine, Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Turkey

Received: 21.06.2021	•	Accepted/Published Online: 26.07.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022

Abstract

This study's main aim was to evaluate the risk of COVID-19 in patients who were performed interventional pain procedures during the pandemic. The secondary aim was to evaluate if steroid injection in the procedures increases the risk of COVID-19. In this retrospective study, the records of patients who were performed interventional pain procedures (Group I) and were only examined (Group E) between the 1st of April and 30th of November 2020 were evaluated. The rate of COVID-19 infection in the first sixty days after the hospital visit was recorded. Results of patients who were injected steroids during the procedures were also evaluated. The records of 885 patients were investigated. While 485 of them were in Group I, 400 of them were in Group E. A total of 30 patients had COVID-19 in the assessment period. COVID-19 infection rates were similar between groups. Infection rates were not increased in patients who received steroids. The infection rate was significantly higher in the first 15 days after the hospital visit in both groups comparing the remaining 45 days. We conclude that neither interventional pain procedures nor single dose steroid injections increase the risk of COVID-19. However, 'coming to hospital' is a promoting factor itself. We assume that our results are also valid for all kinds of outpatient procedures. We suggest obeying the precaution recommendation guidelines of international communities during the pandemic.

Keywords: COVID-19, pain, steroid, pandemic, outbreak

1. Introduction

At the end of 2019, a new type of coronavirus has emerged in Wuhan, China, and caused an outbreak in a short while. The World Health Organization (WHO) announced the official name of the 2019 novel coronavirus as 'Corona Virus Disease-19' (COVID-19). On the 30th of January of 2020, COVID-19 was registered as the sixth Public Health Emergency of International Concern (PHEIC) by the World Health Organization (WHO), which was officially declared as a pandemic on the 11th of March, 2020 (1,2).

According to the WHO records, COVID-19 has infected more than 155 million people and killed more than 3.2 million people worldwide. The numbers continue to increase, and the actual numbers are expected to be much higher.

Major symptoms of COVID-19 are fever, cough, fatigue, dyspnea. Minor symptoms include headache, dizziness, diarrhea, nausea, vomiting (2). The most common complication of COVID-19 is Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome (ARDS), and other life-threatening complications are pneumonia, type-I respiratory failure, septic shock, metabolic acidosis, heart failure, renal failure, and hypoxic encephalopathy (3-6)

COVID-19 can spread by droplets, human-human contact,

and indirect contact (contaminated objects and airborne contagion) (7). Due to the extremely high contagious potential of COVID-19, public places such as schools, restaurants, sports centers are closed worldwide. Particularly at the beginning period of the outbreak, almost most of the countries stopped surgical operations or treatment procedures unless they are urgent or critical for life.

COVID-19 made a huge and detrimental impact on pain treatment. Besides, pain clinics decreased their patients admitting daily capacities, and patients showed hesitation to apply to the pain clinics because of the fear of getting infected by the virus. Most pain clinics took a defensive attitude. Therefore, they canceled or postponed interventional pain procedures, considered medical treatments, and used telemedicine opportunities as much as possible.

Chronic or single-dose use of corticosteroids in the COVID-19 pandemic is another issue. Corticosteroids have immunosuppressant effects and may delay the immune response to the virus. In vitro studies have suggested that corticosteroids may impair antiviral innate immune responses (8-10).

Weak pain control is linked to the opioid crisis. It is shown that chronic pain is associated with increased mortality

rates in cancer patients, structural and functional alterations in the brain, poverty, and decreased life expectancy when controlling for other factors (11-14). Therefore, total cessation of medical or interventional pain treatment during the pandemic would also have worse consequences.

The purpose of this retrospective study was to investigate if there is an increased risk for infection in patients who were performed interventional pain procedures in the COVID-19 outbreak. Secondary goals were to examine if there is an increased risk for patients who received corticosteroids as part of their interventions and evaluate the efficacy of the control measures applied in the clinic to prevent the virus's spread.

2. Materials and Methods

This retrospective study was conducted in the pain clinic of the anesthesiology and reanimation department of Ondokuz Mayis University Faculty of Medicine, Turkey. Approval of the institutional ethical committee was taken before the study. Data were obtained from the electronic application of the Turkish Ministry of Health and the software system of the hospital. In case of unavailability of data of a patient, information was taken by a phone conversation.

Patients older than 18 years old and admitted to the pain clinic between the 1st of April and 30th of November were included in the study. Patients were divided into two groups. Group I consisted of patients who were performed interventional pain procedures during the study period, and Group E consisted of patients admitted and examined in the pain clinic during the study period, but interventional pain procedures were not applied. Patients with cancer were not included in the study due to their possible immunosuppressive health condition to protect the study's homogeneity.

To evaluate the effects of corticosteroids on the frequency of COVID-19 infection, Group I was divided into 'Subgroup CS' and 'Subgroup NCS.' Subgroup CS consisted of patients who were injected corticosteroids in the pain procedures, while Subgroup NCS consisted of patients who were not injected corticosteroids in their procedures.

For the evaluation of infection frequencies regarding the types of the interventions, interventions classified into five groups: 1- Epidural steroid injections (ESI), 2-

Radiofrequency techniques (RF), 3-Peripheric nerve blocks (PNB) and trigger point injections (TPI), 4- Intraarticular injections 5- Sympathetic blocks.

Demographic features, including the age and gender of the patients, were recorded. Positivity of COVID-19 infection following 1-15, 16-30, 31-45, and 46-60 days after the intervention or examination visit was recorded for each patient. Additionally, for patients who had got COVID-19 infection, the requirement of hospitalization, the intensive care unit (ICU) requirement, and loss of life were recorded.

Statistical analysis was performed by Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) version 15.0 program. Student ttest was used for the comparison of patients' age between groups. A Chi-square test was used for the statistical analysis of gender distribution between groups. A Chi-square test was used to analyze the frequency of COVID-19 infection between groups in specific periods. P values less than 0.05 were considered significant.

3. Results

A total of 885 patients' data were included in the study. While Group I consisted of 485 patients, Group E consisted of 400 patients. Demographic features of the patients regarding the groups were presented in Table 1. The number of females in the groups was higher than males but without statistical significance (p=0.17 in Group I and p=0.47 in Group E). The ratio of female/male was similar between Group I than Group E (p=0.47). The mean age of patients in Group I was higher than Group E (p<0.001).

Table 1	1. Der	nograph	ic fea	atures	of th	ne ind	livid	uals (of the	study
		- C - I								

	Group I (n=485)	Group E (n=400)
Male	200 (41.2%)	149 (37.2%)
Female	285 (58.8%)	251 (62.8%)
Age (years)	61.0 ± 14.6	$56,1 \pm 16.4$

There was no significant difference between Group I and Group E regarding the rate of Covid-19 infection. While 17 (3.5%) of patients in Group I had the infection, 13 (3.25%) of Group E diagnosed the COVID-19 infection in the first 60 days after the hospital visit (p=0.86). There was also no significant difference in infection rates in the stated periods (Table 2).

Table 2. The freque	ncy of COVID-19 infect	ons and p values betwee	n Group Examination	(Group E) and Gro	oup Intervention ((Group I)
---------------------	------------------------	-------------------------	---------------------	-------------------	--------------------	-----------

	0-15 days	16-30 days	31-45 days	46-60 days	Total
Group E (n=400)	5 (1.2%)	4 (1 %)	2 (0.5%)	1 (0.25 %)	13 (3.2%)
Group I (n=485)	9 (1.8 %)	4 (0.8%)	2(0.4 %)	2 (0.4%)	17 (3.5%)
P value	0.47	0.78	0.50	0.67	0.74
Total	14 (1.6 %)	8 (0.9 %)	4 (0.4 %)	3 (0.3 %)	30 (3.4%)

The number of patients in Subgroup CS was 307 (63.2%), and in Subgroup, NCS was 178 (26.8%). There was no significant difference in COVID-19 infection frequency between Subgroup CS and Subgroup NCS in any study's 227 assessment periods (Table 3). There was no significant difference in terms of infection rates between the intervention types (Table 4).

1 5	-	8 8	1	1	
	0-15 days	16-30 days	31-45 days	46-60 days	total
Corticosteroid + (n=307)	6 (1.9%)	3 (0.9%)	0 (0%)	2 (0.6%)	11 (3.5%)
Corticosteroid – (n=178)	3 (1.6%)	1 (0.6%)	2 (1.2%)	0 (0%)	6 (3.3%)
P value	0.83	0.62	0.06	0.06	0.72

Table 3. The frequency of COVID-19 infection regarding the use of steroids in the pain treatment procedures

When we evaluate the frequency of Covid-19 infection regarding the genders, we observed a significant elevation of infection rates in the male population in the first 30 days, particularly in 0-15 days. When we handle the whole study population of 885 pain patients, while 10 (2.8%) of males had

Covid-19 infection in 0-15 days period, it was 4 (0.7%) for females (p=0.01). This significance was more evident for the males of Group I. 8 (4%) of males had the infection in 0-15 days, only one female in Group I was diagnosed with Covid-19 infection in those days (p = 0.009) (Table 5).

Table 4.	The frequency	of COVID-19	infection	regarding	the types	of the interv	ventional	pain procee	lures
----------	---------------	-------------	-----------	-----------	-----------	---------------	-----------	-------------	-------

	1-15 days	16-30 days	31-45 days	46-60 days	Total (1-60 days)
Epidural Steroid injections (n= 147)	2 (1.3%)	0	1 (0.7%)	1 (0.7%)	4 (2.7%)
RF Procedures (n=172)	3 (1.7%)	1 ((0.6%)	0	0	4 (2.3%)
PNBs or TPIs (n=92)	2 (2.1%)	2 (2.1 %)	1 (1.1%)	1 (1.1%)	6 (6.5%)
Intraarticular injections (n=49)	2 (4.0%)	0	0	0	2 (4.0%)
Sympathetic blocks (n=25)	0	1 (4.0%)	0	0	1 (4.0%)
p value	0.72	0.15	0.15	0.69	0.45

The mean age of thirty Covid-19 positive patients was 53.8 ± 14.3 years, and the mean age of patients who did not have Covid-19 during the 60-day evaluation period was 58.7 ± 15.7 years (p=0.08).

When we discuss all the 885 patients who applied to our pain clinic in this study's evaluation period, we observed that the number of patients diagnosed with Covid-19 in a 0-15 days period was higher than all other intervals (Table 2). It was significantly higher than 31-45 days (p=0.04) and 46-60 days (0.008), but it was not significantly higher than 16-30 days (p=0.20). We observed that none of the thirty patients who had Covid-19 during the assessment period required hospitalization or advanced medical care.

4. Discussion

This study's primary aim was to search the possible inducing effect of interventional pain procedures on COVID-19 infection. The secondary aim was to search if steroid injections promote COVID-19 infection. Regarding our results, we have no evidence supporting these suspicions. However, our results were not very innocent because we detected a significant increase of the infection in the first 15 days after the hospital visit, but this finding was valid for the patients who were not performed interventional procedures. Therefore, we concluded that interventional pain procedures or single-dose steroid injections are not responsible for the infection but 'coming to hospital' is an increasing independent factor for COVID-19.

The symptoms of COVID-19 generally appear in a 7-10 days period. In their article, which was published on the 26th

of March 2020, Li Q. et al. reported the incubation period to be 5.2 days; the 95th percentile of the distribution was 12.5 days (15). They also noted the mean duration from illness onset to first medical visit was 5.8 days. Nonetheless, due to the delayed incubation period or delayed medical visit, the infection diagnosis may put after 15 days in some patients. This may explain the statistically non-significant elevation in a 16-30 days period.

During the pandemic, particularly in the first months, there were no generally accepted precaution recommendations. We prepared a bundle of precautions in our clinic and strictly obeyed these items: 1- Obey on hand hygiene and general hygiene. 2- Use personal protective equipment (masks, gloves, glasses, etc.) as much as possible. 3- Reduce the number of patient admission to 50%. 4- Reduce the number of interventional procedures to 50%. 5- Consider medical treatment more than interventional treatment. 6-Avoid steroids as much as possible. 7- Use telemedicine opportunities as much as possible. 8- Change the clothing of the examination bed after each patient. 9- Limit non-essential patient escorts. 10- Do not allow more than eight patients and patient companions to exist in the clinic simultaneously. Some of our precautions were similar to the recommended guidelines of the American Medical Association (AMA), Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS), American Society of Regional Anesthesia and Pain Medicine (ASRA), European Society of Regional Anesthesia and Pain Therapy (ESRA), and the American Society of Pain and Neuroscience (ASPN) (16-19).

Despite the statistically significant increase of COVID-19 infection in the first 15 days after the hospital visit, we suggest that our bundle of precautions was not vain because there was no significant difference between Group E and

Group I. To tell precautions were ineffective, Group I's frequency of infection in the 1-15 days period should be significantly higher due to the much longer time they pass in the pain clinic.

 Table 5. The frequency of COVID-19 infection regarding the genders

Group I (n=485)								
	1-15 days	16-30 days	31-45 days	46-60 days	Total			
Females (n=285)	1 (0.3%)	2 (0.7%)	2(0.7%)	2(0.7%)	7 (2.4%)			
Males (n=200)	8 (4%)	2 (1%)	0	0	10 (5%)			
P value	<u>0.009</u>	0.72	0.68	0.68	0.13			
		Group E	(n=400)					
	1-15 days	16-30 days	31-45 days	46-60 days	Total			
Females (n=251)	3 (1.2%)	3 (1.2%)	2 (0.8%)	1 (0.4%)	9 (3.6%)			
Males (n=149)	2 (1.3%)	1 (0.7%)	1 (0.7)	0	4 (2.7%)			
P value	0.89	0.80	0.88	0.76	0.62			
		Total (n	n=885)					
	1-15 days	16-30 days	31-45 days	46-60 days	Total			
Females (n=536)	4 (0.7%)	5 (0.9%)	4 (0.7%)	3 (0.5%)	16 (3.0%)			
Males (n=349)	10 (2.8%)	3 (0.9%)	1 (0.3%)	0	14 (4.0%)			
P value	<u>0.01</u>	0.91	0.37	0.45	0.32			

Regarding our results, the rate of COVID-19 infection of patients who received a steroid injection and patients who did not receive steroids were similar. Therefore, we could not report a correlation between steroid injection and COVID-19. Nevertheless, we do not recommend reckless use of corticosteroids in pain medicine because corticosteroids have immunosuppressant effects. Although some authors recommend treating severe COVID-19 infection, their role in promoting the infection is yet unclear (8,20,21). We declare, as an unwritten principle of our pain clinic, only equal or less than one ampule of Kenacort-A® (40 milligrams of triamcinolone acetate) or Celestone Chronodose® (6 milligrams of betamethasone) are used in our interventional procedures.

Additionally, independent from the outbreak, if a second steroid injection is necessary for the pain treatment, we wait at least four weeks between two injections. The risk of infection with steroid administration is dose-dependent, and increasing the steroid dose or shortening the interval between two steroid doses may have the potential of immunosuppression and, therefore, COVID-19 infection (22). In a multicenter study, Brenner et al. find that systemic corticosteroid use is associated with adverse COVID-19 outcomes in patients with irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) (23). Experts recommend that people taking cortisone or other steroids for chronic diseases should not stop them, except for their doctor's advice (21).

The Pain Management Community has made recommendations on using steroids for chronic pain during the COVID-19 pandemic. One Group recommends using epidural and other steroid injections at the lowest effective dose during the COVID-19 pandemic. However, the risks and benefits should still be weighed for each patient, and another group also suggests discussing treatment options with an infectious disease specialist (11,19).

According to our knowledge, this study is the first study that evaluates the frequency of COVID-19 infection following the pain treatment procedures. There are tens of different types of pain treatment interventions. We classified the procedures of our clinic into five categories to prevent mathematical chaos, and we did not observe a significant difference in COVID-19 infection rates in terms of the types of interventions.

A large-scale study demonstrated that older age and specific clinical conditions (diabetes, respiratory diseases, heart, kidney, and autoimmune conditions) are risk factors for death from COVID-19 (24). Luckily, all the thirty patients who had COVID-19 infection in the assessment period experienced the illness with mild symptoms. None of them required hospitalization or intensive care.

There are some limitations to this study. Due to the retrospective design, we could not prepare an information form including details (e. g. co-existing diseases, socioeconomic status, COVID-19 history of acquaintances). Our control group did not consist of a normal population. This was due to the lack of availability to people who have no previous registration in our clinic. Another limitation was the lack of determination of asymptomatic cases. The actual ratio of asymptomatic COVID-19 cases is not known. Studies report a 1.95% to 87.9% proportion of asymptomatic individuals among all confirmed cases. Result widely differ according to the study design and the population (25-27). Another foggy area is the people who had got the disease but never applied to a health institution; therefore stayed out of records. We considered the 'zero days' of Group E as the patients visited the clinic and been examined. The 'zero days' of Group I was regarded as the day that interventional procedures were applied. However, some of these patients were admitted and been examined in the clinic a few days before the intervention day. This could cause a bias, but results did not reveal a significant COVID-19 infection increase in Group I. Therefore, we had no evidence supporting bias.

In conclusion, regarding our results, neither interventional pain procedures nor steroid injections promote the COVID-19 infection alone. However, 'leaving home' and 'coming to hospital' are risk factors for getting infected by the COVID-19 virus. Despite the lack of original studies on this issue, we assume that this study's results are also valid for all kinds of outpatient procedures (endoscopy, biopsies, magnetic resonance imaging, etc.) This outbreak continues for more than one year, and it is unclear how long it will continue more. Therefore, stopping the pain treatment facilities is not the solution. We suggest precaution recommendations of international communities are particularly useful, and each clinic should follow and implement these precautions as much as possible.

Conflict of interest

The authors have no conflict of interest to declare. The authors alone are responsible for the content and writing of the paper. None of the authors are funded by any institution or company.

Acknowledgments

COVID-19 pandemic made detrimental effects on pain treatment as well as all fields of health care. This study is about the risk of getting COVID-19 infection due to the interventional pain treatments, particularly in the treatments containing corticosteroid injections. We suggest interventional pain treatments or single or lesser dose of corticosteroid injections do not increase the risk of COVID-19 but 'coming to hospital' is an independent risk factor.

References

- Baj J, Karakuła-Juchnowicz H, Grzegorz Teresinski G, et al. COVID-19: Specific and non-specific clinical manifestations and symptoms: the current state of knowledge. Journal of Clinical Medicine. 2020, 9, 1753. DOI:10.3390/jcm9061753225.
- Li LQ, Huang T, Wang YQ et al. COVID-19 patients' clinical characteristics, discharge rate, and fatality rate of metaanalysis. Journal of Medical Virology. 2020;1–7. DOI: 10.1002/jmv.25757

- **3.** Chen T, Wu D, Chen H et al. Clinical characteristics of 113 deceased patients with coronavirus disease 2019: Retrospective study. BMJ 2020. 368, m1091. DOI: 10.1136/bmj.m1091.
- 4. Li JY, You Z, Wang Q et al. The epidemic of 2019-novelcoronavirus (2019-nCoV) pneumonia and insights for emerging infectious diseases in the future. Microbes and Infection. 22 (2020) 80-85. DOI: 10.1016/j.micinf.2020.02.002
- Helmy YA, Fawzy M, Elaswad A et al. The COVID-19 pandemic: a comprehensive review of taxonomy, genetics, epidemiology, diagnosis, treatment, and control. Journal of Clinical Medicine. 2020 Apr; 9(4): 1225. DOI:10.3390/jcm9041225
- 6. Erçalık T, Ayyıldız A, Gencer-Atalay K et al. Pain Symptoms in COVID-19. American Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation. Articles Ahead of Print. DOI: 10.1097/PHM.00000000001699
- Lotfi M, Hamblin MR, Rezaeif N. COVID-19: Transmission, prevention, and potential therapeutic opportunities. Clinica Chimica Acta. 508 (2020) 254–266. DOI: 10.1016/j.cca.2020.05.044
- 8. Halpin DMG, Singh D, Hadfield RM. Inhaled corticosteroids and COVID-19: a systematic review and clinical perspective. The European Respiratory Journal. 2020; 55: 2001009. DOI: 10.1183/13993003.01009-2020
- Davies JM, Carroll ML, Li H et al. Budesonide and Formoterol Reduce Early Innate Anti-Viral Immune Responses In Vitro. PLoS ONE. 6(11): e27898. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0027898
- 10. Simpson JL, Carroll M, Yang IA. Reduced Antiviral Interferon Production in Poorly Controlled Asthma Is Associated With Neutrophilic Inflammation and High-Dose Inhaled Corticosteroids. Chest. 2016 Mar;149(3):704-13. DOI: 10.1016/j.chest.2015.12.018.
- Cohen SP, Baber ZB, Buvanendran A et al. Pain Management Best Practices from Multispecialty Organizations during the COVID-19 Pandemic and Public Health Crises. Pain Medicine. 2020 Nov 7;21(7):1331-1346. DOI: 10.1093/pm/pnaa127
- Smith D, Wilkie R, Uthman O, Jordan JL, McBeth J. Chronic pain and mortality: a systematic review. PLoS One 2014;9:e99048. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0099048
- Cauda F, Palermo S, Costa T, et al. Gray matter alterations in chronic pain: A network-oriented meta-analytic approach. Neuroimage Clinical 2014;4:676-686. DOI: 10.1016/j.nicl.2014.04.007
- 14. Quinten C, Coens C, Mauer M, et al. Baseline quality of life as a prognostic indicator of survival: a meta-analysis of individual patient data from EORTC clinical trials. The Lancet Oncology. 2009; 10:865-871. DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(09)70200-1
- 15. Li Q, Med M, Guan X, Wu P, Wang X. Early Transmission Dynamics in Wuhan, China, of Novel Coronavirus–Infected Pneumonia. The new England journal of medicine. 2020; 382:1199-207. DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa2001316.
- **16.** Murphy MT, Latif U. Pain during COVID-19: A comprehensive review and guide for the interventionalist. Pain Practice. 2021 Jan;21(1):132-143. DOI: 10.1111/papr.12976.
- Rockwell KL, Gilroy AS. Incorporating Telemedicine as Part of COVID-19 Outbreak Response Systems. The American Journal of Managed Care 2020;26(4):147-148. DOI: 10.37765/ajmc.2020.42784

- Deer T, Sayed D, Pope J et al. Emergence from the coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic and the care of chronic pain: guidance for the interventionalist. Anesthesia Analgesia. 2020 Aug;131(2):387-394. DOI: 10.1213/ANE.0000000000000000.
- 19. Shanthanna H, Strand NH, Provenzano DA et al. Caring for patients with pain during the COVID-19 pandemic: consensus recommendations from an international expert panel. Anaesthesia. 2020 Jul;75(7):935-944. DOI:10.1111/anae.15076
- 20. Mattos-Silvaa P, Felixa NS, Silvaa PL et al. Pros and cons of corticosteroid therapy for COVID-19 patients. Respiratory Physiology & Neurobiology Volume 280, September 2020, 103492. DOI: 10.1016/j.resp.2020.103492
- **21.** Arca KN, Smith JH, Chiang CC et al. COVID-19 and Headache Medicine: A Narrative Review of Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drug (NSAID) and Corticosteroid Use. Headache. 2020; 0:1-11. DOI: 10.1111/head.13903
- 22. Youssef J, Novosad SA, Winthrop KL. Infection risk and safety of corticosteroid use. Rheumatic Diseases Clinics of North America. 2016 February; 42(1): 157–176. DOI: 10.1016/j.rdc.2015.08.00
- 23. Brenner EJ, Ungaro RC, Gearry RB et al. Corticosteroids, but

not TNF antagonists, are associated with adverse COVID-19 outcomes in patients with inflammatory bowel diseases: results from an international registry. Gastroenterology. 2020; 159:481–491. DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2020.05.032

- 24. Williamson EJ, Walker AJ, Bhaskaran K et al. Factors associated with COVID-19 related death using OpenSAFELY. Nature. 2020 Aug;584(7821):430-436. DOI: 10.1038/s41586-020-2521-4
- **25.** Han D, Li R, Han Y, Zhang R, Jinming Li J. COVID-19: Insight into the asymptomatic SARS-COV-2 infection and transmission. International Journal of Biological Sciences.2020; 16(15): 2803-2811. DOI: 10.7150/ijbs.48991.
- 26. Kremer C, Ganyani T, Chen D et al. Authors' response: Estimating the generation interval for COVID-19 based on symptom onset data Euro Surveillance. 2020 Jul;25(29):2001269. DOI: 10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2020.25.29.2001269
- **27.** Du Z, Xu X, Wu Y et al. Serial interval of COVID-19 among publicly reported confirmed cases. Emerging Infectious Diseases. 2020; 26(6). DOI: 10.3201/eid2606.200357



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm



Research Article

J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 232-236 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.45

The effectiveness of coagulation parameters in classifying patients and predicting mortality in Covid-19

Gülsen ŞENER*

¹Department of Biochemistry, Başakşehir Çam and Sakura City Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Received: 03.08.2021	•	Accepted/Published Online: 29.12.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022
		*		

Abstract

Covid-19 is a viral infection have a high pathogencitity and contagiousness that primarily targets the human respiratory system and leading to a global pandemic. Abnormal coagulation parameters are quite common in Covid-19 patients. In our study, we aimed to evaluate the relationship between coagulation function with disease severity and survival status in Covid-19 patients and the prognostic, predictive value of these parameters. Results of prothrombin time (PT), activated partial thromboplastin time (aPTT), Fibrinogen, and D-Dimer parameters at admission time of 76 Covid-19 negative healthy control with 188 confirmed Covid-19 patients, as well as death events were retrospectively analyzed. Compared with the healthy control group, higher levels of D-Dimer, PT, aPTT, fibrinogen, and CRP (p < 0.001 for each) were present during admission in Covid-19 patients. The non-survivor group had higher levels of PT, D-Dimer, and CRP (p < 0.001 for each) and aPTT (p = 0.004), fibrinogen (p = 0.019) compared to the survivor group. 28 (14.89%) of 188 Covid-19 patients lost their lives. Analysis of the ROC curve revealed that D-Dimer, Fibrinogen, PT, aPTT, and CRP had high diagnostic value in distinguishing Covid-19 patients from healthy control group, the critical group from the severe group, and non-survivors from survivors. This study shows that coagulation function is significantly impaired in patients with Covid-19 infection compared to normal patients, and as particularly marked high levels of D-Dimer, PT, aPTT, fibrinogen, and CRP are common. This condition is associated with disease severity and increased mortality. Coagulation parameters are an effective and useful marker for assessing prognosis and for the management of Covid-19 patients.

Keywords: coagulation parameters, prothrombin time, D-dimer, fibrinogen, Covid-19 severity

1. Introduction

Covid-19 is a viral infection have a high pathogencitity and contagiousness that primarily targets the human respiratory system and leading to a global pandemic (1). The World Health Organization declared the epidemic as an International Public Health Emergency of concern on January 30 th, 2020, and recognized it as a pandemic on March 11 th, 2020 (2). While the mild infection is observed 81% of symptomatic patients infected with Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), occurs severe disease in 14% and critical disease 5% of patients (3).

The SARS-CoV-2 virus has been shown to cause a high expression of ACE2, which can cause alveolar damage by migrating from nasopharyngeal mucosa cells to the alveolar endothelium of the lungs. Virus taken from organs with ACE-2 receptor causes local infections in various organs, leading to multiple and fatal organ failure (4). In general, mortality occurs as a result of bilateral pneumonia that can progress to acute respiratory distress syndrome. Despite pulmonary pathophysiology is not yet fully known, severe COVID-19 is associated with a pronounced alveolar inflammatory cell infiltration, systemic cytokine storm response, and as a result of elevated inflammatory cytokines (5). The microvascular system is damaged by the occurrence of inflammatory reactions. As a result of abnormal activation of the coagulation system, generalized small vessel vasculitis and diffuse micro thrombosis develop, leading to venous and arterial

thromboembolic diseases (6,7). It has been stated that the incidence of fatal pulmonary embolism (PE) in patients may be much higher than reported (8). Therefore, repeated evaluations and correct strategies are imperative to reduce the occurrence of venous thromboembolism (VTE), prevent fatal PE, ensure the safety of patients, and support early recovery. D-dimer results from the formation and degradation of cross-linked fibrin and reflects the activation of coagulation with fibrinolysis (9). Available data show that Covid-19 is associated with hemostatic abnormalities and that high Ddimer levels are associated with mortality, as well as being a common laboratory abnormality, and can be used as an independent biomarker for poor prognosis (10). In studies, patients with D-dimer levels above 3 µg/ml benefit from heparin treatment, and a decrease in mortality in Covid-19 with anticoagulant treatment also confirms these determinations (11).

One of the most important problems during the epidemic is the high volume of patients admitted to hospitals. Risk classification will be extremely helpful in managing the process, as available human support and mechanical capacities, especially intensive care support, are limited. For this, early and effective markers are needed, and coagulation parameters, which may have prognostic and predictive value, are very important in the course of the disease. Thus, the aim of this study is to investigate coagulation parameters in patients with Covid-19 and healthy control groups and to examine their role in predicting disease progression and survival.

2. Methods

2.1. Patients

This study was included 101 severe, 87 critical, a total of 188 adult patients and 76 healthy controls, whose diagnosis was confirmed, admitted to Başakşehir Çam and Sakura City Hospital in İstanbul between 15-30 November 2020. All patients were diagnosed according to the T.C. Ministry Department of Health's Covid-19 (SARS-CoV-2 infection) guidelines (12). Patients were defined and classified according to clinical, laboratory, and radiological parameters as those requiring hospitalization.

Nasal and/or pharyngeal swab samples of the patients were confirmed using the rRT-PCR test. Inpatients were divided into two groups: they were defined as admitted to the ward (Severe) and admitted to the Intensive Care Unit (ICU) (Critical). Inclusion criteria were those aged 18 years and older who had a positive Covid-19 rRT-PCR test were hospitalized for follow-up and treatment. Patients with hematological disease or who had a blood transfusion while hospitalized, data were incomplete, were excluded from the study. Again, 76 adult patients who were admitted to the hospital on the same dates whose clinical examination, CT and RT-PCR tests were found to be negative, were taken as the control group. Inclusion criteria for the control group were determined as rRT-PCR test negativity, and those with the comorbid disease were excluded. The routine parameters of all patients and the control group on the day of admission to the hospital were analyzed. This study was approved by the ethics committee of Başakşehir Çam and Sakura City Hospital (No.2021.04.65) and complies with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. Due to the retrospective and observational character of the study design, the requirement for informed consent has been waived.

2.2. Data collection

Epidemiological, demographic, clinical, radiological data of patients, laboratory results were obtained retrospectively from electronic medical records. Laboratory evaluations of the patients consisted of routine laboratory parameters such as coagulation, blood count, and biochemistry tests at the time of admission. The tests consisted of prothrombin time (PT), activated partial thromboplastin time (aPTT), fibrinogen, Ddimer, platelet (PLT), and CRP tests and were studied in the Laboratory of Başakşehir Çam and Sakura City Hospital. Blood samples of the patients were taken into a citrate tube for coagulation, a gel tube for biochemical parameters, and an EDTA tube for a complete blood count.

Coagulation analysis was performed on an automatic coagulation analyzer (Roche Cobas t 711 America), hematology analysis on (Sysmex XN-900, Japan) device, biochemistry analysis on SF-8200 (Roche Cobas 8000 America) brand device using original reagents. All measurements were made within 2 hours. Coagulation functions were compared between Covid-19 patients and the healthy control group, between the severe and critical patient group, as well as between survivor and non-survivor.

2.3. Statistical Analysis

A one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni multiple comparison tests was used for the quantitative data analysis. Pearson or Likelihood Ratio Chi-Square test was used to analyze the nominal scale data. Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) analysis was used to evaluate the diagnostic performance of study variables in Covid-19 disease. Youden's index was used as a criterion for choosing an optimal cut-off value. The level of statistically significance was set at p < 0.050. The statistical analyses were performed using SPSS v26 (IBM Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) statistical software.

3. Results

3.1. Basic characteristics, chronic diseases and coagulation parameters of control group with severe and critical Covid-19 patient groups

In this study, there were a total of 264 patients, 133 (50.40%) females and 131 (49.6%) males. The critical group was made up of 62.1% men, 37.9% women, and the severe group 47.5% men and 52.5% women (p =0.008). The mean age of the critical group was 62.86 ± 16.25 , the mean age of the severe group was 60.22 ± 14.29 and the mean age of the control group was 58.76 ± 13.42 . Differences between groups in terms of study variables were investigated with ANOVA (Table 1). Platelet count did not change significantly compared to groups (p =0.465).

The change of patients' chronic diseases according to the groups was examined with the Chi-square test. It was determined that the frequency distributions of all chronic diseases showed significant changes according to the groups. It was found that Hypertension in 41.4% of the critical group, 27.7% of the severe group; Diabetes Mellitus (DM) in 40.2% of the critical group, 33.7% of the severe group; Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) in 12.6% of the critical group, 10.9% of the severe group; coronary artery disease (CAD) in 23% of the critical group, 11.9% of the severe group; chronic renal failure (CRF) in 9.2% of the critical group, 2% of the severe group.

3.2. Analysis of diagnostic effectiveness of routine coagulation parameters in determination of Covid-19 severity

The ROC curve was created to analyze the effectiveness of various coagulation parameters in the diagnosis of severe Covid-19 patients during admission (Fig. 1). ROC curve analysis revealed that CRP, fibrinogen, aPTT, PT and D-Dimer had high diagnostic value in distinguishing severe Covid-19 patients from healthy subjects (p < 0.001) (Table 2). ROC curve analysis revealed that D-Dimer, CRP, PT, aPTT and fibrinogen had high diagnostic value in distinguishing critical Covid-19 patients from severe Covid-19 patients (p < 0.001) (Fig. 2) (Table 3).

Şener / J Exp Clin Med

Table 1. Comparison of the study variables

Parameters	Control group (n=76)	Severe group (n=101)	Critical group (n=87)	F	р
Age (mean \pm SD)	58.43 ± 13.42	60.22 ± 14.29	62.86 ± 16.25	1.880	0.155
Male n (%)	29 (38.2%)	48 (47.5%)	54 (62.1%)	9.565**	0.008
PT (sec)	8.93 ± 0.47^{b}	9.53 ±1.01 ^b	$11.0 \ 8\pm 3.61^{a}$	2.976	0.000
INR	$0.99\pm0.05^{\rm b}$	$1.05\pm0.08^{\rm b}$	$1.21\pm0.36^{\rm a}$	23.097	0.000
APTT (sec)	28.92±3.19°	33.11±5.36 ^b	37.36 ± 11^{a}	26.627	0.000
D-Dimer (µgFEU/mL)	0.31 ± 0.14^{b}	$0.83 \pm 1.02^{\mathrm{b}}$	$3.84\pm3.85^{\rm a}$	58.589	0.000
Fibrinogen (mg/dL)	$353.75 \pm 62.99^{\circ}$	528.77±139.54 ^b	$587.02\pm154.14^{\mathtt{a}}$	70.886	0.000
Platelet (×10 ⁹ /L)	267.39 ± 76.13	257.25 ± 98.82	249.8 ± 89.53	0.768	0.465
CRP (mg/L)	$3.63\pm2.63^{\circ}$	63.07 ± 42.45^{b}	132.4 ± 97.1^{a}	85.247	0.000
ALT (U/L	27.01 ± 12.86^{b}	34.62 ± 23.38^{b}	$43.83\pm45.98^{\mathbf{a}}$	5.965	0.003
AST (U/L)	$27.05 \pm 11.9^{\circ}$	39.04 ± 22.88^{b}	$54.17\pm55.29^{\mathbf{a}}$	11.594	0.000
GGT (U/L)	23.85 ± 17.30^{b}	57.66 ± 42.20 a	60.85 ± 56.03 ^a	16.459	0.000
ALP (U/L)	$73.67\pm16.97^{\text{b}}$	$75.39\pm27.43^{\text{b}}$	$91.46\pm54.66^{\mathtt{a}}$	5.311	0.000

F: One-way ANOVA, **Chi square test, PT = Prothrombin time; aPTT = Activated Prothrombin Time. Means that do not share a letter are significantly different (p <0.05). ap <0.05, b p <0.01, c p <0.001, (mean ± SD)

Table 2. Diagnostic value of some variables for the distinction between control and severe groups

Test Result Variable(s)	Cut off	Sensitivity	1 specifity	n	AUC	Asymptotic 95% Confidence Interval		
Test Result Vallable(S)	value	Sensitivity	1-spesifity	р	AUC	Lower Bound	Upper Bound	
PT (sec)	9.165	.797	.409	.000	.730	.653	.807	
APTT (sec)	30.150	.725	.333	.000	.740	.665	.815	
D-Dimer (mgFEU/mL)	0.4945	.884	.473	.000	.716	.638	.794	
Fibrinogen (mg/dL)	446	.971	.247	.000	.889	.838	.940	
CRP (mg/L)	8.85	.971	.043	.000	.990	.979	1.000	

Table 3. Diagnostic value of some variables for the distinction between severe and critical groups

Test Result Variable(s)	Cut off	Sensitivity	1_specifity	n	AUC	Asymptotic 95% Confidence Interval		
Test Result Variable(s)	value	Sensitivity	rity I-spesifity p AU		AUC	Lower Bound	Upper Bound	
PT (sec)	9.78	.797	.607	.000	.763	.692	.834	
APTT (sec)	37.05	.806	.733	.007	.619	.533	.704	
D-Dimer (mgFEU/mL)	1.15	.884	.587	.000	.862	.808	.916	
Fibrinogen (mg/dL)	843	.971	.947	.034	.593	.508	.678	
CRP (mg/L)	101.15	.971	.660	.000	.740	.662	.818	

Table 4. Comparison of the study variables

D	Severe survivor group	Critical grou	p (n=87)	F	
Parameters	(n=101)	Survivor group (n=59)	Non-survivor group (n=28)	F	р
Age	60.22 ± 14.3	61 ± 17.01	66.79 ± 13.97	2.094	0.126
Male n (%)	48(47.5%)	35 (59.3%)	19 (67.9%)	8.596**	0.103
PT (sec)	$9.53\pm1.01~b$	$11.19 \pm 4.2 \text{ ab}$	10.86 ± 1.96 a	8.520	0.000
INR	$1.05\pm0.08\ b$	1.22±0.41 ab	1.19±0.2 a	9.800	0.000
APTT (sec)	$33.11\pm5.36b$	$37.36 \pm 12.8a$	37.38 ± 5.77 a	5816	0.004
D-Dimer (µgFEU/mL)	$0.83\pm1.02~b$	3.67 ± 3.76 a	4.2 ± 4.08 a	28.710	0.000
Fibrinogen (mg/dL)	528.77 ± 139.54 b	$597.31 \pm 159.67 \text{ b}$	564.08 ± 141.27 ab	4.058	0.019
Platelet (×109/L)	257.25 ± 98.82	263.19 ± 94.05	221.61 ± 72.92	2.006	0.137
CRP (mg/L)	$63.07 \pm 42.45 \text{ c}$	$117.79 \pm 93.73b$	$162.67 \pm 98.61a$	25.101	0.000
ALT (U/L	$34.62\pm23.38~b$	$35.38 \pm 34.97 \text{ b}$	61.26 ± 60.42 a	6.583	0.002
AST (U/L)	$39.04\pm22.88~b$	$41.39 \pm 32.66 \text{ b}$	81.15 ± 79.66 a	12.645	0.000
GGT (U/L)	57.66 ± 42.20	55.45 ± 52.74	72.14 ± 62.20	0.901	0.409
ALP (U/L)	75.39 ± 27.43 b	89.62 ± 50.79 ab	95.29 ± 62.95 a	3.036	0.051

Table 5. DIC in non-survivors with New Coronavirus Pneumonia (N = 28)

Platelet count (× $10^{9}/$ L)	Number of patients (%)
< 50 (2 point); 50-100 (1 point)	0; 1 (3.57)
D-Dimer (µg/mL)	
1.0-3.0 (2 point); > 3.0 (3 point)	13 (46.43); 11 (39.29)
Fibrinojen (g/L)	
<1.0 (1 point)	24 (85.71)
Prolongation of PT (sec)	
3-6 (1 point); > 6 (2 point)	1 (7.14); 2 (3.57)
Meeting the ISTH criteria of DIC (Total points ≥ 5)	5 (17.86)

Sener / J Exp Clin Med

Table 6. Diagnostic value of some variables for the distinction between severe and non-survivor groups

Test Desult Veriable(a)	Cut off Sensitiv	Sensitivi	1 an asifity	n	AUC	Asymptotic 95% Confidence Interval	
Test Result variable(s)	value	ty	1-spesifity	р	AUC	Lower Bound	Upper Bound
PT (sec)	9.665	.710	.115	.000	.793	.695	.890
APTT (sec)	37.05	.806	.346	.001	.713	.599	.828
D-Dimer (mgFEU/mL)	1.11	.817	.154	.000	.879	.800	.958
Fibrinogen (mg/dL)	548.5	.624	.423	.252	.574	.448	.699
CRP (mg/L)	94.54	.828	.192	.000	.849	.757	.940

Table 7. Diagnostic value of some variables for the distinction between survivor and non-survivor groups

Test Desult Veriable(s)	Cut off	Consitivity	1 an acifity		AUC	Asymptotic 95% Confidence Interval		
Test Result variable(s)	value	Sensitivity	1-spesifity	р	Lower Bound		Upper Bound	
PT (sec)	9.67	.345	.115	.554	.541	.410	.672	
APTT (sec)	32.050	.455	.154	.082	.620	.496	.744	
D-Dimer (mgFEU/mL)	1.55	.455	.308	.642	.532	.400	.664	
Fibrinogen (mg/dL)	546.5	.491	.423	.624	.466	.334	.598	
CRP (mg/L)	73.00	.345	.077	.049	.630	.512	.760	

3.3. Basic characteristics, chronic diseases and coagulation parameters of survivor and non-survivor Covid-19 patient groups

111 (59.04%) patients were discharged, 28 (14.89%) patients died, and the remaining 49 (26.06%) patients remained in hospital in stable condition on December 9th, 2020. The non-survivor group was made up of 67.9% men, 32.1% women, and the survivor group 59.3% men and 40.7% women (p =0.103). The mean age of the non-survivor group was 66.79 ± 13.97 , the mean age of the survivor group was 60.22 ± 14.3 . Differences between groups in terms of study variables were investigated with ANOVA (Table 4). Platelet count did not change significantly compared to groups (p =0.137).



Fig. 1. ROC curve of CRP and coagulation parameters for comparing control and severe groups

It was found that Hypertension in 50% of the non-survivor group, 37.3% of the survivor group; DM in 50% of the non-survivor group, 35.6% of the survivor group; COPD in 7.1% of the non-survivor group, 15.3% of the survivor group; CAD in 14.3% of the non-survivor group, 27.1% of the survivor group; CRF in 3.6% of the non-survivor group, 11.9% of the survivor group; cancer in 5.1% of the survivor group.

In five of the patients who died from Covid-19 on admission, significant DIC was present according to the International Society for Thrombosis and Hemostasis (ISTH) criteria for disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC) (Table 5) (10).







Fig. 3. ROC curve of CRP and coagulation parameters for comparing severe and non-survivor groups



Fig. 4. ROC curve of CRP and coagulation parameters for comparing survivor and non-survivor groups

3.4. Analysis of diagnostic effectiveness of routine

coagulation parameters in survival of Covid-19 patients The ROC curve was created to analyze the effectiveness of coagulation parameters in comparing severe patients with nonsurvivor patients (Fig. 3). ROC curve analysis revealed that D-Dimer, CRP, PT, aPTT had high diagnostic value in distinguishing severe Covid-19 patients from non-survivor patients (p < 0.001) (Table 6). ROC curve analysis showed that parameters other than aPTT and CRP were not effective in determining the survival of critical Covid-19 patients (p < 0.05) (Fig. 4) (Table 7).

4. Discussion

Covid-19 is a viral infection with highly complex pathophysiology, leading to a pandemic starting from Wuhan, China in December 2019 (1). While mild infection is observed in the majority of symptomatic patients infected with SARS-CoV-2, severe and critical illness occurs in 19% of patients (3). Risk classification will be extremely helpful in managing the process due to the limitation of human support and mechanical capacities, support as well as tendency of SARS-CoV-2 to cause venous and arterial thrombosis, and the lack of an effective treatment. Early and effective markers are needed for diagnosis and follow-up, and coagulation parameters, which may have prognostic and predictive value in the course of the disease, are very important.

Consistent with previous studies in our study, hospitalized Covid-19 patients had abnormal coagulation parameters on admission compared to the healthy control group (10,13). Tang et al. reported that when coagulation parameters are abnormal, Covid-19 patients have a worse prognosis (10). The overactivation of immune cells and overproduction of proinflammatory cytokines during Covid-19 is called cytokine storms (14). It has been stated that the mechanism of inflammatory damage can develop as a result of T cell activation, increased granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor, and IL-6 production (15). As a result of the developing hyperinflammatory condition affecting the immune system, the microvascular system is damaged. The link between inflammation and hemostasis, defined as

immunothrombosis, leads to abnormal activation of the coagulation system, thrombin formation, and inhibition of fibrinolytic reaction. These events that increase the likelihood of thrombosis are associated with increased production of proinflammatory cytokines (16).

Critical cases were older and had more underlying diseases compared to severe cases. similar to other studies (15,17). Covid-19 patients with major underlying conditions are at high risk of coagulation dysfunction. Our study showed that the incidence of abnormalities in parameters of coagulation function on admission was significantly higher in critical cases than in severe cases, that is, it was associated with disease severity (15,17). D-dimer elevation has been reported to be one of the most common laboratory findings recorded in Covid-19 patients requiring hospitalization (18). In our study, especially D-dimer levels were significantly higher in critical patients. Ddimer is a fibrin degradation product that is a reliable indicator of the activation of the hemostatic system and the activity of the fibrinolysis system. An analysis showed that D-dimer values were three times higher in severe Covid-19 patients than in those with milder forms (19). In a study of 138 patients, Ddimer levels were found to be significantly higher in patients who need ICU than in patients who do not (20). Huang et al. stated that patients with high D-dimer levels on admission need more ICU support (21). Since a marked increase in D-dimer is thought to be associated with the formation of multiple microthrombi, it has been stated that hospitalization of these patients should be considered even in the absence of other serious symptoms (22). In some studies, critical or nonsurvivor patients have been reported to have statistically significantly higher levels of D-dimer than non-critical or survivor patients (23).

Advanced age and chronic diseases in severe Covid-19 patients; hypercytokinemia, endothelial dysfunction, and inflammation are known risk factors for sepsis characterized by excessive, resulting in hipercoagulability (23,24). The cytopathic effect caused by the virus may lead to platelet activation and excessive thrombin formation as a result of widespread endotheliitis and inflammatory cell death (18). Hypoxia caused by respiratory failure in severe Covid-19 can not only increase blood viscosity, but also stimulate thrombosis through signaling (25). Refractory hypoxemia can lead to vasoconstriction, which reduces blood flow and increases vascular obstruction (23,24). Another risk factor is the aggressive proinflammatory response and insufficient control of the anti-inflammatory response. Stasis due to prolonged immobilization and invasive treatment, especially in severe Covid-19 patients, are risk factors for hypercoagulability or thrombosis (18). Some patients may develop sepsis-induced DIC (10,18). In the epidemiological analysis of 72,314 Covid-19 cases, most of the deaths were seen in people over 60 years of age with comorbidities (26,27). In our study, high levels of D-dimer and other coagulation parameters are associated with mortality in elderly and comorbidity patients. Individuals with

older, comorbidities and hypercytokinemia are known to be more likely to die from Covid-19 infection are known to be more likely to die from Covid-19 infection (7,26). The association between an increase in D-dimer levels and the deaths of patients infected with Covid-19 was also observed by Zhou and colleagues in a multicenter cohort study in China. It has also proven that high D-Dimer is an independent risk factor for mortality in Covid-19 patients (16,28).

Increased fibrin and conversion of and plasminogen to plasmine at the site of inflammation leads to a division of fibrin protofibrils and cumulative release of D-dimer, a known marker of Covid-19-associated thrombosis (16). In a logistic regression model, advanced age and D-dimer higher than 1 µg/mL during hospitalization was associated with an increased likelihood of death (19,29). When the increase in D-dimer levels reaches above 3 µg/mL, the mortality rate was determined to increases threefold (30). We found significantly higher D-dimer levels on admission in nonsurvivor. In a study Guan et al. analyzed with Covid-19 patients, they observed non-survivors had significantly higher D-dimer than survivors (31). In 183 patients at Wuhan Tongji Hospital, PT, fibrinogen, D-dimer, and fibrinogen degradation products (FDP) were shown to be significantly increased in Covid-19-related deaths. This condition suggested that coagulopathy is associated with prognosis and therefore these parameters may guide treatment (10). Since increased D-dimer levels in critical patients may be associated with a higher likelihood of developing DIC, these patients should be evaluated for DIC (15). Tang in the study found that 71.4% of non-survivors and 0.6% of survivors met criteria for DIC with high D-Dimer during their hospital stay and had a worse prognosis, increased risk of death (25). PT and APTT were significantly prolonged in non-survivors (10). Zhou et al found that 50% of non-survivors and only 7% of survivors met the DIC criteria (28). Hemostasis disorder may develop in patients with Covid-19, but excessive consumption of coagulation factors leads to the development of DIC. Development of DIC that adversely affects prognosis in Covid-19 is not uncommon (13). In five cases of death in our study, DIC was detected according to the ISTH SSC DIC score. DIC diagnostic scoring system parameters included PT, PLT, fibrinogen, and D-dimer. A score of $\geq =5$ is considered open DIC. DIC is a syndrome characterized by intravascular coagulation and causes the development of multiple organ failure (MOF) (26). Our data show that development of DIC in Covid-19 patients is not rare and caution should be exercised in critical patients due to its negative effect on the course of the due to disease. As a result of cytokine release syndrome affecting the immune system, the microvascular system is damaged and leads to abnormal activation of the coagulation system (15). This condition manifests itself as generalized small vessel vasculitis and diffuse microthrombosis (6). Cytokine storming interacts with coagulopathies and leading to vicious cycle associated with poor prognosis (32).

coagulation tests are prolonged, and an abnormality may develop until the decompensation period of DIC due to the continuous activation and consumption of the exogenous coagulation pathway during DIC progression (23). Parameters PT and APTT that differences most in Covid-19 patients may increase due to coagulation activation or decrease due to consumptive coagulopathy (19). PT and APTT have been found to be longer in severe Covid-19 patients than in nonsevere patients in some studies (10,21). We found that initial PT and APTT values were significant for risk classification and prognosis determination in Covid-19 patients. Prolonged PT on admission to the hospital has been shown to increase the risk of morbidity and mortality. The reason is that coagulopathy in Covid-19 is mostly due to sepsis in which the exogenous coagulation pathway is activated (23). One study found higher levels of fibrinogen in severe patients than nonsevere patients (33). Fibrinogen, synthesized by the liver as an acutely reactive protein, is a coagulation protein. Fibrinogen promotes platelet aggregation and thrombosis, as well as hyperfibringenemia is commonly seen in the early phase of Covid-19 in both survivors and non-survivors. But in nonsurvivors, levels of fibrinogen may gradually decrease and hypofibrinogenemia may occur in the late stage of consumptive coagulopathy (10). In some studies, elevated fibrin levels have been detected in the lungs of patients with Covid-19 and it has been stated that fibrin accumulation in the alveoli causes acute bilateral pulmonary inflammation and chronic pulmonary fibrosis. The cytokine storm associated with Covid-19 also has a major effect on thrombin production and fibrin deposition in the lung. These data support the hypothesis that coagulopathy associated with Covid-19 contributes to the underlying pulmonary pathogenesis (34). In our study, fibrinogen and CRP levels were high in Covid-19 patients requiring hospitalization. The simultaneous increase in fibrinogen and CRP levels is probably due to an acute phase response (15). Free thrombin not controlled by natural anticoagulants can activate platelets (10). As in various viral infections, thrombocytosis due to platelet activation is common in the acute phase of Covid-19 and thrombocytopenia is common in its late stages (19). Development of thrombocytopenia may include direct or indirect factors such as inappropriate platelet activation and consumption due to DIC, immunological platelet destruction, and impaired megakaryopoiesis. In studies, platelet counts were found to be within the normal range in most COVID-19 patients at the time of admission (20.35), but thrombocytopenia was found in severe patients and nonsurvivors (10,31). Thrombocytopenia seen in critical patients is considered an indicator of bleeding and sepsis mortality as well as helping to detect the severity of coagulopathy (23).

When the level of coagulation factors falls below 50%,

In our study, in which we analyzed coagulation factors in Covid-19 patients, we found that age, comorbidity, elevated CRP, D-Dimer, fibrinogen, PT, aPTT levels have high diagnostic value. In addition, we determined that coagulation factors increased more in critical patients than in severe patients. In the non-survivor, we found abnormal coagulation parameters that reflect coagulopathy on admission.

There are several limitations of this study. It was a relatively small, retrospective study. Our findings should be confirmed by a larger, powerful clinical trial. But in our study, we analyzed changes in coagulation biomarkers in hospitalized Covid-19 patients and those who lost their lives. We correlated these parameters with disease severity and survival.

Coagulation disorder is common and negatively affects prognosis in Covid-19. Our findings showed that coagulopathy developed common and that coagulation markers were associated with disease severity and survival in Covid-19, largely determining patients ' clinical outcomes. We found that the presence of DIC significantly increased deaths in critical cases. Our data suggest that monitoring of early coagulation tests can be used as independent, effective, easily accessible markers to evaluate prognosis, prevent disease progression, and guide treatment in the disease process, as well as helping to identify early coagulation disorders.

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank Dr. Yeliz Kaşko Arıcı from the Department of Biostatistics of the Faculty of Medicine of Ordu University for her support in the field of Statistics.

References

- Rai P, Kumar BK, Deekshit VK, Karunasagar I, Karunasagar I. Detection technologies and recent developments in the diagnosis of COVID-19 infection. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2021;105(2):441-455. doi:10.1007/s00253-020-11061-5
- 2. World Health Organization. Statement on the second meeting of the International Health Regulations (2005) Emergency Committee regarding the outbreak of novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV). Jan 30, 2020. https://bit.ly/2zc56Vk (accessed May 2020).
- **3.** Wu Z, McGoogan JM. Characteristics of and Important Lessons From the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Outbreak in China: Summary of a Report of 72314 Cases From the Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention. JAMA. 2020; 323(13):1239-1242. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.2648.
- 4. Du Y, Tu L, Zhu P, Mu M, Wang R, Yang P, et al. Clinical features of 85 fatal cases of COVID-19 from Wuhan: a retrospective observational study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2020; 201(11):1372-1379. doi: 10.1164/rccm.202003-0543OC.
- Xiong Y, Liu Y, Cao L, Wang D, Guo M, Jiang A, et al. Transcriptomic characteristics of bronchoalveolar lavage fluid and peripheral blood mononuclear cells in COVID-19 patients. Emerg Microbes Infect. 2020; 9(1):761-770. doi: 10.1080/22221751.2020.1747363.
- 6. Tian S, Hu W, Niu L, Liu H, Xu H, Xiao SY. Pulmonary

pathology of early phase 2019 novel coronavirus (COVID-19) pneumonia in two patients with lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol. 2020; 15(5):700-704. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2020.02.010.

- Ding YQ, Bian XW. Analysis of coronavirus disease-19 (covid-19) based on SARS autopsy. Chin J Pathol. 2020; 49(4):291-293. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.cn112151-20200211-00114.
- Barton LM, Duval EJ, Stroberg E, Ghosh S, Mukhopadhyay S. COVID-19 Autopsies, Oklahoma, USA. Am J Clin Pathol. 2020; 5;153(6):725-733. doi: 10.1093/ajcp/aqaa062
- Zhang L, Long Y, Xiao H, Yang J, Toulon P, Zhang Z. Use of D-dimer in oral anticoagulation therapy. International journal of laboratory hematology. 2018; 40: 503-7. 10.1111/ijlh.12864.
- 10. Tang N, Li D, Wang X, Sun Z. Abnormal Coagulation parameters are associated with poor prognosis in patients with novel coronavirus pneumonia. J Thromb Haemost. 2020; 18(4):844-847. doi: 10.1111/jth.14768.
- Chen N, Zhou M, Dong X, Qu J, Gong F, Han Y, et al. Epidemiological and clinical char-acteristics of 99 cases of 2019 novel coronavirus pneumonia in Wuhan, China: a de-scriptive study. Lancet. 2020; 15;395(10223):507-513. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30211-7.
- 12. https:// www.covid19.saglik.gov.tr/ 2020
- 13. Han H, Yang L, Liu R, Liu F, Wu KL, Li J, et al. Prominent changes in blood coagulation of patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection. Clin Chem Lab Med. 2020; 25;58(7):1116-1120. doi: 10.1515/cclm-2020-0188.
- Vaninov N. In the eye of the COVID-19 cytokine storm. Nat Rev Immunol. 2020; 20(5):277. doi: 10.1038/s41577-020-0305-6.
- **15.** Zou Y, Guo H, Zhang Y, Zhang Z, Liu Y, Wang J, et al. Analysis of coagulation parameters in patients with COVID-19 in Shanghai, China. Biosci Trends. 2020; 14(4):285-289. doi: 10.5582/bst.2020.03086.
- Sathler PC. Hemostatic abnormalities in COVID-19: A guided review. An Acad Bras Cienc. 2020; 92(4): e20200834. Doi: 10.1590/0001-3765202020200834.
- Fogarty H, Townsend L, Cheallaigh CN, Bergin C, Martin-Loeches I, Browne P, et al. COVID19 coagulopathy in Caucasian patients. Br J Haematol. 2020; 189(6):1044-1049. doi: 10.1111/bjh.16749
- Zhang L, Yan X, Fan Q, Liu H, Liu X, Liu Z, et al. D-dimer levels on admission to predict in-hospital mortality in patients with Covid-19. J Thromb Haemost. 2020; 18(6):1324-1329. doi: 10.1111/jth.14859.
- Harenberg J, Favaloro E. COVID-19: progression of disease and intravascular coagulation - present status and future perspectives. Clin Chem Lab Med. 2020; 25;58(7):1029-1036. doi: 10.1515/cclm-2020-0502.
- 20. Wang D, Hu B, Hu C, Zhu F, Liu X, Zhang J, et al. Clinical Characteristics of 138 Hospitalized Patients With 2019 Novel Coronavirus-Infected Pneumonia in Wuhan, China. JAMA. 2020; 17;323(11):1061-1069. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.1585.
- 21. 21. Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y, et al. Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. Lancet. 2020; 10223:497-506. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30183-5.
- 22. Thachil J, Tang N, Gando S, Falanga A, Cattaneo M, Levi M, et al. ISTH interim guidance on recognition and management of coagulopathy in Covid-19. J Thromb Haemost. 2020; 18(5):1023-1026. doi: 10.1111/jth.14810.

- 23. Luo L, Xu M, Du M, Kou H, Liao D, Cheng Z, et al. Early coagulation tests predict risk stratification and prognosis of COVID-19. Aging (Albany NY). 2020; 12(16): 15918–15937. doi: 10.18632/aging.103581.
- 24. Bermejo-Martin JF, Martín-Fernandez M, López-Mestanza C, Duque P, Almansa R. Shared Features of Endothelial Dysfunction between Sepsis and Its Preceding Risk Factors (Aging and Chronic Disease). J Clin Med. 2018; 7(11): 400. doi: 10.3390/jcm7110400.
- **25.** Tang N, Bai H, Chen X, Gong J, Li D, Sun Z. Anticoagulant treatment is associated with decreased mortality in severe coronavirus disease 2019 patients with coagulopathy. J Thromb Haemost. 2020; 18(5):1094-1099. doi: 10.1111/jth.14817.
- **26.** Song JC, Wang G, Zhang W, Zhang Y, Li WQ, Zhou Z. Chinese expert consensus on diagnosis and treatment of coagulation dysfunction in COVID-19. Mil Med Res. 2020; 1:19. doi: 10.1186/s40779-020-00247-7.
- 27. Novel Coronavirus Pneumonia Emergency Response Epidemiology Team. The epidemiological characteristics of an outbreak of 2019 novel coronavirus diseases (COVID-19) in China. Chin J Epidemiol. 2020; 2:145–151. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.0254-6450.2020.02.003.
- 28. Zhou F, Yu T, Du R, Fan G, Liu Y, Liu Z, et al. 2020. Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet. 2020; 28;395(10229):1054-1062. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30566-3.
- 29. Lippi G, Simundic AM, Plebani M. Potential preanalytical and

analytical vulnerabilities in the laboratory diagnosis of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). Clin Chem Lab Med. 2020; 25;58(7):1070-1076. doi: 10.1515/cclm-2020-0285.

- **30.** Lippi G, Favaloro EJ. D-dimer is associated with severity of coronavirus disease 2019 [COVID-19]: a pooled analysis. Thromb Haemost 2020; 120(5):876-878. doi: 10.1055/s-0040-1709650.
- 31. Guan WJ, Ni ZY, Hu Y, Liang WH, Ou CQ, He JX, et al. Clinical Characteristics of Coronavirus Disease 2019 in China. N Engl J Med. 2020; (18)382::1708-1720. doi: 101056/NEJMoa2002032
- 32. Tanaka T, Narazaki M, Kishimoto T. Immunotherapeutic implications of IL-6 blockade for cytokine storm. Immunotherapy. 2016; 8(8):959-70. doi: 10.2217/imt-2016-0020.
- 33. Gao Y, Li T, Han M, Li X, Wu D, Xu Y, et al. Diagnostic utility of clinical laboratory data determinations for patients with the severe COVID-19. J Med Virol. 2020; 92(7):791-796. doi: 10.1002/jmv.25770.
- 34. Gralinski LE, Bankhead A 3rd, Jeng S, Menachery VD, Proll S, Belisle SE, et al. Mechanisms of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-induced acute lung injury. MBio. 2013; 6;4(4): e00271-13. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00271-13.
- 35. Chen R, Sang L, Jiang M, Yang Z, Jia N, Fu W, et al. Longitudinal hematologic and immunologic variations associated with the progression of COVID-19 patients in China. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2020; 146(1):89-100. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2020.05.003.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm







J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 237-244 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.46

Adverse obstetric outcomes in early and late adolescent pregnancy

Simten GENÇ^{1,*}, Mehmet Ali CIFTCi¹, Basak CINGILLIOGLU¹, Erhan AKTURK¹, Orhan SAHIN¹, Sadik KUKRER², Arzu YURCI³, Veli MIHMANLI¹

¹Department of Obstetric and Gynecology, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşçıoğlu Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

²Department of Obstetric and Gynecology, University of Healty Science, Adana City Training and Research Hospital, Adana, Turkey ³Department of Gynegology Obstetrics and Reproductive Medicine, Memorial Kayseri Hospital, IVF Center, Kayseri, Turkey

Received: 10.06.2021 •	Accepted/Published Online: 26.07.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022
-------------------------------	---------------------------------------	---	---------------------------

Abstract

Adolescent pregnant women should be considered as a high risk patient group. The aim of our study is to compare pregnancies in adolescent with adult age group pregnancies and to evaluate maternal and fetal obstetric outcomes. Patients were admitted to Gynecology Department of Okmeydani Training and Research Hospital between January 1, 2015 and December 31, 2019. Pregnant women were divided into 3 groups as Group 1 (aged ≤ 16 years: n: 280), Group 2 (aged 17-19 years; n: 956) and Group 3 (aged 25-35 years; n: 656). Demographic characteristics of the patients and maternal and obstetric outcomes were recorded.In adolescent age groups,numbers of gravida, parity and abortus, and gestational age, fetal weight, and rates of cesarean delivery were found to be significantly lower relative to age group of 25-35 years Adolescents aged ≤ 16 years had a significantly lower risk than adults as for preeclampsia (AOR: 9,23 (6,36-11,82) p=0,001),had a significantly higher risk than adults as for low birth weight (AOR: 4,75 (2,26-9,21) p=0,001). and prematurity (AOR: 7,54 (5,12-9,43) p=0,001). Adolescents aged 17-19 years had a significantly higher risk than adults regarding small for gestational age (AOR: 4,48 (1,89-10,67) p=0,001), oligohidramnios (AOR: 2,29 (1,16-4,54) p=0,017), prematurity (AOR: 4,97 (3,1-7,97) p=0,0001) and LBW (AOR: 2,14 (2,71-9,74) p=0,001).Our study was conducted with a large pregnant group, Since pregnant women in adolescent group are closely associated with preterm birth, delivery of small for gestational age and low birth weight infants, it is important to improve health services to reduce adverse pregnancy outcomes.

Keywords: adolescent pregnancy, adverse pregnancy outcomes, low birth weight, preterm delivery, teenage pregnancy

1. Introduction

Adolescence is the transition period of the individual from childhood to adulthood with psychological, social and biological changes. Adolescents constitute 20-25% of the population and 85% of those in this age group live in developing countries. The World Health Organization considers the age group 10-19 as adolescents (1). Worldwide, the rates of adolescent pregnancy increases in societies where poverty prevails and educational opportunities do not exist. While adolescent pregnancies occur due to marriages under pressure in developing countries, in developed countries it occurs because of insufficient contraception methods.

As babies born to adolescent mothers carry risks in terms of neonatal death and diseases, obstetric complications are more frequently encountered in adolescent mothers due to inadequate prenatal care. In adolescent pregnancies, adverse obstetric outcomes as low birth weight, preterm labor, perinatal death, maternal death, anemia, increased risk of fetal anomaly and preeclampsia may be encountered (2,3). Adolescent pregnant women have very low reserves since their own growth is not completed. Therefore, fetal growth and breastfeeding increase the nutritional needs of adolescents. Early and unwanted pregnancies are associated with many unfavorable health, social, educational and economic consequences. In developing countries every year 12 million children between the ages of 15-19 and 777,000 children under the age of 15 give birth. Besides, 3.9 million unsafe abortions are seen every year in this age group (4,5). Teenage pregnancy has been found to be associated with low socioeconomic status, substance use during pregnancy, and mental health problems (6). The age at onset of substance use and smoking was found to be earlier in pregnant adolescents compared to non-pregnant adolescents (7).

Since Turkey is a receiving country, adolescent birth rate is increasing. The aim of our study is to compare pregnancies in this age group with adult age group pregnancies and to evaluate maternal and fetal obstetric outcomes.

2. Materials and Methods

Our study was carried out by retrospectively examining the records of patients who were admitted to Gynecology Department of Okmeydani Training and Research Hospital between January 1, 2015 and December 31, 2019 and gave birth between the ages of 10 and 19. As the control group, adult

pregnant women in the age group of 25-35 who gave birth on the same dates as the adolescent group were selected. The study was initiated after the approval of the hospital Ethics Committee was obtained. Vaginal examination was performed in all patients in the study group at the time of admission to the hospital, and the presence of cervical effacement and dilatation was recorded. External monitoring was performed to determine uterine contractions, and obstetric ultrasonography to see fetal development. Gestational age was estimated based on the last menstrual period or findings of ultrasound performed before the 20th gestational week. Pregnant women below the 24th gestational week and those who delivered babies with chromosomal anomalies were not included in the study. A total of 1892 pregnant women were included in the study. Pregnant women were divided into 3 groups as Group 1 (aged ≤16 years: n: 280), Group 2 (aged 17-19 years; n: 956) and Group 3 (aged 25-35 years; n: 656).

Demographic characteristics of the patients were recorded. Groups were compared regarding the gestational week of delivery, delivery type, indications of cesarean section, gender, birth weight, gravida, parity, abortion, nationality, consanguineous marriage, use of Assisted Reproductive Technology (ART), multiple pregnancy, maternal anemia, need for blood transfusion. Besides, diseases as cholestasis, heart disease, thrombosis, asthma, and epilepsy were noted and evaluated.

Maternal and obstetric outcomes such as preeclampsia, abruptio placentae, gestational diabetes, intrauterine fetal demise, fetal anomalies other than chromosome anomalies, small for gestational age (SGA), preterm labor, preterm premature rupture of membrane (PPROM), premature rupture of membrane (PROM), oligohydramnios, polyhydramnios, low birth weight (LBW), macrosomia, chorioamnionitis, perineal laceration, need for intensive care and/ or maternal intensive care were compared among three age groups. Subsequently, logistic regression models were developed to investigate the correlations between age groups, maternal and neonatal outcomes, adjusted for parity.

The diagnosis of gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) was made in 2 steps as recommended by the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (AGOC) (8). Glucose tolerance test was performed between 24. and 28. gestational weeks using 100 g glucose for pregnants whose blood glucose level was 140 mg/dl one hour after a glucose tolerance test performed with 50 g glucose and the diagnosis of GDM was made when higher glycemic levels were found on 2 or more than 2 occasions. The diagnosis of preeclampsia and gestational hypertension was made according to the criteria determined by the International Society for the Study of Hypertension in Pregnancy (9). Diagnosis of gestational hypertension was made when systolic and diastolic blood pressures measured twice at 4 hour intervals were \geq 140 mm Hg, and \geq 90 mmHg, respectively in a normotensive pregnant

woman who had not significant proteinuria after the 20th gestational week. Diagnosis of preeclampsia is made in consideration of above-mentioned findings and also high levels of protein (\geq 300 mg) in 24-hour urine samples or 2 (+) proteinuria at 2 different occasions were detected. Premature rupture of membrane (PROM) is defined as rupture of fetal membranes before the onset of labor. Preterm premature rupture of membranes (PPROM) was defined as spontaneous rupture of the amniotic membrane before the 37th gestational week and the release of amniotic fluid before the onset of labor. Small for gestational age (SGA) was defined as birth weight below the 10th percentile for gestational age. Preterm labor was defined as delivery with cervical dilatation and effacement accompanying uterine contractions before 37 gestational weeks. Deliveries after 42. gestational week were evaluated as postmature births. Macrosomia is defined as fetal weight over 4000 gr and low birth weight as a birth weight of less than 2500 g. Fetal loss (fetal demise) was defined as intrauterine fetal loss after 24 weeks of gestation. In polyhydroamnios, amount of amniotic fluid is 8 cm above the single quadrant or 20 cm above the sum of four quadrants in ultrasonographic measurements. In oligohydramnios amount of amniotic fluid is 2 cm below the single quadrant measurement or 5 cm below the total of four quadrants based on ultrasonographic measurements

In this study, statistical analyzes were performed using the Number Cruncher Statistical System (NCSS) 2007 Statistical Software (Utah, USA). One-way analysis of variance was used for intergroup comparisons, and Tukey multiple comparison test for subgroup comparisons of normally distributed variables. For intergroup comparisons of variables not normally distributed Kruskal- Wallis test, and for their subgroup comparisons Dunn's multiple comparison test were used. Chi-square test was used for comparisons of qualitative data. Logistic regression models were developed to investigate the associations between age groups, maternal and neonatal outcomes, adjusted for parity. Odds ratio (OR) and adjusted odds ratios (aORs) with corresponding 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were generated. The results were evaluated at the significance level of p <0.05. This study was performed in line with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. Approval was granted by the Ethics Committee of University of Health Sciences, Okmeydanı Training and Research Hospital (Date.04/05/2020./No. 48670771-514.10./117).

3. Results

The demographic characteristics and obstetric results of the patients were compared between age groups of ≤ 16 , 17-19, and 25-35 years. (Table 1) In adolescent age groups, numbers of gravida, parity and abortus, and gestational age, fetal weight, and rates of cesarean delivery were found to be significantly lower relative to age group of 25-35 years. In the age group 25-35 years previous cesarean deliveries were performed more frequently, while rates of fetal distress and progress failure were found to be higher in adolescent Groups 1 and 2.

Genç et al. / J Exp Clin Med

Table 1. Materna	l characteristics a	and obstetric	outcomes	by maternal	l age groups
------------------	---------------------	---------------	----------	-------------	--------------

Table 1. Watern	ar enaracteristics and o	USICITIC	outcomes by	materna	i age groups	0				1
				Group 1		Group 2		Group 3		
	\mathbf{M}_{res} (SD)	All age group		Age ≤16 years		Age 17-19 years		Age 25-35 years		р
~	Mean (SD)	1.89±0.70		1.24±0.57		1.44±0.75		2.84±1.5		
Gravida	Median (IQR)	I	(1-2)		l (1-1)	1	1 (1-2)		5 (2-4)	0.0001‡
	Mean (SD)	$0.70{\pm}0.99$		0.2 ± 0.54		0.33±0.55		1.46 ± 1.17		
Parity	Median (IQR)	0	(0-1)	() (0-0)	C	0 (0-1)	1	(1-2)	0.0001‡
	Nulliparity	1.047	55.34%	233	83.21%	680	71.13%	134	20.43%	
Parity Group	Multiparity	845	44.66%	47	16.79%	276	28.87%	522	79.57%	0.0001+
	Mean (SD)	0.1	9 ± 0.58	0.0	04 ± 0.22	0.	1±0.43	0.	37±0.8	
Abortus	Median (IQR)	0 (0-0)		0 (0-0)		0 (0-0)		0 (0-0)		0.0001ŧ
Gender	Female	906	47.89%	146	52.14%	428	44.91%	332	50.61%	
	Male	986	52.11%	134	47.86%	525	55.09%	324	49.39%	0.025+
Gestational	Mean (SD)									
age		38.1	1±2.19	37.74±2.36		38.	03±2.19	38.	38±2.08	0.0001*
Fetal Weight	Mean (SD)	3125.4	42±538.12	3061.	14±547.15	3089.	14±534.66	3205.	74±530.61	0.0001*
Assisted Repro	ductive Technology	1	0.05%	0	0.00%	0	0.00%	1	0.15%	0.390+
Delivery	Vaginal	1.297	68.55%	245	87.50%	696	72.80%	356	54.27%	
	Cesarean	595	31.45%	35	12.50%	260	27.20%	300	45.73%	0.0001+
Indications	Previous Cesarean	254	42.69%	3	8.57%	77	29.50%	174	58.19%	
for Cesarean	Fetal Distress	135	22.69%	12	34.29%	75	28.74%	48	16.05%	
Sections	Progress failure	66	11.09%	6	17.14%	37	14.18%	23	7.69%	
	Cephalopelvic	22	5 200/	2	0.570/	17	(510/	10	4.010/	
	disproportion	32	5.38%	3	8.5/%	1 /	6.51%	12	4.01%	0.0001+
	Macrosomia	28	4.71%	2	5.71%	16	6.13%	10	3.34%	
	Malpresantation	63	10.59%	8	22.86%	34	13.03%	21	7.02%	
	Placenta previa	5	0.84%	0	0.00%	2	0.77%	3	1.00%	
	Multiple gestation	12	2.02%	1	2.86%	3	1.15%	8	2.68%	
Consanguineou	s marriage	416	21.99%	54	19.29%	238	24.90%	124	18.90%	0.008+
	Turkish	1.024	54.12%	73	26.07%	428	44.77%	523	79.73%	
Nationality	Foreign	868	45.88%	207	73.93%	528	55.23%	133	20.27%	0.0001+
Multiple gestati	ion	14	0.74%	1	0.36%	5	0.52%	8	1.22%	0.199+
Hemoglobin	Mean (SD)	11.1	15±2.66	11.	09±1.53	11.	13±3.43	11.	19±1.49	0.837*
Hematocrit Mean (SD)		33 61+4 07		33.58±4.05		33.55±4.20		33.72±3.90		0.717*
Blood transfusi	on	111	5.87%	22	7.86%	63	6.59%	26	3.96%	0.027+
Fetal Anomaly		8	0.42%	3	1.07%	4	0.42%	1	0.15%	0.140+
Maternal	Astma	37	1.96%	3	1.07%	13	1.36%	21	3.20%	0.016+
Disorders	Tvroide	43	2 27%	1	0.36%	7	0.73%	35	5 34%	0.0001+
	Enilensy	6	0.32%	0	0.00%	5	0.52%	1	0.15%	0.255+
	Cardiac	0	0.0270	0	0.0070	5	0.0270	1	0.1070	0.2351
	disorders	8	0.42%	1	0.36%	1	0.10%	6	0.91%	0.047+
	Cholestasis	2	0.11%	0	0.00%	1	0.10%	1	0.15%	0.806+
	Trombosis	3	0.16%	0	0.00%	0	0.00%	3	0.46%	0.059+

*One-way Analysis of Variance, ‡Kruskal Wallis Test, + Chi-Square test

A statistically significant difference was observed between the distribution of consanguineous marriages and nationalities among three groups (p = 0.008, p = 0.0001 respectively). Number of consanguineous marriages and foreign nationals were significantly higher in the adolescent group. Any significant intergroup difference was not detected as for hemoglobin, and hematocrit values, while rates of blood transfusions were statistically significantly higher in the adolescent group (p = 0.027). Incidence of maternal asthma, thyroid disease and heart disease were significantly higher in the age groups of 25-35 years (p: 0.016, 0.0001, 0.047 respectively) In Table 2, maternal and fetal obstetric adverse outcomes are evaluated. There was no significant difference as for rates of abruptio placentae, PROM, PPROM, SGA, fetal death, oligohydramnios, polyhydramnios LBW, postmaturity, maternal intensive care, and neonatal intensive care admissions, perineal laceration, chorioamnionitis among 3 groups.

Rates of preeclampsia, GDM, and macrosomia were found to be higher in the age group of 25-35 years than in the adolescent pregnant group (p = 0.002, p = 0.001, p = 0.032, respectively) A statistically significant difference was observed among all three age groups regarding premature births (p = 0.0001). Premature birth was significantly higher in age groups of ≤ 16 and 17-19 years. Logistic regression models were developed to investigate the associations between age groups maternal and neonatal outcomes, adjusted for parity. These findings were shown in Tables 3, and 4
Table 2.	Comparision	of adverse	obstetric outcon	nes between	age groups
----------	-------------	------------	------------------	-------------	------------

	All ag	e groups	Age	Group 1 ≤16 years	G Age 1	roup 2 7-19 years	Age 2	Froup 3 25-35 years	p+
Preeclampsia	55	2.91%	1	0.36%	25	2.62%	29	4.42%	0.002
Abruptio Placantae	15	0.79%	1	0.36%	8	0.84%	6	0.91%	0.663
Gestational Diabetes Mellitus	28	1.48%	0	0.00%	9	0.94%	19	2.90%	0.001
PROM	50	2.64%	5	1.79%	27	2.82%	18	2.74%	0.623
PPROM	21	1.11%	2	0.71%	9	0.94%	10	1.52%	0.443
SGA	78	4.12%	7	2.50%	45	4.71%	26	3.96%	0.255
Fetal death	17	0.90%	2	0.71%	11	1.15%	4	0.61%	0.496
Oligohydramnios	76	4.02%	11	3.93%	39	4.08%	26	3.96%	0.990
Polyhydramnios	13	0.69%	1	0.36%	6	0.63%	6	0.91%	0.608
Low birth weight	179	9.46%	26	9.29%	104	10.88%	49	7.47%	0.071
Macrosomia	59	3.12%	3	1.07%	28	2.93%	28	4.27%	0.032
Preterm birth	372	19.66%	76	27.14%	201	21.03%	95	14.48%	0.0001
Postterm birth	15	0.79%	1	0.36%	8	0.84%	6	0.91%	0.663
Maternal intensive care	6	0.32%	1	0.36%	3	0.31%	2	0.30%	0.991
Neonatal intensive care	22	1.16%	5	1.79%	12	1.26%	5	0.76%	0.381
Perineal Laceration	3	0.16%	0	0.00%	3	0.31%	0	0.00%	0.230
Chorioamnionitis	3	0.16%	0	0.00%	2	0.21%	1	0.15%	0.740

+ Chi-Square test PROM: Premature rupture of membrane, PPROM: Preterm premature rupture of membrane, SGA: Small for gestational age

Table 3. Risk of adverse obstetric outcomes maternal aged ≤16 years versus aged 25-35 years

Age groups (years)	Age	25-35 years	Age ≤	16 years	OR (%95 CI)	AOR (%95CI) ^a
Preeclampsia	29	4.42%	1	0.36%	7.91 (2.74-10.20) p=0.012	9.23 (6.36-11.82) p=0.001
Abruptio Placantae	6	0.91%	1	0.36%	0.38 (0.47-3.24) p=0.382	2.34 (0.15-7.66) p=0.547
Gestational Diabetes Mellitus	19	2.90%	0	0.00%	0.05 (0.0-0.96) p=0.989	0.01 (0.0-0.18) p=0.987
PROM	18	2.74%	5	1.79%	1.55 (0.57-4.22) p=0.390	1.69 (0.53-5.35) p=0.376
PPROM	10	1.52%	2	0.71%	2.15 (0.47-4.13) p=0.325	1.56 (0.26-9.42) p=0.624
SGA	26	3.96%	7	2.50%	1.61 (0.69-3.75) p=0.271	2.78 (0.92-8.34) p=0.069
Fetal death	4	0.61%	2	0.71%	0.85 (0.15-4.68) p=0.855	2.35 (0.15-7.68) p=0.547
Oligohydramnios	26	3.96%	11	3.93%	1.00 (0.49-2.07) p=0.980	1.17 (0.91-5.17) p=0.108
Polyhydramnios	6	0.91%	1	0.36%	1.00 (0.49-2.07) p=0.980	1.34 (0.15-7.64) p=0.547
LBW	49	7.47%	26	9.29%	0.79 (0.48-1.29) p=0.350	4.75 (2.26-9.21) p=0.001
Macrosomia	28	4.27%	3	1.07%	4.12 (1.24-9.65) p=0.021	1.17 (0.29-4.73) p=0.822
Preterm birth	95	14.48%	76	27.1%	0.46 (0.32-0.64) p=0.001	7.54 (5.12-9.43) p=0.001
Postterm birth	6	0.91%	1	0.36%	1.57 (0.31-6.49) p=0.382	1.34 (0.15-5.57) p=0.547
Maternal intensive care	2	0.30%	1	0.36%	0.85 (0.08-6.44) p=0.897	0.52 (0.04-0.75) p=0.764
Neonatal intensive care	5	0.76%	5	1.79%	0.42 (0.12-1.47) p=0.176	0.12 (0.02-0.57) p=0.243

PROM: Premature rupture of membrane, PPROM: Preterm premature rupture of membrane, SGA: Small for gestational age a Adjusted by parity

When adjusted for parity, adolescents aged ≤ 16 years had a significantly lower risk than adults as for preeclampsia (AOR: 9.23 (6.36-11.82) p=0.001).

When adjusted for parity, adolescents aged ≤ 16 years had a significantly higher risk than adults as for LBW (AOR: 4.75 (2.26-9.21) p=0.001), and prematurity (AOR: 7.54 (5.12-9.43) p=0.001).

The risk of having SGA newborns in the age group of ≤ 16 years was statistically insignificant in the age group of 25-35 years (OR: 1.61 (0.69-3.75) p = 0.271), but when adjusted for parity, although statistical insignificance persisted, the risk increased (AOR: 2.78 (0.92-8.34) p = 0.069).

The risk of macrosomia in the age group of ≤ 16 years was found to be statistically significantly lower when compared to the age group of 25-35 years (OR: 4.12 (1.24-9.65) p = 0.021),

but when adjusted for parity the risk of developing macrosomia was found to be statistically insignificant. (AOR: 1.17 (0.29-4.73) p = 0.822).

When adjusted for parity, adolescents aged 17-19 years had a significantly higher risk than adults regarding SGA (AOR: 4.48 (1.89-10.67) p=0.001), oligohidramnios (AOR:2.29 (1.16-4.54) p=0.017), prematurity (AOR:4.97 (3.1-7.97) p= 0.0001) and LBW (AOR: 2.14 (2.71-9.74) p=0.0001).

Risks of preeclampsia and GDM were found to be statistically significantly lower in the age group of 17-19 than the age group of 25-35 years (OR: 1.72 (0.99-2.96) p = 0.049, OR: 3.14 (1.41-6) 98) p = 0.005, respectively), When adjusted for parity intergroup differences as for preeclampsia and GDM were found to be statistically insignificant (AOR: 1.17 (0.53-2.57) p = 0.697, AOR: 1.20 (0.35- 4.12) p = 0.770 respectively).

Genç et al. / J Exp Clin Med

Table 4. Risk of adverse	e obstetric outcome	s maternal aged 17-19	vears versus aged 25-35	vears
		e maternar agea 1, 12	jears tersus agea ze ee	_ -

		8		8	- 2	
Age groups (years	Age	25-35 years	Age 17-1	9 years	OR (%95 CI)	AOR (%95CI) ^a
Preeclampsia	29	4.42%	25	2.62%	1.72 (0.99-2.96) p=0.049	1.17 (0.53-2.57) p=0.697
Abruptio Placantae	6	0.91%	8	0.84%	1.09 (0.38-3.17) p=0.869	2.14 (0.50-9.44) p=0.189
Gestational Diabetes Mellitus	19	2.90%	9	0.94%	3.14 (1.41-6.98) p=0.005	1.20 (0.35-4.12) p=0.770
PROM	18	2.74%	27	2.82%	0.97 (0.53-1.78) p=0.923	1.28 (0.97-3.35) p=0.057
PPROM	10	1.52%	9	0.94%	1.62 (0.65-4.03) p=0.291	1.84 (0.49-6.95) p=0.370
SGA	26	3.96%	45	4.71%	0.84 (0.51-1.37) p=0.475	4.48 (1.89-10.67) p=0.001
Fetal death	4	0.61%	11	1.15%	0.53 (0.17-1.66) p=0.274	5.53 (0.69-14.29) p=0.107
Oligohydramnios	26	3.96%	39	4.08%	0.97 (0.58-1.61) p=0.907	2.29 (1.16-4.54) p=0.017
Polyhydramnios	6	0.91%	6	0.63%	0.68 (0.22-2.13) p=0.513	1.75 (0.31-4.68) p=0.366
LBW	49	7.47%	104	10.88%	0.66 (0.46-0.94) p=0.023	2.14 (2.71-9.74) p=0.0001
Macrosomia	28	4.27%	28	2.93%	1.48 (0.87-2.52) p=0.151	2.31 (0.93-5.79) p=0.073
Preterm birth	95	14.48%	201	21.03%	0.64 (0.49-0.83) p=0.001	4.97 (3.1-7.97) p=0.0001
Postterm birth	6	0.91%	8	0.84%	1.09 (0.38-3.17) p=0.869	1.44 (0.40-3.54) p=0.259
Maternal intensive care	2	0.30%	3	0.31%	0.97 (0.16-5.83) p=0.975	0.03 (0.00-0.21) p=0.998
Neonatal intensive care	5	0.76%	12	1.26%	0.60(0.21-1.72) p=0.346	0.01 (0.00-0.16) p=0.998

PROM: Premature rupture of membrane, PPROM: Preterm premature rupture of membrane, SGA: Small for gestational agea Adjusted by parity

4. Discussion

This large-scale retrospective study where we compared adolescent pregnancies with adult pregnancies has shown us that maternal, fetal, and obstetric complications are more common in adolescents. In our study, although gestational diabetes, preeclampsia, macrosomia and cesarean delivery were observed at a lower rate in teenage pregnancies; adverse obstetric outcomes such as preterm birth, low birth weight, small for gestational age, oligohydramnios have been observed more frequently. Adolescent pregnancy is an important problem in developed and developing countries. Complications during pregnancy and delivery are the leading causes of death in girls aged 15-19 years worldwide (10). They need nutritional support due to low socioeconomic level and nutritional deficiency (11). In our country, adolescent births have recently increased due to migration. In our study significantly higher rates of adolescent births were detected among foreign nationals (73,93% of the ≤ 16 age group, and 55.23% of the 17-19 age group) In a study comparing pregnant Turkish adolescents and pregnant immigrant adolescents, the researchers reported that adolescent pregnancies were very common among immigrants with an increase in low birth weight rates (12).

Since both the development of the fetus and adolescent pregnants occur simultaneously, iron stores of adolescents are depleted rapidly with higher risk of anemia (13,14,15). World Health Organization (WHO) has defined anemia in pregnancy as the hemoglobin (Hb) concentration of less than 11 g/dl (16). Higher incidence rates of anemia in adolescent pregnants were reported (17,18).(2,83, and 1,8 times higher when compared with adult pregnants, respectively). In a study performed in 12 clinical centers and 19 hospitals in the United States the researchers reported increased risk of maternal anemia in both younger and older adolescents, and higher rates of blood

transfusion in the older adolescent group (19). In our study, any significant difference was not found in hemoglobin and hematocrit values between the younger and older adolescent pregnants when compared to adult pregnant women, and the mean values remained within the WHO recommended values. However, the need for blood transfusion was observed to be increased in all adolescents. The rates of transfusion at \leq 16, and 17-19 years of age were 7.86%, and 6.59%, respectively with a statistically significantly higher rates in adolescent groups when compared with the adult group. (P: 0.027)

Many studies have examined the delivery methods in adolescent pregnancies. Some publications have reported similar cesarean and vaginal birth rates in adolescent and adult age groups (20). However, in most of the studies, cesarean delivery rates in adolescents were found to be lower than adults. In a study by Ganchimeg et al. 27.9% of the pregnant women under 15 years of age and 21,5% of those between the ages of 18-19 gave birth by cesarean section (21). Prophylactic uterotonics, and prophylactic antibiotics for caesarean section and antenatal corticosteroids for preterm delivery at 26-34 weeks of age were less frequently used in adolescent women. In our study, we found that statistically significantly lower rates of cesarean section were performed in pregnant women in all adolescent age groups. Normal birth rates for pregnants aged \leq 16, and 17-19 were 87.50%, and 72.80%, respectively. It has been suggested that better myometrial function and elasticity in adolescents may contribute to a higher rate of vaginal deliveries. However, the rates of operative vaginal delivery, postpartum hemorrhage and episiotomy increased in adolescents (22). In the study of Torvie AJ et al. although cesarean and operative vaginal delivery rates were lower in young adolescents aged 11-14 years compared to young adults, higher risks of preterm delivery, delivery of low and very low birth weight newborns, and death were observed in this age group (2).

Some studies have demonstrated that the rate of intervention in adolescents has increased due to the underdevelopment of the pelvic floor and the cooperation problem, and genital lacerations due to difficult labor increase the risk of bleeding (23). In our study, perineal laceration was observed in only 3 patients in the 17-19 age group. One study found that the second stage of labor in adolescents was shorter. However, the risk of postpartum hemorrhage and perineal laceration is higher in younger adolescents. Cesarean section due to progress failure and cephalopelvic disproportion was observed more frequently in younger adults than in older adolescents (19). In some studies, in adolescents higher rates of cesarean deliveries due to cephalopelvic disproportion and emergency conditions have been reported (24,25). In our study, cesarean deliveries due to fetal distress, progress failure, cephalopelvic disproportion and malpresentation were observed more frequently in the age group of ≤ 16 years compared to other age groups. There are publications showing that placenta previa is less frequently observed in adolescents (25,26). In our study, any incident of placenta previa was not observed in the age group of ≤ 16 , while it was encountered in 2 patients in the 17-19 age group and 3 patients in the adult group, and all of these patients gave birth by cesarean section. Some studies have demonstrated that the rates of pregnancyinduced hypertension and eclampsia increase in adolescent pregnant women (18,21,26). In some studies, an increase in preeclampsia was observed in the younger adolescent group under the age of 16 years (19). In the study by Fleming N et al. gestational hypertension and placental abruption were observed less frequently in the adolescent group (25). In a study conducted with Indian adolescents, the risk of eclampsia was observed in adolescents. Although the risk of eclampsia increased in the adolescent group, the risk of mild pregnancyinduced hypertension, and preeclampsia was found to be higher over the age of 20 (14). In our study, when placental abruption was examined, no significant difference was found between the adolescent and adult groups. However, the risk of preeclampsia was observed to be significantly higher in adult pregnant women compared to the adolescent group. (p: 0.002) When compared with the adult pregnant group, the risk of preeclampsia was found to be statistically significantly lower in the \leq 16 and 17-19 age groups. (p = 0.012, 0.049 respectively) Also, when adjusted for parity, with increased parity, the risk of preeclampsia was found to be statistically significantly lower in the ≤ 16 age group when compared with the 25-35 age group. (AOR: 9.23 (6.36-11.82) p = 0.001). There are publications stating that there is no difference in birth rates of small for gestational age (SGA) newborns, between adult and adolescent groups (25). In some studies, an increase in the rates of SGA was observed in adolescents (14,22,24). In our study, while no significant difference was found in the rates of SGA among all age groups, when adjusted for parity the risk of presence of SGA in the 17-19 age group was found to be

statistically significantly higher than the 25-35 age group (AOR: 4.48 (1.89-10.67) p = 0.001). In most of the studies we examined, premature birth is more common in adolescent pregnancies compared to adult pregnancies (20,21,27). In primipara adolescents, preterm birth was found to be higher than in primipara adults (15). In our study, gestational age was significantly lower in the age group of ≤ 16 years. The prevalence of prematurity was significantly higher in the adolescent age group compared to the adult group. (0,0001). The risk of premature deliveries was found to be statistically significantly higher in the age group of ≤ 16 and 17-19 years than in the 25-35 age group. (AOR: 7,54 (5,12-9,43) p = 0.001, AOR: 4.97 (3,1-7.97) p = 0,0001 respectively). Post-mature births and macrosomic fetuses are less frequently observed in young gravidas (14,24). In our study, no significant difference was found between the groups as for postmature births. However, in accordance with the literature, greater number of macrosomic fetuses were observed in the adult group. (P =0.032)

Low socioeconomic status and insufficient antenatal care may cause an increase in delivery of low birth weight (LBW) babies. In the study of Torvie AJ et al, LBW rate ratio increased significantly especially in the young adolescent group compared to the adult group (2). In our study, fetal weight was significantly lower in adolescent age groups compared to adult pregnancies. (P = 0,0001) Chen XK et al. found a relative risk of 1,4% in terms of low birth weight in their study with adolescent pregnancies aged 10-19 years (27). In addition to the studies showing that rates of LBW were higher among primipara adolescents (15), some other studies could not find any relationship between LBW and adolescents (25,28). In our study, the risk of LBW presence was found to be statistically significantly higher in the ≤ 16 , and 17-19 age groups than in the adult age group. (AOR: 4,75 (2,26-9,21) p = 0,001; AOR: 2,14 (2,71-9,74) p =0,0001 respectively) Although there are publications (25) showing that the risk for PPROM is increased in adolescents, no risk increase was found in our study.

Considering the relationship between gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) and adolescent pregnancy, GDM is less common in all age groups of adolescents compared to adults (20,22,25,26). The results in our study were also compatible with the literature. When all groups were compared, GDM was significantly higher in the adult group (p = 0.001) and the risk of GDM in the adult group was 3.14 times higher than in the 17-19 age group. However, as the parity increased, this significance decreased between both groups. (AOR: 1,20 (0,35-4,12) p = 0,770).Intrapartum fetal death may be seen in adolescents as a result of fetal asphyxia and shoulder dystocia depending on the immaturity of the bony pelvic structure. In some studies any difference cannot be found between adolescents and adults regarding intrapartum fetal mortality (24,25). In our study, no significant difference was found between adolescent and adult pregnant women in terms of fetal mortality. However, in some studies, the risk of stillbirth was found to be 4 times higher in pregnants younger than 15 years of age. Also, early neonatal death may increase (22,29). In another study, the risk of infant death was increased in adolescents aged 11-14 years compared to adults (2). In our study, the need for maternal and neonatal intensive care did not increase in adolescents. In most of the studies, the need for treatment in the neonatal intensive care units increased in adolescents (18,21,25,30) and was found to be less common in older adolescents than younger ones (19). There are publications showing that puerperal endometritis increases in adolescents (21,22) The risk of chorioamnionitis was found to be higher in young adolescents compared to older adolescents (19). In a study comparing adolescent primigravidas and adult primigravida, puerperal infection and chorioamnionitis were observed to be increased in adolescents (26). In our study group, no difference was found among the groups in chorioamnionitis. Maternal mortality risk increases in pregnancies under 15 years of age (22). Hypertensive diseases and maternal heart diseases are the most important causes of death (26). Maternal death was not observed in any of our adolescent and adult cases.

Obstetric and perinatal outcomes were found to be similar in adolescents who gave birth to twins when compared with the adult age group. However, it has been reported in some publications that the risk of extreme preterm birth increases in adolescents (31). In our study twin birth rates were similar in both groups. There was no difference between adolescent and adult groups in the incidence of multiple pregnancies. When the risk of adolescent pregnancy and congenital anomaly is examined, there are publications stating that there is an increase in central nervous, gastrointestinal and musculoskeletal system anomalies in adolescent pregnants. Increases in the risk of circulatory / respiratory anomalies, urogenital anomalies, or Down's syndrome were not detected (32). In our study, higher rates of fetal anomaly were not detected in adolescents. In the study of dos Reis LV et al, congenital anomalies in adolescent births were also examined and they stated that they most frequently encountered neural tube defects. They concluded that this condition might be related to the inadequacy of folic acid supplementation in unplanned adolescent pregnancies (33).

We acknowledge that this study has some limitations. Data related to socioeconomic status, education status of the mother, maternal weight, nutritional status were not analyzed in this study.

Adolescent pregnant women should be considered as a high risk patient group and it is necessary to provide emotional and educational clinical support to pregnant women. Since pregnant women in this age group are closely associated with preterm birth, delivery of small for gestational age and low birth weight infants, it is important to improve pregnancy prevention strategies and health services to reduce adverse pregnancy outcomes. In addition, multidisciplinary prenatal management is required. Our study was conducted with a large pregnant group, but multicenter prospective studies are needed to better evaluate perinatal outcomes.

Conflict of interest

All authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Acknowledgments

Additional informed consent was obtained from all individual participants for whom identifying information is included in this article.All authors declare that there are no sources of funding.

References

- WHO Guidelines on Preventing Early Pregnancy and Poor Reproductive Health Outcomes Among Adolescents in Developing Countries. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011. PMID: 26180870.
- Torvie AJ, Callegari LS, Schiff MA, Debiec KE. Labor and delivery outcomes among young adolescents. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2015 Jul;213(1):95.e1-95.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2015.04.024. Epub 2015 Apr 30. PMID: 25935776.
- Chen CW, Tsai CY, Sung FC, Lee YY, Lu TH, Li CY, et al. Adverse birth outcomes among pregnancies of teen mothers: agespecific analysis of national data in Taiwan. Child Care Health Dev. 2010 Mar;36(2):232-40. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2214.2009.01039.x. Epub 2009 Dec 29. PMID: 20047601.
- 4. Wado YD, Sully EA, Mumah JN. Pregnancy and early motherhood among adolescents in five East African countries: a multi-level analysis of risk and protective factors. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2019 Feb 6;19(1):59. doi: 10.1186/s12884-019-2204-z. PMID: 30727995; PMCID: PMC6366026.
- 5. Darroch J, Woog V, Bankole A, Ashford LS. Adding it up: Costs and benefits of meeting the contraceptive needs of adolescents. New York: Guttmacher Institute; 2016.
- Wong SPW, Twynstra J, Gilliland JA, Cook JL, Seabrook JA. Risk Factors and Birth Outcomes Associated with Teenage Pregnancy: A Canadian Sample. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol. 2020 Apr;33(2):153-159. doi: 10.1016/j.jpag.2019.10.006. Epub 2019 Oct 18. PMID: 31634579.
- Tung I, Beardslee J, Pardini D, Chung T, Keenan K, Hipwell AE. Adolescent childbirth, miscarriage, and abortion: associations with changes in alcohol, marijuana, and cigarette use. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2020 Jan;61(1):104-111. doi: 10.1111/jcpp.13112. Epub 2019 Aug 19. PMID: 31424096; PMCID: PMC6906255.
- Committee on Practice Bulletins—Obstetrics. ACOG Practice Bulletin No. 190: Gestational Diabetes Mellitus. *Obstet Gynecol.* 2018;131(2):e49-e64. doi:10.1097/AOG.00000000002501
- **9.** Brown MA, Lindheimer MD, de Swiet M, Van Assche A, Moutquin JM. The classification and diagnosis of the hypertensive disorders of pregnancy: Statement from the International Society for the Study of Hypertension in Pregnancy (ISSHP). Hypertens Pregnancy 2001;20:IX-XIV.
- 10. Neal S, Matthews Z, Frost M, Fogstad H, Camacho AV, Laski L. Childbearing in adolescents aged 12-15 years in low resource countries: a neglected issue. New estimates from demographic and household surveys in 42 countries. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2012 Sep;91(9):1114-8. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0412.2012.01467.x. Epub 2012 Jul 12. PMID: 22620274.
- Moran VH. A systematic review of dietary assessments of pregnant adolescents in industrialised countries. Br J Nutr. 2007

Mar;97(3):411-25. doi: 10.1017/S0007114507381373. PMID: 17313700.

- 12. Turkay Ü, Aydın Ü, Çalışkan E, Salıcı M, Terzi H, Astepe B. Comparison of the pregnancy results between adolescent Syrian refugees and local adolescent Turkish citizens who gave birth in our clinic. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2020 Apr;33(8):1353-1358. doi: 10.1080/14767058.2018.1519016. Epub 2018 Sep 25. PMID: 30173583.
- Briggs MM, Hopman WM, Jamieson MA. Comparing pregnancy in adolescents and adults: obstetric outcomes and prevalence of anemia. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2007 Jul;29(7):546-555. doi: 10.1016/S1701-2163(16)32506-3. PMID: 17623567.
- 14. Trivedi SS, Pasrija S. Teenage pregnancies and their obstetric outcomes. Trop Doct. 2007 Apr;37(2):85-8. doi: 10.1177/004947550703700208. PMID: 17540086.
- 15. Naz U. Comparison of obstetric outcome in terms of the risk of low birth weight, preterm delivery, cesarean section rate and anemia in primigravid adolescents and older primigravida. J Coll Physicians Surg Pak. 2014 Feb;24(2):131-4. PMID:24491010
- 16. World Health Organization. Iron deficiency anaemia assessment prevention and control: a guide for programme managers. Geneva:World Health Organization;2001;132(WHO/ NHD/01.3)
- Mahavarkar SH, Madhu CK, Mule VD. A comparative study of teenage pregnancy. J Obstet Gynaecol. 2008 Aug;28(6):604-7. doi: 10.1080/01443610802281831. PMID: 19003655.
- Leppälahti S, Gissler M, Mentula M, Heikinheimo O. Is teenage pregnancy an obstetric risk in a welfare society? A populationbased study in Finland, from 2006 to 2011. BMJ Open. 2013 Aug 19;3(8):e003225. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2013-003225. PMID: 23959755; PMCID: PMC3753503.
- Kawakita T, Wilson K, Grantz KL, Landy HJ, Huang CC, Gomez-Lobo V. Adverse Maternal and Neonatal Outcomes in Adolescent Pregnancy. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol. 2016 Apr;29(2):130-6. doi: 10.1016/j.jpag.2015.08.006. Epub 2015 Aug 29. PMID: 26327561; PMCID: PMC4886236.
- 20. Alouini S, Randriambololona D, Randriamboavonjy R. Facteurs de risques de la grossesse, de l'accouchement et du post-partum des adolescentes dans le département du Loiret [Risk factors of teenage pregnancies, deliveries and post-partum in the department of Loiret]. J Gynecol Obstet Biol Reprod (Paris). 2015 May;44(5):443-50. French. doi: 10.1016/j.jgyn.2014.07.004. Epub 2014 Sep 10. PMID: 25212668.
- 21. Ganchimeg T, Ota E, Morisaki N, Laopaiboon M, Lumbiganon P, Zhang J, et al. WHO Multicountry Survey on Maternal Newborn Health Research Network. Pregnancy and childbirth outcomes among adolescent mothers: a World Health Organization multicountry study. BJOG. 2014 Mar;121 Suppl 1:40-8. doi: 10.1111/1471-0528.12630. PMID: 24641534.
- 22. Conde-Agudelo A, Belizán JM, Lammers C. Maternal-perinatal morbidity and mortality associated with adolescent pregnancy in Latin America: Cross-sectional study. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2005 Feb;192(2):342-9. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2004.10.593. PMID: 15695970.

- 23. Penfield CA, Lahiff M, Pies C, Caughey AB. Adolescent Pregnancies in the United States: How Obstetric and Sociodemographic Factors Influence Risk of Cesarean Delivery. Am J Perinatol. 2017 Jan;34(2):123-129. doi: 10.1055/s-0036-1584580. Epub 2016 Jun 20. PMID: 27322668.
- 24. Chandra PC, Schiavello HJ, Ravi B, Weinstein AG, Hook FB. Pregnancy outcomes in urban teenagers. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2002 Nov;79(2):117-22. doi: 10.1016/s0020-7292(02)00240-0. PMID: 12427395.
- **25.** Fleming N, Ng N, Osborne C, Biederman S, Yasseen AS 3rd, Dy J,et al. Adolescent pregnancy outcomes in the province of Ontario: a cohort study. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2013 Mar;35(3):234-245. doi: 10.1016/S1701-2163(15)30995-6. PMID: 23470111.
- 26. La-Orpipat T, Suwanrath C. Pregnancy outcomes of adolescent primigravida and risk of pregnancy-induced hypertension: a hospital-based study in Southern Thailand. J Obstet Gynaecol. 2019 Oct;39(7):934-940. doi: 10.1080/01443615.2019.1581736. Epub 2019 Jun 9. PMID: 31180254.
- 27. Chen XK, Wen SW, Fleming N, Demissie K, Rhoads GG, Walker M. Teenage pregnancy and adverse birth outcomes: a large population based retrospective cohort study. Int J Epidemiol. 2007 Apr;36(2):368-73. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyl284. Epub 2007 Jan 8. PMID: 17213208.
- 28. Ishitsuka K, Yamamoto-Hanada K, Ayabe T, Mezawa H, Konishi M, Saito-Abe M, et al.; Japan Environment and Children's Study Group. Risky Health Behaviors of Teenage Mothers and Infant Outcomes in the Japan Environment and Children's Study: A Nationwide Cohort Study. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol. 2019 Apr;32(2):146-152. doi: 10.1016/j.jpag.2018.10.009. Epub 2018 Nov 3. PMID: 30395983.
- **29.** Wilson RE, Alio AP, Kirby RS, Salihu HM. Young maternal age and risk of intrapartum stillbirth. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2008 Sep;278(3):231-6. doi: 10.1007/s00404-007-0557-4. Epub 2008 Jan 24. PMID: 18214510.
- Althabe F, Moore JL, Gibbons L, Berrueta M, Goudar SS, Chomba E, et al. Adverse maternal and perinatal outcomes in adolescent pregnancies: The Global Network's Maternal Newborn Health Registry study. Reprod Health. 2015;12 Suppl 2(Suppl 2):S8. doi: 10.1186/1742-4755-12-S2-S8. Epub 2015 Jun 8. PMID: 26063350; PMCID: PMC4464033.
- **31.** Robson D, Daniels S, Flatley C, Kumar S. Obstetric and perinatal outcomes for twin pregnancies in adolescent girls. Sci Rep. 2018 Dec 24;8(1):18072. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-37364-2. PMID: 30584240; PMCID: PMC6305379.
- 32. Chen XK, Wen SW, Fleming N, Yang Q, Walker MC. Teenage pregnancy and congenital anomalies: which system is vulnerable? Hum Reprod. 2007 Jun;22(6):1730-5. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dem043. Epub 2007 Mar 19. PMID: 17371802.
- 33. dos Reis LV, Araujo Júnior E, Guazzelli CA, Cernach MC, Torloni MR, Moron AF. Anomalias Congénitas Identificadas ao Nascimento em Recém-Nascidos de Mulheres Adolescentes [Congenital Anomalies Detected at Birth in Newborns of Adolescent Women]. Acta Med Port. 2015 Nov-Dec;28(6):708-14. Portuguese. Epub 2015 Dec 31. PMID: 26849754.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm

Research Article



J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 245-249 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.47

The effect of paranasal anatomic variations on chronic rhinosinusitis

Yücel TANYERİ¹, Mehmet ÇELEBİ ², Dursun Mehmet MEHEL*,²

¹ Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Faculty of Medicine, Ondokuz Mayis University, Samsun, Turkey ² Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Samsun Health Practices and Research Center, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Samsun, Turkey

Received: 17.08.2021 • Accepted/Published Online: 31.08i.2021 • Final Version: 01.01.2022	Department of Otorinnolar yingolog	y, banise	in reditir ractices and research center, onive	isity of fied	thi belences Turkey, Samsun, Turkey
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Received: 17.08.2021	•	Accepted/Published Online: 31.08i.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022

Abstract

Rhinosinusitis is the inflammation of the paranasal sinus mucosa and the most common pathophysiological event causing rhinosinusitis is the ostiomeatal complex disease. The aim of the study is to determine the prevalence of anatomical variations and mucosal pathologies in paranasal computed tomography images of patients with chronic rhinosinusitis and to reveal the relationship between anatomical variations and sinus pathologies. Anatomical variations and mucosal pathologies in coronal paranasal tomography images were evaluated in 100 patients diagnosed with chronic rhinosinusitis and 32 individuals in the control group without any sinus complaints. The rate of having at least one anatomical variation in the control group was 64.1%, while this rate was 87.5% in patients with chronic rhinosinusitis (p<0.001). The most common variation, Agger nasi cell, was found to be present in 34.3% of the individuals in the control group and in 53.5% in the rhinosinusitis group (p<0.05). In patients with rhinosinusitis, maxillary sinus was affected in 66.5%, anterior ethmoid sinus in 42.5%, frontal sinus in 32.5%, posterior ethmoid sinus in 20%, sphenoid sinus in 18.5% either in isolation or in combination. The relationship between anatomical variations and mucosal pathologies of the sinuses was evaluated. A significant correlation was found between Agger nasi cell and septum deviation with frontal sinusitis, and Haller cell with maxillary sinusitis, between Agger nasi cell and septum deviation with frontal sinusitis, and between Agger nasi cell, concha bullosa, septum deviation, ethmoid bulla and Haller cell with maxillary sinusitis, between Agger nasi cell and septum deviation, it was concluded that anatomical variations are an important factor in the development of chronic sinusitis and that not only sinuses but also anatomical variations that impair drainage should be corrected during the surgical treatment of rhinosinusitis.

Keywords: paranasal sinus, tomography, variation, surgical treatment

1. Introduction

Rhinosinusitis is the inflammation of the paranasal sinus mucosa and is one of the common diseases in the population. Various causes from upper respiratory tract infections to systemic infections can be listed in its etiology, however, the most common pathophysiological event causing rhinosinusitis is the ostiomeatal complex disease. Small pathological changes in the mucosa of the ostiomeatal complex impair the drainage and ventilation of the sinuses by preventing mucociliary excretion of secretions in the paranasal sinuses (1, 2).

Direct radiography, computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging are used to visualize the anatomical variations of the paranasal sinus. Direct radiography is insufficient for detailed imaging of lesions, differential diagnosis, and treatment planning. On the other hand, it is possible to evaluate the ostiomeatal complex pathologies that cause infection in the sinuses in detail using computed tomography. Moreover, using computed tomography, it is possible to evaluate the areas in contact with each other, the degree of mucosal inflammation, anatomical variations causing obstruction, mucocele, osteomyelitis, and complications related to sinusitis. As functional endoscopic sinus surgery has become the routine practice, computed tomography is now one of the most important diagnostic methods in revealing the mucosal pathologies and anatomical variations of the paranasal sinuses (3).

In addition to the fact that the anatomical structure of the nose differs from individual to individual, prominent anatomical variations have been detected in the population, especially in people with chronic sinusitis. It is known that such anatomical variations may cause chronic rhinosinusitis by narrowing the nasal passage and ostiomeatal complex. Agger nasi cell, concha bullosa, septum deviation, hyperpneumatized ethmoid bulla, Haller cell, paradox middle concha and pneumatized uncinate process can be listed among the most frequently detected anatomical variations using computed tomography (4, 5).

The aim of the study is to determine the prevalence of anatomical variations and mucosal pathologies in patients with chronic rhinosinusitis using computed tomography imaging and to reveal the correlation between these anatomical variations and sinus pathologies.

2. Materials and Methods

In the study, mucosal pathologies and anatomical variations in paranasal computed tomography scans were evaluated in 100 patients diagnosed with chronic rhinosinusitis referred to our clinic between February-October 2001, as well as 32 individuals as the control group.

Routine otolaryngological examinations were performed for the patients who had clinical complaints such as nasal discharge, postnasal drip, headache, facial pain, and pressure sensation. Patients with nasal or postnasal purulent discharge and/or erythematous changes in the nasal mucosa, and those with air-fluid level or opacity presence in direct radiography were diagnosed with acute sinusitis and administered antibiotic treatment for three weeks. In the follow-up, paranasal computed tomography was performed for patients who have on-going symptoms and findings after the medical treatment.

Patients with maxillofacial trauma, inverted papilloma, paranasal sinus malignancy, immunodeficiency, history of paranasal sinus surgery and patients under 18 years of age were excluded from the study. The control group consisted of 32 patients who did not have sinonasal complaints but had undergone paranasal tomography due to ophthalmologic or neurological complaints or whose tomography sections passed through the paranasal sinuses with no detected pathology in the sinuses.

Paranasal sinus tomography was performed using a General Electric CT Sytec Plus device with 3mm section thickness, 130 mA and 120 kV examination protocol. The images were evaluated by expert radiologists and otolaryngologists separately for each hemicranium and the findings were recorded in the study form. Anatomical variations including Agger nasi cell, concha bullosa, septum nasi deviation, hyper-pneumatized ethmoid bulla, Haller cell, paradox middle concha, and pneumatized uncinate process, as well as sinus pathologies were examined for the rhinosinusitis and control groups. Anatomical variations were evaluated as present or absent regardless of their shape or size. All changes in the sinuses ranging from minimal mucosal thickening to opacifications filling the entire sinus were considered pathological.

In the study, the distribution of mucosal pathologies to the sinuses, the frequency of the presence of at least one anatomical variation in the rhinosinusitis and control groups, the frequency of the presence of each anatomical variation in both groups, the correlation between the anatomical variations and rhinosinusitis in the experiment group, and the effect of the presence of multiple anatomical variations in the same hemicranium on the sinuses were evaluated.

The statistical analyses were performed using the Chisquare test and Fisher's exact test.

3. Results

Of the 100 individuals in the rhinosinusitis group, 65 (65%) were male and 35 (35%) were female. The ages of the patients in this group ranged between 18-81 years, with a mean of 37.4 years. Of the 32 individuals in the control group, 18 (56.2%) were male and 14 (43.8%) were female. The ages of the patients in this group ranged between 19-73, with a mean of 38.5 years.

In the rhinosinusitis group, 172 out of 200 hemicrania (86%) had mucosal pathology in at least one sinus, while no mucosal pathology was observed in any sinus in 28 (14%) hemicrania. It was observed that the most frequently affected sinus was the maxillary sinus in 133 (66.5%) hemicrania, and the least affected sinus was the sphenoid sinus in 37 (18.5%) hemicrania (Table 1).

Sinusos(n-200)	Affected sinuses				
Sinuses (n=200)	Number	%			
Maxillary sinus	133	66.5			
Anterior ethmoid sinus	85	52.5			
Frontal sinus	65	32.5			
Posterior ethmoid sinus	40	20.0			
Sphenoid sinus	37	18.5			

Table 1. Mucosal pathology distribution over the sinuses

In the rhinosinusitis group, the number of hemicrania with at least one variation was 175 (87.5%), while this number was 41 (64.1%) in the control group. The number of hemicrania with no anatomical variation present was 25 (12.5%) in the rhinosinusitis group and 23 (35.9%) in the control group. The probability of having at least one anatomical variation in the rhinosinusitis group was 3.9 times higher than in the control group (p<0.001).

One of the anatomical variations, agger nasi cell, was distributed differently between the two groups and the difference was statistically significant (p<0.05). The differences in the distribution of concha bullosa, septum nasi deviation, ethmoid bulla, Haller cell, paradox middle concha and pneumatized uncinate process between the two groups was not statistically significant (p>0.05) (Table 2).

In the evaluation of anatomical variations, it was found that Agger nasi cell presence correlated significantly with frontal, maxillary, and anterior ethmoid sinusitis (p<0.01), and the presence of concha bullosa correlated significantly with maxillary and anterior ethmoid sinusitis (p<0.001). Similarly, septum deviation was found to be significantly correlating with frontal, maxillary, and anterior ethmoid sinusitis (p<0.001), and hyper-pneumatized ethmoid bulla was found to be significantly correlating with anterior ethmoid and maxillary sinusitis (p<0.001). Moreover, it was statistically significant that Haller cell correlated with maxillary sinusitis (p<0.001), while no significant correlation was found between paradox middle concha or pneumatized uncinate process with sinusitis (p>0.05).

Table 2	Distribution o	f anatomical	variations	in rhin	osinusit	is and	l control	groups
---------	----------------	--------------	------------	---------	----------	--------	-----------	--------

Variations	Rhinosinusitis gr	oup (n=200)	Control gr	n	
v ar lations	Number	%	Number	%	P
Agger nasi cell	107	53.5	22	34.3	< 0.05
Concha bullosa	89	44.5	28	43.7	>0.05
Septum deviation*	43	43.0	10	31.2	>0.05
Hyper-pneumatized ethmoid bulla	39	19.5	11	17.1	>0.05
Haller cell	20	10.0	2	3.1	>0.05
Paradox concha	11	5.5	5	7.8	>0.05
Pneumatized uncinate process	6	3.0	-	-	-

*n=100

It was determined that 32 sinuses were affected in 25 hemicrania without any anatomical variation, while 17 sinuses were found to be affected in 10 hemicrania with four anatomical variations each (p<0.05). These findings suggest that the risk of rhinosinusitis increases 1.67-fold in

hemicrania with one anatomical variation compared to no anatomical variations, while hemicrania having three anatomical variations have an increased rhinosinusitis risk of 1.89-fold (p<0.05) (Table 3).

 Table 3. Total number of variations and affected sinuses in the same hemicrania in the rhinosinusitis group

Total number of variations in the same hemicranium	Hemicranium number in the rhinosinusitis group	Total number of affected sinuses	Odds ratio	p-value
None	25	32	-	
1	87	159	1,67	< 0.05
2	46	89	1,83	< 0.05
3	32	63	1,89	< 0.05
4	10	17	1,50	< 0.05

4. Discussion

Rhinosinusitis is a commonly observed disorder in the population and has a significant socioeconomical impact. Sinusitis caused by impaired ventilation and mucociliary transport of the paranasal sinuses results in headache, nasal congestion, feeling of fullness on the face, and nasal or postnasal purulent discharge (6-8).

Today, endoscopy and computed tomography are used together and complement each other in the evaluation of paranasal sinus diseases and the detection of pathological conditions and anatomical variations in the ostiomeatal complex (5,9,10,11). Diagnosing the anatomical variations in the ostiomeatal complex, identifying their prevalence, determining whether they contribute to the development of chronic or recurrent sinusitis, and deciding whether to surgically correct these anatomical variations is important for treatment (3,12). Some anatomical variations in the region of the ostiomeatal complex predispose to infection in the middle meatus, leading to secondary infection of adjacent large sinuses (9,13,14,15).

In coronal paranasal tomography of patients with rhinosinusitis, agger nasi cell was detected in 33.7% of the patients in the study by Kaygusuz et al. (2000); in 52.2% by Ünlü et al. (1992); in 98.5% by Bolger et al. (1991); while Kennedy (1988) reported this variation to be present in all the cases studied (9,17,18,19). In our study, agger nasi cell was detected in 53.5% of the patients in the rhinosinusitis group and in 34.3% patients in the control group. The difference

between the two groups was statistically significant (p<0.05). Stammberger and Wolf (1998) suggested that agger nasi cells pneumatized in varying degrees may cause frontal sinusitis because of frontal recess obstruction (5). In our study, agger nasi cell was found to be correlating with frontal, anterior ethmoid, and maxillary sinusitis (p<0.001).

Depending on the degree of pneumatization of the middle concha, if the concha is in contact with the lateral nasal wall, it may cause mucosal edema, polyp, retention cyst, mucocele, and pyocele (5). Yousem et al (2). (1991) reported that the size of the concha bullosa is more important than its presence only (20). When researchers evaluated all conchae with air density as bullous, they found that the prevalence increased up to 53%. Bolger et al. (1991) found the concha bullosa variation to be present in 50% in the control group and 53.6% in the rhinosinusitis group (3,9,13). In our study, all conchae with air density were considered bullous. Concha bullosa was detected in 44.5% of the patients in the rhinosinusitis group and in 43.7% in the control group. The difference between the two groups was not significant (p>0.05). Calhoun et al. (1991) reported that concha bullosa is associated with anterior ethmoid sinusitis, but not with ostiomeatal complex disease (13). In our study, a significant correlation was found between concha bullosa variation with maxillary and anterior ethmoid mucosal pathologies (p<0.001).

The most studied variation in association with chronic sinusitis is septum deviation. Severely deviated septum narrows the nasal cavity and middle meatus, preventing proper ventilation and increasing susceptibility to sinus infection (1,3). Calhoun et al. (1991) detected septum deviation in 40% of patients with chronic rhinosinusitis and in 19.5% of patients without a sinus infection and reported that the deviation was associated with anterior ethmoid, posterior ethmoid, and ostiomeatal complex disease (13). In our study, septum nasi deviation was found in 43% of the patients in the rhinosinusitis group and in 31.2% of the control group. The difference between the groups was not significant (p>0.05). However, there was a significant correlation between maxillary, frontal, and anterior ethmoid mucosal pathologies on the deviated side of the septum in the rhinosinusitis group (p<0.001).

When the ethmoid bulla is excessively pneumatized to completely fill the middle concha cavity, it may cause contact headache without causing an infection. Cysts, polyps, and pus can be seen in the ethmoid bulla itself (16). In patients with rhinosinusitis, Kaygusuz et al. (2000) found hyper-pneumatized ethmoid bulla in 18.1%, while Ünlü et al. (1992) in 26.1% of the patients (17,18). In our study, we found hyper-pneumatized ethmoid bulla with a rate of 19.5% in the rhinosinusitis group and 17.1% in the control group. Although the difference between the groups was not significant (p>0.05), the correlation between hyper-pneumatized ethmoid bulla with maxillary and anterior ethmoid sinusitis was significant in the rhinosinusitis group (p<0.001).

Depending on their size, Haller cells are considered among the causes of recurrent maxillary sinusitis when infected (16). Milczuk et al. (1993) found ipsilateral rhinosinusitis in 66.7% of cases with Haller cells (21). In our study, maxillary sinusitis was present in 14 of 20 hemicrania with Haller cell in the rhinosinusitis group, and this relationship was statistically significant (p<0.01).

It is still debated which image is compatible with rhinosinusitis in the evaluation of paranasal sinuses using computed tomography. While Som (1985) considered all images in which the mucosa can be seen on tomography to be pathological, Havas et al. (1988) reported that the mucosa seen in tomography is not always pathological, but it would be appropriate to evaluate the image together with the clinical representation of the patient. Zinreich et al. (1987) evaluated 100 patients with chronic sinusitis and found that 72% of the ethmoid cells, 65% of the maxillary sinus, 34% of the frontal sinus, 40% of the posterior ethmoids and 29% of the sphenoid sinus were affected (3,16,22). In our study, it was determined that the most affected sinus in the rhinosinusitis group was the maxillary sinus (66.5%), and the least affected sinus was the sphenoid sinus.

Narrow recesses and ostia that provide ventilation and drainage of the sinuses become narrower in the presence of anatomical variations. Subsequent edema and mechanical obstruction affect the mucociliary system, impairing the ventilation and drainage of the sinuses. In our study, mucosal pathology was 1.6 times more common in hemicrania with one anatomical variation compared to no variation presence, while the rate is increased to 1.9-fold in hemicrania with three anatomical variations.

In conclusion, we suggest that the anatomical variations are an important factor in the development of chronic sinusitis and that not only sinuses but also anatomical variations impairing drainage should be corrected in the surgical treatment of rhinosinusitis.

Conflict of interest

None the declare.

Acknowledgments

The author(s) received no financial support for the research.

References

- Knops JL, McCaffrey TV, Kern EB. Phisoology clinical applications. Otolaryngol Clin North Am. 1993; 8(1):517-34. PMID: 8414525.
- Lazar RH, Younis RT, Long TE. Functional endonasal sinus surgery in adults and children. Laryngoscope. 1993; 103(1 Pt 1):1-5.
- Zinreich SJ, Kennedy DW, Rosenbaum AE, Gayler BW, Kumar AJ, Stammberger H. Paranasal sinuses: CT imaging requirements for endoscopic surgery. Radiology. 1987 Jun;163(3):769-75. doi: 10.1148/radiology.163.3.3575731. PMID: 3575731.
- 4. Önerci M, Haberal İ. Sinüzit. Kurtsan Ofset, 1999.
- Stammberger H, Wolf G. Headaches and sinus disease: the endoscopic approach. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol Suppl. 1988 Sep-Oct; 134:3-23.
- İnanlı S, Öztürk Ö, Tutkun A, Batman Ç, Üneri C, Şehitoğlu MA. Sinonazal hastalıkların tedavisinde endoskopik sinüs cerrahisi:403 olgunun değerlendirilmesi. KBB İhtisas Dergisi. 2001;8(1):13-39.
- Lanza DC, Kennedy DW. Current concepts in the surgical management of chronic and recurrent acute sinusitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1992; 90(3 Pt 2):505-10; discussion 511.
- 8. Levine HL. Functional endoscopic sinus surgery: evaluation, surgery, and follow-up of 250 patients. Laryngoscope. 1990;100(1):79-84.
- **9.** Bolger WE, Butzin CA, Parsons DS. Paranasal sinus bony anatomic variations and mucosal abnormalities: CT analysis for endoscopic sinus surgery. Laryngoscope. 1991 Jan;101(1 Pt 1):56-64.
- 10. Çınar F. Endoskopik sinüs cerrahisi. İstanbul, Turgut Yayıncılık,1998.
- Yousem DM. Imaging of sinonasal inflammatory disease. Radiology. 1993 Aug;188(2):303-14. doi: 10.1148/radiology.188.2.8327669. PMID: 8327669.
- Zinreich SJ, Mattox DE, Kennedy DW, Chisholm HL, Diffley DM, Rosenbaum AE. Concha bullosa: CT evaluation. J Comput Assist Tomogr. 1988; 12(5):778-84.
- **13.** Calhoun KH, Waggenspack GA, Simpson CB, Hokanson JA, Bailey BJ. CT evaluation of the paranasal sinuses in symptomatic

and asymptomatic populations. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 1991 Apr;104(4):480-3.

- Stammberger H. Endoscopic surgery for mycotic and chronic recurring sinusitis. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol Suppl. 1985, 119:1-11.
- Zinreich SJ. Paranasal sinus imaging. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 1990 Nov;103(5 (Pt 2)):863-8; discussion 868-9.
- **16.** Som PM. CT of the paranasal sinuses. Neuroradiology. 1985;27(3):189-201.
- 17. Kaygusuz İ, Karlıdağ T, Gök Ü, Susaman N, Demirbağ E, Yalçın Ş. Paranazal sinüs enfeksiyonlarında anatomik varyasyonların önemi ve bilgisayarlı tomogrofinin yeri. Kulak Burun Boğaz Klinikleri. 2000;2(3):143-147.
- 18. Ünlü HH, Akyar S, Nalça Y, Altuntaş A, Ünal A, Çaylan R, et al. Anatomic variations of the middle meatus in patients with

sinusitis.Gazi Medical Journal. 1992; 3:145-150.

- **19.** Kennedy DW, Zinreich SJ. Functional endoscopic approach to inflammatory sinus disease, current perspectives and technique modifications. 1988; 2:89-96.
- Yousem DM, Kennedy DW, Rosenberg S. Ostiomeatal complex risk factors for sinusitis: CT evaluation. J Otolaryngol. 1991 Dec;20(6):419-24.
- **21.** Milczuk HA, Dalley RW, Wessbacher FW, Richardson MA. Nasal and paranasal sinus anomalies in children with chronic sinusitis. Laryngoscope. 1993 Mar;103(3):247-52.
- **22.** Havas TE, Motbey JA, Gullane PJ. Prevalence of incidental abnormalities on computed tomographic scans of the paranasal sinuses. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 1988;114(8):856-9.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm

Review Article

1

J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 250-255 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.48

Digital dental models in orthodontics: A review

Berat Serdar AKDENİZ^{1,*}, Volkan AYKAÇ², Merve TURGUT¹, Semanur ÇETİN¹

¹Department of Orthodontics, Dentistry Faculty, Kirikkale University, Kirikkale, Turkey

²Department of Orthodontics, Cyprus Health and Social Sciences University, Guzelyurt, Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus

Received: 26.05.2021	•	Accepted/Published Online: 01.07.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022

Abstract

Digital 3 dimensional (3D) dental models are considered one of the most important advancements in modern dental history. Digital dental models are used in diagnosis, treatment planning, and appliance production phases in orthodontics. The present technology of digital dental models reached, and in some points, exceeded the plaster models' accuracy. The use of digital models with CBCT images and rapid prototyping techniques brought the possibility of new treatment techniques, some of which are considered as the future of modern orthodontics. This article aims to review the current use and success of digital 3D models in orthodontic practice.

Keywords: digital orthodontics, orthodontic model, orthodontic diagnosis, digital dentistry

1. Introduction

Orthodontic dental models of patient's dentitions provide important information during diagnosis, treatment planning, evaluation of treatment results and appliance production. Dental models successfully transfer the data about dental morphologies, occlusion and dental relationships, which are sometimes difficult to detect during intraoral examination (1). Impression materials and plasters were used to produce dental models for the last three centuries. Plaster models occupied a lot of storage space and providing optimal storage conditions were an important limitation for their long-term preservation (2). Today, using 3 dimensional (3D) digital technologies, dental models can be produced digitally and stored in a computer drive. Digital 3D models are considered as a revolutionary advancement in the orthodontic practice. Beside the simplicity of storing and transferring, 3D models also opened doors for new diagnosis and treatment options such as 3D planning of orthognathic surgery and clear aligner therapy, which are considered as the future of orthodontic mechanics. This article aims to review the current use and success of digital 3D models in orthodontic practice.

2. Dental 3D scanners and digital model acquisition

Although the designs for digitalization of dental models dated back to 1980's, widespread use of digital 3D models started lately. Digital models were commercially introduced in late 1990's (3). Digital scanners, printers and software technologies became more accessible with the competition in the market. Device and software development and variety allowed these systems to be more affordable as these devices became faster and more reliable. Study casts can be created with different technologies and devices. Intraoral and tabletop dental scanners are commonly used in orthodontic practice. Manual impression taking procedures either with or without stone model production procedures are still needed for the use of tabletop dental scanners. Intraoral scanners on the other hand; scans the patient's dentition directly intraorally without the need of any manual impression or plaster production.

While scanners provide superior 3D model qualities, their precision is still improving at the regions with sharp edges. Clinicians do not need micron-level sensitivity for diagnostic models in their orthodontic practices; therefore, intraoral scanners had an increasing popularity in orthodontics (4, 5). Researchers emphasized that intraoral scanning was also easily accepted by the patients and that the patients in their study preferred intraoral scanning over manual impression.

Digitally produced dental models also have the advantages of smaller size factor, ease in disinfection and cleaning, decreasing the chair time and eliminating additional laboratory work (6). The most important disadvantage of intraoral scanning when compared with model/impression scanning is that intraoral scanning must be done according to a scanning protocol and learning the protocol has a steeper learning curve; furthermore, scanners were considered costly when compared to the plaster models (7). As these technologies are getting more and more affordable, they are becoming more price efficient.

Digital dental scanners generate 3D view in their own file format but most of them can export the 3D file as an open source '*stereolithography*' (STL) format. STL format can be used universally for storage, diagnosis, treatment planning and appliance production. STL file format is the commonly used 3D model format in digital dentistry.

Digital models can be used virtually or can be printed with 3D printers using rapid prototyping, a group of techniques used to quickly fabricate a scale model of a physical part or assembly using three-dimensional computer aided design (CAD) data, techniques.

3. The use of 3D models in orthodontics

Digital dental models are used in diagnosis, treatment planning and appliance production in orthodontics.

4. Diagnosis

Dental study models provide valuable information for orthodontic diagnosis. Detailed inspection of the occlusal relationships and measurements of tooth and arch sizes are done on the study casts prior to orthodontic treatment.

4.1. Analysis of the occlusion

One of the drawbacks of using stone dental models as an archiving method is; if optimal storage conditions are not met, any damage or loss of dental stone models cause irreversible data loss of valuable patient information. Digital models on the other hand are reliable and can be reached easily at any point for re-evaluation. Storage of digital data is also as important; all the patient's digital data can be saved in a single usb drive. Setting systematic backup conditions is the key to prevent any data loss. With the many cloud solutions, data can be reached at any location, which improves productivity and saves both time and space. Although there were conflicting findings in the literature about the diagnostic value of digital dental models, current studies show that the digital dental models are equal to, if not exceeded, their plaster counterparts.

Santoro et al. (8) compared the overjet, overbite and tooth dimensions on plaster and digital models. They found that although there were statistical differences between plaster models, which was considered as the "golden standard", and digital models, the differences (0.16 to 0.49 millimeters) were minimal and were not clinically significant.

Mayers et al. (9) showed that Peer Assessment Rating (PAR) scores could be successfully derived from digital models.

Several other studies showed minor but statistically significant differences in occlusal contacts, overjet, buccolingual inclinations, alignment, and total American Board of Orthodontics (ABO) grade scores between the plaster and digital models (10, 11).

More recent studies concluded that there were no significant differences in diagnostic capabilities of plaster and digital dental models and that the digital models could be reliably used to observe the occlusal relationships (9, 12, 13). Different software algorithms and techniques might have been the cause of these differences. Advances in the

technologies of modern intraoral scanners, are making them more reliable and precise every other day.

4.2. Arch length and tooth width

Calibrating rulers and references were used in 2D photographic and radiographic analysis. With the advances in digital models, 3D dental models are precalibrated and many measurements, such as arch length, tooth size discrepancies etc. can be done manually or automatically with a variety of software. With the help of dental software, different model analysis, like Bolton discrepancy, crowding analysis, intercanine width etc. can be completed much faster than manual methods. Clinicians spend less time on preparation for diagnosis, which leaves more time for the actual treatment planning.

Digital 3D models obtained with intraoral scanners were compared to digital models obtained with CBCT (Cone beam computer tomography) and plaster models in the previous literature. Most of these studies showed that intraoral scanners provided superior reliability than CBCT images and similar results with plaster models, especially for linear measurement made on two landmarks (14,15).

Differences in Bolton index calculation between plaster models and digital models obtained from CBCT image was studied by (16). The authors concluded that even CBCT images, which was shown inferior to intraoral scanning in current literature, was comparable with plaster models in Bolton index calculation.

Few relatively older studies report statistically significant but clinically irrelevant differences between digital models and plaster models in arch length and space measurements (17, 18). Erdinc et al. (19) found significant differences in mesio-distal widths of molar and premolar teeth and in total arch lengths between the measurements made on digital and plaster dental models, but they also emphasized that these findings were clinically acceptable. These are due to the lack of precise scanners and software, which were developed after these studies. Naidu and Freer (20) expressed that the mean differences in anterior and overall Bolton ratio between digital models and plaster models were below 1 millimeter, and that 95% of the errors were in a clinically insignificant range. Koretsi et al. (21) showed that digital workflow for orthodontic model analysis is more reliable than traditional manual plaster model analysis.

5. Treatment planning

Digital dental models brought various treatment applications into the field of orthodontics. Digital setups, visualization of treatment results, quality assessment of treatments, 3D analysis of the tooth movement, and Computer Aided Design and Manufacture (CAD-CAM) of the orthodontic appliances are among the examples of current digital applications. Digital models combined with 3D CBCT images and 3D facial scanning data already exceeded the conventional orthodontic and orthognathic planning techniques. Digital 3D technology brought the possibility to communicate with the patient over their own models and made it possible for patients, to see and discuss proposed treatment plans using 3D setups and forecasted scenarios, before getting into the surgery room.

5.1. Model setup

Advanced 3D technology enabled the users to merge and calibrate multiple 3D images, which were acquired from different sources. The development of a 3D setup that displayed individual crowns, roots and craniofacial structures helped the clinicians in treatment planning to determine various treatment options, monitor changes over time, predict and display final treatment results and measure treatment outcomes accurately.

Macchi et al. (22) separated roots from craniofacial CBCT data and superimposed laser scanned 3D dental model data on extracted 3D root images to form a digital 3D dentoalveolar complex. The researchers then simulated premolar extraction therapy by eliminating first premolars to observe the possible final positions of the teeth and their relationship with the surrounding structures. Im et al. (23) asserted that plaster model setups and virtual setups of digital models lead to similar measurements. Barreto et al. (24) compared the reliability of digital model setups with plaster setups and posttreatment dental models of the patients and concluded that digital setups were as accurate and effective as the plaster setups and constituted a tool for treatment planning, which could be reliably reproduced in orthodontic treatments. Eliminating the additional laboratory work has been an important advantage of digital setups.

5.2. Digital orthognathic surgery planning

Cone beam computer tomography (CBCT) images, digital dental models and stereophotogrammetry images are superimposed to form a "virtual patient" for digital orthognathic surgery planning. This made it possible to eliminate most of the time-consuming conventional model surgery steps including the facebow transfer. Digital planning consists of two phases: osteotomy and wafer production. Digital models obtained with either model or intraoral scanning provide superior data of the teeth registered in occlusion, which are used in the planning phase (25).

Cousley et al. (26) confirmed that digital surgical planning and wafer production techniques achieved level of accuracy, that match the conventional facebow and model surgery. De Riu et al. (27) reported that digital planning was even more successful than conventional planning for the orthognathic correction of facial asymmetry. Chen et al. (28) reviewed the literature on comparison between virtual surgical planning and traditional surgical planning. They concluded that VSP technique has become a good alternative to TSP technique for orthognathic surgery.

5.3. Smile design

Mentality of orthodontic treatment planning shifted towards

analyzing the smile aesthetics and soft tissue in the last two decades. Although smile analysis is not a new term for orthodontics, utilization of digital technology for forecasting the effects of the treatment plan on smile aesthetics is currently a popular trend. "Smile design" concept was acquired from aesthetic dentistry and its extensive use in orthodontics started a few years ago. Smile design technique is especially useful for the treatments when multidisciplinary approach is needed, like the orthodontic-restorative treatment of tooth shape anomalies. The technique depended on superimposing the photo of dentition after possible treatment over patients own smile photo, so that the possible effects of the treatment on the smile could be inspected. Frontal photographs were used for smile design and only one dimension could be seen during the planning (29, 30).

Digital models and stereophotogrammetry enabled superimposition of dental models inside 3D facial surface image, so that the effects of the treatment on smile could be analyzed three dimensionally.

The final 3D design (in STL format) can be exported to a 3D printer to generate the physical model of the new design. This model can be used to fabricate a matrix for a mock-up and provisional and guides for tooth preparation, crown lengthening, and implant placement can be produced. It can be integrated into treatments with digitally planned setups like clear aligner therapy. Digital smile design protocol made diagnosis more efficient, and treatment plans more consistent. It provides more logical and straightforward treatment sequences, reducing the risks and improving the results (30).

6. Appliance design and fabrication

High precision 3D printing technology is being used to produce variable orthodontic appliances like retainers, removable appliances, indirect bracket placement trays and occlusal splints (31, 32). Three-dimensional design and printing can be used to produce clear retainers for home bleaching (33). Today, one of the most important use of 3D printing technology is the production of clear aligners.

There are specific software programs on the market which allowed individual bracket and aligner designs. Even complicated appliances like Herbst and sleep apnea appliances can be digitally designed and fabricated to accurately fit the dentition (34).

Material technology plays an important factor in these advances in digital appliance design. Materials with more suitable characteristics and development of user-friendly design tools lead to the in-office production of orthodontic appliances, which is an important step towards individual appliance design and manufacture. Like its advantages in diagnosis and treatment planning, digital technology reduced the steps in orthodontic appliance workflow and eliminated the need of additional, and sometimes non-standard, laboratory procedures.

6.1. Clear aligners

In 1998 Align Technology Inc. released Invisalign, the first clear aligner method, which used digital models to build the appliances. Modern production of clear aligners depends on setup of digital 3D dental models and plans of incremental stages for specific tooth movements with different software. Various possible treatment options can be visualized on digital setups. The clinician can see and interfere with the treatment plan in sophisticated software programs (35). After the clinician's approval of the proposed plan, incremental movements can be used to 3D print dental models for each increment then, thermoform aligner materials can be used such as polyamide (36).

Although the indications of digitally produced clear aligners were limited at the beginning, with development of material, computer technology and clinical research, the indications of clear aligners have been greatly extended. There are plenty of studies that showed successful cases treated with clear aligners, that show how these aligners can treat various types of cases from mild to severe malocclusions (37) Digital 3D technologies played an important role not only in design and production; but addition of artificial intelligence (AI) into the equation showed very promising improvements in orthodontic treatments and AI is also used in the analysis of treatment effectiveness. Clear aligner therapy even has some advantages over fixed orthodontic treatment. Khosravi et al. (38) reported that clear aligner therapy especially managed vertical dimension relatively well and Ke et al. (37) asserted that clear aligner therapy had the advantages possibility of segmented tooth movements and shortened treatment durations.

6.2. Digital orthodontic laboratory work

Studies on automation of fabrication of orthodontic removable appliances date back to 1990's. The advancement was visible after the commercial use of digital 3D models. Digital models facilitated effortless transfer of data via digital mediums. With the widespread use of 3D printing, orthodontic laboratories started using digital models and appliance design software.

There are two different workflows for digital removable appliance fabrication. First method is that laboratories 3D prints the study models and build the appliances with conventional techniques. Fabricated appliances are then sent to the clinics. This method eliminates the time needed for impressions, plaster model preparations and transfer of the study models.

The second method of appliance fabrication is gaining popularity. In which, digital models are sent to the laboratory, appliances are designed virtually, and designs are sent back to the clinic in printable STL formats via digital mediums. The clinicians can either 3D print the appliance in-office or can send the STL file to a 3D printing center to be printed. Directly in-office printing the appliance, eliminates the need to build plaster or digital models and the time needed for the transfers (39).

Several researchers successfully fabricated all parts of a removable appliances, which were consisted of metal clasps and resin base plates with the help of 3D printers (40, 41).

Commercialization of metal 3D printers enabled the fabrication of complex metal devices. Graf et al. (42) applied a miniscrew supported expansion device, which was designed and produced with the aid of computer aided design and 3D printing technologies. It is now possible for the clinicians to have the appliances designed in another part of the world and receive the design by e-mail in a matter of days.

6.3. Customized orthodontic brackets

Lingual orthodontic brackets are one of the most aesthetic appliances currently in use, because they are placed on the lingual surfaces of the teeth. Because lingual morphology is quite variable standard bracket bases, like the ones in conventional labial brackets, are not preferable to be used in the lingual surface of teeth. Time consuming laboratory process was needed for model setup and preparation of individual composite bases, which also made the lingual brackets rather bulky.

Modern lingual bracket systems utilize digital dental models to virtually design customized base for every tooth. The brackets are manufactured using 3D printing processes (43). The customized bracket system was found so successful that it was adapted to labial bracket fabrication. When coupled with custom formed arch-wires, customized bracket systems were able to overcome the difficulties of different tooth morphologies and increase the efficiency of the treatment (44, 45).

6.4. Digital indirect bonding

Orthodontic brackets are commonly bonded on the teeth directly by the practitioner. Indirect bonding technique was developed to overcome the bracket positioning errors due to limited view of the teeth during direct bonding. Brackets were placed on their pre-planned positions on plaster casts and were transferred to patient's mouth with custom made transfer trays.

Digital version of indirect bonding eliminated the need for complex laboratory and clinical processes. There are currently three different ways for digital indirect bonding.

Like appliance production, the most basic way of incorporating digital technology to indirect bonding is; 3D printing the study models and applying conventional indirect bonding steps which were normally applied on plaster models.

Second method includes using of software individually designed for indirect bonding. Brackets are virtually placed on digital models in the software. Some of the programs can apply basic set-up on the dental models to show a forecast of possible treatment options. Users can choose from the 3D data of the brackets which are stored in the software's own library. Digital study models with placed brackets can be 3D printed to fabricate the transfer trays from silicone or thermoform materials in the laboratory. Real brackets are then placed in the grooves on the transfer tray.

Thirdly, the users can finish all the above workflow digitally including the design of the transfer trays. The trays are 3D printed with a flexible resin and brackets are placed in their grooves (46).

Using digital setups during the digital planning of bracket positions, were shown to increase the precision in positioning (47).

Although digital indirect bonding technology is promising in decreasing chair time and laboratory steps, there are some concerns about high error rate of the system (48). Kim et al. (49) reported positioning errors were more frequent in posterior teeth and that the technique should be carefully used.

One of the main disadvantages of the system is that the user is limited by the types of bracket models that are stored in the software's library.

6.5. Miniscrew insertion guides

Miniscrew anchorage significantly reduced the need for patient compliance and allowed many advancements of orthodontic treatment mechanics. Manual insertion of miniscrews increased the risk of complications; therefore, surgical insertion guides can be used for precise positioning of the screws.

Digital insertion guides which use CBCT data and digital dental models were transferred from implant dentistry. The most important advantage of using CBCT images is being able to superimpose the 3D image of the roots, this enables the user to plan according to true 3D morphology (50).

Digital guides can be used for both buccal and palatal insertion fields and were found to greatly reduce the risk of root damage when compared with the direct manual placement method for insertion (50, 51).

7. Conclusion

Present technology of digital dental models reached, and in some points exceeded, the plaster models in accuracy. Use of digital models with CBCT and rapid prototyping techniques brought the possibility of new treatment techniques, some of which are the future of modern orthodontics. Studies reported minor differences between digital and plaster models which are not clinically relevant. Digital 3D models and technologies provide important advantages in orthodontics from diagnosis to treatment. These advances changed the orthodontic workflow significantly, soon today's innovations might be considered as the new "golden standard".

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

References

- 1. Peluso MJ, Josell SD, Levine SW, Lorei BJ. Digital models: an introduction. Semin Orthod. 2004; 10(3): 226-238.
- Akyalcin S, Cozad BE, English JD, Colville CD, Laman S. Diagnostic accuracy of impression-free digital models. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2013; 144(6): 916-922.
- **3.** Fleming PS, Marinho V, Johal A. Orthodontic measurements on digital study models compared with plaster models: a systematic review. Orthod Craniofac Res. 2011; 14: 1-16.
- Flügge T V, Schlager S, Nelson K, Nahles S, Metzger MC. Precision of intraoral digital dental impressions with iTero and extraoral digitization with the iTero and a model scanner. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2013; 144(3): 471-478.
- Burzynski JA, Firestone AR, Beck FM, Fields Jr HW, Deguchi T. Comparison of digital intraoral scanners and alginate impressions: Time and patient satisfaction. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2018; 153(4): 534-541.
- **6.** Kravitz ND, Groth C, Jones PE, Graham JW, Redmond WR. Intraoral digital scanners. J Clin Orthod. 2014; 48: 337-47.
- 7. Ender A, Mehl A. Influence of scanning strategies on the accuracy of digital intraoral scanning systems. Int J Comput Dent. 2012; 16(1): 11-21.
- Santoro M, Galkin S, Teredesai M, Nicolay OF, Cangialosi TJ. Comparison of measurements made on digital and plaster models. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2003; 124(1): 101-5.
- **9.** Mayers M, Firestone AR, Rashid R, Vig KW. Comparison of peer assessment rating (PAR) index scores of plaster and computer-based digital models. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2005; 128(4): 431-434.
- 10. Costalos PA, Sarraf K, Cangialosi TJ, Efstratiadis S. Evaluation of the accuracy of digital model analysis for the American Board of Orthodontics objective grading system for dental casts. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2005; 128: 624-9.
- 11. Okunami TR, Kusnoto B, BeGole E, Evans CA, Sadowsky C, Fadavi S. Assessing the American Board of Orthodontics objective grading system: digital vs plaster dental casts. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2007; 131(1): 51-56.
- 12. Stevens DR, Flores-Mir C, Nebbe B, Raboud DW, Heo G, Major PW. Validity, reliability, and reproducibility of plaster vs digital study models: comparison of peer assessment rating and Bolton analysis and their constituent measurements. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2006; 129(6): 794-803.
- 13. Rossini G, Parrini S, Castroflorio T, Deregibus A, Debernardi CL. Diagnostic accuracy and measurement sensitivity of digital models for orthodontic purposes: A systematic review. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2016; 149(2): 161-170.
- 14. Luu NS, Nikolcheva LG, Retrouvey JM, Flores-Mir C, El-Bialy T, Carey JP, Major PW. Linear measurements using virtual study models: a systematic review. Angle Orthod. 2012; 82(6): 1098-1106.
- 15. Nalcaci R, Topcuoglu T, Ozturk F. Comparison of Bolton analysis and tooth size measurements obtained using conventional and three-dimensional orthodontic models. Eur j dent. 2013; 7(1): 66-70.
- 16. Tarazona B, Llamas JM, Cibrian R, Gandia JL, Paredes V.

Evaluation of the validity of the Bolton Index using cone-beam computed tomography (CBCT). Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal; 2012; 17: 878-83.

- **17.** Mullen SR, Martin CA, Ngan P, Gladwin M. Accuracy of space analysis with emodels and plaster models. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2007; 132(3): 346-352.
- **18.** Quimby ML, Vig KW, Rashid RG, Firestone AR. The accuracy and reliability of measurements made on computer-based digital models. Angle Orthod. 2004; 74(3): 298-303.
- 19. Erdinç AME, Doğan S, Dinçer B. Digital modellerde güvenirlilik. Ege Üniversitesi Diş Hekimliği Fakültesi Dergisi. 2008; 29: 99-103.
- 20. Naidu D, Freer TJ. Validity, reliability, and reproducibility of the iOC intraoral scanner: a comparison of tooth widths and Bolton ratios. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2013; 144(2): 304-310.
- **21.** Koretsi VL, Tingelhoff PP, Kirschneck C. Intra-observer reliability and agreement of manual and digital orthodontic model analysis. Eur J Orthod. 2018; 40: 52-57.
- **22.** Macchi A, Carrafiello G, Cacciafesta V, Norcini A. Threedimensional digital modeling and setup. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2006; 129(5): 605-610.
- **23.** Im J, Cha JY, Lee KJ, Yu HS, Hwang CJ. Comparison of virtual and manual tooth setups with digital and plaster models in extraction cases. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2014; 145(4): 434-442.
- **24.** Barreto MS, Faber J, Vogel CJ, Araujo TM. Reliability of digital orthodontic setups. Angle Orthod. 2016; 86(2): 255-259.
- **25.** Cousley RR, Turner MJ. Digital model planning and computerized fabrication of orthognathic surgery wafers. J Orthod. 2014; 41(1): 38-45.
- 26. Cousley RR, Bainbridge M, Rossouw PE. The accuracy of maxillary positioning using digital model planning and 3D printed wafers in bimaxillary orthognathic surgery. J Orthod. 2017; 44(4): 256-267.
- **27.** De Riu G, Meloni SM, Baj A, Corda A, Soma D, Tullio A. Computer-assisted orthognathic surgery for correction of facial asymmetry: results of a randomised controlled clinical trial. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2014; 52(3): 251-257.
- 28. Chen Z, Shuixue M, Xuemin F, Yuting Y, Guangrong Y, Nuo Z. A Meta-analysis and Systematic Review Comparing the Effectiveness of Traditional and Virtual Surgical Planning for Orthognathic Surgery: Based on Randomized Clinical Trials. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2021; 79: 1-19.
- **29.** Ackerman MB, Ackerman JL. Smile analysis and design in the digital era. J Clin Orthod. 2002; 36(4):221-236.
- **30.** Coachman C, Calamita MA, Sesma N. Dynamic documentation of the smile and the 2D/3D digital smile design process. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent. 2017; 37(2): 183-193.
- **31.** Hazeveld A, Slater JJH, Ren Y. Accuracy and reproducibility of dental replica models reconstructed by different rapid prototyping techniques. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2014; 145(1): 108-115.
- **32.** Nasef AA, El-Beialy AR, Mostafa YA. Virtual techniques for designing and fabricating a retainer. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2014; 146(3): 394-398.
- **33.** Da Costa JB, McPharlin R, Hilton T, Ferracane JI, Wang M. Comparison of two at-home whitening products of similar peroxide concentration and different delivery methods. Oper Dent. 2012; 37(4):333-339.

- **34.** Al Mortadi N, Eggbeer D, Lewis J, Williams RJ. CAD/ CAM/AM applications in the manufacture of dental appliances. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2012; 142(5): 727-33.
- 35. Wong BH. Invisalign A to Z. Am J Orthod. 2001; 121:540-541.
- **36.** Taneva E, Kusnoto B, Evans CA. 3D scanning, imaging, and printing in orthodontics. Issues in contemporary orthodontics. 2015; 148.
- **37.** Ke Y, Zhu Y, Zhu M. A comparison of treatment effectiveness between clear aligner and fixed appliance therapies. BMC Oral Health. 2019; 19(1):24.
- 38. Khosravi R, Cohanim B, Hujoel P, Daher S, Neal M, Liu W, Huang G. Management of overbite with the Invisalign appliance. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2017;151(4): 691-9.
- **39.** Breuning KH. Custom Appliance Fabrication and Transfer. In: Breuning KH, Kau CH, editors. Digital Planning and Custom Orthodontic Treatment. Wiley. 2017.
- 40. Al Mortadi N, Jones Q, Eggbeer D, Lewis J, Williams RJ. Fabrication of a resin appliance with alloy components using digital technology without an analog impression. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2015; 148(5): 862-867.
- **41.** Van Der Meer WJ, Vissink A, Ren Y. Full 3-dimensional digital workflow for multicomponent dental appliances: A proof of concept. J Am Dent Assoc. 2016; 147(4): 288-291.
- **42.** Graf S, Vasudavan S, Wilmes B. CAD-CAM design and 3dimensional printing of mini-implant retained orthodontic appliances. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2018; 154(6): 877-882.
- 43. Wiechmann D, Rummel V, Thalheim A, Simon JS, Wiechmann L. Customized brackets and archwires for lingual orthodontic treatment. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2003;124(5): 593-9.
- **44.** Weber DJ, Koroluk LD, Phillips C, Nguyen T, Proffit WR. Clinical effectiveness and efficiency of customized vs. conventional preadjusted bracket systems. J Clin Orthod. 2013; 47(4): 261-266.
- 45. Brown MW, Koroluk L, Ko CC, Zhang K, Chen M, Nguyen T. Effectiveness and efficiency of a CAD/CAM orthodontic bracket system. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2015;148(6): 1067-74.
- **46.** Christensen LR, Cope JB. Digital technology for indirect bonding. Semin Orthod. 2018; 24(4): 451-460.
- **47.** Garino F, Garino GB. Computer-aided interactive indirect bonding. Prog Orthod. 2005; 6(2): 214-223.
- **48.** Ciuffolo F, Epifania E, Duranti G, De Luca V, Raviglia D, Rezza S, Festa F. Rapid prototyping: a new method of preparing trays for indirect bonding. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2006; 129(1): 75-77.
- **49.** Kim J, Chun YS, Kim M. Accuracy of bracket positions with a CAD/CAM indirect bonding system in posterior teeth with different cusp heights. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2018; 153(2): 298-307
- 50. Qiu L, Haruyama N, Suzuki S, Yamada D, Obayashi N, Kurabayashi T, Moriyama K. Accuracy of orthodontic miniscrew implantation guided by stereolithographic surgical stent based on cone-beam CT–derived 3D images. Angle Orthod. 2012; 82(2): 284-293.
- 51. Bae MJ, Kim JY, Park JT, Cha JY, Kim HJ, Yu HS, Hwang CJ. Accuracy of miniscrew surgical guides assessed from cone-beam computed tomography and digital models. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2013; 143: 893–901.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm

Review Article

J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 256-268 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.49

Compendium of polycystic ovarian syndrome and its relevance in glycation and diabetes

Payal POOJARI (10), Amruta PADGAONKAR (10), Additiya PARAMANYA (10), Ahmad ALI* (10)

Department of Life Sciences, University of Mumbai, Mumbai, India

Received: 03.06.2021 • Accepted/Published Online: 26.07.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022
--	---	---------------------------

Abstract

Polycystic ovarian syndrome (PCOS) is one of the most common endocrine and reproductive disorders observed in women. Its pathophysiology indicates its involvement in plenitude of diseases and/ or disorders. Although the absolute cause of PCOS has not been established, its prevalence in diabetic patients is noteworthy. Glycation and insulin resistance being key factors in diabetes, the present review tries to study their correlation with PCOS. Amongst the available drugs, four commonly prescribed drugs namely, metformin, inositol, thiazolidinediones, and spironolactone have been discussed. The current review also provides insights about usage of *M. oleifera* and *S. platensis* as a potential therapeutic agent for symptomatic relief of PCOS.

Keywords: altered steroidogenesis, glycation, insulin resistance, PCOS, spirulina, T2DM

1. Introduction

Polycystic Ovarian Syndrome (PCOS) most often characterized as an endocrine/hormonal disorder, which typically commences during the onset of puberty. It is one of the chief causes of oligomenorrhea (irregular periods), amenorrhea (no periods) or prolonged periods causing anovulatory infertility in women. This is believed to be due to the excess amount of androgen produced known as Hyperandrogenism (1). Hyperandrogenism in PCOS is due to a disturbed Hypothalamic-pituitary-ovarian axis (HPOA) affecting the ratio between luteinizing hormone (LH) and follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) (2). There are several factors that are responsible for the intricate pathophysiology so far identified in PCOS. Although the absolute cause of PCOS is not well comprehended, genetic, and environmental factors are believed to be responsible for the prevalence of the disorder (3). Therefore, it is also classified as an oligogenic disorder (disease inherited is not due to a simple single-gene mutation) implying interlinkage between various genetic and environmental factors causing the characteristic symptoms of the disease (4).

More often PCOS shows a constellation of symptoms and is simply responsible for the onset or cause of other metabolic disorders such as Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (T2DM) (5). Most women diagnosed with PCOS, are more susceptible to develope Diabetes or prediabetes (borderline diabetes). Another life-threatening symptom which is commonly observed, includes cardiovascular disease (6). Prevalence of cardiovascular disease may be due to disturbed carbohydrate metabolism in PCOS (7). The chain of symptoms in PCOS is quite complex because of which the ultimate interlinkage between hormonal and metabolic disorder cannot be distinguished. However, in both the cases Insulin resistance (IR) plays a key role in giving rise to the disorders commonly observed in PCOS. Distress in Phosphatidylinositol-3-Kinase (PI-3K) enzyme is primarily held responsible for IR. Due to IR women with PCOS are diagnosed with hyperinsulinemia causing obesity in women. Both hyperinsulinemia and insulin resistance are observed in obese and non-obese women. IR is most possibly considered for the endothelial damage which can aggravate the cardiovascular disease or worsen the situation in some cases (8).

Various foregoing studies have associated defective insulin receptor-mediated signal transduction in PCOS (9, 10). With further investigation on the defective insulin receptor pathway, aberration in PI-3K insulin mediated glucose uptake has been observed in PCOS women (11). Function of PI-3K can be disturbed either by serine phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrate (IRS) or advanced glycation end products (AGEs). AGEs are protein products formed because of glycation (non-enzymatic glycosylation). PI-3K endocytotically uptake of AGE by their receptor (RAGE), regulating their degradation and elimination process (12). Although elimination of AGE can be mediated via the insulin receptor pathway (13). AGEs are also associated with Diabetes and their formation increases free radicals' activity (14). This facilitates biomolecular damage increasing the complication in the disorder increasing IR (15). AGEs are responsible for the onset of IR in PCOS and diabetes through insulin receptor-mediated pathways and free radicals, respectively, worsening the pathophysiology of the disorder. Reducing glycation and AGEs in the tissue by subsequently controlling the AGE-RAGE interaction might avert the complication raised due to IR in PCOS and diabetes (15).

2. Insulin Resistance (IR)

Understanding insulin resistance at the molecular level would be the first step in deciphering the abnormalities that occur. Insulin hormone plays a crucial role in glucose homeostasis. Any disturbance in insulin secretion directly initiates certain conditions, such as hypoglycemia, hyperglycemia and T2DM. Insulin transduction pathway consists of several enzymes, receptors and hormones which facilitates the proper functioning of insulin in the body. The signal transduction pathway of insulin generates a cascade of signals in the cell in response to its environment. Impairment in the insulin signal transduction pathway leading to cellular inflammatory pathway is a prime cause of IR (16). Albeit a decreased strength of IRS/PI-3K signaling pathway is the supreme culprit, the authenticity of which is still enigmatic. Two distinct but interdependent mechanisms confer a potential explanation for reduced strength in the IRS/PI-3K pathway, which includes increased expression of $p85\alpha$ and serine phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrate (IRS)-1 (16).

Apart from being a crucial component of the signally pathway, PI-3K also helps in maintaining insulin sensitivity in the liver. It is composed of two subunits, namely a regulator subunit (p85) which is tightly associated with a catalytic subunit (p110) forming a p85-p110 heterodimer or complex (16). The regulatory subunit (p85) is responsible for regulating the activity of PI-3K by binding to the active site of IRS-1. Over or under expression of p85 α competes with the p85-p110 heterodimer on the binding site of IRS-1 leading to either increase or decrease in PI-3K activity, (17, 18) P85 α an isomer of p85, competes with the p85-p110 heterodimer reducing PI-3K activity (19). However, other growth hormones, steroids, overfeeding, (20) and T2DM subsequently increases the activity of p85 α (21).

In response to insulin binding to insulin receptors. IRS-1 is phosphorylated by tyrosine kinase activating PI-3K enzyme (22). PI-3k binds to a specific motif on IRS-1 which consist of phosphorylated tyrosine residue resulting to which PI-3K is activated initiating a cascade of events causing phosphorylation and activation of Akt (kinase B), mTOR (mechanistic target of rapamycin) and p7086 kinase (ribosomal protein S6 kinase beta-1) (23). Akt activation is crucial for glucose transport across the cell, however, mTOR and p7086 activation assist in protein synthesis. Although in

case of IR hyperactivation of mTOR lead by a certain stretch of amino acids, Akt or hyperinsulinemia follows serine phosphorylation of IRS-1 by p70S6 kinase eventually giving rise to a decrease strength of IRS-1/PI 3-kinase signaling (16).

IR is also widely associated with lipids. Irregularities in insulin signaling and lower insulin-stimulated glucose transport are some of the major imputations resulting from Lipid-induced insulin resistance in skeletal muscle (24, 25). Activation of PKC (isoform $PKC\theta$) is linked with muscle lipid accumulation hence altering the insulin intracellular signaling. Lipid induced IR, mediated by diacylglycerol (DAG) for the activation of PKC θ leading to impairment in insulin signaling (26). Although impaired Akt activation limits the translocation of GLUT4-containing storage vesicles to the plasma membrane, (permits the entry of glucose into the cell, and promotes glycogen synthesis via glycogen synthase (GS).), resulting in impaired glucose uptake therefore decreasing insulin-mediated Glycogen synthesis (27). Convincing evidence between DAG-mediated activation of PKC and muscle insulin resistance has been confirmed in human studies (23). Another study demonstrated hepatic insulin resistance relating to intrahepatic lipid content. Therefore, demonstrating that ectopic lipid accumulation of lipids within the liver leads to hepatic insulin resistance (28).

An alternate string signaling towards hepatic IR with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) involves activation of unfolded protein residues (UPR). The initiation of UPR takes place in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) lumen due to accumulation of unfolded protein, therefore known as ER stress. Unfolding of protein in the ER may occur due to environmental stress or genetic mutations. Accumulation of unfolded protein induces UPR in a eukaryotic cell (29). Studies noted a reduced activity of PKC in individuals provided with lipid infusion, shows reduction in insulinrelated glucose transport, strongly suggesting a defect in the insulin signal mechanism (30). Although the relation between PKC and lipids is not yet clear.



Fig. 1. Intricate linkage between Insulin resistance and PCOS

2.1. Glycation

Glycation is widely defined as a non-enzymatic reaction between reducing sugar, proteins, lipid and nucleic acid (15). The process of glycation leads to the formation of AGE's formed by a complicated molecular process also known as Maillard reaction (31). The electrophilic group of sugar molecules reacting with the free amino group of amino acids commences with the formation of the Schiff base (32). With further intramolecular rearrangement the Schiff base is reversibly converted into a more stable form known as Amadori product (ketoamine). Further engagement of Schiff base and Amadori products with protein or amino acid residue giving rise to protein adducts or protein crosslinks (33). After the formation of Amadori product, they undergo a slow oxidation process yielding dicarbonyl compound such as glyoxal, methylglyoxal (MG), 3-deoxyglucosone (3-DG), and deoxyglucosone in the span of 3 to 30 days (32). The final stage of the glycation reaction includes oxidation, dehydration, polymerization and oxidative breakdown advances in the formation of AGE's (34). Accumulation of AGEs leads to physiological and pathological changes, therefore AGEs are associated with T2DM, Alzheimer's disease, aging, etc. (35) AGE's characterized into three categories, namely pentosidine (fluorescent product; forms protein-protein crosslinks), carboxymethyl-lysine (CML), and glucosepane (a non-fluorescent protein adduct) (36).



Fig. 2. Steps of protein glycation and formation of AGE (adapted from 15)

The formation of AGEs can take place through three distinct pathways. Apart from Maillard reaction, lipid peroxidation and glycolysis pathway are the alternative means through which AGEs are formed. In the case of lipid peroxidation, reactive oxygen species lead to the formation of reactive carbonyl compounds which then ultimately form AGEs or Advanced lipid end products (ALE) (37). Similarly, in the case of glycolysis pathways, oxidation of glucose to

vield carbonyl compound, for example, methylglyoxal, undergoing a series of reactions with protein to yield AGEs (38). Although PCOS women are often diagnosed with an abnormal lipid profile, AGEs play a negative role in dyslipidemia (39). Studies show a positive correlation between serum MG level and triglyceride concentration in diabetic patients (40). Accumulation of AGEs intracellularly is mediated through specific AGE receptors (RAGEs) (41). Binding the ligand to RAGE activates signaling pathways such as mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs), extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK-1/2), PI-3K etc. RAGE stimulation by AGE activates nuclear factor kappa-B (NFkB) (42). Activation of NFkB further increases the expression of RAGE, which in turn stimulates NFkB leading to a cycle of perpetuating proinflammatory signals (43). It also decreases cellular antioxidant defense, such as glutathione (GSH) by inducing oxidative stress. Decrease in GSH causes decreased activity of Glyoxalase-1 (Glo-1) which plays a key role in cellular defense against methylglyoxal (MG) leading to further formation of AGEs (44).

RAGE interaction with amyloid- β peptide (A β), β -sheet fibrils etc. involving RAGE in multiple cellular functions via distinct signal transduction pathway (43). Activation of MAPK activates the expression of proinflammatory cytokines which are believed to be associated with IR (45). Generation of ROS due to AGEs is a common link discussed in diabetes pathology. Physical and functional characteristics of stable protein products are altered when interacted with extracellular matrix membrane (ECM) leading to diabetes altering the basement membrane and microvascular system due to excessive AGE formed (46).

2.2. PCOS and IR

The main culprit in the prevalence of PCOS is contemplated as HPOA and hyperinsulinemia (47). Both factors are believed to be interconnected, as disrupted HPOA can cause loss in GnRH pulses resulting in an increasing amount of LH (48, 49). In the menstrual cycle, the role of increased spike of LH is to bring about ovulation and oocyte development and forming corpus luteum in a healthy woman with the help of another hormone progesterone, which suppresses the LH therefore maintaining the LH/FSH ratio (50). More than the required amount of LH secreted due to increased GnRH can inhibit the whole cycle and change the morphology of the ovary (48, 49). Also, increased LH leads to a substantial decrease of FSH in the ovary causing decreased conception and miscarriage in woman (47). LH is also responsible for provoking an increased ovarian androgen. Production of androgen occurs in ovarian cells (theca interna cells) and adrenal cortex (zona fasciculata cells) (51). Increased amounts of androgen or hyperandrogenism (HA) occur due to altered steroidogenesis.

Change in the ovarian morphology or presence of polycystic ovaries is the prime site of endocrine abnormality

causing hyperandrogenism. Affected P450c17a enzyme activity plays a principal role in excess ovarian androgen production (52). Serine phosphorylation also increases activity of P450c17 in both the ovary and adrenal gland, thus promoting androgen synthesis (53). The initial substrate, cholesterol, is used to produce androgens in both the organs. Both of which are strongly under endocrine control of LH and adrenocorticotropic (ACTH) in the ovary and adrenal cortex respectively (51). Androgen synthesis takes place through distinct steroid biosynthesis pathways, namely, D5-steroid pathway and D4-steroid pathway occurring parallelly and simultaneously (54). Although intraovarian androgen is crucial for the follicular development, excess of which can cause abnormalities in the follicular growth therefore poor follicular maturation. Both androgen and estrogen are the positive modulators of LH however Insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) is recognized as a positive modulator of LH. Increased LH stimulated androgen production also takes place via insulin or IGF-1 (52). Insulin and IGF-1 stimulate the production of estrogen mediating the action of FSH on granulosa cells for healthy follicle growth. Androgen production is moreover inhibited by corticotropin releasing hormone, transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β), epidermal growth factor (EGF), tumor necrosis factor (TNF) and cytokines. TNF and EGF inhibit the activity of aromatase, which determines androgen production. Action of activin on the granulosa cells increases estrogen secretion and therefore inhibits thecal androgen secretion (52).

PCOS also increases the prevalence of T2DM and IR. The role of insulin in androgen production is quite crucial and important. Due to affected endocrine signaling other metabolic pathways are also affected hence giving rise to T2DM. IR is considered as one of the pathogenic factors associated with an increased metabolic disturbance which also explains HA, irregular menstrual cycle (5, 55). A positive correlation between hyperinsulinemia and PCOS were recorded showing notable correlation between insulin, testosterone, and androstenedione (56). Elevated insulin level in PCOS concurrently elevating LH levels, suppression of follicle growth hence no ovulation (57). Hyperinsulinemia also affects the secretion of GnRH pulses which leads in the arrest of Sex Hormone Binding Globulin (SHBG) and escalating ovarian androgen production in PCOS (58-61).

Elevated levels of AGE along with their receptor RAGE was observed in the ovarian tissue. Potentially, accumulation of AGE's could alter steroidogenesis in PCOS, although the prime pathway or its potential role in steroidogenesis yet remains in scrutiny. Toxic AGE (TAGE), CML and pentosidine in follicular fluid and serum-TAGE (S-TAGE) show a negative correlation with estradiol (E2) in PCOS women. Earlier studies have reported an increased level of serum AGE's in PCOS women by examining the association of serum AGE's level and RAGE expression with testosterone (62). A different study showed a substantial

259

association between AGE's and HA (62, 63). To understand the signaling mechanism of AGE-RAGE behind the altered steroidogenesis in PCOS Diamanti-Kandarakis and team (2013) pointed out that AGEs lead to inappropriate activation of ERK1/2 in KGN granulosa-like tumor cells alter steroidogenesis in granulosa cells (5). A vital role of glyoxalase in the ovary has been confirmed by dietary glycotoxins and hyperandrogenic decrease GLO1 (Glyoxalase 1) activity in the ovaries, contributing to enhanced accumulation of AGE in granulosa cells (5).



Fig. 3. Cycle between hyperinsulinemia and hyperandrogenemia (136)

2.3. PCOS and diabetes

Diabetes mellitus, a disorder which is often characterized due to elevated levels of blood sugar due to insufficient amounts of insulin produced by the body. Due to its characteristics, T2DM is often associated with hyperinsulinemia. As mentioned earlier, PCOS leads to a collection of syndromes which leads to reproductive disturbance and glucose metabolism disorder (64). HA and IR are identified features of PCOS which lead to hyperinsulinemia causing IR (5). IR arises due to an intrinsic defect in post-receptor insulin signaling in its ideal target tissue, such as muscle cells and adipocytes (47). Protein glycation (dicarbonyl stress) and MG combined, shows a chronic side effect in hyperglycemic diabetic patients which leads to the pathogenesis of various diseases associated with altered redox homeostasis (65).

Even though the molecular basis of AGE in the pathogenesis of T2DM is not well comprehended, certain study shows a strong relation between AGE-induced oxidative stress as well as inflammation (40). Some hypotheses also suggest direct impairment of insulin secretion in pancreatic cells due to AGE activating proinflammatory cytokines provoking inflammation in islet β cells. Inflammation in the pancreatic cells due to increased levels of IL-1 results in decreased cell proliferation, increased cell

death in β cells therefore giving rise to impaired secretion of insulin (40). Inhibition of cyt C oxidase and ATP production due to AGE, leads to the commencement of impaired glucose stimulated insulin secretion potentially through membrane depolarization (40, 65).

High amount of dietary AGE intake is strongly associated with T2DM. T2DM is also associated with weight gain or obesity, controlling dietary AGE is a common strategy used to control the Many studies conducted to understand the link between the PCOS and T2DM have associated overweight and obesity as the primary cause of IR (67). Other Meta-Analysis studies have confirmed a positive association of PCOS with a high prevalence of prediabetes and T2DM (68). However, the ultimate relationship between rapid weight gain, HA, prediabetes and T2DM shown by numerous studies is not convincing. Also, the prevalence of prediabetes, T2DM in PCOS is moreover independent of the BMI, (69-71) on contrary other studies have associated an elevated risk linked with obesity (72). Some studies have also associated women with normal body weight PCOS having a higher chance of progressing T2DM (73).

2.4. Drugs

Inter-relation between PCOS and diabetes reveals that insulin-sensitizing drugs and dietary or lifestyle modifications improve hyperandrogenism in patients suffering from PCOS (74, 5). It is observed that Insulin resistance increases hyperandrogenemia (75). Leptin, a hormone which is used as an insulin-sensitizing agent, is believed to decrease the androgen levels, and induces menstruation in lean women suffering from PCOS (75). This is considered as one of the remedial treatments for PCOS, which pointed out the consideration of insulin-sensitizing agents as part of the management of the disease. These insulin-sensitizing agents include metformin, MYO supplements, and thiazolidinedione. In previous studies, a few biomarkers have been used to detect insulin resistance in PCOS women. Insulin happens to inhibit the release of SHBG secreted from the liver and the production of insulin-like growth factor-binding protein 1 (IGFBP-1) (76). It is also believed to affect the homeostatic model assessment (HOMA-IR) and levels of insulin (77). Various markers have distinct sensitivities as well as specificities in testing for insulin resistance (78).

3. Treatment

The management of PCOS targets the symptoms present, such as anovulation, infertility, hirsutism, or acne.

3.1. Lifestyle changes

Therapy including exercise and calorie-restricted diet perform a crucial part in the management of obesity in women with PCOS. Lifestyle modifications are considered as a costeffective first-line treatment and as a necessary adjunct to medication (79). Excessive weight is associated with adverse metabolic and reproductive health outcomes in women with PCOS. Female fertility significantly decreases with a BMI >30–32 kg/m² (81). Studies show that a decrease in the body weight of about 5% regulates the MC, reduces insulin and testosterone levels, improves fertility, reduces acne and hirsutism, and increases psychological well-being (82-85). However, no specific diet or exercise schedule is superior to another in the management of PCOS.

3.2. Medical treatment

If lifestyle changes are not enough to resolve symptoms, medical treatment is added for better management of the patient's complaints.

3.3. Oral contraceptive pills (OCP)

For an exceptionally extended period, OCP was commonly used as a first line of medicinal treatment for hyperandrogenism and MC irregularities as a treatment of PCOS, (79, 80). OCP suppresses the hypothalamic-pituitaryovarian axis, it also decreases LH secretion and increases SHBG; decreases free testosterone level (86). This shows an improvement in hyperandrogenism-mediated symptoms like acne and hirsutism (86), also maintains the MC and provides positive contraception (87). Albeit the guidelines do not specify the use of one OCP over another, therefore, a low dose which contains anti-androgenic or neutral (88) of OCP is prescribed for symptomatic treatment.

The use of OCP in PCOS patients shows an extended risk of insulin resistance (74, 80). There are adverse impacts of OCP on cardiovascular risk in PCOS women (89). Clomiphene citrate is used for the primary treatment of infertility due to anovulatory (89). Administration with gonadotropins and ovarian diathermy is a secondary line of treatment (90) when other drugs fail to achieve fertility.

3.4. Metformin

Metformin, also known as Glucophage, is a biguanide antidiabetic drug (Fig. 4), acts by preventing liver glucose production and increasing the peripheral insulin sensitivity (91, 92). Metformin was first studied in 1994 by Velazquez with his co-workers and showed a 35% decline in insulin and a 31% reduction in insulin to glucose ratio (89). Few studies also claim that metformin does not promote insulin resistance itself, it promotes glucose effectiveness, i.e., the ability of glucose to repress endogenous glucose synthesis and stimulate glucose uptake (93). Metformin therapy for obese PCOS adolescents and IGT proved beneficial in enhancing insulin sensitivity and glucose tolerance, in reducing insulinemia, and in elevated androgen levels (94). By contrast, a study done by Tang et al. showed no remarkable shift in insulin sensitivity in PCOS patients receiving metformin which could be explained due to the elevated level of obesity (BMI>30 Kg/m²) and the limited weight loss of the patients (52). Ehrmann et al. (1997) also showed that metformin does not necessarily improve insulin resistance in PCOS women (95, 96). Acbay and Gündog du, (1996) stated that metformin has no visible effect on insulin resistance in PCOS patients.

Although studies show conflicting results of metformin effect, it is suggested as a primary line of treatment for pregnancy complications in PCOS women. Combination of Metformin with clomiphene citrate to improve fertility in clomiphene resistant patients (89).



metformin alone is given as the primary line treatment of PCOS obese treatment by inhibiting liver glucose absorption, reducing peripheral insulin levels, increasing peripheral glucose uptake, and improving Glucose transporter type 4 (GLUT-4) (97, 98). Metformin affects the endothelium and adipose tissue independent of its action on insulin and glucose levels (99). Metformin does not help to body weight loss; it may help to distribute adipose tissue (100).

3.5. Thiazolidinediones

Thiazolidinediones (TZD), a class of drugs (insulin sensitizer) used in T2DM treatment. They activate the γ isoform of an adipocyte transcription factor, known as peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR- γ) (101). The use of pioglitazone (glitazones) was studied in PCOS patients and data showed a decline in insulin resistance and fasting serum insulin levels (Hayek et al., 2016). However, pioglitazone showed an increased chances of bladder cancer (102, 103), therefore it has not been prescribed use or the use of other TZDs (namely rosiglitazone and troglitazone) in PCOS treatment due to its ill effects (89, 80).

3.6. Inositol

Different drugs are identified as a unique treatment for PCOS which are preferred due to their lack of side effects. D-chiroinositol (C6H12O6) (DCI) as well as myoinositol (MYO), which is an insulin-sensitizing molecule (Fig. 5). Metabolic alteration of Inositol Phosphoglycan (IPG) secondary messengers and its mediators or due to a tissue defect, might induce insulin resistance (74). In PCOS women, use of MYO shows to increase insulin resistance (89). Increase in levels of fasting plasma insulin is observed to be positively correlating with a decline in insulin resistance, this supports the role of Inositol as a modulator of the insulin-mediator metabolic pathway (104).

Combining Inositol with monacolin K (Lovastatin) and lipoic acid shows dose-dependent changes in HA associated symptoms (105). Folic acid combined with MYO showed a decrease in ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome (OHSS) to a greater extent as compared to the use of folic acid alone in PCOS women (106). MYO along with α -lipoic acid also improved reproductive issues in women undergoing an IVF treatment (107, 108). Most importantly, MYO combined with DCI in a blood plasma shows a decreased risk of developing metabolic syndrome in obese PCOS women (107, 109). Another study shows notable improvement in PCOS symptoms, such as MC regularity, decreased insulin resistance, healthier lipid profile, and fewer acne, upon the use of MYO-DCI combination (89). Therefore, MYO and DCI in combination as a therapeutic approach can be used for the PCOS treatment (104).



Fig. 5. Structure of Inositol (Source: https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/892)

3.7. Spironolactone

Spironolactone, a chemical steroid related to the aldosterone (Fig. 6) (mineralocorticoid), was observed to enhance insulin sensitivity; it was also suggested its use for HA associated symptoms such as hirsutism and acne (89, 110). Combination of Spironolactone with Metformin often shows an increase in menstrual frequency. However, Spironolactone is also known to induce menstrual irregularities when consumed at higher doses. Although, it is primarily in the management of hirsutism, acne, and androgenic alopecia (110).



Fig. 6. Structure of Spironolactone (Source: https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/5833

A clinical trial with two sub-groups including women with PCOS, lean and overweight, were subjected to spironolactone treatment. Women affected with oligomenorrhea, and amenorrhea were observed with a regular menstrual cycle. Other symptoms include acne development in lean (31%) and overweight women (33%). Spironolactone shows positive antiandrogenic properties. In some cases, use of spironolactone may cause Polyuria, Polydipsia during the initial days of treatment. Patients may also witness some minor to rare symptoms which includes headaches, increased appetite leading to weight gain, breast enlargement or tenderness & dizziness (111).

4. Treatment in adolescents

The aid of treatment for adolescents suffering from PCOS is OCPs, administered as an effective treatment for HA and contraception (112). OCPs bring menstruation in the regular cycle and reduce hirsutism and acne (113). Change in Lifestyle and weight loss are also considered as part of the primary line of treatment, especially in obese adolescents. Nevertheless, uncertainty prevails concerning the best OCPs and their duration of usage in adolescents (89, 114). Alternatively, metformin shows to improve irregular MC, insulin resistance, and HA in PCOS adolescents (89). Finally, adolescents PCOS treatment is recommended with OCPs which may reduce the chance of hyperandrogenism in adults (89) and early changes in lifestyle and metformin treatment show preventative results (89).

4.1. Natural products

Other synthetic drugs may show some side effects, which in turn would lead to some other disorder. Synthetically designed drugs may not work as efficiently/effectively in each patient. Use of synthetic drugs shows some mild symptoms and development of endometrial cancer in some adverse cases. Natural products, which are obtained from plants or organisms, minimize the risk of such side effects. The extract obtained from a natural product, such as moringa leaves, has shown significant results in lowering the blood insulin level. A decrease in insulin level leads to a subsequent decrease in androgen, promoting folliculogenesis. Due to its positive result and lowering the risk of side effects on PCOS women it is essential to switch more towards the utilization of natural products as compared to synthetic drugs.

5. Potential sources of natural drugs

5.1. Moringa

Moringa oleifera or Moringa (family- Moringaceas), extensively spotted in tropical climates. It emerged as a natural therapy as one of the alternatives in PCOS treatments, a food plant which originates from India, which grows in regions with temperatures around 25°C-35°C. Due to the side effect neutralizing the effect of food plants they are safe as compared to synthetic drugs (115). It is appreciated to be rich in various active medicinal chemicals. Recent studies on *Moringa oleifera* have potential as antioxidants, anticancer,

antidiabetic, anti-inflammatory, and as antimicrobial agents (116). Flavanol quercetin was found with high concentrations in Moringa oleifera leaves (116). Moringa oleifera leaf is composed of Quercetin also known as 3,3',4',5,7pentahydroxyflavone (117). Quercetin is a flavonoid which portrays a strong bioactive element with free radicals' effects, also acts as а potential anti-inflammation. it antihyperlipidemic, anticancer, and antiplatelet compound (118). Quercetin is also found to produce PI3K inhibin (119). The expression of CYP17A1 gene in the ovarian thecal cells is inhibited by the same quercetin P13K inhibin leading to which the activity of 17a-hydroxylase is decreased. 17ahydroxylase is crucial to produce sex hormones and glucocorticoids therefore a decrease in its activity pay a crucial role in PCOS (120). The action of Quercetin in maintaining the levels of insulin, LH and testosterone and lipid profile have been profoundly noted. The influence of Quercetin is also associated with a decreased ovarian and uterine mass and enhancing the level of follicles and corpus luteum in PCOS (120).

Moringa leaf extract could increase folliculogenesis in the ovary with insulin resistance. Excess amounts of androgens directly inhibit the insulin action in the liver periphery, and indirectly influences the insulin sensitivity in the body through fat metabolism (121). Due to decreased effectiveness of Androgens and the impaired signaling of GLUT-4 insulin resistance is caused. The androgen produced affects the environment of the ovaries, leading to androgen aromatization system disorders into estrogen triggering defective follicular growth. Decrease in insulin resistance decreases LH pulsation and therefore increases the frequency of GnRH secretion hence increases folliculogenesis (early atresia does not occur). Conclusively, Moringa oleifera could potentially control the levels of insulin in the blood consequently decreasing androgen and hence folliculogenesis is increased (122).

5.2. Spirulina

Spirulina platensis, now changed to Arthrospira platensis, is a cyanobacteria (blue-green algae). It gained notable attention in the healthy food industry as a food supplement for humans, poultry, livestock, and aquaculture diets (123). Typically grown in alkaline water with efficient yield and can be processed easily. It is known to be enriched with macronutrient and micronutrient contents, such as proteins, amino acids, unsaturated fatty acids and a variety of minerals and vitamins (124). It has shown evident therapeutic benefits in a collection of disease conditions, including hypercholesterolemia, hyperglycemia, cardiovascular disorders, inflammatory diseases, cancer, and viral disease (125). The two major species of Arthrospira genus are A. maxima and A. platensis.

Studies including *Spirulina* sp. in a high-cholesterol and high-fat diet showed a notable decline in hepatic lipids and blood lipids (125-127). Blé-Castillo and his team in a 2002

study, reported reduction of total hepatic lipids by almost 40%, decreased TG by 50%, and decreased serum TG by 45%, and there was also a 45% rise in serum HDL cholesterol after feeding fatty liver mice with *Spirulina* sp. for about two weeks (128). *Spirulina* sp. induced by treatment of alloxan was also established in diabetic mice. Lowering fasting blood glucose, GSP, cholesterol, TG levels, averted MDA formation, raised the levels of hepatic glycogen, and maintained TAOC and hepatic glucokinase (GK) expression (126).

Hypolipidemic effects of Spirulina sp. were studied with 15 T2DM patients, (129) 2g/day of Spirulina consumed for two months shows a notable decrease in LDL, VLDL and serum total cholesterol levels in the blood Furthermore, a significant decrease in blood sugar and GSP levels were also observed. Subjects in a study group consuming Spirulina dosage of 2g/day for 4 weeks, (130) with a decrease in LDL, VLDL, and TG levels, there was a significant decrease in apolipoprotein B level and a parallelly increase in apolipoprotein A1 level. These discoveries noted in the early studies were proved in two recent human clinical trials with T2D patients, (131, 132). Another trial involved 60 male patients aged 40 to 60 years consuming 1 or 2 g of Spirulina every day for two months (132). A notable decrease in fasting and post-meal blood glucose, serum total cholesterol, triglycerides, LDL, and VLDL cholesterol was observed. Benefits of spirulina on hyperlipidemia were observed in patients with hyperlipidemia and nephrotic syndrome (126; 133). Spirulina supplementation at a dose of 1 g/day for four weeks proclaimed a decrease in total serum cholesterol, TG, and LDL fraction by 46 mg/dL,45 mg/dL, and 33 mg/dL, respectively. The ratios between total cholesterol/HDL and LDL/HDL also decreased significantly. Consumption of spirulina shows a significant decrease in the serum total cholesterol levels, LDL cholesterol, oxidized LDL, and apolipoprotein B levels. On the other hand, total plasma cholesterol and LDL fraction were significantly decreased in females. These data, therefore, largely support that spirulina supplements are helpful mostly in elderly people (134).

Another study has shown a positive action of Spirulina on alpha amylase inhibition consisting of antidiabetic properties. Apart from consisting of antidiabetic properties, Spirulina also possesses anti-glycation activity, with its action on the formation of ages and dicarbonyl stress (135). A significant increase in serum insulin level was observed due to its antioxidant enzyme activity and RNA expression. A decrease in the level of glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) and malondialdehyde (MDA) with a proper recovery of the liver cells due its anti-inflammatory and antioxidant property was observed. Lowering levels of glucose eventually improved liver enzyme and increased insulin secretion was observed in the diabetic mice model when ingested with Spirulina extract (136).

6. Conclusion

Improper diet and altered steroidogenesis in women lead to the development of PCOS. PCOS is known for its collection of syndromes which affects the reproductive and psychological health of women. As the root cause of PCOS is not yet fully understood, various genetic factors and other environmental factors such as glycation which alter steroidogenesis in the ovary are assumed to be the cause for the pathology. Efforts to control the symptoms of PCOS are undertaken by using various drugs, diet management and lifestyle modification. Many synthetic drugs used for the treatment of PCOS have been recorded with significant side effects. Apart from synthetic drugs, natural products also have reported an improved condition in women with PCOS. Symptoms of PCOS include IR which leads to the development of T2DM. Women with PCOS are also observed with an increased risk of heart disease which may be due to hypercholesterolemia or hyperlipidemia. Spirulina has shown effective results in controlling high cholesterol and lipid levels when included in the diet. In recent studies Spirulina has also shown some antidiabetic and antiglycation activity. Since T2DM and PCOS are interrelated with the pathology mediated by insulin resistance, use of Spirulina in women with PCOS may control high cholesterol level and glycative stress caused in the ovaries due to the glycation of certain ovarian proteins and may function as a therapeutic aid. Thus, inclusion of Spirulina in the diet may be an effective alternative for the symptoms of PCOS which may regulate the steroidogenesis and maintain the menstrual cycle improving reproductive health and increase fertility. Further studies and analysis must be done for a conclusive result of the effects of dietary spirulina in PCOS.

Conflict of interest

No conflict of interest was declared by authors.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

References

- 1. Nestler J. Insulin regulation of human ovarian androgens. Hum Reprod. 12(suppl 1), 1997; 53-62. DOI: 10.1093/humrep/12.suppl_1.53
- Schoemaker J. Neuroendocrine control in polycystic ovary-like syndrome. Gynec Endocrino. 1991; 5(4), 277-288. DOI: 10.3109/09513599109028449
- **3.** Diamanti-Kandarakis E & Piperi C. Genetics of polycystic ovary syndrome: searching for the way out of the labyrinth. Hum Reprod Update. 2005; 11(6), 631-643. DOI: 10.1093/humupd/dmi025
- Xita N, Georgiou I, & Tsatsoulis A. The genetic basis of polycystic ovary syndrome. Eur J Endocrinol. 2002; 717-725. DOI: 10.1530/eje.0.1470717
- Diamanti-Kandarakis E & Dunaif A. Insulin Resistance and the Polycystic Ovary Syndrome Revisited: An Update on Mechanisms and Implications. Endocrine Reviews. 2012; 33(6), 981-1030. DOI: 10.1210/er.2011-1034
- 6. Diamanti-Kandarakis E & Dunaif A. PolyCystic Ovarian

Syndrome: An Updated Overview. Front Physiol. 2012; 7, 124. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2016.00124

- Bajuk Studen K & Pfeifer M. Cardiometabolic risk in polycystic ovary syndrome. Endocr Connect. 2018; 7(7), R238-R251. DOI: 10.1530/ec-18-0129
- Wang, F., Wang, S., Zhang, Z., Lin, Q., Liu, Y., & Xiao, Y. et al. Defective insulin signaling and the protective effects of dimethyldiguanide during follicular development in the ovaries of polycystic ovary syndrome. Mol Med Rep. 2017; 16(6), 8164-8170. DOI: 10.3892/mmr.2017.7678
- **9.** Dunaif A, Xia J, Book C, Schenker E & Tang Z. Excessive insulin receptor serine phosphorylation in cultured fibroblasts and in skeletal muscle. A potential mechanism for insulin resistance in the polycystic ovary syndrome. J Clin Invest. 1995; 96 (2), 801-810. DOI: 10.1172/jci118126
- 10. Dunaif A, Segal K, Shelley D, Green G, Dobrjansky A & Licholai T. Evidence for distinctive and intrinsic defects in insulin action in Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. Diabetes. 1992; 41(10), 1257-1266. DOI: 10.2337/diab.41.10.1257
- Venkatesan A. Insulin Resistance in Polycystic Ovary Syndrome: Progress and Paradoxes. Recent Prog Horm Res. 2001; 56(1), 295-308. DOI: 10.1210/rp.56.1.295
- 12. Sano H, Higashi T, Matsumoto K, Melkko J, Jinnouchi Y, & Ikeda K. et al. Insulin Enhances Macrophage Scavenger Receptor-mediated Endocytic Uptake of Advanced Glycation End Products. J Biol Chem. 1998; 273(15), 8630-8637. DOI: 10.1074/jbc.273.15.8630
- 13. Diamanti-Kandarakis E, Piperi C, Kalofoutis A & Creatsas G. Increased levels of serum advanced glycation end-products in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. Clin Endocrinol. 2005; 62(1), 37-43. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2004.02170.x
- 14. Ali A, Paramanya A, Prairna, Doukani K. Zehra S. Antioxidants in glycation related diseases. In Oxidative Stress and Antioxidant Defense: Biomedical Value in Health and Diseases, Md. Sahab Uddin and Aman Upaganlawar (Eds.). NOVA Science Publishers, Hauppauge, USA.2019. Pp. 465-488
- Ahmed N. Advanced glycation end products—role in pathology of diabetic complications. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2005; 67(1), 3-21. DOI: 10.1016/j.diabres.2004.09.004
- 16. Draznin B. Molecular Mechanisms of Insulin Resistance: Serine Phosphorylation of Insulin Receptor Substrate-1 and Increased Expression of p85: The Two Sides of a Coin. Diabetes. 2006; 55(8), 2392-2397. DOI: 10.2337/db06-0391
- 17. Ueki K, Algenstaedt P, Mauvais-Jarvis F, & Kahn C. Positive and Negative Regulation of Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase-Dependent Signaling Pathways by Three Different Gene Products of the p85α Regulatory Subunit. Mol Cell Biol. 2000; 20(21), 8035-8046. DOI: 10.1128/mcb.20.21.8035-8046.2000
- **18.** Terauchi Y, Tsuji Y, Satoh S, Minoura H, Murakami K, & Okuno A. et al. Increased insulin sensitivity and hypoglycaemia in mice lacking the $p85\alpha$ subunit of phosphoinositide 3–kinase. Nat Genet. 1999; 21(2), 230-235. DOI: 10.1038/6023
- 19. Giorgino F, Pedrini M, Matera L & Smith R. Specific Increase in p85α Expression in Response to Dexamethasone Is Associated with Inhibition of Insulin-like Growth Factor-I Stimulated Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase Activity in Cultured Muscle Cells. J Biol Chem. 1997; 272(11), 7455-7463. DOI: 10.1074/jbc.272.11.7455
- 20. Cornier M, Bessesen D, Gurevich I, Leitner J & Draznin B. Nutritional upregulation of p85α expression is an early molecular manifestation of insulin resistance. Diabetologia. 2006; 49(4), 748-754. DOI: 10.1007/s00125-006-0148-0

- Bandyopadhyay G, Yu J, Ofrecio J & Olefsky J. Increased p85/55/50 Expression and Decreased Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase Activity in Insulin-Resistant Human Skeletal Muscle. Diabetes. 2005; 54(8), 2351-2359. DOI: 10.2337/diabetes.54.8.2351
- 22. Saini V. Molecular mechanisms of insulin resistance in type 2 diabetes mellitus. World J Diabetes. 2010; 1(3):68-75. DOI:10.4239/wjd.v1.i3.68
- Qiao LY, Goldberg JL, Russell JC & Sun XJ. Identification of enhanced serine kinase activity in insulin resistance. J Biol Chem. 1999; 274(15), 10625-10632. DOI: 10.1074/jbc.274.15.10625
- 24. Samuel V, & Shulman G. Mechanisms for Insulin Resistance: Common Threads and Missing Links. Cell. 2012; 148(5), 852-871. DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.02.017
- 25. Samuel V, Petersen K & Shulman G. Lipid-induced insulin resistance: unravelling the mechanism. The Lancet. 2010; 375(9733), 2267-2277. DOI: 10.1016/s0140-6736(10)60408-4
- 26. Itani S, Ruderman N, Schmieder F & Boden, G. Lipid-Induced Insulin Resistance in Human Muscle Is Associated With Changes in Diacylglycerol, Protein Kinase C, and I B-. Diabetes. 2002; 51(7), 2005-2011. DOI: 10.2337/diabetes.51.7.2005
- 27. Garvey WT, Maianu L, Zhu JH, Brechtel-Hook G, Wallace P & Baron AD. Evidence for defects in the trafficking and translocation of GLUT4 glucose transporters in skeletal muscle as a cause of human insulin resistance. J Clin Invest. 1998; 101(11), 2377–2386. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI1557
- 28. Fabbrini E, Magkos F, Mohammed B, Pietka T, Abumrad N & Patterson B. et al. Intrahepatic fat, not visceral fat, is linked with metabolic complications of obesity. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2009 106(36), 15430-15435. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0904944106
- 29. Kaufman R. Stress signaling from the lumen of the endoplasmic reticulum: coordination of gene transcriptional and translational controls. Genes Dev. 1999; 13(10), 1211-1233. DOI: 10.1101/gad.13.10.1211
- 30. Dresner A, Laurent D, Marcucci M, Griffin M, Dufour S & Cline G. et al. Effects of free fatty acids on glucose transport and IRS-1–associated phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase activity. J Clin Invest. 1999; 103(2), 253-259. DOI: 10.1172/jci5001
- **31.** Kumar D, Ali A. 2019. Antiglycation and Antiaggregation potential of Thymoquinine. Nat Volat Essent Oils. 6 (1): 25-33
- 32. Hodge J. Dehydrated Foods, Chemistry of Browning Reactions in Model Systems. J Agric Food Chem. 1953; 1(15), 928-943. DOI: 10.1021/jf60015a004
- 33. Paul R & Bailey A. Glycation of collagen: the basis of its central role in the late complications of ageing and diabetes. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 1996; 28(12), 1297-1310. DOI: 10.1016/s1357-2725(96)00079-9
- **34.** Thorpe S & Baynes J. Maillard reaction products in tissue proteins: New products and new perspectives. Amino Acids. 2003; 25(3-4), 275-281. DOI: 10.1007/s00726-003-0017-9
- 35. Ali A, More T, Hoonjan A K, Sivakami S. 2017. Antiglycating potential of Acesulfame potassium: An artificial sweetener. App Physiol Nutr Metabol. 2017. 42(10):1054-1063. http://dx.doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2017-0119.
- 36. Reddy S, Bichler J, Wells-Knecht K, Thorpe S & Baynes J. N.epsilon.-(Carboxymethyl)lysine Is a Dominant Advanced Glycation End Product (AGE) Antigen in Tissue Proteins. Biochem. 1995; 34(34), 10872-10878. DOI: 10.1021/bi00034a021

- 37. Negre-Salvayre A, Coatrieux C, Ingueneau C & Salvayre R. Advanced lipid peroxidation end products in oxidative damage to proteins. Potential role in diseases and therapeutic prospects for the inhibitors. Br J Pharmacol. 2008; 153(1), 6-20. DOI: 10.1038/sj.bjp.0707395
- 38. Moldogazieva N, Mokhosoev I, Mel'nikova T, Porozov Y & Terentiev A. Oxidative Stress and Advanced Lipoxidation and Glycation End Products (ALEs and AGEs) in Aging and Age-Related Diseases. Oxid Med Cell Longev. 2019; 1-14. DOI: 10.1155/2019/3085756
- 39. Kim J & Choi Y. Dyslipidemia in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. Obstet Gynecol Sci. 2013; 56(3), 137. DOI: 10.5468/ogs.2013.56.3.137
- 40. Rutkowska A & Diamanti-Kandarakis E. (2016). Do Advanced Glycation End Products (AGEs) Contribute to the Comorbidities of Polycystic Ovary Syndrome (PCOS)?. Curr Pharm Des. 2016; 22(36), 5558-5571. DOI: 10.2174/1381612822666160714094404
- 41. Gkogkolou P & Böhm M. (2012). Advanced glycation end products: Key players in skin aging? Dermatoendocrinol. 2012; 4(3), 259–270. https://doi.org/10.4161/derm.22028
- **42.** Miyata T, Inagi R, Iida Y, Sato M, Yamada N & Oda O. et al. Involvement of beta 2-microglobulin modified with advanced glycation end products in the pathogenesis of hemodialysisassociated amyloidosis. Induction of human monocyte chemotaxis and macrophage secretion of tumor necrosis factoralpha and interleukin-1. J Clin Invest. 1994; 93(2), 521-528. DOI: 10.1172/jci117002
- **43.** Bierhaus A, Humpert P, Morcos M, Wendt T, Chavakis T & Arnold B. et al. Understanding RAGE, the receptor for advanced glycation end products. J Mol Med. 2005; 83(11), 876-886. DOI: 10.1007/s00109-005-0688-7
- 44. Xue M, Rabbani N, & Thornalley P. Glyoxalase in ageing. Semin Cell Dev Biol. 2011; 22(3), 293-301. DOI: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2011.02.013
- 45. Chen L, Chen R, Wang H & Liang F. Mechanisms Linking Inflammation to Insulin Resistance. Int J Endocrinol. 2015; 1-9. DOI: 10.1155/2015/508409
- 46. Tanaka N, Yonekura H, Yamagishi S, Fujimori H, Yamamoto Y, & Yamamoto H. (2000). The Receptor for Advanced Glycation End Products Is Induced by the Glycation Products Themselves and Tumor Necrosis Factor-α through Nuclear Factor-κB, and by 17β-Estradiol through Sp-1 in Human Vascular Endothelial Cells. J Biol Chem, 275(33), 25781-25790. DOI: 10.1074/jbc.m001235200
- 47. Diamanti-Kandarakis E & Papavassiliou A. Molecular mechanisms of insulin resistance in polycystic ovary syndrome. Trends Mol Med. 2006; 12(7), 324-332. DOI: 10.1016/j.molmed.2006.05.006
- **48.** Baptiste, C., Battista, M., Trottier, A., & Baillargeon, J. Insulin and hyperandrogenism in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2010; 122(1-3), 42-52. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2009.12.010
- **49.** Schoemaker J. Neuroendocrine control in polycystic ovary-like syndrome. Gynecol Endocrinol. 1991; 5(4), 277-288. DOI: 10.3109/09513599109028449
- 50. Fauser B, Tarlatzis B, Rebar R, Legro R, Balen A & Lobo R. et al. Consensus on women's health aspects of polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS): the Amsterdam ESHRE/ASRM-Sponsored 3rd PCOS Consensus Workshop Group. Fertil Steril. 2012; 97(1), 28-38.e25. DOI: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2011.09.024
- 51. Kirschner M & Wayne Bardin C. Androgen production and

metabolism in normal and virilized women. Metabolism. 1972; 21(7), 667-688. DOI: 10.1016/0026-0495(72)90090-x

- **52.** Balen A. The pathophysiology of polycystic ovary syndrome: trying to understand PCOS and its endocrinology. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol. 2004; 18(5), 685-706. DOI: 10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2004.05.004
- **53.** Zhang LH, Rodriguez H, Ohno S & Miller WL. Serine phosphorylation of human P450c17 increases 17, 20-lyase activity: implications for adrenarche and the polycystic ovary syndrome. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 1995; 92: 10619–10623. https://dx.doi.org/10.1073%2Fpnas.92.23.10619
- 54. White D, Leigh A, Wilson C, Donaldson A & Franks S. Gonadotropin and gonadal steroid response to a single dose of a long-acting agonist of gonadotropin-releasing hormone in ovulatory and anovulatory women with polycystic ovary syndrome. Clin Endocrinol. 1995; 42(5), 475-481. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.1995.tb02665.x
- 55. Sıklar Z, Berberoğlu M, Çamtosun E, & Kocaay P. Diagnostic Characteristics and Metabolic Risk Factors of Cases with Polycystic Ovary Syndrome during Adolescence. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol. 2015; 28(2), 78-83. DOI: 10.1016/j.jpag.2014.05.006
- 56. Baillargeon J, Iuorno M & Nestler J. Insulin Sensitizers for Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. Clin Obstet Gynecol. 2003; 46(2), 325-340. DOI: 10.1097/00003081-200306000-00011
- 57. Dunaif A. Hyperandrogenic anovulation (PCOS): A unique disorder of insulin action associated with an increased risk of non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Am J Med. 1995; 98(1), S33-S39. DOI: 10.1016/s0002-9343(99)80057-6
- 58. Rathsman B, Rosfors S, Sjöholm Å & Nyström T. Early signs of atherosclerosis are associated with insulin resistance in nonobese adolescent and young adults with type 1 diabetes. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2012; 11(1), 145. DOI: 10.1186/1475-2840-11-145
- 59. Bhattacharya S & Jha A. Prevalence and risk of metabolic syndrome in adolescent Indian girls with polycystic ovary syndrome using the 2009 'joint interim criteria'. J Obstet Gynaecol Res. 2011; 37(10), 1303-1307. DOI: 10.1111/j.1447-0756.2010.01516.x
- 60. Hart R, Doherty D, Mori T, Huang R, Norman R & Franks S. et al. Extent of metabolic risk in adolescent girls with features of polycystic ovary syndrome. Fertil Steril. 2011; 95(7), 2347-2353.e1. DOI: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2011.03.001
- 61. Lass N, Kleber M, Winkel K, Wunsch R & Reinehr T. Effect of Lifestyle Intervention on Features of Polycystic Ovarian Syndrome, Metabolic Syndrome, and Intima-Media Thickness in Obese Adolescent Girls. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011; 96(11), 3533-3540. DOI: 10.1210/jc.2011-1609
- 62. Garg D, Merhi Z. Relationship between Advanced Glycation End Products and Steroidogenesis in PCOS. Reprod Biol Endocrinol. 2016; 14(1):71. Published 2016 Oct 21. DOI:10.1186/s12958-016-0205-6
- 63. Chatzigeorgiou A, Kandaraki E, Piperi C, Livadas S, Papavassiliou A & Koutsilieris, M. et al. Dietary glycotoxins affect scavenger receptor expression and the hormonal profile of female rats. J Endocrinol. 2013; 218(3), 331-337. DOI: 10.1530/joe-13-0175
- 64. Franks S. Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. N Engl J Med. 1995; 333(13), 853-861. DOI: 10.1056/nejm199509283331307
- **65.** Rabbani N & Thornalley P. Dicarbonyl stress in cell and tissue dysfunction contributing to ageing and disease. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2015; 458(2), 221-226. DOI:

10.1016/j.bbrc.2015.01.140

- 66. Zhao Z, Zhao C, Zhang X, Zheng F, Cai W, Vlassara H, & Ma Z. Advanced Glycation End Products Inhibit Glucose-Stimulated Insulin Secretion through Nitric Oxide-Dependent Inhibition of Cytochrome c Oxidase and Adenosine Triphosphate Synthesis. Endocrinol. 2009; 150(6), 2569-2576. DOI: 10.1210/en.2008-1342
- 67. Ollila M, Piltonen T, Puukka K, Ruokonen A, Järvelin M & Tapanainen J. et al. Weight Gain and Dyslipidemia in Early Adulthood Associate with Polycystic Ovary Syndrome: Prospective Cohort Study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2016; 101(2), 739-747. DOI: 10.1210/jc.2015-3543
- 68. Morgan C, Jenkins-Jones S, Currie C & Rees D. Evaluation of Adverse Outcome in Young Women with Polycystic Ovary Syndrome Versus Matched, Reference Controls: A Retrospective, Observational Study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2012; 97(9), 3251-3260. DOI: 10.1210/jc.2012-1690
- 69. Joham A, Ranasinha S, Zoungas S, Moran L & Teede H. Gestational Diabetes and Type 2 Diabetes in Reproductive-Aged Women with Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2014; 99(3), E447-E452. DOI: 10.1210/jc.2013-2007
- 70. Moran L, Misso M, Wild R & Norman R. Impaired glucose tolerance, type 2 diabetes and metabolic syndrome in polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Hum Reprod Update. 2010; 16(4), 347-363. DOI: 10.1093/humupd/dmq001
- Legro R, Kunselman A, Dodson W & Dunaif A. Prevalence and Predictors of Risk for Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Impaired Glucose Tolerance in Polycystic Ovary Syndrome: A Prospective, Controlled Study in 254 Affected Women1. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1999; 84(1), 165-169. DOI: 10.1210/jcem.84.1.5393
- 72. Norman R, Masters L, Milner C, Wang J, & Davies M. Relative risk of conversion from normoglycemia to impaired glucose tolerance or non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus in polycystic ovarian syndrome. Hum Reprod. 2001; 16(9), 1995-1998. DOI: 10.1093/humrep/16.9.1995
- 73. Wang E, Calderon-Margalit R, Cedars M, Daviglus M, Merkin S & Schreiner P. et al. Polycystic Ovary Syndrome and Risk for Long-Term Diabetes and Dyslipidemia. Obstet Gynecol. 2011; 117(1), 6-13. DOI: 10.1097/aog.0b013e31820209bb
- 74. Baillargeon JP, Nestler JE, Ostlund RE, Apridonidze T, Diamanti-Kandarakis E. Greek hyperinsulinemic women, with or without polycystic ovary syndrome, display altered inositols metabolism. Hum Reprod. 2008; 23, 1439–1446. 10.1093/humrep/den097
- **75.** Lungu AO, Zadeh ES, Goodling A, Cochran E, Gorden P. Insulin resistance is a sufficient basis for hyperandrogenism in lipodystrophic women with polycystic ovarian syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2012; 97, 563–567. 10.1210/jc.2011-1896
- 76. Kalme T, Koistinen H, Loukovaara M, Koistinen R, Leinonen P. Comparative studies on the regulation of insulin-like growth factor-binding protein-1 (IGFBP-1) and sex hormone-binding globulin (SHBG) production by insulin and insulin-like growth factors in human hepatoma cells. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2003; 86, 197–200. 10.1016/S0960-0760(03)00268-1
- 77. Legro RS, Castracane VD, Kauffman RP. Detecting insulin resistance in polycystic ovary syndrome: purposes and pitfalls. Obstet Gynecol Surv. 2004; 59, 141–154. 10.1097/01.OGX.0000109523.25076.E2
- **78.** Nawrocka-Rutkowska J, Ciecwiez S, Marciniak A, Brodowska A, Wisniewska B, Kotlega D, et al. Insulin resistance assessment

in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome using different diagnostic criteria–impact of metformin treatment. Ann Agric Environ Med. 2013; 20, 528–532.

- 79. Misso M, Boyle J, Norman R, Teede H. Development of evidenced-based guidelines for PCOS and implications for community health. Semin Reprod Med. 2014; 32, 230–240. 10.1055/s-0034-1371095
- 80. Legro RS, Arslanian SA, Ehrmann DA, Hoeger KM, Murad MH, Pasquali R, et al. Diagnosis and treatment of polycystic ovary syndrome: an Endocrine Society clinical practice guideline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2013; 98, 4565–4592. 10.1210/jc.2013-2350
- 81. Teede HJ, Misso ML, Deeks AA, Moran LJ, Stuckey BG, Wong JL, et al. Assessment and management of polycystic ovary syndrome: summary of an evidence-based guideline. Med J Aust. 2011; 195, S65–S112. 10.5694/mja11.10915
- 82. Norman RJ, Dewailly D, Legro RS, Hickey TE. Polycystic ovary syndrome. The Lancet 2007; 370, 685–697. 10.1016/S0140-6736(07)61345-2
- **83.** Pasquali R, Gambineri A, Pagotto U. The impact of obesity on reproduction in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. BJOG. 2006; 113, 1148–1159. 10.1111/j.1471-0528.2006. 00990.x
- 84. Knowler WC, Barrett-Connor E, Fowler SE, Hamman RF, Lachin JM, Walker EA, et al. Reduction in the incidence of type 2 diabetes with lifestyle intervention or metformin. N Engl J Med. 2002; 346, 393–403. 10.1056/NEJMoa012512
- **85.** Clark AM, Thornley B, Tomlinson L, Galletley C, Norman RJ. Weight loss in obese infertile women results in improvement in reproductive outcome for all forms of fertility treatment. Hum Reprod. 1998; 13, 1502–1505. 10.1093/humrep/13.6.1502
- 86. Costello M, Shrestha B, Eden J, Sjoblom P, Johnson N. Insulinsensitising drugs versus the combined oral contraceptive pill for hirsutism, acne and risk of diabetes, cardiovascular disease, and endometrial cancer in polycystic ovary syndrome. 2007; Cochrane Database Syst Rev 1: CD005552.
- Yildiz BO. Approach to the patient: contraception in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2015; 100, 794–802. 10.1210/jc.2014-3196
- 88. Yildiz BO. Oral contraceptives in polycystic ovary syndrome: risk-benefit assessment. Semin Reprod Med. 2008b; 26, 111– 120. 10.1055/s-2007-992931
- **89.** El Hayek S, Bitar L, Hamdar LH, Mirza FG, & Daoud G. PolyCystic Ovarian Syndrome: An Updated Overview. Front Physiol. 2016; 7, 124. doi:10.3389/fphys.2016.00124
- **90.** Spritzer PM, Motta AB, Sir-Petermann T, Diamanti-Kandarakis E. Novel strategies in the management of polycystic ovary syndrome. Minerva Endocrinol. 2015; 40, 195–212.
- 91. Morin-Papunen LC, Koivunen RM, Ruokonen A, Martikainen HK. Metformin therapy improves the menstrual pattern with minimal endocrine and metabolic effects in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. Fertil Steril. 1998; 69, 691–696. 10.1016/S0015-0282(98)00011-9
- **92.** Bailey CJ, Turner RC. Metformin. N Engl J Med 1996; 334: 574–579
- 93. Pau CT, Keefe C, Duran J, Welt CK. Metformin improves glucose effectiveness, not insulin sensitivity: predicting treatment response in women with polycystic ovary syndrome in an openlabel, interventional study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2014; 99, 1870–1878. 10.1210/jc.2013-4021
- 94. Misitzis A, Cunha PR, Kroumpouzos G. Skin disease related to

metabolic syndrome in women. Int J Womens Dermatol. 2019 Jul 4;5(4):205-212. eCollection 2019 Sep. Review. PubMed PMID: 31700973.

- 95. Ehrmann DA, Cavaghan MK, Imperial J, Sturis J, Rosenfield RL, Polonsky KS. Effects of metformin on insulin secretion, insulin action, and ovarian steroidogenesis in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1997; 82, 524–530. 10.1210/jc.82.2.524
- 96. Koivunen RM, Morin-Papunen LC, Ruokonen A, Tapanainen JS, Martikainen HK. Ovarian steroidogenic response to human chorionic gonadotrophin in obese women with polycystic ovary syndrome: effect of metformin. Hum Reprod. 2001 Dec;16(12):2546-51. doi: 10.1093/humrep/16.12.2546. PMID: 11726572.
- 97. Wang Z, Zhai D, Zhang D, Bai L, Yao R & Yu J. et al. Quercetin Decreases Insulin Resistance in a Polycystic Ovary Syndrome Rat Model by Improving Inflammatory Microenvironment. Reprod Sci. 2016; 24(5), 682-690. DOI: 10.1177/1933719116667218
- **98.** Huang Y, Sun J, Wang X, Tao X, Wang H, & Tan, W. Asymptomatic chronic gastritis decreases metformin tolerance in patients with type 2 diabetes. J Clinic Pharm Therapeutics, 2015; 40(4), 461-465.
- **99.** Soeprijanto B, Assegaf JH. Mekanisme peningka-tan heat shock protein-70 PADA kanker payudara tikus yang diradiasi, pascapemberian ekstrak meniran (phyllanthusniruri)(mechanism of increasing of Hsp-70 on irradiated rat breast cancer, due to application of extract of phyllanthus nir. J Vet. 2014; 15(3), 330-336.
- **100.** Lashen H. (2010). Role of metformin in the management of polycystic ovary syndrome. Therapeut Adv Endocrinol Metabol. 2010; 1(3), 117-128.
- 101. Majuri A, Santaniemi M, Rautio K, Kunnari A, Vartiainen J, Ruokonen A, et al. Rosiglitazone treatment increases plasma levels of adiponectin and decreases levels of resistin in overweight women with PCOS: a randomized placebo-controlled study. Eur J Endocrinol. 156, 263–269. 2007; 10.1530/eje.1.02331
- 102. Lee EJ, Marcy TR. The impact of pioglitazone on bladder cancer and cardiovascular events. Consult Pharm. 2014; 29, 555– 558. 10.4140/TCP.n.2014.555
- 103. Levin D, Bell S, Sund R, Hartikainen SA, Tuomilehto J, Pukkala E, et al. Pioglitazone and bladder cancer risk: a multipopulation pooled, cumulative exposure analysis. Diabetologia. 2015; 58, 493–504. 10.1007/s00125-014-3456-9.
- 104. Genazzani AD, Prati A, Santagni S, Ricchieri F, Chierchia E, Rattighieri E, et al. Differential insulin response to myo-inositol administration in obese polycystic ovary syndrome patients. Gynecol Endocrinol. 2012; 28, 969–973. 10.3109/09513590.2012.685205
- **105.** Morgante G, Cappelli V, Di Sabatino A, Massaro MG, De Leo V. Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) and hyperandrogenism: the role of a new natural association. Minerva Ginecol. 2015; 67, 457–463.
- 106. Papaleo E, Unfer V, Baillargeon JP, Fusi F, Occhi F, De Santis L. Myo-inositol may improve oocyte quality in intracytoplasmic sperm injection cycles. A prospective, controlled, randomized trial. Fertil Steril. 2009; 91, 1750–1754. 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2008.01.088
- 107. Sortino MA, Salomone S, Carruba MO, Drago F. Polycystic Ovary Syndrome: Insights into the Therapeutic Approach with Inositols. Front Pharmacol. 2017;8:341. Published 2017 Jun 8.

doi:10.3389/fphar.2017.00341

- **108.** Rago R, Marcucci I, Leto G, Caponecchia L, Salacone P, Bonanni P, et al. Effect of myo-inositol and alpha-lipoic acid on oocyte quality in polycystic ovary syndrome non-obese women undergoing in vitro fertilization: a pilot study. J Biol Regul Homeost Agents 2015; 29, 913–923.
- **109.** Nordio M, Proietti E. The combined therapy with myoinositol and D-chiro-inositol reduces the risk of metabolic disease in PCOS overweight patients compared to myo-inositol supplementation alone. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 2012; 16, 575–581.
- **110.** Ganie MA, Khurana ML, Eunice M, Gupta N, Gulati M, Dwivedi SN, et al. Comparison of efficacy of spironolactone with metformin in the management of polycystic ovary syndrome: an open-labeled study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab.2004; 89, 2756–2762. 10.1210/jc.2003-031780.
- **111.** Zulian E, Sartorato P, Benedini S, Baro G, Armanini D, Mantero F et al. Spironolactone in the treatment of polycystic ovary syndrome: Effects on clinical features, insulin sensitivity and lipid profile. J Endocrinolo Invest. 2005;28(3):49-53.
- Diamanti-Kandarakis E, Economou F, Palimeri S, Christakou C. Metformin in polycystic ovary syndrome. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2010 Sep; 1205:192-8. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05679.x. PMID: 20840272.
- **113.** Cedars MI. Polycystic ovary syndrome: what is it and how should we treat it? J Pediatr. 2004; 144, 4–6. 10.1016/j.jpeds.2003.10.032
- 114. Pfeifer SM, Dayal M. Treatment of the adolescent patient with polycystic ovary syndrome. Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am. 2003; 30, 337–352. 10.1016/S0889-8545(03)00028-7.
- **115.** Gilani A, Bashir S, Janbaz K & Shah A. Presence of cholinergic and calcium channel blocking activities explains the traditional use of Hibiscus rosasinensis in constipation and diarrhoea. J Ethnopharmacol. 2005; 102(2), 289-294. DOI: 10.1016/j.jep.2005.07.023
- **116.** Gopalakrishnan L, Doriya K & Kumar D. Moringa oleifera: A review on nutritive importance and its medicinal application. Food Sci Human Wellness, 2016; 5(2), 49-56. DOI: 10.1016/j.fshw.2016.04.001
- 117. Wang Z, Zhai D, Zhang D, Bai L, Yao R & Yu J. et al. Quercetin Decreases Insulin Resistance in a Polycystic Ovary Syndrome Rat Model by Improving Inflammatory Microenvironment. Reprod Sci. 2016; 24(5), 682-690. DOI: 10.1177/1933719116667218
- **118.** Juźwiak S, Wójcicki J, Mokrzycki K, et al. Effect of quercetin on experimental hyperlipidemia and atherosclerosis in rabbits. Pharmacol Rep. 2005; 57(5):604-609. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16227643/
- **119.** Zhai H, Wu H, Xu H, Weng P, Xia F, Chen Y & Lu, Y. Trace glucose and lipid metabolism in high androgen and high-fat diet induced polycystic ovary syndrome rats. Reprod Biol Endocrinol. 2012; 10(1), 5. DOI: 10.1186/1477-7827-10-5
- **120.** Shah K & Patel S. (2015). Phosphatidylinositide 3-kinase inhibition: A new potential target for the treatment of polycystic ovarian syndrome. Pharmaceut Biol. 2015; 54(6), 975-983. DOI: 10.3109/13880209.2015.1091482
- 121. Volpi E, Lieberman S, Ferrer D, Gilkison C, Rasmussen B, Nagamani M & Urban R. The Relationships Between Testosterone, Body Composition, and Insulin Resistance: A lesson from a case of extreme hyperandrogenism. Diabetes Care. 2005; 28(2), 429-432. DOI: 10.2337/diacare.28.2.429

- 122. Amelia D, Santoso B, Purwanto B, Miftahussurur M, Joewono H & Budiono. Effects of Moringa oleifera on Insulin Levels and Folliculogenesis in Polycystic Ovary Syndrome Model with Insulin Resistance. Immunol Endocr Metab Agents Med Chem. 2018; 18(1), 22-30. DOI: 10.2174/1871522218666180426100754
- 123. Paramanya A, Jha P, Ali A. 2019. Bioactive compounds in Spirulina sp.: Applications and potential health effects. In Next Generation research in Aquaculture, J K Sundaray and M A Rather (Eds.) Narendra Publishing House, Delhi. Pp. 197-218.
- **124.** Sotiroudis T & Sotiroudis G. Health aspects of Spirulina (Arthrospira) microalga food supplement. J Serb Chem Soc. 2013; 78(3), 395-405. DOI: 10.2298/jsc121020152s
- 125. Wan D, Wu Q & Kuča K. Spirulina. Nutraceuticals. 2016; 569-583. DOI: 10.1016/b978-0-12-802147-7.00042-5
- 126. Deng R & Chow T. Hypolipidemic, Antioxidant, and Antiinflammatory Activities of Microalgae Spirulina. Cardiovascular Therapeutics. 2010; 28(4), e33-e45. DOI: 10.1111/j.1755-5922.2010.00200.x
- **127.** Kato T, Takemoto K, Katayama H & Kuwabara Y. Eiyo To Shokuryo. 1984; 37(4), 323-332. DOI: 10.4327/jsnfs.37.323
- 128. Blé-Castillo J, Rodriguez-Hernández A, Miranda-Zamora R, Juárez-Oropza, M & Diaz-Zagoya J. Arthrospira maxima prevents the acute fatty liver induced by the administration of simvastatin, ethanol and a hypercholesterolemic diet to mice. Life Sci. 2002; 70(22), 2665-2673. DOI: 10.1016/s0024-3205(02)01512-6
- **129.** Mani U, Desai S & Iyer U. Studies on the Long-Term Effect of Spirulina Supplementation on Serum Lipid Profile and Glycated Proteins in NIDDM Patients. J Nutraceut Funct Med Food. 2000; 2(3), 25-32. DOI: 10.1300/j133v02n03 03
- 130. Parikh P, Mani U & Iyer U. Role of Spirulina in the Control of Glycemia and Lipidemia in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. J Med Food. 2001; 4(4), 193-199. DOI: 10.1089/10966200152744463
- **131.** Lee E, Park J, Choi Y, Huh K & Kim W. A randomized study to establish the effects of spirulina in type 2 diabetes mellitus patients. Nutri Res Practice. 2008; 2(4), 295. DOI: 10.4162/nrp.2008.2.4.295
- **132.** Kaur K, Sachdeva R & Grover K. Effect of supplementation of Spirulina on blood glucose and lipid profile of the non-insulin dependent diabetic male subjects. J Dairying, Foods Home Sci. 2008; 27(3and4), 202-208.
- **133.** Samuels R, Mani U, Iyer U & Nayak U. Hypocholesterolemic Effect ofSpirulinain Patients with Hyperlipidemic Nephrotic Syndrome. J Med Food. 2002; 5(2), 91-96. DOI: 10.1089/109662002760178177
- **134.** Mazokopakis E, Karefilakis C, Tsartsalis A, Milkas A & Ganotakis E. Acute rhabdomyolysis caused by Spirulina (Arthrospira platensis). Phytomedicine. 2008; 15(6-7), 525-527. DOI: 10.1016/j.phymed.2008.03.003
- 135. Ali A & Paramanya A. Antidiabetic and Antiglycating properties of Spirulina platensis. 2019; MESMAP–5 PROCEEDINGS BOOK, 79.
- 136. Shaikh N, Dadachanji R & Mukherjee S. Genetic Markers of Polycystic Ovary Syndrome: Emphasis on Insulin Resistance. Intl J Med Genetics. 2014; 1-10. DOI: 10.1155/2014/478972.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm



ergipark.org.tr/omujecm



J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 269-274 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.50

Digital three-dimensional planning of orthodontic miniscrew anchorage: A literature review

Berat Serdar AKDENİZ*[®], Yunus ÇARPAR[®], Kübra ARSLAN ÇARPAR[®]

Department of Orthodontics, Dentistry Faculty, Kirikkale University, Kirikkale, Turkey

Received: 26.05.2021	•	Accepted/Published Online: 06.06.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022

Abstract

Orthodontic miniscrews are used for skeletal orthodontic anchorage. An appropriate insertion technique is essential to avoid complications during miniscrew placement. The guides prepared using surface anatomy and 2D radiographs cannot correctly analyze bone volume. Advances in digital 3D medical technologies enabled orthodontists to use digital imaging, digital scanning, and 3D printing to accurately place miniscrews using a surgical guide developed with computer-aided design and manufacturing techniques. The objective of this article was to demonstrate the development of miniscrew placement techniques chronologically and provide brief information about the production, use, and efficiency of modern, digitally planned, and produced miniscrew insertion guides.

Keywords: orthodontic miniscrew, surgical guide, virtual planning, CAD-CAM, CBCT

1. Introduction

Orthodontic treatment depends on moving the teeth via a gentle force application. Orthodontic force is generated using orthodontic arch wires, springs and elastics. Although all of these elements have different features, they all need a supporting structure, an orthodontic anchorage, to generate a force vector. Undesired complications can be seen if anchorage unit was not planned properly thus, anchorage planning was considered as the most important part of the orthodontic treatment planning (1-4).

Intraoral and extraoral anatomical structures were used for orthodontic anchorage. Although extraoral devices are successful in providing the desired anchorage, they depend on patient compliance and are aesthetically difficult to accept therefore, intraoral anchorage can be a desired option generally (1). It is difficult to obtain a stationary anchorage with intraoral or extraoral anchorage devices even with excellent patient cooperation. Mini screw-implants were developed to use the skeletal structures as anchorage (1, 5). Orthodontic miniscrews provide the necessary support without the need for patient compliance. Retention of miniscrews during the orthodontic treatment is one of the factors to consider when using minisrew anchorage (6). The mechanical properties, placement technique, the region where they are inserted, the duration of use, the forces they are exposed to and the factors related to the patient affect the retention and clinical success of the miniscrews (5, 7-9).

Miniscrews have proven to be a useful addition to the orthodontist's armamentarium for the control of skeletal

anchorage in less compliant or noncompliant patients, but the risks involved with miniscrew placement must be clearly understood by both the clinician and the patient (10-12). Complications like trauma to the periodontal ligament or the dental root, miniscrew slippage to the unwanted regions, nerve involvement, nasal and maxillary sinus perforation can arise during miniscrew placement and after orthodontic loading regarding stability and patient safety (6). A proper placement technique is imperative to avoid complications during mini screw placement.

A direct manual application is commonly used for the placement of miniscrews, and several methods for minimizing root damage have been suggested when using manual application. Root damage was reported to be reduced when insertion is 4 to 6 mm below the alveolar crest (13) A vertical insertion angle of 30° to 45° is advantageous, and distal tilting of 10° to 20° is reported to be safe (13, 14). However, according to Kuroda et al. (4), contact with or damage to anatomic structures around the roots occurred in 47.4% of maxillary and 48.3% of mandibular miniscrews placed with a direct manual method. Therefore, orthodontic miniscrews inserted using the direct manual method can cause unexpected damage to anatomic structures around teeth because this method depends on the operator's senses and visibility might be limited (15).

Several methods have been proposed for transferring the 2-dimensional (2D) information in the radiographs used for surgical planning to the 3-dimensional (3D) surgical site to

minimize the risks of root damage. For example, inserting a radiopaque marker, such as brass or stainless-steel wire into the interproximal space of the selected implant site has been suggested as a practical method to help guide the drill between the dental roots (16).

The first guiding device was reported by Suzuki and Buranastidporn (2005). It was pre-manufactured and allowed 3D adjustments to be made; however, it was not found to be cost-effective. Two years later, same researchers published details of a simpler guide that had an auxiliary Gurin-lock attached to a vertical rod. The main advantages of this surgical guide were its horizontal articulation, having a metallic tube serving as inclination guide and low cost. The main disadvantage was the lack of vertical adjustment. In order to adjust the height of the device, rods of different lengths were required (17). Other designs of device include brass wire passed through the contact point between the teeth and with apical extension (18); devices with circular rings at their ends (which are easy to make, but are not necessarily accurate) (6); cross-welded devices made of rectangular stainless steel wires inserted into the bracket slots (19, 20) (which are individualized, but hard to make); plate-type devices with a pilot hole made in laboratory (21, 22) which, are accurate, but require laboratory fabrication, and articulated devices fixed to orthodontic appliance (17, 23) which, are adjustable, but expensive. There are also reports of plate-shaped devices (21, 24) that have the advantage of being individualized for each case. These guides are widely employed in those cases where a pilot drill is initially used, but also with self-drilling miniscrews. The main disadvantage of the plate-shaped devices is that they need to be made in a laboratory.

When the studies about conventional methods are reviewed, it is concluded that the guides prepared using surface anatomy and 2D radiographs cannot correctly analyze bone volume. At the same time, different surface anatomy due to maxillary sinus, dilated roots and alveolar bone loss cannot be detected with these methods.

The use of 3D technology brought the possibility of utilizing cone beam computer tomography (CBCT) images and 3D printers for digital implant guide production for a more accurate screw placement.

Cone-Beam Computed Tomography (CBCT) technology, which is used with the development of 3D imaging methods, provides more precise and detailed information in research and clinical studies for the placement of miniscrews. Additional advantages of CBCT include reduced cost and significant reduction of radiation exposure compared with typical medical CT devices. At the same time, with the development of computer-aided design and computer-aided production (CAD-CAM), minimally invasive and more accurate planning can be made by producing surgical plaques and palatal orthodontic appliances for planning. With the use of intraoral scanners, the increase in the availability of CBCT devices, production of modelling software specially for dental field and in-office 3D printers, 3D screw guides became easy to produce in the clinic.

This review aims to enable the user obtain a thorough knowledge on the background and the production of the 3D guide for mini screw placement.

2. Digital aid in miniscrew application

Digital workflow has been widely applied in the area of implant dentistry (25, 26). In the "computer-guided" implant placement approach, virtual planning of implants' positions and 3D printed customized surgical guides are used to help the clinician improve the accuracy of implants positioning in the jaw bones during the surgical phase (27, 28). In orthodontics, the placement of micro-implants with a 3D method method based on CBCT imaging has been described in recent years (29, 30).

3. Surgical guide production with replica model

In the first study on this subject, Kim et al. (2007) planned the size and location of the miniscrew to be used by making measurements on the CBCT (31). They produced the replica model of the patient's upper jaw using a prototype machine that was produced by stereolithography (SLA) method from the patient's CBCT images. Surgical guide plates were prepared to be used in the miniscrew application on the model. The miniscrew was applied according to the plan made in CBCT. They found that the occlusal surface of the replica model produced in the study was not clear and it was not able to clearly convey the amount of soft tissue located between the bone and the surgical plate. It is also stated that the replica model produced with SLA technique was not useful due to its high cost.

4. Surgical guide production with custom made impression material

Yu et al. (2012) developed a new navigation guide for addressing limitations of existing CBCT guide systems. Using this technique, a surgical stent was custom made from rubber polyvinylsiloxane impression material, and the rubber stent and jaw were scanned together using CBCT (32). They used a geometric algorithm to find the optimal orthodontic miniscrew placement site. By using the custom-designed surveyor and a Computer Numerical Control (CNC) machine, a guide hole was drilled in the surgical stent template according to the prescription angles measured on the conebeam computed tomography data. Statistically significant differences were not observed between the predictive implant location and actual implant location. For this CBCT assisted orthodontics minicrews stent fabrication process, some potential sources of error include data from the CBCT scan (e.g., patient movement causing blurriness of images), transposing the guide hole planning data, manufacturing of the surgical stent, positioning of the surgical stent, and during installation of the orthodontics miniscrew.

5. Surgical guide production with cad-cam technology

One year after their first study, Kim et al. (2008) kept working on the same subject. The position of the miniscrews were planned to use CBCT (33). When planning the position of the miniscrews, an implant planning program called SimPlant (Materialize, Leuven, Belgium) was used. Because the reproducibility of a CT image relative to occlusal surface of the dentition was not as precise as a cast, they also shipped a cast of the patient's dentition to the processing center. A laser scan of the dental cast was superimposed on the CT scan, and the surgical guide was made on a computergenerated model of these images. The surgical guide contained metal guide cylinders placed according to the clinician's plan in the computer simulation. Surgical guide plates were prepared using the SurgiGuide (Materialize, Leuven, Belgium) program. The surgical guide was constructed with a Rapid Prototyping (RP) machine that uses stereolithography, a layer-additive rapid prototyping process based on photo-polymer liquid resins that solidify when exposed to UV light. The RP machine reads the diameter and angulation of the simulated implant, selectively polymerizes the resin around the implant, and forms a cylindrical guide on the replica corresponding to each implant. The technician then removes the supporting resin and uses the cylindrical guide to insert surgical grade stainless steel tubing to serve as the guide tube. C-implants (Cimplant, Seoul, South Korea) were used as the skeletal anchorage miniscrew. After insertion of the miniscrews with the surgical guides, another CBCT was taken to evaluate the outcome.

In the first years of studies on the subject, CBCT data and plaster dental models were sent to planning centers for processing because of the limited availability of the dedicated software. Even the early studies about the accuracy of miniscrew placement with digital aid showed promising results.

Qiu et al. (2012) intended to develop surgical stents for CBCT 3D image-based stent-guided orthodontic miniscrew implantation and to evaluate its accuracy (34). Impressions of the phantom dental models were taken with an alginate-based material and cast models of the phantom with special "blockouts" were acquired. The cast models were scanned using a 3D laser scanner (LPX-1200; Roland DG Corporation, Shizuoka, Japan) with a 0.1 mm slice pitch, and the reconstructed surface images (stereolithography (STL) files) were exported. The STL files were then imported into Simplant software (Materialise Dental Japan Inc, Tokyo, Japan) and superimposed on CBCT dentition images to acquire the fine 3D dentition images and to transfer the spatial data of blockouts. The data for the implantation plan, including the superimposed 3D laser-scanned image and a dental cast of the phantom, were sent to Materialise Dental Japan Inc for the fabrication of the surgical stents in a CAD-CAM process with photopolymerized resin using a stereolithographic appliance (SLA). They compared the surgical stent insertion against freehand insertion on maxillary and mandibular phantoms. Six parameters (mesiodistal and vertical deviations at the corona and apex and mesiodistal and vertical angular deviations) were measured to compare variations between the groups. They found no root damage in the stent group, whereas four of 10 miniscrews contacted with roots in the freehand group. Significant differences were found in all six parameters between the two groups. Their results showed that the apical mesiodistal deviation of miniscrews without root contact to be significantly lower than that of miniscrews with root contact in the freehand group. Among the six parameters, the apical mesiodistal deviation was the key indicator for root contact.

Bae et al. (2013) evaluated the accuracy of miniscrew placement by using surgical guides developed with computeraided design and manufacturing techniques (15). Miniscrews were placed in cadaver maxillae using stereolithographic computer-aided design and manufacturing techniques with assistance from surgical guides or periapical x-rays. Insertion sites were selected using a 3D surgical planning program by fusing maxillary digital model images and CBCT images. In the control group direct manual method was used for the placement of miniscrew. They found that the deviations between actual and planned placements differed significantly between operators in the control group, but not in the surgical guide group. In the surgical guide group, there was no root damage from miniscrew placement, and 84% of the miniscrews were placed without contacting adjacent anatomic structures. In the control group, 50% of the miniscrews were placed between the roots. Surgical guide accuracy was improved when digital model imaging was used.

Accurate superimposition of CBCT image and intraoral scanning is important for accurate specification of the insertion area. In a trial by Cassetta et al. (2018) the patient wore a personalized radiological tray (Universal Stent, Bionova, Follo, La Spezia, Italy) with radiopaque landmarks during the CBCT exam; this radiological tray was properly positioned in the mouth with a transparent vinyl polysiloxane (Elite Transparent, Zhermack, Badia Polesine, Rovigo, Italy) and allowed a perfect overlap of the jaw and cast STL files. A software application (Guide Design) permitted the design of the surgical guide (Vector Guide, WHITEK, Lodi, Italy). The 3D STL model of the surgical guide was printed using a 3D printer. The surgical procedures were performed without complications in all cases. They found 1.38 mm coronal and 1.73 mm apical deviations with the surgical guide while the mean angular deviation was 4.60° (35).

Palatinal miniscrew placement requires special attention because of several reasons. Palatinal anchorage devices often use two symmetrically placed miniscrews and some of the devices need bicortical anchorage of the cortical bones of palatal vault and nasal floor. The cortical bone is thin in the nasal floor and orientation of the miniscrew should be thoroughly planned so that it does not penetrate the nasal floor.

Maino et al. (2016) published an article to describe the construction and use of a miniscrew insertion guide designed especially for palatal applications, called the MAPA System. They asserted that the system ensured that miniscrews were placed at the correct depth in the maxillary bone and that multiple implants were parallel. CBCT scan or lateral cephalogram could be used for the identification of optimal site and direction of miniscrew insertion. The latter required a thermo-plastic polyethylene terephthalate glycol-modified bite registration to be made from the patient's plaster cast, with a series of radiopaque markers inserted along the median palatine raphe. Cylindrical guides were placed on the surgical splint to replicate the angle of insertion and were virtually joined to the template by transparent resin bridges, and the entire assembly was produced using a 3D printer. After guiding the miniscrew insertion, the bridges were removed with a dental bur (36).

Cantarella et al. (2020) published an article about miniscrew assisted rapid palatal expansion (MARPE) appliances (36). They placed Maxillary Skeletal Expander (MSE) with four miniscrews on the palate. Bicortical skeletal anchorage was required for the correct functioning of MSE. since it increased the stability of micro-implants (37). They concluded that the digital workflow enabled accurately place the MSE relative to the bizygomatic line, to enhance the biomechanics of the expansion, maximize the bone thickness at micro-implant insertion sites, define the minimum microimplant length to penetrate the cortical bone of both palatal vault and nasal floor, obtain the parallelism between the four micro implants, the midsagittal plane, and the nasal septum. They too found that compared to the traditional approach, the methodology presented to position MSE with digital planning based on CBCT had the advantage of increasing the precision and safety of the procedure.

Giudice et al. (2020) followed the recent guidelines for digital workflow planning proposed by Cantarella et al. (2020) for the MSE appliance, however, they utilized the patient CBCT DICOM file that allows discriminating between cortical and cancellous bone (36). Also, they used the negative positional template of the MSE for virtual planning. This template allows lab technicians to construct the device in a reliable and accurate position, according to the virtual project planned by orthodontist. The investigators firstly used a printed template of expander connected to a handle which facilitates the test of adaptability of MSE avoiding discomfort to patient (38).

Modern workflow (Fig. 1.) for digital 3D miniscrew guide production starts with obtaining 3D CBCT data of the related area. Scanning of plaster models is replaced with intraoral scanning which provides detailed 3D data of the teeth and the surrounding tissues. Both the intraoral scanning and raw DICOM format of the CBCT image are exported as universal STL file. A dedicated software superimposes the teeth in the CBCT image with the intraoral scan so that CBCT gives the data about the bone and the roots while intraoral scanning gives high quality data about the teeth in the same 3D structure. User then can decide the placement of the miniscrews. DICOM slices can also be used during the placement zone planning. Surgical guide is digitally planned in the software and the guide is exported in a printable STL format to be printed in a 3D printer. Guide can be used after 3D printing.

Orthodontists often place miniscrews without a surgical guide and take only a panoramic radiograph or periapical images for presurgical treatment planning to estimate interradicular space. When implant installation is done manually without a surgical guide, the implant tends to follow the trajectory of least resistance. But the stability of miniscrew placement independent of the operator's skill level when the surgical guide was used. When miniscrews were placed by the 2 operators, who had different levels of experience, there can be little difference in the accuracy of placement between them when surgical guides were used. This implies that deviations between operators can be reduced using surgical guides.

When using the direct method, if the interradicular relationship appears clear and the interradicular distance seems sufficient in the 2D radiographic images, such as the panoramic or periapical view, miniscrews can be implanted successfully. Furthermore, if miniscrews are placed by an experienced orthodontist, the success rate will probably be higher. However, when 2D images of the desired implantation site do not portray an accurate interradicular relationship, when the interradicular distance is short, or when there are significant anatomic structures nearby such as the maxillary sinus or nerve canal, 3D imaging, such as CBCT, might be necessary for planning miniscrew implantation. Although CBCT imaging is not conventionally prescribed because of its cost and amount of radiation, it can be a valuable tool for fabricating surgical guides for successful placement of miniscrews when it is used selectively in patients with limitations to miniscrew placement (15).

Routine use of CBCT cannot be accepted in young patients, but its use can be justified on a patient case individual basis (39). The patient's exposure to radiation can be greatly reduced by the choice of a Field of View (FOV) as small as possible (5 x 11 cm) in the CBCT. This is particularly recommended in subjects under 18 years of age (40). Such FOV is large enough to select the skeletal landmarks required for the virtual positioning of MSE. This inconvenience is compensated by the added safety of the methodology, which allows to avoid the involvement of anatomical areas like the nasal septum, and to maximize bone thickness at miniscrew insertion sites, for a higher stability of

the skeletal anchorage during treatment (36). Surgical guides based on CBCT image are especially indicated for the patients with risky anatomic situations. (21)

When the studies about digital planning of miniscrew applications are reviewed, several different software programs were utilized by authors, which is time-consuming for the operator. For the use in the routine orthodontic clinical practice, it is advisable that the functions be unified in a single software to make the methodology more efficient.

6. Conclusion

The more intraoral scanning and virtual planning technologies advance, the easier the combination of TADs and other preformed parts will become for our orthodontic treatment. CAD-CAM procedure for manufacturing of 3D metal printed orthodontic appliances is an efficient and accurate method to fabricate miniscrew guides. The most important advantages of digital workflow in guide production are decreased risk of complications, decreased chair time and greater patient comfort. Advantages of this technique over conventional methods for miniscrew placement include elimination of impression trays and material.

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

References

- 1. Maino BG, Mura P, Bednar J. Miniscrew implants: the spider screw anchorage system. Semin Orthod. 2005 11: 40–46.
- **2.** Melsen B, Verna C. Miniscrew implants: the Aarhus anchorage system. Semin Orthod. 2005 11: 24–31.
- Hedayati Z, Hashemi SM, Zamiri B, Fattahi HR. Anchorage value of surgical titanium screws in orthodontic tooth movement. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2007 Jul;36(7):588-92. doi: 10.1016/j.ijom.2006.10.020. Epub 2007 May 23. PMID: 17524619.
- Kuroda S, Yamada K, Deguchi T, Hashimoto T, Kyung HM, Takano-Yamamoto T. Root proximity is a major factor for screw failure in orthodontic anchorage. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2007 Apr;131(4 Suppl): S68-73. doi: 10.1016/j.ajodo.2006.06.017. PMID: 17448389.
- Crismani AG, Bertl MH, Celar AG, Bantleon HP, Burstone CJ. Miniscrews in orthodontic treatment: review and analysis of published clinical trials. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2010 Jan;137(1):108-13. doi: 10.1016/j.ajodo.2008.01.027. PMID: 20122438.
- Kravitz ND, Kusnoto B. Risks and complications of orthodontic miniscrews. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2007 Apr;131(4 Suppl):S43-51. doi: 10.1016/j.ajodo.2006.04.027. PMID: 17448385.
- Miyawaki S, Koyama I, Inoue M, Mishima K, Sugahara T, Takano-Yamamoto T. Factors associated with the stability of titanium screws placed in the posterior region for orthodontic anchorage. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2003 Oct;124(4):373-8. doi: 10.1016/s0889-5406(03)00565-1. PMID: 14560266.
- 8. Kuroda S, Sugawara Y, Deguchi T, Kyung HM, Takano-

Yamamoto T. Clinical use of miniscrew implants as orthodontic anchorage: success rates and postoperative discomfort. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2007 Jan;131(1):9-15. doi: 10.1016/j.ajodo.2005.02.032. PMID: 17208101.

- Lim HJ, Eun CS, Cho JH, Lee KH, Hwang HS. Factors associated with initial stability of miniscrews for orthodontic treatment. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2009 Aug;136(2):236-42. doi: 10.1016/j.ajodo.2007.07.030. PMID: 19651354.
- **10.** Cope JB. Temporary anchorage devices in orthodontics: a paradigm shift. Semin orthod. 2005 11: 3–9.
- Kravitz N, Kusnoto B. Dual-Top Anchor Mini Orthoscrews: seminar manual—UIC Clinical Test Protocol. Rocky Mountain Orthotics. 2005 17–40.
- 12. Ohnishi H, Yagi T, Yasuda Y, Takada K. A mini-implant for orthodontic anchorage in a deep overbite case. Angle Orthod. 2005 May;75(3):444-52. doi: 10.1043/0003-3219(2005)75[444: AMFOAI]2.0.CO;2. PMID: 15898387.
- 13. Lim JE, Lim WH, Chun YS. Quantitative evaluation of cortical bone thickness and root proximity at maxillary interradicular sites for orthodontic mini-implant placement. Clin Anat. 2008 Sep;21(6):486-91. doi: 10.1002/ca.20671. PMID: 18698651.
- 14. Park HS, Hwangbo ES, Kwon TG. Proper mesiodistal angles for microimplant placement assessed with 3-dimensional computed tomography images. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2010 Feb;137(2):200-6. doi: 10.1016/j.ajodo.2008.04.028. PMID: 20152675.
- 15. Bae MJ, Kim JY, Park JT, Cha JY, Kim HJ, Yu HS, Hwang CJ. Accuracy of miniscrew surgical guides assessed from cone-beam computed tomography and digital models. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2013 Jun;143(6):893-901. doi: 10.1016/j.ajodo.2013.02.018. PMID: 23726340.
- 16. Suzuki EY, Suzuki B. Accuracy of miniscrew implant placement with a 3-dimensional surgical guide. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2008 Jun;66(6):1245-52. doi: 10.1016/j.joms.2007.08.047. PMID: 18486791.
- Suzuki EY, Buranastidporn B. An adjustable surgical guide for miniscrew placement. J Clin Orthod. 2005 Oct;39(10):588-90. PMID: 16244426.
- 18. Park HS, Jeong SH, Kwon OW. Factors affecting the clinical success of screw implants used as orthodontic anchorage. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2006 Jul;130(1):18-25. doi: 10.1016/j.ajodo.2004.11.032. PMID: 16849067.
- 19. Pithon MM, dos Santos RL. Fabrication of an adjustable miniscrew surgical guide. J Orthod. 2010 Jun;37(2):118-20. doi: 10.1179/14653121042975. PMID: 20567035.
- 20. Felicita AS. A simple three-dimensional stent for proper placement of mini-implant. Prog Orthod. 2013 Nov 12;14(1):45. doi: 10.1186/2196-1042-14-45. PMID: 24326158; PMCID: PMC3883515.
- **21.** Morea C, Dominguez GC, Wuo Ado V, Tortamano A. Surgical guide for optimal positioning of mini-implants. J Clin Orthod. 2005 May;39(5):317-21. PMID: 15961891.
- 22. Suzuki EY, Suzuki B. A simple three-dimensional guide for safe miniscrew placement. J Clin Orthod. 2007 Jun;41(6):342-6. PMID: 17652869.
- 23. Kyung HM, Park HS, Bae SM, Sung JH, Kim IB. Development of orthodontic micro-implants for intraoral anchorage. J Clin Orthod. 2003 Jun;37(6):321-8; quiz 314. PMID: 12866214.
- 24. Colombo M, Mangano C, Mijiritsky E, Krebs M, Hauschild U, Fortin T. Clinical applications and effectiveness of guided

implant surgery: a critical review based on randomized controlled trials. BMC Oral Health. 2017 Dec 13;17(1):150. doi: 10.1186/s12903-017-0441-y. PMID: 29237427; PMCID: PMC5729259.

- **25.** Beretta M, Poli PP, Tansella S, Maiorana C. Virtually guided alveolar ridge reduction combined with computer-aided implant placement for a bimaxillary implant-supported rehabilitation: A clinical report. J Prosthet Dent. 2018 Aug;120(2):168-172. doi: 10.1016/j.prosdent.2017.11.010. Epub 2018 Feb 21. PMID: 29429840.
- Spector L. Computer-aided dental implant planning. Dent Clin N Am. 2008 52: 761–775.
- 27. Beretta M, Poli PP, Maiorana C. Accuracy of computer-aided template-guided oral implant placement: a prospective clinical study. J Periodontal Implant Sci. 2014 Aug;44(4):184-93. doi: 10.5051/jpis.2014.44.4.184. Epub 2014 Aug 28. PMID: 25177520; PMCID: PMC4148631.
- **28.** Maino G, Paoletto E, Lombardo L, Siciliani G. MAPA: A new high-precision 3D method of palatal miniscrew placement. *EJCO*. 2015 **3**: 41–47.
- **29.** De Gabriele O, Dallatana G, Riva R, Vasudavan S, Wilmes B. The easy driver for placement of palatal mini-implants and a maxillary expander in a single appointment. J Clin Orthod. 2017 Nov;51(11):728-737. PMID: 29360638.
- 30. Kim SH, Choi YS, Hwang EH, Chung KR, Kook YA, Nelson G. Surgical positioning of orthodontic mini-implants with guides fabricated on models replicated with cone-beam computed tomography. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2007 Apr;131(4 Suppl):S82-9. doi: 10.1016/j.ajodo.2006.01.027. PMID: 17448391.
- 31. Yu JJ, Kim GT, Choi YS, Hwang EH, Paek J, Kim SH, Huang JC. Accuracy of a cone beam computed tomography-guided surgical stent for orthodontic mini-implant placement. Angle Orthod. 2012 Mar;82(2):275-83. doi: 10.2319/060811-374.1. Epub 2011 Aug 29. PMID: 21875317.
- **32.** Kim SH, Kang JM, Choi B, Nelson G. Clinical application of a stereolithographic surgical guide for simple positioning of

orthodontic mini-implants. World J Orthod. 2008 Winter;9(4):371-82. PMID: 19146019.

- 33. Qiu L, Haruyama N, Suzuki S, Yamada D, Obayashi N, Kurabayashi T, Moriyama K. Accuracy of orthodontic miniscrew implantation guided by stereolithographic surgical stent based on cone-beam CT-derived 3D images. Angle Orthod. 2012 Mar;82(2):284-93. doi: 10.2319/033111-231.1. Epub 2011 Aug 17. PMID: 21848407.
- 34. Cassetta M, Altieri F, Di Giorgio R, Barbato E. Palatal orthodontic miniscrew insertion using a CAD-CAM surgical guide: description of a technique. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2018 Sep;47(9):1195-1198. doi: 10.1016/j.ijom.2018.03.018. Epub 2018 Apr 11. PMID: 29653870.
- 35. Maino BG, Paoletto E, Lombardo L 3rd, Siciliani G. A Three-Dimensional Digital Insertion Guide for Palatal Miniscrew Placement. J Clin Orthod. 2016 Jan;50(1):12-22. PMID: 26919634.
- 36. Cantarella D, Savio G, Grigolato L, Zanata P, Berveglieri C, Lo Giudice A, et al. A New Methodology for the Digital Planning of Micro-Implant-Supported Maxillary Skeletal Expansion. Med Devices (Auckl). 2020 Mar 18;13:93-106. doi: 10.2147/MDER.S247751. PMID: 32256130; PMCID: PMC7090180.
- 37. Lo Giudice A, Quinzi V, Ronsivalle V, Martina S, Bennici O, Isola G. Description of a Digital Work-Flow for CBCT-Guided Construction of Micro-Implant Supported Maxillary Skeletal Expander. Materials (Basel). 2020 Apr 12;13(8):1815. doi: 10.3390/ma13081815. PMID: 32290597; PMCID: PMC7215674.
- **38.** Aps JK. Three-dimensional imaging in paediatric dentistry: a must-have or you're not up-to-date? Eur Arch Paediatr Dent. 2013 Jun;14(3):129-30. doi: 10.1007/s40368-013-0034-7. PMID: 23609925.
- **39.** Hidalgo-Rivas JA, Theodorakou C, Carmichael F, Murray B, Payne M, Horner K. Use of cone beam CT in children and young people in three United Kingdom dental hospitals. Int J Paediatr Dent. 2014 Sep;24(5):336-48. doi: 10.1111/ipd.12076. PMID: 25247224.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm



Case Report

J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 275-276 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.51

An unusual upper GI bleeding: Angiodysplasia at the hepaticojejunostomy anostomosis

Merve EREN^{1,*}, Serkan ÖCAL², Adil DUMAN²

¹Department of Internal Medicine, University of Health Sciences Antalya Training and Research Hospital, Antalya, Turkey ²Department of Gastroenterology, University of Health Sciences Antalya Training and Research Hospital, Antalya, Turkey

Received: 29.04.2021	٠	Accepted/Published Online: 21.06.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022
-----------------------------	---	---------------------------------------	---	---------------------------

Abstract

Upper gastrointestinal bleeding (UGIB) is a common condition causing a considerable number of admissions in clinics. The most frequent causes of UGIB are peptic ulcer disease, malignancies, variceal bleeding and Mallory Weiss tears. A 47-year-old male subject was admitted to the emergency service with recurrent episodes of melena. He had been hospitalized several times before, but he was discharged because the endoscopic procedures did not reveal any origin. There has been a history of Whipple surgery for pancreatic adenocarcinoma. When admitted he was tachycardic, melanic stool was noted on rectal examination and his hemoglobin level was decreased. Widespread angioectasia was detected at the borders of the biliary-enteric anastomosis, which was known to have bleeding on upper GI endoscopy. Despite their rare presentation, bleeding from the vascular ectasia near the anostomotic line should be kept in mind in the differential diagnosis of patients with gastrointestinal hemorrhage.

Keywords: angiodysplasia, gastrointestinal bleeding, vascular ectasia, whipple surgery, pancreaticoduodenectomy

1. Introduction

Upper gastrointestinal hemorrhage is a prevalent potentially lethal condition causing a great number of admissions in health services worldwide (1, 2). An upper gastrointestinal (GI) hemorrhage is described as blood loss from proximal GI tract (3). Patients with upper GI hemorrhage usually present with hematemesis (vomiting of blood and/or coffee-ground-like material) and/or melena (black, tarry stools), although hematochezia may be seen in a case of major bleeding and is typically associated with hemodynamic instability even hemorrhagic shock (4). The most frequent causes of upper gastrointestinal bleeding are peptic ulcer disease due to use of aspirin and/or other non-steroidal anti inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), variceal bleeding, malignancies including gastric cancer and Mallory Weiss tears (5). Comparably uncommon causes are erosive gastritis/duodenitis, esophagitis, Dieulafoy's lesions and vascular ectasia (5). Here, we report a case of a gastrointestinal hemorrhage as a late complication of Whipple's procedure.

2. Case Report

A 47-year-old male subject was admitted to the emergency service with recurrent episodes of melena. He had been hospitalized several times for further examination before, but he was discharged because the endoscopic procedures (3 times gastroscopy, 2 times colonoscopy) did not reveal any origin. There was а history of Whipple surgery (pancreaticoduodenectomy) for pancreatic ductal

adenocarcinoma one and a half years ago. He had received adjuvant gemcitabine and capecitabine treatment, which was completed one year ago after the surgical procedure. Since then he has only been using NSAIDs on demand. When admitted he was tachycardic and his vital values; pulse rate 110 / min, blood pressure 110/80 mmHg, respiratory rate 14 / min, saturation O₂: 96% at room air, respectively. Melanic stool was noted on rectal examination. Hemoglobin level was 8.2 g / dl (normal: 13.5-8 g / dl). Laboratory values were otherwise not remarkable. Intravenous fluid replacement following two units of red cell suspension transfusion was planned in the emergency department. Later, the subject was taken to the gastroenterology service for further assessment and follow-up. An upper GI endoscopy was planned to examine the anastomotic region. Widespread angioectasia was detected at the borders of the biliary-enteric anastomosis, which was known to have bleeding and clots were seen in patches (Fig. 1). No active bleeding was observed. Argon plasma coagulation (APC) could not be performed due to technical issues. Additionally, there were several stones in the common bile duct. Endoscopic Retrograde Cholangiopancreatography was planned after recovery. In the following days, the hemoglobin level did not decrease and melena disappeared.

3. Discussion

Here, we have demonstrated the origin of bleeding by investigating the afferent jejunal loop anostomosis site in a
patient with a history of Whipples procedure (pancreaticoduodenectomy) (6).



Fig. 1. Angioectasia detected endoscopically at the borders of the biliary-enteric anastomosis

Reviewing previously reported literature, in patients with pancreaticoduodenectomy, source of bleeding may include varices, pseudoaneurysms, erosions, ulcers, ectopic pancreatic fistula and intra-abdominal abcess (6). In our case, only angioectasia were present. In suspected cases of GI bleeding, diagnosis is usually made with endoscopy. In conditions when extended endoscopy is necessary and gastroscopes length is not enough, single-balloon endoscopy (SBE) and double-balloon endoscopy (DBE) and colonoscopy may be beneficial for investigating biliary anastomosis (7). In general, these lesions are treated endoscopically with APC successfully (8). In conclusion, despite their rare presentation, bleeding from the vascular ectasia near the anostomotic line should be kept in mind in the differential diagnosis of patients with gastrointestinal hemorrhage who have a history of Whipple's procedure.

Conflict of Interests

Authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Acknowledgements

None.

- Haddad FG, El Imad T, Nassani N, Kwok R, Al Moussawi H, Polavarapu A, Ahmed M, El Douaihy Y, Deeb L. In-hospital acute upper gastrointestinal bleeding: What is the scope of the problem? World J Gastrointest Endosc. 2019 Dec 16;11(12):561-572. doi: 10.4253/wjge.v11i12.561. PMID: 31839875; PMCID: PMC6885731.
- 2. Hearnshaw SA, Logan RF, Lowe D, Travis SP, Murphy MF, Palmer KR. Acute upper gastrointestinal bleeding in the UK: patient characteristics, diagnoses and outcomes in the 2007 UK audit. Gut. 2011 Oct;60(10):1327-35. doi: 10.1136/gut.2010.228437. Epub 2011 Apr 13. PMID: 21490373. Gut 60, 1327-35.

- **3.** Khamaysi I. & Gralnek I.M., 2013. Acute upper gastrointestinal bleeding (UGIB)- initial evaluation and management. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 27, 633-8.
- Biecker E, Heller J, Schmitz V, Lammert F, Sauerbruch T. Diagnosis and management of upper gastrointestinal bleeding. Dtsch Arztebl Int. 2008 Feb;105(5):85-94. doi: 10.3238/arztebl.2008.0085. Epub 2008 Feb 1. PMID: 19633792; PMCID: PMC2701242.
- Danış N, Tekin F, Akarca US, Ünal NG, Işık Erdoğan E, Akat K, Demirkoparan Ü, Karasu Z, Turan İ, Oruç N, Aydın A, Ersöz G, Vardar R, Özütemiz Ö, Günşar F. Changing patterns of upper gastrointestinal bleeding over 23 years in Turkey. Turk J Gastroenterol. 2019 Oct;30(10):877-882. doi: 10.5152/tjg.2019.19239. PMID: 31258140; PMCID: PMC6812949.
- 6. Baba H, Wakabayashi M, Oba A, Baba H, Mitsuoka A, Nakamura H, Sanada T, Kuwabara H, Nakajima K, Goseki N, Ishida H. Unusual bleeding from hepaticojejunostomy controlled by adult variable stiffness colonoscopy: report of a case and literature review. Int Surg. 2014 Sep-Oct;99(5):584-9. doi: 10.9738/INTSURG-D-13-00126.1. PMID: 25216425; PMCID: PMC4253928.
- Domagk D, Mensink P, Aktas H, Lenz P, Meister T, Luegering A, Ullerich H, Aabakken L, Heinecke A, Domschke W, Kuipers E, Bretthauer M. Single- vs. double-balloon enteroscopy in small-bowel diagnostics: a randomized multicenter trial. Endoscopy. 2011 Jun;43(6):472-6. doi: 10.1055/s-0030-1256247. Epub 2011 Mar 7. Erratum in: Endoscopy. 2011 Dec;43(12):1089. PMID: 21384320.
- Manner H. Argon plasma coagulation therapy. Curr Opin Gastroenterol. 2008 Sep;24(5):612-6. doi: 10.1097/MOG.0b013e32830bf825. PMID: 19122503.



Case Report



J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 277-279 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.52

Acute motor axonal neuropathy associated with COVID-19

Mehlika PANPALLI ATEȘ * [®], Beyza Nur ÇETİN [®], Beria Nur ERTUĞRUL [®], Ahmet Enes YÜKSEKTEPE[®], Selim Selçuk ÇOMOĞLU[®]

Department of Neurology, University of Health Sciences, Diskapi Yildirim Beyazit Training and Research Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

	Received: 10.05.2021 •	Accepted/Published Online: 12.06.2021	٠	Final Version: 01.01.2022	
--	-------------------------------	---------------------------------------	---	---------------------------	--

Abstract

COVID-19, which is considered a global pandemic, is constantly being renewed. Acute motor axonal neuropathy (AMAN) is a rare, axonal variant of Guillain-Barré syndrome (GBS). This article presents a 69-year-old female patient diagnosed with AMAN due to a COVID-19 infection. Sixty-nine-year-old female patient who started myalgia, headache, cough 14 days ago, and was added diarrhea, fever, loss of smell and taste. Nasopharyngeal SARS-CoV-2 polymerase chain reaction (PCR) was found to be positive. Ten days later, numbness and weakness developed in the distal extremities. As a result of the patient's neurological examination, acute motor axonal neuropathy (AMAN) was diagnosed.

Keywords: acute motor axonal neuropathy, COVID-19, guillain-Barré syndrome, pandemic, SARS-CoV2

1. Introduction

This virus is called SARS-CoV-2 and is named by World Health Organization as Coronavirus Disease 2019; COVID-19 (1, 2).

Both SARS and COVID-19 bind to the angiotensinconverting enzyme-2 receptors (3). This receptor is situated in the cell membrane of several organs; including the lung, kidney, liver, skeletal muscle and nervous system (4).

The SARS-CoV-2 infection has been reported to have neurological complications such as febrile seizures, headache, dizziness, confusion, myalgia, loss of taste and smell, encephalitis, stroke, and acute peripheral nerve disorders (4-6).

Coronavirus starts as a nasal infection, and it enters the central nervous system through the olfactory bulb. It causes inflammation and demyelination, which may lead to temporary loss of smell and taste in patients without typical symptoms (6).

GBS is an inflammatory polyradiculoneuropathy characterized by acute, ascending motor weakness, or cranial nerve weakness, loss of deep tendon reflexes, mild sensory abnormalities, and dysautonomic symptoms, accompanied by muscle or radicular pain (7). AMAN is a very rare form of symmetric neuropathy. GBS, which affects the motor fibers, and is characterized by axonal degeneration. Two-thirds of GBS associated with a viral infection 1-3 weeks before. Diarrhea due to Campylobacter jejuni enteritis is usually observed in the prodromal period (8).

Here, we report the AMAN case related to COVID-19, which is a rare subtype of a GBS.

2. Case Report

A sixty-nine-year-old female patient, who started to have weakness and fatigue 14 days ago. With the addition of myalgia, headache, cough, diarrhea, high fever, inability to taste and smell, she underwent nasopharyngeal SARS-CoV-2 polymerase chain reaction (PCR), and it was found to be positive. Ten days after the PCR test, she came to the emergency department due to the numbness in the distal extremities and the subsequent ascending weakness.

The patient had a history of hypothyroidism, diabetes mellitus, hypertension.

The neurological examination of the patient's bilateral upper and lower extremities were 2/5 in the proximals, 3/5 in the distals. The deep tendon reflexes were globally abolic. The patient's clinic was consistent with progressive flaccid

The laboratory tests results were follows: serum glucose 147 mg/dL; blood urea nitrogen: 35 mg/dL; creatinine 0.5 mg/dL; alanine aminotransferase 18.8 U/L; aspartate aminotransferase 16.9 U/L; sodium 138 mEq/L; potassium 3.56 mEq/L; white blood cell count 15600/ μ L (neutrophils=81.8%; lymphocytes=11.3%); Erythrocyte sedimentation rate 42 mm/hour, C-reactive protein 24.9 mg/L, hemoglobin 12.7 g/dL. The patient's Campylobacter jejuni test was negative.

Lumbar puncture was performed on the patient. Cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) proteins=150 mg/dL (normal=0-40 mg/dL), white blood cells=0×106/L (normal=0-8×106/L). Microbiologic testing on CSF was negative (including HSV, VZV, EBV, CMV, HIV-1, Borrelia Burgdorferi IgM/IgG). CSF analysis demonstrated albuminocytological dissociation.

In the first electroneuromyography evaluation of the patient's (complaints on the 2^{nd} day) is; median, peroneal, posterior tibial nerve compound muscle action potential (CMAP) could not be obtained, ulnar nerve CMAP amplitudes were reduced, ulnar nerve F response was prolonged, other F responses could not be obtained. All sensory nerve conduction studies were normal. No resting activity was observed in the needle examination.

Neurophysiologic findings at 2 days, and 7 days after

Table 1. Patient characteristics and results

neurological symptom onset were consistent with subtype of GBS; AMAN (Table 1).

Lung computed tomography showed diffused consolidations, ground-glass opacities in both lungs, and bilateral pleural effusion (Fig. 1).

The patient was hospitalized, intravenous immunoglobulin (0,4 g/kg per day during five days) was started. In addition; Favipiravir (in first day 2*1600mg, and next 4 days 2*600mg), low-molecular-weight heparin (LMWH) (enoxaparin sodium), intermittent O_2 (2L/min) were given. The patient's weakness improve on the 3rd day of treatmen

Motor Nerve	Conduction Study	Fi	rst ENMG (2 day	s later)	Second ENMG	(9 days later)	
	Nerve (left)	Wrist	Elbow		Wrist	Elbow	
Median	Latency (ms)	PY			PY		
	NCV (m/s)						
	Amplitude (µV)						
	F Response Latency (ms)		PY			PY	
		Wrist	Bellow elbow	Above the elbow	Wrist	Below elbow	Above the elbow
Ulnar	Latency (ms)	3.5	7.04	8.42	3.42	7,02	8.36
	NVC (m/s)		53.7	50.7		50	41
	Amplitude (µV)	1790	1090	1150	2360	2250	2120
	F Response Latency (ms)		36.9			35.25	
		Ankle	Head of Fibula	Popliteal	Ankle	Head of Fibula	Popliteal
	Latency (ms)	NP			NP		
Peroneal	NCV (m/s)						
reionear	Amplitude (µV)						
	F Response Latency (ms)	NP			NP		
		Ankle	Popliteal		Ankle	Poplitea 1	
Posterior	Latency (ms) NP	NP			NP		
Tibial	NCV (m/s)						
	Amplitude (µV)						
	F Response Latency (ms)		NP			NP	

NP: No Potential *: All of sensory nerve studies and needle ENMG studies were normal



Fig. 1. Lung computed tomography showed diffused consolidations and ground-glass opacities in both lungs, and bilateral pleural effusion

3. Discussion

There are studies suggesting that the neuroinvasive potential of COVID-19 (4, 5). The neurological symptoms of COVID-19 infection are due to their effects on the central nervous

system (headache, dizziness, changes in consciousness, acute brain disorder, seizure, and ataxia), and the peripheral nervous system (anosmia, ageusia, and visual impairment) (2, 4). There are also reports of a relationship between GBS and Coronavirus infections (2, 9).

COVID-19 has an incubation period of approximately 5.2 days. The interval between the onset of COVID-19 symptoms and the first symptoms of GBS ranged from 5 to 10 days. The average 10-day interval between the onset of viral disease and the first symptoms of GBS is similar to the interval seen in GBS occurring other infections. Furthermore, demyelinating polyneuropathy has been widely observed in most of these reports (2, 9). The period between the first day of onset of COVID-19 symptoms, and the onset of GBS was 12 days and an axonal polyneuropathy developed in our patient.

According to a report compiling previous case reports, most of the reported patients were over 50 years of age and male, reflecting the underlying demographic characteristics

References

COVID-19. The mean age of the patients was 57.2 ± 15.82 , the youngest patient was 5, and the oldest patient was 84 years old (1, 2).

The need for mechanical ventilation was reported to be more pronounced compared to patients with GBS without COVID-19 (11). Our patient was closely followed up with O₂ during her hospitalization, there was no need for mechanical ventilation. IVIg was preferred of our patient, and LMWH was administered simultaneously. We did not preferred plasma exchanges, because of the hemodynamic status of COVID-19 patients was unstable, and more healthcare professionals were exposed to the patient for longer-periods of time. Negative PCR analysis in CSF also means that there is no direct root infection or intrathecal viral replication, and supports a dysimmune response mechanism after infection (2, 10).

Although GBS has developed due to the follow-up of patients mostly in intensive care units, this may hinder them from being noticed. It should not be surprising that GBS does not come to mind immediately especially considering that these intensive care units are not neurological intensive care units.

It is difficult to diagnose, given that most of the GBS patients associated with COVID-19 do not have any symptoms of COVID-19 at the time of admission. In patients presenting with neurological diseases such as GBS, encephalomyelitis, myositis without systemic COVID-19 symptoms; the presence of anosmia/agusia/cranial neuropathy and lymphocytopenia/thrombocytopenia are red flags that increase the suspicion of early diagnosis for COVID-19 (6,10).

In patients with increased respiratory distress or in need of intensive care, this condition may not only be due to lung involvement but may also develop due to neurological diseases such as GBS. Early diagnosis and treatment of patients may provide treatment and follow-up without the need for intensive care units.

Caress JB, Castoro RJ, Simmons Z, Scelsa SN, Lewis RA, Ahlawat A, et al. COVID-19–associated Guillain-Barré syndrome: The early pandemic experience. Muscle & Nerve. 2020; 62: 485–491. doi: 10.1002/mus.27024.

- 2. Rahimi K. Guillain-Barre syndrome during COVID-19 pandemic: an overview of the reports. Neurol Sci. 2020; 41: 3149–3156 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10072-020-04693-y
- **3.** Parsamanesh N, Pezeshgi A, Hemmati M, Jameshorani M, Saboory E. Neurological manifestations of coronavirus infections: role of angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 in COVID-19. Int J Neurosci. 2021:1-8. doi: 10.1080/00207454.2020.1849193.
- Mao L, Jin H, Wang M, Hu Y, Chen S, He Q, et al. Neurologic Manifestations of Hospitalized Patients With Coronavirus Disease 2019 in Wuhan, China. JAMA Neurol. 2020; 77(6): 683-690. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2020.1127.
- Helms J, Kremer S, Merdji H, Clere-Jehl R, Schenck M, Kummerlen C, et al. Neurologic Features in Severe SARS-CoV-2 Infection. N Engl J Med. 2020; 382(23): 2268-2270. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc2008597.
- Scheidl E, Canseco DD, Hadji-Naumov A, Bereznai B. Guillain-Barré syndrome during SARS-CoV-2 pandemic: A case report and review of recent literatüre. J Peripher Nerv Syst. 2020; 1-4. doi: 10.1111/jns.12382.
- Ates MP, Dibek DM, Guven H, Comoglu SS. A Rare Complication of Bariatric Surgery; Guillain Barre Syndrome. J Clin Images. 2020; 3(1): 1051. doi: 10.33582/2690-8662/1051.
- Panpalli Ates M, Guven H, Comoglu SS. Temporary conduction block in acute motor axonal neuropathy. Acta Neurol Belg. 2016; 116(3): 425-427. doi: 10.1007/s13760-015-0543-8.
- Paybast S, Gorji R, Mavandadi S. Guillain-Barré Syndrome as a Neurological Complication of Novel COVID-19 Infection: A Case Report and Review of the Literature. Neurologist. 2020; 25(4): 101-103. doi: 10.1097/NRL.00000000000291.
- 10. Dalakas MC. Guillain-Barré syndrome: The first documented COVID-19-triggered autoimmune neurologic disease: More to come with myositis in the offing. Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm. 2020; 7(5): e781. doi:10.1212/NXI.00000000000781



Case Report

J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 280-282

doi: 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.53

Perihepatic and abdominal wall abscess mimicking hydatid cyst: A late complication of residual gallbladder stones

Halil İbrahim TAŞCI* 💿 , Emin TÜRK 💿 , Erdal KARAGÜLLE 💿

Department of General Surgery, Faculty of Medicine, Başkent University, Ankara, Turkey

Received: 03.05.2021 •)	Accepted/Published Online: 12.05.2021	٠	Final Version: 01.01.2022

Abstract

Intraoperational perforation of the gallbladder and the related residual intraabdominal gallbladder stone presence in cholelithiasis procedures are more commonly seen problems in laparoscopic cholecystectomy than those of open cholecystectomy procedures. Residual intraabdominal stones, though rare, can be encountered in early or late complications that can lead to diagnostic challenges and serious morbidity. A 44-year-old female patient presented with complaints of abdominal pain and swelling on her abdominal wall for the last 6 months. The patient had been in follow-up with hydatid cyst pre-diagnosis following abdominal ultrasonography performed at an external center. The patient's medical history revealed that she had undergone laparoscopic cholecystectomy surgery due to cholelithiasis 1.5 years before. Her abdominal computed tomography performed at our hospital showed abscess formations suggested to have been formed due to gallbladders stones. The patient, whose abscess was drained, and stones were extracted laparoscopically, was discharged on the second postoperative day. Residual intraabdominal gallbladder stones can lead to serious complications and misdiagnoses even years later. Utmost attention should be paid to prevent all these and not to perforate the gallbladder during surgery, while ultimate patience and effort should be put in to remove all the gallbladder stones if they are spilled.

Keywords: hydatid cyst, cholecystectomy, gallbladder, gallbladder stone

1. Introduction

Laparoscopic cholecystectomy surgery is considered the gold standard for the surgical treatment of symptomatic gall bladder stones. This procedure is quite safe with low morbidity and mortality rates. Yet complications like spillage of gallbladder stones into the abdominal cavity due to the perforation of the gallbladder during the surgery are more commonly seen in laparoscopy than in open cholecystectomy (1). It has been reported that gallbladder stones spilled into the abdominal cavity in 7% of laparoscopic cholecystectomy procedures while 16-50% of these stones could not be extracted (2). Nevertheless, complications brought about by such irremovable stones are rare and they are seen merely in 1.4% of the cases (3).

The aim of this study, therefore, was to present the case of a patient with abdominal wall and perihepatic abscess, which developed due to residual intraabdominal stones during laparoscopic cholecystectomy procedure, who was followedup with hydatid cyst prediagnosis along with literature review.

2. Case Report

A 44-year-old female patient presented with complaints of pain on the upper right quadrant of the abdomen for the last six months. The patient's abdominal ultrasonography performed at an external center had shown a semisolid of the liver. The patient had been evaluated to have uncomplicated calcified hydatid cyst and taken into a followup program. The patient, whose abdominal pain had deteriorated within the last month with palpable swelling in the right subcostal area, presented to our clinic. The patient's physical examination showed that she was obese. A sensitive, red swelling of about 3x4 cm in size with partially soft consistency was identified in the right subcostal area. Her laboratory results were within normal limits while the result of her indirect hemagglutination test for Echinococcus was negative.

formation with calcified areas neighboring on the segment 6

The patient's medical history revealed that she had undergone laparoscopic cholecystectomy because of acute calculous cholecystitis. Her abdominal computed tomography showed an image likely of abscess that was 66x37 mm in size with multiple stones, the largest of which was 23 mm, in the right subhepatic area. Moreover, there was a calcified focus of 21 mm in size on the upper right quadrant associated with the abdominal wall likely to be consistent with gallbladder stone (Fig. 1a-1d). It was suggested that such images belonged to gallbladder stones that dropped into the abdominal cavity during the surgery. The patient was thus taken into surgery. Laparoscopic exploration revealed an abscess pouch neighboring hepatic segment 6 and on the abdominal wall. The abscesses were drained, and the stones were extracted laparoscopically (Fig. 2). The patient who had no postoperative problems was discharged on the second day.



Fig. 1. Computed tomography images of abscess on the abdominal wall in transverse (1a), subhepatic abscess in transverse (1b), coronal (1c) and sagittal (1d) planes

3. Discussion

Intraoperational perforation of the gallbladder and the related residual intraabdominal gallbladder stone presence in cholelithiasis procedures are more commonly seen problems in laparoscopic cholecystectomy than those of open cholecystectomy procedures. Residual intraabdominal stones, though rare, can be encountered in early or late complications that can lead to diagnostic challenges and serious morbidity (1). Studies have reported that such factors as the inexperience of the surgeon, male sex, old age, acute inflammation of the gallbladder; tense, fragile, edematous, gangrenous gallbladder wall, presence of multiple stones within the gallbladder, large adipose tissue around the cystic duct, overweight patients, and thick abdominal wall increased the risk of perforation during laparoscopic cholecystectomy (4-6). Our case had risk factors like obesity and acute inflammation of the gallbladder as well. Gallbladder perforation often occurs during the traction of the gallbladder, dissection of the gallbladder from the hepatic bed or during the removal of the gallbladder from the trocar-site (6).

Researchers have recommended that surgeons be gentler and more careful during traction and dissection with gallbladder removed outside the abdomen in an endobag particularly in such patients with risk factors. It has also been stated that if gallbladder stones that spilled into the abdomen could not be retrieved despite necessary efforts by laparoscopy, this situation did not require conversion to open cholecystectomy, but these should be well documented, the patient should be informed and taken into a long-term followup program (5). In our case report the patient had neither been informed after her first surgery nor any documentation had been recorded.

The results of studies have revealed that gallbladder



Fig. 2. Extracted residual gallbladder stone images

spillage occurred in 7% of laparoscopic cholecystectomy procedures, while 16-50% of these could not be retrieved and 1.4% of these residual stones led to complications (2, 3). Intraabdominal abscess, the most seen complication, is usually localized in the subhepatic or retroperitoneal sites (6). Other than abscess formations seen in these sites, rarer complications like fistulization, abscess formations including residual gallbladder stones in such places as the hernia sac, ovaries or fallopian tubes, hip joints and abdominal wall have been reported as well (6, 7). In our case report the patient also had gallbladder stone-related subhepatic and abdominal wall abscess.

The exact mechanism of the ways in which gallbladder stones caused abscess has yet to be explained. Studies have shown that pigmented stones were more likely to cause abscess than cholesterol stones. Microorganisms like E. coli, Klebsiella, Pseudomonas, and Enterococcus that cause acute cholecystitis are identified in abscess cultures (4). Although postoperative abscess formation is usually seen within two years, there are also patients in literature who were reported to have been diagnosed a long time after the fact like 20 years (4, 8). Abscess was seen in our patient 1.5 years after she had surgery.

Patients with complications due to retained gallbladder stones in the abdomen often present with complaints like abdominal pain, fever, loss of appetite, nausea, and weight loss although these may vary according to the localization of the abscess (4). Further, quite rare gallbladder stone cases have also been reported that presented with cholelitoptysis related to abscess migration up the bronchial tree through the erosion it formed in the diaphragm (9, 10). Our patient, too, presented with complaints of abdominal pain and swelling on the abdominal wall.

Identification of gallbladder stones within the abscess through abdominal computed tomography or magnetic resonance imaging is important for diagnosis (6). While pigmented stones are readily distinguishable due to their highcalcium content through computed tomography, pure cholesterol stones may not be so because of their low-calcium content (6). Gallbladder stone-associated abscesses that appear particularly in later periods may radiologically mimic significant pathologies like retroperitoneal sarcoma, peritoneal metastasis, and gastric tumors (3, 6). A well-taken anamnesis proves to be quite important in the differential diagnosis of such cases. In our case, too, the patient had been in a follow-up program with hydatid cyst pre-diagnosis for a long time because her surgical data had not been well documented, she had not been informed, and her medical history had not been questioned sufficiently in subsequent presentations.

Percutaneous drainage and antibiotics treatment do not suffice in most gallbladder stone-related abscess cases. Abscess should be drained and the focus causing the abscess should be extracted either by open or by laparoscopic procedures in such cases (11). We, accordingly, planned laparoscopic abscess drainage and stone extraction for our patient as the preferred treatment modality.

Though rare, residual intraabdominal gallbladder stones may lead to serious complications that necessitate secondary surgical intervention years later after the surgery and misdiagnosis may set the treatment process back. Physicians should be careful during the dissection, traction, and extraction of the gallbladder to prevent such complications while ultimate patience and effort should be put in to remove all the gallbladder stones if they are spilled.

Conflict of interest

The authors declared no conflict of interest.

- 1. Urade T, Sawa H, Murata K, Mii Y, Iwatani Y, Futai R, et al. Omental abscess due to a spilled gallstone after laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Clin J Gastroenterol. 2018;11(5):433-436.
- 2. Tyagi V, Wiznia DH, Wyllie AK, Keggi KJ. Total hip lithiasis: a rare sequelae of spilled gallstones. Case Rep Orthop. 2018;14: 2018:9706065.
- **3.** Alnaji RM, Kukar M, Singh A, LeVea CM, Hochwald SN. An ectopic biliary calculus mimicking gastric neoplasm: A late complication of spilled gallstones. Surgery. 2016;159(2):668-9.
- Papasavas PK, Caushaj PF, Gagné DJ. Spilled gallstones after laparoscopic cholecystectomy. J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech A. 2002;12(5):383-6.
- Rao AMK, Dalwani AG, Sushel C, Shaikh U. Spilled bile and gallstones; the consequences during laparoscopic cholecystectomy: experience at liaquat university hospital. Professional Med J 2016;23(8): 964-969.
- **6.** Kim BS1, Joo SH1, Kim HC1. Spilled gallstones mimicking a retroperitoneal sarcoma following laparoscopic cholecystectomy. World J Gastroenterol. 2016;22(17):4421-6.
- Tyagi V, Wiznia DH, Wyllie AK, Keggi KJ. Total Hip Lithiasis: A Rare Sequelae of Spilled Gallstones. Case Rep Orthop. 2018; 14: 2018:9706065.
- **8.** Rothlin MA, Schob O, Schlumpf R, Largiader F. Stones spilled during cholecystectomy: A long-term liability for the patient. Surg Laparosc Endosc 1997;7: 432–434.
- **9.** Chan SY, Osborne AW, Purkiss SF. Cholelithoptysis: An unusual complication following laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Dig Surg 1998; 15:707–708.
- Chopra P, Killorn P, Mehran RJ. Cholelithoptysis and pleural empyema. Ann Thorac Surg 1999;68: 254–255.
- Lentz J, Tobar MA, Canders CP. Perihepatic, Pulmonary, and Renal Abscesses Due to Spilled Gallstones. J Emerg Med. 2017 May;52(5): e183-e185.







J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 283-286 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.54

Multiorgan failure due to strongyloides infection in liver transplant recipient: A case report and literature review

Nergiz EKMEN¹*^(b), Nirgül BİLGER²^(b), Derya KİRMAN²^(b), Hadi SASANİ³^(b)

¹Department of Gastroenterology, Faculty of Medicine, Gazi University, Ankara, Turkey ²Department of Internal Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Gazi University, Ankara, Turkey ³Department of Radiology, Faculty of Medicine, Tekirdağ Namık Kemal University, Tekirdağ, Turkey

Received: 04.05.2021	٠	Accepted/Published Online: 12.06.2021	٠	Final Version: 01.01.2022

Abstract

Strongyloidasis is caused by an intestinal nematode *Strongyloides stercoralis* which is widely distributed in tropical and subtropical countries. In immunocompetent individuals, *Strongloides stercoralis* infection usually does not produce any symptoms or causes gastrointestinal, cardiopulmonary, or skin symptoms. However, in some patients especially immunsupressive (e.g post-transplant, taking exogenous corticosteroids), its infection associated with severe and life-threatening disease like hyperinfection syndrome and disseminated tissue infestation. The limitation of diagnostic test make it challenging to diagnose strongyloidasis. Therefore, it is important to suspect infection of *Strongyloides stercoralis*. We describe a case of Strongiloides infection with a fatal outcome in liver transplant recipient.

Keywords: Strongyloides stercoralis, liver, liver transplatation, acute respiratory distress syndrome

1. Introduction

One of the most common problems caused by immunosuppressive treatments used after solid organ transplantation is infections (1). Strongyloidasis is a known complication of solid organ transplantation and it may cause severe parasitic infection which is lead to septisemia, multorgan failure and death (2). Strongyloidiasis is caused by infection with *Strongyloides stercoralis* which is an intestinal nematode and is widely found in tropical and subtropical countries (2, 3). Humans are the final hosts in the parasite cycle which has autoinfection which is rare and charecterstic feature in its life cycle (2, 4).

Human infection occurs by intact skin contact with filariform larvae and infection has also been induced by drinking water contaminated with the filariform larvae (2, 3). After contact with the skin, the larvae enter the venous system and can be found in the skin, gastrointestinal tract and lungs due their life cycle. However, in some patient, the larvae are found various tissue such as heart, brain, muscle, etc. The larval proliferation in tissue may leads to systemic sepsis, multi-organ failure and death (5).

Its infestation in human is usually asymptomatic or causes gastrointestinal, cardiopulmonary or skin symptoms in immunocompetent individuals. Immunosuppressed patients (e.g. taking exogenous corticosteroids or immunsuppressive drugs, solid organ tansplantation) are at risk for life-threating complication like hyperinfection syndrome and disseminated tissue infestation (2, 4). Mortality rate can be approaches upto 50% in hyperinfection syndrome and upto 70% in disseminated disease (6, 7).

In this article, we present a case of severe strongyloidiasis occurring in patient five years after liver tranplantation and that cause death due to Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome (ARDS) and Multiple Organ Dysfunction Syndrome (MODS).

2. Case Report

A 45-year-old male patient having a history of liver transplantation due to chronic hepatitis B, was followed up tacrolimus monotherapy on the 4th year after transplantation without any problem. Acute hepatitis type transaminases (AST: 600 IU/L, ALT: 1300 IU/L, ALP:450 IU/L, GGT: 48 IU/L, bilirubin: 1.97 mg/dl) were found to be high in blood test performed during the control examinations of the patient; he was hospitalized considering the pre-diagnoses of recurrent hepatittis B, toxic hepatitis, de-novo autoimmune hepatitis. He did not use any new medication. HBV-DNA and HCV-RNA results were negative. On the laboratory tests after detection positive antinuclear antibody (ANA, 1/100) which is an autoimmune marker, liver biopsy was performed. The result of liver biopsy was reported as de-novo autoimmune hepatitis. Prednisolon 60 mg/day, mycophenolate mofetil 2x1000 mg, tacrolimus 2x1.5 mg treatments were started after the result of the liver biopsy.

Approximately 6 months after the new immunosuppresive

therapy, he was hospitalized due to nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, loss of appetite, bloody sputum and detoriation in the general condition. On initial physical examination, he was conscious, co-operative and orientated. Mucous membranes were dry and pale. In respiratory examination, respiratory sounds were bilaterally coarse and there were rales in places. Blood pressure was 90/60 mmHg, heart rate was 110 bpm, respiratory rate was 22/minute. PA chest radiography showed an increase in the cardiothoracic index, centrally located infiltration in both lungs, increased opacity and occasional reticular densities (Fig. 1). In blood test hemoglobin was 7.9 gr/dl, leukocyte 650 /mm³ and platelet 50.000 /mm³. Owing to the findings on chest computer tomography examination including atelectasis area in the lower lobes of both lung, pleural irregularity and thickening, levofloxacin treatment was given.

The upper gastrointestinal endoscopy was performed due to anemia and vomiting, observing the fragile, spontaneous bledding areas and granular mucosal appearance in duodenum; biopsies were taken from these areas. Strongyloides were detected in duodenal biopsy (Fig. 2) and oral ivermectin treatment was initiated. Direct microscopic stool examination for diarrhea and their culture was unremarkable. No growth was detected in the tracheal aspirate culture taken due to ongoing bloody sputum. On the second day of ivermectin treatment, the patient's clinical condition gradually deteriorated, respiratory distress increased and ARDS developed. The patient, not responded despite all supportive treatment, died due to multiorgan's failure.

3. Discussion

Strongyloidiasis is usually an asymptomatic or mildly symptomatic disease in immunocompetent individuals (8). Chronic infection lasts for many years, and is usually asymptomatic. Sometimes causes gastrointestinal, cardiopulmonary or skin symptoms (9). Rapid replication and spread of filiform larvae are observed in some patients whose immune system is compromised due to exogenous steroid use and organ transplant. Strongyloides hyperinfection syndrome and disseminated disease may develop in these patients and cause acute severe illness and high mortality (10). *Strongyloides stercoralis* hyperinfection syndrome can develop many months or years after transplantation. However severe disseminated disease tends to occur within the first three month (11).



Fig. 1. PA chest radiography: (A) normal findings, (B) an increase in the cardiothoracic index, centrally located infiltration in both lungs, increased opacity and occasional reticular densities (arrows)



Fig. 2. Hematoxylin cosin staining showed strongyloides (arrows) in duodenal biopsy (A, B)

Table 1	Previously	reported c	cases of strongy	loidiosis in	liver tra	nsplantation	recipients
1 abit 1	. I leviously	reported e	ases of shongy	101010313 11	i nivei ua	inspiantation	recipients

Age/ gender	Cause of transplantation	Time from transplantation (months)	Immunsuppresive treatment	Demograpic risk factor	Initial symptoms/ findings	Treatment for strongyloidiasis	Complications Of sepsis and/or Bacteremia	Outcome	Cause of death	Reference
59 / Female	Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis with cirrhosis	4	Induction:Alemtuzu mab, methylprednisolone Maintenance: tacrolimus and prednisone	First donor from Puerto Rico Second donor's serologic test was negative	Nausea, poor appetite, weight loss, and constipation	Ivermectin and albendazole	Bacteremia / Coma	Alive	-	(1)
43 / Male	Hepatitis C infections and hepatocellular carcinoma	12	Tacrolimus and high dose corticosteroids	-	Elevation of liver enzymes	Thiabendazole and ivermectin	Septisemia	Death	ARDS	(2)
61 / Male	Alcoholic cirrhosis	7	Prednisone, Mycophenolate and tacrolimus	-	Progressive early satiety, bloating, weight loss, and fatigue	Ivermectin and albendazole	Bacteremia	Alive	-	(3)
67 / Male	Cholangiocarcinoma	2,5	Tacrolimus, micofenolic acid and prednisone	Donor from Ecuador	Fever, asthenia anorexia, diarrhea, dyspnea, cough, eosinophilia	Ivermectin and albendazole	Bacteremia	Alive	-	(15)
58 / Male	Hepatitis C / history of alcohol abuse	-	Induction: Basiliximab Maintenance: Mycophenolate,	Donor from Dominican Republic	Asymptomatic	Ivermectin and albendazole	None	Alive	-	(16)

			tacrolimus, and prednisone							
-/-	-	4	-	Donor from Suriname	Eosinophilia	Ivermectin	None	Alive	-	(17)
72 / Female	Hepatitis C infections and hepatocellular carcinoma	3	Tacrolimus, prednisone and mycophenolate mofetil	Donor from Guyana	Diffuse abdominal pain, nausea and nonbloody emesis	Ivermectin and albendazole	Bacteremia	Alive	-	(18)
60 / Male	Hepatitis B-related end- stage liver disease	2	Induction: methylprednisolone Maintenance: prednisone, mycophenolate and tacrolimus	Donor from Indian GCC-born recipients with a history of travel	Fever, anorexia, headache, and change in mental status	Ivermectin and albendazole	Bacteremia	Alive / GCS:6 connectin g to MV	-	(19)
53 / Female	Liver cirrhosis due to Autoimmune liver disease	4	Mycophenolate Mofetil Tacrolimus, and Prednisolone	Donor from Bangladesh	Abdominal pain, nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea	Ivermectin and albendazole	None	Alive	-	(20)
58 / Male	Laennec's cirrhosis	104 days	Induction: antithymocyte globūlin, rituximab and methylprednisolone Maintenance: tacrolimus	Donor and the recipient had positive <i>Strongyloide</i> <i>s</i> serology	Abdominal rash, hyponatremia, ileus, and respirator failure	Ivermectin and albendazole	Bacteremia	Death	Multi- organ failure	(21)
66 / Female	End-stage hepatic cirrhosis by hepatitis C infection	9 days	Basiliximab, methylprednisolone, and mycophenolate mofetil.	Donor from Paraguay and has positive serology	Asymptomatic (On 9 day posttransplant, donor's serologic test was found positive)	Ivermectin	Abdominal septic shock, bacteremia and bilateral pneumonia	Death (Post-Tx 34th day)	Multi- organ failure	(22)
59 / Female	Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis with cirrhosis	4	Induction: Alemtuzumab, methylprednisolone Maintenance: tacrolimus and prednisone	First donor from Puerto Rico Second donor's serologic test was negative	Nausea, poor appetite, weight loss, and constipation	Ivermectin and albendazole	Bacteremia / Coma	Alive	-	(1)

Our PubMed literature review identified 11 cases of *Strongyloides stercoralis* infections in liver transplant recipients. Characteristics of 11 cases, such as: recipients's demographics including age and gender, cause of transplantation, time of onset *Strongyloides stercoralis* infection from the transplantation, epidemiology of donors (demographics risk factors), immunosuppressive therapy, initial clinical symptoms and complications including presence of bacteremia and sepsis, management and outcomes including death are shown in the Table 1.

The clinical symptoms of the disease are variable. Gastrointestinal symptoms are the most common and usually non-specific symptoms (such as abdominal pain, nausea, vomiting, diarrhea and bleeding) (12). Lung findings include cough, haemoptysis, wheezing and sometimes very severe lung collapse (13). In the present case, while the patient firstly admitted with gastrointestinal symptoms and bloody sputum, and then progressed to multi-organ failure and ARDS.

Filiform larvae can be detected in many secretions of the body in hyperinfection syndrome and disseminated disease. It may be found in stool, sputum, surgical drainage, and in bronchoalveolar lavage, pleural, and peritoneal fluid (14). In addition, as in our patient, larvae can be detected in biopsies taken from lesions detected in endoscopic findings (gastritis, duodenitis, aphthous ulcer, etc.). The limitation of diagnostic test makes it challenging to diagnose strongyloidasis and a delayed diagnosis may lead to severe illness especially in immumsupressed individuals. Therefore, it is important to suspect infection of *Strongyloides stercoralis*.

Epidemiological risk stratification should be determined for Strongyloides hyperinfection syndrome and disseminated infection in patients undergoing solid organ transplantation. If there is a history of living or visiting places where the parasite is endemic in immunosuppressive patients, it should be kept in mind that there is a risk of Strongyloidiasis infection. When a prompt diagnosis is not possible, Strongyloides hyperinfection syndrome and disseminated syndrome should be considered and due to its risk of fatal outcome, an urgent empirical preventive treatment planning should be done.

Opportunistic infections in transplant recipients have high mortality and it requires a multidisplinary approach. Here, we present a rare case of strongyloides infection with a fatal outcome. Therefore, it is important to suspect strongyloides infections due to severe disease and high mortality risk in immunosuppressed patients.

Informed consent: None.

Conflict of interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

- 1. Lichtenberger P, Rosa-Cunha I, Morris M, Nishida S, Akpinar E, Gaitan J, et al. Hyperinfection strongyloidiasis in a liver transplant recipient treated with parenteral ivermectin. Transpl Infect Dis. 2009; 11(2): 137-142.
- 2. Vilela EG, Clemente WT, Mira RR, Torres HO, Veloso LF, Fonseca LP, et al. Strongyloides stercoralis hyperinfection syndrome after liver transplantation: case report and literature review. Transpl Infect Dis. 2009; 11(2): 132-136.
- **3.** Ofosu A, Higgins J, Frye JS, Kumari R, Barakat MT. Strongyloides Superinfection After Liver Transplantion. Dig Dis Sci. 2021;66(7):2178-2182.
- 4. Arkell P, Pan D, Riley P, Cooper P, MacPhee I, Cosgrove C, et al. Should prospective renal transplant recipients be screened for Strongyloides stercoralis? Clin Kidney J. 2020; 14(2): 725-727.
- Karanam L SK, Basavraj GK, Papireddy CKR. Strongyloides stercoralis Hyper infection Syndrome. Indian J Surg. 2020: 1-5.
- Morgan JS, Scha;nerW, StoneWJ. Opportunistic strongyloidiasis in renal transplant recipients. Transplantation. 1986; 42(5): 518-524.
- Lim S, Katz K, Krajden S, Fuksa M, Keystone JS, Kain KC. Complicated and fatal Strongyloides infection in Canadians: risk factors, diagnosis and management. CMAJ. 2004;171(5):479-484.
- Montes M, Sawhney C, Barros N. Strongyloides stercoralis: there but not seen. Curr Opin Infect Dis. 2010; 23(5): 500– 504.
- Nutman TB. Human infection with Strongyloides stercoralis and other related Strongyloides species. Parasitology. 2017; 144(3): 263–273.
- 10. Buonfrate D, Requena-Mendez A, Angheben A, Muñoz J, Gobbi F, Van Den Ende J, et al. Severe strongyloidiasis: a systematic review of case reports. BMC Infect Dis. 2013; 13:78.
- 11. Archibald LK, Beeching NJ, Gill GV, Bailey JW, Bell DR. Albendazole is effective treatment for chronic strongyloidiasis. Q J Med. 1993; 86(3): 191-195.
- **12.** Liepman M. Disseminated Strongyloides stercoralis. A complication of immunosuppression. JAMA. 1975; 231(4): 387-388.

- **13.** Chaudhuri B, Nanos S, Soco JN, McGrew EA. Disseminated Strongyloides stercoralis infestation detected by sputum cytology. Acta Cytol. 1980; 24(4): 360-362.
- 14. Schaeffer MW, Buell JF, Gupta M, Conway GD, Akhter SA, Wagoner LE. Strongyloides hyperinfection syndrome after heart transplantation: case report and review of the literature. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2004; 23(7): 905-911.
- **15.** Rodriguez-Hernandez MJ, Ruiz-Perez-Pipaon M, Cañas E, Bernal C, Gavilan F. Strongyloides stercoralis hyperinfection transmitted by liver allograft in a transplant recipient. Am J Transplant. 2009; 9(11): 2637-2640.
- **16.** Hamilton KW, Abt PL, Rosenbach MA, Bleicher MB, Levine MS, Mehta J, et al. Donor-derived Strongyloides stercoralis infections in renal transplant recipients. Transplantation. 2011; 91(9): 1019-1024.
- 17. Brügemann J, Kampinga GA, Riezebos-Brilman A, Stek CJ, Edel JP, van der Bij W, et al. Two donor-related infections in a heart transplant recipient: one common, the other a tropical surprise. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2010; 29(12): 1433-1437.
- 18. Abanyie FA, Gray EB, Delli Carpini KW, Yanofsky A, McAuliffe I, Rana M, et al. Donor-derived Strongyloides stercoralis infection in solid organ transplant recipients in the United States, 2009-2013. Am J Transplant. 2015; 15(5): 1369-1375.
- 19. Elzein F, Albahili H, Bahloul A, Alonazi T, Alghamdi A, Alsufyani E, et al. Transplant-related strongyloidiasis in solid organ transplant recipients in Saudi Arabia and the Gulf Cooperation Council countries. Int J Infect Dis. 2020; 93: 133-138.
- **20.** Alibrahim F, AlAlwan A, Al Thiab K, Alawaji A, Alwan B, Taher L, et al. Strongyloides and hookworms co-infection in a liver transplant patient. IDCases. 2021; 24: e01060.
- **21.** Camargo JF, Simkins J, Anjan S, Guerra G, Vianna R, Salama S, et al. Implementation of a Strongyloides screening strategy in solid organ transplant donors and recipients. Clin Transplant. 2019; 33(4): e13497.
- **22.** Gómez-Junyent J, Paredes-Zapata D, de las Parras ER, González-Costello J, Ruiz-Arranz Á, Cañizares R, et al. Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction in Stool Detects Transmission of Strongyloides stercoralis from an Infected Donor to Solid Organ Transplant Recipients. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2016; 94(4): 897-899.







J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 287-288 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.55

Atypically pulmonary arteriovenous malformations

Omer TOPALOGLU^{1,*}, Sami KARAPOLAT¹, Ali AKDOGAN², Celal TEKINBAS¹

¹Department of Thoracic Surgery, Faculty of Medicine, Karadeniz Technical University, Trabzon, Turkey ²Department of Anesthesiology, Faculty of Medicine, Karadeniz Technical University, Trabzon, Turkey

	Received: 22.05.2021	•	Accepted/Published Online: 26.07.2021	٠	Final Version: 01.01.2022
--	-----------------------------	---	---------------------------------------	---	---------------------------

Abstract

Pulmonary arteriovenous malformations (PAVM) are abnormal connections between the pulmonary arterial system and the pulmonary veins. PAVMs, which are twice as common in women, are generally seen in 4-6 decades. It is thought that congenital origin, previous thoracic traumas and thoracic surgery, liver cirrhosis, mitral stenosis and infections are among the etiological reasons in PAVM.

Keywords: arteriovenous malformation, PAVM, thoracic surgery, lobectomy, anatomic lung resection

1. Introduction

Pulmonary arteriovenous malformations (PAVM) are very rare abnormal connections between pulmonary arterial system and pulmonary veins (1). The etiologic causes of PAVM are congenital origin, previous thoracic trauma and thoracic surgery, liver cirrhosis, mitral stenosis and infections. PAVMs, which are frequently located in the lower lobes and close to the pleural surface, can be single or multiple and usually 1-5 cm in diameter. Pulmonary angiography is gold standard for definitive diagnosis (2).

2. Case Report

A 21-year-old woman was admitted to our clinic with complaint of cough. Physical examination and vital signs were normal. Chest X-ray revealed a round and well-circumscribed mass in the right lower zone. Thorax tomography showed a 42x38 mm lesion adjacent to the hilus in the right lower lobe, feeding from the lower lobe segment branches and consistent with an aneurysm draining into the right inferior pulmonary vein (Fig. 1).

The patient was operated under general anesthesia with a right posterolateral thoracotomy. During exploration, pulsatile and trilled aneurysms originating from the bronchial artery extending into the inferior pulmonary vein were detected. The bronchial artery was ligated from the proximal of the aneurysmatic dilatation and loss of trill was occurred (Fig. 2). The right lower lobectomy was performed, because the arteriovenous malformation was deeply located in the parenchyma. The patient was discharged on the 4th postoperative day. She is still asymptomatic at the end of one year follow-up.



Fig. 1. Axial section of thorax tomography shows a lesion in the superior segment of the lower lobe of the right lung



Fig. 2. The PAVM located in the posterior of bronchus intermedius (Blue arrow)

3. Discussion

Follow-up of PAVMs without treatment is dangerous and has high morbidity/ mortality rates. Complications include size increase, hemoptysis, hemothorax and cerebral abscess. Embolization has high success rates in treatment (3). However, as in our case, when PAVM is large and located deep in the lung lobe, the cure will be provided by anatomic lung resection.

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

- **1.** Saboo SS, Chamarthy M, Bhalla S, Park H, Sutphin P, Kay F, Battaile J, Kalva SP. Pulmonary arteriovenous malformations: diagnosis. Cardiovasc Diagn Ther. 2018;8(3):325-337.
- **2.** Kartaloglu Z. Pulmonary arteriovenous malformations. Turk Gogus Kalp Dama 2012;20(2):410-417.
- **3.** Shovlin CL, Gossage JR. Pulmonary arteriovenous malformations: evidence of physician under-education. ERJ Open Res. 2017;3(2):00104-2016.







J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 289-291 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.56

A case of axillary traumatic neuroma mimicking local recurrence following cancer surgery and a review of the literature

Hatice ÖLGER UZUNER* 📴, Cansu BENLİ IŞIK 🖻, Seda KOÇ ŞAHİN 🖻

Pathology Laboratory, Samsun Training and Research Hospital, University of Health Sciences, Samsun, Turkey

Received: 18.05.2021	٠	Accepted/Published Online: 12.06.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022

Abstract

Traumatic neuroma (TN) is a non-neoplastic proliferative response developing against neuronal injury. Its pathogenesis is unknown: While its overall incidence is low, the incidence of traumatic neuroma development following mastectomy is even lower. Thirty-eight post-mastectomy traumatic neuromas in 30 patients were reported in the literature. Only two of these were in the axillary region, whereas the others had originated from the mastectomy scar tissue. Even though the ultrasonographic examination reveals the features of a benign mass, performing a histopathological examination is a must for definitive diagnosis of the mass and exclusion of local recurrence, mainly when it has developed following cancer surgery. Here, we aimed to discuss in the light of the literature a patient who had undergone mastectomy and axillary dissection with the diagnosis of invasive ductal carcinoma eight years ago and underwent recurrent axillary dissection with the preliminary diagnosis of axillary metastasis.

Keywords: traumatic neuroma, local recurrence, mastectomy, breast cancer

1. Introduction

Traumatic neuroma (TN) is a rare non-neoplastic reactive proliferation (1). It is manifested as a palpable mass following neural injury or surgery. It is more common after lower extremity amputations and head & neck surgery. Traumatic neuroma within the mastectomy scar tissue is quite rare, and only two cases with post-axillary-dissection traumatic neuroma were reported in the literature (2, 3). Its differential diagnosis with a local recurrence should be made in patients who underwent cancer surgery. Here, we aimed to discuss in the light of the literature a patient who had undergone mastectomy and axillary dissection with the diagnosis of invasive ductal carcinoma eight years ago and underwent recurrent axillary dissection with the preliminary diagnosis of axillary metastasis.

2. Case Report

A 46-year-old female patient expressed in her routine followup examination that she had pain in her left axillary region for the last six months. She had undergone left mastectomy and axillary dissection with the diagnosis of invasive ductal carcinoma six years ago. A tender nodular lesion of approximately 6 mm in diameter was palpated on the left axillary bed on physical examination. The ultrasonographic examination revealed a round, subcutaneously located, hypoechoic 7.5x6 mm-sized solid lesion with a peripheral thin halo, showing partial internal blood supply with Doppler. Histopathological examination was recommended due to its interpretation as suspicious for metastatic lymph node or fat

Positron emission necrosis. tomography-computed (PET-CT) examination tomography revealed an eight mm-sized approximately probably metastatic lymphadenopathy fluorodeoxyglucose with (FDG) involvement, which had not been present in her previous follow-up examinations, and thus, clinical follow-up was suggested. Axillary dissection was performed to safely exclude a probability of axillary metastasis, considering the patient's malignancy history.

On macroscopic examination, the cross-sectional surface of the fragmental fat tissue, approximately 6x4x3 cm in size, was generally fibrotic, and a nodular structure was present in a six mm-sized area. A structure compatible with a lymph node could not be dissected. All the described, white-colored areas were taken into consideration. The histopathological examination revealed a proliferation characterized by randomly arranged nerve fascicles within a significantly collagenized stroma and organized as well-circumscribed nodules (Fig.1a and 1b). The nerve fascicles were stained positive for S100 (Figure 1c). Giant cells with phagocyted suture material secondary to the previous operation were observed within the surrounding adipose tissue. The patient was diagnosed with a traumatic neuroma. Constent was obtained from the patient. The rate of post-mastectomy local recurrence is 5.5% to 8.95%. Because the rate of benign lesions developing in the scar region is less than malign lesions, the first thing that should be considered in a newly

developing lesion is a local recurrence. Recurrent lesions are seen as hypoechoic lesions on USG (7). Even though most traumatic neuromas are well-circumscribed and avascular on USG, some of them may be vaguely circumscribed and vascular, mimicking local recurrence (7, 9).

Table 1. Clin	nical inform	nation and imagin	ng features of t	traumatic	breast	neurom	as published in the lit	erature
		m						

Reference	Patients	ge-sex	Neuromas n	Neuroma Size r	Location	Time after surgery (yr)	Palpable	Pain/ Tenderness	USG	Mamografi	Pct	Treatment
Wenyi et al. (2019)	2	58F	3	6,4,10	Subcutaneus (2) Pectoralis muscle layer (1)	4,7	Yes (2) No (1)	No	Ovall, well circumscribed, homogeneously hypoechoic	N/A	N/A	Surgical excision(1),ultrasou nd guided core biopsy(1)
Nikolas S.Salemis (2018)	1	65F	1	N/A	Subcutaneus mastectomy scar area	2	No	Yes	Unremarkable	Clustered microcalcif ication	N/A	Surgical excision
Jason D.Mesinger et al (2017)	1	4F	2	6,16	Subcutaneus axilla	N/A	N/A	N/A	Oval, parallel, circumscbribed,h ypoechoic	N/A	N/A	Ultrasound guided core biopsy
Kimberley Fitzparick et al. (2017)	1	73F	1	7	Lateral aspect	16	No	No	Oval, parallel,circumscc ribed, hypoechoic	Small, oval, circumscribed, equal density	N/A	Ultrasoun core nidle biopsy
Quanli et al. (2012)	1	45F	1	5	Subcutaneus next to mastectomy scar	2	Yes	N/A	Well circumcsribed,ech o-heterogeneous	N/A	N/A	Surgical excision
Our case	1	46F	1	8mm	Aksilla	6	Yes	Yes	N/A	N/A	FDG uptake present	Surgical excision





Fig. 1. Sections representing traumatic neuroma and immunohistochemistry study. Peripheral nerve sections of different diamaters are observed in connective tissue containing collagenized intermediate tissue and a small amount of adipose tissue, H&E x100 (a) Proliferataring nerve sections without a distinct organization are observed H&Ex200 (b) Peripheral nerves are stained dark brown with S100 immunohistochemical, staining x 200 (c)

3. Discussion

The traumatic neuroma is the reactive non-neoplastic proliferation of the nerve's severed proximal end due to failed repair in nerve injuries (1). It is frequently encountered in lower extremity amputations and head & neck surgery (1, 2,3,4) and may mimic local recurrence due to its clinical and radiological features (5,6). There are mostly post-amputation TN cases in the literature (7). Thirty-eight traumatic neuromas in 30 cases were reported in the literature. Some of

these cases and the clinical and radiological features of our patient were presented in Table 1. The youngest patient was 31 years old, the oldest 78 years old, and all were female. TN developed post-surgery 1.9 years at the earliest and 22 years at the latest. The smallest was 0.4 cm, whereas the largest 1.6 cm (7). While some of the patients described pain-sensitivity (8), some others were asymptomatic (6, 7). If the patient has no complaint, surgical treatment is not necessary. Physical therapy, local injections, long-acting local anesthetics, steroids, or surgery can be used in patients with pain complaints. Most lesions are viewed as oval, wellcircumscribed, avascular, and hypoechoic masses on ultrasonographic examination. In our case, partial vascularization was present. Mammography, MRI, and PET CT do not show any specific features (7). It may present findings such as clustered microcalcification (8,9) and wellcircumscribed oval density (6). PET-CT did not reveal any FDG uptake in three cases (7). In our case, FDG uptake was present.

In conclusion, USG, mammography, and PET CT are commonly used for follow-up of patients in whom a mastectomy/lumpectomy procedure has been performed. A timely diagnosis of local recurrence has a positive contribution to the patient's outcome. Even though recurrence is considered the first possibility in nodular lesions detected within scar tissue of mastectomy and axillary dissection, traumatic neuroma should be kept in mind in patients describing neuropathic pain and sensitivity.

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

References

- 1. John RG, Andrew LF. Enzinger Weiss's Soft Tissue Tumors 6 th.ed., Philedelphia: Elsevier, 786, 2013.
- **2.** Wang X, Cao X, Ning L. Traumatic neuromas after mastectomy. ANZ J Surg 2007; 77:704–5.
- **3.** Kim EY, Kang DK, Kim TH, Kim KS, Yim H. Traumatic neuroma in a breast cancer patient after modified radical mastectomy: a case report. J Korean SocRadiol 2011;64:518
- Foltan R, Klima K, Spackova J, Jiri Sedy. Mechanism of traumatic neuroma development. Med Hypotheses 2008;71:572–6.
- 5. Jason D. Messinger, MD, and Stacey M. Crawford, MD Traumatic neuroma in axillary dissection scar bed following

mastectomy. Applied Radiology 2017;38-39.

- **6.** Kimberly AF, Marisa HB, Wendy SM, Erika RBç Traumatic neuroma of the breast after mastectomy. Applied Radiology 2017;27-29.
- 7. Wenyi C, Huan Z, Jiayan H, Yixuan L, Zhang Z, Yulan P. Traumatic neuroma in mastectomy scar Two case reports and review of the literatüre. Medicine 2019; 98:151-42.
- **8.** Nikolaos SS. Traumatic neuroma as a rare cause of intractable neuropathic breast pain following cancer surgery: Management and review of the literature. Intractable & Rare Diseases Research 2018; 7(3):185-190.
- **9.** Quan L, Er-li G, Yin-long Y, Hong –ye H, Xiaou qu H. Traumatic neuroma in a patient with breast cancer after mastectomy: a case report and review of the literatüre. World Journal of Surgical Oncology 2012; 10:35.



Case Report



J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 292-297 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.57

Abdominal wall endometriosis: Case-series study and a systematic review

Yunus KATIRCI^{1,*}^(D), Ayse Zehra OZDEMİR¹^(D), Çağrı GÜLÜMSER²^(D), Seda GÜN³^(D)

¹Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Faculty of Medicine, Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Turkey ²Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Health Science, Istanbul, Turkey ³Department of Pathology, Faculty of Medicine, Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Turkey

Accepted/1 ubisited Online. 01.00.2021
--

Abstract

Abdominal wall endometriosis (AWE) is the presence of endometrial gland and stroma in the abdominal wall that should be kept in mind in differential diagnosis of pelvic pain due to especially increased C-section rates. Between January 2000 and July 2018, MEDLINE and EMBASE databases were systematically reviewed using the search criteria "abdominal wall endometriosis," "abdominal wall endometriomas,". Only the studies having over 20 patients were included. Case-series, case-control studies, and articles in languages other than English were excluded. Number of the patients, patients 'age, study design, previous surgical history, most common symptom, time interval to symptoms, treatment, recurrence rate, and tumour size were investigated. In Total, 18 studies and 994 women were included in the study. Case studies, studies with less than 20 cases, non-English articles were excluded from the study. In the included studies, the numbers of minimum and maximum woman were 20 and 227, respectively. AWE significantly impairs the quality of life in reproductive age patients and is commonly seen in women with previous history of laparotomy, especially those who underwent cesarean section. Therefore, it must be kept in mind in the differential diagnosis of women who have a history of pain and a history of previous surgery.

Keywords: endometriosis, abdominal endometriosis, tumor, gynecology

1. Introduction

Endometriosis is a pathology defined as the presence of functional endometrial glands and stroma anywhere other than the uterine cavity (1). Although it is seen most commonly in pelvis, extrapelvic endometriosis is also observed with a frequency of 9-15% (2). Abdominal Wall endometriosis (AWE) is the most commonly seen extrapelvic endometriosis (3).

Abdominal wall endometriosis is defined as the presence endometrial gland and stroma in the abdominal wall (4). In other words, it is the presence of endometrial tissue anywhere on the peritoneum. It is seen in 0.03% to 1.08% of patients undergoing obstetric or gynecological procedures especially hysterotomy (5). Three different theories have been proposed in the development of abdominal wall endometriosis. According to the direct implantation theory, endometrial cells scattered around abdominal wall during surgery, under the effect of hormones proliferate or cause metaplasia of the surrounding fascia. The second theory is the dissemination of endometrial cells by lymphatic or hematogenous routes (6). The third theory is that the pluripotent mesenchymal cells differentiate and form abdominal wall endometriosis (7). In addition, the anti-apoptotic surviving gene is thought to be effective in the formation and invasion of endometrial implants (8). Although AWE is a rare condition, it

significantly impairs the quality of life in women of reproductive age. In addition, AWE is now commonly seen due to the increased rates of cesarean section. Therefore, gynecologists, surgeons and radiologists should keep in mind this differential diagnosis in their daily practice.

In our study we aimed to present three cases of AWE who presented to our clinic. Most of previous studies on AWE were retrospective studies. Prospective studies are needed especially for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. We have found that our results in this preliminary study are consistent with literature. We planned to do further prospective study regarding this topic.

2. Case Reports

2.1. Case 1

The patient was 33-year-old, G7P5L5 (gravida 7, parity 5, live birth 5). She had a history of four cesarean sections. The last cesarean section was five years ago. On superficial ultrasonography of the pelvic region at the right lower quadrant, lateral and to the right of the incision scar level, a poorly bounded heterogeneous hypoechoic, solid vascularized mass lesion seen with doppler, with a diameter of 24x11x15mm was observed on the posterior surface of the subcutaneous fat tissue. Surgical excision was performed. Histopathology was consistent with 4x2x2cm subcutaneous

endometriosis. Within the first year no recurrence was observed in the patient.

2.2. Case 2

A 36 year-old patient G3P3L3 (gravida 3 parity 3 live birth 3) presented with pain and swelling in the left lower quadrant for the past one year. The patient had no history of operation other than bilateral tubal ligationwith laparatomy 3 years ago. Abdominal ultrasonography revealed amass with a size of 52x35x49mm,5-6cm inferior to the umbilicus, in the left, antero-medialto the rectus with an oval, well-circumscribed hypoechoic homogenous, smooth echogenic septum. The mass was non-vascularized on doppler and was growing towards the subcutaneous fat tissue. Surgical excision was performed. Pathology results were consistent with endometriosis. No recurrence was observed in one year follow-up.

2.3. Case 3

A 40-year-old patient G2P2L2 (gravida 2, parity 2, live birth 2) presented with swelling in pelvic region for three months. The patient had two cesarean sections. She had her last operation four years ago. Abdominal ultrasonography revealed an irregular lesion with heterogeneous margins with a size of 22x8x19mm in the rectus abdominis muscle. Endometrioma was excised from the rectus muscle with laparotomy. Pathology results were consistent with endometriosis. The surgical margins were negative. There was no complication. No recurrence was observed within sixmonths of follow-up.

2.4. Systematic review metodology and results

MEDLINE and EMBASE databases were systematically reviewed. Between January 2000 and July 2018, search criteria used follows; "abdominal were as wall endometriosis," "abdominal wall endometriomas". The studies in which patients' numbers lower than 20 were excluded. Case-series, case-control studies, and articles in not English were also excluded. Therefore, in total, 18 studies were included (Fig. 1). Number of the patients, patients' age, study design, previous surgical history, most common symptom, time interval to symptoms, treatment, recurrence rate, and tumour size were investigated (Table 1).

3. Discussion

AWE is usually a pathology that may develop after surgical procedures. It is most seen after cesarean and tubal surgery. In the literature it has also been reported in patients without previous surgical history (9-11). Furthermore, it may also occur after laparoscopy, amniocentesis, episiotomy, and appendectomy (12-14). AWE is usually seen in women of reproductive age most commonly between 25-35 years (15-19). In 5.3% of the patients, it may be associated with pelvic endometriosis (20). Some risk factors for AWE were presented in the literature. AWE is more frequent in obese patients. The reason for this was thought to be the technical difficulty during the closure of the uterus (21).



Fig. 1. Study flowchart

In addition, single part suturing of the uterus, not closing the parietal and visceral peritoneum during caesarean section are considered risk factors (22). The risk of AWE was found to be higher in patients with elective caesarean section than in patients who had undergone cesarean section following labor (23). High parity is thought to have a protective effect in AWE (24). Endometrioma is more common on the left side of cesarean section scar on the lower side of the midline incisions (20). The diagnosis of AWE can be easily made in the presence of the classic triad. History of caesarean section, increase in the intensity of pain during menstrual cycle, swelling around surgical scar (25). Although cyclic pain is characteristic for diagnose, noncyclic pain may be the presenting symptom and can cause misdiagnosis (26-30). Sometimes the presenting symptom may be only a palpable mass, dyspareunia, dysmenorrhea or cyclic hemorrhage from a superficial lesion (26). In order for the symptoms to occur AWE should reach a certain size. Onset of symptoms after first operation varies between 6 months to 20 years (14, 31-34).

Katirci et al. / J Exp Clin Med

Table 1. Results of studies

	Veer	Dationt	A ===	Study Design	Most Common	Most	Time İnterval	Treatment	Dessumer of	Tumor
	rear	number	Age	Study Design	History	Symptoms	(months)	Treatment	N (%)	Size
Kang	2013	37	34	Retrospective	N (%) Cesarean section	N (%) Palpable	30 (Median)	WE 37	1 (2 7)	3 5
Rung	2013	51	54	Renospective	37 (100)	mass 36 (97.2) Pain 21(56.8)	(6-96) range	11237	1 (2.7)	(median) (1.0-10.0)
Bektas	2010	40	32.3	Retrospective	Cesarean section 36 (90)	Palpable mass 40(100) Noncyclic pain 18(45) cyclic pain 16(40)	29.6 (Mean) (8-53) range	WE 40	3 (9.1)	4.6 (mean) Range (3- 6)
Teng	2008	22	32.6	Retrospective	Cesarean section 22 (100)	Palpable mass and cyclic pain 20 (90) Noncyclic pain with mass 2(10)	N/A	WE 22	N/A	4.4 mean (3-7)
Francıca	2009	28	31	Retrospective	Cesarean section 28 (100)	Mass 27(96) Cyclic pain 22(78) Continous pain 6(21)	60 LSE 40 LSE	We28	0 (0%)	LSE 4.1 (3-6 cm) SSE 1.8 (0.7-2.6 cm)
Savelli	2011	21	36	Retrospective	Previous surgery for endometriosis 9 (25) Previous Cesarean section 8 (22)	Mass 18(86) Pain 19(91)	N/A	N/A	N/A	2 (0,5-5)
Zhao	2005	62	29,8	Retrospective	Previous Cesarean section 61 (98)	Cyclic pain 56(90) Constant pain 5(8) Asymptom atic mass 3(5)	28,6 (1-133)	WE 62	5 (8%)	3,1(1-15)
Ecker	2014	65	35	Retrospective	Cesarean section 53 (81.5)	Abdominal pain 48(74) Mass/lump 41(63)	48 (12-384)	WE 65 Laparoscopic 5 (7.7) Open 49 (75.4) Combined 11 (16.9)	N/A	N/A
Zhu	2017	51	30.1 HIF U 31.4 Surgi cal Exci sion	Retrospective	Cesarean section 51 (100)	N/A	24 (1–126) HIFU 17 (2–96) Excision	23 HIFU 28 Surgical	N/A	2,7 (1,3–6,8) HIFU 2,6 (0,7-5) Excision
Yela	2017	52	30.7 1	Retrospective	Cesarean section 34 (65.4)	Nodule pain 51(98) Mass 19(36)	N/A	N/A	14 (26,9)	3.98
Khamech ian	2014	30	32,5	Retrospective	Cesarean section 30 (100)	Mass 30(100) Pain (noncyclic) 10(33) Pain (cyclic) 14 (47)	30.5 (2-53)	WE 30	1	2.59 (1-6)
Pas	2017	71	34	Prospective	Ceseraen section 71 (100)	N/A	12 (1-168)	WE 71	1	N/A
Maillot	2017	20	30,1	Retrospective	Cesarean 13 (65)	cyclic painful symptoms 19(95) Enlarged	N/A	We 13 Cryoablation 7	N/A	2.3 cm (0.5-7 cm)

						nodules 6(30)				
Ding	2013	227	31,7	Retrospective	Cesarean delivery 226 (99.6)	Abdominal mass 191(84) Cyclic pain 148 (65) Noncyclic pain 62 (27)	N/A	WE 227	3 (1.5%)	2,9 (1–9 cm)
Francica	2012	30	30.6	Retrospective	Cesarean 30 (100)	Cyclic pain with mass 24(80) Continous pain 6(20)	36 Median (12-120)	N/A	N/A	2,7 (0,7-6)
Luo	2017	32	39,4	Retrospective	Cesarean 31 (96)	N/A	11median (6-36)	32 HIFU	N/A	2,4 (1-5)
Khan	2017	34	35.2	Retrospective	Cesarean 30 (88.2%)	Abdominal pain 34(100).	N/A	WE 34	2 (5.9%)	3,3 cm
zhang	2016	151	31.2 7	Retrospective	Cesarean 151 (100)	cyclic abdominal pain 121(80) irregular abdominal pain 17(11)	31,4 (3-192)	151 WE	11 (7.3%)	2,1 (1-6)
Wang Y	2011	21	33.5	Retrospective	Cesarean 20 (95)	cyclic abdominal pain 21(100) palpabl mass 21(100)	10 (5-36)	21 HIFU	N/A	2,4 (range 1.0– 5.3 cm)
Ayşe at al.	2018	3	36,3	Retrospective	Cesarean 2 (67)	Cyclic pain 2(67) Palpabl mass 3(100)	48 36-60	WE 3	0	3,8 (2,2-5,2)

The mean size of abdominal wall endometriosis varies between 2.3 and 3.2cm (35). Differential diagnosis includes tumor, hernia, lipoma, and hematoma. Ultrasonography is the first diagnostic tool. On abdominal ultrasonography, AWE shows deep pelvic endometriosis findings more than ovarian endometriosis findings (11). The ultrasound image is generally composed of a hyperechogenic ring showing edematous and inflammatory adipose tissue around a solid area (11).

CT and MR can be used in patients in whom a clear decision by ultrasonography cannot be made. Fine needle aspiration can sometimes be used for diagnosis. It is considered as a fast, reliable, and inexpensive diagnostic method (36). It can help in the diagnosis of malignant lesions. To make a diagnosis, at least two of the three criteria should be seen endometrial glandular cells, surrounding stromal cells and hemosiderin-laden macrophages (37). However, in this procedure there is a risk of spread of endometrial cells. For this reason, the needle tract should be removed during surgical excision. The histopathologic diagnosis of endometriosis is made in the presence of endometrial gland, stroma, and hemosiderin pigment (22).

Surgical excision used in the treatment is quite successful (16,20). During surgery, the nodule and the surrounding fascia should be removed so that there is a negative surgical

margin. Otherwise, there may be recurrence (10). The surgical margin should be 1cm (22). Therefore, sometimes broad facial defects may occur, and mesh may be required. Medical treatment is not preferred because of the recurrence of symptoms and low chance of success when the drug is stopped (10). Progesterone and GnRH analogues decrease the size of the lesions and decrease symptoms by suppressing menstruation (38). Ultrasonography-guided high-intensity focused ultrasound ablation (HIFU) is another method for treatment. Wang et al. described this method, but its long-term efficacy is not clear (17).

The risk of recurrence was reported to be 1.5 to 7.5% (20). The probability of progression of AWE to malignancy is reported as 1% (35). The most common malignancy is clear cell carcinoma. Besides, endometrioid, serous papillary, carcinosarcoma and mixed types are seen (38).

There are many recommendations for the prevention of AWE in the literature. Sumathy and colleagues suggested taking out the uterus while closing (22). Washing of the abdominopelvic space, bringing parietal and visceral peritoneum together have been suggested. The incidence of AWE increases when the same needle that is used to suture uterus is also used when closing abdominal wall (22).

Most of previous studies on AWE were retrospective studies. Prospective studies are needed especially for diagnosis, treatment, and follow-up. We have found that our results in this preliminary study are consistent with the literature. We planned to do further prospective study on this subject.

To conclude, AWE, a pathology which frequency increases with time due to an increase in cesarean section rate, should be kept in mind in for differential diagnosis by general surgeons, gynecologists, and radiologists because they will often come across this disease. It is a problem that affects reproductive age patients, and it decreases comfort and impairs their quality of life

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

- Giannella L, La Marca A, Ternelli G, Menozzi G. Rectus abdominis muscle endometriosis: case report and review of the literature. J Obstet Gynaecol Res. 2010; 36(4):902-6. doi: 10.1111/j.1447-0756.2010.01236.x. PMID: 20666967.
- Douglas C, Rotimi O. Extragenital endometriosis--a clinicopathological review of a Glasgow hospital experience with case illustrations. J Obstet Gynaecol. 2004; 24(7):804-8. doi: 10.1080/01443610400009568. PMID: 15763794.
- **3.** Ideyi SC, Schein M, Niazi M, Gerst PH. Spontaneous endometriosis of the abdominal wall. Dig Surg. 2003; 20(3):246-8. doi: 10.1159/000070392. PMID: 12759505.
- 4. Vellido-Cotelo R, Muñoz-González JL, Oliver-Pérez MR, de la Hera-Lázaro C, Almansa-González C, Pérez-Sagaseta C, et al. Endometriosis node in gynaecologic scars: a study of 17 patients and the diagnostic considerations in clinical experience in tertiary care center. BMC Womens Health. 2015; 15:13. doi: 10.1186/s12905-015-0170-9. Epub 2015 Feb 18. PMID: 25783643; PMCID: PMC4337097.
- Wolf GC, Singh KB. Cesarean scar endometriosis: a review. Obstet Gynecol Surv. 1989; 44(2):89-95. doi: 10.1097/00006254-198902000-00003. PMID: 2915855.
- 6. Witz CA. Current concepts in the pathogenesis of endometriosis. Clin Obstet Gynecol. 1999; 42(3):566-85. doi: 10.1097/00003081-199909000-00013. PMID: 10451771.
- Grigore M, Socolov D, Pavaleanu I, Scripcariu I, Grigore AM, Micu R. Abdominal wall endometriosis: an update in clinical, imagistic features, and management options. Med Ultrason. 2017 ;19(4):430-437. doi: 10.11152/mu-1248. PMID: 29197920.
- Fujino K, Ueda M, Takehara M, Futakuchi H, Kanda K, Yamashita Y, et al. Transcriptional expression of survivin and its splice variants in endometriosis. Mol Hum Reprod. 2006 Jun;12(6):383-8. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gal042. Epub 2006 Apr 27. PMID: 16644787.
- Esinler I, Guven S, Akyol D, Guvendag Guven ES, Taskiran C, Ayhan A. Abdominal wall endometriosis without previous surgery. J Obstet Gynaecol. 2004; 24(8):931. doi: 10.1080/0144361040019187. PMID: 16147662.
- 10. Bektaş H, Bilsel Y, Sari YS, Ersöz F, Koç O, Deniz M, et al. Abdominal wall endometrioma; a 10-year experience and brief review of the literature. J Surg Res. 2010 Nov;164(1): e77-81. doi: 10.1016/j.jss.2010.07.043. Epub 2010 Aug 15. PMID: 20855082.

- Savelli L, Manuzzi L, Di Donato N, Salfi N, Trivella G, Ceccaroni M, et al. Endometriosis of the abdominal wall: ultrasonographic and Doppler characteristics. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2012 Mar;39(3):336-40. doi: 10.1002/uog.10052. PMID: 21793086.
- 12. Cozzolino M, Magnolfi S, Corioni S, Moncini D, Mattei A. Abdominal Wall Endometriosis on the Right Port Site After Laparoscopy: Case Report and Literature Review. Ochsner J. 2015 Fall;15(3):251-5. PMID: 26412997; PMCID: PMC4569157.
- **13.** Hughes ML, Bartholomew D, Paluzzi M. Abdominal wall endometriosis after amniocentesis. A case report. J Reprod Med. 1997; 42(9):597-9. PMID: 9336759.
- 14. Koger KE, Shatney CH, Hodge K, McClenathan JH. Surgical scar endometrioma. Surg Gynecol Obstet. 1993; 177(3):243-6. PMID: 8356497. (15). Zhao X, Lang J, Leng J, Liu Z, Sun D ZL. Abdominal wall endometriomas. Int J Gynaecol Obs 2005;90(3):218–222.
- **15.** Kang J, Baek JH, Lee WS, Cho TH, Lee JN, Lee WK, et al. Clinical manifestations of abdominal wall endometriosis: a single center experience. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2013 Feb;287(2):301-5. doi: 10.1007/s00404-012-2565-2. Epub 2012 Sep 22. PMID: 23001365.
- 16. Luo S, Zhang C, Huang JP, Huang GH, He J. Ultrasound-guided high-intensity focused ultrasound treatment for abdominal wall endometriosis: a retrospective study. BJOG. 2017;124 Suppl 3:59-63. doi: 10.1111/1471-0528.14741. PMID: 28856852.
- Wang Y, Wang W, Wang L, Wang J, Tang J. Ultrasound-guided high-intensity focused ultrasound treatment for abdominal wall endometriosis: preliminary results. Eur J Radiol. 2011;79(1):56-9. doi: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2009.12.034. Epub 2010 Feb 8. PMID: 20116953.
- Yuan L, Zhang JH, Liu XS. [Clinicopathological features of 151 cases with abdominal wall endometriosis]. Zhonghua Fu Chan Ke Za Zhi. 2013; 48(2):113-7. Chinese. PMID: 23544492.
- **19.** Ding Y ZJ. A retrospective review of abdominal wall endometriosis in Shanghai, China. Int J Gynecol Obs 2013;121:41–44.
- Khan Z, Zanfagnin V, El-Nashar SA, Famuyide AO, Daftary GS, Hopkins MR. Risk Factors, Clinical Presentation, and Outcomes for Abdominal Wall Endometriosis. J Minim Invasive Gynecol. 2017; 24(3):478-484. doi: 10.1016/j.jmig.2017.01.005. Epub 2017 Jan 16. PMID: 28104496.
- Sumathy S, Mangalakanthi J, Purushothaman K, Sharma D, Remadevi C, Sreedhar S. Symptomatology and Surgical Perspective of Scar Endometriosis: A Case Series of 16 Women. J Obstet Gynaecol India. 2017; 67(3):218-223. doi: 10.1007/s13224-016-0945-4. Epub 2016 Nov 26. PMID: 28546671; PMCID: PMC5425637.
- 22. Wicherek L, Klimek M, Skret-Magierlo J, Czekierdowski A, Banas T, Popiela TJ, et al. The obstetrical history in patients with Pfannenstiel scar endometriomas--an analysis of 81 patients. Gynecol Obstet Invest. 2007;63(2):107-13. doi: 10.1159/000096083. Epub 2006 Oct 6. PMID: 17028436.
- **23.** de Oliveira MA, de Leon AC, Freire EC, de Oliveira HC. Risk factors for abdominal scar endometriosis after obstetric hysterotomies: a case-control study. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2007;86(1):73-80. doi: 10.1080/00016340601099346. PMID: 17230293.
- 24. Esquivel-Estrada V, Briones-Garduño JC, Mondragón-Ballesteros R. Implante de endometriosis en cicatriz de operación cesárea [Endometriosis implant in cesarean section surgical scar].

Cir Cir. 2004; 72(2):113-5. Spanish. PMID: 15175127.

- 25. Khamechian T, Alizargar J, Mazoochi T. 5-Year data analysis of patients following abdominal wall endometrioma surgery. BMC Womens Health. 2014 Dec 5; 14:151. doi: 10.1186/s12905-014-0151-4. PMID: 25476548; PMCID: PMC4263010.
- 26. Teng CC, Yang HM, Chen KF, Yang CJ, Chen LS, Kuo CL. Abdominal wall endometriosis: an overlooked but possibly preventable complication. Taiwan J Obstet Gynecol. 2008 Mar;47(1):42-8. doi: 10.1016/S1028-4559(08)60053-4. PMID: 18400581.
- **27.** Giampiero Francica, MD, Ferdinando Scarano, MD, Luigi Scotti, MD, Giovanni Angelone, MD, Cristiano Giardiello M. Endometriomas in the Region of a Scar from Cesarean Section: Sonographic Appearance and Clinical Presentation Vary with the size of the Lesion. J Clin Ultrasound 2009; 37:215–220.
- **28.** Jaramillo-cardoso A, Balcacer P, Garces-descovich A, Beker K, Roth E, Glickman J, et al. Multimodality imaging and clinicopathologic assessment of abdominal wall endometriosis : knocking down the enigma. Abdom Radiol (Internet) 2018; Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00261-018-1666-1
- 29. Francica G. Reliable clinical and sonographic findings in the diagnosis of abdominal wall endometriosis near cesarean section scar. World J Radiol. 2012;4(4):135-40. doi: 10.4329/wjr.v4.i4.135. PMID: 22590667; PMCID: PMC3351681.
- **30.** Wasfie T, Gomez E, Seon S, Zado B. Abdominal wall endometrioma after cesarean section: a preventable complication. Int Surg. 2002; 87(3):175-7. PMID: 12403094.
- Pas K, Joanna SM, Renata R, Skret A, Barnaś E. Prospective study concerning 71 cases of caesarean scar endometriosis (CSE). J Obstet Gynaecol. 2017; 37(6):775-778. doi: 10.1080/01443615.2017.1305333. Epub 2017 Apr 11. PMID: 28395567.

- **32.** Zhu X, Chen L, Deng X, Xiao S, Ye M, Xue M. A comparison between high-intensity focused ultrasound and surgical treatment for the management of abdominal wall endometriosis. BJOG. 2017;124 Suppl 3:53-58. doi: 10.1111/1471-0528.14737. PMID: 28856859.
- 33. Maillot J, Brun JL, Dubuisson V, Bazot M, Grenier N, Cornelis FH. Mid-term outcomes after percutaneous cryoablation of symptomatic abdominal wall endometriosis: comparison with surgery alone in a single institution. Eur Radiol. 2017;27(10):4298-4306. Doi: 10.1007/s00330-017-4827-7. Epub 2017 Apr 10. PMID: 28396995.
- 34. Hensen JH, Van Breda Vriesman AC, Puylaert JB. Abdominal wall endometriosis: clinical presentation and imaging features with emphasis on sonography. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2006 Mar;186(3):616-20. doi: 10.2214/AJR.04.1619. PMID: 16498086.
- **35.** Medeiros Fd, Cavalcante DI, Medeiros MA, Eleutério J Jr. Fineneedle aspiration cytology of scar endometriosis: study of seven cases and literature review. Diagn Cytopathol. 2011 Jan;39(1):18-21. doi: 10.1002/dc.21319. PMID: 20058306.
- **36.** Pathan SK, Kapila K, Haji BE, Mallik MK, Al-Ansary TA, George SS, et al. Cytomorphological spectrum in scar endometriosis: a study of eight cases. Cytopathology. 2005 Apr;16(2):94-9. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2303.2004.00218.x. PMID: 15787652.
- 37. Leite GK, Carvalho LF, Korkes H, Guazzelli TF, Kenj G, Viana Ade T. Scar endometrioma following obstetric surgical incisions: retrospective study on 33 cases and review of the literature. Sao Paulo Med J. 2009 Sep;127(5):270-7. doi: 10.1590/s1516-31802009000500005. PMID: 20169275.
- 38. Sara C. Shalin AL, Haws DGC, Zarrin-Khameh and N. Clear cell adenocarcinoma arising from endometriosis in abdominal wall cesarean section scar: a case report and review of the literature. J Cutan Pathol 2012; 39:1035–1041.





J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 298-299 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.58

Uterovesical fistula after uterine compression suture

Yunus KATIRCI* 10, Ayşe Zehra ÖZDEMİR 10, Davut GÜVEN 10, İdris KOÇAK 10

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Faculty of Medicine, Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Turkey

	Received: 26.05.2021	•	Accepted/Published Online: 15.07.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022
--	-----------------------------	---	---------------------------------------	---	---------------------------

Abstract

Uterovesical fistula is a rare complication. In this case, a utero-fetal fistula developed in a patient with lower uterine segment compression suture in cesarean section due to placenta previa totalis is described.

Keywords: caesarean section, compression suture, uterovesical fistula, Youssef's syndrome

1. Introduction

Compression sutures are an alternative to hysterectomy in young patients with postpartum hemorrhage. Today, very different compression sutures are used. Although it does not require much surgical experience and is an effective method to control bleeding, its complications have not been clearly identified. Infection, pyometra, synechiae and infertility are some of them (1). In some cases, uterine rupture has been reported in the following pregnancy (2).

Uterovesical fistula is a rare complication that constitutes 1-4% of urogenital fistulas (3). There is a history of caesarean section in 88% of cases (4). Patients usually present with the classic Youssef Triad. Cyclic hematuria, urinary incontinence and amenorrhea constitute this triad (5).

In this case, we report a case of uterovesical fistula after compression sutures in lower uterine segment in a patient undergoing cesarean section due to placenta previa which was successfully repaired with early diagnosis.

2. Case Report

A 34-year-old patient with G4P3Y3 was taken to cesarean section with a diagnosis of placenta previa total is 38 weeks and 2 days. She had four cesarean sections. In her operation two U-shaped compression sutures were placed in the lower uterine segment by rejecting the bladder peritoneum due to intraoperative bleeding. The patient's foley catheter was withdrawn after 24 hours because there was no suspicion of intraoperative bladder injury. The patient was followed-up for 2 days and was discharged after no bleeding. Thirty days after surgery, the patient presented with hematuria, dysuria, and intermittent urine intake. No fistula tract was observed in the speculum examination of the patient and no urine was observed in the cervix. Her blood and urine tests were normal. MR imaging of the lower abdomen of the patient revealed a 11 * 31 mm vesicouterin fistula (Fig. 1). Cystoscopy was

performed and the vesicouterin fistula was seen near the bladder dome and the orifices were observed naturally. Double J catheter was placed in bilateral ureters. The operation of the patient was planned, and the bladder and uterus were dissected from each other by laparotomy and the bladder was incised up to the fistula tract. The fistula tract was removed. Bladder and uterine incision repair were performed as double layer. The patient was followed-up for two days postoperatively. After 14 days with foley catheter, the patient had no problem.



Fig. 1. Tract of uterovesical fistula is seen by Contrasted Magnetic Resonance Imaging

3. Discussion

Compression sutures are frequently used in postpartum hemorrhage control. In placenta previa cases, compression sutures have been described which are discharged into the lower uterine segment, which frees the patient from hysterectomy. Complications such as infection, pyometry, synechia and infertility have been reported in the literature regarding compression sutures. In our case, uterovesical fistula developed after the compression suture thrown into the lower uterine segment due to hemorrhage because of placenta previa. The diagnosis of uterovesical fistula can be made for the first time in 1957 by the triad defined by Youssef. Cyclic hematuria, urinary incontinence and amenorrhea form this triad. In the literature, patients with secondary infertility and abortus complaints and late diagnosis are also present (6). Definitive diagnosis of the fistula between the bladder and the uterus is established (6). Hysterosalpingography, methylene blue test, pelvic MRI, and cystoscopy can be used for diagnostic purposes (7). MRI is important in terms of being 100% diagnostic in diagnosis (8).

5% of vesicouterin fistulas may heal without surgery. Foley catheter is left for three weeks, the infection is avoided, and the defect is closed with the involution of the uterus (9). But the main method is surgical repair. Transvesical, retroperitoneal, and transperitoneal repair can be performed. Because vaginal repair is not easily accessible, it is not generally preferred (7). It is a rare diagnosis that should be kept in mind because of the increased cesarean rates. Although it is a complication that should be kept in mind because of hemorrhagic and risky surgeries, especially in our patient, it can be treated with early diagnosis without hysterectomy.

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

- 1. Mallappa Saroja CS, Nankani A, El-Hamamy E. Uterine compression sutures, an update: review of efficacy, safety and complications of B-Lynch suture and other uterine compression techniques for postpartum haemorrhage. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2010; 281(4):581-8. doi: 10.1007/s00404-009-1249-z. Epub 2009 Oct 16. PMID: 19834719.
- Dorairajan G, Soundararaghavan S. Rupture of uterus in second trimester—an unusual case. Obs Gynecol India. 2006; 57(1):79– 80.
- Iloabachie GC, Njoku O. Vesico-uterine fistula. Br J Urol. 1985;57(4):438-9. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-410x.1985.tb06305. x. PMID: 4027516.
- Ikechebelu JI, Ugboaja JO, Okeke CF. Post-cesarean vesicouterine fistula (Youssef syndrome): report of two cases. J Obstet Gynaecol Res. 2011; 37(7):912-5. doi: 10.1111/j.1447-0756.2010.01428. x. Epub 2011 Mar 13. PMID: 21395899.
- Youssef AF. Menouria following lower segment cesarean section; a syndrome. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1957; 73(4):759-67. doi: 10.1016/0002-9378(57)90384-8. PMID: 13411039.
- Porcaro AB, Zicari M, Zecchini Antoniolli S, Pianon R, Monaco C, Migliorini F, Longo M, Comunale L. Vesicouterine fistulas following cesarean section: report on a case, review and update of the literature. Int Urol Nephrol. 2002; 34(3):335-44. doi: 10.1023/a:1024443822378. PMID: 12899224.
- Shanmugasundaram R, Gopalakrishnan G, Kekre NS. Youssef's syndrome: Is there a better way to diagnose? Indian J Urol. 2008; 24(2):269-70. doi: 10.4103/0970-1591.40631. PMID: 19468413; PMCID: PMC2684272.

- Abou-El-Ghar ME, El-Assmy AM, Refaie HF, El-Diasty TA. Radiological diagnosis of vesicouterine fistula: role of magnetic resonance imaging. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2012; 36(2):438-42. doi: 10.1002/jmri.23667. Epub 2012 Apr 25. PMID: 22535687.
- Murtaza B, Niaz WA, Mahmood A, Akmal M, Ahmad H, Saeed S. Vesicouterine fistula. J Coll Physicians Surg Pak. 2014; 24 (2): 86-8. PMID: 24906282.



Case Report



J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 300-301 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.59

Mesenter artery thrombosis despite effective oral anticoagulation treatment

Muammer KARAKAYALI^{1,}*[®], Mahmut YESİN ²[®]

¹Department of Cardiology, Kars Harakani State Hospital, Kars, Turkey ²Department of Cardiology, Acibadem Healthcare Group, Istanbul, Turkey

Received: 05.06.2021	•	Accepted/Published Online: 21.06.2021	٠	Final Version: 01.01.2022

Abstract

An 87-year-old woman was admitted to our emergency department with palpitation and fatigue 5 days ago. The patient with electrocardiography (ECG) Atrial Fibrillation (AF) has been treated with low molecular weight heparin and 5 mg / day warfarin for 5 days. After the fifth day of treatment the patient was admitted to the emergency department again with diffuse abdominal pain. On her physical examination there was generalized tenderness in the abdomen with no rebound. Blood biochemistry revealed elevated white blood cells and INR parameter was normal as 2.96. ECG showed atrial fibrillation. Abdominal computed tomographic angiography revealed a thrombotic appearance in SMA. Surgical intervention was offered to the patient, but she had refused to get a surgery. Afterwards, endovascular intervention to the SMA was planned. She had had an acute cardiac arrest and the patient had died. Our patient treated with heparin and warfarin for five days after the diagnosis of AF and developed acute SMA thromboembolism leading to acute mesenteric ischemia, although the INR value was in the therapeutic range. It is rare for acute mesenteric ischemia to occur beneath optimal anticoagulation therapy. In conclusion, acute mesenteric ischemia should be kept in mind in patients with normal INR values in case of severe abdominal pain.

Keywords: acute mesenteric ischemia, atrial fibrillation, thromboembolism, warfarin

1. Introduction

Acute mesenteric ischemia has a high mortality rate due to delayed and prolonged diagnostic procedures (1). In this case, we presented an acute mesenteric ischemia due to superior mesenteric artery (SMA) thromboembolism despite optimal anticoagulation treatment in a patient with atrial fibrillation (AF).

2. Case Report

An 87-year-old woman was admitted to our emergency department with palpitation and fatigue five days ago. The patient with electrocardiography (ECG) Atrial Fibrillation (AF) has been treated with low molecular weight heparin and 5 mg / day warfarin for 5 days. After the fifth day of treatment the patient was admitted to the emergency department again with diffuse abdominal pain. On her physical examination there was generalized tenderness in the abdomen with no rebound. Her blood pressure was measured as 100-60 mmHg and she had tachycardia with 120 bpm. Blood biochemistry revealed elevated white blood cells and INR parameter was normal as 2.96. ECG showed atrial fibrillation (Fig. 1A). On echocardiographic evaluation she had normal left ventricular systolic function, mild mitral regurgitation, moderate tricuspid regurgitation, elevated estimated systolic pulmonary artery pressure as 45 mmHg, left ventricular concentric hypertrophy (Fig. 1B-C). Abdominal computed tomographic angiography revealed a thrombotic appearance in SMA as shown in Fig.

*Correspondence: muammer-28@hotmail.com

1D. Surgical intervention was offered to the patient, but she had refused to get a surgery. Afterwards, endovascular intervention to the SMA was planned. While the patient had been transferred to the catheterization laboratory, she had had an acute cardiac arrest. Despite the cardiopulmonary resuscitation, the patient had died.



Fig. 1. A, ECG shows atrial fibrillation, B, apical four chamber view of echocardiography, C, Echocardiography shows mild mitral regurgitation, D, abdominal CTA shows SMA thrombus (shown with red arrow) (LA: left atrium, LV: left ventricle, RA: right atrium, RV: right ventricle, MR: mitral regurgitation)

3. Discussion

Acute mesenteric ischemia is a potentially fatal disease. It requires emergency surgery especially for patients with signs of intestinal necrosis such as bloody diarrhea, abdominal rebound and tenderness. However, some studies have shown that percutaneous revascularization has a good clinical outcome (2-3). Our patient treated with heparin and warfarin for 5 days after the diagnosis of AF and developed acute SMA thromboembolism leading to acute mesenteric ischemia, although the INR value was in the therapeutic range. It is rare for acute mesenteric ischemia to occur beneath optimal anticoagulation therapy. It is well known that the development of acute mesenteric ischemia in patients with AF is often seen in patients not receiving anticoagulant therapy. As in our case, we think that it is a noteworthy issue to develop thromboembolism despite optimal anticoagulation. In conclusion, acute mesenteric ischemia should be kept in mind in patients with normal INR values in case of severe abdominal pain.

Conflict of interest

The author(s) declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

Funding

The authors received no financial support for the research, authorship, and/orpublication of this article.

- Renner P, Kienle K, Dahlke MH, Heiss P, Pfister K, Stroszczynski C, et al. Intestinal ischemia: current treatment concepts. Langenbecks Arch Surg. 2011;396(1):3-11. doi: 10.1007/s00423-010-0726-y. Epub 2010 Nov 12. PMID: 21072535.
- **2.** Popovič P, Kuhelj D, Bunc M. Superior mesenteric artery embolism treated with percutaneous mechanical thrombectomy. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol. 2011; 34 Suppl 2: S67-9. doi: 10.1007/s00270-010-9921-z. Epub 2010 Jun 23. PMID: 20574794.
- **3.** Cortese B, Limbruno U. Acute mesenteric ischemia: primary percutaneous therapy. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv. 2010;75(2):283-5. doi: 10.1002/ccd.22261. PMID: 19795499.





Case Report

J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 302-304 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.60

Unexpected diagnosis 'Foot Tuberculosis'

Metin UZUN*

Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Acibadem Healthcare Group, Istanbul, Turkey

Received: 06.06.2021	•	Accepted/Published Online: 02.08.2021	٠	Final Version: 01.01.2022

Abstract

Tuberculosis is an infectious disease still causing significant health problems. Although it is basically a disease of the parenchyma of the pulmonary system, there can be extra-pulmonary involvement of the pleura, the central nervous system, the genito-urinary system, pericardium, eyes, skin, and the skeletal system. The primary source is pulmonary focused, and it is quite rare for infection to occur in the skeletal system by a hematogenous route. The increase in immune system compromised patients and medication resistant bacteria has caused a greater incidence of mycobacterial infection outside the lungs to have been observed. The main problem encountered in tuberculosis in the skeletal system is the diagnosis. Localized pain, high temperature and weight loss are not often seen clinically. A case is presented here for discussion of isolated foot tuberculosis, as a case which is rarely able to be diagnosed, and for which appropriate treatment was given early before the onset of function loss, giving good results.

Keywords: foot, trauma, tuberculosis, infection

1. Introduction

Tuberculosis is an infectious disease still causing significant health problems. According to World Health Organization data, an average of 9.2 million people per year contract the disease of which 1.7 million lives are lost (1). Although it is basically a disease of the parenchyma of the pulmonary system, there can be extra-pulmonary involvement of the pleura, the central nervous system, the Genito-urinary system, pericardium, eyes, skin, and the skeletal system. Supporting data from the Turkish Ministry of Health states an annual rate of 35,000-40,000 new cases of tuberculosis, of which 18,500 are fully defined and only 6500 of them undergo effective treatment (2-4). There can be difficulties in the diagnosis of this disease; the primary source is pulmonary focused, and it is quite rare for infection to occur in the skeletal system by a hematogenous route. The increase in immune system compromised patients and medication resistant bacteria has caused a greater incidence of microbacterial infection outside the lungs to have been observed.

Mittel et al reported skeletal involvement in 10.3% of all cases (5). It has been accepted by researchers that the foot was affected in 10% of those cases (6). The main problem encountered in tuberculosis in the skeletal system is the diagnosis. Localized pain, high temperature and weight loss are not often seen clinically (7).

A case is presented here for discussion of isolated foot tuberculosis, as a case which is rarely able to be diagnosed, and for which appropriate treatment was given early before the onset of function loss, giving good results.

2. Case Report

A 42-year-old female patient presented with pain and swelling two days after having sprained her ankle. Physical examination showed widespread edema and swelling, localized sensitivity, raised temperature, no erythema, and painful foot and ankle movements. No special features were determined in the patient history. Having determined widespread soft tissue oedema and bone marrow edema from direct radiographs and MRI, a short leg plaster cast was applied, ice packs and diclofenac potassium 2x50mg was started (Figs. 1-3). On the 7th day follow-up examination, erythema and raised temperature were evident so cefuroxime axetil 2x500mg was started and the plaster cast was reapplied. At the end of the 3rd week, the plaster cast was removed and there was no erythema or raised temperature, but the oedema was still present. It was observed that the patient was unable to stand on the foot, so he was referred to the physiotherapy department. The patient did not attend for further follow-up but presented again with swelling and pain seven months after the trauma.

A diagnosis of osteomyelitis was made from the results of direct radiographs and MRI. Culture and biopsy were taken, and debridement surgery was performed (Fig. 4). As laboratory tests CRP and leukocytes were developed for the identification of active tuberculosis infection in the blood and Quantiferon (gamma interferon oscillation) tests were requested.



Fig. 1. Obliq x-ray image after the trauma



Fig. 2. Ap x-ray image after the trauma



Fig. 3. Sagittal MR image after the trauma

The pathology results of leukocyte values of 10500 (3800 - 10000/ml indicator) and CRP 0.9 (0-0.5mg/dl) and Quantiferon test 3.38 IU/ml (normal <0.35 IU/ml), determined necrotizing granulomatous inflammation.

Mycobacterium tuberculosis bacilli were produced in the culture. No pathology was determined from the lung radiograph, and there was no history of tuberculosis for the patient personally or in her environment. Quadruple antituberculosis treatment was started under the control of the infection department. After two months of quadruple treatment, seven months of double antituberculosis treatment were administered and at the 9th month postoperative, direct radiographs were taken (Fig. 5). Clinically there was a mild level of edema and no erythema or raised temperature. The patient was able to walk without pain with active, free ankle movement (Fig. 6).



Fig. 4. MRI image that was diagnosed tuberculosis



Fig. 5. Foot ap, oblique image that postoperative and using antituberculosis at the 9^{th} month



Fig. 6. Clinically ap and lateral foot image, postoperative 11 months

3. Discussion

Tuberculosis infection is rarely seen in the skeletal system. The most frequently involved areas in tuberculosis cases are the spine and the hips so diagnosis of infection in those areas is easier (8). In recent years the increase immune system compromised patients and multiple medication resistant bacilli have caused an increase throughout society in cases with involvement outside the lungs (14, 15).

In contrast, it is rarely seen in the foot and ankle and diagnosis may be made at advanced stages (9). Our case was only able to be diagnosed at her final presentation at the clinic with a differential diagnosis. The complaints with which she presented started following a trauma and as she withdrew from follow-up the diagnosis could only be made and confirmed at the 7th month.

Generally, tuberculosis in the foot has been seen to involve the midtarsal joint, and the same image reported by Martin et al was encountered in our case (9). While localized pain is typical clinically, high temperature and weight loss are rarely seen in foot and ankle cases (7). Our case had complaints of localized pain. We did not encounter early muscle atrophy as described by Messner. Several authors have reported the characteristics of raised ESR and CRP (8, 10, 11). No extreme increase was observed in our case. In addition, the Quantiferon test, which was first used in 2005, was applied and our case was determined as positive (12). Some risk factors have been defined for tuberculosis in the skeletal system. Besides malnutrition, poor hygiene and disease area, there is always a history of trauma. It is assumed that the tissue resistance to the trauma causes a localized weakness.

It has been reported that most patients have a common base of general characteristics, which are, a slow and longlasting start, single joint or single bone involvement, concomitant tuberculosis in another organ, the presence of tuberculosis cases in close vicinity and a history of trauma in the related area. Our case developed in a single bone following trauma.

Tuberculosis of the skeletal system is a chronic disease generally involving a single joint or single bone, leading to progressive degeneration. As in our case, late diagnosis leads to arthrosis in a wider area because of involvement of more than one joint. Notwithstanding the importance of surgical treatment, it is important to start medical treatment early in cases without complications. In regions where tuberculosis is often seen, such as in our country, patients with long-lasting complaints which started following a trauma, should be considered for tuberculosis (13).

Conflict of interest None to declare.

Acknowledgments None to declare.

- 1. World Health Organisation: Report on Global Tuberculosis Control, 2008.
- Özkara Ş, Aktaş Z, Özkan S, Ecevit H. Tuberculosis to control in turkey. Reference book. Ankara. Turkey: Republic of Turkey Ministery of Health: 2003.
- **3.** Republic of Turkey Ministry of Health, Tuberculosis Dispensery. War With Tuberculosis in Turkey, 2008 report. Ankara, Turkey: Republic of Turkey Ministry of Health, Tuberculosis Dispensery: 2008.
- Gümüşlü, F., Özkara, Ş., Özkan, S., Baykal, F., Güllü, Ü. War with tuberculosis In Turkey, 2007 Report, Ankara, Turkey: Tuberculosis Dispensery; 2007.
- Adjrad A, Martini M. L'ostéo-arthrite tuberculeuse de la hanche chez l'adulte [Tuberculous osteoarthritis of the hip in adults]. Int Orthop. 1987;11(3):227-33. French. doi: 10.1007/BF00271453. PMID: 3623761.
- Mittal R, Gupta V, Rastogi S. Tuberculosis of the foot. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1999; 81(6):997-1000. doi: 10.1302/0301-620x.81b6.9925. PMID: 10615974.
- Vohra R, Kang HS, Dogra S, Saggar RR, Sharma R. Tuberculous osteomyelitis. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1997;79(4):562-6. doi: 10.1302/0301-620x.79b4.7618. PMID: 9250739.
- Araki Y, Tsukaguchi I, Shino K, Nakamura H. Tuberculous arthritis of the knee: MR findings. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 1993; 160(3):664. doi: 10.2214/ajr.160.3.8430582. PMID: 8430582.
- Ahmadi J, Bajaj A, Destian S, Segall HD, Zee CS. Spinal tuberculosis: atypical observations at MR imaging. Radiology. 1993;189(2):489-93. doi: 10.1148/radiology.189.2.8210378. PMID: 8210378.
- Aguirre M, Bago J, Martin N. Tuberculosis of the knee. Surgical or conservative treatment? Acta Orthop Belg. 1989;55(1):22-5. PMID: 2801058.
- Bloch AB, Rieder HL, Kelly GD, Cauthen GM, Hayden CH, Snider DE. The epidemiology of tuberculosis in the United States. Semin Respir Infect. 1989;4(3):157-70. PMID: 2688000.
- 12. National Tuberculosis Controllers Association; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Guidelines for the investigation of contacts of persons with infectious tuberculosis. Recommendations from the National Tuberculosis Controllers Association and CDC. MMWR Recomm Rep. 2005;54(RR-15):1-47. PMID: 16357823.
- A. Akkaya E. Turgut. Kemik ve Eklem Tüberkülozu.T Klin Týp Bilimleri 1996, 16:343-346.
- 14. Lee SH, Abramson SB. Infections of the musculoskeletal system by M. tuberculosis. In: Rom WN, Garay SM, eds. Tuberculosis. New York, NY: Little, Brown and Company, 1996;635-644.
- **15.** Watts HG, Lifso RM. Current concepts review: tuberculosis of bones and joints. J Bone Joint Surg Am1996; 78:288-298.



Case Report



Bilateral neck hematoma a complication of central venous catheterization: A case report

Abdullah ALGIN^{1,2}*¹⁰, Abuzer ÖZKAN¹¹⁰, Mehmet Özgür ERDOĞAN³¹⁰

¹Department of Emergency Medicine, University of Health Sciences Ümraniye Training and Research Hospital, Istanbul, Turkey ²University of Health Sciences (Turkey), Somalia Mogadishu Recep Tayyip Erdoğan Faculty of Health Sciences, Mogadishu, Somalia ³Department of Emergency Medicine, University of Healty Science, Bakırköy Sadi Konuk Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Received: 03.07.2021	•	Accepted/Published Online: 26.07.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022

Abstract

Mechanical complications of central venous catheterization include arterial puncture, vascular injuries, catheter malposition, pneumothorax, hemothorax, air embolism, subcutaneous hematoma, and arrhythmias. In this text; we report a case of bilateral neck hematoma due to catheter malposition after venous perforation which was not noticed during central venous catheterization. A 68-year-old female patient was admitted to the emergency department with diarrhea, vomiting and low oral intake for the last week. With complaints, the patient is diagnosed as acute renal failure in another center. Jugular catheter placement two attempts one is left, and one is right, did not yield a result. Then we placed to right femoral vein. The patient was intubated to secure the airway after bilateral cervical hematoma was observed in the cervical ultrasound. The bilateral hematoma was dissolved, and she was extubated on the fifth day of hospitalization and discharged without any sequelae. Complications that may affect the airway can be seen during central vein catheterization. Early intubation may be lifesaving if respiratory tract risk is seen.

Keywords: bilateral neck hematoma, central venous catheterization, complication, case reports

1. Introduction

Central venous catheterization is used for diagnosis and treatment especially in the operating theaters, intensive care units, dialysis units, emergency services and other services (1). Subclavian, internal jugular and femoral veins are frequently preferred for venous catheterization. Femoral vein is not usually preferred because of its short-term applicability and the risk of infection. Similarly, subclavian vein is not generally preferable due to its risk of stenosis; and the arteriovenous fistula that can be opened later is not preferred because it may create venous circulatory problems.

Complications due to central venous catheterization during the process, early complications may occur as hematoma, pneumothorax, peripheral nerve damage, air embolism, pericardial tamponade, and arrhythmias (2). In this report, we present a case of bilateral cervical hematoma due to central venous catheter placement.

2. Case Report

A 68-year-old female patient was admitted to the emergency department with diarrhea, vomiting and low oral intake for the last week. she has diarrhea for three days. In the anamnesis of the patient, it is seen that there is diabetes mellistus, hypertension. On her physical examination, the vital signs of the patient were recorded as follows: pulse: 87 beats/min, rhythmic, blood pressure: 100/61 mmHg, respiratory rate: 17 breaths/min, room air oxygen saturation: 98% and body temperature: 36.1°C. The physical examination revealed that the general status was moderate,

and skin turgor was decreased.

The other system examinations were within normal limits. Electrocardiography was normal except for sinus tachycardia. When the laboratory values are examined; hemoglobin: 12.5 g/dL, hematocrit: 38%, platelet count: 112,500/mm3, blood glucose:87 mg/dL, urea: 124 mg/dL, creatinine: 6.4 mg/dL, aspartate aminotransferase (AST): 13 U/L, alanine aminotransferase (ALT):7 U/L, sodium: 139 mmol/L, potassium: 6.07 mmol/L. The patient's arterial blood gas had; Ph:7,20, pCO₂:58, pO₂:53. Urine output has never occurred in the last 24 hours. The patient was started on intravenous 0.9% saline infusion at 300 mL/h flow rate.

With these complaints, the patient is diagnosed as acute renal failure in another center. Double-lumened, 14 French catheters were decided to be placed in firstly left internal jugular vein and then right if it fails for hemodialysis. Bilateral jugular catheter placement attempts did not yield a result. Then it placed to right femoral vein. Patient lost consciousness and her Glasgow Coma Score was 14. She had tachypnea and stridor, half an hour after placement of femoral catheter. Two large hematomas on each side of the neck were noted (Fig. 1). The patient was intubated to secure the airway after bilateral neck hematoma was observed in the cervical ultrasound. After the intubation, neck computed tomography was performed (Fig. 2). It showed hyperdense areas in keeping with hematoma is noted in both sides of the neck. No free air observed. The patient was admitted to the intensive care unit. She had undergone dialysis three times during hospitalization. The bilateral hematoma was dissolved in five days. she was extubated on the fifth day of hospitalization and discharged without any sequelae on the seventh day of hospitalization.



Fig. 1. The appearance of the patient's neck after the attemption of central venous catheterization. Significant edema and gauzes in the places where catheterization attempts are performed on both sides of the neck are observed



Fig. 2. The transverse section of the neck CT of the patient is demonstrated. Hyperdense areas in keeping with hematoma is noted in both sides of the neck (asterisks). Besides, heterogeneous dense in the subcutaneous and deep fat planes in the neck are noted due to edema

3. Discussion

Catheters such as nasogastric catheter, central venous catheter and bladder catheter are placed in the human body for the application of medical treatments. Placement of these catheters, although rare, causes life-threatening complications (3).

Central venous catheters are one of them placed for hemodynamic monitoring, administration of drugs likely to induce phlebitis, peripheral venous access when it lacks, and hemodialysis. They should be placed in the correct position for effective use and to avoid complications. In order to increase the success rate and decrease the incidence of complications, it is necessary to know the anatomical neighborhoods well (4). Central venous catheter application via internal jugular vein, which is one of the most suitable veins for access to large thoracic veins, has a low complication rate and a high success rate. Vascular and cardiac injuries are most mortal complications. Left-sided catheters have a higher incidence of vascular injury (5). Complications such as hemothorax, pneumothorax, cardiac arrhythmia, endocarditis, thromboembolism, vascular perforations, air embolism or nerve injuries may be seen due to malposition. Factors involved in complications are the inexperience of the person who performed the central venous catheter procedure, prior surgical operation and history of radiotherapy on the area where catheter will be placed, advanced age and obesity (6). It should be noticed that the use of ultrasound increases the rate of success significantly and when it is possible, the procedure must be applied with the aid of ultrasound (7).

In our case, traditional catheter application was preferred to the patient who needed hemodialysis. Bilateral neck hematoma was observed in the cervical ultrasound due to venous injury. It is thought that the patient developed unconsciousness because of the decrease in venous circulation and compression to the trachea. After placement of central venous catheter if soft tissues injury signs as swelling and ecchymosis or subcutaneous emphysema were seen further imaging should be performed to diagnose complications (8, 9). In our case we performed ultrasonography and computed tomography.

Complications that may affect the airway can be seen during central vein catheterization. Early intubation may be lifesaving if respiratory tract risk is seen. It is imperative that nurses and physician follow up patient for possible complications.

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

We asked the patient to help us to publish the case report in an international journal for discussion, including disease symptoms, diagnosis, and image related content. The patient agreed us to use his medical records and signed the consent form.

- 1. Ruesch S, Walder B, Tramer MR. Complications of central venous catheters: internal juguler versus subclavian access A systematic review. Crit Care Med 2002;30:454-60
- **2.** Alemohammad M. Central venous catheter insertion problem solving using intravenous catheter: technical communication. Tehran Univ Med J 2013;70:724-8.
- **3.** Özdemir S, Öztürk TC, Öcal O, Metiner Y, Onur OE. Nasogastric tube malposition: a case report. Türk Aile Hek Derg 2015; 19(3):160-2
- 4. Dariushnia SR, Wallace MJ, Siddiqi NH, Towbin RB, Wojak JC, Kundu S, et al. Cardella, Quality improvement guidelines for central venousaccess. J VascInterv
- **5.** Duntley P, Siever J, Korwes ML, Harpel K, Heffner JE. Vascular erosion by central venous catheters. Clinical features and outcome. Chest 1992;101:1633-8.
- 6. Vesely TM. Central venous catheter tip position: A continuing

controversy. Journal of Vascular and Interventional Radiology 2003;14: 527-534.

- **7.** Karahitsos D, Labropoulos N, De Groot E, et al. Real time ulftrasound-guided catheterisation of the internal jugular vein: a prospective comparison with the landmark technique in critical care patients. Crit Care 2006;10:175.
- **8.** Turgut K, Algın A, Apaydın, HÖ. Pneumomediastinum due to Penetrating Neck Injury: A Case Report. İstanbul Med J 2019; 20(3): 267-9
- **9.** Özdemir S, Eroglu SE. Iatrogenic subcutaneous emphysema and pneumomediastinum due to dental extraction procedure. North Clin Istanb. 2020;7(4):398-399.





Case Report

J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 308-309 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.62

A rare case of synchronous genital carcinoma involving endometrium and unilateral fallopian tube in a 24 years old patient

Gamze SAVCI*[®], Kadir BAKAY[®]

Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, Faculty of Medicine, Ondokuz Mayis University, Samsun, Turkey

Received: 14.08.2021	٠	Accepted/Published Online: 08.09.2021	٠	Final Version: 01.01.2022	
					_

Abstract

Multifocal synchronous development of malignancies of the female genital tract is a rare occurrence and less than 3% of primary malignancies of this region is synchronous. Although the simultaneous presentation of endometrial and ovarian carcinoma of the endometrioid type is well described little is known about a similar phenomenon involving the endometrium and fallopian tube. The relationship between the synchronous tumours is uncertain. More illuminating studies are being conducted on the relationship between synchronized endometrial and ovarian carcinomas in recent studies. This case is about synchronous genital carcinoma involving endometrium and unilateral fallopian tube in a 24 years old patient.

Keywords: synchronous tumors, endometrioid carcinoma, endometrial carcinoma, fallopian tube carcinoma

1. Introduction

Multifocal synchronous development of malignancies of the female genital tract is a rare occurrence and less than 3% of primary malignancies of this region is synchronous. Although the simultaneous presentation of endometrial and ovarian carcinoma of the endometrioid type is well described little is known about a similar phenomenon involving the endometrium and fallopian tube (1, 2).

2. Case Report

A 24 years old virgin patient was referred to us with abnormal uterine bleeding, anemia and a possible diagnosis of uterine fibroid. Her body-mass index was 21.1 kg/m2. Her personal history was unremarkable. Family history was negative for malignancies. Detailed systemic examination revealed no abnormalities. There was no palpable mass in abdominopelvic examination. In her initial transabdominal ultrasonography, 8 mm of endometrial thickness along with a 42x38 mm of heterogeneous solid mass image in the posterior uterine wall was observed. MRI scan revealed a 50x24 mm mass in endometrium without any other significant pathology in the abdomen. Tumor markers were also within the normal range. Initially a myomectomy was performed, and pathology result was reported as endometrial adenocarcinoma, endometrioid type Grade 2 (FIGO), afterwards total laparoscopic surgical staging was performed, and final pathology report revealed a synchronous grade 2 endometrioid adenocarcinoma of uterus and an intraepithelial carcinoma of the right fallopian tube without any implants in the abdomen or on the surface of tubes with no sign of disease in omentum and peritoneal lavage and samplings. All paraaortic and pelvic lymph nodes were negative with no lymphovascular invasion. Cervix was free of tumor, but myometrium was found to be more than ¹/₂ infiltrated with serosal surfaces intact. Case was discussed with pathology and decided as a synchronous genital malignancy of the endometrium and right fallopian tube (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Endometrioid adenocarcinoma (endometrium and fallopian tube)

3. Discussion

Surgical staging is the fundamental method for treatment of synchronous malignancies, but it must first be proved whether it is a primary or a metastatic tumour with pathological examination criteria described by Ulbright and Roth in the first place. Distinguishing an independent primary carcinoma from metastasis is mandatory since each situation means different prognosis and requires different management (1-3). Patients with synchronous malignancies have a better outcome than those with metastatic disease in the same organs (4, 5). Genetic transition must also be considered in synchronous malignancies especially mutations in BRCA-1 and BRCA-2 genes are regarded as improved risk factors for fallopian tubes and ovaries along with Lynch syndrome which should also be considered because of the risk for ovarian malignancy due to mutation in the mismatch-repair genes (6, 7).

Synchronous malignancies of the genital tract are extremely rare and concerning the age of the patient, her low BMI and negative family history our initial risk assessment for endometrial cancer was low leading us to a diagnosis of uterine fibroid due to abnormal vaginal bleeding and initial imaging. Concerning moral values in conservative societies, one should not hesitate in early surgical intervention primarily with endometrial sampling in persistent abnormal uterine bleeding, even if the patient is young and virgin.

Conflict of interest

None the declare.

Acknowledgments

None the declare.

- Swarup A, Manjunath R, Sudha H. A Rare Case of Synchronous Genital Carcinoma Involving the Endocervix and Bilateral Fallopian Tubes. J South Asian Feder Obs Gynae 2011; 3 (2):106-108.
- 2. Kan O, Alkilic A, Turgay B, Gemici A, Atabekoglu CS. Triple Synchronous Malignancies in Genital Tract; Primary Endometrial, Ovarian and Fallopian Tube Carcinoma: A Case Report. Journal of Clinical and Diagnostic Research: JCDR. 2017;11(1): QD01-QD02. doi:10.7860/JCDR/2017/22003.9138.
- **3.** Ulbright T, Roth L. Metastatic and independent cancers of the endometrium and ovary: A clinicopathologic study of 34 cases. Hum Pathol. 1985; 16:28-34.
- 4. Williams MG, Bandera EV, Demissie K, Rodríguez-Rodríguez L. Synchronous primary ovarian and endometrial cancers: A population-based assessment of survival. Obstet Gynaecol. 2009;113(4):783-89.
- Chiang YC, Chen CA, Huang CY, Hsieh CY, Cheng WF. Synchronous primary cancers of the endometrium and ovary. Int J Gynaecol Cancer. 2008; 18:159–64.
- 6. Chen S, Parmigiani G. Meta-analysis of BRCA1 and BRCA2 penetrance. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25(11):1329-33.
- 7. Dunlop MG, Farrington SM, Carothers AD, Wyllie AH, Sharp L, Burn J, et al.Cancer risk associated with germline DNA mismatch repair gene mutations. Hum Mol Genet. 1997; 10:105–1.



Letter to Editor



Knotted nasogastric catheter

Abuzer ÖZKAN*[®], Serdar ÖZDEMİR[®]

Department of Emergency Medicine, University of Health Science, Ümraniye Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Received: 13.05.2021	• Acc	epted/Published Online: 31.05.2021	•	Final Version: 01.01.2022
----------------------	-------	------------------------------------	---	---------------------------

1. Letter to Editor

A 64-year-old male patient called the emergency medical service with complaints of respiratory distress and high fever. He was brought to our clinic by the emergency medical service by ambulance. In the ambulance, ventilation was performed with a balloon mask for 10 minutes due to hypoxia. With balloon mask ventilation, his saturation was 70. endotracheal intubation was performed. The patient with a history of coronary artery disease was using 100 mg acetylsalicylic acid per day. It was learned from his anamnesis that the patient, who had cough and high fever for three days, had respiratory distress for one day. Vital parameters after intubation were arterial blood pressure 65/40 mmHg, pulse 96/minute, and temperature 38.3°C. On physical examination, Glasgow coma score was 5 (E1, M2, V2). There was widespread crackles in the right lung to the respiratory examination. There was distension in the abdominal examination. Among the laboratory parameters, leukocyte was measured as 18 000/µl, neutrophil as 10 500/µL, C-reactive protein as 81 mg/L. Other hematological and biochemical parameters were normal. Computed tomography of the thorax showed extensive consolidation and air bronchograms on the right lung. Empirical antibiotic therapy was initiated. During the nasogastric catheter application, it was noticed whether the tube encountered resistance and not progressed. When the tube was pulled out, it did not come. It was found that the end of the tube formed a very interesting knot when the oropharynx was controlled and pulled through the mouth with the help of a forceps (Fig. 1 and 2).

Nasogastric catheter is used for purposes such as cleaning out the contents of the stomach, preventing aspiration in unconscious patient and providing nutrition (1). Complications may be encountered in nasogastric tube applications (2). Knotting of the tube is a rare condition that may be encountered. It should be considered when resistance is encountered in advancing or withdrawing the nasogastric tube.



Fig.1. The knotted nasogastric tube.



Fig.2. The knotted nasogastric tube.

- Gülsoy Z, Karagözoğlu Ş, Kol İÖ. Nazogastrik Tüpte Oluşan Düğüm: Olgu Sunumu. Turk J Intensive Care. 2019;17:172-5.
- Özdemir S, Öztürk TC, Öcal O, Metiner Y, Onur ÖE. Nazogastrik sonda malpozisyonu: Olgu sunumu. Turk Aile HekDerg. 2015;19(3):162-4.



Letter to Editor



Geographical information systems and health

Kadir ŞAHBAZ^{1,*}, Abuzer ÖZKAN²

¹Department of Geomatic Engineering, Faculty of Civil Engineering, Yıldız Technical University, İstanbul, Turkey ²Department of Emergency Medicine, University of Health Science, Umraniye Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

|--|

1. Letter to Editor

All over the world, to provide better services in the health sector with the aim of collecting the necessary data, and the use of information strategies for sharing studies are conducted. The purposes of the more widespread use of information technologies in many countries are to serve the system throughout the country, quick and easy access to information, to comply with high standards, to make use of new technologies and knowledge, and to help reveal the causes as well as the treatment of diseases.

Due to the increasing production of information and globalization throughout the world, the importance of correct information processing is increasing. Interdisciplinary cooperation is made to make information processing usable (1). Referencing health-related information based on geographical location is possible with Geographical Information Systems (GIS).

GIS is an information system that performs the functions of collecting, storing, analyzing, and presenting graphical and non-graphical data obtained through location-based processes in an integrity. It is a set of hardware, software, personnel, geographic data, and methods developed to assist users in location-based decision-making processes for solving complex social, economic, and environmental problems around the World. GIS is a system of computer-aided tools required to map and analyze landforms and events on the earth (2).

In recent years, a significant increase has been observed in GIS applications in the field of health. Because in healthrelated planning and administrative organizations, keeping all relevant information together, making the necessary analyzes easily and providing the results visually effectively can be performed with GIS technologies. The concept of Health GIS has emerged as a common working area of the professional disciplines that carry out health and cartography activities. As a result of developments in GIS technologies and statistical methods, it is possible to evaluate health and population data in a geographically defined region together and to investigate logical spatial variations in disease risks (2).

The uses of GIS in health are epidemiological studies, assessment of the spread of diseases and famine, evaluation of the spread of toxic spills and other extreme health events and monitoring these events on maps (3). Public health organizations such as disease control centers have been using GIS technologies in studies such as where and how diseases spread over the last decade or how various factors affect human health. For example, GIS was used to show the spread and intensity of the disease around the world during the COVID 19 pandemic (4).

As a result, with the use of GIS in the field of health, the need for health services can be determined, inequalities in the accessibility and execution of health services can be eliminated, the planning and evaluation of health services can be carried out effectively, and patients can be followed up quickly and reliably due to monitorization of the places and frequency of diseases (5). On the other hand, GIS can effectively present and share the information obtained by visualizing all these services and results using maps and graphics (5).

- 1. Ateş S. Determining Optimum Ambulance Locations for Heart Attack Cases with Geographical Information Systems. Thesis. İstanbul Technical University. 2010.
- Dermatis Z, Tsaloukidis N, Zacharopoulou G, Lazakidou A. GIS Mapping and Monitoring of Health Problems Among the Elderly. Stud Health Technol Inform. 2017; 238:48-51. PMID: 28679884.
- Özdemir S, Şahbaz K. Spatial Analysis and Evaluation of Carbon Monoxide Poisoning Admitted to A Tertiary Hospital-A Pilot Study. Eurasian J Tox. 2020; 2(2): 35-9.
- 4. Kamel Boulos MN, Geraghty EM. Geographical tracking and mapping of coronavirus disease COVID-19/severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) epidemic and associated events around the world: how 21st century GIS technologies are supporting the global fight against outbreaks and epidemics. Int J Health Geogr. 2020 Mar 11;19(1):8. doi:
10.1186/s12942-020-00202-8.

5. McLafferty SL. GIS and health care. Annu Rev Public Health. 2003; 24:25-42. doi: 10.1146/annurev.publhealth.24.012902.141012.



Correction

Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm



J Exp Clin Med 2022; 39(1): 313 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.39.1.65

Correction to: Effects of ketogenic and western diets on proliferation, vasculogenesis and oxidative stress in the live

Songul DOGANAY*[®], Ozcan BUDAK[®], Nurten BAHTIYAR[®], Veysel TOPRAK[®]

Received: 06.01.2022

٠

Accepted/Published Online: 17.01.2022

Final Version: 17.01.2022

٠

Correction to Doğanay et al. (2021)

In the article "Effects of ketogenic and western diets on proliferation, vasculogenesis and oxidative stress in the live" by Songul DOGANAY, Ozcan BUDAK, Nurten BAHTIYAR, and Veysel TOPRAK (*Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine*, 2021, Vol 38, No. 3, pp 312-317. http://dx.doi.org/10.52142/omujecm.38.3.20), there was an error in the ethics committee date and number of the study in the material and method section. Approval date written in the material method section of the related article was 01/07/2020; no: 33. Ethics committee date and number of the study should read as follows: 02/09/2020; No. 52.

http://dx.doi.org/10.52142/omujecm.39.1.65

GUIDE FOR AUTHORS

PREPARING ELECTRONIC MANUSCRIPTS:

Please keep text, tables and graphics, as separate files in other word do not import the figures or tables into the text file. Text files should be supplied in one of the following formats: Microsoft Word or WordPerfect, Windows or Macintosh formatted.

ORGANIZATION OF THE ARTICLE:

Manuscripts should be prepared electronically using an appropriate MS Word compatible word-processing package, formatted for A4 or letter page size, double-spaced throughout with 2.5 cm margins on all sides, and using Times New Roman, 12-point font. Text should not be justified, but flush left. Words should not be hyphenated to fit on a line. Pages should be numbered sequentially.

<u>1-TITLE PAGE</u>: The title page should contain the following items:

- (1) complete title;
- (2) full names of all authors;
- (3) complete affiliations of all authors;
- (4) the ORCID of all authors;

(5) the name and complete address of the corresponding Author that includes telephone number, facsimile number and E-mail address to whom correspondence and proofs should be sent.

2-MAIN TEXT:

a) Original articles: Introduction; Materials and methods (with explicit reference to compliance with ethical standards, including the name of the Ethics Committee that approved the study and the informed consent declaration); results; discussion; acknowledgments; funding; conflict of interest; references.

b) Review: Systematic review or meta-analysis on data from the literature and critical analysis of the present state of knowledge should be represented with appropriate headings.

c) Case Report: Introduction; Case Report; Discussion; informed consent; conflict of interest; references.

The main text should contain the following items:

<u>Abstract</u>: This should provide a concise description of the purpose of the report or summary of the review and should not exceed 300 words. Avoid abbreviations, unless they are used universally.

Keywords: Provide at least 4-6 keywords. Only use terms that are include in the Medical Subject Headings - MeSH (<u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/mesh</u>).

Introduction: The objectives of the research should be clearly stated in this section. Relevant background information and recent published studies should be described concisely, and be cited appropriately.

<u>Materials and methods</u>: This section should contain all the details necessary to reproduce the experiments. Avoid re-describing methods already published; only relevant modifications should be included in the text.

Ethical statement: Research carried out on human participants must be in compliance with the Helsinki Declaration as revised in 2013. (https://www.wma.net/policies-post/wma-declaration-of-helsinki-ethical-principles-for-medical-research-involving-human-subjects/). The written consent of each subject should be

taken. Therefore, for any research studies or evaluations involving human participants (including students, residents, fellows and faculty members), authors need to provide information regarding ethical approval for the research presented in the manuscript. A statement to this effect must be incorporated into the "Materials and Methods" section and should include the name of the approving committee (e.g., Institutional Review Board, Ethics Committee on Human Research, etc.), the name of the institution at which approval was granted and a reference number where appropriate. When experimental animals are used, the methods section must clearly indicate that adequate measures were taken to minimize pain or discomfort. Experiments should be carried out in accordance with the European Communities Council Directive of 24 November 1986 (86/609/EEC), or with the animals for experimental procedures.

<u>Results</u>: This section should present the results and interpret them in a clear and concise manner. Results should usually be presented descriptively and be supplemented by figures.

Discussion: Extensive citations and discussion of published literature should be not be used.

Conflict of Interest:

All potential conflicts of interest must be stated within this section. This pertains to relationships with industry and other corporations whose products or services are related to the subject matter of the submitted manuscript.

Funding:

All funding agencies should be stated in this section.

Acknowledgments:

Author acknowledgments should be written in the third person ("The authors wish to thank...") and written permission should be obtained from all individuals who are listed in the Acknowledgments section of the manuscript.

Material in this manuscript previously presented in a different form, such as an oral presentation at a conference or meeting, must be reported.

References:

References must be numbered in parenthesis within the article and listed in order of their first appearance in the text. All references cited in the text should be listed at the end of the manuscript on a separate page. The accuracy of references is the responsibility of the author. The references should include only articles that are published or in press. Unpublished data, submitted manuscripts, or personal communications should be cited within the text only. Personal communications should be documented by a letter of permission. All items in the list of references should be cited in the text and, conversely, all references cited in the text must be presented in the list.

Identify references in text by Arabic numerals in parenthesis as follows: "as shown by Yasargil (1)"; if two authors; "Yasargil and Kadri (2)"; if more than two authors; "Yasargil et al. (3)". The style of references must follow the NLM system and for the abbreviations of journal titles; please consult the List of Journals Indexed in Index Medicus, published annually as a list in the January issue of Index Medicus, also accessible at www.nlm.nih.gov).

Please use the following style for references:

Article in a periodical:

Yaşargil MG, Kadri PA, Yasargil DC. Microsurgery for malignant gliomas. Neurooncol. 2004; 69(1-3): 67-81.

More than 6 authors: Rose ME, Huerbin MB, Melick J, Marion DW, Palmer AM, Schiding JK, et al. Regulation of interstitial excitatory amino acid concentrations after cortical contusion injury. Brain Res. 2002; 935(1): 40–46.

Chapter in a book (within a series):

Meltzer PS, Kallioniemi A, Trent JM. Chromosome alterations in human solid tumors. In: Vogelstein B, Kinzler KW, editors. The genetic basis of human cancer. New York: McGraw-Hill; 2002, p. 93-113.

<u>An entire book:</u> Murray PR, Rosenthal KS, Kobayashi GS, Pfaller MA. Medical microbiology. 4th ed. St. Louis: Mosby; 2002.

Web page:

Atherton, J. Behaviour modification [Internet]. 2010 [updated 2010 Feb 10; cited 2010 Apr 10]. Available from: http://www.learningandteaching.info/learning/behaviour_mod.htm.

Dissertation:

Borkowski MM. Infant sleep and feeding: a telephone survey of Hispanic Americans [dissertation]. Mount Pleasant (MI): Central Michigan University; 2002.

<u>**Graphic files:**</u> Journal only accepts PNG, TIFF and EPS formats for graph. Each figure should be a separate file and not be embedded in the text. All graphic files must be submitted in sufficiently high resolution, for grey scale and color images 250 dpi and 500-800 dpi for line art) to allow for printing.

Electronic submission of articles via the Web; http://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm

Full instructions for uploading data and files etc. are given on the website when submitting a manuscript. It is the responsibility of the Authors to create the proper files as instructed above for the electronically submitted manuscript. The editorial office cannot make conversions beyond the supported file types. After online submission, there is no need sending a hardcopy of manuscript or illustrations to the Editors. Please note that the electronic files supplied will always be used to produce the illustrations, including those for the print version of the article; it is the Authors' responsibility to ensure that these files are of suitable quality.

COPYRIGHT RELEASE FORM JOURNAL OF EXPERIMENTAL AND CLINICAL MEDICINE

Ondokuz Mayis University, Faculty of Medicine, Atakum, 55200, Samsun, Turkey Tel: +90 (362) 312 1919

Manuscript title:

Full names of all authors (in order to appear on manuscript):

Name of corresponding author:

Address of corresponding author:

Felenhone	<u>,</u>	
ciepnone	,,	

E-mail: _____

Mobile phone:		
---------------	--	--

Signature:

Date: _____

The author(s) warrant(s) that:

a) The submitted manuscript is his/her/their own original work;

b) All authors participated in the work in a substantive way and are prepared to take public responsibility for the work;

c) All authors have seen and approved the manuscript as submitted;

d) The manuscript has never been published before or is not at the stage of any evaluation in another journal;

e) The text, illustrations, and any other materials included in the manuscript do not infringe upon any existing copyright or other rights of anyone;

f) In consideration of my/our manuscript submitted, I/we hereby grant JOURNAL OF EXPERIMENTAL AND CLINICAL MEDICINE the unlimited, worldwide, irrevocable royalty-free, right to publish, use, distribute, publish, license, transmit, display, exhibit, record, store, translate, digitize, broadcast, reproduce and archive, in any format or medium, whether now known or hereafter developed.

However, reproduction, posting, transmission or other distribution or use of the article or any material contained therein, in any medium as permitted hereunder, requires a citation to the Journal and appropriate credit to JOURNAL OF EXPERIMENTAL AND CLINICAL MEDICINE as publisher, suitable in form and content as follows: Title of article, author(s), journal title and volume/issue, year.

All materials related to manuscripts, accepted or rejected, including photographs, original figures etc., will be kept by JOURNAL OF EXPERIMENTAL AND CLINICAL MEDICINE for one year following the editor's decision. These materials will then be destroyed.

This copyright form should only be signed by the corresponding author on behalf of all authors.

e-ISSBN 1309-5129

ONDOKUZ MAYIS UNIVERSITY
FACULTY OF MEDICINE



